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THE SECOND VOLUJ'llh. 

DYNASTY OF THE HOUSE OF TEIMOOR. 

BABUR PADSHAH. 

Babur'o origin-his preteni.1oni. lo i.ucceed to hio lather':. domin1ono oppo&ed 
by hb 1mclci.. Babur occupie:. Furghana Peace 1·oncluded uith h1, 
undes. He take, Samarkand. Hi& troop!> mutiny, and !>upport the 
claims of -lib brother Jehangeer in Ind11an. Babur ii. reeonctled to 
Jehangeer. Sheebany Kh,m Oo"buk take!> S<1mdrkand, but i, even­
tually expelled from it by Babur-he continues the w,1r \\ 1th Sheebany 
Khan, but i!, defeated, and driven from Tran!,oxania. Babur Ol'cupie, 
Kabul, and eotabli•he, himself in that kingdom-he l'Dnquer!, Seewu,­
tan. The King of Per,ia uniteo with Babur in an attack on Sheebany 
Khan, who is 5lain B,1bur recover• Samarkand, but is eventuall) 
compelled to quit it for ever-projel'to the invaoiun of h.dia, on the 
mvit,1hon of Dowlut Khan Lody Babur send!, an army with Alla-ood­
Deen Lody Alla-ood-Deen un,ucce,,ful Babur invade~ India, and 
defeat, Ibrahim Lody, who is k11lecl Bahm a!>cend!> the throne of 
Dehly. Difficult1e, occur 111 !>ecuring the conquei.t, Confederacy of 
the Indian,, both Mahomedano and Hmdoo,, to expel Babur, Thi' 
1·onfcdcrat1•, are defeated Bdbur fall!> okk-h1, death. P,1gc 1 

HOOMAYOON PADSHAH. 

I HI~ .-IRl,T REIGN.) 

Hoor1ayoon a!,cend, the throne-his brother Kan1ran, governor of Kabul, 
djsputes his right to supremacy. The government of Sumbhul ii. con­
f rred on his brother Askurry, and that of Mewat on his brother Hindal. 
Mahomed Zuman Mirza goel> into rebellion, and is protected by Bahadur 
Shdh of Guzerat, who also affords aid to Alla-ood-Deen Lody, a pre­
tender to the throne. War with Bahadur Shah. Guzerat occupied by 
Hoomayoon, :md the government.conferred on A~kurry Mirza. Bahadur 
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,w...,.--. el~l"'•·,-·· •. _ ecovers his kingdom. Sheer Khan Soar attack; 
the M~t.\ office"-'\ in the Dooab, and to the east of the Ganges. Maho­
med Sooltan i.l.Hrza in arms at Kunowj. War with Sheer Khan in 
Bengal. Hindal-prorlaims himself king in Ag-ra, and proceeds to besiege 
Dehly. Kamran seizes on Lahore, and marches to Dehly. Kamran and 
1-lindal unite at Dehly-They march to Agra. Hoomayoon returns from 
Bengal-becomes reconciled to his brothers-they unite against the 
power of Sheer Khan, who assumes the title of .:,hah. The .Mogub 
<lt•feated, and t'xpelled from India. Hoomayoon, and his brothers, fly to 
l.ahore, and .,n,•1tually tu Simi. Huumayuon's adventurt:s---is deserted 
by his bruthe,s, who establish thcmseh-es in Kabul. Hoomayuon retires 
lu Kabul-his narrow escape, and flight to Persia-his infant son Akbur 
falb ii pri~oncr into the hands of his 1111.-!t• Kamran. . .. Page 70 

SHEER SHAH SOOK. 

His origin. Sahsaram and Tanda conferred on his father Hussun Khan 
Sour, Hussun Khan dies. Sheer Khan's brothers disput. his title to 
succeed to the estate. The contests with his brothers e1·cntnally end in 
his fa,·our. The widow uf the King uf Jounpuor appoints Sh'll'r Kh;m 
minister, and on ht"r death he 11,nrps the· government-i:. attarkcd by the 
King of Bengal, whom he ddcats. :\lahomed Shah Lody ucl'llpies 
Bengal. Sheer Khan ronsents to acknowledge his title to the throne of 
Dehly. Hoomayoon nukes war with the pretender, who is defeated, and 
Sheer Khan ,·ompelled to fly into the hills-he returns, and takes the• 
furl of Rohtas by stratagem-gains strength. and att;u·k, Hoonrnyoun, 
whv is ddeated, and retr.,ats l" Agra. Sheer Khan a,~umc:, the title uf 
Shah. or King-expels the :\loguls from India, and a~ccncls the throne 
of Dehly-conquers i\lalwa-takes Runlunbhore and Xag-ore-Returns 
to Agra-besieges Kalunjur-is wounded by the bursting of ;1 shell, and 
dies. Description of Sheer Shah's government, and tht> i111pro1·ements 
in Liu: country made by that prinrc 98 

SULli\-1 SHAH SOUR. 

Julal Khan, the sernnd ,on of Sheer Shah, is rais"cl tu the throne by his 
nobles, and assumes the title uf Sulim. ,\clil Khan, the King', elder 
brother, comes to Agra, and abjures his birth-right-he qnit, the court­
goes into remit-is defeated, and flies to Bengal. after which he b never 
heard of. Insurrection at L:1hore suppressed by the King in person. 
The governor of Malwa re,·olts, but is expelled. Karnran Mirza, the 
brother of Huomayoon, flie~ from Kabul tu Sulim Shah·~ court-he quib 
the court again, and returns to Kabul. Sulim Shi1h dies-the character 
of his government. The King's brother-in-law murders the King's only 
son, and ascends the throne • .. .. . .. . 126 

MAHOMED SHAH SOOR ADIL\'. 

~loub~riz a~sumes che title of Mahomed Shah-sume account of hi~ \·in,~ 
and daracter. Hemoo, a Hindoo retail ~hopkceper, is r;iifC'd to the 
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office of minister. Disaffection prevails at court. Taj Khan Kirrany 
quits the court, and raises an army. Ibrahim Khan Soor also raises 
troops, and assumes the title of king. Mahomed Soor marl'hes to attack 
Ibrahim-consents to divide the kingdom, and quits Dehly. Ahmud 
Khan, a nephew of Sheer Shah, disputes the right of both kings, and 
assmnes the title of Sikundur Shah. ... Page 143 

SIKUNDUR SHAH SOOR. 
. . 

Requires the Afghans to elect a King-tht>y create him their sovereign­
~e mar_ches to oppose Hoomayoon, now on his way to India, Sikundur 
Shah 1s defeated b\· Beiram Khan Toorkom:m and retires to Bengal 
when• ht• establishes ·his powt"r. ... 15~ 

HOOi\lAYOON PADSHAH. 

1 HIS s1,;co:-11> 1m11;:-1) 

Huumayuon is farnurably rel't-i\'ed at the court of Persia-is supplied with 
an army to reco\·er his dominions-takes Khorasan. Overtures for a 
reconciliation with Kamran at Kabul rejected. Kandahar defended by 
Askurrv, but is taken. Askurrv is pardoned. Kandahar made o\'l,r to 
Beiran; Khan Toorkoman. Hou'mayoon is joined by his brother Hindal, 
and by his cousin Yaclgar Mirza-besieges Kabul. Kamran c,·acuales 
Kabul, and flies. Yaclgar Mirza suffers death. Hoomayoon proeeeds 
to take Budukhshan. Kabul re-occupied by Kamran-retaken by 
Huomayuon. K1mran takes the field, and is dt-feated by Hoomayoon. 
The brothers are reconciled. Hoom;1yoon is expelled from Budukhshan 
and Bulkh by the Oozbuks. Kamran and Askurry go into rebellion­
they are defoated. Kamran flies to India-is seized by the Gukkurs in 
Punjab, and delh·ered over to Hoomayoon-is deprived of sight, and 
retires to l\Iecca. Hoomayoon im·ades India-his general, Beiram Khan 
Toorkoman, defeats Sikundur Shah Soor, and ;1dvanees to Dehly. A 
second battle, in which Sikundur Shah is defeated, and flies to Bengal. 
Hoomayoon in foll possession of the kingdom of Dehly-falls from the 
1.-rrarr of his pal.t .. e, and is killed. ,.. 154 

.\KBl'R PADSH.-\H. 

Akbur asl·end, the throne at the 11ge of tweh·e years. Beiram Khan Toor-­
koman mini~ter. Distribution of the provinl'es. Hemoo, the minister 
of Mahomed Shah Adily, advances to Dehly-defeates Ally Kh,1n Sees­
tany-takes Agra-defeats Tardy Beg, Khan-takes Dehly. The 
~loguls driven m·cross the Sutlooj-they concentrate at Lahore. Beiram 
Khan is appointed protector. The Mogul chiefs propose to quit India, 
and retire to Kabul. Beiram Khan opposes the measure. The Indian 
l'hief Hemoo ascends the throne of Dehly, and Marches to expel the 
Moguls. Battle of Paniput fatal to the Indians. Beiram Khan excites 
the King's jealousy-is removed from his office-goes into rebellion-is 
seized and pardoned-retires to Mecca, but is murdered on the road. 
:'llalw;1 rr.1~0\"ered out of the hands of Baz Bahadur. Sheer Khan. the 
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,on of Sikundur Shah Soor, marche,, with an army from Be11g.il t,, 
'lt1pport his title to the throne of Dehly-is defeated. An attempt to 

"'""a~'!in11te Akbur fail,. Rebellion of Asuf Khan Hin•, and Khan 
t.t'nl<ln Oo,lmk in the Dooab Kahn! l11k,·n h,· Soohn;an Mirza of 
Bndnkhsh,111. R.,, oil uf the King\, bruth"r :\l,1honwd Hnkeem Khan 
ifom,rn 1,tken, .rnd suffer, d.-,,th :'11.thnmEd Hnk .. f"m return,, ,111d re­
, o, n, Kahn I Chiltour t,tkt>n b, Akhm, Rnntunhhor, takt'n, Wai 
in l i1ver111 C,nl"Prllt on up1rd ll) ,\kbm Rc•n,11 111 th, dirccllod of 
Beng-,,1 ,upp1cs,,.cl, and Dawood Kirany r,pc:llccl D:rnuo,1 Kirany 
rpe•n, er, Bengal-i- agdin ,ubdue<l, and ,nffer, <lcath. '.\l,1homed 
llnkeem :\!ir?,1 n•,ult, 1 '-f'l'Ond liml•, ,rncl rnter, the Punjab-i, 
r"pul,Pd b, th,· l{ing in pn,on, and i, pardoned, (iuzer:it recO\·ered 
llllt ot th<. hand, ot ,\khur', ,,tlic-er, \\';11 in Bcn!a(.tl Th,· Atg-han, l"Ut 

olf lh.- 1 ommuniC"1.tion bPhveen Jndu ;rnd Kabul. Gren! cxrrtmn, of 
-\J..bur in all quart.-r,. A Hindou ehicf ,1ppointl·rl go,·en.m of Kabul. 
\kbur hold, hi, ,·ourt al Labor,; Moo711ffrr Shah, the King- of Guzerat, 

1, taken, nn<l pnts an end to hirn~clf Akbur ~rnd, hi- ,on i\loorad 
\fir,a tu Gu7cr.tt, and thPnl"l' to thP Dcl'l'lln Kanc!P1'h Ol"rupiccl 
Ahmnclnugg-nr bc,1cg-ccl. Berm occupied. Baltl1· ol Soopa, between 
tlw \Jo~ul, and D~r(•anir, Akbur hP,ieg-e, A"l'l'I D:tn1d M1r.i,1 
t>:.pou,,., 1. rl,mi:-htcr of th.- King of Bceiapoor-i, appointed governor 
0f K·mtlt·i,h -che, Akbur, g-rict prurluri:e, 11im,-,, ot \\ l11rh hl die,­
his ,·h·mu•ti,r-nalurc oi ltisg-o\1•rnment P.tg(• 181 

CHAPTER Ill. 

O§Fl'fHE KINOS OF THE DECCAN. 

SECTION I. 

THE DYNASTY OF THE KINOS OF KOOl,BUROA, 

DINOMINATED BAHA1UNY 

.'\I.LA-OOD-Drni\ HUSSUX SHAH Gl'i'\GOU BAHl\lll~Y 

His origin State nf th,· ;\/(ahomrclm, powi:,1 in thP l)prran :Vlahomcd 
Toghluk, KiPi:" of DPhly, ,uspert, th,• fnrc11;n officer, ,tatwned in tlw 
D1•,·c:m of an intention lo revolt-take, ,tep, to prorurc their bemg 
,ent to h,- camp The olfirer, ennn·rl mca,un·, I\ ith the Hindoo 
prinrP, of thP Deccan tu re\"Olt-the} obtain po"e,~ion of Dowlutabad. 
The K111g- of 1 lt.hly arrive,, and attacks thL confederate,, but i~ induced 
t,, qmt thf' D,•,·ran to suppre~~ an in~urrection in (i111wrat, The O"ccan 
•·hiPf, P~t:,hli,h thPir independenl'e-thlT rai~e bmaPl to the throne 
Zuffur Kh1111, th" prineipal Deccany partisan, t;1kes Kand'har and Bidur 
from th,· Dehl~ offircr, in 1·harg-e, and real·hc, Dowlutabad Ismael 
abdiratP, tlw thronp in fa,•nur of Zuffur Khan, who a,sumc, thr titlP 
and app,•ll;1t1on of Alla-ood-Deen Hu\~un Gan{?,'un Bahmuny. He create, 
S1•1f-ood-D,-.-n Cihoory minister, and makes Knolhurga hi~ capital. Th•· 
, ,c,King 1,m,tr•l :i.ttcmpts tn rf'rovi-r his puwcr-hl· i, ~ei7.cd, tried, and 
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executed, but h11, estates and titles are conferred on his son. Hussun 
Gungoo d1, ides the Deccan 1nto four departments -

lbt department, Ddbul, Koolburga, Rachore, and Moodkul 
2d dLpdrtment, Chou!, Joonc1e1 Dowlutdbdd, ,rnd Pe1tun 
Jd department Mahout, Ramg1r, and tht. \J.lle, ot 8f'r,u 
4th depdrtment, B1dur, Ko11la,, and IndorL 

fh,. Kmg ~ health dt.Llmt.,-he d1f', Page 283 

MAHOMED SHAH BAHMUN\ 1 

I h< ~pknc\0111 ot the rourt drsu1berl fht Kini:: , 0111~ money of a square 
form l he Hmdoo, rt•fu,1 to ruu1l<1tt 1t me! tlu,) mL lt 1t <fo11 n 
':,, 1 eral Hmdoo, .uffu clt. 1th ThL R tJa, of B, 1')1.lllH{E(lll 1.ncl \\ urun 
gok proH>b.t t 11 di 1\lth ~hhomul ~hah The I hndoo• 1.rL dcf1 1ttd 
I Iv Kmg prou•t.d, tu \ cl11mputtun-h1~ rrud tILatmtnt of thl R IJ 1 
[ hl. Kmg-, 1rm1 ne trlJ l.lll off Ill h1, re.treat rnd he. 1, l111melt 111,unckd 
The R qa ot \Vurungok , c.de, Golconcl 1 1.ncl pt,ILl' 1~ , 0111 luckd 011 

wh1c,h ol'c-i.,ion th1 R 11a p1<'s<.nt, thL Kmg 1\lth the cclebrttcd fukht 
rero,t or a,ure thron<' I hl. Km1., 111 , fit ot dcbaurhcr), g11 L' to 1 
bdncl ol Mu,11,i.m, J.n order for a IJ.rl1;L ,um of monL) on thl. tr< "'If) ol 

thL R 1.1a of BeeJanu~gur \V .i.r Lll,uh \Ioudkul t 11,c,n by the Rap, 
md the 11h01, of th, gun,on" put to the ~1101<1 l\Iahomed m1l..c, i 

vm1 to ~11, one. hunclr<.d thom,and Hmdoo, Thi Hmcloo, defLated, and 
"venh thou, mcl ,1 un m thL ln,t tLIICln fhl R lJ1. "besieged Ill h1, 
, ,1p1tal 1 hL mu,1< 1 111, 1.rt pml b) th, R IJ, PL.lu , oncluded Revolt 
b\ Be1r 1m Kh m 1t Dm1 lul ,b,cl I, dell" <1,cl 1.t PE>1h111 and evc.ntually 
rLlrcat, to Crn✓<.rat De,, 11pt1on ot tlu <1111 ..(Olunment of l\hhomed 
",h'lh I H" dc,th .zg8 

H1~ per,onal pro,\e,,;-·u1ecdote, of h1, youth-m1lila1} u1.i::-ot11hon, 1uth 
tht R 1)1. of Buianuge;ur-tah1,s th1, beld-h11l, 1 tigtr IHth , s111gh 
arro1,-1.mH.s 1.t BeeJ urnggur 1 he Hmdoo, Ill beforp th1, l\loskm 
troop, flu Km!{ pursue, them th10ue;h wood, to thl •L 1.-roa,t Tiu 
Hmdoo R-ip nturns to BetJanLU{IJ.Ur-is clo,elJ pur,uld b) tlu l\Iaho 
med.i.n, I h<' K111g- t.nte1 ~ the. ,tiLl"t~ of thL to\\n but 1, u;u mlJ oppo,,.d 
b) thr Hmdoo, Smgl, , omb.i.t of the h.111..( with I Hmdoo n hom he 
sl ,y, A genenl .i.ction ,£te1 11 h1ch th, ;\lo~lem, \\ 1thdra" Pcnc, 
, oncludt.d ThL Kmg- rl'tnrn, to\\ ard, l\.oolh11r11;a-is rut off b, his 
nnc-le Da11 oorl Khan 328 

DAWOOD SHAH BAHMUNY 

D1salft.ct1on prevail, among the military chiefs-some withdraw with the11 
dn1,1on~ to their government~ Mulbk Se1f-ood-Deen endeavours to 
reconule the people to receive Dawood Shah Se1f-ood-Deen 1i. per 
m1tted to withdraw from public hfe The late King , sister refuses to 
be reconciled to her uncle Dawood shah, and e,entually procures him to 
be ,,sM~mated m the mosque at prayers 342 
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MAHMOo"D SHAH BAHM'uNY I. 

..:,pirit~d conduct of the Princes~ Roohpurwur Agha-causes Mahomed 
Suniur, the -.on df the ·late Dawood Shah, to be blinded, and raises 
i\l~hmood, the y.ounge~t son of Hussun Gnngoo, to the throne. Mullik 
Se1f-ood-Dcen resumes his office of minister. The King is congratulated 
by the Raja of Beejanuggur-encourages litrrature-invites the celebra­
ted poet Hafiz, from Persia, to his court-the cause of his not coming. 
Hafii•~ ~de on the orr!lsion. Improvements in thr rivil departments ol 
the King', government. Insurrection in Sagur-is put down by Yoosoot 
Toork. Thr King's death. · Page 345 

GHEIAS-OOD-DEEN SHAH BAHi\JU:-.:Y. 

Gheias-ood-Deen ascends his father'~ throne-gives offence lo I.allchl'rn, 
one of the slaves of his household-beromes enamoured of his daughter 
-is mv1ted lo an entertainment at I.allchccn's house-h'As his eyes 
pierced out-is dcthronrd, and is ronfined in lhr fort of Sagur 353 

SHUMS-OOD-DEEN SHAH BAHi\IllNY. 

Is elevated to the throne of his brother by Lallcheen. Plot of his cousin!-, 
Feroze Khan and Ahmnd Khan, against his government-they fly to 
Sagur, and rollcct troops-n1arch to the capital, and arc repulsed-retire 
to Sagur-makc overture~, and arc pardoned-are received at court. 
The brothers obtain partisans at the capital-they seize the King, and 
deprive him of sight. Lallchecn i~ taken, and given over to Gheilts-ood­
Deen, who, though blind. puts him to death with his own hands. 356 

FEROZE SHAH BAHM UNY. 

The character of Ferozc. 1''eiz Oolla Anjoo rreated minister. The southern 
provinces invaded by Dew Ray, Raja of Brrjanuggnr. Bcrar invaded 
by Nursing Ray of Kchrla. The King marrhe, to the ~outh, and rompel~ 
the Raja of Beejanuggur to pay him 440,000/. for the exprn~c of the war. 
The King marrhes north lo Berar. The Raja of Kehrla defeated. The 
King deputc-s an embassy to Teimoor (Tamerlane), who confers on 
Ferozc the sovereignty over Malwa and Guzerat. Secret negotiations 
by the Kings of Mahva and Guzerat at the court of Beejanuggur. War 
renewed with Beejanuggur. Beejanuggur invested. The country ravaged 
by the Mahomedans. Bunkapoor reduced. The Raja gives his daughter 
to Ferozr, and makes peare. Feroze takes Pangul. War renewed. 
The •ubvrr,ion of the Mahomedan kingdom is threatened. The Hindoos 
are eventually defeated by the King's brother Ahmud. Feroze's intellect 
be('omc,; impaired-his imbecile conduct. The King's brother Ahmud 
J.im, at pu,,essing the throne-his endeavours to effect that object, and 
his eventual success. Death of Feroze Shah Bahmuny. 363 
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AHMUD SHAH WULLY BA.ijMUNY. 

Ahmud Sh..ih ret,un:, h1:. p1ederes:.ur:, mrn1:.ters-a:.,11;n:. to tlu, I 1te, Krng':. 
son a p'llace for h1, res1dence-collect, an army of obsLn 1t1011 on his 
northern frontier, and mare-he, ~outh dgamst De,, Rd}, R 11 1 of BeeJd• 
nuggnr The Rap, of W urungule mdkes commen cause 111th Dl 11 Rd), 
but :.11b:.eq11entl} \\1thdr,111s h1, drlll} De11 Ray .ittad,ed b1 "1rpn:.e--
1, taken prisoner, but effect~ h1, escape Ah mud Sh ,h l 1}, n 1ste the 
territory of Beeianu!!gnr A b'lnd of Hrndoo, 1 011 to a~, '"Ill ,te lum­
he 1:, ,111 rounded, 'Ind narrow I} es<',1pe:, 111th hts hfe Gr1l I uu, hm1ne 
m the Deu 111 The Kmg take:. Wurungole, ,md :.la} s the R.11a A 
diamond num d1,co1ucd .it Kullum I he, I<:ul!! of l\hl11a 1ttack:, the 
"Rap of Kehr!,,, \\ho 1pphc, fo1 ud to Ahmud Sh'lh Bahmuny War 
111th the, Krng of l\I 1111 1, m "hu h the I 1tt11 1, d, fc 1tcd Peace conclu­
ded I hL Km1; of ,1d!11 1 rene\\, the 1tt LLI.. nn l{e,hrl 1-the Raia 1s 

l..1lled m Llhon. \Yu n,nt1Hd b) Ahmnd Sh 1h Puce mediated by 
the Ruler of K mde1:,h The K1111; die, Page 397 

ALI.'\. 00D-DEL \ ~HAH BAHML i\): II 

The Kmg:, brothe1, the Prmce l\hhomed 1s :.ent 111th 'In 'lrlll} to demand 
the Beepnuggur tr1lmtc The, Prmle p1opose:, to the Kings mrn1stPr• 
m h1:, c'lmp to ,1:,:,1:,t him m de, I mn!! h s rndependencc-thC'1 r,.m,,n 
:.trdte, ,md .irL .i:,, 1:,,m 1ted ThL Raj 1 of Beei 111111;:gur ud, the Prrnc,e 
11 ho takLs Moodkul R,u horc Be,ppoor Nuldroo!! 'Ind Sholapoor 
The Prince 1, defc 1tLd, .ind c,ompelled to ,iccept of R'll hore, 1s an 
eq1111 1lcnt f, 1 the temtor} he h 1:, usurped ThC' ConL III m1 'llkd dnl1 
partially rednted Re, olt 111 Ber 11, \\ h1c,h 1, ,uppressc d ln Mnlhl.. oot 
ToOJdr with 111 arm} e,ompo:.c,d Lh1dh of forc,1gn t10op, 111e fore11;ner, 
1re directed to t 1ke preLcdLnLe of the, Deu mK:, ,it court The, R 11a of 
Bee1anuggur Lnh:.h ,1 thomed,m :.olcher, 111 h1, ,nn}-m 11,L, \I dr 111th 
the Krng of the De(,can 1 hree :,c1 uc, action:, fought Pc, 'ICL dfectcd 
Mnll1I.. oot 1001 ,r p1 o, eed, to conquer thL Con, m-h1, 1rmy 1, clcslro)­
ecl, ,md hL h1mhdf ?•L' Ammo,1t\ of the DLll,ln) offiter:. a!\".im,t the 
torell('ner, ThE. h. ing , md1fft1 tnrL to publll bu~mcss-J'i afll1ded 111th 
1 pamful d1,e,a,c-rumonr, of 111, dc1th In,tmLct10n, m Be1,1r and 
Tuhngand In 1,10n b) tht Km,\, of M 11\\ 1 1'liht<1r) ur,mgements for 
the dLfen(,e of the, Kmgdom I hL Kmg d1C'h-h1, clnr II te1 421 

HOOI\I \YOOI\ SHAH ZAL!i\I HAHM UNY 

The Pr111ce Hu:.s11n, the King•~ )-Oungest :.on, 1n raised to the throne by 
the m1111sterh, and an attempt made to seue Hoomayoon The plot 1:, 
frustrated. The young Prince 1, deposed, and Hoomayoon ,1:,,ume~ the 
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Dynasty of the House of Teimoor. 

BABUR PADSHAH.* 

Babur 's origin-his pretensions to succeed to his 
fatlter's dominions opposed by his uncles.-Babur occupies 
Furghana.-Peace concluded witlz his uncles.-He takes 
Samarkand.-His troops mutiny, and support the daims 
of his brother jelzangeer in Indijan.-Babur is reconcil­
ed to fehangeer.-Sheebany Khan Oozbuk takes Samar­
kand, but is eventieally expelled from it by Babur­
he continues tile war with Sheebany Khan, but is defeat­
ed, and driven from Transoxania.-Babur occupies 
Kabttl, and establishes himself in that kingdom-he con­
quers See1c•1rstan.-T/ze Kiug of Penia unites with . 

* Subsequent to thi~ period, the kings of Dehly become <;o 
frequently engaged in war with other king'> of India, that it 
becomes nece'isary to give them &ome distingui'>hing appel­
lation, and this is the more proper here, as Babur, in his 
Memoirs, ob<;erve&, "At this period (A. D. 1507) I ordered 
"that I should be &tyled Padshah."-See Erskine's edition of 
Leyden's Babur, p. 233. 
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Babur in an attack on Sheebany Khan, who is slain.­
Babur recovers Samarkand, but is eventually compelled 
to quit it for ever-projects tlze invasion of India, on 
tlze invitation of Dowlut Klzan Lody.-Babur sends an 
army witlz Alla-ood-Deen Lody.-Alla-ood-Deen tmsuc­
cessful.-Babzer invades India, and defeats lbralzim 
Lody, w!to is killed.-Babur ascends tl,e tlzrone of Dcldy. 
-Difficulties occur in securing tile conquest.-Confede­
racy of tlze Indians, botlz Malzomedans and Hindoos, to 
expel Babzer.-Tlze confederates arc defeated.-Babur 
falls sick-lzis deatlz. 

AT the time when Aboo Syeed Mirza suffered 
martyrdom in Eerak, he had eleven sons ~ Ahmud, 
Mahmood, Mahomed, Sharokh, Alugh Beg,vOomr 
Sheikh, Aba Bukr, Moorad, Khuleel, Sooltan, 
and Oomr. Four of these attained the dignity 
of kings. Alugh Beg Mirza succeeded to the 
throne of Kabul; Ahmud Mirza reigned over the 
kingdom of Samar kand ; Oom r Sheikh.Mirza ruled 
over the united provinces of Indijan and Fur­
ghana; and Mahmood Mirza over those of Koon­
dooz and Budukhshan. Y oonoos Khan, King of 
Mogulistan, gave to each of those Kings, excepting 
Alugh Mirza, one of his daughters in marriage. 

At the time when Oornr Sheikh Mirza ascend­
ed the throne of Furghana in the year 888, he had 
a son by Kootloogh Nigar Khan um, the daughter 
of Yoonoos Khan, whom he named Babur. The 
relationship between Teimoor (Tamerlane) and 
Ba bur is as follows : Sooltan A boo Syeed Mirza, 
the son of Mahommed Mirza, the son of Meeran 
Shah Mirza, was the son of Ameer Teimoor Korkan. 
Mowlana Hissamy Kurragoozly composed the 
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following couplet, _after the death of Babur, to 
commemorate his memory, which seems worth 
recording: 

rJc.. ,::. ,) .)D rr J,.::, j;; 
r.r~ J.::. ..,.,., rA)J.ju; tl):i 

This benevolent Prince was born on the sixth 
of Mohurrum, on which day also he died; and in 
the words " sixth of Mohurrum " will be found the 
date of the year of his birth. 

Babur, when as yet but 12 years old, discover­
ed a cap~city so uncommon, that his father gave 
him the management of the kingdom of Indijan. 
OomrSheikh Mirza,* on Monday the 4th of Rum­
zan, in the 890th year of the Hijra, fell, by an 
accident, from the roof of a pigeon-house, and be­
ing killed, Babur was advanced to the throne by 
his nobles, and assumed the title of Zeheer-ood­
Deen. 

Sooltan Ahmud Mirza, and Mahmood Khan 
the son of Yoonoos Khan, the former his paternal 
and the latter his maternal uncle, led their armies 
against the young Prince, to take revenge on him, 
on account of the war waged by his father against 
them; hoping also, by the advantage which the 
accession of a child afforded, to appropriate his 
kingdoms to themselves. 

In this dilemma, Ameer Sheerum, who was 
married to a sister of Babur's mother, wanted to 
convey away the youth into the mountains of 
Uzkund, in order to protect him, in case the nobles 

* It is a curious coincidence that this prince, and his 
grandson Hoo111ayoo11, should both have met their death by 
falling from the tops of houses-the one at Indijan, the othet 
nt 11Phh· 



4 BABUR PADSHAH. 

of his court should be disposed to unite with his 
uncle, Sooltan Ahmud Mirza; but he was dissuad­
ed from taking this step by Mowlana Kazy, a des­
cendant from Sheikh Boorhan-ood-Deen Bulkhy, 
and who at that time was an ameer of Indijan. 

Babur accordingly employed himself in pre­
paring for a siege; and Hoossein Yakoot and 
Ameer Nasir Kocheen, who bad been detached to 
Furghana, being recalled, were indefatigable in 
their exertions on this occasion. Sooltan Ahmud 
Mirza, Baburs paternal uncle, having first occupi­
ed Furghana and Khoojund, emcampetl within 
four fursukhs of Indijan. During this tim~, one 
Mahomed Dervish, who ,vas discovered intriguing 
with the enemy, was brought before Babur, and 
suffered death from his own hand. Babur then 
deputed Mowlana Kazy, Zowzun Hussun, and 
Khwaja Hoossein c1s ambassadors to his uncle's 
camp; and conceiving it quite certain, that he 
would not think of relinquishing Samarkand as 
his capital, requested that he might be allowed 
to reside at Furghana, under a promise not to 
dispute the rest of the kingdom. Sooltan Ahmud 
Mirza, it is said, repenting of his severity towards 
his nephew, was himself disposed to agree to these 
terms; but he was overruled by his chiefs, who 
insisted on persevering in the siege of the fort of 
Indijan. Fortune, however, fa,,oured Babur; for 
a raging pestilence suddenly broke out among 
the enemy's cavalry, so that their horses died off 
in great numbers daily, which compelled Sooltan 
Ahmud Mirza to raise the siege, and to leave the 
conduct of_ the negotiation (which wa.9 again 



BA.BUR PADSHAII. .) 

opened) in the hands of Ameer Den-ish Mahomed; 
who, in concert with Hussun Yakoot, on the part 
of Babur, had several conferences, and concluded 
a peace, which was never ratified, Sooltan Ahmud 
Mirza having died on his march to Samarkand. 
Sooltan Mahmood Khan, the son of Y oonoos 
Khan, the maternal uncle of Babur, had now 
reached Akhsy, on his route to Furghana, where 
Jehangeer Mirza, a younger brother of Babur, 
to whom the defence of that place was intrusted, 
conceiving himself unable to cope with the enemy, 
Hed, aceompanied by Dervish Ally, Mirza Koolly 
Gokt,iltash, Mahomed Bakur, Sheikh Abdoolla 
Sheebuk, Aka Veis, and l\foer Gheias-ood-Deen 
Toghay, towards Kasan, the birth-place of Aka 
Yeis,where ~asir Mirza, the youngest brother of 
Babur, now resided; but Sooltan Mahmood Khan 
pursuing them thither, that place was given up 
without resistance ; after which, proceeding 
towards Akhsy, and finding he could not succeed 
in his enterprise, Sooltan Mahmood Khan retired 
to his own country. 

At this time also the khans of Kashghar and 
Khootun led their armies towards the borders of 
Uzkund, against Babur; but they also, eventually, 
made peace. Babur now having gone to Furghana, 
appointed Hussun Yakoot his vizier, making him 
also governor of Indijan; but soon after Yakoot 
rebelled, in the year 900, and Ba.bur attacked and 
compelled him to fly towards Samarkand, whither 
he was pursued, and afterwards killed near Akhsy. 

In the same year also Ibrahim Sar, the governor 
of the fort of Asheera, having rebelled, caused the 
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khootba to be read in the name of Baesanghar 
Mirza, the son of Sooltan Mahmood Mirza, who 
had succeeded to the throne of Samarkand. 
Ba bur marched against him, and besieged Asheera, 
which he reduced in the space of forty days, and 
the rebel was obliged to come forth with a sword 
suspended round his neck, and a shroud hung over 
his shoulders. Ba bur, however, forgave him, and 
marched first to Khoojund, and from thence to 
Sharokhia, where he met his maternal uncle, Mah­
mood Khan, to whom he now became reconciled; 
in a few days after which, he returned to <IJndijan. 

Baesanghar Mirza, king of Samarkand, having 
possessed himself of Aratiba, one of the provinces 
belonging to Oomr Sheikh Mirza, the father of 
Babur, the latter resolved to retake it, and 
marched accordingly with his army against it the 
very next season. Sheikh Zoolnoon, who held it 
on the part of Baesanghar Mirza, made a resolute 
defence, till the approach of winter obliging Ba bur 
to raise the siege, he returned to Indijan, both 
on that account, as well as to obtain supplies. 

Babur, in the year following, led his army to­
wards Samarkand, and formed an alliance with 
Sooltan Ally 1\-Iirza (the brother of Baesanghar 
Mirza), king of Bokhara, and who was also strug­
gling for power. The confederates, however, un­
able to reduce Samarkand that year, returned 
home for the winter, having agreed to make great 
preparations for another campaign. Both Kings 
accordingly, in the year 902, in the beginning of 
the spring, took the route of Samarkand. Sooltan 
Ally Mirza having reached Samarkand first, 
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Baesanghar advanced, antl encamped without the 
city walls, but upon Babur's arrival, he retreated 
within the town. In the night, Altoon Khwaja, 
who was going the rounds of Babur's camp, hav­
ing discovered the retreat of Baesanghar Mirza, 
feH upon his rear, and put a great number of his 
people to the sword. Meanwhile Babur captured 
the fort of Asheera, situated at a small distance 
from the city, and invested Samarkand: this 
town was defended with bravery till the autumn, 
when the allies were compelled to raise the siege, 
and reti.re ; Sooltan Ally Mirza returning to 
Bokh~ra, and Babur to Khwaja-Deedar, to pass 
the winter. In this state of affairs, Baesanghar 
Mirza sought an alliance, and requested assist­
ance from Sheebany Khan, ruler of Toorkistan, 
who, avoiding Khwaja-Deedar, the winter-quart­
ers of Babur, proceeded direct to Samarkand. 
Sheebany Khan and Baesanghar Mirza having 
quarrelled soon after, the former returned to his 
own country. This circumstance so much embar­
rassed the affairs of Baesanghar Mirza, that 
proceeding with a small retinue of 300 horse, he 
went in person to solicit the assistance of 
Khoosrow Shah, ruler of Koondoo7,. 

Babur availed himself of this opportunity to 
hasten to Samarkand ; and in the end of the year 
903, having been admitted into the city, ascended 
the throne, and was acknowledged King by the 
greatest part of the nobles. Babur having taken 
the place by capitulation, forbade all plunder; 
but his troops became discontented and began to 
disperse. The Moguls, who were commanded by 
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one Ibrahim Chuk,* · went off in a body, and 
were followed by Yar-Ally and several other 
nobles, with their followers, to Akhsy, where 
having joined Jehangeer lWirza, the brother of 
Babur, they required the latter to confer on 
Jehangeer the province of Indijan. 

Babur, on receiving this message, gave vent to 
his indignation; and, in speaking of the perfidy 
of those chiefs who had deserted him, imprudently 
threw out reflections on those who remained. 
These resented this language by abandoning him, 
and joined his brother at Indijan. Babu,r, in the 
utmost distress, sent Altoon Khwaja to end¼avour 
to conciliate his officeri; but they sent a party to 
way-lay the ambassador, and cut him in pieces. 

Ally Dost Toghay and Mowlana Kazy, the 
two chieftains in possession of Indijan, however, 
sent assurances of their fidelity to Babur, and 
resisted his brother's party; but unfortunately at 
this time Babur, being taken dangerously ill, 
was unable to avail himself of their attachment. 
His own life was saved with difficulty, by 
conveying sustenance through moistened cotton 
applied to his lips. vVhen he recovered, he found 
the situation of his affairs most embarrassing; 
but he determined to incur even the risk of losing 
Samarkand, rather than sacrifice his paternal 
dominions. He accordingly directed his march 
towards Indijan; but Ally Dost Toghay and 
his party having heard that Babur was actually 

* The tribes of Chuk and Makry become familiar to the 
reader in the Kashmeer history, though it is not quite clear 
how a Chuk should be at the head of a body of Moguls ; the 
word, therefore, ma:y be incorrect, 
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dead, had already capitulated, and given up the 
place to Jehangeer Mirza, who having cruelly 
caused the execution of Mowlana·Kazy, ascended 
the throne, and caused the khootba to be read 
in his name. This intelligence, together with the 
reflection that he had also lost Samarkand, occa­
sioned Babur the 1.1tmost distress. 

In this dilemma, as his last resource, he deputed 
Ameer Kasim Kocheen to Tashkund, to entreat 
the assistance of his maternal uncle, Sooltan Mah­
mood Kha.n, the son of Yoonoos Khan, who has­
tened t~ Chilka Ahungiran, where he and Babur 
met: an emissary came at the same time to Sooltan 
Mahmood Khan from Jehangeer Mirza, on which 
he resolved to allow his two nephews to settle their 
own difference~, himself returning to Tashkund. 
This unexpected defection had such an effect 
upon Babur's troops, that of all his army, in a few 
days, only two hundred horsemen remained ,vith 
him. In this forlorn condition, he retreated to 
Khoojund: from thenr.e he applied to Mahmood 
Hossein Korkan, at Doghlat, acquainting him, 
that the place in which he then was could not 
protect him from his enemies ; he therefore earn­
estly solicited him to permit him to pass the winter 
at Saghir. Mahmood Hossein consented, and 
Babur accordingly took up his quarters there, 
and began to recruit a new army. 

After having collected a few soldiers round his 
standard, and reflecting that his future success 
depended entirely on the reputation of his arms, 
he resolved to employ himself in active operations. 
H~ therefore returned to E_elak, where he took 

VOL. 11.-2. 
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some .. forts by assault, and some by stratagem; 
but these petty exploits were of little service 
to him, for his affairs bore still a very gloomy 
aspect. He received in the mean time a message 
from Ally Dost Toghay, begging his forgiveness. 
He informed him that he was in possession of the 
garrison of Furghunian,* and promised, if Babur 
would take possession of it, he would again devote 
himself to his service. Babur did not hesitate to 
avail himself of this overture, and arriving at 
Furghunian, he was met by Ally Dost ~t the gate, 
who surrendered the fort into bis hands ... Babur 
having recruited his finances, sent Ameer Kasim 
Kocheen towards the mountrins of Indijan, and 
Ibrahim Sar and Veist Laghiry towards Akhsy to 
gain partisans. This measure had the desired effect, 
for the mountaineers of Indijan at once espoused 
bis cause; while Ibrahim Sar and Veis Laghiry 
having accommodated matters with the governors 
of Bab, and two or three other forts, declared 
in favour of Babur. At the same time also, he 
procured assistance from his uncle Sooltan Mah­
mood Khan, of Bokhara. 

Zowzun Hussun, and Sooltan Ahmud Tum bole, 
having heard of the loss of Furghunian, proceeded 
with Jehangper Mirza to attack that place. This 
they effect<>d, and marched towards Akhsy; but 
on the ro;1d, falling in with Sooltan Mahmood 
Khan, Jehangeer Mirza's army was defeated with 
great slaug)1t~r, and both he and Zowzun Hussun 

* This ma) perhaps be Murghinan.-Vide Erskine's map. 
t My MSS. have Ooveis, but I have followed Erskine's 

reading in preference. . 
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fled prer.ipitately to Indijan, attended only by four 
or five followers. Nasir Beg, a relative of Zowzun 
Hussun, who held the government of Indijari, per­
ceiving the favourable aspect of Babur's affairs, 
opposed Jehangeer Mirza, and having sent a mes­
senger to Babur, oilered to surrender the place 
into his hands. These events ruined the affairs of 
Jehangeer Mirza, who now took the route of Oosh, 
and Zowzun Hussun that of Akhsy. 

Babur having occupied Indijan, conferred ho­
nours upon Nasir Beg and his followers. Thus 
the capital of Furghana, in the month of Zeekad, 
in the yea/ 904, was restored to its former master. 
On the •fourth day after his arrival, Babur pro­
ceeded to Akhsy, and expelled Zowzun Hussun, 
who fled to Khoozar. Kasim Ajeeb was appointed 
goyernor of .Akhsy, and Babur returned to In­
dijan, accompanied by most of the followers of 
Zowzun H ussun. On this occasion, some of Ba­
bur's officers representing that these troops were the 
same who had formerly plundered several chiefs 
then in his army, and had put Mowlana Kazy 
to death, orders were issued permitting all those 
who had suffered to recQ\•er from them what 
they had lost. The Moguls gaining timely inform­
ation mounted their horses, and to a man proceeded 
to Uzkund, where they related the cause of their 
coming to Sooltan Ahmud Tumbole, who in con­
junction with Jehangeer Mirza now mar_ched 
against Indijan. Babur sent Ameer Kasim Ko­
cheen to oppose them; but he was defeated with 
great slaughter, and many of the King's principal 
officers were slain, and several taken prisoners. 
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The enemy now ad,·anced and laid siege to ln­
dijanJor the space of thirty days: but as they could 

A.H. 905-
A.D. t4Cj(J. 

effect nothing against it, they turned 
their arms against Oosh. Ba bur having 
recruited his army, marched in the year 

go5, to its relief; but the enemy, hearing of his 
approach, suddenly decamped, and made a forced 
march to Indijan, the suburbs of ·which they plun­
dered. Babur, however. relying on the garrison 
and on the strength of the µlace, proceeded to 
Badawurd, a strong fort in po~ses-;ion of Khuleel, 
brother to Sooltan .:\hmud Tumbolf.. Khuleel 
defended the place with great obstinacy; but was 
at length forced to capitul2'te, and he together with 
eighty other persons, being taken, were detained 
as prisoners, and sent to Indijan, in reprisal for an 
equal number of his own officers, who had fallen 
into the enemy's hands. 

Soultan Ahmud Tumbole, in the mean time, 
made an unsuccessful attempt to scale the walls of 
Indijan in the night. On obtaining this inform· 
ation, Babur returned to its support, and took up a 
strong position on the bank!-> of the ri\·er in sight 
of the enemy, where he remained for the space of 
forty days. ...\..t length he attacked their camp, 
situated at Deh Khooban, three fursukhs* distant 
from lndijan. After an obstinate resistance, the 
enemy was defeated, and Sooltan .'\.hmud Tulll­
bole and Jehangeer Mirza sought safety in flight. 
The King after the victory entered Indijan in 
triumph; but he shortly after received information 

* Nine m Jes. 
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that six thousand horse from Sooltan .:\iahmood 
Khan, ruler of Bokhara, had, in aid of Jehangeer 
Mirza, appeared before the fort of Kasan. Though -
it was now the depth of winter, and the frost and 
snow severe, Babur marchP.d to attack this party, 
which, without making resistance, retreated to its 
own country. Sooltan .Ahmud Tumbole, who 
was on his march to reinforce it, fell in accident­
ally with Babur's troops, in a situation where the 
former could not have escaped had not the night 
favoured his flight, o,ving to which he retreated 
with nttle loss. Babur pun,ued him to the walls 
of Booskar, near to which he encamped. 

On the fourth day, Ally Dost Toghay and 
Kumbur Ally prevailed upon the King to make 
overtures for peace, proposing that Jehangeer 
:\Iirza should retain possession of all the country 
between the river of Khooj und and Akhsy, and 
that Indijan and the district of l'zkund should 
remain in possession of Babur; but it was agreed 
that if the latter should ever recover the kingdom 
of Samarkand, he should give up Judijan to Je­
hangeer Mirza. These terms being solemnl~­
ratified by mutual oaths, the brothers had an 
interview, and the prisoners on both sides were 
released. Babur returned to Indijan, \vlwre he 
found that Ally Do:st Toghay, who prn,'iessed 
considerable wealth and po\ver, had rnntured to 
exert unlicensed authority; that he liad banished 
Ameer Khuleefa, had imposed fines on Ibraham 
Sar and Veis Laghiry, without the King's 
permission, and had encouraged his son :.\fahomed 
Dost to assume the ensigns of royalty. Babur, 
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however, found it convenient to restrain his 
resentment for the present, owing to the great 
influence of Ally Dost, and to the numerous 
formidable enemies by whom he was himself 
surrounded. At this time, also, Mahomed Moorad 
Turkhan, an officer of Sooltan Ally Mirza, ruler 
of Samarkand, being discontented with his 
master, connected himself with Khan Miza, one 
of the sons of Sooltan Mahmood Mirza, and 
attacked Samarkand ; but being repulsed with 
loss, they made overtures to Babur to induce him 
to engage in the same enterprize. Babur, 
embracing the proposal, proceeded direct tdwards 
Samarkand, and Mahomed Moorad Turkhan, 
having joined him on the march, they resolved to 
depute a person to gain over Khwaja Kootb-ood­
Deen Yehya, a holy man, who had vast influence 
over the inhabitants. Kootb-ood-Deen, entering 
into their ,·iews, assured them they might march 
on the city, and rely on success. 

In the mean time, Sooltan :\fahmood Doldy one 
of Babur's officers, having deserted to Samarkand, 
informed the enemy of the correspondence with 
Khwaja Kootb-oob-Deen Yehya, which complete­
ly disconcerted Babur's measures, and he was com­
pelled to relinquish his enterprise. Meanwhile the 
troops of .'--\lly Dost Toghay, disgusted with their 
chief,crowded to the King's camp with complaints 
against that chief, and he finding his importance 
shaken, abandoned the sen-ice of Babur, and, 
with his son, yvent over to Sooltan Ahmud Tum­
bole, in whose camp he arrived a short time after. 

At this · period, news arrived that Sheebany 
J{han had taken Bok hara, and was on full march to 
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attack Samarkand, which Sooltan Ally Mirza, at 
the instance of his mother, surrendered without 
opposition. Babur accordingly fell back on Kish, 
and from thence to Khoozar, where Mahomed 
Moorad Turkhan, and the officers who· invited 
him to attack Samarkand, left him, and joined 
Khoosrow Shah. Babur, after this defection, was 
obliged to retreat by the route of Sirtak to Eelak, 
over rocks, stones, and rugged paths, by which 
his army suffered exceedingly, having lost most 
of his £amels and horses on the march. This 
circumstance dispirited his troops to such a degree, . . 
that they all deserted 111111 before he reached Eelak, 
excepting hvo hundred and forty men. 

In this state of affairs, Babur called together his 
officers, and consulted them as to his future opera­
tions. It was resolved, that as Sheebany Khan had 
only lately got possession of Samarkand, and the 
inhabitants had not yet probably become reconciled 
to the Oozbuks, that he should make an attempt to 
take the place; and that as it was part of the 
hereditary dominions of Bahur, it seemed likely, 
although the people might not actually a id him, they 
would not be very active in opposing him ; and it 
was thought that the possession of the city would 
retrieve his affairs. Ba bur accorc.l ingly marched, and 
reached Yoonoos Khan in the dusk of the evening; 
but understanding the garrison lvas on the alert, 
he refrained from making the attempt at that 
time. After having got clear of the city, he says, in 
his Memoirs, he looked back, and repented of his 
precipitate flight; and being wearied with the fa­
tigue of the day, he laid himself down in a grove to 
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sleep, as did the greatest part of his retinue. He 
states that in about an hour after, he awoke from a 
dream, in which he imagined he saw Abdoolla, a 
Dervish of great repute, coming towards his house; 
that Babur, inviting him to sit down, c.aused his 
steward to spread a table-doth before him, on 
which the holy man, apparently offended, rose to 
go away. Babur begged of him to stay; but the 
Dervish, holding him by the arm, raised him up 
towards the sky. Babur, awaking, called his at­
tendants, and related his dream, which was consi­
dered a fortunate omen, and he determirn~d to • persevere in his attempt on Samarkand.* 

Ba bur's small party, mounting their horses, ac­
cordingly returned, and reached the bridge of 
Moghat about midnight; from whence he detached 
eighty men before him, to a low part of the wall 
near the Lover's Cave, which was scaled by the help 
of a hook-rope; and, coming round to the Feroza 
gate, his party fell upon the guard commanded by 
Kasidt Tur khan, and either killed or dispersed the 
whole. The gate being opened, admitted Babur 
with hvo hundred and forty men. Ba bur's party pro­
claimed his name as they passed through the street, 
and gave an opportunity to all his friends within the 
place to join him ; while his enemies, not knowing 
his strength, ran confusedly from place to place 
looking for their leaders. The alarm soon reached 
thehouseof,Khwaja Kootb-ood-Deen Yehya, where 

* This story is related by Babur, in his own Memoirs.-Vide 
Erskine's Babur, p. 87. 4to. edit. 

t It should be Fazil, according to Erskine's translation of 
Babur. 
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Khan \Vufa Mirza, governor of the city, and several 
Oozbuk chiefs had taken up their quarters. On 
hearing the noise, they all joined Sheebany Khan, 
who, with 7000 men, occupied the fort of Khwaja 
Deedar. Sheebany Khan selected a party of 150 

men (commanding the rest to wait for orders), and 
proceeded to the iron gate ; but finding that Ba bur 
had gained some thousand partisans, who rent the 
sky wi.th acclamations, and being unable either 
by word_s or example to make the Oozbuks stand 
their ·ground, he passed through the opposite gate, 
and. fled •towards Bokhara, ·while Samarkand 
quietly.submitted to Babur's authority. 

It was on this occasion, that Mowlana Sunayee, 
the poet, and Khwaja Abool Burkat of Samarkand, 
were first introduced to Babur, and subsequently 
accompanied his court. The follO\ving is a trans­
lation from theCommentaries of Babur, written by 
himself in Toorky, giving an account of the taking 
of Samarkand :- -"Sooltan Hoossein Mirza took 
the fort of Hirat in a manner similar to that of my 
own successful attack on Samarkand; but there was 
a great difference in the circumstances under which 
we acted. In the first place, Sooltan Hoossein 
Mirza was an old and experienced soldier; while, on 
the contrary, his enemy, Yadgar l\fahomed Mirza, 
was a youth of seventeen, without experience 
either in war or politics. In the second place, he 
was invited to take possession of Hirat by Ameer 
Ally Meer Akhoor, one of the most powerful of 
the enemy's officers. In the third place, his 
enemy, Yadgar Mahomed Mirza, was at the time 
he entered the town in a state of intoxication in 

VOL. 11.-3. 
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one of his gardens, and the soldiery were off their 
guard. Thus situated, he easily succeeded in 
securing his person, and was immediately joined 
by the party of Ameer Ally Mirza, who had 
planned the whole enterprise. 

"My situation at the capture of Samarkand was 
very different. I was then only nineteen, and had 
seen but little service; my enemy, Sheebany Khan, 
was an old and experienced chieftain, who had 
many friends, was constantly on the alert within, 
and was prepared to combat either in attack or 
intrigue, so that no one had an opportunity of in­
viting me, or making arrangements to fa,:our my 
plans; and although I had many well-wishers in 
the place, yet, such was Sheebany Khan's vigil­
ance and precaution, that they were prevented 
from communicating with mP. Besides which, 
his general, Khan ,vufa Mirza, in command of 
600 Oozbuks, ( the most choice men of his army, 
and the faithful personal guard of Sheebany Khan) 
had the patrole of the night; notwithstanding 
all which disadvantages, I took the city, put the 
King to flight, and routed his army ; and although 
my first effort failed, I did not despair, but suc­
ceeded in a second attempt, a very few hours after­
wards. I do not intend by this account to extol 
my own actions; but in writing a history of my 
military career, it is proper I should state things 
as they really occurred." 

Let it not be concealed from my readers, that 
this exploit of Babur very much resembles that of 
his ancestor, Ameer Teimoor Korkan, who with 
two hundred and forty-three men attacked and 
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carried the fort of Koorshy by assault; but Ilabur 
seems not to have alluded to this circumstance, 
from the apprehension of being thought presump­
tuous in comparing his actions with those of that 
great captain. At that time there was no gover­
nor ruler in Koorshy. The two chieftains, Meer 
Hoossein and Meer Moosa, were encamped out­
side of the fort, while Mahomed Beg, a child, the 
son of Meer Moosa, was left in the fort. Sa­
markand, on the other hand, the residence of a 
king, was a large and well-fortified city, which no 
one ever mncei ved was to be taken by force. 
It is consequently denominated in all historical 
works, ~amarkand," the abode of safety." Koorshy, 
on the contrary, is a small town, governed by a 
darogha; so that the difference is as great as the 
distance of the poles ! 

But to return to our history: Samarkand being 
occupied by Babur, Sheebany Khan retired to 
Bokhara; and Mahomed Moorad Turkhan took 
this opportunity of wresting the forts of Koorshy 
and Khoozar* from the Oozbuks, while Abool 
Hoossein Mirza, from Mura and Kish, came and 
took Kurra-Kole.t Babur sent ambassadors to 
Sooltan Hoossein Mirza and other neighbouring 
princes, his relations, to request their aid in ex­
pelling Sheebany Khan out of Mavur-ool-Nehr; 
but they either paid no regard to his represent-

* Two forts, situated within 15 miles of each other, and 
lying 40 miles south of Samarkand. 

1" This place is situated 30 miles nearly due south froni 

Bokhara. 
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ations, or rendered such insullicient assistance as 
to be of little use. Sheebanv Khan bv this means - ~ 

recovered strength during the winter, and took 
Karakole and other districts. 

In the month of Shuval, 906, Babur Shuval, 
i\. 11 , go6, collected his whole force, together with 

March. the reinforcements which had joined 
A.. 

0
• 

1499· him, and marched out of Samarkand to 
attack Sheebany Khan, whom he engaged in the 
neighbourhood of Karwan. On this occasion 
Dabur evinced the qualities both of a general and 
a bra,·e soldier; but being deserted by t!ae troops of 
Sooltan Mahmood Khan, by J ehangeer Mirza, and 
by other princes who had been sent to hi; aid, as 
well as by his own troops, and left with only fifteen 
men, he found it in Yain tu contend any longer. 
He accordingly made good his retreat to Samar­
kand; having lost several officers of distinction, 
such as Ibrahim Turkhan, Ibrahim Sar, Abool 
Kasim Koh, Hydur Kasim, Ameer Kasim Kocheen, 
Fidayee Roomy, and Khuleel, the brother of Ah­
mud Tum bole, besides many others, all of whom 
fell in the action. Sheebany Khan now laid siege 
to Samarkand; and Babur took up his quarters at 
the college of Alugh Beg Mirza, as being the most 
central situation for sending orders or reinforce­
ments. The siege was continued with great ob­
stinacy c1nd loss on both sides; during which time 
Kooch Beg Toorkoman, Gokultash Deg, and Gool 
Nuzr Toghay, gave extraordinary proofs of their 
valour. Four months passed in the attack and de­
fence, when a famine began to rage in the city. 
The inhabitants subsisted on horse-flesh, and even 
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ate dogs and cats, while those who could not pro­
cure other provisions were constrained to feed 011 

the bark of trees. 
Though Babur at the commencement of the 

siege had sent ambassadors to the Kings of Kho­
rassan, Koondooz, Boklan, and Mogulistan for 
succours, l1e received no hopes of aid from them, and 
he was therefore under the necessity of abandoning 
his capital and kingdom, with about a hundred 

friends, in a dark night in the beginning 
A, n. 9°7· of the year 907. He escaped to Tash-
A. D. 1501. . 

• kund, whither his brother, Jehangeer 
Mirza, came to pay his respects. His maternal 
uncfc, Sooltan Mahmood Khan, also comforted 
him in his distress, entertaining him in a princely 
manner, and giving him the town of Aratiba to 
reside in during the winter. In the beginning of 
the spring, Ilabur was again attacked by Sheebany 
Khan, who being unable to take Aratiba, plun­
dered the country, and retreated to Samarkand. 
In this condition, Babur, unable to raise his head 
from his misfortunes, resided for some time with 
his uncle, Sooltan Mahmood Khan, at Tashkund, 
till at length that chief and his brother, Ahmud 
Khan, known by the name of Olcha Khan, fur­
nished troops to enable him to recover the country 
wrested out of his hands by Sooltan Ahmud Tum­
bole. When the confederates had reached the 
boundaries of Ferghana, Sooltan Ahmud Tum bole 
marched out to oppose them. It was resolved that 
Babur with a small detachment of Moguls shou]d 
march towards Oosh, whilst his uncles attacked 
Ahmud Tum bole. Babur accordingly took Oosh, 
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and was joined by some of the inhabitants of 
Uzkund and Furghinian, who expelled the garri­
sons of Sooltan Ahmud Tumbole. Babur now 
proceeded towards Indijan, when Ahmud Tum­
bole, decamping from before the confederate 
princes, hastened back to its relief. 

Ahmud Tumbole, having by accident fallen in 
with Babur's camp while he was on a foraging 
party, was defeated, and escaped wounded to 
Oosh, when, throwing himself into Indijan, he pre­
pared for its defence. The next day, the allied 
army of Sooltan Mahmood Khan, and Sooltan 
Ahmud Khan, appearing in sight, sat down before 
the place, where they were soon joined by Ba'bur. 
Some time after this, the inhabitants of Akhsy 
having invited Babur, put him in possession of 
that place ; but the allied troops, unable to reduce 
Indijan, were compelled to raise the siege. 

In the mean time, Sheebany Khan, resolving to 
check the progress of Babur, advanced with an 
army towards Akhsy. Babur and his brother im­
mediately joined the allies, and prepared to receive 
the enemy; but in the action which ensued, and 
which was obstinately contested, Sheebany Khan 
prevailed., and both the uncles of Ba bur were taken . 
prisoners. Babur, escaping to Mogulistan, aban­
doned the kingdom of Tashkund, which fell into the 
hands of Sheebany Khan. Sheebany Khan, how­
ever, some time after, Ieleased Ba bur's two uncles, 
Sooltan Mahmood Khan retired from the field, and 
became afflicted with a complication of diseases. 
It is related, that when one of his friends hinted 
tliat Sheebany Khan had poisoned him, and offered 
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to supply him with some famous tiriakr.-t of Khutta 
as a powerful antidote, the Prince replied. "Yes," 
" Sheebany Khan has poisoned me indeed ! He 
"has taken away my kingdom, which it is not in 
"the power of your teriak of Khutta to restore." 

Babur, leaving Mogulistan, proceeded to Khoo­
zar and Shadman, and from thence to Toor­
mooz, where Ameer Mahomed Bakir, uneasy at 
the ascendancy of the Oozbuks, availed himself 
of Babur's alliance. Babur still retained the 
command of some troops, and was received by him 
with great kindness. Ameer Mahomed Khan as­
sisteil him also with money. Babur, who had long 
been the football of fortune, and, like a king of a 
chess-board, moved from place to place, and buf­
feted about like the pebble on the sea-shore, 
begged the friendly advice of his host as to his 
future operations. Ameer Mahomed Bakir re­
plied, that as Sheebany Khan was now in full pos­
session of Babur's kingdom, and of many others, 
which rendered him extremely powerful, it seemed 
advisable for him to pursue his fortune elsewhere, 
and directed his attention to Kabul, which was 
now in a state of anarchy. 

Babur, adopting this advice, in the year 
A. 

11
• gro. gm marched towards Kabul, and passing 

A. D. 1504° .. 
through the donumons of Khoosrow Shah, 

ruler of Koondooz, he was entertained by him with 
hospitality, as some reparati"on for the injuries he 
had formerly sustained from him. ,vhile at 

* Tiriak is a compound medicine, of which opium forms a 
principal ingredient, and is used as an opiate, and to soothe;pain. 
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Koondooz, Babur induced seven thousand of 
Khoosrow Shah's troops to join him in his march 
to the southward ; and Khoosrow Shah, appre­
hensive of Babur, fled with a few sen-ants, and 
took protection with Budee-ool-Zeman5~ On this 
occasion, three or four thousand Mogul families, 
together with part of the treasure of Khoosrow 
Shah, fell into the hands of Babur, who aYailing 
himself of these adYantages, proceeded direct to 
the south. 

Kabul had been long in the hands of Alugh 
Beg Mirza, one of the sons of Sooltan Aboo Syeed 
Mirza, who dying in the year 907, (A. D. I-501.) 
and leaving an infant son, Abdool Ruzak Mirza, 
the ,vhole management of his affairs fell into the 
hands of one Zuky Beg, ·who haYing disgusted the 
other nobles, was assassinated in the month Zeehuj. 
This circumstance occasioned great conn1lsions in 
the kingdom ; for Mahomed Mokeem, the youngest 
son of Ameer Zoolnoon, prince of Gurmseer, 
taking advantage of the intestine divisions of the 
Kabulies, invaded their country with an army of 
Huzaras, and forcing Abdool Ruzak Mirza to take 
shelter among the Afghans, took quiet possession 
of Kabul, and married the daughter of Al ugh Beg 
Mirza. Affairs were in this state when Babur, ar­
riving on the borders of Kabul, drove Mahomed 
Mokeem from the fieid, and forced him to take re­
fuge in the city, which Babur besieged and took. 
He then applied himself to regulate and improve 
the c0tmtry, as belonging to himself. 

• Ruler of Mawur-ool-Nehr. 
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On the 1st of Mohurrum, A. H. 
Mohurrum 1. 

A. u. gu. gn, Kootloogh Nigar Khan, the 
June 3. mother of Babur, died at Kabul. In 

A, D. 
15°5· this year also the inhabitants of 

Kabul were thrown into great consternation by 
dreadful earthquakes, which laid many cities in 
ruins. Babur endeavoured to alleviate the public 
calamity in such a manner by his unwearied care 
and extensive benevolence, that he gained the love 
and attachment of his new subjects. The ambition 
of Ba bur, however, could not rest; he accordingly 
led an artny against the Arghoons, and having de­
prived them of the strong fort of Kilat, established 
an alliance with Buddee-ooz-Zeman Mirza. He 
marched in the same year to the Kishlakat-i­
Huzara, the inhabitants of which he brought into 
subjection,and conferred the government of Ghizny 
on his brother Jehangeer; but after some time, 
the latter, quitting Ghizny without permission, 
came to Kabul, and on meeting with a reproof 
from Babur, he departed suddenly, and proceeded 
into the Kishlakat-i-Huzara. 

In the year 912, Babur marched to-
A.H. 912

• wards Khorassan to join Sooltan Hoos-
A,D- 1506. 

sein Mirza, who, ashamed of his former 
behaviour, and irritated by fresh injuries from 
Sheebany Khan, now proposed to Babur, that they 
should unite in alliance against the Oozbuks. On 
the road, however, he was induced to return, to 
take measures against Jehangeer Mirza. The 
officers of Jehangeer, perceiving the intention 
of Babur, deserted the Prince, who thought fit to 

VOL. II.-4. 
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come to his brother Babur's camp, where he pro­
cured pardon, and went with the army towards 
Khorassan. But no sooner had Babur reached 
Murv than he heard of Sooltan Hoossein Mirza's 
death. It is stated in the \:Vakaya Babury (Com­
mentaries of Babur), that out of respect alone for 
the family of the Mirza, Babur proreeded to 
Khorassan, and endeavoured to induce the princes 
and nobles to act against the Oozbuks. Babur 
was not wholly without motives for this conduct, 
for he was naturally desirous of bringing the 
Oozbuks to action, and consequently' pushed 
on till he reached Moorghab, where the K!ioras­
Jumad-ool- sanies were encamped. On the 8th of 

Akhir s. Jumad-ool-Akhir, Moozuffur Hoossein 
A. H. 912. Mirza and Abool Hussun 'Mirza were 
Sept. 24· directed by Buddee-ool-Zuman Mirza 

A. n. 15°6· to meet and congratulate him on his 
arrival, and to escort him to the camp of 
Buddee-ool-Zuman Mirza; but the princes and 
officers of Khorassan, little inclined to face the 
Oozbuks in battle, proposed that, as the weather 
was extremely hot, they should retire to their 
cool summer retreats. Babur proceeded in the 
first place to Hirat, where having remained some 
time with Duddee-ool-Zuman Mirza, he returned 
in the autumn to Kabul. The snow falling hea­
vily at this season, he with difficulty reached the 
country of the Huzaras, with whom he was com­
pelled to fight, and force his passage to his capital. 

\V'hile Babur was engaged with the Huza·­
ras, Mahomed ,Hoossein Korkan, Sunjur Birlas, 
and other Mogul officers in Kabul, promoted the 
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pretensions of Khan Mirza to the throne, by fabri­
cating false intelligence of the King's death. He 
was both uncle and cousin of Babur. But when 
the news of Babur's return reached the people, they 
rebelled against the new government; and, as soon 
as the season permitted his approach, flocking to 
his standard, they put all the garrisons into his 
hands except the capital, where Khan Mirza and his 
adherents sustained a short siege, but eventually 
fled, and took protection with the descendants of 
Ameer Zoolnoon, while Mahomed Hoossein Khan 
fled in the direction of Furrah and Seestan. At this 
time, Nasir Mirza, Babur's youngest brother, who 
held the government of Budukhshan, being de­
feated by one of the generals of Sheebany Khan, 
came to Kabul; and as Jehangeer Mirza, about the 
same period, died from excess of drinking, the go­
vernment of Ghizny was conferred on Nasir Mirza. 

In the year 9 I 3, Ba bur marched 
A, n. 931. against the Khiljies, a race which in-
A. D. 1507, , , 

fested lus country; and havmg taken 
from them roo,ooo sheep, and some thousands of 
other cattle, returned to his capital. The nobles 
of the house of Arghoon, being greatly oppressed 
by the Oozbuks, now wrote to Babur, that if he 
would send troops for the purpose, they would put 
him in possession of Kandahar. Babur instantly 
proceeded in that direction, and on reaching Kilat, 
Khan Mirza begged permission to be admitted into 
his presence, and receiving his pardon, accom­
panied him on the expedition. Having reached 
the borders of Kandahar, Babur wrote to Shah Beg 
Arghoon and to Mahomed Mokeem, that he was 



BABUR PADSHAR. 

so far on his way according to their desire, and that, 
therefore, he expected to see them in his camp. 
Since the time of their inviting Babur, however, 
some alteration in their politics had taken place, 
and they repented of the application they had 
made: so that instead of receiving the King in a 
friendly manner, they prepared to oppose him. 

Babur engaged his treacherous allies at the 
village of Khuttuk, near the city of Kandahar ; 
and having defeated them with great slaughter, 
cut off their retreat from the city. Shah Beg fled 
to Yesawul, and Mahomed Mokeem. towards 
Zumeen-Dawur. Babur laid siege to Kandahar, 
and took it, with all the wealth of the fam.ily of 
Ameer Zoolnoon, which he divided by weight 
amongst his officers and troops according to their 
rank; after which, leaving Nasir Mirza, his brother, 
in the government of Kandahar and Zumeen 
Dawur, Babur returned in triumph to Kabul. 

Mahomed- Mokeern joined Sheebany Khan, 
and prevailed on him to march against Nasir 
Mirza; who, on receiving this intelligence, shut 
himself up in Kandahar, and sent expresses to 
his brother for assistance. Ba bur enjoined him to 
defend the place till the last; but, if he should be 
driven to extremity, to capitulate, and join him at 
Kabul. Babur stated, at the same time, that he 
was in no condition to dispute the field with Shee­
bany Khan, whose resources were so greatly su­
perior to his own; besides, that a defeat might ruin 
him for ever, and overset the design he had formed 
of establishing himself .in Hindoostan. 

Some of his nobles advised him to endeavour to 
occupy Budukhshan in preference, while others 
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approved of the attack on Hindoostan. Babur 
adopted the latter plan, and began his march to:­
wards India. He was detained Ior some time among 
the mountains, and finding his means deficient, he, 
for the present, gave up his intention, and returned 
to Kabul. Nasir Mirza, according to his instruc• 
tions, finding he could hold out no longer with 
propriety in Kandahar,capitulated,and joined the 
King at Kabul. Sheebany Khan, after taking the 
town of Kandahar, ordered Abdoolla Sooltan, one 
of his chiefs, to persevere till he got possession 
of the fo~t also, and then directed him to make it 
over to the family of Ameer Zoolnoon, while he 
himse1fmarched with his army towards Khorassan. 
Shortly after this, the fort of Kandahar also fell, 

and was restored to the Arghoons. 
Zeekad 4. On the 4th of Zeekad of this year, 
A. H. 913· Babur had a son born to him in Kabul, 
March 7· whom he named Hoomayoon. 
A, D. 1508, 

In the following year, he took the 
A. 1-1. 914· field against the Meimundy Afghans ; 
A. n. 15°8· but, during his absence, the Moguls of 
Khoosrow Shah, who had been left to defend Ka• 
bul, revolting, raised the King's cousin Abdool 
Ruzak Mirza, the son of his uncle Alugh Beg 
Mirza, to the throne. Ba.bur was now suddenly 
deserted by the greatest part of his army; who, 
hearing of the rebellion in Kabul, hastened to join 
their families: insomuch, that out of upwards of 
rn,ooo horse, which he carried to the field, 
scarcely 500 men remained with him. 

Notwithstanding these misfortunes, Ba.bur 
boldly advanced towards Kabul, with the few 
trusty friends he had with him. Abdool Ruzak 
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Mirza marched out to oppose him; but Babur, with 
his small band, attacking the enemy with impetu­
osity, defeated them, and with his own hand 
slew the following chiefs: Ally Shubkoor, Ally 
Seestancy, Nuzr Bahadur Oozbuk, Yakoot Sheer 
Chung, and Oozbuk Bahadur. Abdool Ruzak 
:.\firza was taken prisoner; but so great was 
I3abur's clemeny on this occasion, that he par­
doned him, though soon after Abdool Ruzak again 
engaged in rebellion, and suffered death. 

The country of Khoosrow Shah, ruler of Koon­
dooz, having fallen into the hands of the Ooz­
buks, who took no proper means of keeping it in 
subjection, a number of independent chiefs arose 
in Budukhshan, of whom the principal was one 
Zoobeir. In this state of affairs Khan Mirza, the 
son of Khoosrow Shah, was influenced by his mo­
ther, Shah Begum, who traced her descent from the 
ancient kings of Budukhshan, to take measures to 
raise himself to the throneofthat kingdom. Having 
previously obtained the consent of Babur, he left 
Kabul,and raisingasmallarmy, advanced towards 
the borders of Budukhshan. His mother, who 
came up in the rear, was intercepted by a body of 
Kashghar troops, made prisonei;, and carried off to 
Aha Bukr Mirza of Kashgar. Khan Mirza, in the 
mean time, was seized by Zoobeir, who kept him 
also in confinement. Yoosoof Ally Gokultash, 
an old servant of Khan Mirza, however, having 
formed a conspiracy against Zoobeir, assassinated 
him, and elevated Khan Mirza to the throne. It 
is mentioned in the \iVakaya Babury, that the 
Kings of Budukhshan, from whom Shah Begum 
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was descended, traced their pedigree from Alexan­
der the Great, son of Philip. 

: In the year 916, Shah Ismael Sufvy, 
A. H. 916· King of Persia, wrote to Sheebany Khan 
,\, D. 1510. • . f 

to withdraw his troops rom some parts 
of his dominions, on which the Oozbuks had made 
encroachments. Sheebany Khan replied, that it 
was only for those who were descended from kings 
to entertain thoughts of empire; but it was true 
Shah Ismael had raised himself to the throne, when 
there was no such prince as himself in his neigh­
bourhood' to oppose him ; but that now he should 
recommend his retiring to his former obscurity; 
and that, for that purpose, he sent him a staff and 
a beggar's dish, the badges of his inheritance. 
'' For," added he, " those only like myself are 
" worthy of possessing the bride of sovereignty, who 
'' dare kiss her through opposing swords.'' Shah 
Ismael replied, that if empire was an inheritance, 
it would never have left the race of the Peshda­
dians. That by the same rule, Chungiz Khan 
would never have attained empire, nor Sheebany 
Khan himself succeeded to the throne he had over­
turned. That, for his own part, he had always 

-considered the right of kings as founded on power, 
and that the longest sword was the best title. 
That with the latter he was at all times ready to 
contend with such as Sheebany Khan; and 1:hat, 
though he himself had·no disposition to a display 
of ostentation, yet, in return for Sheebany Khan's 
present, he had sent him a spinning-wheel for his 
amusement. "As for the rest," added he," I 
"shall be my own messenger." 



32 BABUR PADSHAH. 

Having dispatched this communication, Shah 
Ismael marched eastward, and expelled the 
Oozbuks from Khorassan. He did not halt till 
he reached Murv, where Sheehany Khan sustained 
a siege, and being severely reproached by Shah 
Ismael for remaining within the walls, he marched 
out and gave him battle, but was defeated. In his 
flight he had the misfortune to be overtaken, and 
surrounded in a walled park, with about 500 rela­
tives and Oozbuk chiefs, from whence there was 
no escape: he was attacked by the Kuzilbashies 
of Shah Ismael, and in this situation he and all 
his followers were put to the sword. 

Khan Mirza dispatched accounts of this im­
portant event from Budukhshan to Babur, and went 
himself to Koondooz, to influence him to recover 
A. H. 917. his former dominions. Accordingly, in 
A. n. 1511 • the year 9I7, Babur Marched towards 
Khoozar, and crossed the Oxus, in company with 
Khan Mirza. An army of Oozbuks lay encamped 
near Budukhshan, which Ba bur not being able to 
attack, was obliged to retreat to Koondooz. Shah 
Ismael at this time sent Khanzada Begum (Babur's 
sister) to him. This Princess had been made pri­
soner at the capture of Samarkand by Sheebany 
Khan, who afterwards married her. She was now 
restored, with all her property, and sent from Murv 
to Koondooz. On her arrival, she gave so flattering 
an account of the generous conduct of Shah Ismael, 
that Ba bur hoped to induce him to lend his assist­
ance in reinstating him in his hereditary kingdom. 
He accordingly deputed Khan Mirza as ambas­
sador, with proper presents to Shah Jsmael's court, 
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and himself, marched towards Khoozar. Finding 
the Oozbuks strongly posted at that place, he 
declined attacking them till reinforced. His 
troops arriving, Babur advanced to the Oozbuk 
camp, and offered them battle. An action ensued, 
wherein Babur obtained a complete victory, for 
which he was mainly indebted to Khan Mirza, ,vho 
had rejoined him. In a few days after, Babur was 
joined by Ah mud Sooltan Soofy, Ally Koolly Khan 
Oostajloo,* and Sharokh Afshar, with a fine body 
of cm·alry, on the part of the King of Persia, so 
that his, army now amounted to 60,000 horse. 
,vith this force having taken Koondooz, Khoozar, 
andBoklan, Babur marched towardsDokhara, and 
after several successful actions with Abdulla Sool­
tan and Jany Beg Sooltan, he subdued that king-
Rujub 15_ dom. On the rsth of Rujub of the same 
A. 11 • gr 7. year, he marched from Bokhara to 
October g. Samarkand, which city surrendered to 
,\. v. 15r r. him the third time, and acknowledged 
him as its sovereign. Babur, having fixed his 
residence at Samarkand, appointed Nasir Mirza, 
his brother, to the government of Kabul, and gave 
permission to the troops of Persia to return. Ba bur 
had not been seated on his new throne, however, 

* The Tartar tribes of Oostajloo, Afshar, Kajar, and others, 
which are occasionally mentioned as coming from Persia, had 
by this time become naturalised in that country, and were 
portions of those ~1ordcs which hacl invaded it, and remained 
there from the time of the Suljookies. Their numbers were 
subsequently increased by the hordes which Chungiz and Tie­
moor led; and at the present day we see Tartar kings 
reigning alike in China, India, Persia, and Constantinople, 
over nations of foreigners. 

VOL. II.-5. 
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above nine months, when the Oozbuks, who had 
fled to Toorkistan, returned under Teimoor Sool­
tan, who succeeded to the gm·crnment of Sheebany 
Khan. On receiving these advices, I3abur marched 
to defend I3okhara, in the vicinity of which place 
he engaged the Oozbuks ; but \Vas defeated, and 
obliged to shut himself up within the walls of the 
city, which, in the end, he abandoned, and retreated 
to Samarkand. Herein he was again besieged, and 
compelled to fall back on Khoozar and Shadman. 

About this time Nujm-ool-Sany, of Isfahan, a 
Persian general, advanced with the intention of 
occupying I3ulkh; and Babur, fully bent on re­
covering his paternal dominions, made common 
cau!:ie with him. Nujm-ool-Sany, having taken the 
fort of Furas from the Oozbuks, put the garrison, 
consisting of 15,000 men, to the sword, and laid 
siege to Kujdiwan, in conjunction Yvith Babur. 
Shortly after, a body of Oozbuks advanced 
against them from Bok.hara. Fortune being still 
adverse to Babur, Nujm-ool-Sany and the greater 
portion of his army were cut off, and Babur was 
compelled to fly to Khoozar with a few attendants. 
Nor were his misfortunes confined to defeat 
by the enemy; for having reproached his troops 
with their misconduct, they conspired against 
l1is life, and a party rushing into his tent at 
midnight attempted to assassinate him. Babur, 
aroused by the opposi Lion of bis guard, made 
his escape, and reached the citadel of Khoozar be­
fore morning, without one attendant: the con­
spirators then plundered his camp, and dispersed. 
In this situation, seeing little hope of success in the 
north, Babur proceeded direct to Kabul, with a 
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small retinue. On his arrival, he rein-
A. II 9?4 d N . l\tr' . I • f 
A. n: 1518. state· as1r 'J.irza m t 1e government o 

Ghizny. In the year 924, he marched 
towards Swad and Bejowr, then possessed by the 
Afghans of the tribe of Yoosoofzye. He defeated 
those mountaineers, and carrying some thousands 
of them away with him, he intrusted the manage­
ment of that country to Khwaja Kulan. 

On the death of Sikunclur Lody, King of Hin­
cloostan, he was succeeded, as we have already 
related, by his son Ibrahim. In his reign, the 
Afghan chiefs settled in India nearly subverted 
his pO\:ver; and Babur deemed it a favourable 
opportunity to establish himself in a quarter, the 
conquest of which he had long meditated. He 
failed, however, in four successive campaigns; but 
eventually succeeded in his fifth and last attempt, 
which we shall proceed to detail. Babur's first 

campaign took place in the year 9:25. 
~-

11
• 9

5
25· On that occasion he marched his army 

,.. :O. I I g. 
as far as the lndus, to where it is called 

the Neelab; he overran with his troops all thecoun­
tries on his route, and crossing the river, advaned 
to Berah in Punjab. In this province he levied 
a contribution of 400,000 sharookhies on the 
inhabitants, instead of permitting his troops to 
plunder. From Derah he deputed one l\fowlana 
Moorshid to Ibrahim Lody, acquainting him, that 
as the Punjab had been frequently in the possession 
of the house of Teimoor, it was fit he should re­
linquish his pretensions to it, and thus prevent the 
war from being carried farther into India. At 
this place Babur received accounts of the birth of 
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a son, while preparing to innlde Hind, whom 
he caused to ·be called Hindal Mirza. Having 
appointed Hussun Beg Atka gm·ernor of the 
countries which he had subdued, as far as the 
Chunab, he marched in person against the Guk­
kurs, and laid siege to the fort of Birhala. The 
Gukkurs sallied, but were defeated by Dost Beg 
l\Iogul ; and the King in person, cutting off their 
retreat to the fort, compelled them to fly to the 
111ountains. The fort of Birhala, in which was 
considerable treasure, fell, without further op­
position, to Babur; in which having left l\fa­
homed Ally, he returned to Kabul. 

In the latter encl of the same year, Babur 
returned a second time towards Hindoostan, 
in order to reduce Lahore. On the route, he 
defeated the Y oosoofaye Afghans, who endea­
voured to oppose his progress. On reaching 
Pishawur, he caused that fort to be repaired, and 
proceeded to the Indus. Intelligence ·was now 

. brought that Sooltan Syeed, the King of Kash­
ghar, was in full march towards Dudukhsban, 
which induced Babur to return. At the same 
time he left Ma.homed Sooltan Mirza, Bin Sool­
tan Ooveis, Din Kirany, Bin l\lunsoor, Din 
Oomr Shei~d1, Bin Ameer Teimoor,* with 40,000 

horse, to prosecute the war in the East. Babur 
had scarcely reached Kabul, when he learned 
that the Ki~1g of Kashghar had retreated. His 
attention being directed to the Afghans of the 
tribe of Khizr Khei], who had made depredations 

* See genealogy of the house o! 'feimoor. 
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on Kabul during his absence, he entered and 
sacked their country, and returned to his capital. 

In the year 926, Babur marched a 
:~: ::: ;~~~- third time towards India, attacking the 

· Afghans on his route. On reaching 
Sealkote the inhabitants submitted, and thus saved 
their property from plunder : not so the people of 
Syudpoor, who making a vigorous defence, the 
garrison ,vas put to the sword, and their families 
carried into captivity. Babur was here met by 
intelligence of an army from Kandahar having in­
vaded the territory of Kabul ; abandoning, there­
fore, his projects in India, he returned to his capital, 
and not only expelled the im·aders, but pursued, 
them, and laid siege to Kandahar. In the mean time 
he received advice of the death of Khan Mirza, in 
Budukhshan, in whose stead Babur appointed his 
son Hoomayoon governor. Shah Beg Arghoon, of 
Kandahar, maintained the siege with great obsti-

, naL·y for three years; but in the year 928 
~: ~: ;~;~. Kandahar fell, as well as all the country 

of Gurmseer, into Babur"s hands. The 
Prince Kanuan Mirza, Babur's second son, was 
placed in charge of the government. Shah Beg 
Arghoon being thus compelled to seek safety in 
llight, retreated with a few of his tribe, and found 
refuge in the city o-f Bhukkur, the capital of Sine.I. 

Soon after the occupation of Kandahar, Do\\·lut 
Khan Lody, an Indian chief, apprehensive of 
treachery on the part of Ibrahim Lody, King of 

Dehly, sent a deputa~ion to wait on 
A. 

11
• 93°· Ba bur at Kabul, offering to place Lahore 

A. D. 1524. 
in his hands. In the year 93g, Babur, 
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having augmented his army, advanced through 
the territory of the Gukkurs, to within six coss of 
Lahore, where he was opposed by Behar Khan 
Lody, ~foobarik Khan Lody, and Bhikun Khan 
Lohany, Indian officers stationed in the Punjab; 
but they being defeated with great slaughter, 
Babur entered Lahore in triumph, when he set 
fire to the bazar, a superstitious practice common 
among the :\Ioguls. Ilabur remained only four 
days in Lahore, before he proceeded against De­
palpoor. The garrison having forced him to 
risk an assault, he put the whole to the sword. 
Dowlut Khan Lody, who had been expelled from 
Lahore by the King of Dchly, and had taken pro­
tection among the Ilulochies/; now joined Da­
bur at Dcpalpor, together with his three sons. 
He was farnurably received, and being inrolled 
among the nobles of the court, was appointed 
governor of Jalenclur, Sooltanpoor, and other dis­
tricts of Punjab. 

I have heard from persons of veracity, that this 
Dowlnt Khan lodyt was a lineal descendant of the 
person of the same name who ascended the throne 
of Dehly in the year 816 (A.D. 1414.) At this time, 
Dowlut Khan proposed to Babur to send a force to 
Dura Ismael Khan, where several hostile Afghan 
chiefs had collected a force. The King prepared 
to do so, when Dilawur Khan, the youngest son of 
Dowlut Khan Locly, acquainted Ilabur privately 
that his father and brother only vrnnted to separate 
the Mogul troops in order to fall qp them. On 

* The tribe of Buloch at this time held Mooltan in sub­
jection. 

1" Vide Vol. I. P, 505. 
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enquiry, Babur became convinced of the truth 
of this information, and ordered Dowlut Khan and 
his son Ghazy Khan into confinement. On cross­
ing the Sutlooj, however, and advancing to Now­
shehra, he caused them to ,be released, and con­
ferred the revenues of Sooltanpoor on them for 
their subsistence. On reaching Sooltanpoor, these 
chiefs, collecting their families, fled to the hills ; · 
on hearing of which circumstance, Babur con­
ferred on Dilawur Khan the title of Khan Khanan, 
and gave over into his hands the family estates; 
but as the desertion of Dowlut Khan greatly 
affected Ba bur's interest in Hindoostan, he deemed 
it inadvisable to prosecute any attempt on Dehly 
this year. Accordingly he proceeded to Lahore, 
and made the following arrangements for the go­
vernment of his newly-acquired provinces :-He 
appointed Meer Abdool i\zeez, governor of La­
hore; Khoosrow Gokultash, governor of Seal­
kote ; Baba Kushka, under the orders of Sooltan 
Alla-ood-Deen, (brother of Ibrahim Lody, King 
of Dehly), was made governor of Depalpoor; 
and Mahomed Ally Tajeek, governor of Kulanore; 
after which Babur returned to Kabul. 

During his absence, Dowlut Khan Lody found 
means to seize his son, Dilawur Khan, who 
had betrayed him, and put him in chains; he then 
marched to Depalpoor, and attacked the Prince 
Alla-ood-Deen Lady, brother of the King Ibraliim 
Lody, and defeating him, occupied his country. 
Alla-ood-Deen fled to Kabul, and Baba Kushka, 
the Mogul general, retreated to Lahore. Dowlut 
i(han Lody now sent 5999 Afghans to recover 
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Sealkote ; but l\Ieer Abdool Azeez, gm·ernor of 
Lahore, having marched with reinforcements to 
the assistance of Khoosrow Gokultash, the Af­
ghans were defeated, and Meer Abdool Azeez re­
turned to Lahore. 

Meanwhile Ibrahim Lody, King of Dehly, 
proceeded against Dowlut Khan and his son; 
but such was the influence of these officns, 
that they contrived to sow dissensions in the 
King's camp at Bejwarn, and gained m·er a part 
of the troops : the remainder were compelled to 
return to Ibrahim Lody without risking~ battle. 
Alla-ood-Deen Lady, ·who, having lost Depal­
poor, had fled to Kabul, now returned to Lahore, 
conveying Dabur's orders to his officers in those 
parts to join him with their forces, and to march 
towards Dehly; and Babur promised that he 
would support them in person as soon as his 
affairs in Kabul should permit. Dowlut Khan 
and Ghazy Khan Locly, hearing of this deter­
mination on the part of Dabur, wrote to the 
Mogul chiefs, that they were also prepared to 
espouse the cause of i\.lla-ood-Deen, and to aid 
in raising him to the throne of Dehly. The Mo­
guls, having obtained for Ba bur the formal cession 
of all the countries ,vest of Lahore, permitted 
Alla-ood-Deen to join Dowlut Khan, in order to 
prosecute his pretensions. 

Alla-ood-Deen, with the aid of Dowlut Khan 
<!.nd his son, Ghazy Khan, accordingly marched 
to Dehly, and invested that city with 40,000 

horse. His brother, the King Ibrahim Lody, 
adyanced to oppose him from Agra, where his 
army was surprised in the night, and dispersed ; 



BABUR PADSHAH 41 

bL;t owing to the irregular conduct of the troops 
of Alla-ood-Deen after the action, they were 
attacked again by Ibrahim Lady, and defeated. 
Alla-ood-Deen retreated in great distress to Pun­
jab: IAt this crisis, Ghazy Khan Lady, finding 
the affairs of Alla-ood-Deen on the decline, de­
serted his standard, and having reached Kula­
nore; reduced it, and encamped at the town 
of Pursuroor.\ Here he heard that Babur was 
again on his return to India. He first of all 
retreated to Mulwut, from whence, taking the 
road through the mountains, he had a conference 
w.ith Ibrahim Lody at Dehly, with whom he re­
mained till that monarch's death. Babur, hearing 
of the defeat of Alla-ood-Deen Lady, awoke from 
the dream of indolence and luxury in which he 
had for some time indulged in Kabul; and, on the 

Suffur 1. 
A, H• 932. 
Nov. 15. 
A. D. 1535. 

rst of Suffur of the year 932, march­
ed the fifth time towards Hindoostan. 
He was joined on this occasion by his 
son Hoomayoon from Budukhshan, and 

Khwaja Kullan from Ghizny. On the route to 
Lahore he amused himself by hunting rhinoceroses, 
with which that country abounded; and thus had 
an opportunity of putting the personal courage of 
most of his chiefs to trial. Many of those animals 
were killed, and some taken alive. 

Rubbee-ool­
Awul I, 

A, H. 932, 
Dec. 15. 

A, D. 1525, 

On the rst of Rubbee-ool-Awul, 
Babur crossed the Ind us, and having 
mustered his army on the banks of 
that river, he found it to consist of 
only ro,ooo chosen horse. Proceeding 

thence across the Behut, he advanced to Sealkote, 
where he was met by Alla-ood-Deen Lady, as also 
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by- Mahomed Ally, governor of Kulanore, and 
Khwaja Hoossein, collector of the revenues. 
Dowlut Khan and his son, Ghazy Khan Lady, 
who considered themsefres in the seffice of the 
King Ibrahim, were at this time encamped on the 
banks of the RaYy, near Lahore, with an army of 
40,000 men; but on Ba.bur's approach they re­
treated, Dowlut Khan to the fort of Mulwut, and 
Ghazy Khan to the hills. Babur haYing irn·ested 
Mulwut, it capitulated after a fe-\\' days; and 
Dm.vlut Khan, who had some days before put on 
two swords, and boasted of the manner in "·hich 
he would treat Dabur, ,vas ordered to appear with 
those two s\\·ords slung round his neck. Kotwith­
standing his conduct, the King subsequently 
forgave him, and took him into favour. \Vhen 
the gates of i\fulwut were opened, the troops, 
eager to plunder, rushed in without orders. Dabur 
was provoked at their conduct; and mounting his 
horse, galloped in among them, and was under the 
necessity of using violence to prevent outrage. 
On the spur of the moment he killed by accident 
an officer of rank, of his son Hoomayoon's retinue, 
with an arro,\·; and though he lamented the cir­
cumstance, it is certain his presence alone sm·ed 
the honour of Dowlut Khan's family. Babur pre­
served, by his exertions on this occasion, a fine 
library collected by Ghazy Khan, ,vho was a poet, 
and a man of learning.* On the following clay he 
went in pursuit of Ghazy Khan; when Dilawur 

* Those persons who have witnessed the excesses of soldiers 
rushing to plunder, and the difficulty of restraining them, can 
alone form an idea of the promptitude and severity which are 
necessary on such occas_ions. 
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Khan, the son of Dowlut Khan, who had been con­
fined by his father and brother, found means to 
escape, and was honourably received by Babur. 
Ghazy Khan was subsequently overtaken and 
defeated; and being followed very closely, was 
induced to join Ibrahim Lody at Dehly. Dowlut 
Khan Lody died shortly afterwards. 

Babur, being fully satisfied of the dissensions 
which prevailed among the Afghan chiefs, deter­
mined to delay no longer his attack on Dehly; a 
measure to which he was im·ited by letters received 
from time to time from a few of the malecon­
tents at the court of Ibrahim Lody. On reaching 
the K.uggur, he learned that Humeed Khan, on 
the part of the governor of Hissar-Feroza, was 
prepared to oppose him. He accordingly detached 
his son Hoomayoon, with some of his most ex­
perienced officers, to expel the goyernor, haYing 
effected which, Hoomayoon returned to the army. 
This being the first battle wherein the Prince 
Hoomayoon commanded, his father was over­
joyed at his success, and made over to him the 
districts of Hissar-Feroza and Jalendur. Two 
days after, Mullik 13ubun Afghan Julwany, one 
of Ibrahim Lady's officers, deserted his master, 
and joined Babur's standard with a body of three 
thousand horse. 

Babur arrived within two stages of Shahabad 
when he received intelligence that Ibrahim Lody 
had marched out of Dehly, and that Dawood Khan 
and Hatim Khan, forming his vanguard, were pre­
pared with 27,000 horse to oppose his progress, 
six or eight miles in ad\·ance. Ba bur accordingly 
detached Cheen Teimoor Sooltan, Mehdy Khwaja, 
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Mahomed Sooltan, Mirza Adil, and Sooltan Mirza, 
with all the troops of the left wing, together with 
the troops of Jooneid Birlas, and Shah Hussun 
Birlas to meet the enemy. They encountered 
Dawood Khan the next morning at sunrise, and, 
after an obstinate conflict, put his army to flight, 
Hatim Khan having fallen in the pursuit. The 
\;ictors took seven elephants, and a number of pri­
soners, whom they brought into camp; and in order 
to inspire terror, Babur caused them to be put to 
death. The main army under Babur, having ar­
rived on the field of battle, encamped there for six 
days, during which he ordered his park of artillery 
to be linked together with leathern ropes made of 
raw hides, according to the practice of the armies 
of Asia l\Iinor. 

Ibrahim Lady's army consisted of roo,ooo 
horse, and roo elephants; and although that of 
Babur did not exceed 12,000 men, he made an 
attempt with 5000 horse to surprise the Indian 
camp by night ; but finding the enemy on the 
alert, the enterprise failed. This circumstance 
encouraged Ibrahim Lody to bring on a general 
action, and he accordingly marched next morning 
to Paniput. Ba bur at the same time also advanced 
to within twelve miles of Ibrahim Lady's encamp-
H.ujub 10_ ment. On the day after, being the 

roth of Rujub, thetwoarmiescame in 
sight of each other. Ila bur divided his 
troops into two lines, composed of four 

A. 11. 932. 
April 20. 

A. D. 1526. 

divisions, with a reserve in the rear of each, and 
a few light horse to skirmish in front. In the first 
division on the right, commanded by Prince Hoo­
mayoon, were Khwaja Kullan, Sooltan Mahomed 
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Doldy, Hindoo Beg, Wully Beg Khazin, and 
Peer Kooly Seestany. In the division on the left, 
commanded by Mahomed Sooltan Mirza, were 

· Mehdy Khwaja, Ghazy Sooltan, Jooneid Birlas, 
and Shah Hoossein Birlas. The right of the second 
line was commanded by Cheen Teimoor Sooltan 
and Mirza Mahomed Gokultash; the left by Ameer 
Khuleefa, Khoosrow Gokultash, and Mahomed 
Ally. The light troops thrown out in advance 
were under Sooltan Mirza, the son of Khan Mirza. 
Abdool Azeez (Meer Akhoor) commanded the 
reserve of the right wing, and "\Vully Kurrawul 
the reserve of the left. Besides these, was the 
grand reserve in the rear of both lines, the right of 
which was commanded by Kasim Beg, and the 
left by Ally Bahadur. Babur, after having per­
sonally given orders to his generals, and marshalled 
the troops, took post in the centre of the first line. 
Ibrahim Lody drew up his forces in one solid 
mass, and, according to the practice of the In­
dians, ordered his cavalry to charge. This attack 
the Mogul army received so steadily, that the 
Indians began to sfocken their pace long before 
they reached the enemy's line. Those divisions 
which advanced were repulsed; but when they 
attempted to retreat, they found themselves sur­
rounded ; for the two corps in reserve in rear of 
the Mogul line being ordered to wheel round 
their flanks, met in the centre, and fell upon the 
rear of those who had advanced, by ·which means 
the Afghans were almost all cut to pieces: 5000 

men fell around the person of Ibrahim, who 
was found among the slain. According to the 
most correct accounts, ~fi,C?C?C? Afghans were slain 
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in this fiction, though some authors have _com­
putted the number at 50,000. 

Babur did not fail to make the best use of his 
victory. Immediately after the battle, he de­
tached the Prince Hoomayoon, and three of his 
best generals, to Agra, to occupy it before the 
Indians could have time either to recover from 
their defeat or to remove their wealth. He 
also deputed l\:Iahomed Sooltan 1\Jirza, and three 
other generals, to march rapidly, on Dehly, to 

take possession of that citv, while he 
Rujub r2. 1 . If . I ~ d . d 
A .1 ..,,, umse came up m t 1e rear, an arnYe -

pn --• 
on the uth of H.ujub. The Khootba 

was read in Dabur's named by Sheikh .Zein-ood­
Deen of Dehly, and, after surveying the city and 
visiting the tombs of the saints and heroes, he 

. proceeded to Agra, where he arriYed on 
~~Jub 21. the 22d of the same month. He imme-
[ av 2

• • I . d I f ·11 . · diate y 1m·este t 1e ort, sti m posses• 
sion of the late government, which had for its 
garrison the troops of Vikramajeet, the raja of 
Gualiar, who had been killed in the late action. 
So great, however, was the terror inspired by the 
1\foguls, that the Rajpoots proposed to capitulate; 
and in lieu of any other ransom for the private 
property of individuals, Babur was content to 
receive a diamond, weighing eight miskals, or 224 

rut ties.* This diamond ·was formerly the property 

* According to this statement, the dian~ond in question would 
weigh 672 carats. The finest diamonds in the world have been 
brought Iron India; but they are never cut to European taste, 
weight being more considered than symmetry. 
Aumngzecl.>'s diamond, presented to him by l\feer 

Joomla, weighed - 900 carats, 
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of Sooltan Alla-ood-Deen Khiljy of Malwa,and. Ba­
bur on this occasion presented it to his son Hooma­
yoon. Thus, on the fifth day after his arrival, Babur 
was in possession of Agra,wherein he found the mo­
ther of Ibrahim Lody: she was treated with becom­
ing respect, and permitted to retain all her wealth. 

"The conquest of Hindoostan (obsen-es Babur 
in his Commentaries) has been achieved by three 
persons since the commencement of the Maho­
medan era. In the first instance, by Sooltan 
Mahmood of Ghizny, whose descendants ruled 
over India; on the second occasion, by Soolfan 
Mahomed Ghoory and his officers, who also 
long reigned over the same country; and the 
third time, by myself: but my success does not 
bear any close resemblance to those of the con­
querors I have named; since, when Sooltan Mah­
mood Ghiznevy entered India, he was the m;idis­
puted sovereign of l\favur-ool-Nehr, Khwaruzm, 
and Khorassan; and if his army did not amount 
to 200,000 men, they exceeded roo,ooo soldiers. 
At that time, also, no one king ruled over the 
country, which was divided among numerous petty 
rnjas. In the case of Sooltan Mahomed Ghoory, 

The Emperor of Russia's diamond, being the eye of 
an idol at Seringham, weighs ... 779 curats. 

'l'he Great Mogul's diamond weighs ... ... 279 
The Pitt diamond, cut, weighs only ... ... 137 

but it is deemed the finest jewel of the kind in.,the 
world. 

The Nassuck diamond, which was discovered among 
the Peshwa's treasures, dug up by the Translator 
of this work, only weighs about ... • .. 89 
The diamond mines of Golconda, Rawulconda, and Punna 

have long been neglected; and the demand for the jewel is so 
limited, that on very flne diamonds have _of late years become 
known. 
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although himself not a sovereign prince,. yet his 
brother was king of Khorassan, and his troops 
did not amount to less than r:20,000 men, with 
which army he subdued the country of India, then 
subdivided among numerous petty princes. When 
I first made the attempt on India, I had· only 
r5,ooo men with me, and eventually ac~om­
plished the conquest with r:2,000 men. I was the 
ruler of Budukhshan, Kabul, and Kandahar; but I 
did not receive half the revenues of those terri­
tories, part of which absorbed a great portion ·of 
the resources in preserving it from foreign.attacks. 
The Afghan government extended from Birah to 
Behar, and it could bring into the field an army of 
5001000 soldiers; and that of Ibrahim Lody even, 
on the day of the battle, amounted to 100,000 

horse, besides moo war elephants. Notwith­
standing these circumstances, and the fact of 
the Oozbuks being at war with me in my rear, I 
ventured to attack such an enemy as Ibrahim, and 
having reaped the reward of my labours, I con­
quered Hindoostan. I do not ascribe this success 
to my own exertions merely; I refer it to the 
favour of the Almighty, who was pleased to aid 
me in my humble efforts." 
Rujub 29, On the 29th of Rujub, having 
A.H. 93 2. gone into the public treasury of the 
May g. King of India, Babur presented his son 

A.n. 152 6, Hoomayoon with 350,000 rupees, and 
to his cousin Mahomed Sooltan Mirza he gave 
four handsome shields, and 200,000 rupees in 
money, added to which, he conferred costly pre­
sents on all his chiefs, and eveg to the merchants 
who followed his camp. Besides what was 
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distributed in camp, a great part of the treasure 
was sent to Kabul, to be .divided among his sub­
jects, which yielded to each a silver sharokh. This 
divi~ion was independent of the large sums he sent 
to Samarkand, Khorassan, Kasghar, Erak, Mecca, 
Medina:, Kurbula, Nujuf, Mushud, and other holy 
places, in charity. Such generosity, bordering on 
prodigality, procured for Babur the name of Kul­
lundur, whose practice it is to keep nothing for 
to.-morrow . 

. The· Afghans, apprehensi\;e of a Mogul go­
vernment, and bearing a natural aversion to that 
race, still refused to submit. They appeared in 
arms in every quarter, strengthening their forts; 
and refusing submission in their different pro­
vinces. Kasim Khan in Sumbhul; Ally Khan 
Firmully in Mewat; Zeitoon Khan in Dholpobr; 
Tartar Khan in Gualiar; Hossein Khan Lohany 
in Rabery ; Kootub Khan in Etawa; Alum Khan 
in Kalpy; Nizam Khan in Byana; and Nasir 
Khan Lohany and Maroof Khan Firmully on the 
east bank of the Ganges. All these chiefs refused 
to acknowledge Babur's authority, and uniting 
for mutual support, they elected Behar Khan, the 
son of Duria Khan Lady, their king, with the title 
of Sooltan Mahomed, and forming a junction at 
Kunowj, advanced towards .:\gra. At this time 
also, Bubun Khan Julwany, the Afghan chief, 
who had joined Babur, deserted with all his ad­
herents, and the very inhabitants of the country 

. around Agra cut off the Mogul foraging parties, 
and rendered it difficult to support the cavalry, or 
to supply the troops with provisions. r·rd to 

VOL. II.-7. 
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these circumstances was the intolerable heat of the 
weather, from which many of the Moguls, unac-
customed to the climate, died. . 

In this situation of affairs, Babur was strongly 
urged by Khwaja Kullan and other chiefs to 
return to Kabul; but he replied, "That a kingdom 
"which had cost him so much pains in taking, 
"should not be wrested from him but by death." 
He immediately issued an order, stating his de­
termination to remain in India, permitting, at the 
same time, those persons who were desirous of 
returning to Kabul, and who preferred safety to 
glory, to retire; retaining with him only such sol­
diers whose valour would reflect honour on them­
selves, and their king and country. This order 
had· the desired effect: all murmurs ceased ; and 
·the officers, ·one and all, swore never to forsake 
him, with the exception only of Khwaja Kullan, 
whose reputation being already well established, 
he was permitted to withdraw fo~ the sake of 
his health, and was appointed governor of Kabul 
and Ghizny, on account of the services he had 
rendered. It being now known publicly, that 
Babur had determined not to quit Hindoostan, as 
his ancestor Teimoor had done before, several of­
ficers of the late government began to come over 
to him, such as Sheikh G'hoorun, with 3000 horse 
from Dooab, and Ally Khan Mewatty from Mewat. 
The last chief was induced to adopt this step in 
order to procure the release of his sons who had 
been taken in the battle. Lastly were Feroze 
Khan, and Sheikh Bayezeed Firmully. 

At the .same thne also, Kasim Khan of 
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Sumbhul, being besieged by the Afghans, invited 
Babur to receive him under his protection. The 
King accordingly deputed Mirza Mahomed Go­
kultash to his aid: the confederate troops were 
defeated, and Kasim Khan placed Sumbhul in pos­
session of the Moguls. Measures were now taken 
to attack the confederated army, and the Prince 
Hoomayoon, with the greatest part of the Mogul· 
troops, was detached against the Afghans, whose 
forces amounted to fifty thousand horse. On 
the Prince's approach, the Afghans retreated to 
Joonpoor, and Futteh Khan, the late Kings' 
minister, joined Hoomayoon. Futteh Khan was 
sent to Babur at Agra, and became the means of 
inducing se\·eral other .\fghan chiefs to submit. 

Nizam Khan, governor of Byana, though pressed 
hardly by Rana Sanka, who was endeavouring 
to become master of that province, still re­
fused to submit to Babur. Baba Koolly Sool­
tan marched. against him with a force, but was 
unfortunately defeated. Rana Sanka, soon after, 
having reduced Nizam Khan of Byana to great 
extremities, that chief sent a deputation to Da­
bur, requesting his aid, for which he was ready 
to pay him due homage. The King did not hesi­
tate to accept his allegiance, and sending a force 
to expel Rana Sanka, Nizam Khan was confirmed 
in possession of Dyana, which was settled upon 
him, with all its dependencies,. in consideration of 
his paying an annual tribute of twenty lacks of 

rupees. 

Tartar Khan, a descendant of Sarung Khan, was 
now in possession of the fort of Gualiar ; but 
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being besieged by the Raja of that country, he soli­
cited the aid of Babur. The detachment of troops 
sent by Babur defeated the Raja ; but Tartar 
Khan, repenting of his promise of submission, 
delayed to put the Mogul troops in possession. 
In the fort was one Sheikh l\fahomed Ghows, 
a learned man, who had a number of students 

· under him, and ,vho wrot.e to the Mogul general 
to endeavour to introduce himself singly int.o 
the fort, promising that. he would then find means 
of accomplishing his object. For this purpose, 
the Mogul general stated to Tartar Khan, that the 
enemy being all around, it was desirable to bring 
his troops under protect.ion of the fort, for fear 
of a surprise, and requested that he might be per­
mitted to pay a visit. t.o the learned man in the fort. 
This being acceded to, the Mogul was admitted 
without. suspicion. During his visit, he sent word 
to the gm·ernor from time to time, requesting per­
mission for such and such officers to be admitted 
also, till at length Tartar Khan desired the officer 
of the guard to use his own discretion in ad­
mitting whom he chose. The officer of the guard, 
a disciple of the philosopher, and who was 
privy to the plot, availed himself of this order to 
permit e\'ery body the 1\foguls wished to pass in, 
till at length all i.he chosen men of the detachment 
were within the garrison before the entertainment 
was ended. Tartar Khan was called on to give 
up the place, and threatened with instant death in 
case of refusal ; and he, making a virtue of neces­
sity, replied, that had he not intended doing so, he 
should not have permitted its occupation without 
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resistance. Tartar Khan proceeded in person to 
Agra, and entered into the service of Babur. 
Zeitoon Khan also, having surrendered Dholpoor, 
was placed in command of a body of troops, 
having previously sworn allegiance to Babur. Not 
long after these transactions, H umeed Khan, 
Sarung Khan, and other Afghans, created an in­
surrection in Hissar Feroza; but the sudden arri­
val of Cheen Teimoor Sooltan against them soon 
put an end to all opposition. • 

In the year 983, Khwaja Asud, who 
-~·

11
• 9~3· had gone as ambassador from Kabul, to 

A.D. 1:,75. · 
congratulate Shah 'Tamasp, King of 

Persia, on his accession, returned to court, ac­
companied by Sooliman Khan Toorkoman. This 
officer brought with him, among other presents, 
two Circassian maids, of whom the King became 
greatly enamoured. At this time, the mother of 
Ibrahim Lady, who had hitherto been treated 
·with much kindness, formed a design to poison 
Babur, and seduced the King's taster and cook to 
effect her object by putting poison into some hare 
soup: the King, after ea.ting a few spuonsful, 
nauseated the food, and immediately vomited, 
which saved his life. Aft.er proper enquiry, both 
the taster and the cook aYowed their share in 
the transaction ; and in order to ascertain the 
truth, a dog was brought, who having eaten of 
the soup, was seized with rnnvulsions, and died. 
Two of the under cooks were also made to par­
take of the broth, and their lives ·were sm·ed only 
by the greatest precautions : on this, the taster and 
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head cook, with several of their assistants, were put 
to the torture. The whole plot was revealed, and 
the mother of Ibrahim, being cast into prison, all 
her wealth was confiscated. One of Ibrahim f ,ody's 
sons, too, was sent at the same time to Kabul, 
which left Babur without any further apprehen­
sions from that familv. The Prince Hoomavoo11 ., -
having defeated the Afghans at Joonpoor, left 
Sooltan Jooneid Birlass in that quarter, and 011 

returning to Agra, induced Alum Khan, governor 
of Kalpy, to submit, and to accompany him to 
court, where he was received with due honours. 

The King was at this time suddenly roused by 
information that Rana Sanka, Hussun Khan Me­
watty, Rawul Dew Raja of llagur, and i\Iedny Ray 
Raja of Chunclery, espousing the cause of Mah­
mood, a son of the late King Sikundur Lody, had 
collected a force of a hundred thousand horse, in 
order to re-establish the Afghan dynasty. Babur, 
hewing little dependence on the Indian chiefs who 
bad joined him, detached them to defend different 
provinces, and with his own Moguls hastened to 
meet the enemy: his vanguard falling in with 
theirs in the neighbourhood of Byana, after a sharp 
conflict, was repulsed by t.he Afghans, with great 
loss, which struck unusual terror into the King's 
small army. Kasim Khan, deserting Babur, re­
paired to Sumbhul; and every day brought. dis­
agreeable intelligence from all quarters : nor did 
the predictions of one Mahomed Shureef, an astro­
loger, tend to remove the general consternation. 
This man asserted that the planet Mars was to be 
seen every evening in the west, and consequently 
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that whoever marched in that direction would be 
.overthrown. Babur,perceiving this rumour affected 
the minds of his troops, called a council of war, in 
which most of his officers ga,·e it as their opinion, 
that, owing to the superior numbers of the enemy, 
it was advisable, after leaving a strong garrison in 
Agra, to retreat for the present to Punjab. Babur, 
after some reflection, asked the chiefs, " \iVhat will 
" all the Mahomedan kings in the world say of 
"a monarch, whom the fear of death obliged to 
"abandon such a kingdom ? It is more consistent 
"with true heroism to reconcile ourselves to 
"martyrdom, and to exert ourselves with all our 
" hearts; for," said he, "as it is certain the soul 
"must of necessity quit the body, it is fit that it 
"should do so with honour ; for the whole object of 
"a man's life should be, that when he dies he may 
"leave behind him a spotless name." The whole 
assembly, as if inspired with one soul, cried out, 
''\i\lar ! war!" The King, who had been formerly 
much addicted to wine, made a vow publicly to 
drink on more, should he prove victorious in this 
campaign ; and orders were accordingly issued to 
prohibit its sale in the camp, not more, perhaps, 
from adherence to his oath, than to keep the 
soldiers cool for action. 
Jumad-ool- On Tuesday the 9th of Jumad-ool­
Akhir 9. Akhir of the year 933, which happened 
A.H. 933_. to be the vernal equinox, Babur formed 
March 21 • his line of battle, according to the cus­
A.n. 

1526• tom of Ro~m (Asia Minor), with his 
carriages and artillery in his front: in that order 
he moved towards the enemy, who lay at the 
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distance of six miles. After proceeding two miles 
he halted, and encamped. Several young warriors, 
fond of distinguishing themseh-es, issued out 
under the command of Mullick Hossein, Mahomed 
Kassim, and Baba Kushka Mogul, to skirmish with 
the enemy's light troops and piquets, among whom 
they did considerable execution. On the next day, 
being the third of the month, the King having pro­
ceeded two miles further, marked out his camp at 
the village of Kanwa/'; in the neighbourhood of 
Byana; but his tents were scarcely pitched, when he 
percei\·ed the enemy approaching. He marshalled 
his line, in the manner which he had for some days 
before practised, and in a few minutes he ,vas forced 
to receive the shock of the enemy. The army 
was chiefly drawn up by Nizam-ood-Deen Ally, 
whom Babur considered his ablest general: and 
this order of battle being on account of circums­
tances different from the former, we shall describe 
it in detail. 

The line, which upon this occasion was single, 
was divided; the King, at the head of the life­
guards, took post in front of his park of artillery. 
and commanded in person. 

In the right wing ,vere Cheen Tei moor Sooltan, 
Sooliman Shah, Kh\\·aja Dost Khazin, Yoonoos 
Allv Beg, Shah ~lunsoor Birlass, Dervish l\Ia­
homed Sar, Abdoolla Kitabdar, and Dost Beg 
Aka, with their se\·eral squadrons. 

In the left wing were the Prince Alum Khan 
(a son of Bheilole Lody), Sheikh Zein Sudr, Mohib 
Allv, Tardv Beg, Sheer-Afkun Khan, A.ravish 
Khan, Kh,~aja Hoossein De,van, besides other 
* This village lies on the Bangunga river, four mili>s south of 

Bhurtpoor. 
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chiefs, who occupied each a particular post· as­
signed to him. 

The advanced guard was under the personal 
command of the prince Hoomayoon, his right 
being composed of the troops of Kasim Hoossein 
Sooltan, Ahmud Yoosoof, Hindoo Beg Kocheen, 
Khoosrow Gokultusb, Mullik Kasim, Baba Kush­
ka Mogul, Kuwam Beg, the son of Shah Wully 
Khazin, Mirza Kumur Ally, Peer Koolly Sees­
tany, Khwaja Pheilwan Budukshy, Abdool Shu­
koor, and Sooliman Aka, the ambassador to Erak, 
artd Hoossein Aka, the envoy to Seestan. The left 
was composed of the troops under Meer Shah 
Mahomed Gokultash, Khwajgy Assud, Khan Kha­
nan* (the son of Dowlut Khan Lody), Mullik 
Dawood Kirany, and Sheik G'hoorun, each 
occupying their respective posts. 

The resenTe was in trusted to Syeed Khwaja, on 
whose right and left the following chiefs took 
post; viz. Mahomed Sooltan Mirza, Adil Sooltan, 
Abdool Azeez (Meer Akhoor), Mahomed Ally 
Jeng Jeng, Kootloogh Khan, Ameer Khan Mogul, 
Jany Beg Atka, Julal Khan, and Kumal Khan 
(the sons of the prince Alla-ood-Deen Lody), Ally 
Khan Firrnully, and Nizam Khan, of Byana. 

Besides these, was a separate rear-guard under 
the command of Tardy Beg Atlm, under whom 
was Roostoom Khan Toorkoman, and his corps 
of Noweenans or Nooyans.t 

* This is the same person denominated Dilawur I{han Khan 
Khanan. 

t The Nooyans are a Tartar tribe; but I am not sure 
whether they are Toorks or Moguls. 

VOL. 11,-8, 
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The Bukhshy * of the camp, Sooltan Mahomed, 
together with numerous Yesawuls t and attend­
ants to convey orders, attended the person of the 
King. 

About ten o'clock in the forenoon the action 
commenced. The left of the enemy charging the 
right of the Moguls, engaged hand to hand with 
the troops of Gokultash Khan, and made them 
give ground; but Cheen Teimoor Sooltan, re­
ceiving orders to support them, turned the scale in 
favour of Babur. According to the practice of 
the Choghtays, + the wings wheeled up on each 
flank, and the reserve supported those engaged, 
wherever assistance was required; while from the 
centre the artillery under the command of Oostad 
Ally Kooly Roomy, hurled destruction on all sides. 

The enemy fought with desperate valour till Ba­
bur, perceiving a favourable opportunity, charged 
with his personal guards, like a lion rushing from 
his lair, and after an obstinate conflict compelled 
the Indians to give way. Hussun Khan Mewatty, 
whose family had been distingu.ished for nearly 
200 years, was killed by a musket ball; Rawul 
Dew Raja of Bagur, Chundur Bhan, Manuk 
Chund Chowhan, and Kurn Sing Rajpoot, each 
powerful princes of the enemy, were numbered 
among the slain; while Rana Sanka escaped with 
the utmost difficulty from the field of battle. The 
King, immediately after the victory, assumed the 

* Bukhshy, chief of the staff. 
t Yesawul, aid-de-camp. 
+ The race of Chungiz Khan. 
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title of Ghazy, and, in order to perpetuate the 
commemoration of the victory, ordered a pyramid, 
composed of the heads of the slain, to be raised on 
an eminence near the field. To the astrologer Ma~ 
homed Shureef (after being severely reprimanded 
for his false prediction) he presented a lack of 
rupees, but compelled him to quit the Kingdom. 

From hence Babur marched towards Mewat, 
where Nahir Khan, the son of Hussun Khan 
Mewatty, seeing no other means of safety, sub~ 
mitted. The government of Mewat was conferred 
upon Cheen Teimoor Sooltan and his tribe. After 
which, Babur returned to Agra, and detached his 
son the Prince Hoomayoon to Kabul, with orders 
to add Bulkh to that province. Mahomed Ally 
Sootlan and Tardy Beg were also ordered to 
proceed against Hoossein Khan and Duria Khan, 
Afghans, who still kept possession of Chundwara 
and Rabery. On the approach of the Moguls, 
the Afghans flying, Hoossein Khan was drowned 
in crossing the J umna, but Duria Khan escaped. 
Mahomed Sooltan Mirza, the King's cousin, was 
also detached at the same time to Kunowj, 
against Bubun Khan Afghan, who fled from 
thence to Khyrabad. 

Zeehuj 29, 
A. II. 93+· 
Sept. 1~. 

A. D, 1528. 

On the 29th of Zeehuj, in the year 
934, the .King marched by the route of 
Kole to Sumbhul, and having diverted 
himself with theamusementofthechase, 

returned to his capital, where he was for a time 
ill of a fever; but having recovered, he proceeded 
towards Chundery, then occupied by Medny Ray 
with a strong garrison of Rajpoots. The place 
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being invested: the Rajpoots sallied out on the 
second day, and attacked the King; but they 
paid dear for their rashness, and lost six thousand 
men. Those who returned after this defeat into 
the fort, seeing no hopes of defending it, murdered 
their wives and children, according to custom. 
Among those who lost their lives on this occasion, 
was Medny Ray himself. The empty fort thus 
fell into the hands of the Moguls, and Babur did 
not fail to rebuild and repair those mosques in 
Chundery, Sarungpoor, Runtunbhore,and Raisein, 
which had been partly destroyed and otherwise 
injured by being converted into cattle-sheds, by 
Medny Ray's orders. He also restored those 
countries to their legitimate sovereign, Sooltan 
Ahmud, thesonof Sooltan Mahomed, and grandson 
of Sooltan Nasir-ood-Deen Khiljy, King of l\falwa. 

Advices were about this time received, that a 
body of troops which had been sent against the 
Afghan chiefs had unnecessarily brought on an 
action, and were defeated. The King, therefore, 
marched in person towards Kunowj, and met his 
defeated troops at H.abery. Hm,ing reached the 
Ganges, he collected thirty or forty boats, and 
threw a bridge over it, so that Cheen Teimoor 
Sooltan commenced crossing that night. The 
enemy on the opposite bank, afterafaint res~stance, 
gave way, and Cheen Teimoor Sooltan, pursuing­
Hiem, took part of their baggage, and a number of 
their families and followers were made prisoners.-

The King after this victory hunted for a few 
days along the banks of the Ganges, and then re­
turned to Agra. He appointed Mahomed Zuman 
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Mirza, the son of Budee-ooz-Zuman Mirza (who 
had lately been expelled from Bulkb), governor 
of Agra. 
Mohurrum 5. On the 5th of Mohurrum, in the 

A.H. 935. year 935, Babur commenced a tour 
Sept. i9. through his new kingdom. He first 

A.O. rs::iS. t l h t f G 1· d . d oo { t e rou e o ua iar, an v1ewe 
there the fortifications, the stone-elephant, and 
the palace of Raja Man Sing. He then visited 
the gardens of Raheem Dad, and having admired 
some extremely fine scarlet oleander flowers, he 
ordered a few of the plants to be conveyed to Agra. 
'fhe usual colour of this plant resembles that of 
the peach-blossom; but the scarlet oleander is 
rarely to be met with. During his stay, he 
went in state to the great mosque built by the 
Emperor Altmish, for whose soul he ordered 
prayers to be read, and he returned by another 
route to Agra. 

In the vVakaya Ba bury the King writs, "On 
Suffur 23. " the 23d of Suffur of this year I was 
A.1:1. 935. "taken unwell, and with difficulty was 

Nov. 7. "able to remain in the musjid during 
A.o. 153o. " prayers on Friday. On Sunday, I 
" had a good deal of fever. It was on this occasion 
" I commenced to transpose into poetry the work of 
"Khwaja Abdool Ahrar; and it occurred to me, if 
"I succeeded so as to please that holy man, I might 
"through his intercession get over my disease ; 
"and s9 in the -·end it turned out, for I shortly 
" after lost all the syn:iptoms I had of epilepsy, 
"and completely recovered. The metre is that 
" of the Remul Moosudus Mujnoon, the same in 
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"which Mowlana Jamy has written his poem en­
" titled Saboosha. At this period of my life I 
" used to have frequent attacks of fever, from which 
"I seldom recovered under a month or six weeks. 
" On the present occasion I obtained relief on the 

"8th of Rubbee-ool-Awul." Ba bur says 
Rubbee-ool-

Awul s. he offered up public thanks to God for 
N the restoration of his health, and made • ov. 20, 

a great feast upon the occasion. He dis-
tributed magnificentpresentsamonghis nobles and 
foreign ambassadors, and bestowed large sums to 
gladden the hearts of the poor. During this fes­
tival, Khoond-Emir, the author of the Hubeeb-oos­
Seer, Mowlana Shuhab-oocl-Deen, entitled the 
punster, and Mirza Ibrahim Kanoony, \vho came 
from Hirat, and were esteemed the most eminent 
literary men of the age, were introduced to the 
King. They were loaded with presents, and di­
rected to remain in future about his person. 

In this year, Askurry Mirza, who governed 
Mooltan, was ordered to court, just at the time he 
was making preparations to attack Noosrut Shah. 
Boorhan Nizam Shah -Dheiry, Prince of Ahmud­
nuggur, also at this time sent an ambassador to 
congratulate Babur on his good fortune, and 
proffered allegiance. Towards the close of the 
year, the King received advices, that the Prince 
Mahmood, the son of the late KingSikundur Lody, 
had obtained possession of the province of Behar, 

. and also that the Bullochies in Mooltan had raised 
the standard of revolt. The King deferred any 
operations against Mooltan for the present, but 
marched in person towards Behar. On reaching 
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Kurra, Julal-ood-Deen Noosrut Shah Shurky, the 
ex-king of Joonpoor, prepared a royal entertain­
ment for him, and was honoured with an audi­
ence. Mahomed Zuman Mirza was detached 
from Kurra to Behar, from whence he expelled 
the Prince Mahmood Lody; but in a few months 
after, the Afghans of Behar, collecting troops, ad­
vanced again towards the Ganges. The King, on 
this occasion, detarhed Askurry Mirza with a di­
vision to oppose them at the Budry ford, and 
himself followed next day with the rest of the 
army. On reaching the banks of the river, he was 
preparing boats to cross, when Cheen Teimoor 
Sooltan, who had already gained the opposite 
bank with only eighty horse, attacked without 
hesitation. Askurry Mirza, who had crossed at 
another place, also appearing fortunately in the 
enemy's rear, threw them into confusion, and 
they fled. Noosrut Shah now joined the King, 
and promised to aid in the expulsion of the 
Afghans ; and Babur, having given orders to Sool­
tan Jooneid Birlass to prosecute the war in con­
junction with Noosrut Shah, returned to Agra. 

The Prince Hoomayoon having left his brother, 
Hindal Mirza, to govern in his absence, returned 
about this time from Kabul to visit his father, and 
Sooltan Syeed, ruler of Uzkund, taking advan­
tage of this circumstance, invaded Budukhshan. 
Mirza Heidur Doghlat was sent on in advance. 
On the approach of the enemy, Hindal Mirza 
retreated into the fort of Budukhshan, and was 
besieged therein; but Sooltan Syeed Khan finding 
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he could not reduce the place, .and that the inha­
bitants were not disposed to join him, ravaged the 
country and returned home. The news of the 
retreat of Sooltan Syeecl not having reached Agra, 
the government of Budukhshan was conferred on 
Sooliman Mirza, the son of Khan Mirza, who 
marched immediately for that province, with a 
letter from the King to Sooltan Syeed, expressing 
his surprise at the late hostilities, for which he was 
unable to account, but by supposing some mis­
conduct on the part of his son Rindal Mirza: the 
King stated, therefore, that he had sent another 
person, who was allied to them both, to supply his 
place. Sooliman Mirza found the country in per­
fect tranquillity on his arrival, and took quiet pos­
session of the government, which his family have 
kept to this day, an account of which it is my in­
tention to write at some future period.* The 
Prince Rindal Mirza now came to Agra. 

Rujub, During the year 936, in the month of 
A,H. 936. Rujub, Ilabur fell sick; and his disorder 
March, daily gaining ground, in spite of the 

A.n: 153°· power, of medicine, he recalled his son, 
Prince Hoqmayoon, who was then besieging the 
fort of Kalunjur, and appointed him his successor. 
Jumad-ool- On Monday, the 5th of Jumad-ool-Awul, 
Awul .5• in the year 937, Babur Padshah died. 
A.H. 

937· According to his will, his body was 
Dec. 24. 

A.n. 1.530. carried to Kabul, and interred in a 

*·Ferishta, probably, did not live to finish his history of 
l{han Mirza's family, ~s no such work ha:s ever been found, 
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sepulchre at that city .. The date of his death 1s 
comprised in the words . 

..,,~ JI ~J;; ~ 

·• ~fay heanm be his lot." 

'I'his monarch ascended the throne at twelve 
years of age, and reigned thirty-eight years. He 
was a prince or great humanity, and carried his 
liberality to such excess, that it bordered on pro­
digality. \Vith respect to the first, he so often 
pardoned ingratitude and treason, that he seemed 
to make a principle of rendering good for evil : 11e 
thus disarmed malice, and made his enemies the 
admirers of his virtues. He was learned in the 
doctrines of the sect of H uneef, and never omitted 
his daily prayers. He had.few equals in the arts 
of poetry, prose composition, and music. He 
wrote his own life in the Toorky language, with 
such elegance and truth, that the performance is 
universally admired. It was translated, in the 
reign of his grandson Akbur, by Mirza Khan Khan 
Khanan, into Persian, which is the same work 
that is usually read by persons in India of the 
present age. In his person, Babur was handsome, 
his address was engaging and unaffected, his co­
untenance pleasing, and his disposition affable. 

The following instance of hi~ justice is worthy 
of being recorded in history :--

\Vhen he was Prince of Furghana, the owner 
of a valuable c.aravan ;,i of Klrntta, who was 

* A cargo of merchandise conveyed by land is termed n 
caravan: the houses to put up at on the road, caravanseras. 
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crossing the mountains of lndijan, was killed by 
lightning. Babur ordered all the goods to be 
collected, and sent messengers to Khutta to pro­
claim the acrident, and bring the owner's heirs to 
his court. Upon their arrival, at the end of two 
years, he entertained them hospitably, and returned 
them the whole of their property, not only ref using 
to accept a present, but even to be reimbursed for 
the expences incurred in securing it. 

Notwithstanding his warlike pursuits, Babur 
was much addicted to wine and women, and the 
usual pleasures of courts. On occasions when 
he ·was inclined to make merry, he used to fill a 
reservoir in a garden, in the neighbourhood of 
Kabul, with wine, upon which was inscribed a 
verse to this purpose :-

"Give me but wine. and blooming maids, 
•• All other joys l freely spurn : 
"Enjoy them, Babur, while vou ma,•­
" For youth once past will n;'er rett;rn," 

Whenever he marched, he always caused the 
road to be measured after him, a custom which 
prevails among the emperors of Hindoostan to 
this day; and the statute he made, concerning the 
measurement of distances, has hitherto remained 
in force. He fixed one hundred tunabs for one 
kroh, each tunab being forty guz, e:;i.ch gur. being 
nine moosht or hands.* The guz 'Sikundry, or 
yard of Sikundur, \vhich prevailed when he 

. * Each lrnncl being four inche~, make 4000 yards to a coss. 
rather mote than-two and a quarter English miles. 
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reached India, was superseded by that of the 
Babury guz, \Vhich continued in use till the begin­
ning of the reign of Jehangeer Padshah. Since the 
empire of India is now governed by the descendants 
of this illustrious Prince, it seems proper to refer to 
the genealogy of his race. Be it known then that 
Chungiz Kban, the son of Byooka Bahadur, the 
son of Purtan, had four sons, who all became 
kings, and the fathers of nations, in the time of 
Chungiz. These princes adopted the institutes of 
Chungiz, which in the Toorky language are 
denominated Toozuk. The names of Chungiz's 
sons were Oktay, Choghtay, Joojy, and Tooly. 
Though Oktay was not the eldest son, yet he was 
appointed his successor, and ruled over the exten­
sive empire of N"orthern Asia, in the city of Kurra 
Koorum, or Kuloran, the original capital of his 
father's dominions. Oktay died, from excess of 
wine, in the year 639. 

Choghtay Khan, who, according to my own 
belief, was the second son of Chungiz Khan, pos­
sessed the kingdoms of ManU"-ool-~ehr, Toorkis­
tan, Bulkh, and Budukhshan, in subordination to 
his brother Oktay. Kurrachar )Jooyan, who is 
the fifth ancestor of Teimoor, was appointed by 
Chungiz Khan :\.meer-ool-Oomrn of Choghtay 
Khan. Choghtay was so deYoted to the sports 
of the chase, that neglecting the affairs of •his 
government, he intrusted them to the manage­
ment of Kurrachar Nooyan, who promoted the 
interests of the tribe of Choghtay, and confirmed 
its power. 
'· Joojy Khan; one of the younger sons of Chun­
giz Khan, hecame ruler over the following tracts 
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of territory, conferred on him by his father : viz. 
Dusht Kupchak, Khwaruzm, Khizr, Bulgaria, 
Lokmeen, Alan, _\ss, Russia, and those parts 
lying to the north, .\lthough children of the 
same father and mother, yet a spirit of hostility 
existed between the three brothers, Choghtay, 
Oktay, and Joojy Khan. Their mother was 
Boorga Kocheen, the daughter of Kysur. Joojy 
Khan died in 614, After seYen generations, Ooz­
buk Khan, one of his descendants, ruled m·er 
Dusht-Kupchak. He was a l\Iahomedan, and a 
prince of virtuous disposition. The Oozbuks are 
generally of opinion, that he ·was the first 
prince who introduced the i\Iahomedan faith 
among his subjects. 

Tooly Khan, the youngest, was the favouritt~ 
sun of Chun~!iz Khan. He contrived to maintain 
friendly relations witl1 his elder brothers, and was 
eventually slain in battle during the invasion 
made into the kingdom of Khutta, iu the year 
628. One of his sons, Keela Khan, who became 
ruler of Khuttc:1, laid the foundation of the city oJ 
Khan Baligh, and brought a large canal from the 
sea of Oliv.::s ,if ( D11ria Zeitoon), whose ports belong 
to India, into Khan Baligh, a distance of +o days' 
journey. The other son of Tooly Khan is Hula­
koo Khan, who made himself master of Persia. 
Having related thus mud1 of the descendants of 
Chungiz Khan, I shall proceed to state the pedi­
gree of Teimoor Korkan, as descended from Kur­
rachar Nooyan. 

* Though I have not ventured to alter the original, I would 
read the sea of Koolzoom (Caspian), and Persia for !ndia, 
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Ameer Teimoor, the son of Ameer Tooraghay, 
the son of Birkul, the son of Ameer Alingiz 
Bahadur, the son of Anchul Nooyan, the son of 
Kurrachar Nooyan, the son of Sornchuk, the son 
of Eroee Birlass, the son of Kajooly Bahadur, the 
son of Toomnay Khan, the son of Baisanghar 
Khan, the son of Keeto Khan, the son of Kasin, 
the son of Bookay, the son of Boozunjur, the son 
of .Alankoo, a descendant from a daughter of 
Beiram Joorjeea, who is descended from a daugh­
ter of Yeldooz Khan, of the tribe of Birlas. The 
pedigree of Chungiz Khan is also deducible from 
Boozunjur. Ameer Teimoor had four sons: 

1st, Jehangeer Mirza, who died during his 
father's lifetime, in Samarkand. 

2d, Sharokh Mirza, ruler of Hirat. 
3d, Oomr Sheikh Mirza, ruler of Indijan .. 
4th, Meeran Shah :\'lirza, ruler of Persia, and 

successor to the kingdom of Hoolakoo Khan. 
Accordingly those four princes, having obtained 
the government of four kingdoms, reigned for 
many years therein. Of these, the descendants 
of the fourth empire obtained by Meeran Shah 
still exercise sovereign sway, and the heir of that 
house sends governors to the following countries: 
viz. Hindoostan, Kabul, Ghizny, Kandahar, 
Ghaor, and Bamyan. 



70 

HOO MA YOON PADSHAH. 

(HIS FIRST REIGN.) 

Hoomavoon ttscends the tlzronc-lzis brotlzer Kamran, 
.(oz1enzor of Kabul, disputes llis rig!zt to supremacy.-The 
government of Sumbhu! is conferred on his brother 
Askurry, and tlzat of .Jtlewat 011 his hrotlzer Hindal.­
Jlahomed Zuman 11!/irza goes into rebellion, nnd is pro­
tected by Baliadur Sliali of Guzerat, who also affords aid 
to .Alla-ood-Deen Lody, tz pretender to the tlzrone.-Wtzr 
witlz Btzlzadur Slzah.-Guzerat occupied b_v Hoomayoon, 
and the go11ernm,mt conferred on Askurry flfirza -Balza­
dur Shfllt expeh Askurry-reco11ers his kingdom.­
Slzeer Khnn Soor attack!. tlze Jllogul officer!. ,n tlzc Dooab, 
and to tlie east of tlze Gangt:J -JI ahomed Sooltan .Jlirza 
in arm!. at Kunowj.-TVar w1tlt Sheer Khan in Beugal.­
Hinda! procla111zs lumself king in Agra, and proceeds lo 
besiege Delz(i• -Kamrtrn 1eize!, on Lahore, nnd marches to 
Delt!y.-Kamran and Hwdal unite at DelzZv-tlte_l' marc/1 
to Agra.-Hoo111ayoo11 return, from Bengal-becomes re­
conciled to lzil brotlzen-tlzq unite against the power of 
Slzeer Khan, wlio tllrnme.1 tlu: title of Slzn/1.-Thc Jloguls 
defeated, and expelled from lndia.-Hoomayoon, and ltil 
brothen,jly to Lahore, and eventually to Sind.-Hooma­
yoo,z's adventures-is deserted by Iii~ brothen, who estab­
lish themselves in Knbu!.-Hoomnyoon retires to Kabul­
ltis nan·ow escape, and flight to Persia-his i1~fa11t son 
,Akbur falll a prisoner rnto tlze hands of his uncle 
Kamrau. 

Hool\IAYOON was a prince as remarkable for his 
wit ai, for the urbanity of his manners; and, for 
the most part, disposed to spend his time in social 
intercourse and pleasure~ -He devoted himself, 
however, to the sciences of astronomy and 
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geography; and not only wrote dissertations on 
the nature of the elements, but had terrestrial and 
celestial globes constructed for his use. He also 
caused seven halls of audience to be built, in which 
he received persons acrnrding to their rank. The 
first, called the Palace of the Moon, was set 
apart for amba~sadors, m~ssengcrs, and travellers. 
In the second, called the Palace of Ootarid, * civil 
officers, and persons of that description, were 
received ; and there were five other palaces for the 
remaining five planets. [n each of thel,e buildings 
he gave public audience, according to the planet 
of the day. The furniture arid paintings of 
each, as also the dresses of the household 
attendants, bore some symbol emblematical of the 
planet. In each of these palaces he transacted 
business one day in the week.t He had scarcely 
ascended the throne when his brother, Kamran 
Mirza, formed a design of rendering himself master 
of Punjab; but, in order to conceal his real 
intentions, he gave out, that he was proceeding 
from Kabul to Hindoostan, to congratulate 
Hoomayoon 01.1 his accession. The King, although 
aware of Kamran i\lirza's design, from the conduct 
he pursued in those countries through which he 

* Venus, 
t The practice of devoting each day nf the week to the 

palace called after it is certainly novel; but that of giving 
the names of the planets to such buildings is, probably, of 
great nntiquity. Among the Hindoos, cities are usually sub­
divided into pooras (wards or parishes), called after each day 
of the week, by which the markets are regulated, and equally 
distributed throughout the town. Palaces sometimes derive 
their names frnm.·these wards or parishes. 
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passed, was extremely unwilling to wage war with 
his brother; and anticipating his wishes, sent to 
him a commission, rendering him governor ol' 
Punjab, Peshawar, and Lumghan: a measure with 
which· Kannan professed to be satisfied. Tlrn 
gO\·ernmcnt of Nlewat wc1s conferred on Hindal 
Mirza, and _-\skurry Mirza obtained that of 
Sumbht1l. 

A. H. 938. 
In the year 9381 Hoomayoon led an 

army against the strong fortress of Kai­
A. D. 1532. 

lunjur. During the siege, i\fahomed 
Khan, the son of Sikundur Lody, in conjunction 
with Bubun Khan J ulwany, having taken posses­
sion of Joonpoor, made war in the eastern provinces. 
Hoomayoon receiving intelligence of this event. 
left Kalunjur, and marched to Joonpoor, where 
he defeated the Afghans; and, having reinstated 
Sooltan Jooneid Birlas in the government, h<" 
returned to Agra. On his arrival there, according 
to the statement of ~izam-ood-Deen Ahmud 
Bukhshy, Hoomayoon besto·wed honorary dresses 
on above twelve thousand of his followers, of 
whom two thousand received jewels also. At this 
time, he sent to demand of Sheer Khan Afghan 
the evacuation of the fortress of Chunar, which 
being refused, Hoomayoon marched an army 
against him. \i\Thile engaged in thi~ operation, 
information was received, that Bahadur Shah of 
Guzerat was advancing towards the north. This 
event induced Hoomayoon to make peace with 
Sheer Khan, and to return towards Agra. On the 
road Kootub Khan, the son of Sheer Khan, whom 
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Hoomayoon had brought with him as a hostage, 
effected his escape, and joined his father at Chunar. 

Mahomed Zuman.Mirza, grandson.of Sooltan 
Hoossein Mirza, having resoked, if possible, to 
supplant Hoomayoon on the throne of India, 
through the agency of the Clioghtay chiefs in the 
service of the latter, formed a plan for the King's 
assassination. The plot was discovered, but Ma­
homed Zuman l\firza received his pardon on taking 
the most solemn oath of future fidelity ; yet inhe~ 
riting from his father a treasonable propensity,"he 
projected a similar scheme a second time, when he 
was seized, and confined in the fort of Byana, under 
charg.e of Yadgar Beg. Orders were issued, at 
the same time, for apprehending and depriving of 
sight his nephew, Mahomed Sooltan Mirza, as also 
Nukwut Sooltan, both Mogul officers of distinc­
tion, and abettors of Mahomed Zuman's designs. 
The person to whom this duty was intrusted exe­
cuted the decree only on ~ukwut Sooltan, without 
destroying the sight of i\lahomed Sooltan Mirza. 
Meanwhile l\fahomecl Zuman Mirza, assisted by 
his keeper, Yadgar Beg, escaped from llyana, and 
sought refuge at the court of Bahadur Shah of 
Guzernt. iVIahomed Sooltan Mirza aided by his 
two sons, Alugh Mirza and Shah Mirza, also fled 
to Kunowj, where he was joined by about six 
thousand persons, consisting of Moguls, Afghans, 
and Rajpoots. 

Hoomayoon required Mahomed Zuman Mirza 
to be delivered up by the King of Guzerat, who 
refused compliance, and became involved in a 
war. Bahadur Shah was at this time engaged 
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in besieging the fort of Chittoor. The Prince 
Rana Sanka r.; claimed the protection of Hoo­
mayoon; who, having advanced as far as Gualiar, 
encamped there for two months, and, for what 
reason does not appear, returned peaceably to Agra. 
Rana Sanka, despairing of relief, sent a crown of 
jewels and other valuable presents to Bahadur 
Shah, and thus induced him to raise the siege. 

Bahadur Shah, successful in every quarter, and 
inflated with prid~ by having reduced Mando and 
other places, did not hesitate to show his contempt 
for Hoomayoon, by bringing Mahomed Zuman 
Mirza into public notice, and by granting him 
honours. He also encouraged Alla-ood-Deen, a 
son of the ~ing Bheilole Lady, to make an attempt 
on the throne of Dehly. To this end, Bahadur 
Shah conferred on Tartar Khan, the son of Alla­
ood-Deen, the command of forty thousand men, to 
enable him to march against Hoomayoon. Tartar 
Khan took Byana, and advanced to the neigh­
bourhood of Agra, when Hoomayoon directed his 
brother, Hindal Mirza, to oppose him. As the 
armies approached, Tartar Khan's troops deserted 
him; so that, in the space of ten days, he had 
scarcely ten thousand horse remaining. With these, 
however, he ventured to give battle, but was 
totally overthrown, having lost most of his troops, 
three hundred officers, and eventually his own 
life. Rindal Mirza, after this victory, having 
retaken Byana and all the other places which 
had before fallen into the hands of the enemy, 
returned in triumph to Agra. 

* In some 1\-ISS. he is called V1kramajeet, 
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Baha.dur Shah, in the year 940, 

A.H. 94°· marched a second time towards Chit­
A.n. 1533. 

toor. Hoomayoon in this year caused a 
citadel to be built in Dehly, on the banks of the 
Jumna, to ·which he gave the name of Deen 
Puna ( the asylum of the faithful), after which he 
marched towards Sarungpoor in Malwa. This 
place belonged to Bahadur Shah of Guzerat, 
to whom Hoomayoon addressed the following 
verses: 

" 0 thou!* the ravager of Chittoor, 
"In what way wilt thou subdue infidels ? 
"Knowest thou, that while employed at Chittoor, 
" A king cometh to subdue thee ?" 

Bahadur Shah answered Hoomayoon in the 
same strain : 

"I, who am the ravager of Chittoor, 
"Will conquer the idolaters by valour; 
"And he who dares not succour Chittoor 
'' Shall see in what way he himself shall be conquered." 

Bahadur Shah, after sending this reply, sum-
moned a council of war; when it was the opinion 
of the majority that, as Hoomayoon had all his 
force with him, it would be better to raise the siege 
and march against him, and thus strike a deci­
sive blow at once. Other advisers maintained that 
Hoomayoon's religious principles would prevent 
him from molesting Bahadur Shah while engaged 
in war with idolaters; and that, therefore, it was 

* The wit of these verses consists in the similarity of 
sound between Chitoor, signifying how or in what way, and 
Chittoor, the name of the fort, 
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rno~t advisable to bring the siege, now far ad­
vanced, to a close, and afterwards to act according 
to circumstances. Bahadur Shah, adopting the 
latter opinion, the siege was prosecuted with 
vigour till Chitto01· fell ; while Hoomayoon con­
tinued loitering away his time at Sarungpoor. The 
reign of l3ahadur Shah nmv drawing to a close, 
that Prince, without anticipating his destiny, and 
foll of his own importance, marched against Hoo­
mayoon, who, hearing of his approach, proceeded 
to oppose him. The two armies met near Mund­
soor. Bahadur Shah, who had collected a large 
train of artillery, was induced, by the advice of his 
engineer, Roomy Khan, to entrench his army, and 
to place his cannon in redoubts, in hopes that the 
Moguls would risk an attack. In this expectation 
he was disappointed; both armies continued to lie 
in sight of each other for two months, during which 
daily skirmishes occurred, but with varied success. 
Hoomayoon, unable to draw Bahadur Shah from 
his entrenchments, directed his attention to cutting 
olI his supplies. He accordingly ordered his horse 

to proceed in bodies of from five to six 
A. u. 94°· thousand, to scour the country in rear 
A. D, I 533. f } ' , . o t 1e enemy s camp, wherem famme 
began to be severely felt, so that men, horses, ele­
phants, and camels perished daily in great numbers. 
Finding himself hemmed in on all sides, Bahadur 
Shah, accompanied by only five persons, con­
sisting of Moobarik Khan, the ruler of Kandeish ; 
Kadir Khan, who afterwards became ruler of 
l\falwa; his own general, Sudr Jehan Khan, and 
two servants, left his camp in the night, and fled 
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towards Mando. This event was no sooner lmown 
in the morning than Bahadur Shah's army dis­
persed. Hoomayoon ordered a pursuit, which was 
continued as far as Manda ; and a great slaughter 
was committed on the unfortunate wretches, who 
had neither the power to escape nor the means to 
defend themselves. Bahadur Shah threw himself 
into Mando, and was invested therein. 

A few days after, three hundred Moguls escala­
ded the walls of l\.fando in the night; and thought 
the garrison consisted of many thousand men, such 
was the panic into which they were thrown, that 
they betook themsekes to flight. Bahadur Shah 
escaped with five thousand horse, and reached the 
town of Champanere, which had become the capital 
of Guzerat, while Sudr Jehan Khan, his general, 
being dangerously wounded, and unable to pro­
ceed, shut himself up in the citadel of the fort 

of l\Iando, called Songur. Herein he 
A. 

11
• 9+1

• was besieged, and capitulated on the 
A. D, 1534. b f . second day; ut on account o his ex-
cellent character, and his valour, he was received 
into fm·our by Hoomayoon. During the flight 
from Mundsoor, Sudr Jehan Khan had saved 
Bahadur Shah's life ·when ,·ery nearly taken by 
Hoomayoon in person. On this OC'casiou, he thre-w 
himself between Hoomayoon's guards and his 
master, gi\'ing the latter an opportunity of escap­
ing, and after himself receiving several wounds, 
one of which was from the hand of Hoomayoon, 
he reached Manda with great difficulty. 

Three days after the capture of Manda, Hoo­
mayoon rene,ved the pursuit of llahadur Shah, 
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who, having taken all his treasure and jewels out 
of the city of Champanere,* fled towards Ahmud­
abad. The city of Champanere, however, was 
devoted to plunder, while the reduction of the 
citadel (which still held out) being left to Dowlut 
Khwaja Birlas, Hoomayoon continued in pursuit 
of the King of Guzerat. Bahadur Shah, hearing 
of the approach of the Moguls, 1led to Cambay in 
the first instance, and eventually to the island of 
Dew. He vvas pursued so closely by Hoomayoon, 
that he arrived at Cambay on the very evening 
Bahadur Shah left it. 

Hoomayoon, however, having heard that Ba­
hadur Shah's wealth was principally in the cita­
del of Champanere, he returned to superintend 
the siege of that place. Yekhtyar Khan, of Gu­
zerat, defended the fort with great bravery; 
yet, though he had some years' provision in 
the fort, still, with that propensity to accumulate 
which belongs to some men, he was desirous of 
obtaining more, and ·was in the habit of receiving 
supplies daily by a secret pathway, leading through 
a thick wood. Hoomayoon, while one day recon­
noitring, suspecting this fact, seized a party of 
country people who conveyed the supplies, and 
induced them to carry him, in disguise, to the spot 
where they gained admittance. After making the 
necessary observations, he returned to his camp. 
On the same night, having procured a number 
of steel spikes to be constructed, and selected 
a · body of three hundred men for the purpose, 

* In the original it is called Mahomedabad Champanere. 
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he determined to attempt to take the place by 
escalade. Accordingly several false attacks were 
made by moonlight on other quarters. As access 
to this part of the fortress was extremely difficult, 
the enemy had confidently withdrawn the troops 
to repel the other assaults. The King was thus 
enabled to fix at leisure his steel spikes, without 
interruption, in the scarp of the rock, by which 
means thirty-nine officers ascended: the last was 
Beiram Khan Toorkoman,* after whom Hooma­
yoon himself mounted, making the fortieth. 
Before sunrise, his whole detachment was within 
the walls, when displaying a preconcerted signal, 
his troops attacked the garrison with vigour on 
all sides. At this moment Hoomayoon, at the 
head of his detachment, calling out "Alla Akbur,t" 
forced his way, sword in hand, through the enemy, 
and possessed himself of one of the gates, through 
which he admitted his troops. The whole garrison, 
excepting Yekhtyar Khan and his family, who 
were in the citadel (called Moolba), were put to 
the sword; but the governor, who had defended 
it so bravely, obtained honourable terms. The 
great strength of this place, the numerous 
garrison, and the boldness and success of the 
enterprise by which its capture was achie,·ed, 
render this action equal, in the opinion of military 
men, to any thing of the kind recorded in history. 

* Beiram Khan became the tutor of Hoomayoon's son 
Akbur and was subsequently much distinguished. 

t 1.'his phrase, denominated Tukbeer (magnifying), signifies 
" God is great." 
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Here the treasure of Guzerat, the accumulation of 
many years, was distributed among the troops; 
Hoomayoon- gave to his officers and soldiers as 
much gold, sifrer, or jewels, as could be heaped 
upon their respective shields, proportioning the 
value -to their rank and merit ; for the wealth of 
Room,* Khutta, and Furung, which had been 
there collected to a vast amount, fell into the 
hands of the captors on this occasion. 

Bahadur Shah, having secured himself in the 
island of Dew, sent Imad-ool-Moolk, a Circassian, 
(the father of that Chungiz Khan who was sub­
sequently murdered) to Ahmudabad, to collect 
the revenues, and to levy troops, and he suc­
ceeded so well, that the King of Guzerat, shortly 
after, found himself at the head of fifty thousand 
men, and daily gained a new accession of power. 
Hoomayoon hearing of this circumstance, after 
nominating Tardy Beg to command the fort of 
Champanere and the adjacent countries, marched 
ill person towards Ahmudahad. Imad-ool-Moolk 
drew out his troops to oppose him, near Maho­
moodabad, but was defeated. On this occasion, 
the vanguard only of Hoomayoon's army, com­
manded by Askurry Mirza, was engaged. The 
rest of the Moguls did not arrive in time to be 
brought into action. In reward for this signal 
service, Aksurry Mirza received the government 
of Ahmudabad. Hoomayoon now divided the 
provinces of Guzerat among his officers, and 
marched to Boorhanpoor. In this state of affairs, 

* Room, Asia Minor; Khutta, Tartary; Furung, Europe. 
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Boorhan Nizam Shah, Imad Shah, and the other 
sovereigns of the Deccan, apprehensive of his 
designs, wrote submissive letters, tendering their 
allegiance. Hoomayoon had scarcely obtained 
these flattering tokens of his success, when accounts 
arrived of the insurrection cr~ated in the north by 
Sheer Khan. Haying recei,·ed the submission of 
Kandeish, Hoomay9on proceeded to Mando. It 
was during this march that Khondameer, the 
author of the Hubeeb•oos-Seer, died in his camp. 
The remains of this eminent person were conveyed 
to Dehly, and interred in the same vault with 
Ameer Khoosrow and Sheikh ~izam-ood-Deen 
Owlia. 

In Guzerat, Imad-ool-l\foolk, and the other 
nobles of the old government, again collected 
troops, and appeared in force in the neighbour­
hood of Ahmudabad. Yadgar Nasir Mirza, the 
ruler of Puttun, and Kasim Hoossein Sooltan, 
ruler of Baroach, themselves princes by descent, 
were compelled to quit their stations, and unite 
with Askurry Mirza. It happened one night, 
while engaged in drinking ·wine, Askurry Mirza 
observed, "Am not I a king, God's representative 
" on earth?" Ghuzunfur Beg Kolm, one of 
Askurry Mirza's foster brothers, and the full 
brother of Mehdy Kasim Khan, whispered in his 
ear, '' You are a king, but not an independent 
" one.'' His companions smiled, and bantered 
Askurry Mirza on the subject, till he became so 
vexed, that he gave orders next day to seize 
Ghuzunfur Beg, who shortly after made his 
escape, and joined Bahadur Shah at Dew, where 
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having assured him that the Moguls were only 
waiting for some plea to quit the country, he 
offered to conduct his troops against them, and 
even agreed to suffer death if they opposed him 
with resolution. 

Bahadur Shah, who had ensured the aid of the 
inhabitants, did not fail to take advantage of 
this overture, and proceeded towards Ahmuda­
bad, while Hindoo Beg, one of the Mogul chiefs, 
strongly advised Askurry Mirza to proclaim him­
self king, in order to secure the confidence of the 
troops. Although Askurry Mirza, in reality, de­
sired nothing more, he pretended at the time to 
reprove Hindoo Ileg se\·erely for the suggestion; 
and, on the next day, ha\·ing marched out of Ah­
mudabad, he encamped near .-\ssavul, in the 
neighbourhood of Surkech. The Guzerat army 
under Bahadur Shah reached that place about 
the same time, when the Moguls fired a few 
shots into Bahadur Shah's camp, one of which 
struck his tent. Vexed at this circumstance, he 
sent for Guzunfur Beg Kolrn, in order to execute 
him ; but he was restrained by his assuring him 
that he had certain information of Askurry Mirza's 
intended retreat on that ,,ery night. It turned 
out as he said; for Askurry Mirza, calculating on 
securing Hoomayoon's treasure at Champanere, 
marched towards that fortress. Bahadur Shah 
pursued him during two or three days, but re­
turned; while Tardy Beg, the governor of Cham­
panere, on discovering Askurry Mirza's object, 
resolved to put him to death rather than suffer 
him . to. obtain the treasure._ Askurry Mirza, 
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finding his design frustrated, marched· to Agra, 
raising troops on the road: meanwhile. Hoo­
mayoon, anticipating his Yiews, left Mando, and 
reached Agra brfore him. Askurry Mirza, on 
hearing that Hoomayoon had already arrived, per­
ceived that his diabolical projects had all miscar­
ried. Accordingly, he, together with Yadgar Nasir 
Mirza, and Kasim Sooltan, represented to Hoo­
mayoon, that being unable to maintain Guzerat 
against Bahadur Shah, they had returned to join 
the King at Agra. Tardy Beg Khan also shortly 
after surrendered the fort of Champanere to 
Bahadur Shah, and joined Hoomayoon, who, 
although not deceived, considered it prudent to 
profess himself satisfied with their conduct, and to 
take no notice of it. Thus the countries of Malwa 
and Guzerat, the conquest of which had been 
obtained by the exertions of so fine an army, were 
now abandoned without a struggle. 

On the return of Hoomayoon to his capital, it 
was observed, that he gaye way more than ever to 
the excessiye use of opium: public business was 
neglected; and the governors of the surround­
ing districts, taking advantage of the state of 
affairs, promoted their own aggrandizement. In 
the first place, Sooltan Jooneid Birlas dying, the 
Afghans of the late Shurky kingdom, whom he had 
kept in subjection, revolted, and enlisted un-

der the standard of Sheer Khan Soar. 
Suliur 8• This event compelled Hoomayoon to 
A.II. 9+3• 
May 27. 
A,D, 1536. 

march towards Joonpoor on the 8th 
of Suffur, A. H. 943: and .as Sheer 
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Khan had gone to Bengal, the King proceeded 
to besiege the fort of Chunar, ·which held out, 
under the command of Ghazy Khan Soor, for 
six months. The place was, however, eventually 
taken, owing to the skill of Roomy Khan (the 
late commander of Bahadur Shah's artillery), now 
in the service of Hoomayoon. Having ascertained 
the strength of the fort on the land side, Roomy 
Khan determined to attack it from the river 
Ganges. He accordingly erected stages of a cer­
tain height, placed on rafts, which being built at 
some distance above the fort, were launched, and 
floated down without resistance: the walls being 
low, they were easily surmounted, and the place 
was thus secured. 

Pre\·iously to this event, Hoomayoon had mar­
ched on with the main body of the army. Sheer 
Khan Soar, meanwhile, had wrested the kingdom 
of Bengal from Mahmood Shah Poorby, who, 
having been severely wounded, reached the King's 
camp. Hoomayoon reached Gurhy, a place situa­
ted on the banks of the Ganges, but cliilicult of ac­
cess from the woods in its vicinity. Sheer Khan, 
however, content with the spoils of the kings of 
Goor, and without opposing Hoomayoon, fled to 
the mountains of J'harkuncl, leaving the Moguls 
to continue their march unmolested to Goar, the 
capital of Bengal. Hoomayoon having occupiecl 
Goor, he caused that unpropitious appellation 
to be changed for that of Junutabad.* He took 
up his residence in that city for the space of three 

* Goer, signifying the grave; Junutabad, paradise. 
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months, but was obliged to abandon it on account 
of the insalubrity of thedimate, the greatest part of 
his army having fallen sick. At this time, accounts 
reached the King of the rebellion of his brother, 
HindalMirza, at Agra. Hindal Mirza had been sent 
to suppress the revolt of 1\fahomed Sooltan Mirza, 
who, we haYe already observed, had escaped to 
Kunowj; but instead of performing that service, 
as soon as Hindal found himself at the head of an 
army, he aspired to the throne: and marching 
back to Agra, openly declared his intentions, and 
put to death Sheikh Bheilole, who was formerly 
preceptor to the King, after which he caused the 
khootba to be read in his own name. From Agra 
he proceeded with all the ensigns of royalty to 
Dehly, to which place he laid siege. Hoomayoon, 
hearing of these proceedings, left Jehangeer Beg 
Mogul and Ibrahim Beg in Bengal, and hastened 
towards Agra. On the march, Mahomed Zuman 
Mirza, who had formerly found an asylum with 
BahadurShah, returned from Sind, and, on promise 
of pardon, joined the King with a considerable 
party. 1\-Ieanwhile, Sheer Khan Soar, finding the 
King's army so much weakened by sickness and 
desertion, and learning that his affairs were per­
plexed by the rebellion of Hindal Mirza, marched 
with his troops from H.ohias, and came up with 
Hoornayoon at Jowsa. Both armies lay three 
months inactive, at a time when Hoomayoon ought 
to have brought on an action at all hazards, ueing 
every day insulted and harassed by the enemy's 
light troops. 
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To add to Hoomayoon's embarrassments, which 
could hardly be exceeded, his other brother, Kam­
ran· Mirza, instead of aiding him at this crisis, 
aspired to the throne, and marched with ten 
thousand horse from Lahore, giving out, that he 
came to o[er assistance. On the arrival of Kam­
ran at Dehly, Rindal Mirza prevailed on him to 
unite their forces in prosecution of the siege. 
Fukhr-ood-Deen Ally, who commanded in Dehly, 
informed Kamran that he would never betray his 
trust, but was determined to hold out to the last 
drop of his blood, as long as Hoomayoon reigned : 
but that if Kanuan should, in the first place, 
render himself master of Agra, and succeed in 
subduing his brother Hoomayoon, he would then, 
and not till then, gi,,e up the city of Dehly. 

The Princes, finding the go,·ernor so resolute, 
raised the siege, and marched towards . \gra. On 
reaching that city, the jealousy which the brothers 
naturally entertained against each other (the eyes 
of both being turned towards the throne) evinced 

itself in open war. Hindal Mirza, being 
A. "· 9!6

· deserted by manv of his partv, fled to 
A. D. I .)39• . • " • " 

Ahvur, with Jive thousand horse and 
three hundred elephants; while Kamran Mirza, 
entering Agra, proclaimed himself king. 

Hoomayoon used every possible argument with 
his brothers to e.liect a coalition of interests 
against Sheer Khan ; telling them, that their in­
testine feuds must end in theit losing that mighty 
empire which had cost their father so much pains 
to acquire ; that their conduct would involve the 
house of Tei moor in one common ruin ; and that 
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no remedy existed, but to reunite against the 
common enemy, and afterwards to divide the 
empire amongst themselves. These arguments had 
no weight with the King's brothers, who, blinded 
by ambition, determined rather to lose all than to 
be content with a part. They calculated, that after 
Sheer Khan had defeated Hoomayoon, they should 
be able to subdue him; and each had the vanity to 
suppose, that he would in the end exclude his 
rival, and reign alone. At this juncture, Sheer 
Khan sent one Sheikh Khuleel, a dervish of great 
reputation, to Hoomayoon, to treat for peace, to 
which the latter assented on the following con­
dition :-that Sheer Khan should content himself 
with Bengal and Behar, to be held in the King's 
name, for which he was to pay a trilling annual 
tribute. This condition was signed and ratified 
by mutual oaths; and Hoomayoon, trusting too 
much to the faith of his enemy, permitted a free 
intercourse to be maintained between both armies. 
Sheer Khan's chief object in obtaining a suspension 
of hostilities was to throw Hoomayoon off his guard. 
Accordingly, one morning early, he treacherously 

surprised the l\fogul camp on the banks of the 

Ganges, during the armistice, and totally defeated 

it. A bridge of boats, which the latter had been 

preparing, was unfinished; and no means of escape 

remained, but by swimming across the stream, 

all the craft on the river having been seized by 

a party of the enemy, who had turned the rear of 

Hoomayoon's army for that purpose. The King 

with a vast number of his soldiers plunged into the 
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current, where, according to the most authentic 
accounts, eight thousand Moguls, exclusive of Hin­
doos, were drowned, among whom was the Prince 
Mahomed Zuman Mirza. This dreadful blow oc-

curred in the year 946. Hoomayoon 
A. H. 9-1-6• owed his life to one Nizam, a water­
A. n. 1359• carrier, who with great difficulty swam 
alongside of him across the river, and was among the 
few who survived the slaughter of this eventful day, 
and fled to Agra. On reaching his capital, Hoo­
ma voon allm,ved the man who had sa Yed his life to sit 
on ·the throne for half a day, and permitted him to 
reward his own relatives during that time with 
princely presents. Kamran Mirza, hearing of this 
defeat, hastened from Agra to Alwur, to consult 
with his brother Hindal Mirza, and finding that 
the Afghans were likely to prevail in all quarters, 
they became ashamed of their conduct, and now 
when too late endeavoured to support Hoomayoon. 
The King was shortly afterwards joined by Jehan­
geer Beg and Ibrahim Beg, who were at this time 
expelled from Bengal, and Mahomed Sooltan 
Mirza (who had gone into rebellion) came from 
Kunowj, leaving the country he had acquired in 
the hands of the enemy. 

The three royal brothers haying met at Agra, 
held daily consultations; but Kamran, averse to 
composing their differences, abandoned their coun­
cils, and proposed to return to Lahore, to which 
measure he was principally instigated by Khwaja 
Kullan Beg. Hoomayoon -in vain use every 
argument to prevent his departure; but the am­
bition of Kamran prompted him to independence, 
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and he accordingly withdrew from his brothers' 
councils. These dissensions had continued six 
months, when Kamran was suddenly seized with 
dysentery, owing to too great indt;lgence of his 
appetite; and imputing the disease to poison, he 
quitted the court for Lahore, leaving a thousand 
horse only under Sikundur Sooltan, one of his 
officers. Hoomayoon's soldiers, greatly discon­
rerted by the departure of Kamran Mirza, deserted, 
and many of them accompanied him. Among 
others, however, ~firza Hydur poghlat,* disgusted 
with his conduct, abandoned his standard, and 
joined Hoomayoon, to whom he was afterwards 
of great service. 

Sheer Khan, who had remained quiet during 
these disputes, now advanced with an army to the 
banks of the Ganges, and detaching his son Kootub 
Khan across the river, took possession of the ad­
jacent provinces. Hoomayoon, on receiving in­
telligence of his movements, ordered Kasim Hoos­
sein Sooltan, in conjunction with Yadgar Nasir 
Mirza and Sikundur Sooltan, to oppose him. They 
met the enemy at Kalpy, where an obstinate 
engagement took place, in which victory declared 
in favour of the Moguls. Kootub Khan, with a 
great part of his army, was cut ofI, and that 

* This person ascended the throne of Kashmcer, and is the 
author of the most authentic history of that interesting prin­
cipality. 

Jt is worth while to compare the Portuguese accounts of 
these times, transmitted to us by Faria-e-Souza (vol. i. chap. ix. 
p. 421. Stevens's translation, ed. 1694), with the minute de­
tails whid1 the Mahomedan historian has afforded us, 

VOL. II.-12, 
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chief's head was sent to Agra. The generals, at 
the same time, recommended the King immedi­
ately to assume the command of the army in person. 

Hoomayoon accordingly marched with a hundred 
thousand horse, and crossing the Ganges, near Ku­
nowj, encamped for a whole month in view of Sheer 
Khan's army, which consisted of only fifty thousand 
men. l\foanwhile, Mahomed Sooltan Mirza and 
his sons, who were alike distinguished for their 
treachery and ingratitude, went over to the enemy 
with all their adherents. Many others were in­
duced also to follow them: an event which again 
plunged the King into distress; for his army, thus 
dispirited, began to desert by thousands. To 
complete his misfortunes, too, the rainy season 
commenced; his camp became quite overflowed, 
insomuch that he was obliged to abandon his po­
sition, and move to a more exposed one on higher 
Mohurrum ro. ground. On the roth of Mohurnun, 

A.. n. 947. 947, while his army was in motion, 
May 17. he was attacked by Sheer Khan, and 

A, "· r54o. sustained a signal defeat. Having 
unfortunately, as in the former action, the river 
dose on his rear, some thousands of his soldiers, 
in avoiding the swords of the enemy, suffered 
a more ignominious fate in the stream. A few 
only escaped with the King across the river, 
with whom he fled to Agra. Sheer Khan lost 
no time in pursuing Hoomayoon, who was forced 

Rubbee-ool­
AwLil, 

A. H. 907: · 
July, 

A. D, r.540. 

to retreat to Lahore. In the month 
of Rubbee-ool-Awul, of that year, 

. he was j(?ined in Punjab by many 
of his Mogul officers, who had been 
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dispersed on the day of the battle of Kunowj. 
Sheer Khan, still continuing the pursuit, crossed 
the river Beea near Sooltanpoor, and compelled 

Hoomayoon, in the month of Rujub to 
Hujub. 

November- pass do,vn the river of Lahore,* and 
to retreat towards Tutta and Bhukkur 

un the Indus. Kamran Mirza at length became 
sensible of his ungenerous conduct towards his 
brother, and was compelled to fly towards Kabul. 
Hoomayoon having crossed the Indus on his way 
to Bhukkur, halted at Lory, and sent an 
ambassador with a horse and dress to Mirza Shah 
Hoossein Arghoon, governor of Tutta, to request 
his aid in recovering Guzerat; but Mirza Shah 
Hoossein detained Hoomayoon by various artifices 
and excuses for five or six months, till his small 
army, distressed for want of pay, daily diminished 
in numbers. Hindal Mirza left Hoomayoon at 
this time, and went to Kandahar, having been 
invited thither by Kurrachar Khan, the governor 
of the province ; Yadgar Nasir Mirza proposed 
also to quit the King, though the latter spared 
no pains to bind him firm to his interest by giving 
him the government of Bhukkur ; but he was no 
sooner 111 possession, than he declared his 
independence. 

, Hoomayoon with his small army now laid siege 
to Sehwan for seven months, without producing 
any effect ; when Mirza Shah Hoossein, desirous 
of getting the place into his own hands, ach·anced 
with a force from Tutta, and surrounding both 
the garrison and the besiegers, prevented supplies 
from being carried to either. Hoomayoon's army 

* The Ravy. 
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qecame greatly distressed, and was soon reduced 
to extremities. The King solicited Yadgar Nasir 
Mirza to join him with his forces from Bhukkur ; 
but Yadgar was preYailed on to unite with his 
enemy, Mirza Shah Hoossein, who promised to 
give i1im his daughter in marriage, and to secure 
him in his goyernrnent. Hoomayoon, thus 
ueserted by all his relatives and friends, was 
obliged to retreat from before Sehwan to Bhukkur, 
where he could not even obtain a few boats to 
cross hi-; army over the lndus. After a search of 
some days, and wandering along the banks, he 
discovered some craft that had been sunk, and 
hm·ing raised them, he transported his troops to 
the opposite bank. 

N ot\\·i thstanding these accumulated misfortunes, 
Hoomayoon had strength enough left to inspire 
terror into Yadgar Nasir Mirza, who, to avoid 
his resentment, came and made his submis­
sion. He obtained his pardon, but shortly after 
began to create sedition among the troops, and 
privately drew them over to his own interest. 'fhis 
plot being communicated to the King, Yaclgar 
~asir Mirza, instead of denying it, appeared at 
the head of his party in open rebellion ; but 
the principal officers of his faction having re­
fused to attack their King, an action was pre­
vented at the very time when both armies were 
formed in order of battle. Hoomayoon, being 
in no condition to contest the point, thought 
only of providing for his safety, and accord­
ingly marched by the v;ay of Jesselmere to Na­
goor and Ajmere, then ruled by l\faldew, one of 
the most potent of the Hindoo rajas, from whom 
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he had before received an invitation. While 
proceeding through the territory of J esselmere, 
the Raja of that country opposed him ; but being 
c.lefeated, Hoomayoon passed on to the boundaries 
of Ajmere, where he halted, and sent a messenger 
to l\faldew, who perceiving he had nothing to ap­
prehend from Hoomayoon, and having no cause 
for attachment to him, resolved to seize and make 
him oyer to his enemy, Sheer Khan. One of 
:\Ialdew·s soldiers, who had formerly been in the 
service of Hoomayoon, obtaining intelligence of 
the design, communicated it to him. Hoomayoon, 
warned of his danger, mounted his horse at mid­
night, and lled towards Avmrkote, a place situated 
about a hundred coss (200 miles) from Tutta. His 
horse beginning to fail, he asked Tardy Beg 
Khan,* one of his chiefs, who was well mounted, 
to let him have his, but was ref used. The troops 
of Maldew being dose in pursuit, Hoomayoon was 
necessitated to mount a camel, till Nudeem Koka, 
his foster-brother, having caused his mother to 
dismount, gave her horse to the King, and placing 
her on the camel, ran on foot by her side. 

The country through which they Jlecl being an 
entire desert of sand, the ~Ioguls were in the 
utmost distress for water. Some ran mad; others 
fell down dead. Nothing was witnessed but dread­
ful screams and lamentations : while, to add to 
their misery, news arriYed of the enemy's approach. 
Hoomayoon ordered all those who could fight to 

* Tardy Beg Khan was afterwards executed in the reign of 

Akbur for shamefully deserting his vost at Dehly. 
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form the rearguard, and allowed the women and 
· baggage to move forward : but the enemy did 
not make their appearance. The King rode on 
in front, to see how it fared with his family; and 
it was fortunate he did so, for night coming on, 
those in the rear lost their way, and in the morning 
the enemy were discovered in close pursuit. The 
King was left with a few soldiers only, command­
ed by one Ameer Sheikh Ally, lvho, with about 
t\venty brave men, resolved to sell their lives 
dearly, and hm·ing repeated the creed, turned 
upon their pursuers. The .first arrow discharged 
reached the heart of the chief of the enemy, ancl 
the remainder f1ec1. The l\foguls, pursuing in their 
turn, took many of the enemy's camels ; after 
which, the King coming to a well, ordered the 
whole party to kneel down, and offer up prayers 
for their escape. ·During the day, those who had 
lost their way joined again. 

On marching forward, the Moguls were more 
distressed than before, there being no water for 
three whole days. On the fourth day they came 
to a well, which was so deep that a drum was 
beaten to gi\·e notice to the man driving tl1e 
bullocks, that the bucket had reachecl the top.* 

* This simple mode of rnising water is practised throughout 
India. A large leathern bag or bucket, containing from ten to 
fifteen gallons, is suffered to drop into the well, and is drawn up 
by oxen, the rope passing over a small wheel which traverses on 
a frame overhanging the surface of the water. Some of the 
wells in the desert of Amerkote and Jesselmere are from 100 

to 600 feet deep, and the movements of the cattle raising the 
water are regulated by a small kettle-drum. 
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The unhappy followers were so impatient f-<;>r · 
water, that, as soon as the first bucket appeared, 
several of them threw themselves upon it, before il 
had quite reached the surface, and fell in. The 
next day they arrived at a brook, and the camels, · 
who had not tasted water for several .days, were 
allowed to quench their thirst ; but having drank 
t<:> excess, several of them died. The King, after 
enduring unheard-of miseries, at length reached 
Amurkote with only a few attendants. The Raja, 
who has the title of Rana, too~ compassion on his 
misfortunes, and spared notping that could alleviate 
his sufferings, or tend to console him in his distress. 

At Amurkote, on the 5th of Rujub in the year 
Rujub 

5
• 949, the Prince Akbur was born of thr 

A, 11. g+g. Queen Banoo Begum. Hoomayoon, 
October 14. after returning thanks to God, left his 
A. n. r 542 • family in the hands of the Rana of 
Amurkote, and with his assistance marched against 
Bhukkur. But a mutiny breaking out among the 
Rana's troops, they dispersed, and nothing could 
be effected. Some of the King's officers also de­
serted him ; while the gallant Ameer Sheikh Ally, 
one of his most faithful adherents, was killed in an 
action with Shah Hoossein Arghoon. Hoomayoon 
now retired towards Kandahar, having been joined 
by Beiram Khan* Toorkoman from Guzerat. 
Kamran Mirza, who had obtained possession of 
Kandahar from his brother, Hindal Mirza, had 

* He afterwards became Akbur's tutor, and eventually pro­
tector and regent, in the following reign. 
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placed Askurry Mirza in the government; and 
Shah Hoossein Arghoon now wrote to him, 
that Hoomayoon being without followers, might 
easily b.::; seized ; so that Askurry Mirza, instead 
of affording his brother aid in his distress, attacked 
Hoomayoon as he approached Kandahar, and ob: 
liged him to leave his infant son Akbur behind in 
camp, and to fly to Khorassan with his mother, 
the Sooltana, and only twenty-two horsemen, one 
of whom was Beiram Khan. Askurry Mirza, 
being disappointed of his object, on coming into 
Hoomayoon's camp, carried off his nephew, the 
infant Akbur, to Kandahar. 

Hoomayoon, finding he could place no reliance 
on his brothers, proceeded to Seestan, where he 
was hospitably received by Ahmud Sooltan Sham­
loo, the governor, on the part of Shah Tamasp, 
King of Persia. This officer met and escorted 
Hoomayoon to the capital of Seestan, and treated 
him with the utmost consideration. From this ge­
nerous chief H ooma yoon received not only a supply 

,of money, but a number of attendants were furnish­
ed for his Queen. The King, having taken what 
appeared absolutely necessary, proceeded to 
Herat, where he was met by the Prince Mahomed 
Mirza, the King of Persia's eldest son. This prince 
omitted nothing of that generosity and politeness 
which so remarkably distii:f'guished his character, 
and provided the unfortunate exile abundantly 
with eYery requisite for his journey to the Persian 
court. In his progress, Hoomayoon was met by 
all the _governors of the provinces, who paid him 



HOOMAYOON PADSHAH. 97 

their respects, and made magnificent entertain­
ments for him. On his arrival at 

A. 
11

• 949· Kuzween, he deputed Beiram Khan to 
.... 1), 1542. 

Ispahan, on amissi~n to the King of 
Persia, and awaited his return at Kuzween. 

VOL. 1I,-J3. 
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SHEER SHAH SOOR: 

His origin.-Sahsar.am and Tanda conferred on /us 
fatlzer Hussun Khan Soor.-Hussun Khan dies.-Sheer 
Khan's brotlzers dispute liis title to succeed to tlze estate. 
-The contests with lzis brothers eventually end in his 
favour.-Tlze widow of tlze King of Joonpoor appoints Slzeer 
Khan minister, and on her death lie usurps tlze government 
-is attacked by the King of Bengal, whom he ·defeats.-
1lfalzomed Slzalz Lody occupies Bengal.-Slieer Klzan 
consents to acknowledge his title to the throne of Delzly.­
Hoomayoon makes war with t/1e pretender, wlw is defeated, 
and Sheer Khan compelled to fly into the hills-lze returns, 
and takes the fort of Rolztas by stratagem-gains sfrength, 
and attacks Hoo111ayoo11, who is defeated, and retreats to 
Agra.-Shcer Khan assumes tl1e title of S!zah, or King­
expels tlw Moguls from India, and ascends the throne of 
Delzly-conquers Malwa-takes Run:tu1Zb!1ore and Nagore 
-returns to Agrn-besie_[fes Knlunjur-is wounded by the 
bursting of a shell, and dies.-Descriptioll of Sheer Shalz's 
goz•ernment, and the imprm,ements £11 the country ,nade 
by that prince. 

THE original name of Sheer Shah was Fureed. 
His father was Hussun, an Afghan of the tribe of 
Soar, and a native of Roh in Pishawur. When 
Dheilole Lody ascended the throne, Ibrahim Khan, 
the father of Hussun Soar, came to Dehly in quest 
of military service. The ~at of these Afghans is 
Roh, a word· wh.ich, in their language, signifies a 
mountai~pus country. It extends in length from 
Swad ~n.d BijO\•V'r fo the town of Seevy, in the ter­
ritory ~f Bhukkur, and in breadth, from Hussun . .. . 
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Abdal to Kabul. This trnc.t atthattimecoi.ltained 
many separate tribes. Among the number of these 
was that of Soar, who derive their ·ori_gin from 
the princes of Ghaor. One of the sons of the 
Ghoorian family; whose name was Mahomed Soar, 
having left his native country, took up. his_ abode 
among the Afghans of Roh ; and being able to 
prove satisfactorily that he was desc.ended from 
the kings of Ghaor (although averse from inter­
marrying with strangers), one of the -Roh Afghan 
chiefs consented to give him his daughter. Ma­
homed Soor's descendants, therefore, are called 
Soor Afghans; and, on this supposition, this family 
may be reckoned the most illustrious of a~y-.of _the 
Afghans. , 

Ibrahim, the grandfatherof Sheer Sha~1,;;!ir~t en­
tered the service of one of the nobles. ~f -~he ~ourt 
of Bheilole Lady ; and when Sikundur, the s01~ of 
Bheilole, succeeded his father, Jumal Khan,. a 
chief of distinction, was appointeq governor of 
Joonpoor. On this occasion, he took Hussun the 
son of Ibrahim Khan S~or with him, and event­
uallv conferred on him the districts of Sahsaram 

J 

nnd Tancla in jageer, for the maintenance of five 
hundred horse. Hussun Khan had eight sons; of 
whom Fureed Khan and Nizam Khan were by the 
same mother, an Afghan; the rest were illegitimate, 
and by different mothers.· 

Hussun, having little regard for his wife, neg­
lected her children, so that Fureed quitted his 
father's roof,andenlistedasaconunon soldier in the 

service of Jumal Khan, the governor of Joonpoor. 
,Hussun_ wrote to Jumal Khan upon _this occasion, 
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requesting him to send back his son, that he might 
be educated ; but Fureed could not be persuaded 
to return. "Joonpoor," he said, "was a better 
"place for instruction than Sahsaram ;" and he 
affirmed that he would attend to letters of his own 
accord. Nor was he negligent of this object; for 
he could repeat the whole of the works of the 
celebrated poet Sady, and was besides a proficient 
in other branches of learning. 

Much of his time was devoted to the study of 
history and poetry, in the pursuit of which he 
recei,·ed encouragement from Jumal Khan's libe­
rality. Three or four years had elapsed when Hus­
sun Khan came to Joonpoor, and through the 
mediation of mutual friends, Fureed became re­
conciled to his father, who eventually made over 
to him the whole charge of his estate, himself re­
siding at Joonpoor. Fureed, on taking leave of 
his father, said, "That the stability of every 
"administration depended on justice, and that it 
"should be his greatest care not to violate it, either 
"by oppressing the weak, or by permitting the 
"strong to infringe the laws with impunity." 
,vhen he arrived at his jageer, he put this maxim 
into practice, by rendering justice to the poor, and 
by reducing to order such of the zemindars as op­
posed his authority. By this means he procured 
his country to be well cultivated, and his revenues 
to be punctually realized. 

Hussun COI11-ing to visit the estate, was so well 
pleased with his management, that he permitted 
him to continue in charge of it. Hussun Khan 
Soor had to other sons, Sooliman and Ahmud, 
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by a favourite concubine, to whom he was ex­
tremely attached. This female lost no opportu­
nity to importune him in favour of her son Soo­
liman, nmv grown up, saying he ought to provide 
for him. At length she obtained from her hus­
band a promise to transfer the management of the 
estates from Fureed to Sooliman. This circum­
stance gave the old chief great concern, knowing 
the superior abilities of Fureed ; but when it be­
came known to Fureed, he made a voluntary 
resignation of his trust, which was accordingly 
conferred on his brother Sooliman. 

Fureed and his full brother Nizam Khan left 
Joonpoor immediately, and proceeded to Agra, 
where they obtained service with Dowlut Khan 
Lody, one .of the principal officers of the King 
Ibrahim Lody. Fureed, by his good conduct, 
gained his master's esteem, till at length he applied 
to Dowlut Khan, tellinfs him, that his father was 
now in his dotage, and wholly guided by an artful 
mistress, who had deprived both him and his 
brother of their patrimonial inheritance, having 
procured their estate to be made over to her own 
illegitimate children. He at the same time pro­
mised Dowlut Khan, if he obtained the royal 
grant of the estate in his name, to provide for his 
father, and to maintain five hundred good horse 
for the public service. 

Dowlut Khan accordingly preferred a request 
on the subject to the King, who replied, "That 
"he must be a bad man indeed who should com­
" plain against his own father." Dowlut Khan 
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having retired in silence, informed Fureed of ·the 
answer he had received, but comforted him with 
a promise of taking some other opportunity to urge 
his suit. Meanwhile Hussun Khan Soor dying, 
Do,vlut Khan procured the King's patent in 
fayour of Fureed, who proceeded to Sabsaram 
with a handsome retinue. 

Sooliman, on the arrival of his brothers, eva­
cuated the country, and took protection with Ma­
homed Khan Soar, a distant relative, then gover­
nor of the district of Joonpoor, and who main­
tained a force of fifteen hundred horse. Ma­
homed Khan, becoming acquainted with the in­
tended invasion of Babur, and foreseeing that a 
war was inevitable, promised Sooliman, if he 
would accompany him when called ot1 to join the 
army of the King of Dehly, he would endea­
vour to procure him redress. Sooliman being im­
patient, induced l\Iahomed Khan to send a per­
son to Fureed, to eliect a reconciliation. Fureed 
replied, he was willing to give him a proper 
share of his father's inheritance, but that he 
would on no account part with any of his power; 
reminding him of the old adage, that "two swords 
"cannot be contained in one scabbard." Sooli­
man insisting on a share of the government also, 
no accommodation was then eliected between the 
brothers. This failure irritated 1\-Iahomed Khan 
to such a degree, that he resolved to compel 
Fureed to submit to the measures which he had 
proposed. Fureed, informed of his resolution, 
began to take steps for his security.· Meanwhile, 
news arriving of the defeat and death of the King, 



,SHEER SHAH'. SOOR. 

Ibrahim Lady, the whole country was thrown into 
confusion. · · · 

Fureed was by no means idle in the midst of 
the troubles . which ensued, anq. joined Bahadur 
Khan, the son· of Duria Khan Lohany, who had 
subdued Behar and assumed the royal titles, under 
the name of Mahomed Shah.* As that monarch 
was one day on a hunting-party, a lion or tiger 
was roused, which Fureed attacked and killed with 
one blow of his sabre in Mahomed Shah's pre­
sence. For this act of intrepidity, he received the 
ti tie of Sheer Khan t on the spot. Sheer Khan 
now acquired gradually great influence and favour 
in Mahorned Shah Lohany's service, and was even 
appointed tutor to the young Prince Julal Khan. 
On one occasion, having obtained permission to 
go to his estate, he was detained by business 
beyond the period limited by his leave of absence. 
Mahomed Shah Lohany, dissatisfied with this 
conduct, spoke of it in public as a breach of 
promise ; and Mahomed Khan Soor, the governor 
of Joonpoor, his ancient enemy, being present, 
took that opportunity of accusing him of treason­
able designs, and with favouring the intetest of 
Mahomed Shah Lody, one of the sons of the late 
King Sikundur Locly. Mahomed Shah Lohany 

* It requires the reader to pay great attention to the family 
names of the chiefs now mentioned by the name of Mahomecl 
Mahomed Shah Lohany is king of Behar, Mahomecl Khan 
.Soor is an officer of his government, and Mahome<l Shah Lody 
is a son of Sikundur Lady, late king of Dehly. 

t The lion knight, or lord lion. 
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. . 

became so incensed against Sheer Khan, that he 
intimated his intention to deprive him of his 
estate. altogether, and to confer it on his brother 
Sooliman, as a just punishment for his offence, 
and as the only mode of bringing him to a sense of 
his duty. 

Mahomed Shah Lohany, however, having still 
some esteem left for Sheer Kh&.n, against whom no­
thing had been yet proved, delayed this measure, to 
which he was instigated by Mahomed Khan Soar ; 
but by way of alarming him, he gave orders that 
his accuser should take an account of the revenue 
of the estates, in order to make an equal division 
of it among his brothers. Mahomed Khan Soor, 
availing himself of this order, sent one Shady 
Khan, an adopted slave, to Sheer Khan, acquaint­
ing him that his brothers, according to the King's 
commands, were to have their proportion of the 
estate, which he had hitherto so unjustly withheld 
from them. Sheer Khan returned for answer, 
that Mahomed Khan Soar was much mistaken if 
he supposed this was the country of Roh, ·where 
estates were to be subdivided, for that the land be­
longed to the King, which he disposed of at 
pleasure.* That it was true, family estates, up 
to the present period, were always divided equally 
among sons on the death of their father; but that no 
such distribution took place in cases where districts 
were conferred fov the support of troops, for the 

* This language may serve to throw some light on the view 
the Indian Mahomedans had of the rights in landed property. 
The arguments adduced by Sheer Khan are consistent with 
the practice of the modern Marrattas. 
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possession of wh1ch royal grants were ~de· out,­
and given to I1im- whom the King thought most 
fit -to perform his service. That as- he him?elf had 
a personal grant from the crown for his estate, 
his brethren were entirely out of- the -question, 
although he had consented to give a part of the 
revenue to his brother Sooli man. 

When the messenger retumeii with this an-­
swer to Mahomed Khan Soar, then at Joonpoor~ 
he became so incensed, that, raising all his forcest 
he sent them against Sheer Khan, under the 
command of Shady Khan, his adopted slave, ac­
companied by Sheer Khan's brothers, Sooli­
man and Ahmud. Shady Khan's orders weret 
to take possession of the country, and to lem·e 
a force with Sooliman to protect him in the 
estate. This measure was altogether so sud­
den and unexpected, that Sheer Khan had no 
time to collect his troops ; lmt on the first alarm 
he wrote to one Mullik Sooka (the father of 
Khowas Khan), his deputy in the district of Kho­
waspoor Tanda, to harass the enemy, but by all 
means to avoid an action till he joined him in 
person. Mullik Sooka, however, desirous of dis., 
tinguishing himself, gave his enemies battle, and 
lost both his life and the victory. This unexpected 
reverse weakened Sheer Khan's power so much, 
that he was in no condition to oppose Mahomed 
Khan Soor; he therefore evacuated the country, 
and fled to Sooltan Jooneid Birlas, go,·ernor of 
Kurra and Manukpoor, on the part of the Emperor 
Babur. To Sooltan Jooneid Birlas he made a 
handsome present, was--taken into favour, and at 

VOL. II.-:J:4, 
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length obtained a body of troops to recover his 
country. With these he defeated Mahomed Khan, 
who fled to the mountain of Rohtas, so that he not 
only recovered his own cou_ntry, but added several 
other districts to his jageer, which he now held of 
the Mogul Emperor. Having rewarded the Mo­
guls who had aided him, he permitted them to 
return to their master. From this time, Sheer 
Khan raised troops among his former friends who 
had fled to the hills, and eventually became very 
formidable in those parts. Having thus established 
himself, he invited back his enemy Mahomed Khan 
Soor, who had fled, and put him in possession of 
his former estate. This generous conduct con­
verted his greatest foe into one of his best friends. 
Sheer Khan, having settled his affairs, left his 
brother Nizam Khan in charge of his country, and 
paid a visit to his benefactor, Sooltan Jooneid 
Birlas, at Kurra, who being then about to proceed 
to Agra, invited Sheer Khan to accompany him, 
when he was introduced to the Emperor Babur, 
whom he attended in his expedition to Chundery. 

Sheer Khan, having stayed some time in the 
Mogul camp, and observing the manners and ha­
bits of the court, said one day to a friend, that he 
thought it would be no difficult matter to drive 
those foreigners out of Hindoostan. His friend 
asked him what reason he had to think so. Sheer 
Khan replied, "That the King himself, though a 
"man of parts, attended but little to business; 
" that he trusted every thing to his ministers, who 
"were all corrupt, and thought more of their own 
" interests than of the King's concerns ; that, 
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"therefore, if the Afghans, who were now at en­
" mity among themselves, could be brought to 
"unite, the work might be e1Iected; and should 
"fortune ever favour him, he imagined himself 
"even equal to the task, however difficult it might 
"at present appear." His friends burst into laugh­
ter, and began to ridicule the idea. Sheer Khan, a 
few days after, being seated at dinner in the 
King's tent, had some solid dishes placed before 
him, but had only a spoon to. eat with: he calloo 
for a knife ; but the servants not supplying him, 
he drew his dagger without ceremony, and cut­
ting up his meat, made a hearty meal, without 
noticing those who appeared div~rted at the in­
cident. When he had done, Babur, who had 
watched the whole proceeding, turned to the 
steward of the household, :rnd said; "This Afghan 
"is not to be disconcerted with tdfles: he may 
"come to be a great man yet." 

Sheer Khan, conceiving by this observation 
that the King might have been informed of his 
late private conversation, left the camp thnt night, 
and retired to his estate. He wrote from thence 
to his benefactor, Sooltan Jooneid Birlas, that, 
as Mahomed Khan Soor had prevailed on Maho­
med Shah Shurky, King of Behar, to send troops 
against his jageer, he had left Babur's camp so 
suddenly without taking leave. Having thus 
accounted to Sooltan Jooneid Birlas for his 
departure, he resolved to be reconciled to Maho­
med Shah Shurley, with whom he now became a 
greater favourite than before. 
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. Mahomed Shah Lohany dying a short time after, 
was succeeded by his son, J ulal Khan, a minor. The 
young prince's mother, the Sooltana Ladoo, acted 
·as regent, and conferred the principal offices of the 
government upon Sheer Khan; and she too dying 
_soon after, the administration fell wholly into his 
hands. Mukdoom Alum, the governor of Hajy­
poor, on the part of Mahmood Shah Poorby, King 
of Bengal, being guilty of some misconduct, put 
himself under Sheer Khan's protection. The 
King of Bengal, to revenge this insult, ordered 
_Kootub Khan, governor of Moongeer, with a force 
against Behar. As the forces of Behar were in­
considerable in comparison with those of Bengal, 
Sheer Khan made many overtures for accom­
modating differences, but to no purpose. Fin.ling 
all arguments vain, he resolved t.o stand the un­
equal encounter, in which his superior skill and 
bravery acquired for him a complete victory. 
Kootub Khan was slnin: and all his treasure, 
elephants, and camp-equipage taken, which great­
_ly added to Sheer Khan's power and reputation. 

After this ,·ictory the Lohany Afghans, cousins 
~f J ulal Khan, the young King of Behar, envying 
the fortune of Sheer Khan, formed a conspiracy 
against his life. Sheer Khan, havin()' discoYered 

.:'.) 

the-plot, taxed Julal Khan withbeingprivyto it, 
telling the young Princ,e at the same time that 
there WRs no ·necessity for taking so base a method 
of ritlding himself of his servant; for that if he 
should but once signify his inclination, Sheer 
Khan was ready to ~esign the management of that 



SHEER SHAH SOOR. 199 

government which he had lately so successfully 
protected. The Prince, either doubtful of his 
sincerity, or perhaps equally suspicious of the 
other chiefs, would not consent to his resignation ; 
which so effectually disappointed the conspira­
tors, that they took every possible opportunity 
to widen tl1e breach between the King and his 
minister. Sheer Khan, finding that he had no 
security but in maintaining his power, by the 
unlimited use he made of it justly excited the 
Prince's jealousy to such a degree, that, one night, 
accompanied by his officers, Julal Khan lled to l\lah­
mood Shah Poorby of Bengal, and implored his aid 
to expel Sheer Khan,who had usurped his autho­
rity. Mahmood Shah Poorby, excited by com­
passion towards the young Prince, as well as 
instigated by his personal hatred of Sheer Khan, 
sent Ibrahim Khan, the son of Kootub Khan, 
(whom Sheer Khan had lately defeated and slain) 
with a considerable army against him. The Ben­
gal army besieged Sheer Khan in a mud forf'1 for 
a length of time without success, till Ibrahim 
Khan found it necessary to raise the siege and 
send for reinfurcements. Sheer Khan, antiling 
himself of this circumstance, came out and offered 
ba.tt.le. He ordered his troops to make a show of 
Hight at the onset, in order to draw the enemy into 
an ambush which he had prepared; and he thus 
clefea ted and slew Ibrahim Khan, took all his 
guns and elephants, and compelled the young 
Prince Julal to fiy in great distress to Bengal. 

* The name is omitted in the· original. 
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Sheer Khan being no wsole master of all Behar, 
became daily more and more powerful. Taj 
Khan was at this time governor of the strong fort 
of Chunar, which he had held on his own account 
from ihe period of ihe death of Ibrahim Lody. 
His wife, Ladoo Mullika, who was barren, but 
for whom he had a great affection, having excited 
the envy of his other wives by whom he had 
children, nearly fell a victim to her husband's 
partiality; for the rest of Taj Khan's wives 
conspired against her, and induced one of their 
sons to promise to murder her. The young man 
who had undertaken the act, missing his blow, 
only inflicted a slight wound; and Taj Khan, 
being alarmed by his wife's cries, came to her 
assistance, and drew his sword on his son, who, 
seeing no hopes of escap~, assaulted his father 
and slew him. The rest of Taj Khan's son being 
yet too young to be intrusted with the government, 
Ladoo Mullika, by her address among the chiefs 
and zemindars, contrived to manage the estate. 
Sheer Khan, informed of this state of affairs, 
proposed a treaty of marriage with the widow 
Ladoo Mullika, which was soon concluded. 
Sheer Khan thus secured Chunar and the 
dependent districts, which added greatly to his 
power; and the acquisition of a considerable 
treasure in the place was most opportune. 

Much about this time, the Prince Mahomed, 
son of the King Sikundur Lody, having taken pro­
tection ·with Rana Sanka, had by his assistance 
and that of Hussun Khan Mewatty advanced 
against ·the Mogul Emperor Babur ; but he 
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sustained a defeat, as we have already seen, at 
Kanwa. The Prince Mahomed first fled to Chit­
toor, but was subsequently invited to join tlie Lody 
chiefs who had assen:1.blecl at Patna, and being 
proclaimed king, soon made himself master of all 
Behar. Sheer Khan, perceiving that he could not 
withdraw the officers from the Prince Mahomed 
Lady's interest, and that he had not sufficient 
force to oppose him, of necessity submitted to 
his authority, and by that means saved a part 
of Behar which Mahomed Lody permitted him 
to retain. This prince told him at the same time, 
that if he should effectually assist him in recover­
ing Joonpoor from the Moguls, he would restore 
Behar to him. A written compact to that effect 
was accordingly drawn up and executed between 
them. 

Some time after this, Sheer Khan, having ob­
tained leave to return to Sahsaram, began to levy 
troops, and Mahomed Shah Lody, marching with 
an army against the Moguls, sent him orders tu 
join. Sheer Khan delayed doing so for some 
time, which convinced the Prince he was luke­
warm in his interest, and he accordingly marched 
his army through Sheer Khan's estate on his way 
tu Joonpoor. On this occasion, Sheer Khan came 
out to meet him, caused an elegant entertainment 
to be provided for him, and accompanied him as 
far as Joonpoor. The troops of Hoomayoon eva­
cuated the province on their approach, so that the 
Afghans obtained possession of the whole country 
as far as Manukpoor. 

Hoomayoon, who was at this time besieging 
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Kalunjur, having heard of the progress of the 
Afghans, raised the siege, and marched against_ 
them. Mahomed Shah L'Jdy having on this oc­
casion given the chief command of his army to 
Bubun Khan and Dayezeed Khan, Sheer Khan 
conceived himself neglected, and accordingly 
betraying his- master, wrote a private letter the 
night before the action to Mirza Hindoo Beg, 
one of the Mogul generals, acquainting him, 
"That he esteemed himself a servant of Babur's 
"family, to whom he owed his advancement, and 
"that he would be the cause of defeating the 
"Afghans next day.'' Accordingly, as had been 
preconcerted, Sheer Khan drew oII his troops 
during the action, which occasioned Mahomed 
Shah Lody's defeat, ror which seffice he was great­
ly favoured by Hoomayoon.- l\fahomed Shah Lody, 
after this defeat, having retreated to Patna, with­
drew from public life, and in the same year died 
a natural death in retirement in Orissa. 

Hoomayoon, after this victory, returned to 
Agra, and sent Mirza Hindoo Beg to Sheer Khan, 
requiring of the lattPr to put him in possession of 
the fort of Chunar. Sheer Khan excused himself, 
and obliged Hindoo Beg to retreat. Hoomayoon 
returned immediately with his whole army to be­
siege Chunar, and hm·ing invested it, he received 
a letter from Sheer Khan, acquaint_ing him, '' That 
" he considered himself one of the servants of the 
" house of Babur, from whom he first obtained a 
"government; that he had evinred his fidelity 
"by being the occasion of the late victory ; that, 
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"therefore, if the King would permit him to retain 
"the fort of Chunar, he was willing to pay him 
" the revenues of the lands which he held, and 
"would send his son, Kootub Khan, with five 
"hundred horse, to be maintained at his own ex­
'' pence, in the King's Service." The affairs of 
Guzerat, owing to the conquests of Bahadur Shah, 
required the King's presence in that quarter, so 
that Hoomayoon, taking into consideration the 
strength of Chunar, consented to these terms, and 
being joined by Kootub Khan, with five hundred 
horse, he marched against Bahadur Shah. He 
had scarcely reached Guzerat, however, when Koo­
tub Khan deserted with his party, and returned 
to his father. Sheer Khan raised forces, and 
reduced all Behar; and, gaining confidence from 
this success, he invaded Bengal, and having 
fought several severe actions, penetrated to its 
capital. 

Mahmood Shah Poorby of Bengal shut himself 
up in Goor, to which Sheer Khan laid siege; but 
learning that the zemindars of Behar, during his 
absence, had raised an insurrection, he left Khowas 
Khan to prosecute the siege of Goor, and returned 
in person to Behar. Shortly afterwards, Sheer 
Khan rejoined the army, and the garrison of Goor 
being straitened for supplies, Mahmood Shah fled 
in a boat to Hajypoor. Being closely pursued by 
Sheer Khan, he gave battle, but was defeated and 
wounded in the action ; and abandoning his king­
dom, it fell into the hands of Sheer Khan. 

Hoomayoon, returning from -Guzerat, con­
ceived it necessary to check Sheer Khan's rising 
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power; for which purpose, he marched towards 
Chunar, Julal Khan, a son of Sheer Khan, who 
commanded there, left the defence to Ghazy 
Khan Soar, and retired to the hills of J'har­
cund, from whence he returned and annoyed 
the besiegers: The siege was carried on for six 
months, when Roomy Khan, who commanded 
Hoomayoon's artillery, reduced the fort by means 
of .floating stages which have been already des­
cribed. 

Hoomayoon, leaving Dost Beg in charge of 
Chunar, marched towards Bengal, where Mahmood 
Shah Poorby, who, as we have already related, 
was wounded in an action with Sheer Khan, 
claimed his protection. Hoomayoon, having ad­
vanced to the pass · of Gurhy, the frontier post 
of Bengal, found that Sheer Khan had sent his son 
Julal, with Khowas Khan and a strong detach­
ment, to guard the defile. Jehangeer Koolly Beg 
and some other chiefs were directed to dislodge 
them; but they were repulsed i:i;i several attacks. 
Being, however, supported by more troops, and foe 
whole army appearing in sight, a successful 
~ssault was made, and the Moguls at lengtp. b~­
came masters of the pass. J ulal Khan fled to his 
father at Goor, who, being in no condition to 
engage so superior a force, evacuated that capital, 
carried off all his wealth to the mountains of 
J'harkund, and began to project a scheme for 
possessing himself of Rohtas, in which he might 
lodge his family and wealth in security. 

Sheer Khan had ,no hopes of taking Rohtas by 
.9pen forqt;. _it_ .became necessary, thereforp1 · t<;> 
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devise some stratagem to effect the object.' He 
accordingly sent a person to Raja Hurry Krishn 
Ray, who was in possession of it, to say, "That 
"as he was about to attempt the recovery of 
;, Bengal, he relied on their former friendship for 
"permitting him to send his family and treasure 
"into Rohtas, with a few attendants." Hurry 
Krishn Ray at first refused ; but Sheer Khan, 
having sent an artful agent to him a second time, 
with handsome presents, assured him, "That it 
" was for his women and treasure alone he 
" requested protection : that should he be fortunate 
" enough to conquer Bengal, he would make 
"proper acknowledgments for the favour; but· if 
" he should lose his life in the contest, he rather 
"chose that his family and wealth should remain 
"in the hands of Hurry Krishn Ray, than fall 
"into those of his enemies, the Moguls." Hurry 
Krishn Ray suffered himself to be deceived; but 
in giving his consent,* resolved to _keep the 
treasure when once in his possession. 

Sheer Khan having provided dolies,j placed 
~rmed men in them, except in the two or three 
which were to go first ; and having filled 'five 
hundred money-bags with leaden bullets, 
appointed some of his most trusty soldiers to carry 
them, in the disguise of servants, with sticks in 

* This gratuitous assertion seems unsupported by proof, and 
is probably made by the author who wrote Sheer Shah's his­
tory, as some excuse for his subsequent conduct. 

t Covered litters for the conveyance of females. The Eng­
lish employ them for carrying the sick and wounded men of 
their army in the field. 
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their hands:· they appeared as if they were carrying 
the treasure up the n~ountain. The men who 
carried lhe p.olies were also soldiers. This tr~in 
having reached the gate, and the first and second 
doly being examined, and found to contain only 
old women, all farther precaution was neglected. 
The Raja was, in the mean time, busy in counting 
the bags, which he now calculated on as his own. 
The dolies having reached the house which the 
Raja had appointed for the reception of the females, 
the savage wolv.es* rushed out among the sheep, 
and dyed the fold with their blood. The men who 
conveyed the treasure at first used their staves, till 
they all gradually supplied themselves with arms 
from the dolies ; and having easily mastered the 
garrison, totally unprepared for such an occurrence, 
they admitted Sheer Khan, who was encamped 
at a small distance. Hurry Krishn Ray himself 
escaped with a few followers out of the fort, by 
a private passage. 

Thus fell one of the most impregnable fortresses 
in the world into the hands of Sheer Khan, toge• 
ther with much treasure, which had been accu­
mulated for ages. The merit of the invention of 
the stratagem, however, is not due to Sheer Khan ; 
the fort of Asseer, in the Deccan, having been 
long before surprised in the same manner by 
Nuseer Khan Farooky, ruler of Kandeish. 

Although the author (Mahomed Kasim Ferishta) 

* [n translating this passage I have adhered closely to the 
Persian idiom. The soldiers are not assimilated to wolves and 
the garrison· to lambs, but they are personified. This 'pecu• 
liarity belongs to the Persian language. 
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has seen many hill forts in India, he has seen none 
to compare with that of Rohtas. It is situated 
on a table land on the top of a mountain, more 
than five coss (seven miles) square. It has only 
one en trance by a very narrow road, along a steep 
ascent of two miles from the foot of the hill to the 
gates; and water is found every where in abund­
ance, by digging a few feet below the surface. 

Sheer Khan having thus secured a safe retreat 
for his family, his friends acquired fr~sh spirits. 
Hoomayoon, in the mean time, spent three months 
at Goor, at which place· he received advices that 
his brother, Hindal Mirza, had revolted in Agra, 
and that he had put to death Sheikh Bheilole, on 
account of his attachment to Hoomayoon ; that 
he had also coined money in his own name. 
Hoomayoon, therefore, leaving Jehangeer Koolly 
Beg, with five thousand horse, in Goar, returned 
towards Agra. Owing to the excessh-e rains and 
bad roads, the King's cavalry and beasts of burthen 
perished in great numbers : and Sheer Khan, 
who had by this time raised a considerable army, 
entrenched himself on the banks of the Jowsa, 
at a ford by which he thought the King must of 
necessity pass ; at which place Hoomayoon was 
defeated with great slaughter, in the manner 
already related. Sheer Khan did not immediate­
ly push forward to the capital, but having resolved 
to leave no enemy in his rear, he returned to 
Bengal. He there engaged Jehangeer Koolly Beg 
in several battles ; in the last of which he defeated 
and slew him; and cut his army to pieces. After 
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the reoccupation of Bengal, Sheer Khan assumed. 
the title of Shah, or King, and causing coin to 
be struck, and public prayers to be read· in his 
name, marched the next year with an army 
towards Agra. Hoomayoon, by. th.is time being 
deserted by his brother Kamran, · had also given 
offence to his Mogul officers by the decided pre­
ference he showed towards his Toorkoman troops. 
He, however, crossed the Jumna with a hundred 
thousand horse, to encounter Sheer Khan, whose 
force did not exceed fifty thousand men. Sheer 
Khan, as we have already mentioned, defeated 
Hoomayoon, and pursued him through Agra and 
Lahore to Khooshab ; from whence the latter 
eventually retreated towards the Indus. 

Meanwhile Ismael Khan, Ghazy Khan, and 
Futteh Khan Ilulloch, governors of the several 
provinces in Punjab, acknowledged the title of 
Sheer Shah. In his progress through that pro­
vince, having observed among the mountains of 
Nandere and Bulnat a hill well calculated for 
defence, he ordered a fortress to be constructed 
on it, which he named Rohtas. Khowas Khan, to 
whose bravery and conduct he felt himself deeply 
indebted, was created Sipasalar (Commander of 
his forces), and a tenth of the revenues of Punjab 
was assigned to him, of which province he was ap­
pointed governor. Heibut Khan Neeazy remained 
in command of the army in the north-west, while 
Sheer Shah returned towards Agra. On his arrival 
he learned that Khizr Khan Sheerwany, whom he 
had left in the government of Bengal, had espoused 
the daughter .of the exiled King, Mahomed Shah 
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Poorby, and had assumed the state of a sovereign 
prince. Aware of tl~e danger of permitting such 
conduct, Sheer Sliah proceeding to Bengal, Khizr 
Khan submitted without a struggle, and was im­
prisoned-. ·Sheer Shah now divided the kingdom 
of Bengal among a number of chiefs wholly 
independent of each other, and appointing Kazy 
Fuzeelut, a native of Kurra, famous for his lear­
ning as well as for his wisdom, to control the 
whole, he returned to Agra. 

In the year 949, Sheer Shah marched 

A
A, n. 9

15
19· towards Malwa. He advanced, in the 

, D, 42, -
first instance, to Gualiar, where he found 

that Shoojaat Khan, one of his officers who had 
laid siege to the place, had already induced Hoo­
mayoon's governor, Abool Kasim Beg, to surren­
der that strong fortress into his hands; and shortly 
after, Mulloo Khan, the governor of Malwa, sub­
mitted without a struggle. · Mulloo Khan, how­
ever, became suspicious of some design against his 
person, and fled from the King's camp; when Hajy 
Khan was appointed temporarily governor of a part 
of Malwa, and Shoojaat Khan was nominated to 
the charge of Sivas. Sheer Shah now marched to 
Runtunbhore, where Mulloo Khan, the ex-governor 
of Malwa, attacked both Hajy Khan and Shoojaat 
Khan, but was repulsed. Shoojaat Khan having 
distinguished himself very much on the occasion, 
Hajy Khan was recalled, and the government of 
Malwa was intrusted solely to Shoojaat Khan. 

Sheer Shah reached Runtunbhore, and 
obtained possession of that fortress from the 
govern~r, who still held it in the name of .the 
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Prince Mahomed Lady. After this event, Sheer 
Shah returned to Agra,· where he remained a whole 
year, superintending the civil administration of 
his government. Meanwhile Heibut Khan was 
sent to wrest Mooltan out of the hands of the 
Bullochies, who had occupied it. Futteh Khan 
Bulloch was in consequence attac-ked and expelled, 
and the whole country submitted to the arms of 
Dehly. Heibut Khan received the title of Azim 
Hoornayoon, and the government of Mooltan. 

In the year 950, Sheer Shah learned 
"· "· 95°• that Poorun Mul, the son of Silhuddy 
A. D, 1543, 

Poorbeea, a chief who had formerly oc-
cupied some of the Malwa districts, maintained a 
seraglio of two thousand concubines, many of 
whom were Mahomedan v.romen. He made this 
a pretext for war, and accordingly marched and 
invested him in the fort of Raisein. The siege 
was protracted for a length of time, and Poorun 
Mul capitulated, by which the garrison were 
permitted to march out with their arms and 
property. But Mirza Ruffeea-ood-Deen Sufvy, 
one of the learned men of that age, gave it as his 
opinion, that it was by no means necessary to ob­
serve faith with infidels, and recommended that 
the Rajpoots should be attacked. Sheer Shah 
having occupied the fort, drew out the army, and 
surrounding the followers of Poorun Mull, 
ordered his troops to cut them off. This brave 
band, however, defended itself with such valour, 
that the deeds of Roostoom and Isfundy ar might 
be deemed child's play, till not an individual of 
the Hindoos survived the horrid catastrophe. 
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Sheer Shah, after this transaction, returned to 
Agra. Having remained there a few months, to 
recruit his army, he proceeded towards Marwar, 
during the march to which place he entrenched 
his camp every night, as well for security, as, by 
exercising his troops, to render them -expert in 
this mode of defence. \Vhen he came to cross the 
sands, he formed redoubts all round him with 
gabions. In this manner he entered the country 
of the Raja of Nagoor and Ajmeer. Maldew, the 
most powerful of the Hindoo princes who still re­
tained their independence, opposed the King with 
fifty thousand Rajpoots, and both armies lay thirty 
days in sight of each other. Sheer Shah would 
gladly have retreated quietly ; but the danger was 
too great to admit of his venturing to quit his en­
trenchments; while the position of the enemy was 
such as to render an attack on him very hazardous. 
In this anxious situation a successful stratagem 
suggested itself to the King. Maldew having 
originally subdued most of the Rajpoot chiefs now 
with him, Sheer Shah caused letters in the Hindoo 
language to be addressed to himself, as if written 
by the Raja's generals, stating, "That, having 
"been subjected by the Raja, they had, through 
'' necessity, accompanied him; but that they were, 
"in secret, inimical to him: that if Sheer Shah, 
"therefore, would reinstate them in their former 
"possessions, they were willing to pay him tribute, 
"and acknowledge his supremacy." On these 
letters Sheer Shah superscribed in Persian, "Fear 
"nothing, but persevere, and you may be assured 
"your wishes shall be complied with." Some of 

VOL, II,-J6, 



122 SHEER SHAH S•OR. 

these letters were purposely thrown in the way of 
Maldew, who, being jealous of his chiefs, was de­
ceived, and hesitated to give battle, which he had 
intended doing on that very day. He was more 
and more confirmed in his suspicions by the eager­
ness which his officers evinced to engage ; and on 
ttm16iirth day he even ordered a retreat. Koonbha, 
one of his principal officers, discovered the decep­
tion, and endeavoured to convince Maldew of his 

_ error. Finding the Raja's suspicions not to be 
removed, he told him, "That such 

A. H. 951. '' treachery was unprecedented among 
A,D, 1544. d "true Rajpoots, and he determine to 
"wash off the stain on their reputation with his 
"blood, or to subdue Sheer Shah with his own 
"tribe alone." 

Maldew continued to retreat ; but the gallant 
Koonbha, with a few other chiefs, and ten or twelve 
thousand men, separating from their prince, turned 
back with an intent to surprise Sheer Shah's camp. 
By accident, however, they lost their way in the 
night, and it was daylight before they reached the 
enemy. Sheer Shah formed his troops, and at­
tacked them: his army, on this occasion, by the 
most moderate computation, amounted to eighty 
thousand :fighting men, which this small band of 
brave Rajpoots repeatedly repulsed, and would 
have probably defeated, had not Julal Khan Jul­
wany arrived during the heat of the battle with a 
reinforcement. Sheer Shah now falling on the 
Rajpoots with renewed vigour, threw them into 
disorder. They broke, and Koonbha together with 
~1most all h.is followers were cut to pieces. 
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Sheer Shah, after the victory, of which he had 
at one time despaired, declared," That, for a hand­
" full of jooar he had almost lost the empire of 
"India." For in the territories of Raja Maldew, 
owing to the poverty of the soil and want of 
water, wheat, rice, peas, sugar, pan, and other 
superior productions of Hindoostan are seldom 
cultivated; the common grain of the country 
being arzun, which in the language of India is 
called bajry. Maldew hearing of the loss of so 
many brave men, was overwhelmed with affliction, 
and being subsequently drserted by the greatest 
part of his army, he retreated among the moun­
tains of Joodpoor. 

Sheer Shah now marched against the fort of 
Chittoor, which surrendered by capitulation. He 
next proceeded to Runtunbhore, and gave that 
country in jageer to his eldest son Adil Khan, who 
fixed his residence there. The army then moved 
towards Kalunjur, one of the strongest forts in 
Hindoostan. The Raja, in consequence of Sheer 
Shah's treachery to Poorun Mul, refused terms, and 
prepared for hostilities. Sheer Shah having sur­
rounded the fort, carried on his approaches, con­
structing batteries for his artillery, and sinking 
mines under the rock. The batteries were ad­
vanced close to the walls, a breach was made, and 
a general assault ordered, when a shell, ·which was 
thrown against the fort, burst in the battery in 
which the King stood, and communicating to a 
powder magazine that had not been properly se­
cured, several gunners were blown up, as also the 
.King, and many of his chiefs, who were so severely 
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scorched that they were carried for' dead to their 
tents. 

In this condition, though the King breathed 
with great pain, he encouraged the prosecution 
of the attack, and continued to give his orders, 
till in the evening news was brought him of 
the reduction of the place. He then cried out, 
"Thanks to the "Almighty God !" and expired. 

· The death of Sheer Shah happened 
Rubbe-e-ool- on the 12th of Rubbee-ool-Awul, 

Awul 12• in the year 952. He spent fifteen 
A.n. 952

• years in a military life before he May 22. 
A.D. 1545. ascended the thrown, and sat on 

the rnusnu<l five years, as emperor of 
Hindoostan. 

Sheer Shah was not more remarkable for his 
good sense and talents than for his justice towards 
his subjects; and left behind him many monu­
ments of his magnificence. From Bengal and 
Soonargaum to the Indus, which is 1500 coss 
( 2000 miles), he built caravanseras, and dug a well 
at the distance of every coss. Besides which he 
raised many magnificent mosques for the worship 
of God on the highway, wherein he appointed 
readers of the Koran, and moollas. He ordered 
that at every stage all strc1cngers, without distinc­
tion of country or religion, should be entertained, 
according to their quality, at the public expence, 
and he planfod rows of fruit trees along the roads, 
as well to preserve travellers from the scorching 
rays of the sun, as to slake their thirst. Horse 
posts were established at proper distances, as well 
for forwarding quick intelligence to government, 
as for the advantages of trade and correspondence. 
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A similar establishment was also maintained from 
Agra to Mandoo, a distance of 300 coss (450 
miles) ; fruit-trees being planted along the road 
side, and musjids, caravanseras, and wells being 
also constructed at short distances from each 
other. Such was the public security during his 
reign, that travellers and merchants, depositing 
their property on the road side, lay down to sleep 
without apprehension of robbery. 

It is said that Sheer Shah being told that his 
beard grew white, replied, "it was true that he 
" had obtained the throne in the e,·ening of life ; 
"a circumstance he always regretted, as it left 
"him so short a time to be of use to his country, 
" and to promote the welfare of his people.";;; 

* Colonel Dow states that he is buried at Sahsaram, the 
f~mily estate, in a magnificent sepulchre, surrounded by a 
reservoir of water, built during his own life. 
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Julal Klzan, the second son of Slteer Shalz, is raised 
to tlze throne by liis nobles, and assumes the title · of 
Sulim.-Adil Klza11, the King's elder brother, comes to 
Agra, and abjures lzis birthright-he quits the court­
goes into revolt-is defeated, and .flies to Bengal, after 
wlticlt lie is never heard of.-lnsurrection at Lahore sup. 
pressed by tlze King in person.-Tltc governor of Malwa 
revolts, but is expelled.-Kamran Mirza, tlte brother of 
Hoomayoon,jlies from Kabul to Sulim Shah's court­
lte quits the court again, and returns to Kabul.-Sulim 
Shah dies-the character of his government.-The King's 
brother-in-law murders the King's only son, and ascends 
tlze throne. 

AT the time Sheer Shah died, his eldest son, 
Adil Khan, whom he had appointed his successor, 
was at Runtunbhore, and his younger son, Julal 
Khan, in the village of Reewa, near Punna. The 
officers who favoured J ulal Khan more than his 
brother, then at so great a distance, insisted on the 
necessity of filling the throne as soon as possible, 
and for that purpose despatched expresses to Julal 
Khan, who arrived in three days in the camp. 
Julal Khan, through the influence of Eesa Khan 
and his party, ascended the throne, in the fort-

ress of Kalunjur, on the r5th of Rub­
Rubbee-ool-

Awul 
15

_ bee-ool-Awul, in the year 95:2, taking 
A, H, 952, 
May 25, 

A, D, 15-1-5• 

the title of Islam Shah, which by false 
pronunciation is called Sulim Shah, 
by which name he is more generally 



SULIM SHAH SCOR. 

known. Sulim Shah, assuming the regalia, wrote 
to his elder brother, Adil Khan, in the following 
words : "You being at so great a distance, and I 
"so near, have taken on me the command of the 
"army till you arrive; but my intentions are only 
"to forward your interest, and to support your 
"authority." Julal Khan, after writing this 
letter, marched from Kalunjur towards Agra, 
and at Kora was met by Khowas Khan, 
commander of his father's forces, by whom he was 
formally crowned, and a second time ascended the 
throne, holding a magnificent festi,·al upon the 
occasion. From Kora, Sulim Shah wrote another 
letter to his brother, begging in the most 
affectionate terms that he would come and see him. 

Adil Khan wrote to the chiefs in the· court of 
Sulim Shah, particularly to Kootub Khan, Eesa 
Khan, Khowas Khan, and Julal Khan Julwany, 
to ascertain for what purpose he was inYited, and 
what assistance he might expect from them ; at 
the same time he returned for answer to his brother, 
"That if he would send th1;>se four chiefs to him, 
"with proper assurances, he would come.'' Sulim 
Shah accordingly deputed them to wait on Adil 
Khan, and to assure him in the most solemn 
manner that he would permit him, if he pleased, 
to depart after the first interview ; and in order 
to reconcile him to the loss of his throne, of which 
there was no longer any doubt, he o.!Ierecl him the 
choice of any of the provinces of the kingdom as 
an estate. Adil Khan proceeded to Agrn, and 
having arrived there while Sulim Shah was on n 
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hunting party, joined him at the village of Seekry 
(now called Futtehpoor), and carpets were spread 
on the field for their interview. Here they evinced 
the greatest affection towards each other, and after 
some discourse proceeded to Agra. Sulim Shah; 
who resolved to seize his brother, gave private 
orders to admit but a few of his retinue into the 
court-yard; while Adil Khan, anticipating such 
a step, .directed his people to force their way in, 
at all haza.rds. · 

Sulirri Shah, perceiving his object had failed, had 
recourse to flattery and dissimulation, and e,·en 
carried _his courtesy so far as to lay hold of Adil 

-Khan's hand, in order to force him to sit on the 
throne; but the latter, naturally timid and indo­
lent, reJected the offer, knowing how little support 
he could expect from the nobles. Adil Khan, some­
what alarmed also at the disturbance which had 
-been made by his guards at 1.he palace gate, made 
a formal resignation of his birthright, and placing 
Sulim Shah on the throne, saluted him King. 
This hint was instantly taken by the courtiers, 
who were waiting with impatience the issue of 
the meeting. The chiefs, now advancing to the 
throne in succession, according to their rank, pre­
sented their congratulatory offerings, while others 
performed the ceremony of Nisar,* proclaiming· 

* Nisar, or Koorban, is the wave offering so frequently men­
tioned in the Old Testament. It consists in pronouncing a 
benediction, and waving over the head of the individual sonie 
olfering, which is instantly given away in charity or otherwise. 
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aloud, "We offer our lives and fortunes to Sulim 
Shah." These ceremonies being over, Kootub 
Khan and the other chiefs who had passed their 
words to Adil Khan proposed, that as he had se­
lected Byana for his estate, he should recei,·c the 
sunnuds for that province nt once, and be permitted 
to depart. Sulim Shah consented, and matters 
being arranged accordingly, Adil Khan left Agra, 
accompanied by Eesa Khan and Khowas Khan. 
Two months afterwards, Sulim Shah sent for 
Ghazy Mhally, one of his eunuchs, and gave him a 
pair of golden fetters, directing him to bring Adil 
Khan prisoner to court. The latter, - however, 
having timely information of the design, fled to 
Mewat, where Khowas Khan then resided, and ac­
quainted that chief, with tears in his eyes, of his 
brother's baseness. Khowns Khan, whose honour 

was concerrn·d, roused with indignation, 
A. u. 952

• seized Ghazy Mhally, and went into 
A, IJ, 1545" b 1 . Kb Kh open re e lion. owas an's cha-
racter was so high, that by writing private letters 
to the nobles of the court he gained many partisans, 

· and being now at the head of a considerable army. 
and accompanied by the Prince Adil Khan and 
Eesa Khan, he marched towards Agra. On the 
road, he received letters from Kootub Khan and 
Julal Khc1n Julwany, who, concei'fing their honour 
equally implicated by the King's conduct, pledged 
themselves to join the Prince Adil Khan, at the 
same time recommending, that he should con­
'f7'ive to .reach Agra before daylight, so as to 
enable his friends to join him at once. At length, 
when the Prince reached Seekry, which is 12 coss 

VQL, II.-r7. 
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from Agra, he paid his respects to Sheikh Sulim, 
one of the most holy men of the age ; and as it 
was the night of the Koorban festival,* he was 
delayed so long at prayers, that he did not reach 
Agra till next day at chasht (breakfast). Sulim 
Shah, thrown into the utmost perplexity by this 
event, sent for Kootub Khan and Julal Khan Jul­
wany, and reproached them for not dissuading 
him from the step which had involved him in 
such a dilemma. Kootub Khan replied, "That 
"the affair was by no means without remedy; 
"and that, if permitted, he would settle it ami­
" cably. "Sulim Shah, unsuspicious of the fidelity 
of the two chiefs, desired that they would go to the 
Prince Adil Khan, and conciliate him. They 
were, however, no sooner gone, than Sulim Shah 
revealed to his friends his intention of flying to 
Chunar, where the treasure was lodged, and re­
solved to raise an army to reduce his brother, 
whom he was at present in no condition to engage. 
Eesa Khan Meer Hajib dissuaded him from this 
measure, reminding him, "That he had with him 
"ten thousand Firmully Afghans, besides many 
"other faithful soldiers who had served with him 
"before he ascended the throne, of whose fidelity he 
"could have no doubt;" observing, "that it was 
'' the height of imprudence to trust the kingdom 
"which God had given him to the caprice of for­
" tune, while he had it in his power to defend 
"it by instantly taking the field." "Do not (said 

* This fast is kept in commemoration of the intended 
sacrifice of Isaac by A~raham, 
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"Eesa Khan) cast off the friends whom you have 
"acquired in your prosperity, with a vain hope to 
"find others in the hour of adversity. The wisest 
"course for you, is to appear at the head of your 
"army, and to take the field. This will at once 
"secure your wavering troops, and intimidate the 
"enemy." 

Sulim Shah, encouraged by this advice, resol­
ved to stand his ground, and recalled Kootub 
Khan and the other chiefs, who had not yet set 
out to accommodate matters with the Prince Adil 
Khan, to his presence. He told them, that on 
reconsideration he was resolved not to place his 
faithful chiefs in the hands of his enemies; and 
forthwith ordering his troops under arms, marched 
out of the city, and formed them on the plain. 
The officers, who had promised to favour the 
Prince Adil Khan, seeing their King in the field, 
were ashamed to desert him, and felt it their duty 
to fight; a disappointment which so greatly dis­
concerted Khowas Khan, thati although his troops 
behaved with great bra,·ery, he was overthrown. 
After the action, the Prince Adil Kha.t1 fled, in the 
first instance, to Patna; but soon after-disappear­
ing, was never again heard of; while Khowas 
Khan and Eesa Khan retreated to Mewat, to 
which place Sulim Shah sent an army, which was 
defeated at Firozepoor. The royal army being 
soon after reinforced, the insurgent chiefs were 
obliged to retreat among the mountains of 
Kumaoon. Sulim Shah detached Kootub Khan in 
pursuit, who effected nothing beyond plundering 
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the countries lying in the neighbourhood of 
the hills. Sulini Shah meanwhile marched to 
Chunar, and being informed of the treasonable 
correspondence Julal Khan Julwany had main­
tained with the Prince Adil Khan before the late 
battle, be caused him to be put to death, together 
with his brother, who was concerned in the same 
conspiracy. On bis arrival at Chunar, the King, 
having secured the treasure of his father, sent it 
to Gualiar, and returned to Agra. At this time, 
Kootub Khan, finding that Sulim Shah was no 
stranger to the part he had taken in the late dis­
turbanc.es, and apprehensive of returning to court, 
fled to place himself under the protection of Hei­
but Khan, governor of Lahore, then known by the 
title of Azim Hoomayoon. Sulim Shah, however, 
having despatched orders for his being delivered 
into his hands, Kootub Khan was sent prisoner to 
Gualiar, with many other suspected persons, 
among whom was Shahbaz Khan Lohany, the 
King's brother-in-law, who was deprived of his 
sight. The governor of Lahore and Shoojaat 
Khan, governor of Malwa, were about this time 
called to court. Azim Hoomayoon evaded the 
order; but the latter, obeying the summons, had 
the addres.s to clear himself from all suspicion, and 
was permitted to resume his government. 

The King now moved towards Rohtas, to bring 
to Agra the treasure which his father had deposited 
in that place. On the route, Syeed Khan, the bro­
ther of Azim Hoomayoon, having left the camp 
suddenly, f-led to Lahore, and the King, conclud­
ing that some insurrection was in agitation, 
returned immediately to his capital, where, having 
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assembled his forces from all quarters, he marched 
to Dehly, and on this occasion ordered the new 
city built by Hoomayoon Padshah to be walled in 
with stone. At Dehly he was joined by Shoojaat 
Khan from Malwa, and having remained only a 
few days to organize his army, he took the route 
of Lahore. Azim Hoomayoon, Khowas Khan, 
and other disaffected chiefs, with more than double 
the King's forces, met him at Amballa. Sulim 
Shah, arriving within sight of the insurgents, 
ascended a rising ground for the purpose of recon­
noitring, and after viewing for some time their 
disposition, said, " It is not consistent with my 
"honour to trifle with these rebels ;" and having 
ordered his line out, he advanced against them. 
It happened fortunately for him, that on the pre­
ceding night a dispute had arisen among the con­
federate generals as to the succession to the 
throne. Khowas Khan, still a friend to the fa­
mily of his patron Sheer Shah, insisted on search 
being made for the Prince Adil Khan ; while 
Azim Hoomayoon affirmed, "That empire was no 
"man's inheritance, but belonged to him who had 
"the longest sword." This so plainly indicated 
his own ambitious views, that faction arose in the 
camp, and on the next day, ·when the troops were 
formed, Khowas Khan withdrew with his division 
without going into action at all. This circum­
stance so discouraged the army of the confede­
rates, that their resistance was faint, and Sulim 
Shah gained an easy victory. 

In the midst of this good fortune, Sulim Shah 
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narrowly escaped with his life from a 

A. Ho 953. daring attempt of Syeed Khan, the 
A. n. 1546· brother of Azim Hoomayoon. This 
chieftain, with ten faithful friends, in armour, 
mixed without discovery among the royal troops, 
and advanced towards the King as if about to, 
congratulate him. An elephant driver, who stood 
near the royal person, recognizing Syeed Khan, 
struck him with his spear. In spite of this 
circumstance, Syeed Khan and his band cut their 
way through the guards sword in hand, and 
escaped. The insurgents ( styling themselves 
Neeazies) retreated after this defeat to D'hunkote, 
near Roh, in the mountains. Sulim Shah pursued 
them as far as the new fort of Rohtas, which his 
father had built; and having directed Khwaja Veis 
Sheerwany to continue the pursuit, he returned by 
the route of Agra to Gualiar. Shoojaat Khan, 
governor of Malwa, on going up to the fort one 
day, in front of the King, was attacked by.one 
Othman, a person whom he had deprived of his 
right hand some time before, and who now, con­
cealing himself by the road-side, rushed out, and 
inITicted a dagger wound on Shoojaat Khan; who 
without further enquiry, conceiving the act had 
been preconcerted with the King, fled with pre­
cipitation towards Malwa with all his troops. The 
King pursued him as far as Mando ; but hearing 
that he had Jled to Banswalla, he returned, leaving 

Eesa Khan Soar, with twenty thousand 
A. H, 954• horse, at Oojein, to watch his motions. 
A. D. 1547. Th d . h ese events occurre m t e year 954. 

Khwaja Veis Sherwany having been some time 
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before deputed to carry on the war against the 
Neeazies, engaged them near D'hunkote, hut was 
defeated by Azim Hoomayoon, and pursued as 
far as Nowshehra. Sulim Shah, hearing of this 
circumstance, sent another army against th,~ 
insurgents, which compelled them in turn to 
retreat to D'hunkote. A third action took place 
at Sumballa, in which the Neeazies were 
overethrown with great slaughter, and · Azim 
Hoomayoon's mother, together with all his family, 
were taken prisoners. After this defeat, the 
Neeazies were compelled to seek protection among 
the Gukkurs, in the mountains of Kashmere. 
Sulim Shah, finding that he should have little 
peace without effectually putting down this 
rebellion, marched in person to the Punjab, and 
for the space of two years carried on war against 
the united force of the Gukkurs and Neeazies. 

In this expedition, a person having concealed 
himself one day in a narrow path, by which Sulim 

Shah was ascending the mountain of 
A, 

11
• 955·

8 
Mankote, rushed on him with a drawn 

A. D. 154 . d s 1· Sh h h d 1 . swor . u 1111 a a scarce y time 
to draw to defend himself; but having slain the 
assassin, he perceived the sword of the ruffian to be 
one that he had formerly given to Yekbal Khan, 
one of his own officers. The Gukkurs and Xeea.­
zies, driven from place to place, and unable to face 
the King's troops, Azim Hoomayoon ende.'.n·our-ed 
to enter the kingdom of Kashmere; but the rn1err 
of that country, apprehensive of Sulim Sh:a.!la\; 
resentment, not only opposed and de.feak-d 
him, but sent the heads of Azim Hoomayoo1n, 
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his brother Syeed Khan, and Shahbaz Khan 
to the King. Sulim Shah, thus secure against fur­
ther disturbance in that quarter, returned to Dehly. 

Much about this time, Kamran Mirza, flying 
from his brother Hoomayoon, who was now on 
his march from Persia to the East, took protection 
with Sulim Shah; but being ill received, he re­
tired to the mountains of Sewalik, and eventually 
joined the Gukkurs. Shortly after this, Sulim 
Shah received advices that Hoomayoon Padsha 
had crossed the Indus. The King, when he 
gained the information, was under tbe operation 
of leeches. He instantly started from his seat, 
and issued orders to march, and on that very 
evening enramped six miles distant from Dehly. 
He there halted for his artillery, ·which was drawn 
out by men till the oxen, which were grazing in 
the country, could be collected. The guns being 
very heavy and unwieldy, one or two thousand 
men were required to drag them; yet in this 
manner he proceeded with considerable expedition 
till he reached Lahore. Meanwhile Hoomayoon 
Padshah retreated, as we shall have occasion to 
mention in the sequel; and Sulim Shah, returning 
to Dehly, eventually retired to Gualiar, ,vhere he 
took up his residence. 

Sulim Shah, while taking the diversion of the 
chase near Attehr, was waylaid by a banditti insti­
gated by some of his enemies; but having perceived 
them, he was able not only to avoid, but to seize 
the whole band. On examination, they implicated 
many of his chiefs, who were executed without 
much investigation; after which the King became 
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so extremely suspicious, that numbers of officers 
suffered death on slight suspicions. 

Khowas Khan, a man justly renowned for his 
personal courage, his honour, and his great abili­
ties in war, and who had been raised ~o distinc­
tion by the late Sheer Shah, was driven to revolt; 
and, after flying from place to. place, came to Taj 
Khan Kirany (who owed his preferment to him), 
and was then governor of Sumbhul. Taj Khan, 

in violation of a solemn oath, and of 
the laws of hospitality, assassinated 

.\, D. l 550. 
Khowas Khan, in order to recommend 

.-\. H. 957· 

himself to Sulim Shah. His corpse was, however, 
afterwards conveyed to Dehly, \\·here it was inter­
red ; and such is the veneration in which the name 
of Khowas Khan is held, eyen at the present day, 
that his tomb is frequented, and the common 
people, considering him a saint, go there to offer 
prayers for success in their undertakings. 

Not long after this event, of which Sulim Shah 
was said to be the instigator, that Prince became 
afflicted with a fistula, of which he died, in the 

A, H. 960. 
,\. D. I 553 

year 960, having reigned nine years. 
Like Sheer Shah, he was magnificent 
in his court equipage, and studied the 

convenience of travellers. From Bengal to the 
Indus he built an intermediate post-house be­
tween each of those which his father had erected, 
requiring that all who passed along the great road 
should be entertained at the public expence. In 
this year also died Mahmood Shah, King of Guze­
rat, and Boorhan Nizam Shah, King of Ahmud­
nuggur. In commemoration of the remarkable 

VOL. II.-J8. 
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circumstance of these monarchs dying almost at 
the same time, the father of the author wrote a 
short epitaph, in which the words, 

"The ruin of kings," 

exhibit the date (i.e. 960.) 

Among the most extraordinary events of this 
reign, is the insurrection produced by Sheikh Al­
layee. The story is as follows :-The father of 
Sheikh Allavee was Sheikh Hussun, who professed 
himself to be a holy man, in the town of Byana; 
but he adopted opposit tenets to those of Sheikh 
Sulim of Seekry. Sht,ikh Hussun dying, was suc­
ceeded by his eldest son, Sheikh Allayee, a person 
as remarkable for his ambition as for his learning. 
It happened that one Sheikh Abdoolla, a Neeazy 
Afghan, and a pupil of Sheikh Sulim, having re­
turned from a pilgrimage to Mecca, arrived at By­
ana, and professed the Mehdvy doctrines of Syeed 
Mahomed Joonpoory. He and Sheikh Allayee be­
coming intimate, the latter imbibed the i\.fehdvy 
tenets, and abandoning the doctrines of his father 
and ancestors, quitted his house in town, and, in 
conformity with the practice of the Mehdvies, took 
up his residence outside of Byana; and with a 
considerable number of adherents, abandoning 
all worldly pursuits, gave himself up wholly to 
devotion, under the firm conviction of predestina­
tion. He preached daily with such persuasive 
eloquence, that many persons, becoming riveted 
to the spot, would not quit him, and abandoning 
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their families, became converts to his doctrines, and 
ranged themselves among the disciples of Syeed 
Mahomed Joonpoory, the founder of the sect; so 
that, in some instances, men employed in agri­
culture or trade made vows to devote one-tenth 
of their receipts to charity and to religious 
purposes. 

Several instances occurred wherein fathers 
abandoned their children, sons, their fathers, hus­
bands their wives, and \Vi\Tes their husbands, and 
devoted themselves to worship and retirement 
from the world; it being a principle among the 
sect to divide in common among their brethren 
all they possessed or received in charity. In cases 
where members of the sect got nothing for two 
or three days, they have been known to fast, 
resigning themselves entirely to their fate without 
complaint. It was there practice to go armed 
and in every instance where they saw any person 
doing what they conceived contrary to the holy 
law, they warned him to abstain ; but if he persis• 
ted, they used to attack and put him or them to 
death. Many of the magistrates themseh-es, being 
~1ehdvies, conni\red at these proceedings, and 
those who even did not approve, were afraid to 
check and to punish them. Sheikh Abdoolla, 
perceiving to what lengths the zeal of Sheikh 
Allayee had carried him, recommended him to go 
on pilgrimage to Mecca, by way of removing him 
for a time from the sect, and he accordingly left 
Byana with a retinue of three hundred and seventy 
followers. On his arrival at Khowaspoor, the 
famous Khowas Khan came out to meet him, and 



SULIM SHAH SOOR, 

embraced his tenets; but shortly after, disgusted 
with the conduct of the Mehdvies, he gave them 
up. Sheikh 'Allayee, considering the defection 
of so great a man as Khowas Khan of too much 
importance to be allowed to pass unnoticed, he 
upbraided him with his apostasy, and, giving up 
his intention of proceeding to Mecca, returned to 
Byana. On the accession of Sulim Shah, Sheikh 
Allayee was sent for to Agra, to be present at the 
coronation ; but he behaved so as to offend the 
King, who received him with great coolness, 
which the holy man resenting, matters proceeded 
to such lengths, that Moolla Abdoolla of Sooltan­
poor eventually pronounced sentence of death on 
Sheikh Allayee. He was tried in the presence of 
the King by Meer Ruffeea-ood-Deen Anjoo, l\foolla 
Julal Danishmund, Moolla Abool Futteh Tahne­
surry, and sundry other eminently learned men, 
to ascertain if his pertinaciously disrespectful 
manner to the King was consistent with his 
situation as a subject, or was enjoined by any 
precept of the Koran. Sheikh Allayee failed to 
plead any thing in extenuation in his defence. 
Sulim Shah, however, promised not only to pardon 
him, but to make him Mohtisab, "Censor of 
Morals," throughout his kingdom, provided he 
would abandon the Mehdvy tenets. But refusing 
to apostatise from his doctrines, Sulim Shah caused 
him to be banished to Hindia, sot1th of the Ner­
budda. Behar Khan, one of the King's officers, 
was governor of Hindia, and he with all his 
followers shortly became converted by the persu­
asive eloquence of Sheikh Allayee. Moolla Ab-
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doolla, his inveterate foe, procured him to be sent 
for to Agra, where he underwent a second trial 
before a council of holy men, and was accused of 
personating the Imam Mehdy himself. Sulim Shah 
was informed by the same .Moolla Abdoolla, that 
a large portion of his arm~, and many even of his 
own relations, had l.Jecome the disciples of Sl1eikh 
Allayee, and he declared that the very throne was 
in danger. Sulim Shah, rejecting all that Moolla 
Abdoolla had said, sent Sheikh ~\.llayee to Behar 
to be examined by Sheikh Burry, his own religious 
preceptor, with a determination of acting accord­
ing to his opinion. l.\ieanwhile thr King went to 
Lahore. Sheikh Allayee, being sent to Behar, was 
tried and condemned by Sheikh Burry, and the 
sentence was submitted to the King for apprO\·al. 
A pestilence breaking out at this time, Sheikh 
Alla.yee was seized with the disease, and being 
brought before Sulim Shah, he was required to 
abjure his tenets; but he remained firm to the last, 
and having been ordered to be stripped and 
whipped, he died under the third lash. 

Shortly after this event, which took place in 
the year 955, Sulim Shah died, and \Vas succeeded 
by his son, the Prince Feroze, then twelve years 
of age who was placed on the throne by the chiefs 
of the tribe of Soor· at Gualiar. He had not reig­
ned three days, when Moobariz Khan, the son of 
Nizam Khan Soor, at once the nephew of the late 
Sheer Shah, and brother-in-law of Sulim Shah, 
assassinated the young Prince, and ascending the 
throne, assumed the title of Mahomed Shah Adil. 
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Nizam-ood-Deen Ahmud Bukshy states, in 
his history of Akbur, that Sulim Shah frequently 
told his wife, Beeby Bye, if she had any affection 
for her child Feroze, to consent to the execution 
of her brother Moobariz Khan, or she might rely 
on his putting his nephew to death on the first 
opportunity. She always replied, "My brother is 
"too fond of dissipation and pleasure to encumber 
'' himself w_ith the load of anxiety which belongs 
"to a King." But it happened otherwise; for 
on the third day after the death of Sulim Shah, 
Moobariz Khan, having entered the female 
apartments, slew with his own hand the unhappy 
Prince, whom he dragged from the arms of his 
mother, Beeby Bye, his own sister. 
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1Jfooban'z assumes the title of Mahomed Shalz-some 
account of his 1•ices and character.-Hemoo, a Hindoo 
retail shopkeepe1·, i:.· raised to the of/ice of minister.-Dis­
affcction prevalent at coztrt.-Taj Khan Kirrrmy quits the 
court, and raises an army.-lbrahimKhan Soor also 
raises troops, and assumes the title of king.-1Jfalzomed 
Soor ma,•ches to attack Ibrahim-consents to dii,ide tlze 
kingdom, and quits Dehly.-Ahmud Khan, a nephew of 
Shee1· Shah, disputes the right of both kings, and assumes 
the title of Silmndu1· Shalz. 

As soon as Moobariz Khan had secured the 
musnud of the dynasty of Soor, he assumed the title 
of Aadil Shah; ~but the lower orders of the people 
having rejected the letter a in the beginning, 
and added the letter y to the end of the word, 
were in the habit of calling him Adily, by which 
name he is kno·wn to posterity. Adily having 
always devoted himself to pleasure, neglected 
even the common acquirements of reading and 
writing. He hated men of learning, and kept 
company with illiterate persons like himself, whom 
he raised to the highest dignities in the state; 
among whom, one Hemoo, an Indian shopkeeper, 
whom his predecessor Sulim Shah had made 
superintendent of the markets, was in trusted with 
the whole administration of affairs. 
A. H. 960. The King, in the mean time, heedless 
A. n. 1552. of what passed, spent his time in excess 



t44 MAI-IOMRD SHAH SOOR ADILY. 

among the inmates of his haram. Having often 
. heard much in praise of the munificence of former 
: kings, particularly of 1\fahomed Toghluk, and 
mistaking prodigality for liberality, he opened the 
treasury, and lavished riche::; on all ranks without 
distinction. As he rode out, he discharged amongst 
the mtLltitude golden-headed arrows, which sold 
for ten or twelve rt1pees each. This wanton ex­
travagance soon left him without any of the 
treasure of his predecessors; and the people gave 
him the nickname of Andly, which in the Indian 
language signifies, equally, one who is blind, or 
\Vho, acting as such, evinces himself a fool. 

\Vhen Hemoo found himself invested with the 
whole executi\·e power of the state, his pridP and 
insolence (though formerly a man of sense) knew 
no bounds. This naturallv created him enemies 

•' 

among the Afghan chiefs, "·ho, having conspired 
against his life, revolted from his authority. The 
King became daily more and more despicable in 
the eyes of his subjects, while all regularity in the 
government ceased. One clay, during a public 
audience, he began to distribute estates and go­
vernments to his chiefs; among others, he ordered 
the province of Kunowj to be taken from Mahomed 
Khan Firmully, and to be given to Surmust Khan 
Surrabunny. Sikundur Khan, the son of Mahomed 
Khan, a brave young man, being present, said aloud 
to the King, " Is my estate then to be conferred on 
"a seller of dogs ?" · Mahomed Khan Firmully, 
who was present, endeavoured to check the im­
petuosity of his son ; but he only inflamed his 



MAHOMED SHAH SOOR ADILY, 145 

passion the more. He charged the King in plain 
terms with a design to extirpate his family. Sur­
must Khan, to whom the estate had been given, and 
who was a man of uncommon strength and stature, 
seized Sikundur Khan by the throat; but that 
young man, drawing his dagger, stabbed him to 
the heart, and laid him dead at his feet. Perceiv­
ing .the desperate situation in which he stood, he 
attacked all those who endeavoured to oppose 
him, killing several chiefs, and wounding others. 
He next attacked the king himself, who, leaping 
from the throne, ran into the seraglio, and on Si­
kundur Khan's pursuing him, shut the door in his 
face, which stopped his progress, and enabled Ma­
homed Shah to draw the bolt and secure himself. 
The desperate youth, finding himself disappoint­
ed, rushed back into the audience-chamber, and 
dealt death on all sides, till at length Ibrahim 
Khan Soar, the King's cousin and brother-in-law, 
attacking Sikundur Khan with some soldiers, they 

cut him to pieces. Dowlut Khan Lo­
A. 

1
·
1
• 9

61
• hany with his own hand slew Maho­

A. D. 1553 
med Khan Firmully, the youth's 

father, though he could not be responsible for his 
son's rashness. It is said that Mahomed Khan 
Firmully having met Taj Khan Kirrany on that 
day, on his way to the audience-chamber, asked 
him whither he was going; to which the other 
replied, " that affairs had taken such an extra­
" ordinary turn at court, that he was determined 
"to push his fortune, and would be glad that Ma­
" homed Khan Firmu11y would share it with him." 
Mahomed Khan Firmully a~sw~red, "That he 

VOL. II.-19. 
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"aspired to no higher fortune than what he pos­
" sessed, for which he was as usual about to pay 
"his respects;" but such as we have seen was his 
reward. Taj Khan, as soon as he left the fort, 
took the route of Bengal, with all his dependents. 
Troops were despatched in pursuit, and came up 
with him at Chi bra Mow, about eight miles from 
Agra; but he defended himself so ably, that he 
contrived to ensure a safe retreat to Chunar. In 
his progress, he seized the public money and other 
effects belonging to the crown, and gave away an 
hundred elephants to his brethren and others of 
his tribe1 who held lands in the proYince of 
Khowaspoor Tanda. By their aid he collected a 
formidable army, which obliged the King to take 
the field in person ; and the insurgents meeting 
him on the banks of the Ganges abm·e Chunar, 
were dr.feated and dispersed. 

The King, howeyer, becoming jealous of the 
popularity of Ibrahim Khan Soor, his brother-in­
law, gave private orders to seize him. His wife, 
the King's sister, hearing of his design, acquainted 
her husband, who fled from Chunar to his father, 
Ghazy Khan, gO\·ernor of Hindown. He was 
pursued by Eesa Khan Neeazy, and overtaken 
at Kalpy, where an engagement ensued, in which 
Eesri Khan, being defeated, was compelled to 
relinquish all further pursuit. Ibrahim Khan, 
rendered desperate, soon after raised a considerable 
army, and, getting possession of the city of Dehly, 
ascended the throne, and assumed the ensigns of 
royalty. From thence he marched to Agra, and 
reduced the circumjacent provinces. 
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Mahomed Shah Adily returned from Chuuar 
to suppress this usurpation. On the road thither, 
he received a deputation from Ibrahim Khan Soor, 
promising that, if the King would send Hoossein 
Khan and other chiefs with assurances of forgive­
ness, he would submit. The King complied with 
this request, and Ibrahim Khan prevailed on 
them by presents, by promises, and by address, 
to espouse his cause. Mahomed Shah Adily, find­
ing himself betrayed, lled to Clnmar, and conten­
ted himself with the government of the eastern 
provinces, while Ibrahim Khan retained posses­
sion of the ·western territory. 

Ibrahim Khan no sooner ascended the throne 
of Dehly, than another competitor arose in the 
province of Punjab, in the person of the Prince 
Ahmud Khan, another nephew of the late Sheer 
Shah, whose sister was married to Mahomed Shah 
Adily. Ahmud Khan, having procured the aid 
of Heibut Khan and other chiefs, who had been 
created nobles by the late Sulim Shah, assumed 
the title of Sikundur Shah, and marching with 
ten or tweke thousand horse towards Agra, en­
camped at Kurra, within twenty miles of that 
city. Ibrahim Khan opposed him with seventy 
thousand horse; and some notion of the splen­
dour of his train may be formed when it is stated 
that no less than two hundred otlicers occupied 
tents lined with velvet, each having the privilege 
of beating the nobut.* 

* Musical band, composed of nine instruments, confined to 
kings, but conferred by them on governors, to be used only in 
their governments, and in the absence of ·any of the royal family, 
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Sikundur Shah, seeing this forn1idal>le army, 
began to repent, and made overtures for peace, 
merely requiring to be allowed to retain Punjab. 
Ibrahim, elated with his own apparent superiority, 
refused to listen to terms, and both armies en­
gaged. Sikundur Khan intrusted the ensigns of 
royalty to one of his officers, and remained during 
the action with a select body of horse in a grove at 
some distance. Ibrahim Khan in the onset broke 
through the enemy's army ; but his troops having 
quitted their ranks and engaged in plunder, Si­
kundur Khan took advantage of it to rush upon 
them, and creating a panic in the army of Ibra­
him Khan, his troops dispersed, and were defeated. 
Ibrahim Khan, abandoning his capital, retreat­
ed to Sumbhul ; while Sikundur Khan took 
possession both of Agra and Dehly. He had not 
long enjoyed his good fortune, however, when he 
was obliged to repair to Punjab, to oppose 
Hoomayoon Padshah, who, having returned 
from a long exile, was now advancing to recover 
his dominions. During the absence of Sikundur, 
Ibrahim Khan marched to Kalpy, while at the 
same time Mahomed Shah Adily detached his 
Vizier Hemoo, with an army well appointed in 
cavalry, elephants, and artillery, from Chunar, 
·with a view to recover the western empire. 
Hen100 attacked Ibrahim Shah at Kalpy, and 
having defeated him, he was compelled to fly to 
his father at Byana, pursued by Hemoo, who 
besieged him in that city for three months. 

Meanwhile, Mahomed Shah Soor, ruler of 
Bengal, asserted his rights, and led an army against 



MAHOMED SHAH SOOR Ai>ILY. i49 

Mahomed Shah Adily. This circumstance obliged 
that Prince to recal Hemoo from the siege of 
Byana; and Ibrahim Khan, emboldened by his 

· retreat, pursued him till he overtook him near 
Agra; but being again defeated, he was compelled 
to rejoin his father at Byana. The restless spirit 
of Ibrahim Khan now induced him to march 
towards Punna, where having engaged the Raja 
Ramchunder, he was defeated and taken prisoner. 
He was treated, however, with the utmost respect, 
till the Afghans of Meeana interposing, obtained 
his release, and acknowledged him their leader. 
Under him these Afghans engaged in war with Baz 
Bahadur, ruler of Malwa, who had declared his 

independence; but the ill fortune of 
A. 

11
• 9

62· Ibrahim Khan still pursued him. He 
A. D. I 554• . d f . was agam e eated, and fled to Onssa, 
where in the year 975, that province being 
occupied by Sooliman Kirany, one of the gene­
rals of the Emperor Akbur, Ibrahim Khan was 
made prisoner, and suffered an ignominious 
death. 

Hemoo joined his master Mahomed Shah Adily 
at Chunar, where he received advices that the Em­
peror Hoomayoon, having defeated Sikundur 
Khan, had occupied Dehly and Agra. Hemoo, 
however, still pursued the war against Mahomed 
Shah Soor of Bengal, who, avoiding him by 
crossing the hills near Rohtas, entered the country 
of Bundelcund, whither being pursued by Hemoo, 
the two armies came to action at the village of 
Chupurg'hutta, thirty miles from Kalpy, and 
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Mahomed Shah Soor of Bengal was slain. 
Mahomed Shah Adily, after this victory, instead 
of proceeding to Agra, returned to Chunar, to 
assemble more troops in order to carry on the war 
against Hoomayoon; but he was soon after in­
formed of that monarch's death, ·which induced 
him to detach Hemoo, with fifty thousand horse 
and five hundred elephants towards Agra, not dar­
ing to leave Chunar himself, on account of the 
factions which prevailed among his countrymen 
the Afghans. 

Hemoo, arriving before Agra, the Mogul 
nobles who were there, conceiving themselves too 
weak to oppose him, retreated to Dehly, whither 
he pursued them. Tardy Beg Khan, governor of 
Dehly, gave him battle, but was defeated, and 
lled to the Punjab, leaving Hemoo in possession 
both of Agra and of Dehly. Hemoo now pre­
pared to proceed to Lahore; but Beiram Khan 
Toorkoman, who had been left by the will of 
Hoomayoon guardian of his son Akbur, detached 
Khan Zuman Khan towards Dehly, himself 
following with the young King. Hemoo met the 
Moguls on the plains of Paniput, and charging 
them with the utmost valour, threw them into 
confusion; but the Afghans, as usual, abandoning 
themselves to plunder, were in their turn attacked 
by the Moguls, and totally defea_ted. Hemoo, 
their general, was taken prisoner, and being 
carried before Akbur, suffered death. 

After the death of this chieftain, the fortunes of 
Mahomed Shah Adily declined daily. Khizr 
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Khan, the son of Mahomed Shah Poorby of 
Bengal, in order to revenge the death of his father, 
slain in the battle of Kalpy, raised an army, and, 
assuming the title of Bahadur Shah, wrested by 
force a great part of the eastern provinces out 
of the hands of Mahomed Shah Adily, whom he 
eventually defeated and slew. 



SIKUNDUR SHAH SOOR. 

Requires the Afghans to elect a king-they create him 
their sovereign-lie marclzes to oppose Hoomayoon, now on 
his 1vay to lndia.-Sikundur Shale defeated by Beiram 
Khan Toorkoman, and retires to Bengal, wlzere he estab­
lislzes lzis power. 

S1KUN'DUR SooR, after having ascended the 
throne at Agra, in the year 962, made a 

A. 
11

• 962• magnificent festival, and calling 
A. D. 1554. 111 . h' f k together a 11s c 1e s, spo e to them to 
this effect: " I esteem myself as one of you: having 
"thus far acted for the common weal, I claim no 
"superiority. Ilheilole raised the tribe of Lody to 
"glory and reputation; Sheer Shah rendered the 
"tribe of Soor illustrious; and now Hoomayoon, 
"the Mogul, heir to his father's conquests, is 
"watching an opportunity to destroy us all, and 
" to re-establish his government. If, therefore, 
"you are sincere, and will set aside private 
"faction and animosities, we may still retain our 
"kingdom; but if you think me incapable of rule, 
"let an abler head and a stronger arm be elected 
"from among you, that I also may swear allegiance 
"to him: I promise most faithfully to support him, 
"and will endeavour to maintain the kingdom in 
"the hands of the Afghans, who have retained it 
" by their valour for so many years." The Afghan 
chiefs, after this appeal, answered with one accord, 
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"-,ve unanimously ackn~n-vleclgc you, the nephew 
"of our Emperor Sheer Shah, our lawful 

. sovereign." Calling then for a koran, ·an sworn 
both to obse:>rve allegiance to Sikundur, and to 
maintain unanimity among themselves. Jn a few 
days, howeYer, the chiefs began to dispute about 
governments, honours, and places, and the flames 
of discord were rekindled, and blazed fiercer than 
ever, so that every one reproached his nrighbour 
with thP p0rfidy of which each was equally 
guilty. l'vfranwhile 1-Ioomayoon ha\·ing marched 
from Kabul towards the Indus, Tartar Khan, 
who commanded in Punjab, lled from the new 
fort of Rohtas to Dehly, and the Moguls occupied 
without opposition all the country as far as 
Lahore. Sikundur Shah, on recei\·ing these 
addces, detached forty thousand horse, under 
Tartar Khan and Heibut Khan, to oppose the 
Moguls; but this army being defe:1te<l, not only 
lost all its elephants and baggage, but the 
fugiti\·es ne,·er drew rein till they arrived at 
Dehly. Sikundur Shah, though sensible of the 
disaITection and factious disposition of his chiefs, 
marched with eight thousand horse towards 
Punjab, and on engaging Beiram Khan, the tutor 
of the Prince Akbur, near Surhincl, was defeated 
and fled to the Sewalik mountains, from whence 
he was expelled and sought refuge in Bengal, where 
he assumed the reins of government, and shortly 
after died. He was succeeded by Taj Khan Kir­
rany, and the remainder of his history is detailed 
in that o_f the dynasty of the Ponrby Kings. 

VOL. 11.-20 
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HOOMAYOON PADSHAH. 

(HIS SECOND REIGN.) 

Hoomayoon is fin•ourahl_v received al the court o_f 
Per.ria-is supplied with an army to 1·eco11cr /,is dominions 
-takes Khorasan.-Overtures for a reconciliation with 
Kamran at Kabul rejected.-Kandahar defended by Askur­
ry, but is take11.-Askurry is pardo11ed.-Kanda/1ar made 
01•er to Beiram Khan Toorko111a11.-Hoomayoo11 is joined 
by his brother I-Jindal, 1111d h;• his cousin Ynt~J[m' Afirt:a 
-besierres Kahul.--Kamrnn evacuates Kabul, and -flies. ... . 
-Yadgar Mirza suffers death.-Hoomayoon proceeds to 
take Buduklzshan.-Kabul reoccupied hy Kamran-re­
taken by Hoomayoo11.-Ka1m·an takes tl1e field, and 
is defeated hy Hoomayoo11.-T/1e brothers are reconciled. 
-Hoomayoon is expelled from Butlukhshan and J)u/k/1 
bv the Oo:;buks.-Kamran and Askun-y fO into rrbd­
lion-they are defeated.-Kmm·an flies to India-is 
seized by tile Gukk111·s in Punjab, and delivered O'i!Cr 

to Hoomayoon-is tlcprii•ed ~f .rigid, and 1·etires to 
Mecca.-Hoomayoon im•ades India-his ge11e1·al, Beiram 
Klzan Toorkoman, defeats Sikundu1· Shah Soo1·, and 
adz,a11ces to Delzly.-A second battle, iu w/1icl1 Siku11dur 
Sha/1 is defeated, and flies to BenKnl.-Hoo111a;10011 iu 
full possession ~f the kingdom of Delzl;•-fnl/s from thr 
ten·ace of his palace, and is killed. 

VvE ha\·e already seen that Hoomayoon, having 
arrived at Kuzween in Persia, deputed Ameer 
B~iram Khan to the Persian court at Ispahan. 
That chieftain, accordingly, having waited on Shah 
Tamasp at the palace of Nilak, between the cities 
of Abhur and Sooltania, received an answer 
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judicating the King's wish to have an intervie,:i.· 
with Hoomayoon. The royal fugitiYe accepted the 
Jumad-ool- invitation with joy, and in the month 

Awul, of Jumad-ool-Awul, in the year 951, he 
A,11- 951. was honourably received by Shah Ta­

A,D. 15-1-4• masp, the son of Shah Ismael Sufvy, 
and was entertained with becoming dignity. 

Shah Tamasp one day in conversation asked 
Hoomayoon by what means his weak enemy 
became so powerful? Hoomayoon replied, "By 
'' the enmity of my brothers." The Persian 
monarch then told him, "Your manner of treating 
"brothers is not such a~ they ought to experience.'' 
This con\'ersation occurred one clay while the 
Kings were at dinner, and as soon as they had 
finished, the Prince Beiram l\Iirza, brother to Shah 
Tamasp, approached the latter with a basin and 
ewer for him to wash his hands. This ceremony 
being over, he turned to Hoomayoun, and resum­
ing the discourse said, '' This is the way you 
"ought to haYe treated your brothers.'' Hooma­
yoon, out of compliment to the King, immediately 
assented, which so much offended the Prince 
Beiram Mirza, that he never forgave him while he 
resided at court: on the contrary, he took every 
opportunity to calumniate Hoomayoou, and fre­
quently hinted that it was by no means the interest 
of Persia that a prince of the house of Teimoor 
should sit on the Indian throne. This opinion 
13eiram Mirza inculca te<l in to all who had the 
.\. 11• 95 ::i. King's ear, and it is believed by this 
A. u. 15+5. means the prospects of Hoomayoon were 
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so much injured, that he was at one time apprehen­
sive of his life or of suffering imprisonment. 

Meanwhile Sooltana Begum, the King's sister, 
and Kazy Jehan Kuz,·eem·, as also Noor-ood-Deen 
Hukeem; one of the King·s privy counsellors, 
taking compassion 011 Hoomayoon's situation, 
united to effect a reconciliation, and to reinstate 
him in the favour of Shah Tamasp. The wit uf 
the Sooltana was exerted on this occasion, who 
having presented the King with a copy of Yerses of 
her own composing, introduced the name of Hoo­
mayoon, and extolled his de,·otion to Ally. Shall 
Tamasp, who was a zealous Sheea, a sect which 
differs from the Sounnics, in whose tenets Hoo­
mayoon had been brought up, conceiving hopes 
of con\"erting his guest, told his sister at the time, 
that if I-Ioomayoon could be brought to embrace 
and to enforce the Sheea doctrines in India, he 
would assist him tu recover his empire. Th<' 
Sooltana having acquainted Hoomayuon with 
these particulars, he assented, observing, "That 
"he had always privately becu well disposed lo the 
"Sheeas, out of which had partly originated the 
'' animosity of bis brothers ... 

Shah Tamasp, soon after, in a private coufcr­
cncc with Amcer Beiram Klian Toorkomau, en­
quired particularly as to the political condition of 
Hiucloostan, and promised that his son Mourad 
Mirza (then an infant), with his general Boodagh 
Khan Kajar, should accompany Hoornayoon with 
ten thousand horse to attack and expel his brothers 
out of Kabul, Kandahar, and Budukhsliau. Orders 
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ha,·iug been given for the requisite preparations, 
Hoomayoon took leave of Shah Tamasp. In the 
meanwhile, Hoomayoon requested to be allowed 
to make a tour through Tubreez and Arclbeel, to 
,·isit the tomb of Sheikh Suffy previously to 
proceeding on his expedition. To this the King 
assented, and g::l\"e orders to all governors through 
whose territories Hoomayoon passed to supply 
him with all necessaries, and to treat him in a 
manner becoming his rank. Hoomayoon, having 
performed this journey, joined the young Prince 
l\loorad Mirza, with whom he proceeded towards 
Kandahar. Hm·ing, in the first instance, reducc<l 
the fort of Gurmseer/1 he caused the khootba to 
be read in his own name. Askurry l\Iirza, who 
governed the proYincc for the Prince Kamran 
Mirza, 011 hearing of the approach of Hoomayoon, 
sent the young Prince Akbur to his uncle at 
Kabul, and prepared the fort of Kandahar to 
stand a siege. 

I\ Hoomayoo11 inn:~ted Kandahar on fohurrum 7. • 
A. 11. 95~. the 7t11 of Mohurrum, in the year 

!\larch :i1. 952. The siege lasted for six 
,\. v. 1545· months, wlien he deputed Deiram 

Khan Tourkoman to wait on Kannan Mirza, 
then at Kabul. The Ilazaras attacked Deirnm 
Khan 011 the road; lmt they were defeated, and 
that chief obtaining an audieucc of Kamrau, de­
manded the cession of Kandahar and its dependen­
cies, at the same time requiring an uuqualiliec.l 

* l\Iy acquaiutaJJL"C with tl1c geography of l'cr::.ia does 11ot 
cuahle me tu say whether we should read A fort of //,e s11111111c1· 
climate, or the fort of liunmccr, properly so c.11lc<l. Ti-aus• 
fotoY, 
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resignation of all the provinces which he had 
usurped. Kamran refused to acknowledge the 
!-iuprenmcy of Hoomayoon, and his messenger re­
turned without effecting his object. 

The Persian troops with Hoomayoon 110w 

began to e,·ince great impatience at the length of 
the siege of Kandahar, and to show discontent at 
being commanded by Moguh. These circumstances 
might have injured Hoomayoon seriously, had he 
not been joined at this time by several of his old 
oflicers, such as l\fahomed Sooltan :.\Iirza, Aluglt 
~Iirza, Kasim Hoossein Sooltan, i\Iirza Meeruk, 
Sheer .:\fkun Beg, Fuzeel Beg, and others, wltu, 
having quarrelled with Kamran \\'lirza, left hi~ 
sen·ice. This opportune assistance did nut (·ome 
alone, for a part of the garrison of Kandahar at 
the same time also deserted, and joined him. 
These circumstances rc\'i,,ecl the spirits of 
I·foomayoou·s army in proportion as they depressed 
those of the besieged, so that .:\skurry Mirza 
proposed to capitulalc. I-lonourabk terms were 
granted, ll1e place surrendered, and Askurry 
:\Iirza re<'cived pardon for liis former defection. 

The fort of Kandahar, according to lilipulatio11, 
was delivered over lo the infant Persian prince 
:\foorad :\Iirza, who, as llw winter had set in, 
togdher ,Yilh his generals, Boodagh Khan l\fshar, 
.:-\.bool Futteh Sooltan .\.fshar, Soof y ,vully, and 
~\.lunud Sooltan Shamloo, took up their quarters 
in the fort, but ref used admittance to the l\fogLtl 
troops. This conduct created so much jealousy, 
that se,·eral of Hoomayoon \; officers deserted 
him, and went to Kabul: among others, .was 
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. t\skurry Mirza, who, being suspected of dis­
affection, was pursued and brought back pri­
soner. 

Hoomayoon, fmding a state of inaction unpro­
pitious to his affairs, marrhed towards Kabul; but 
hearing on the road of the death of the Persian 
prince Moorad Mirza at Kandahar, he returned, 
in order to obtain possession of the fort, as a 
place of security till he should make further con­
ci. uest. The Persian genera]s refused to cede it, 
but Hoomayoon r<'soln~d if possible~ to sc~curr. it, 
and urged neirnm Khan Toorkornan, Alugh Mir­
za, and Hajy Mahomed to contrive some project 
for effecting- this object. Hajy Mahomed Khan, 
and a few enterprising men, disguised like carnrl­
drivers, having gained admission into the fort 
among some camels which were supplying it 
with pro,·isions, fell upon t.he guards at the 
gates, and overpowered thPm, while Beiram Khan 
and Alugh Mirza rushing in at the same t.ime, 
wit.ha chosen body of horse, secured the fort. 
The Persian general, whose life was spared, rr• 
turned by J--Ioornayoon's permission to Persia, and 
Ileiram Khan was appointed to the gow~rnment of 
Kandahar. 

Hoomayoon instantly marched to Kabul, where 
he was joined by his brother Hindal Mirza, and by 
his cousin Yadgar, the son of Nasir Mirza, brother 
of Babur, ·who having fled from Shah Hoossein 
Arghoon in Sind, now arrived at Kabul. Hoo­
mayoon encamped in the em·irons of the city, 
in sight of the army of his brother Kanuan 
Mirza, and was every clay joined by some 
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deserters from him: among others was Kaplan Ileg, 
one of Kamran Mirza's principal generals, who 
coming oyer with his adherents, so much weak­
ened the power of his master, that Kamran was 
compelled to retire within tlw town, which hr 
shortly after e\·acuated without fighting, and fled 
to Ghizny. The King sent the prince Hindnl 

Mirza in pursuit, and on the rotl1 of numzan 10, 

A. 11. 952. Rumzan, 952, entered Kabul, wherr. 
October 2f1, he found bis son Akbur, then four 
A. n. 1545· years old, with his mother, the Degum. 

Taking up his boy in his arms, he exclaimrd, 
"Joseph by his envious brethren was cast into a 
"well; but he was eventual1y exalted by PrO\·i­
" dence, as thou shalt be, to the summit of 
"glory." 

Kamran Mirza found the gates of Ghizny shut 
ngainst him, and was compelled to seek refuge at 
Zemeen Dawur, among the Hazaras; but being ill 
received, he went to Rhukkur, to Shah Hoossein 
Arghoon, who l·onferrecl on him his daughter in 

· marriage, and prepared to support his cause. Hoo­
mayoon meanwhile left his son Akbur in Kabul, 
under the charge of Mahomecl Ally Toghay, and 

A. 11, 953. marched in person, in the year 953, 
A. D. 1546. to reduce Budukhshan; while Yadgar 

Nasir Mirza, being convicted of an 
attempt to stir up a sedition in the army, sulTcrcd 
death. 

Hoomayoon, having passed the Hindoo Koosh, 
and encamped at Teergiran, was opposed by Sooli­
man Mirza with the forces of Rudukhslian, who 
was clefe.ated in the very first charge. The King 
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marched from thence to Talikhan, where, having 
fallen sick, factions broke out in his army ; but 
on his recovering at the end of two months, they 
soon subsided. 

Kamran Mirza, having heard of Hoomayoon's 
attack on Budukhshan, made an excursion to 
Ghorebund, and falling in with a caravan of mer­
chants on the road, robbed them of their camels, 
horses, and goods; after which, coming to Ghizny, 
he raised a party in his favour in that city, and cut 
off the governor, Zahid Beg. From Ghizny he 
proceeded by rapid marches to Kabul, where 
having arrived as the guards were opening the 
gates in the morning, he took the place by surprise. 
Mahomed Ally Toghay, the governor, was killed 
as he stood in his bath; and Fuzeel Beg and 
Mutroo, the Prince Akbur's foster brothers, were 
depriv~cl of sight. Hissam-ood-Deen Ally, the 
son of Meer Khuleefa, was put to death, and the 
Prince Akbur cleliYered o\·er to the charge of some 
eunuchs. 

Intelligenr.e of these transactions reaching Hoo­
mayoon, he intrusted the government of Bu­
dukhshan to Sooliman Mirza, and that of Koon­
dooz to his brother Hindal. Mirza: himself re­
turning to Kabul, where having first defeated the 
advanced guard of Kamran Mirza, which opposed 
him at Ghorebund, he fell in subsequently with 
Sheer Afkun Beg and the main body, encamped at 
some distance in the rear. This army was also 
overthrown, and Sheer Afkun Beg fell in the ac­
tion. Hoomayoon now proceeded to Kabul, and 
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having sat down before that city, daily skirmishes 
ensued with the enemy. Kamran Mirza, hearing of 
a caravan passing, in which was a number of fine 
horses, he detached Sheer Ally Beg with a strong 
party to seize and bring it into the city. Hooma­
yoon gained intelligence of this design, and march­
ed round the walls, to c:ut off Sheer Ally Ileg's re­
treat, who was attacked and defeated with great 
loss. In this state of affairs, the Prince Sooliman 
Mirza from Budukhshan, Alugh Mirza, and Kasim 
Hoossein Sooltan, with several officers detached by 
Deiram Khan, the goYernor of Kandahar, as rein­
forcements, joined Hoomayoon, while Kurrachar 
Khan and Ooloos Beg, having deserted from the 
city, joined his army. Kamran Mirza, exasperated 
at the defection of these two officers, murdered the 
three sons of Ooloos Deg, and· threw their mangled 
bodies over the walls; he al~o bound Kurrachar 
Khan's only son to a stake, and exposed him on thr 
battlements. Hoomayoon gave his brothers to 
understand that if they put Kurrachar Khan's son 
to death, they should both suffer the same fate if 
taken. Kamran was in consequence deterred from 
his intended cruelty, and on that very night he e,·a­
cuated the place, and fled towards the hills, leaving­
Hoomayoon a second time at liberty to take quiet 
possession of Kabul. On his retreat, Kamran Mirza 
was plundered and stripped of his very dothes by 
the Hazaras; but when they knew him, they con­
ducted him in safety to Ghorebund. Not conceiv­
ing himself safe among them, he hastened to Bulkh, 
where Peer Mahomed Khan, governor of that city, 
rendered him assistance in subduing Budukhshan, 
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on which occasion they expelled the troops of 
Sooliman Mirza and his son Ibrahim. 

Kurrachar Khan, Ooolos Beg, and some other 
officers, being about this time offended with 
Khwaja Ghazy, Hoomayoon's vizier, insisted on 
his being disgraced, and on Kasim Hoossein Sool­
tan being appointed to his office. Hoomayoon, 
satisfied with th~ conduct of his minister, refused 
to accede to this demand, which induced them to 
desert Hoomayoon and to join Askurry Mirza, 
who had united with Kamran at Budukhshan. 
The King went in pursuit of the renegades; but 
being unable to overtake them, he returned to 
Kabul, and recalled Ibrahim Mirza and Hindal 
Mirza to court. On his way to join Hoomayoon, 
Ibrahim Mirza falling in by accident with Kumur 
Ally Sufvy, one of the renegade chiefs, cut him off, 
and brought his head to the King; and Hindal 
Mirza meeting with Sheer Ally, another of the 
same party, made him prisoner. 

Meanwhile Kamran Mirza left Kurrachar Khan 
iu Kooshoom, and went in person io Talikhan. 
Hoomayoon hearing of this arrangement, detached 
Hindal Mirza and Hajy Mahomed Kolm, with a 
considerable force, to expel Kurrachar Khan ; but 
he obtained intelligence of their approach, and 
acquainted Kamran Mirza in time to defeat their 
purpose ; for by making rapid marches to Koo­
shoom, Kanuan intercepted Hindal in the act of 
crossing the river at Talikhan. Hindal's troops 
being separated, he was defeated, and a great part 
of his diYision destroyed, with the loss of all his 
baggage. 
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Hoomayoon, however, having in a few days 
advanced with his army from Kabul to support 
Hinclal, Kamran fell back on Talikhan in such 
disorder as to be obliged to abandon all his booty 
and baggage ; and on the following dny found 
himself closely invested in Talikhan. Thus re­
duced to extremities, and despairing of aid from 
the Oozbuks, to whom he had applied, Kamran 
lVIirza requested his brother's permission to retire 
from public life, and go on pilgrimage to :Mecca. 
Hoomayoon consented; hut both Kamran Mirza 
and Askurry Mirza proceeded only about ten para­
sangs on their way, when finding that Hoomayoon 
did not send troops to seize them, they repented 
of their resolution, and, trusting to his generosity, 
returned to their brother's camp, and threw them­
selves on his clemency. The King, on hearing of 
their approach, sent persons to meet them, and, on 
their arri\·al, treated them with e\·ery respect; 
after which they returned together to Kabul. In 

the year 956, Peer Mahomed Khan, the 
A, n, 956• ruler of the Oozbuks, having made some 
A. D. 1549. . . . H , . . 

mcurs1ons mto oomayoon s domm1ons 
the latter marched towards Bulkh to oppose them. 
On this occasion both Kamran Mirza and Askurry 
Mirza, who accompanied him, began to excite dis­
affection amongst his troops ; but Hoomayoon took 
no effectual steps to prevent their designs. .:\rriv­
ing in the environs of Bulkh, Shah Mahomed 
Sooltan Oozbuk opposed Hoomayoon with three 
thousand horse, and checked his progress. On the 
second day the Oozbuks, being joined by Peer 
Mahomed Khan, Abdool Azeez Khan, the son of 
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Abdoolla Khan Oozbuk, and the Princes of 
Khoozar, mustered thirty thousand horse, with 
which they gave battle to Hoomayoon. .Sooliman 
Mirza, Rindal Mirza, and Hajy Mahomed Kolm 
opposed and defeated the advanced parties of the 
Oozbuks, and even pressed Peer Mahomed Khan 
so severely, that he was compelled to retreat 
within the walls of Bulkh. 

The King, desirous of following up the blow, 
\vished to lay close siege to the pla('e ; but on 
this occasion he suffered his own judgment to be 
over-ruled by some of his generals, who, being 
suspicious of Kamran Mirza, ad,·ised him to en­
camp at some distance from Bulkh, which, they 
concluded, must surrender in the course of a few 
days. This fatal ad,·ice was accordingly adopted, 
and there being no encamping ground near, the 
King was obliged to fall back to a considerable 
distance. The troops, unable to conceiye the cause 
of retreating, fancied there must be immediate 
danger: while the enemy, construing the 
retrograde movement into a real flight, sallied, and 
by this mistake led to the disaster which followed. 
The Oozbuks fell on the divisions of Sooliman 
l\1irza and Hoossein Koolly Sooltan, who com­
manded the rear-guard, and forced them to retire 
on the main body, where the King commanded 
in person. Hoomayoon bravely opposed them 
hand to hand, and coming in contact with the Ooz 4 

buk officer who led the attack, dismounted him. 
He was gallantly supported by his brother, Hin­
dal Miza, Tardy Beg Khan, and Tooluk Khan 
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Kocheen; but finding themselves deserted by the 
tr?ops, they were reluctantly compelled to save 
themselves by flight. 

After this unfortunate affair Hoomayoon re­
treated to Kabul, on the road to which place he was 
deserted by Kamran Mirza, who had taken no part 
in the action. Hoomayoon, justly resenting the 
conduct of his brother, wrote to Ally Sheer Khan, 
one of Kamran's officers, making him great 
promises to seize his master, and send him prisoner 
to court; at the same time, he detached Sooliman 
l\Iirza and Hindal Mirza in pursuit. Kamran laid 
aside his state, and intended to escape by the route 
of Zohak and Bamyan, through the desert of the 
Hazaras towards Sind; but Kurrachar Khan and 
Hoossein Koolly Sooltan, who remained in Hoo­
mayoon ·scamp, wrote to him privately, and ac­
quainted him with all that passed at the King's 
court. .\s the greatest part of Hoomayoon's troops 
were detached from his person, these officers advised 
Kamran to attack Hoomayoon, promising to join 
him in the action. Karn ran, availing himself of these 
overtures, returned by the Kupchak pass to Kabul, 
where he was opposed by Hoomayoon. Kurrachar 
Khan and his adherents went over to Kamran 
1\Iirza in the commencement of the action, accord­
ing to their promise, and attacked the division in 
which Hoomayoon commanded, who with a few 
faithful retainers fought with desperation. Peer 
Mohamed Akta and Ahmud, the son of Hoossein 
Koolly Sooltan, were killed by the side of the King, 
who himself received a sabre wound in the head. 
At this time, too, his horse failing him, he was 
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forced to quit the field, and fled to Bamyan, from 
whence he proceeded to Budukhshan. Kamran 
Mirza thus obtained possession of Kabul tl~e 
third time. 

Hoornayoon was now in great distress for money 
to pay the few troops who adhered to him, and was 
obliged to borrow the horses, camels, and mer­
chandise of some great caravans, with which he 
mounted his cavalry, and paici his troops. He also 
sent privately Shah Bodagh Khan, Tooluk Khan 
Korheen, Mujnoon Khan, and others, to the num­
ber o[ ten persons, to support his interest at Ka­
bul, and to send him intelligence of what passed in 
that city. Of all these persons, Tooluk Khan 
alone remained true to him. Meanwhile, Sooliman 
Mirza, Ibrahim Mirza, and Rindal Mirza, wbo 
had gone in pursuit of Kamran, returned with 
their troops to join the King, who in about forty 
days found himself in a condition to make an 
attempt again to recover his kingdom ; for which 
purpose he marched towards Kabul. Kamran Mirza 
opposed him on the banks of the Punjur river;· 
but being defeated with great slaughter, he shaved 
his head and heard, and escaped in the disguise 
of a mendicant to the mountains of Lumghan. 
Askurry Mirza was taken prisoner, and Kurradrn r 
Khan fell in the battle. This victory once more 
enabled Hoomayoon to enter Kabul in triumph. 
Here he devoted himslf to pleasure for one whole 
year, when he was roused by intelligence that 
Kamran Mirza was again in his vicinity, at the head 
of fifteen hundred horse, while some of his officers, 
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leaving him, went to Ghizny. Hoomayoon now 
marched against Kamran, who fied to the lndus ; 
and the former returned without effecting any 
other object. Kamran, hearing of his brother's 
retreat, returned among the Meimundy Afghans, 
where he was shortly afterwards joined by parties 
of Khuleelzies and Dawoodzies from Lumghan. 
Hoomayoon again took the field; and wrote to 
Beiram Khan Toorkoman, who still held the go­
vernment of Kandahar, to march and seize those 
officers who had retired to Ghizny; for it appears 
they had invited Kamran Mirza to join them, for 

which purpose he was now marching by 
A. n. 95S. the route of Pishawur, Bungush, and 
A, D, 1551. . K Goordaz. Be1ram han, howen~r, 
having reached Ghizny before Kamran, conciliated 
the chiefs, and brought them to Kabul ; and 
Kamran being disappointed of his expected 
succours, retired to Pishawur, while Hoomayoon 
proceeded to Kabul. Before his arri,·al, Hajy 
Mahomed Kolm, one of the disaffected chiefs, 
found means to escape to Ghizny, from whence 
he was persuaded to return. 

At this time Askurry Mirza preferred a petition 
to the King, soliciting his release from prison, 
and permission to perform a pilgrimage to Mecca. 
He was sent for the present, by way of greate.r 
security, to Sooliman Mirza, governor of 
Budukhshan; but his request was subsequently 
acceded to, and he died in the year 961 (A. D. 1554), 
on his way across the deserts of Arabia. He left 
one daughter, who was afterwards married to 
Yoossoof Khan, an inhabitant of Mushed. 
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Karnran Mirza continued to raise troops among 
the Afghans, and maintained a private corre­
spondence with Hajy Mahomed Koka at Ghizny. 
This correspondence being detected, the Hajy suf­
fered death. Hoomayoon again marched against 
Kanuan Mirza; but was 5urprisecl in his camp near 
Zeekaad 21. Khybur, in a night attack, on the 21st 

.-\.. 11. 958. of Zeekaad 958, on which occasion 
Nov. 19· Rindal Mirza lost his life. Kamran 

.... n. i551. gained little advantage by this ac-
cident; for being subsequently defeated, he was 
obliged to seek shelter among the Afghans. After 
this success, Hoomayoon returned to Kabul, and 
out of affection to the memory of Hindal Mirza, 
who had expiated his former disobedience by his 
blood, he ga,·e the daughter of that Prince, Ruzeea 
Sooltana, to his son Akbur in marriage. He con­
ferred on them at the same time all the wealth 
of H indal, and appointed ~\.kbur to the command 
of his uncle's troops, and to the government of 
Ghizny. 

A few months after these events, the Afghans 
again rose in favour of Kamran Mirza; but Hoo­
mayoon invaded their country, and laid it waste 
with fire and sword, till they abandoned Kamran's 
cause, and expelled him from their country. 

Kamran, now Hying to Hindoostan, was induc­
ed to solicit an asylum ·with Sulim Shah Soar; but 
meeting with a cold reception there, he departed 
·from the court of Dehly, and sought protection 
from the Raja of Nagmkote: being expelled thence 
also, he joined Sooltan Adam Gukkur in· the 
Punjab. 
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At this period, one Mirza Heidur Doghlat 
reigned in Kashmeer, who requested the assistance 
of Hoomayoon in quelling some disturbances in his 
kingdom. Hoomayoon, accordingly, marching to­
wards India, crossed the Inclus. On this occasion, 
Sooltan Adam Gukkur, apprehensi\·e of Hooma­
yoon's resentment in case he afforded protection to 
Kamran, seized that Prince, and acquainted Hoo­
mayoon he was ready to deliver him into his hands. 
Moonyim Khan was deputed to Sooltan· Adam for 
the purpose of receiving him, and Kamran was 
accordingly brought to the royal presence. 

The Mogul chiefs were all of opinion that he 
should suffer death, in order to prevent further dis­
turbances in the goyernment; but Hoomayoon, 
unwilling to stain his hands in his brother's blood, 
was content to deprive him of sight. Some days 
after the sentence \Vas carried into effect, Hoo-

mayoon went to see him. Kamran im­
A. H, 959, mediately arose, and walking some steps 
A. D. 1552. 

forward to meet him, said, "The glory 
"of the King will not be diminished by visiting 
"the unfortunate." Hoomayoon burst into tears, 
and wept bitterly. Karman Mirza eventually 
obtained permission to proceed to Mecca, by the 
way of Sind, and having resided there three 
years, died a natural death in the year 96+. 
( A. D. 1556 ). He left three daughters and 
one son, Abool Kasim Mirza, who, some time 
after his father's decease, was put to death by 
order of Akbur, in the fort of Gualiar. 

Hoomayoon, being now free from the restless 
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spirit of Kamran Mirza, began to extend his domi­
nions, and turned his thoughts towards Kashmeer. 
Sulim Shah Shoor, the King of Dehly, hea~ing of 
this, advanced to the Indus ; and Hoomayoon's 
officers represented to him, that, if- he should enter 
Kashmeer, there being but one pass by which he 
could retreat, Sulim Shah might cut him off. 
Hoomayoon, deaf to their representations,persisted 
in his resolution; but a mutiny arose in his army, 
and the• greater part of his officers refused to 
proceed, while others actually returned to Kabul. 
Hoomayoon was consequently compelled to give 
up his purpose, and recrossed the Indus. On his 
retreat, be caused the fort of Bikram to be built, 
wherein he le[ t a garrison under Sikunclur Khan 
Oozbuk. · 

The King, hadng arrived in Kabul, sent his son 
Akbur to his government of Ghizny, under the 
charge of J ulal-ood-Deen Mahomed, Vizier. In 

the year 961, the King had another son 
A. 

11
• 

961 • born to him at Kabul, whom he named 
A. D. 1553. 

Mahomed Hukeem Mirza, an account 
of whom will appear in the reign of Akbur. 

In the course of this year, Hoomayoon became 
jealous of Beiram Khan, mving to the calumny of 
some of his courtiers. They stated that he was 
carrying on intrigues with the Persian government, 
and the King thought it necessary to march to 
Kandahar. Beiram Khan, conscious of his inno­
cence, came out when he heard of his approach, 
with five or six attendants only, to congratulate 
Hoomayoon on his arrival, and to lay his offerings 
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at his feet; and the latter, perceiving how he 
had been deceived, satisfied Beiram Khan for the 
reason of his coming, and spent two months with 
him. During this time, the enemies of Beiram 
Khan were disgraced, and himself loaded with 
fa,·ours. Beiram Khan, howeyer, apprehensive 
that insinuations like those which had lately been 
thrown out, if repeated, might at last operate on 
his master's mind, earnestly entreated that the 
government might be bestowed on some other 
chief, and that he might be employed at court. 
Hoomayoon refused his consent, rnnceiving such 
a measure might injure Beiram Khan's reputation, 
and when they parted, the charge of the gm·ern­
ment of the district ,of Zumeen Dawur was made 
over to him, into which he removed two of his own 
de pen dents. 

It was at this time that letters ,vere received 
from some of the inhabitants of Dehly and Agra, 
acquaintirig Hoomayoon of the death of Sulim 
Shah Soar. They also stated that the ~\f ghan 
tribes being engaged in a civil war, a favourable 
opportunity presented itself for Hoomayoon to re­
turn and take possession of his Kingdom. Being in 
no condition to raise a sufficient army for the enter­
prise, Hoomayoon paid little attention to the in­
vitation, and became extremely melancholy. Be­
ing one day on a hunting party, he told some of 
his nobles, that he was very uneasy in his mind 
regarding Hindoostan. One of those who were 
in favour of the enterprise, observed, that there was 
an old method of divination, by sending a person 
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before, and asking the names of the three first 
persons he met, from which a conclusion good or 
bad might be drawn. The King, being naturally 
superstitious, humoured the fancy, and sent three 
horsemen in front, who were to come back and 
acquaint him of the answers they received. The 
first horseman who returned, said that he had met 
with a traveller whose name was DoviTlut. * The 
next said that he met a man who called himself 
Moorad.t And the third, that he met with a 
villager whose name was Saadut.t 

The King evinced great joy upon this occasion, 
and though he could only collect .fifteen tl1ousand 
horse, determined to undertake the expedition 
into India. Having left !.\Ioonyim Khan in dmrge 
of the go,·ernment of Kabul, and making oyer his 
youngest son, i\fahomed H ukeem Mirza, to his 

Suffur, hands, Hoomayoon, in the month of 
A. 11. 962. Suffur, 962, comnwnced his march from 
December, his capital. He was overtaken at Pish­
A. n. 155+ awur by Beiram Khan, with a. body of 
Yeterans from Kandahar, and on the day he crossed 
the Indus he appointed Beiram Khan his general 
in chief, and ordered him to lead the adYance, ac­
companied by Khizr Khan, Tardy Deg Khan, 
Sikundur Khan Oozbuk, and . .'\lly Koolly Khan 
Sheebany. 

On the approach of the Mogul army, Tartar 
Klian, the Afghan governor of Punjab, command­
ing the new fort of Rohtas, having evacuated 

*Empire. t The object of desire. 

l Good fortune. 
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it, was closely pursued to Lahore, which the 
Afghans also vacating, Hoomayoon entered it 
without opposition. From Lahore he despatched 
Beiram Khan to Surhind, who occupied all the 
country up to that point. Hoomayoon having re­
ceived intelligence that a body of Afghans, com­
manded by Shahbaz Khan and Nuseer Khan, 
were assembled at Depalpoor, ordered Shah Abool 
Maaly ( a Syud, and an inhabitant of Toormooz, 
whom he used to honour with the appellation of 
son,) withastrong det.achmentagainst them. Shah 
Abool Maaly overthrew the enemy, and returned 
with much booty to Lahore. 

Sikundur Shah Soar in the mean time had or­
dered Tartar Khan and Hubeeb Khan, with an 
army of thirty or forty thousand horse, from Dehly 
against Hoomayoon. Notwithstanding the great 
superiority in number of this force, Beiram Khan 
Toorkoman resolved to hazard an action, and 
having advanced boldly to meet the Indian army, 
pitched his camp on the banks of the .. Sutlooj at 
the town of Machywara. It being cold weather, 
the Indian Afghans kindled great fires of wood 
in their camp at night, of which Ueiram Khan took 
advantage, and crossed the riYer with a thousand 
chosen horse. He now advanced to their camp 
without being discovered, when he began to gall 
those who crowded round the fires with arrows, 
which threw them into disorder. The Afghans 
( notorious for blundering),* instead of extinguish-

* The term flooch, awkward or blundering, is a common 
synonyrne for an Afghan in India. 
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ing their fires, which prevented them from seeing 
their enemies, who had a fair view of them, threw 
on more wood; and the whole of Beiram Khan's 
army having crossed the ri,·er, fell upon them on 
all sides, and routed them. The Afghans on this 
occasion lost all their elephants, their baggage, 
and a number of horses. Beiram Khan sent the 
elephants to Hoomayoon at Lahore, and 
remaining encamped at Machywarra, he dispersed 
detachments in all directions, and occupied all 
the country up to the walls of Dehly. The King 
was greatly rejoiced when he heard of this ,·ictory, 
and conferred on Beiram Khan the title of Khan 
Khanan.* 

\Vhen the news of Tartar Khan's defeat 
reached Sikundur Shah Soor, he exacted an oath 
of fidelity from his officers, and marched with 
eighty thousand horse, a large train of artillery, 
and a number of elephants, towards Punjab. 
Beiram Khan adYanced as far as the fort of 
Nowshera, and prepared it for a siege by laying 
in prov1s10ns. Sikundur Shah Soor encamped 
before the place, and Beiram Khan sent continual 
letters to Lahore, to hasten the march of Hoo­
mayoon, who soon after joined. Beirmn Khan 
in the interim made repeated sallies from the city, 
and greatly distressed the enemy in his camp. 

On the last day of Rujub, while the Prince 
Akbur was visiting the pickets of the camp, the 
Afghans drew up ,their forces and offered battle. 

* ~oble of nobles, which entitled him to rank next to the 

blood royal. 
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The challenge was nor refused, and the young 
Prince communicated the information with joy to 
his father. Hoomayoon gave the command of the 
right wing to Beiram Khan, and the left to 
Sikundur Khan Oozbuk, composed of the troops 
Rujub 29 of Abdoolla Khan Oozbuk, Shah Abool 
A. u. 96:i°:" i\faaly, Ally Koolly Khan, and Tardy 
June·-rs: Beg Khan; these troops were directed 

A. n. 1555- to begin the action. The left wing 
having charged according to the orders which it 
received, the enemv were broken, and never after 
recovered from their confusion. The buttle conti­
nued to rage for some time, during which Hoo­
mayoon and Beiram Khan displayed great good· 
conduct, while the Princr Akbur was distinguished 
by feats of personal courage. The Moguls, ani­
mated by the conduct of that young hero, seemed 
to forget that they \Vere mortal. The enemy 
was driven off the field with slaughter, and their 
King, Sikundur Shah Soor, fled to the mountains 
of Sewalik. 

This victory decided the fate of the empire; and 
the kingdom of Deh ly fell for ever from the hands of · 
the Afghans. On the followi.ug day Sikundur Khan 
Oozbuk and some other chiefs were detached to 
take possession of Dehly and Agra, which they oc­
cupied without opposition. Hoomayoon ~:on­
ferred the government of Punjab on Shah A.boo) 
Maaly, and ordered him to pursue the ~ugitives. 
Rumzan, In the month of Rumzan, Hoomayoon 
A. H. 962. re-entered Dehly in triumph, and 

July, became a second time King. of Hin-
A. n. 1555· doostan. Beiram Khan, to whose valour 
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and talent the King was•principally indebt"ed for 
his restoration, was rewarded with the first offices 
in the state, and had princely estate~ assigned to 
him. Tardy Beg Khan was appointed governor 
of Dehly ; Agra was assigned to Sikundur Khan 
Oozbuk; and Ally Koolly Khan was sent to 
Meerut and Sumbhul; to which province he 
departed with a considerable force. 

Shah Abool Maaly, on account of disputes 
with the generals of his army in Punjab, had gi,·en 
time to Sikundur Soar to rnlly his forces; and the 
King accordingly permitted his son Akbur, unqer 
the direction of Beiram Khan, to proceed against 
him. l\Iuch about this time a man of low birth, 
who became famous under the name of Kumbur-c­
Diwana, raised an insurrection in Sumbhul, and, 
Rubbee-ool- collecting a large force, plundered the 

Awul 5. provinces of the Dooab. He was, how-
A. 1-1. 963. e,·er, defeated and slain on the 5th of 
Jan. 19· Rubbee-ool-Awul, 963, by Ally Koolly 

A. n. 1556• Khan, and the revolt was totally sup­
pressed. 

Rubbee-ool- On the evening of the 7th of Rubbee­
Awul 5• ool-Awul, Hoomayoon, after walking 

A. H. 963. on the terrace of the library at Dehly 
Jan. sr. for some time, sat down to enjoy the 

A. n. 1556• fresh air; after which, while in the act 
of descending the steps to go below, the moazin 
or crier of the royal chapel announced the hour 
of prayer. The King, as is usual, stood still on 
the occasion, and having repeated the creed of 
Islam; sat down on the second step till the crier 
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had done. \Vhen about to rise, and endeavour­
ing to support himself on a staff he held in his 
hand, it slipped along the marble, and the King 
fell headlong over. He was taken up insensible, 
and laid upon his bed, and although he soon 
recoyered his speech, the physicians administered 
to him in yain; till, on the nth of the month, 
Rubbee-ool- about sunset, his soul took its Hight 

Awul 11 , to Paradise. He was buried in the 
A. 11. 963. new citv, on the banks of the riYer; 
Jan. 25. and a splendid monument was erected 

A. 0 • 
1556· over him some years after, by his son 

Akbur- Hoomayoon died at the age of fifty-one, 
after a reign of twenty-five years, both in Kabul 
and India. 

The mildness and benevolence of Hoomayoon's 
character were excrssi\·e, if there can be exce~s in 
such noble qualities. He was a prince of great 
intrepidity, and possessed the \·irtues of charity 
and munificence in a very high degree. He was 
skilled in the science of geography, and delightrd 
·in the society of learned men. He was regular in 
his de,·otions and ablutions, and never pronounced 
the name of God without haying performed the 
latter ceremony. It is said on one occasion, 
haying cause to send for one Meer Abd-ool-Hye, 
vl'110se name signifies" Slave of the Eternal," he 
called him on]y Abdool, "Slave of," leaving out 
the last word because he had not bathed that 
morning, and begged his pardon accordingly. 

Hoomayoon was of elegant stature, and of a 
bronze complexion. He professed the religion of 
Huneef, of the Soony persuasion. Kamran Mirza 
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and some other Choghtay nobles believed him 
to be of the Sheea persuasion, because he gave 
such encouragement to Kuzilbashies* and the 
inhabitants of Eerak to join his standard from 
his earliest years, so that many persons of emi­
nence in Khorassan, devoteest of the holy family, 
found favour with him. Among others, was 
Beiram Khan, Toorkoman, his most intimate and 
attached friend, who professed the religion of the 
Imams. After the King ascended the throne, 
he elen1ted many Kuzilbashies (Persians) to high 
stations. It is said that Kamran Mirza was fond 
of talking to him on the subject of religion; so 
that one day, while they were riding together 
on their retreat from Hindoostan towards Lahore, 
they obsen-ed a dog lift up his leg against a 
tombstone : Kamran remarked, " I conclude the 
'' man who is buried there is a Rafzy" (hetero­
dox). Hoomayoon replied, "Yes, no doubt; the 
"dog is an orthodox brute.'· They were much 
in the habit of joking on such subjects ; but the 
truth is, that on these occasions he merely wished 
to annoy Kamran, and to please Beiram Khan 
an<l those about him. There can be no doubt 
he was of the Hunefy persuasiou,+ as appears 

* Persians. 
t lJcvoted tu Ally, aud his twel,·e dest:endauts, who, assum­

ing the title of Imam in Khorassan, gave rise to the Sheea 
religion, which prevails in Persia. 

t We may with safety take Ferishta's word for his religion, 
as, being himself a Sheea, he would gladly have acknowledged 
Hoomayoon to be of the same persuasion, had he not ample 
reason for knowing the contrary, 
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from several of his poems, which, though scarce, 
are still extant.* 

* Heie follows an ode, of this monarch's composition, chiefly 
on the delights of opium and pleasing intoxication, which it 
has not been thought necessary to translate. 
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AKBUR PADSHAH. 

Akbur ascends the throne at the age of twelve years.­
Beiram Klzan, Toorkoman, rninister.-Distribution of the 
provinces.-Hemoo, tlze minister of JWahomed Shalz Adily, 
advances to De/zly-defeats Ally Khan Seestany-takes 
Agra-defeats Tardy Beg Khan-takes De/zly.-Tlze 11'Io­
guls driven across the Sutlooj-they concentrate at Lahore. 
-Beiram Khan is appointed protector.-The .Mogul chiefs 
propose to quit India, and retire to Kabul.-Beirtzm Kltan 
opposes the measure.-The bulian chief Hemoo ascends the 
throne of De/zly, and marches to expel the Mogu!s.-Battle 
of Paniput fatal to tlze lndians.-Beiram Khan excites tlze 
King's jealousy-is removed from ltis oj/ice-goes into 
rebellion-is seized and pardoned-retires to Mecca, but is 
murdered on the road.-ilialwa reco·vered out of the hands 
of Baz Balrndur.-Shcer Khan, the son of Si/mndur Shah 
Soor, marches witlz an army from Bengal to support ltis 
title to the throne of Deldy-is ,difeated.-An attempt to 
assassinate Akburfails.-Rebel!ion of Asuf Khan Hirvy 
and Khan Zeman Oozbuk in the Dooab.-Kabul taken by 
Sooliman 1J1irza of Budukhslzan.-Revolt of the King's 
brother lVIalzomed Hukeem.-Khan Zuman taken, and 
sujfe1-s death.-11/ahomed Huket,'m returns, and recovers 
Kabul.-Clzittoor taken bJ1 Akbur.-Rzentunbltore taken.­
War in Guzerat.-Guzerat occupied by A kbur.-Rcvolt in 
tize direction of Bengal suppressed, and Dawood Kirany 
expelled.-Dawood Kirany rcco,;crs Bengal-is again 
subdued, and suffers dcath.-11/ahomed J-lukeem Mirza 
revolts a second time, and enters the Pzwjab-is repulsed 
by the King in person, and is pardoned.-Guzerat 
recovered out of tlze hands of Akbur's oj/icers.- War in 
Bengal.-The Afghans czet off the com11rnnication between 
India and Kabul.-Great exertions of Akbur in all 
fJZtarters.-A Hindoo cltief appointed governor of Kabul. 
-Akbur holds his court at Laleore.-lJtloozujfur Shah 1 
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tlie King of Guzerat, is taken, and puts an end to hz'msetf. 
-Akbur sends his son Moorad Mirza to Giezerat, and 
thence to the Deccan.-Kandeish occupied.-Ahmudnuggur 
besiegcd.-Battle of Soopa, between tlic 1lfoguls and 
Dcccanies.--Akbur besieges Asseer.-Berar occupicd.­
Danid Jlirza espouses 11 tl1111gl1ter of flu• King of 
Becjapoor-is appointed goi1ernor of Kandeish-dies.­
Akhur's grief produces illness, of w/1id1 he dics-liis 
clzarader-11ature of his goi•er11me11t. -

THE history of this soyereign has been transmit­
ted to us by Sheikh Abool Fuzl, the son of Sheikh 
Moobarik, in an heroic poem consisting of one 
hundred and ten thousand couplets, from which 
the author, Mahomed Kasim Ferisbta. has princi­
pally deriyed the materials for this reign. 

Abool Fuzl relates, that when Hoomayoon 
became insensible after his fall, the Mogul chiefs 
despatched Ally Koolly Khan express to Punjab, 
to acquaint his son .\kbur of the accident. This 
information reached the Prince in a few days at the 
town of Kullanoor. The officers who were present, 
Rubbee-ooS- after expressing their grief for the 

Sany 2. deceased, raised Akbur to the throne, 
A. 1-1. 963. on the ~md of Rubbee-oos-Sany, in the 
Feb. 15• year 963, when he was only thirteen 

A. 
0

• i55u. years and nine months old. 
Beiram Khan, Toorkoman, distinguished by the 

title of Khan Khanan, became his minister, and 
had the whole civil and military power vested iu 
his hands. The first orders issued from the throne, 
after despatching the letters announcing the suc­
cession, prohibited the exactions of the usual 
presents. Not many days after this, Shal1 Abool 
Maaly, who had been in great favour with 
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Hoomayoon having evinced traitorous designs, 
was seized and imprisoned in Lahore. Some time 
aftt>r, however, he found means to escape out of 
the hands of PPihlwan Goolzar, the kotwal to 
whose charge he had been committed, and who 
killed himself in consequence. Tardy Beg Khan 
despatched all the ensigns of royalty form Dehly, 
under charge of Abool Kasim Mirza, the son of 
Kamran Mirza, and the following chiefs addressed 
letters of congratulation to the young King. Ally 
Koolly Khan Seestany, go\Ternor of Sumbhul; 
Sikundur Khan Oozbuk, governor of :\gm; Da­
hadur Khan, governor of Depalpoor; and Moonyim 
Khan, the tutor of the Prince Mnhomed Hukeem 
Mirza. ~-'.Ieanwhile the King had occasion to 
lead his army towards the hills, in order to attack 
Sikundur Shah Soar; and ha,·ing defeated and 
comprlled him to fiy within the recesses of the 
mountains, the King's army returned. Akbur, 
shortly after, having subdued the country of 
Nagrakote, received D'hurmchund, the Indian 
prince of that pro,·ince, into fm·our; but the rains 
coming on, he took up his rrsidence at Jalundur. 
In the mean time, Sooliman Mirza, who had been 
left gon~rnor 0f Budukhshan, throwing olT his alle­
gim1ce, marched against Kabul, which was defen­
ded by Moonyim Khan, the tutor of the Prince 
Hukeem Mirza, the King's brother. Intelligence of 
this insurrection having reached Akbur, he detach­
ed lVfahomed Koolly Birlass, Shums-ood-Deen 
Mahomed Khan Atka, Khizr Khan, and other offi­
cers, to succour Moonyim Khan. Some of those 
chiefs entered Kabul, while others, encamping 
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without the city, harassed the besiegers for the 
space of four months, when the garrison being at 
length worn out for want of provisions, Moonyim 
Khan was compelled to suffer the Khootba to be 
name of Sooliman Mirza, who then raised the siege 
read in the and returned to Budukhshan. 

During these transactions at Kabul, Hemoo, the 
vizier of Mahomed Shah Adily, advancing towards 
Agra with thirty thousand horse and foot, and two 
thousand elephants, obliged Sikundur Khan Ooz­
buk to retreat to Dehly, while Shady Khan another 
of Mahomed Shah Adily's generals, advanced with 
an army to the banks of the Rohut, where Ally 
Koolly Khan Seestany, who had received the title 
of Khan Zuman, opposed him with three thousand 
horse; but the latter was defeated with so severe 
a loss, that only two hundred of his men escaped 
from the :field of battle, many of whom were 
drowned in the river. 

Hemoo, elated with this intelligence, laid siege 
to Agra, and having reduced it proceeded to 
Dehly. Tardy Beg Khan, the governor, seized 
with consternation, sent expresses to all the Mogul 
chiefs in the neighbourhood, to come to his aid. 
Shortly after, being joined by Abdoolla Khan, 
Lall Sooltan Budukhshy, Ally Koolly Khan Indi­
jany, Meeruk Khan Kolaby, and others, he con­
ceived himself in a condition to give the enemy 
battle, without waiting for Khan Zuman, who 
by this time had obtained a considerable reinforce­
ment, and was on his march to Dehly. Tardy 
Beg Khan accordingly moved to meet the enemy. 
Hemoo selected three thousand horse and some 
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of his best e]ephants, which he retained near his own 
person in the centre, and during the hea_t of the 
battle he charged Tardy Beg Khan with such 
impetuosity, that he compelled him to quit the 
field. The right wing of the Moguls was routed, 
the flight became general, and the city of 
Dehly also surrendered. Tardy Beg Khan fled to 
Surhind, leaving the whole country open to the 
enemy. Khan Zuman, hearing of this disaster 
at Meerut, avoided Dehly, and proceeded to Now­
shehra, on his way to join the King, who, during 
these transactions, was at Jalundur, and finding 
all his dominions, except the Punjab, wrested 
from him, was perplexed how to act. At length, 
feeling diffident of himself both from his youth 
and inexperience, he conferred on Beiram Khan, 
Toorkoman, the title of Khan Baba,* and re~ 
posing his whole trust in the prudence and wisdom 
of that chief, begged of him to take measures for 
retrieving his affairs. At the same time he as­
sured him. in the most solemn manner, that he 
would pay no attention to any malicious accusa­
tions against him. The young King also requir­
ed of Beiram Khan to swear on his part, by the 
soul of his deceased father Hoomayoon, and by 
the head of his own son, that he would be faithful 
to his trust. After this, a council being called by 
Deiram Khan, the majority of the officers were of 
opinion, that as the enemy's force consisted of 
more than a hundred thousand horse, while the 

*This word signifies father, and the title and power in the 
present instance answered to that of regent or protector. 

VOL. II.-24. 



AKBUR PADSHAH. 

royal army could scarcely muster twenty thous_and, 
it would be prudent to retreat to Kabul. Beiram 
Khan not only opposed this measure, but was al­
most singular in his opinion that the King ought 
instantly to gi\·e battle to the enemy. The Yoice 
of Akbur, which was in unison with the senti­
ments of Beiram Khan, decided the question. 
Hostilities being determined on, Khizr Khan (the 
husband of Sooltana Goolbudun Begum, the 
King's aunt), who was then guvernor of Lahore, 
was directed to attack Sikundur Khan Soor; 
while the King prepared to march in person against 
Hemoo. On reaching Nowshehra, he was joined 
by several of his defeated officers, who had assem­
bled at that place. During his stay there, Beiram 
Khan, taking adYantage of the King's absenc~ 
from camp on a hunting party, caused Tardy Beg 
Khan to be seized and beheaded for abandoning 
Dehly, where he might have defended himself. 
\Vhen Akbur returned, Beiram Khan waited on 
him, and acquainted him with what he had done, 
at the same time excusing himself for not consult­
ing the King, as he felt certain his clemency was 
such, that, notwithstanding Tardy Beg Khan's 
misconduct, he would have pardoned him. Beiram 
Khan remarked, that lenity at such a crisis would 
lead to dangerous consequences, as the only hopes 
left to the Moguls, at the present moment, 
depended on every individual exerting himself to 
the utmost of his power. 

The King felt obliged to approve of this severe 
measure. The author of this work has understood, 
from the best-informed men of the times, that had 
Tardy Beg Khan not been executed by way of 
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example, such was the condition of the Mogul 
army, and the general feeling of those foreigners, 
that the old scene of Sheer Shah would have been 
acted over again. But in consequence of this 
prompt though severe measure, the Choghtay 
officers, each of whom before esteemed himself at 
least equal to Keikobad and Keikaoos,* now found 
it necessary to conform to the orders of Beiram 
Khan, and to submit quietly to his authority. 

Soon after this event, the army marched from 
Nowshehra towards Dehly. The advance guard 
consisted of the division of Sikundur Khan Oozbuk, 
Abdoolla Khan, Ally Kooly Khan Indijany, 
iVlahomed I~han Jelabur Budukhshy, Mujnoon 
Khan Kakshal, and others, the whole commanded 
by Khan Zuman, who was created Surlushkur t 
(commander-in-chief). This corps was supported 
by another body of troops composed of the 
depen<lents of Beiram Khan, among whom were 
Hoossein Kooly Beg, Mahomed Sadik Khan Pur­
wanchy, Shah Kooly Khan Mahrum, Meer l\Iaho­
med Kasim Khan ~yshapoory, Syud Mahomed 
Barka, and others. Hemoo, who had now assumed 
the title of Raja Vikramajeet, in Dehly, hm·ing 
attached Shady Khan and other Afghan d1iefs to 
his interest, marched out of the capital to meet the 
King, with an army as numerous as the locusts and 
ants of the desert. His advance guard, consisting of 
Afghans, with some artillery. hm·ing fallen in with 
the Mogul Surlushkur, was routed with the loss of 

* Independent and arbitrary kings of Persia. 
t The Surlushlrnr of India answers to Seraskier of the Otto­

man Porte. 
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all its guns, an event which proved of great 
importance to Akbur. Hemoo, however, reached 
Paniput without further opposition; and hearing 
the King was near, distributed his elephants, in 
which he greatly confided, among his principal 
officers, and waited an attack. 
Mohurrum 2• On the morning of the 3d of 

Ao H. 964. Mohurrum, 964, the Surlushkur hav-
November 5 ing halted, was joined by the whole 

A. o. 1556. army, except a few select troops who 
remained to guard the King's person, and drawing 
up, offered battle. Hemoo began the action with 
his elephants, in hopes of alarming the enemy's 
cavalry, unaccustomed to those animals; but the 
Moguls attacked them so furiously, after they had 
penetrated e,·en to the centre of the army, where 
Khan Zuman Khan commanded, that, galled with 
lances, arrO\vs, and javelins, they became quite 
unruly, and disdaining the control of their drivers, 
turned and threw the Afghan ranks into confusion. 
Hernoo, mounted on an elephant of prodigious size, 
still continued the action with great bravery, at 
the head of four thousand horse, in the very heart 
of the Mogul army; but being pierced through 
the eye with an arrow, he sunk into his howda* 
from extreme agony. The greater part of his 
troops feared his wound was mortal, and forsook 
him. Raising himself again, Hemoo drew the 
arrow and with it the eye out of the socket, which 
he wrapt in his handkerchief, and in spite of his 

* The howda is an open seat without a canopy, and is used 
in battle instead of the amary, which is more fitted for state 
occasions. 
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painful situation, he continued to fight with 
unabated courage, endeavouring, with the few men 
who remained about his person, to force his retreat 
through the enemy's line. At length Shah Koolly 
Khan t\lahrum le,·elled his lance against. the diver 
of Hemoo·s elephant, who, in order to save his 
own life, pointed to his master, and promised 
Shah Koolly Khan to guide the elephant wherever 
he directed. He was now surrounded by a body 
of horse, and carried prisoner to Akbur, who was 
about two or three coss;;; in the rear. \\Then He­
moo was brought into the presence, Ileiram Khan 
recommended the King to do a meritorious act by 
killing the infidel with his own hand. Akbur, in 
order to fulfil the wish of his minister, drew his 
sword, and touching the head of the captive be­
came entitled to the appellation of Ghazy,t while 
Beiram Khan, drawing his own sabre, at a single 
blow se,·ered the head of Hemoo from his body. 

During this action, fifteen hundred elephants 
fell into the hands of Akbur, who, marching from 
Paniput, entered Dehly without opposition. From 
that city he detached Peer l\fahomed Khau, the 
steward of Beiram Khan's household, towards 
i\fowat, wherein the treasure of Hemoo was de­
posited, a service which was accomplished with 
trifling loss. \Vhile these events transpired in 

* Five miles. 
t No single word in our language conveys the idea of this 

title, so highly prized among the l\lahomedans: it signifies 
one who, by his deeds in war, has slain iulidels, and propagated 
the true faith. Among Christians, knights of the cross 
might, perhaps, assume the title. Saladin was the Ghazy of 
the Saracens, and Richard c~ur de Lion of the Christians1 

in the wars of the Crusades. 
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India, the Persian army, commanded by Sooltan 
Hoossein Mirza, the son of Beiram Mirza, the son 
of Shah Ismael Sufvy, advanced by order of 
Shah Tahmasp, and laid siege to Kandahar, which 
fell into the hands of the Persians after a severe 
action that took place under the walls. In this 
engagement Shah Mahomed Kandahary, deputy 
of the minister Beiram Khan, commanded. At 
the same time news arri,·ed that Khizr Khan, one 
of :\kbur"s generals, had been defeated by Si­
kundur Shah Soor, and obliged to Ily to Lahore. 

Akbur, on hearing of these events, put his 
army in motion and marched towards 1.he Punjab, 
on which Sikundur Shah Soor, who had advanced 
as far as Kullanoor, retreated to the fort of Man­
kote, built by his relati,·e Sulim Shah Soor. .'\t 
this place Akbur encamped for the space of three 
months, during which time the King's mother, 
and other ladies of the seraglio, together with 
several of the families of the Choghtay chiefs, 
returned from Kabul. Thev were escorted bv 

• J 

the officer who had been sent there to afford aid 
to l\foonyim Khan: but Mahomed Hukeem :\1irza, 
with his mother and sister, remained at Kabul by 
the King's orders. The former was formally 
invested by patent \\·ith the management of that 
country, under the tutelage of l\foonyim Khan 
during his minority. 

The siege of Mankote lasted for six months, 
when Sikundur Shah open~d negotiations to sur­
render, and Mahomed Khan Atka was sent into 
the fort for the purpose of concluding the terms. 
Sikundur Shah, unable to attend the King owing 
lo his wounds, consented to evacuate the fort, and 
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to cause his son, Sheikh Abdool Rahman, to enter 
the King's service and remain with him as a host­
age for his own future forbearance from hostility, 
begging that he himself might be permitted to 
retire unmolested to Bengal. These terms being 
acceded to, Sheikh Abdool Rahman, in the month 
Rumzan, of Rumzan 964, was presented to the 
11.. n. 964. King, and made offerings of se\·eral ele-

J uly, phants. Sikundur Shah retired to Ben-
A, 0 • 

1557• gal, and Mankote was delivered up to 
Akbur, who having left a trusty governor in the 
place, proceeded on the road to Lahore. Beiram 
Khan, perceiving that the King had lately 
conferred fa\·ours on some persons whom he sus­
pected to be his enemies, was so annoyed, that he 
withdrew for some days from the royal presence. 
During this time it happene<l, that while the King 
was amusing himself with an elephant fight, one 
of the animals became unruly, and chanced to run 
over the tent ropes of Beirnm Khan. The minister, 
conceiving this circumstance was designed, sent 
Mahim Atka to acquaint the King " that he was 
"sorry to perceiye he had given him offence ; and 
"that if he had done so, he begged to be 
'' informed of what he had been guilty." The King 
assured Beiram Khan that the circumstance to 
which he alluded occurred by mere accident; but 
thf' minister was by no means satisfied ; nor could 
he be persuaded that the King's mind was not 
estranged from him. At length they reached 
Lahore. 

On their arrival, Shums-ood-Deen Mahomed 
Khan Atlrn, ~onct>iving that he had offenclf'd 
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Beiram Khan, waited on him, and took the most 
solemn oaths that he had on no occasion spoken 
Jumad-oos- disrespectfully of him to the King; 

Sany 25. meanwhile the army proceeded by easy 
A. n. 965. marches to the south, and reached 
April g. Dehly on the 25th of Jumad-oos-Sany. 

A. u. 1558· On the road a reconciliation took place 
between the King and the Regent, and the mar­
riage of Sulima Sooltana Begum, the niece of 
the late Hoomayoon Padshah, with Beiram 
Khan, was celebrated at Jalundur with the King's 
consent, who was present at the nuptials. 

In the same year, Khan Zuman, not only 
received the title of Ameer-ool-Oomra, but was 
raised to the rank of an officer of five thousand, and 
made governor of Joonpoor. Shortly afterwards, 
he seduced away from the King's body guard one 
of his troopers, who had been a favourite of 
Hoomayoon. The King sent an order to Khan 
Zuman to send the young man back; but some 
delay occurring, he was induced, at the instigation 
of Moolla Peer Mahomed, to march the army 
against him. · Khan Zuman deputed one Furokh 
Ally, on his part, to court, to excuse his conduct ; 
but Moolla Peer Mahomed, knowing that both 
Khan Zuman and Furokh Ally were the firm adher­
ents of Beiram Khan; had sufficient influence 
not only to procure the messenger to be severely 
beaten, but subsequently to be pushed off the 
terrace of the palace, when he was killed. Khan 
Zuman at length allowed his favourite trooper to 
quit him; but instead of going to court, he retired 
to Suroorpoor, having been permitted to take with 
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him one of his master's favourite mistresses, called 
Dilaram, originally a dancing girl. The youna 
man subsequently rngaging in a quarrel on he~ 
account lost his life; to re,·enge which Khan 
Zuman marched to Suroorpoor, and Meer Abdool 
Rahman, the governor, fled for protection to the 
court. 

It was about this time that Moosahib Beg, the 
son of Khwaja Kullan, unmindful of the obliga­
tions he owed to 13eiram Khan, began to treat 
him with disrespect, till at length he fell a victim 
to his misconduct, and was put to death by order 
of the Protector. This event gm·e great offence 
not only to the Choghtay officers antl nobles, but 
also to the King himself, who, shortly after 
quitting Dehly, proceeded to Agra; and the 
circumstance was still fresh in every one's mind, 
when Beiram Khan determined to rut o.lf Moo]la 
Peer Mahomed in the same way. 

This person, formerly a retainer of Beiram 
Khan, was, on account of his abilities, preferred 
to the office of private tutor to the King; and 
having gained great influence with his Prince, he 
belu:wed with insolence towards the nobles of the 
court, making them wait whole hours for an au­
dience, and at last sending them word that he 
could not see them at all. This conduct gave 
universal offence. Beiram Khan himself, on going 
one day to Moolla Peer l\fahomed's house to en­
quire after his health, was stopped by the servants, 
and made to wait outside, and even when admitted, 
was only allowed to take one servant with him in to 

VOL. II.-25. 
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the court-yard. This conduct so incens_ed the 
Protector:, that_ without speaking to the King on 
the subject, he sent Moolla Peer Mahomed pri­
soner to a fort, from whence he was banished to 
Guzerat, and eventually to Mecca, on the plea of 
performing a pilgrimage; and Hajy Mahomed 
Khan Seestany, a to\vnsman of the Protector, 
was appointed to succeed Moolla Peer Mabomed 
as the King's preceptor. 

Akbur was highly enraged at this proceeding; 
but Ileiram Khan, by way of diYerting his mind, 
projected an expedition against Gualiar. That 
fortress still remained in possession of Soheil Khan, 
an officer of Sulim Shah, the son of Sheer Shah, 
who held it for i\Iahomcd Shah Adily. Soheil 
Khan, hearing of ~\kbur's intentions, wrote to 
Ram-Sa, a descendant of Raja Man-Sing, saying, 
that as his ancestors had been masters of Gualiar, 
and as he was not capable of holding the place 
against the King, he would put it into the pos­
session of the Raja for a reasonable sum. Ram­
Sa availed himseH of this olier, and moved towards 
the fort; but Yekbal Khan, who possessed an 
estate in the neighbourhood of Gualiar, havi1w 

- 0 

raised his vassals, attacked and defeated the Hin-
doo chief, who fled into the dominions of the 

Rana.* After which Yekbal Khan, 
A, n. Y

6+· having invested Gualiar, Soheil Khan 
A, D 1556. 

surrendered it into his hands. 
In the course of the same year, Khan Zuman, in 

·order to recommend himself, and to effect a 

* The Rana of Oodipoor, 
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reconciliation with the King, after all that had 
happened regarding the trooper, marched with his 
troups and subdued all the districts near Joonpoor 
and Benares, whid1 till then remained in the 
hands of the adherents of the Afghan dynasty. 
Huju\J, In the month of Rujub, of the same 

A. 11. y63. year, i\.'.Iahomed Ghows, the brother of 
May, Sheikh Bheilole, who on account of 

A. n. i55G. his attachment to the Mogul dynasty 
had retired to Guzerat, now returned to court 
with his family; and being favourably recei\-ed 
13eiram Khan ,Yas requested to provide him with 
a suitable establishment. i\'Iahomed Ghows, 
relying too much on his personal interest with the 
King, neglected io pay that attention to the 
minister which he always expected, and Beiram 
l~han made so many excuses and delays that 
l\Iahomed Ghows found his stay at court 
disagreeable, and quiiiing ii, retired to his old 
family residence ai Gua]iar. The King was much 
vexed ;vith Beiram Khan for his conduct on this 
occasion ; and he, obsen·ing a \'isible alteration in 
Akbur's manner towards him, proposed an 
expedition against Daz lJuhac.lur, ruler of Malwa, 
to the command of which Bahadur Khan, the 
brother of Khan .Zuman, goyernor of Depalpoor: 
was nominated. 

About this time the King, being on a hunting 
patty near Sikundra, was joined by l\fahim Atka, 
who stated that the Queen-dowager was extremely 
ill at Dehly, and wished to see him. He accord­
ingly proceeded to Dehly, and Shahab-ootl-Deen 
Ahmu·d Khan Nyshapoory, an oflicer of five 
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thousand, whot hen commanded in the city, came 
out to meet him. Apprehensive, however, lest Bei­
ram Khan should suppose that the' King's journey 
to Dehly had originated in an invitation from him, 
and fearing that he might in consequence be re­
moved, as Moosahib Beg had been on a former 
occasion, Shahab-ood-Deencommunicated his fears 
to Akbur, and begged that he might be permitted 
to retire, on a pilgrimage to Mecca. Surprised to 
find how much the minister was dreaded : yet by 
way of courtesy to Beiram Khan, as well as to re­
move Shahab-ood-Deen Ahmud's fears, Akbur 
wrote to Beiram Khan, telling him that he had 
come to Dehly, not by im·itation of any person, 
but merely to pay his respects to his sick mother. 
Beiram Khan replied, that "he should never en­
" tertain resentment against any person whoni his 
"Majesty was pleased to honour with his favour;" 
he, moreO\·er, deputed Hajy Mahomed Khan Sees­
tany, and Tursoon Beg, to Dehly,. with assurances 
of his loyalty. The enemies of Beiram Khan at 
court procured the seisure and confinement of his 
messengers. This circumstance vrns no sooner 
made known at .A.gra, than many of the miuister's 
adherents began to quit him, and proceed to the 
court at Dehly, where Shahab-ood-Deen Ahmud, 
finding the King disposed to listen to accusations 
against the falling minister, ga\·e full vent to his 
animosity, in which he was joined by many of the 
courtiers whom he had attached to his interest. In 
short, so many insinuations were thrown out against 
Beiram Khan, particularly one of a design in favour 
of Abool Kasim Mirza, the son of the late Kamran 
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Mirza, that Akbur became alarmed, and thought 
it necessary to curtail the Protector's authority. 
Accordingly, when Mahomed Khan and Tursoon 
Beg arrived in Dehly, instead of being admitted 
to an audience, they were seized and imprisoned, 
as has been related. 

This breach between the King and Beiram 
Khan is related, with other particulars, by 
Abool Fuzl. "One day," says that historian, 
" while the King was at Agra, one of his elephants 
" being must,* attacked and killed another of 
" Beiram Khan's, who, on the spur of the moment, 
"commanded the keeper of the royal elephant to 
" be put to d~ath, without first speaking to the 
" King. Akbur was highly incensed, the more so, 
" on finding that the man was not to blame, ha,,ing 
" lost all command o,·er the animal. Soon after 
'.' this," continues Abool Fuzl, "while Deiram Khan 
" was taking his pleasure in a barge on the river, 
" one of the elephants which had been carried down 
" to the \Vater, ran furiously against the boat, and 
" had nearly sunk it, but for the great efforts of his 
" driver. The minister, naturally suspicious, ima­
" gined, these accidents were actually plots against 
" his life; and he required the King to punish 
" the driver. In order to satisfy the Protector, 
" and to remove his suspicion, Akbur ordered the 

*The word used to denote the condition of an elephant in 
the rutting season. The violence or these animals on sur:h oc­
casions may easily he imagined by those persons who saw the 
elephant which was killed at Exeter 'Change: in 1825, or who 
read the accounts of his wild conduct. 
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"elephant driver to Ge sent to him to be punished 
" at his discretion, when Beiram Khan causeq_ him 
" to suffer death. Akbur, much incensed at these 
" two instances of his minister's cruelty, came to 
" the resolution of depriving him of otlice; a mea­
" sure which required great firmness and much 
"address." Some authors mention a scheme sug­
gested to the King by his nurse to get possession 
of the seals; while others say, that she discovered 
it was the Protector's design to seize and confine 
him; a plot she is stated to have accidentally oyer­
heard, in a conversation between Beiram Khan 
and the Queen-dowager. "This," say they, "was 
" the cause which determined .:\kbur to quit 
"Agra,'' but .\bool Fuzl does not mention it. He 
informs us, and with great probability, that 1.he 
idea of shaking off the trammels of the minister 
was first commLtniratecl to Adam Khan Atka, and 
l\lahim Atka, by the young King, who, tired of 
tutelage, thought he was capable of acting for him­
self. \Vhen it berame known the messengers 
from Beiram Khan had been imprisoned, his 
ruin was easily foreseen by every body. A few 
days after, A.kbur issued a proclamation, announc• 
ing to his people tlntl he had taken tl1e sole 
management of affairs into bis own hand~, requir­
ing that henceforwmd no orders from court but 
tl.10se issued under his o,\·n seal should be obeyed. 

Shah .\bool Maaly, a favourite noble of the 
late Hoomayoon Padshah, had been long con­
fined in Lahore; but having some time before this 
period found means to esrnpe, he joined K umal 
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Gukkur, and accompanied him in an expedition 
against Kashmeer. These chiefs were defeated 
with great slaughter; and Shah Abool Maaly, 
retiring to Depalpoor, instigated Bahadur Khan 
Seestany to reuel ; but the latter repenting of his 
conduct, a quarrel ensued, and Shah Abool Maaly 
retired towards the Indus, whence he fled to Gu­
zerat, and eventually came to Joonpoor; where 
being seized by Khan Zuman, he \Vas sent pri­
soner to Agra, and condemned to perpetual im­
prisonment in the fort of Byan.a. 

Beiram Khan, finding himself out of favour at 
court, marched to Malwa, "·ith the intention of 
reducing that country, and establishing an inde­
pendent principality. :\t Byana, finding that Ba-

hadur Khan SePstany and other chiefs, 
A. n. g66. ] . l l I l on ,v 1ose assistance ie ea n1 a tee, werr. 

A, D. 1558, 
unwilling to aid him, Beiram Khan pro-

cured the release of Shah Abool Maaly from con­
finement, and intended, through his aid and that 
of Khan Zuman of Joonpoor, to attack and expel 
the Afghans from Bengal, and fix himself in that 
quarter. Before he had proceeded far, however, 
he changed his resolution, and took the route of 
Nagoor, with the avowed design of making a pil­
grimage to Mecca; while Bahadur Khan Seestany, 
Yekbal Khan, and many other chiefs who had 
joined him, took leave and departed. On reach­
ing Nagoor, Beiram Khan gave up the notion of 
going to Mecca, and assembled troops, in order to 
establish himself in Punjab. 

The King, informed of these proceedings, sent 
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Meer Abdool Luteef Kuzweeny, his preceptor, 
with a me.ssage to him; saying, "Till now, our 
"mind has been taken up with our education, 
" and the amusements of youth, and it was our 
"royal will, that you should regulate the affairs of 
"our empire. But it being our intention hence­
" forward to govern our people by our own j udg­
,, ment, let our wellwisher withdraw from all 
"worldly concerns, and, retiring to Mecca, far re­
" moved from the toils of public life, spend the 
"rest of his days in prayer." 

Beiram Khan, on recei,·ing this communication, 
professed obedience, and sent the ensigns of state, 
his elephants, banners, and drums, by Hoossein 
Koolly Khan, to the King, and returning to Na­
goor, began to prepare for his departure for Mecca. 
He dismissed all his retainers; but \Vully Beg and 
Ismael Khan (his own relations), as well as Shah 
Koolly Khan Mahrum, Hoossein Khan Oostajloo, 
Sheikh Gudclayee, and Khwaja Moozuffur Ally 
Toormoozy, refused to quit him. Of all those 
who abandoned him at this time, most had been 
his associates and attendants for many years, and 
owed every thing to his favour; but all obligations 
were in a moment forgotten ; and on the occasion 
of leaving him, they eYen carried with them most 
of his camels and camp equipage. Among those 
who left him was Shah Abool l\faaly; who having 
joined Akbur while on a hunting-party, and JJe-. 
glecting to dismount when he made his obeisance, 
was instantly confined. 

Beiram Khan proceeded as far as Bhickanere ; 
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but repenting of his resolution to give up public 
life, returned to Nagoor, where he again began to 
assemble troops. The King, informed of this cir­
cumstance, marched to Jahjur. Moolla Peer 
Mahomed, lately returned from the exile to which 
he had been condemned by Beiram Khan, was con­
sidered a fit person to carry on the war against 

him ; and on this occasion he received 
.\. H. 967· the title of Peer Mahomed Khan.* The 

l\., D. 1559• 
King, meanwhile, having returned to 

Dehly, sent orders to Moonyim Khan, the governor 
of Kabul, to repair to court. 

On the approach of the royalists, Beiram Khan 
marched to Punjab, closely pursued by Peer Ma­
homed Khan. On reaching Bi tuhnda, he was in­
duced to throw all his baggage into that fort, 
then commanded by Sheer Mahomed Khan, one 
of his former adherents. No sooner had this 
chief got them into his pos5cssion than he ex­
pelled the escort, and appropriated Ileiram Khan's 
property to himself. The ex-minister proceeded 
to Depalpoor, which was also in the hands of one 
of his old adherents, Dervish Mahomcd Oozbuk; 
but when he sent his secretary, Khwaja Moozu.ITur 
Ally, to wait on him, Dervish Mahomed seized 
and sent him to the King. All hopes being thus 
at an end, Beiram Khan marched towards Jalun-

* The reader need hardlv be informed that the title of Khan 
is hereditary in India, and' belongs only to the nobility. The 
conferring of the title of Khan on a Moola, or a learned man, 
was as if a professor of literature or science should, 011 that 
account, be elevated to the peerage. 

VOL. II.-26. 
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dur. At this time, Peer Mahomed Khan was re­
called, and Shums-ood-Deen Mahomed Khan Atka 
proceeded to occupy Punjab, and to seize Beiram 
Khan. A battle ensued at Machiwarra, which was 
contested with bravery on both sides. Mahomed 
Khan's troops were at first broken, but, at length, 
several of Beiram Khan's officers being killed, his 
followers fled, and he sought protection in the 
mountains of Sewalik. After this event, the King 
appointed Khwaja Abdool Mujeed Hirvy to the 
government of Dehly, under the title of Asuf 
Khan, and marched in person to Lahore. On his 
arrival at Lodhana he was met by Moonyirrt Khan 
from Kabul, who was graciously received, honoured 
with the title of Khan Khanan, and created prime 
minister. 

The King's army having advanced near the 
mountains of Sewalik, a detachment of light horse 
entered the hills, where the zemindars of that 
country combined in support of Beiram Khan. 
They were, however, so vigorously attacked, that 
the exile, in the utmost distress, sent his slave 
J umal to the King, representing his unfortunate 
condition, and imploring pardon. Akbur de­
spatched Moolla Abdoolla, a native of Sooltan­
poor, to him, with assurances of forgiveness, and 
with directions to conduct him to court. Ac­
Rubbee-ool- cordingly, in the month of Rubbee-ool­

Sany, A. H. 968, he was met, at some 
distance from the camp, by a consider­
able number of chiefs deputed to receive 
him, and was brought in to the presence, 

Sany, 
A. H. 968. 

December, 
A. D. 1560. 
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with every mark of distinction. On entering the 
court, he hung his turban round his neck, and 
advancing rapidly, threw himself, in tears, at the 
foot of the throne. 

Akbur, stretching forth his hand, caused him to 
rise, and placed him in his former station at the 
head of the nobles. A splendid dress was now 
brought; and the King addressed him in the follow­
ing words: "If Beiram Khan loves a military 
"life, the government of Kalpy and Chundery 
"offer a field for his ambition. If he d1ocse 
"rather to remain at court, our favour shall not be 
"wanting to the benefactor of our family; but 
"should he be disposed to seek devotion in 
"retirement, let him perform a pilgrimage to 
"Mecca, whither he shall be escorted in a manner 
"suitable to his rank." Beiram Khan replied, 
" The royal confidence being once shaken, how 
"can I wish to remain in the presence ? The 
'' clemency of the King is enough, and bis forgive­
" ness is more than a reward for my former ser­
" vices. Let me, therefore, avert my thoughts 
"from this world to another, and be allowed to 
"proceed to the holy shrine." The King assented, 
and ordered a proper retinue to attend him, at 
the same time assigning to him a pension of fifty 
thousand rupees* annually for his support. Bei­
ram Khan soon after took leave of the King, who, 
with a few attendants, returned to Agra. 

Beiram Khan proceeded to Guzerat, in order to 
embark for Mecca, and reached the suburbs of 

* 5oool, 
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Puttun,* then governed by Moosy Khan Lady. 
During his stay there he went to visit a spot called 
Sahasnuk, so called from the thousand temples 
erected in its vicinity. One evening, in the month 
Jumad-ool- of Jumad-ool-Awul of the same year, he 

Awul, was with a number or friends, accom-
A. 11. 968. panied by musicians, in a boat on 

January, the lake, where they remained the 
,\. n. 156

1. whole night. On his return in the 
morning, Beiram Khan was accosted by one Moo­
barik Khan Lohany, a person whose father he 
had slain in battle with his own hand. The wretch, 
pretending to embrace him, drew his dagger, 
and stabbed Beiram Khan to the heart ; and a 
mob of Afghans falling on his retinue, plundered 
it. After his death, Mahomed Ameer Dewana, 
Baba Zeinoo, and some other of his n.ttenclants, 
conveyed his widow and his son, Mirza Abdool 
Ruheem, then only four years old, to Alunudabad ; 
whence Itimad Khan, the ruler of Guzerat, sent 
the whole family, with a suitable escort, to the 
King at Agra. The history of Mirza Abdool 
Ruheem will be found in its proper place in this 
work. 

Beiram Khan was one of the most distinguished 
officers of the Mogul court. He \Vas descended from 
a line of ancestors who served for many generations 
in the family of the illustrious Teimoor Sahib 
Kiran. His pedigree is as follows: Mahomed 
Biran Khan Toorkoman, the son of Syf Ally Beer 

f>l 

the son of Yar Ally Beg, the son of Sheer Ally 

* Nehrwala Puttun. 



AKBUR PADSHAH, 

Beg. In the female line, he is descended from 
Ally Shukur, Toorkoman Baharloo. ,vhen Zow­
zun H ussun Sooltan conquered Erak, and Sool­
tan Aboo Syeed Mirza lost his life, Sheer Ally 
Beg, who was then in his service, attached himself 
to Sooltan Mahomed, the son of Sool tan Aboo 
Syeed Mirza; but meeting with little encourage­
ment to continue with him, he came to Kabul, and 
in the course of six months raised an army and 
marched in the direction of Shiraz, with the inten­
tion of establishing himself in an independent 
kingdom. In this endeavour, he was joined by some 
Toorkomans, and absolutely reached Fars; hut be­
ing defeated by the troops of Zowzun Hussun, he 
fled to Khorassan, and eventually lost his life in 
battle, near Hirat. Sheer Ally Beg's eldest son, 
Yar Ally Beg, went to Koondooz, and entered the 
service of Khoosrow Shah; whom he quitted, and 
enrolled himself under the banners of Babur, on 
which occasion he seduced several of the oflicers of 
Khoosrow Shah from their duty. Y ar Ally Beg died 
in the service of Babur, and his son, Seif Ally Beg, 
became governor of Ghizny. At his death, his 
son, Beiram Khan, retired to Bulkh; but being 
subsequently brought into notice at the court of 
Hoomayoon, he became his bosom friend, and was 
selected on that account as governor to his son. 

In the encl of the year 968, Adam Khan Atka 
was appointed to command an army destined for 
the conquest of Malwa. Baz Bahadur, the ruler 
of the principality, spent his time in idle pleasures 
at Sarungpoor ; and such was his indolence, that, 
although aware of the expedition of the Moguls, 



206 AKBUR PADSHAH. 

he allowed them to approach within twenty miles 
of his capital, before he could be prevailed on to 
quit the pillows of ease, and prepare for action. 

The contest was short : the Moguls, on 
A, 

11
• 969· the first onset, broke his troops, cap-

A, n, 1561. dl" df ·1 d ture 11s property an am1 y, an sent 
him with streaming eyes and a broken heart 
towards Boorhanpoor. 

Adam Khan, after the victory, made provision 
for the government of Malwa, and distributed the 
spoil among his followers, reserving for himself 
the treasure, the royal ensigns, and the ladies of 
the haram of Baz Bahadur. He sent nothing but 
a few elephants to the King. Akbur, conceiving 
that ~-\.dam Khan intended to render himself inde­
pendent, marched to Malwa. He first appeared 
before Gungrar, the gO\·ernor of which place, on 
the part ol Baz Bahadur, delivered it up without 
opposition. Akbur thence made a night march, 
and in the morning arrived be[ore Sarungpoor. 
Adam Khan, unaware of the King's approach, was 
coming out with an intention to besiege Gungrar : 
but on making the discovery, he paid his respects, 
and accompanied him into the city. Adam Khan, 
suspecting the true cause of the King's visit, laid 
at his feet the treasure and spoil he had reserved 
for himself,, alleging, by way of excuse, that he 
had reserved them till he should have the honour 
of presenting them in person. The King saw 
through this flimsy disguise, but preferring 
clemency to rigour, allowed the circumstance to 
pass without further notice, and soon after 
.returned to Agra. One day while hunting in the 
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vicinity of N urwur, a royal tigress crossed the road. 
Akbur, without hesitation, urged on his horse, 
and with a single stroke of his sabre cut her across 
the loins, and stretched her dead on the plain. 
The nobles present, in excess of joy, ran to kiss 
the royal stirrup, and offered up thanks to God 
for his preservation. 

He had only been a few months at Agra when 
Sheer Khan, the son of the late Mahomed Shah 
Adily, with forty thousand Afghans, advanced 
from Bengal to reduce the province of Joonpoor. 
Sheer Khan was opposed by Khan Zuman with 
twelve thousand cavalry, and sustained a total 
defeat. Dahadur Khan Seestany, the brother of 
Khan Zuman, distinguished himself much on this 
occasion; indeed, both were esteemed among the 
bravest soldiers of the age; but presuming too 
much on their character, they neglected to send 
to court the elephants taken in the battle, which 
are always considered the property of the crown. 
The King, though prepared to allow due credit to 
the brothers for their gallantry, could by no means 
overlook so gross an infringement of his preroga­
tive, and therefore determined on marching to­
wards Joonpoor; but on reaching Kurra, sensible 
of their misconduct, they advanced to congratulate 
Akbur, and presented him not only with the ele­
phants and all the spoils they had taken, but made 
other suitable oiierings. The King, whose gene­
rosity and clemency were equalled only by his 
spirit, returned every thing except what belonged 
of right to the crown, and giving them at the same 
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time a gentle reproof for their neglect, he secured 
their attachment by his princely 'behaviour and 
courtesy. During the niarch to Agra, on the 
third day; they were permitted to return to their 
g<;>vemment of Joonpoor. 

At this time, Mahomed Khan Atka,· governor 
of Punjab, and Adam Khan Atka, ruler of Malwa; 
arrived at court according to orders, bringing with 
_them suitable presents. The government of Malwa 
was now conferred on the King's old preceptor, 
Peer. M~homed Khan, and the office of prime 
minister devolved on Mahomed Khan Atka. In 

the year 969, the King, proceeding to 
A, 

11
' 969· Ajmere,· visited the shrine of Khwaja 

,\. D. 1561. D C . d h 1 Moyeen-ood- een lnshty; an s ort y 
after, on his ari·ival at Sumthur, Raja Poorunmul 
consented to give his daughter to him in marriage, 

· and sufiered himself and his son Bhowany Dass* 
to be enrolled among the number of the nobles of 
the court. At Ajmere, Akbur, having performed 
hi~ ·devotions, detached Mirza Shurf-ood-De.en 
Hoossein, the governor, to invest the fort of 
Merta, subject to Maldew, Raja of Marwar. The 
Ki~g, quitting Ajmere suddenly, returned in three 
days and nights, nttended by a retinue of six per­
sons only to Agra, a distance of more than one 
hundred and thirty coss.t 

Mirza Shurf-ood-Deen Hoossein having reached 

* Thi:; is, I believe, the first instance of a Hindoo chief 
being ennobled, or employed in any situation of high trust 
under the Mogul government. 

t Two hundred miles. 
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Merta,. Raja Jugrnul a~d Raja Devy Da~s, two.of 
. the principal chiefs of Marwar, threw themselves 
·rnto Merta, and prepared for defenc~. They· 
wen~ closely besieged by the Mirza ; who iq a fe\v· 
days cnrried mi.nes under one of the bastions, and 
.fonned a practic;able breach. ;\ select body of 
troqps, led by the Mirza in person, advanced to 
the ·assault : but the storming party was opposed 
w.ith such bravery that it was obliged to retreat ; 
and on the i1ext morning the Moguls found the 
bread1 built up by the enemy. The siege ·being 
protracted for some months, and the garrison· un­
able to hold out longer for "'~ant of provisions, pro-

. posed to capitulate. Terms were granted, by 
which the besieged were allo,\'ed to march out 
without arms, but with permission to retain their 
horses. Jugmul, according to stipulation, ]eft a11 
his money and effects in the fort; but De,·y Dass', 
who had been averse to the capitulation, collected 
five hundred of the garrison, ,md having burnt· 
ail they could not conve~r with them, rushed <;mt 
with a determination to cut their Wc!,y thrOLigh 
the enemv. The Mirza, hm·ing heard of iheir 

. .. L 

intention, caused thPm to be attacked; but·the 
Rajpoots, fighting with desperate valour,· suc­
ceeded in making good their retreat, with the loss 
of two hundred and fif tv of their number killed. - . 

Among these was Devy Dass himself, whose head 
his soldiers carried off when they saw him mortally 
wounded, that it might not fall into the hands of 
the enemy. Mirza Shurf-ood-Dcen Hoosscin, 
after having occupied Merta,. wrote an account of 

:VOL. II.-27. 
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his success to the King, by whom he was 
honoured with marks of his approbation. 

Peer Mahomed Khan, governor of i\falwa, taking 
up his residence in Shadyabad Manda, carried on 
the war against Baz Bahadur with such success 
that he compelled him to quit his dominions. He 
took the strong fort of Beejygur, and put the gar­
rison to the sword, as they obliged him to risk 
an assault. Baz Bahadur took protection under 
the ruler of Boorhanpoor, within the limits of Kan­
deish; and by his aid he made frequent incursions 
into Mahva, and kept the country in a state of 
ferment and alarm. Peer Mahomed Khan march<"d 
against Boorhanpoor, and sacked the town, when a 
cruel massacre of theinhabitantsensued,andamong 
these sufferers were many holy men. Baz Ba­
ha<lur, shortly after, induced Moobarik Khan 
Farooky, ruler of Kandeish, and Tooffal Khan, 
ruler of Berar,· to aid him, and he advanced 
towards the Moguls. The latter retreated to 
Beejygur, where, contrary to the advice of his 
officers, Peer l\fahomed Khan gaye battle to the 
confederates. He was defeated in the action, and 
eventually drowned in the retreat while crossing 
the Nerbudda. The confederates pursued the 
Moguls from place to place as far as Agra, so that 

Baz Bahadur, in the year 969, recovered 
A. H. 

96
6
9• all his dominions in Malwa. Subse-

A. D, 15 I, • 
quent to these disasters, Abdoolla Khan 

Oozbuk, governor of Kalpy, was appointed to carry 
on the war against Baz Bahadur, whom he suc­
ceedP.d in expelling a second time from Malwa. 
Baz Bahadur fled to the mountains of Koombul-



AKBUR PADSHAH. 21! 

mere; and Abdoolla Khan, established himself in 
Mando, and took up his residence in that city. 

Syud Beg, the son of l\fasoom Beg, a member of 
ihe Sufry family, arri,·ed about this time at the 
court of Agra, in character of ambassador from 
the King of Persia, bringing hanJsome offerings. 
He receiYed in return presents to the amount 
of two lacks of rupees.* Mahomed Khan Atka, 
having some time before been appointed minister 
at Dehly, with the title of Shahab- ood-Deen, ac­
quired great inllunece at court; and Adam Khan 
Koka, whom ,ve have before seen commanding 
the army in the first conquest of Malwa, being 
jealous of his power, endeayoured to effect his 
ruin; but his intrigues to that encl were discovered, 
and exposed him io shame. Adam Khan had 
determined in bis own mind on the destruction of 
the minister, and only sought for an opportunity 
to effect it. At length, one day while Shahab-ood­
Deen was sitting in the hall of audience, reading 
the Koran aloud, Adam Khan eutered and saluted 
him. The minister took no notice of him : for 
ii is not customary on such occasions to do so. 
Adam Khan, on the impulse of the moment, drew 
his dagger and stabbed the minister to the heart. 
Having commiiied this murder, Adam Khan left 
the room hastily, and ascended one of the terraces, 
where he remained till he was seized. The King, 
who was sleeping in the inner apartments, on 
hearing the noise, and on ascertaning the cause, 
arose, and without changing his sleeping dress, 

*:m,oool, 
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went to ·the spot. He was horror-struck at · the 
scene. The body of his minister lay weltering 
in his blood, while the murderer stood stupifi.ed 
on the neighbouring terrace. The first impulse 
of Akbur was to draw his sword., and put him 
to death, but recollecting his dignity, he returned 
it into the scabbard, and sternly asked the as­
~assin, why he had killed the Vizier ? Adam 
Khan made no reply, but clasping the King's 
hands, begged for mercy. ~-\kbur shook him 
from him with disgust, and ordered his attendants 
to throw him over the terrace-parapet, which was 
tweh·e guzi:i from the ground. Mahim Atka 
the unfortunate minister·s father, died with grief 
within forty days. It is proper to obsen-e here, 
that a nurse's husband and her male relations are 
called .'\tka: the wet nurse herself, in Toorky, is 
called Anka : a foster-brother is termed Kolm. t 
Moonyim Khan, formerly goYernor of Kabul, who 
was present when the murder was committed, and 
was supposed to be an accomplice, 11ecl to Lahore, 
where he was seized and sent to Agra: but as the 
proofs -.,,vere insufficient to convict hin1, he was ac­
quitted, and afterwards became a favourite with 
the King. The title and estates of the minister 
were conferred on Mirza Azeez Kolm, his eldest 

* Twenty-two feet. 
-~ It is observn.ble among nations where much deference is 

paid by the lower classes to rank, that the relatives of wet 
nurses identify themselves in a great measure with the children 
they rear, and a mutual and common interest su:isists between 
them through life. Among the Tartars this feeling is very 
prevalent ; and it exists in a considerable measure both in 
Ireland and in Scotland at the present day. 



AKBUR PADSHAH. 213 

son, but not the office. At this time, Adam 
Gukkur, disturbing the peace of Punjab, the 
oflicers of that country were ordered to reduce him, 

and to place Kumal Gukkur at the 
A. 

11
• 97°• head of the tribe. This person had 011 

A. D, 1562, 
a former occasion escaped death under 

extraordinary circumstances. Sulim Shah, having 
taken a number of Gukkurs in war, ordered a 
prison wherein they were confined at Gualiar tu 
be blown up by gunpowder; on which occasion 
Kunrn.l Gukkur had the good fortune to escape, 
being only thrown to some distance, without 
receiving any considerable injury. Kumal 
Gukkur, uniting with the i\Ioguls, marched 
against his countrymen, and having subdued 
Adam Gukkur, the latter was made prisoner. 

Khwaja l\Ioyin, the father of the famuus Mirza 
Shurf-ood-Deen Hoossein, arrived this year, from 
Toorkistan, at Lahore, where he was met by his 
son and escorted to Agra, when eyen ..:\kbur himself 
went out to congratulate him on his arrival. Not 
long after this event, Mirza Shurf-ood-Deen Hoos­
sein, suspicious of being seized, fled to Ajmere, 
and went into rebellion. Hoossein Koolly Khan 
Zoolkudr, (nephew of the late Beiram Khan, 
Khan Khanan,) haying been appointed to the gu­
,·emrnent of ~agoor, was directed to proceed 
against the insurgents. Mirza Shurf-ood-Deen 
receiving intelligence of I-Ioossein Koolly Khan ·s 
approach, left Ajmere and retreated to .l'halore 
on the Guzerat frontier; and Hoossein Koollv 

~ 

Khan, on reaching Ajmere, obtained possession 
of that fort by capitulation, from one of l\Iirza 
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Shurf-ood-Deen's officers. At this time· Shah 
Abool Maaly, a favourite officer of the late Hoo­
mayoon Padshah, returned from a pilgrimage to 
Mecca; and hearing of the defection of Mirza 
Shurf-ood-Deen joined him, and marched witli a 
body of horse towards Narnoul. Hoossein Koolly 
Khan detached two chiefs, Ahmud Beg and 
Y oosoof Beg, to oppose Shah Abool l\Iaaly, 
while he marched in person against the i\firza. The 
first detachment of the royal army was drawn into 
an ambush, and defeated with great slaughter by 
Shah Abool Maaly, the two generals having fallen 
in the action. But Abool Maaly was subsequently 
compelled to lly before another army sent by the 
King against him, first to Punjab, and eventually 
beyond the lndus, when he found protection with 
tlic Prince l\Iahomed 1-Iukeem Mirza, the King's 
younger brother, at Kabul. That l'rince gave to 
Sbali Abool Maaly his sister in marriage; and 
raised him to the first office in the pri1;cipality, 

which at this time paid little or 110 ho-
.\. 

11
• 97 1. mage to Akbur. He had not been 

A. J). 1563. 
many months at Kabul, however, before 

Shah Abool i\laaly, aspirin·g to the government, 
assassinated the Prince Mahomed H ukeem Mirza\ 
mother,* a woman of uncommon talents, nnd who, 
in reality, conducted all the business of her son's 
government. .After which, Shah Abool Mnaly 
assumed the oflice of regent during the minority of 
the young Prince. Sooliman Mirza, Prince of Ilu­
dukhshan, hearing of these proceedings, attacked 
the usurper, who lost his life in the war. Mirza 

* :\Iahomed Hukecm was only ha1£-brother to Akbur, being 
born of a different mother. 
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Shurf-ood-Deen Hoossein, after the retreat of Shah 
Abool Maaly, fle<l to Ahmudabad in Guzerat. 

It was at this time that the King was nearly bein~ 
assassinated by a retainer of Mirza Shurf-ood-Dcen 
Hoossein. The circumstances are as follow :-­
,vhile passing on the road:to Dehly, one Kootlqogh 
Folad, a slave of l\Jirza Shurf-ood-Deen, joined 
the King's retinue, and looking upwards, fixed an 
arrow in his bow, and pointed it towards the sky, 
as if going to shoot at some object in the air. The 
attendants, supposing that he was directing it at 
a bird, did not interrupt him, till having lowered 
the direction of the~ arrow towards the King, he 
discharged it, and lodged it span-deep into Akbur's 
shoulder. The weapon vvas still fast in the flesh, 
when the assassin was rut to pieces. The arrow, 
indeed, was with some difficulty extracted at the 
time, before all the attendants, while the King did 
not shrink from the operation. In about ten days, 
the wound hm·ing healed, Akbur returned to Agra, 
and soon after appointed Asuf Khan Hirvy go­
wrnor of Kurra and l\fanukpoor. 

\Vithout remaining many days at Agra, Akbur 
proceeded to Nurwur, to hunt elephants; and 
directed Abdoolla Khan Oozbuk, governor of 
l\falwa, to send his trained elephants to assist in 
the chase. Abdoolla Khan having lately evinced 
symptoms of revolt, the King made a sudden 
incursion into Malwa, in spite of the periodical 
rains, and was joined by Mahomed Kasim Khan 
Nyshapoory, jageerdar of Sarungpoor, on the 
route; but no sooner had the army arrfrcd at Oo­
jein than. i\bd9olla Khan Oozbuk, with all his 
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forces and treasure, retreated to Guzerat. The 
King pursued him about fifty miles, with a small 
body of cavalry; but he was so steadily opposed 
by Abdoolla Khan, in the end, that he was com­
pelled to retreat. The King fell back on Manda, 
where he spent some time in viewing the buildings 
erected by the kings of the Khiljian dynasty. 
During his residence there, he received in marriage 
the daughter of Meeran Moobarik Khan, ruler of 
Kancleish, who came to pay his respects and do 
homage. Having provided for the government of 
Malwa, by the nomination of Kurra Bahadur, 
the King returned towards his capital. On the 
road, he fell in with a herd of wild elephants near 
Seepry Kolarus.* He ordered his cavalry to 
surround and driYe them into a kedda, or fold, 
constructed for the purpose ; which was eff ectccl 
with some difficulty. One of the male elephants, 
finding himself confined, broke through the palisa­
does, and got into the plain. Three trained ele­
phants were sent after him, but before he was 
overpowered he afforded much sport. 

In the year 972, Khwaja Maazim, the 
A,"· 972 • husband of the King's aunt, was com-
.\. LJ, 1564. 

mitted to prison, where he died. In the 
same yeari also, thf old wall of Agra, built of 
bricks, was demolished, and the foundation of the 
new wall, of red stone, was laid, which was 
completed at the end of four years. 

Owing to the intrigues of Abdoolla Khan Ooz­
buk, so often mentioned, it was currently reported, 

* In the present day there are not such forests near Seepry 
Kolarus as to afford shelter for droves of elephants. 
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that the King had taken such a dislike to all 
of bis tribe, that he intended to seize and imprison 
the whole of the Oozbuk chiefs. This rumour 
gained such credit, that Sikundur Khan an~ 
Ibrahim Khan, Oozbuks, beside others who had 
governments in the neighbourhood of Joonpoor 
and Behar, went into open revolt. Khan Zuma 
and his brother Bahadur Khan Seestany, who, 
though their mother ·was a native of Isfahan, and 
they were both born in Erak, yet being of Oozbuk 
descent on their father's side, identified themselrns 
with the insurgents. Asuf Khan Hirvy, governor 
of Kurra, also withhel<l a part of the King's 
treasure in his hands, and took part with them, 
so that, in a short time, the rebels mustered a 
force of thirty thousand horse, with which they 
ravaged the territories of Behar and Joonpoor. 

The King, without appearing to notice the re­
volt, proceeded on a hunting party towards 
Nurwur, in an opposite direction from the scene, 
but he took secret measures to dissolve the 
confederacy. Ashruf Khan Moonshy was employed 
privately to endeavour to bring Sikundur Khan 
Oozbuk over from his faction; and Lushkur Khan 
Bukhshy was sent with a body of horse to seize the 
treasure of Asuf Khan Hirvy. The story regarding 
this treasure is as follows :-

When Asuf Khan was raised to the rank of a 
noble of five thousand horse, and procured the 
goverment of Kurra Manikpoor, he obtained per­
mjssion of the King to subdue a country called 
Gurra, at that time governed by a Rany (a Hindoo 
queen) whose name was Doorgawutty, as 
celebrated for her beauty as for her good sense. 
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Asuf Khan Hirvy heard of the riches of this 
country, and visited with constant depredations, 
till at length he marched with a force of between 
five and six thousand cavalry· and infantry to 
Gurr;:i. The Queen opposed him with an army 
of fifteen hundred elephants, and eight thousand 
horse and foot. Under these circumstances a 
sanguinary battle took place, in which the Queen, 
who was on an elephant, having received an arrow 
in her eye, was unable to give orders ; but 
apprehending the disgrace of being taken prisoner, 
she snatched a dagger out of the girdle of the 
elephant driver, and stabbed herself. Her country 
fell into the hands of Asuf Khan Hirvy. Asuf 
Khan next proceeded to Chouraghur, and took it 
by storm, and the son of the Rany, or Queen, who 
was but an infant, was trodden to death in the 
confusion. Independently of the jewels, the 
images of gold and silver, and other valuables, 
no fewer than a hundred jars of gold coins of the 
reign of Alla-ood-Deen Khiljy also fell into the 
hands of the conqueror. Of all this bootv Asuf 
Khan presented to the King only a smail part; 
and of a thousand elephants, which he took, he 
sent only three hundred indifferent animals to the 
King, and none of the jewels. 

Finding that Lushkur Khan was unable to 
subdue Asuf Khan, the King determined to 
march in person to Gurra. Leaving Nurwur, 
therefore, he continued his route for some days; 
but was seized with a fever owing to the extreme 
heat which prevails in that sandy soil, and returned 
to Agra. On this occasion he detached Shaheen 
Khan Julabir, Shah Boodagh Khan, Mahomed 
Ameen Di wana, and other 9fficers, against Sikundur 
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Khan Oozbuk. This army was defeated, and 
the principal officers, Shah Boodagh Khan 
and Mahomed Ameen Di wana, were taken pri­
soners. The King having sufficiently recovered, 

Shuval, sent Moonyim Khan, Khan Khanan, 
A. H. 973. with another army against the 

April, Oozbuks, and in the month of Shuval, 
A, n. z566. 973, followed in person. 

On reaching Kunowj, Akbur selected a body 
of horse, and made a forced march towards 
Luknow to surprise Sikundur Khan; but the 
latter gained information of this movement, and 
evacuating the place joined Khan Zuman, with 
whom he crossed the Ganges. The King, 
proceeding to Joonpoor, was met by t\s~1f Khan 
Hirvy, who now sued for pardon; and through 
the mediation of Mujnoon Khan was admitted to 
the presence, and restored to favour. A few days 
afterwards Asuf Khan Hirvy was detached with 
five thousand horse against the confederated 
Oozbuk chiefs. On arriving at the ferry of 
Hundia, .\suE Khan was opposed by the enemy, 
and instead of endeavouring to force the passage 
of the river, he exhausted the time in idle 
negotiations, for which he had no authority. The 
King, informed of his negligence, depri\·ed him 
of his office as governor of J oonpoor, on which 
both Asuf Khan and his brother quitted the army, 
and again retired to Gurra. 

Mounyim Khan was ordered to take charge of 
the division which Asuf Khan had thus forsaken ; 
but the confederates, under Sikundur Khan and 
Bahadur Khan, having in the mean time crossed 
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the Jumna, raise<l <listurbances in the Dooab, while 
Khan Zuman defeated a body of the King's troops 
on the banks of the Ganges. Akbur, informed of 
these events, sent a division, under the command 
of Meer Moiz-ool-Moolk, to arrest the progress of 
the Oozbuks. At this time, Khan Zuman, 
repenting of the part he had taken, deputed his 
mother and Ibrahim Khan Oozbuk to convey a 
number of elephants and other presents to the 
King ; and through tl1e intercession of Moonyim 
Khan he was not only pardoned, but all his estates 
and honours were restored to him. 

Meer Moiz-ool-Jfoolk having overtaken Sikun­
dur Khan Oozbuk and Bahadur Khan Seestany, 
was on the point of attacking them, when he re­
ceiYed a message from the latter, acquainting him 
that his brother, Khan Zuman, had sent his mother 
with presents to the King, to intercede for pardon, 
and proposed, therefore, that he should suspend 
hostilities, till he heard the result of that 
negotiation. i\-leer Moiz-ool-Moolk paid no regard 
to the communication, but proceeded to the attack, 
obliging Sikundur Khan to fall bark, with great 
loss, on the main body of the army, commanded 
by Dahadur Khan. The royalists, on the retreat 
of Sikunclur Khan, concluding the victory was 
complete, pursued the enemy without observi11 ,,. 

any order; but they were receiYed so steadily b; 
Bahadur Khan See5tany, that in the end they 
sustained a total defeat ; anti. flying, panic-struck, 
could not be induced to stand, and . face the 
pursuers, so that the insurgents gained an entire 
victory; nor did the royalist general halt, with the 
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scattered remains of his army, till he conveyed 
news of his own disaster to the King at Kunowj. 

Akbur, in the mean time, haYing concluded 
terms with Khan Zuman, went to Chunar and 
Benares; but the news of the late action no sooner 
reached Khan Zuman than he again revolted, 
and occupied Ghazipoor and the adjacent 
country. The King very naturally accused 
Moonyim Khan, through whose mediation Khan 
Zuman had been pardoned, of betraying him; and 
having caused the mother of the latter to be 
confined in Joonpoor, proceeded with all 
expedition against him. Bahadur Khan Seestany, 
taking adyantagc of the King's absence, attacked 
Joonpoor, and carried it by escalade, where he 
released his mother,* and placed Ashruf Khan, 
the governor, with all the principal persons in the 
garrison, in confinement. 

Akbur, on learning the capture of Joonpoor, 
and conceiving the war in that quarter to be of 
the first importance, re_linquished the pursuit of 
Khan Zuman, and returned thither. Here he 
issued orders, commanding all the governors of 
the neighbouring provinces to join him with their 
forces. Bahaclur Khan, seeing such formidable 
preparations in the provinces which remained 
loyal, evacuated Joonpoor, and lled towards 
Benares, as Akbur approached, and despairing of 
success, addressed the King a second time for 
pardon, which was granted; and the restoration 
of his estates and honours also took place. It 
was observed by one of the kings of old, "If a 
"king's subjects only knew the pleasure there is in 

* She was the mother both of Khan Zuman and Bahadur 
Khan Seestany. 
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"conferring a favour, they would never approach 
"him but with a request;" and in reality there is 
a gratification in having it in one's power to 
pardon, far superior to that of indulging in 
revenge. The King, after passing his royal word, 
ordered Khan Zuman to court; but he excused 

himself, pretending "that shame for 
A. u. 974· "his past offences alone prevented him 
A, D, 1566. . 

" from appearing m the presence, till 
"time should ha\'e convinced his l\Iajesty of his 
"loyalty; but that when the King should return 
"to Agra, both he and his brother Bahadur 
"Khan would at a future time pay their respects.'' 
On his arrival at .:\gra, Akhur deputed lVIehdy 
Kasim Khan, with four thousand horse, to march 
against .\suf Khan Hirvy, and expel him from 
Gurra, of which he still retained possession. 

Khan Zuman, so far from having reformed, took 
this opportunity to strengthen his party, and 
sought an alliance with .-\suf Khan Hirvy; but 
the latter, finding himself neglected by Khan 
Zuman: retreated sullenly to Gurra, to ,vhich 
place he was pursued by Bahadur Khan, defeated, 
and taken prisoner. .:-\suf Khan's brother, ·vizier 
Khan, escaped during the action; and having 
rallied the troops, returned at night, surprised the 
conquerors, and rescued Asuf Khan. The brothers 
now proceeded lo Gurrn, which they retained in 
their hands in spite of the King. 

About this time an envoy arrived, on the part of 
Mahomed Hukeern Mirza, from Kabul, acquainting 
him that Sooliman Mirza, chief of Budukhshan, had 
from the t imehe defeated and slew Shah Abool Maaly 
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continued to read the Khootba in his own name; 
that he had appointed one Mirza Sooltan to rule in 
Kabul on his behalf, but that Mahomed Hukeem 
Mirza having expelled him, Sooliman Mirza was 
again preparing to invade Kabul. Under these 
circumstances, he earnestly entreated the King's 
aid to oppose him. The King, dreading the en­
croachments of his northern enemies more than 
those in the eastern provinces, ordered the officers 
in Punjab to place themselves under the orders 
of Mahomed Koolly Khan, governor of Mooltan, 
and march to the aid of Mahomed H ukeem Mirza, 
as soon as they should learn for certain of Sooliman 
Mirza's advance on Kabul. Fureedoon Khan 
Kabully was also sent from the presence, with his 
corps, to support Mahomed Hukeem Mirza; but 
before the King's orders reached Punjab or Mool­
tan, Sooliman l\!Iirza had invested Kabul, and 
Mahomed Hukeem Mirza being unsupported, was 
compelled to evacuate it. He .11ec1 to the east­
ward, and retreating in the direction of the Indus, 
was met by Fureedoon Khan, marching to his 
assistance. This chief recommended Mahomecl 
Hukeem Mirza to seize upon-Lahore, a~ an equi­
valent for the loss he had sustained, and assured 
him that Akbur was in no condition to oppose 
him, being already engaged in a war with the 
Oozbuks, who had seized all the eastern provin­
ces; he observed, also, that being once in posses­
sion of Lahore and the Punjab, he would find 
little difficulty, at some future time, in expelling 
Sooliman Mirzn from Kabul. Mahomed Hukeem 
Mirza did not hesitate to adopt this advise; and 
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taking measures to put it into execution, marched 
towards Lahore, in conjunction with Fureedoon 
Khan. The Prince's design, however, was soon 
made public ; and the officers of Punjab, parti­
cularly Kootub Kh~n Atka and Peer Mahomcd 
Khan, 1=~ threw troops "in to the city of Lahore, and 
prepared for its defence. Mahomed Hukeem Mir­
za, meanwhile, arrived before Lahore, and in vain 
used every art and persuasion to gain over those 
officers to his interest. 

Akbur, conceiving no time should be lost in 
counteracting his brother's plans, laid aside for 
the present his projected expedition against the 
Oozbuks in the Dooab, and directed his march to 
Lahore. Agra was left under the government of 

Jumad-ool- his faithful general, l\tloonyim Khan, 
Awul q. and on the 14th of Juman-ool-Awul the 
A. 1-1. 974. King moved to the north. The news of 
Nov. 28. his arrival at Surhind having reached 

A. D. 
1566· Lahore, the citizens began to beat their 

drums, and to sound their trumpets for joy. This 
unusual noise attracted the attention of Mahomed 
Hukeem Mirza, who was asleep at the time: he 
asked what it meaned, and was told that the King 
in person had come expeditiously from Agra. Ma­
homed Hukeem Mirza, believing that Akbur 
was dose on Lahore, mounted his horse on the 
spur of the moment, and retreated precipitately 
with his cavalry towards Kabul; and fortun­
ately reached that city so opportunely as to take 

* T~is person is distinct from him who was the King's pre• 
ceptor, and who lost his life in crossing the Nerbudda. Vide 
p. 2JO, 
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it by surprise, Sobliman Mirza having rr.tired to 
Budukhshan during the winter. The King, in the 
mean time, advanced slowly to Lahore, where he 
spent a few days in hunting, and was suddenly 
joined by Vizier Khan, the brother of Asuf Khan 
Hirvy, who had come to court to obtain pardon for 
the offences of his brother and himself; which was 
not only grnnted, but tlu>:y were directed to act in 
conjunction with Mujnoon Khan Kbakshal, for the 
protection of K urra ;_\fan ukpoor. 

About this time the sons and descendants of 
Mahomecl Sooltan l\Iirza went into rebellion. 
This Prince derives his descent in the paternal line 
from Ameer Teimoor Korkan, as is stated in the 
memoirs of Babur, his mother being the daughter 
of Sooltan Hoossein l\Iirza. During the reign of 
Hoomayoon, he evinced the blaclwst ingratitude 
to that monarch, but he was generously pardoned. 
His eldest son, Alugh :\Iirza, fell in action against 
the Huzaras, and his youngest son, Shah Mirza, 
died a natural death. Alugh Mirza left two sons, 
Sikundur and i\fahomed; tltnugh Hoomayoon 
Padshah used to call the eltle::; t by the n.i me of his 
fathei:, Al ugh :\Iirza, and the youngest by that of 
his uncle, Shah .Mirza.* Taking these children 
under his own especial care: he caused them to be 
educated at court; and on the accession of Akbar 
Padshah to the throne, l\Iahometl Sooltan i.\'lirza 
returned to India, and had the district of 
Sumbhul conferred on him for his maintenance. 

* See genealogy of the i\Iogul dynasty. 

VOL. II.-29. 
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Notwithstanding his advanced age, Mahomed 
Sooltan Mirza had four sons afterwards; viz. 

I. Mahomed Hoossein Mirza. 
2. Ibrahim Mirza. 
3. Hoossein i.Wi rza. 
4. Akil Mirza. 

All of whom were enrolled among the nobles of 
Akbur's court, while still in their minority; and 
after attending the King's army in the late war 
against the Oozbuks of Joonpoor, they retired to 
their estates at Sumbhul. \Vhen the King sub­
sequently proceeded against Mahomed Hukeem 
l\Erza in the Punjab, these four chiefs, in con­
junction with their nephews, Sikundur and Ma­
homed, (entitled Alugh Mirza, and Shah Mirza,) 
went into rebellion, and collecting a numbrr 
of disaffected persons, commenced to levy con­
tributions on the King's provinces. The jageer­
dars in their vicinity, however, treating them as 
common marauders, expelled them from Sumbhul, 
from whence they proceeded to Malwa. Moonyim 
Khan, in the mean time, contrived to obtain posses­
sion of the person of '.\faliomed Sooltan Mirza and 
placing him in confinement in Byana, he remained 
there till he died a natural death. 

The Oozbuk chiefs, availing themselves of the 
King's absence, took Kunowj and Oude, and ex­
tended their conquest on all quarters. These 
events obliged him to return to Agra, where 
having collected his troops, he proceeded to Joon­
poor. Khan Zuman Khan, who was then besieging 
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Yoosoof "Khan in the fort of Sheergur, hearip.g 9£ 
the King's approach, retreated to Kurra, in which 
place his brother, Bahadur Khan Seestany, had 
closely beset Mujnoon Khan and Asuf Khan 
Hirvy. The King continued in pursuit of Khan 
Zuman: and on reaching the town of Ray Barely, 
heard that he had crossed the Ganges, and was in 
full retreat to l\Iahrn, either to join the sons of 
l\Iahomed Sool tan Mirza, or to form an alliance 
with the Kings of the Deccan. This information 
determined Akbur, if possible, to OVE'rtake him. 
On arri,·ing at the ferry of !\lanukpoor, in the 
evening, no boats being procurable, he mounted 

his elephant, and, contrary to the ad­
A. 11 · 97f· Yice of his oHicers, urged the animal into 

A. D, I 566. I . 1 . I l d H t 1e river w 11c 1 was t 1en eep. e 
had the good fortune to pass in safety without 
the necessity of the elephant swimming; but his 
body guard, one hundred of whom plunged into 
the stream, gained the opposite bank with difficul­
ty. \Vith this small party Akbur proceeded, and 
in the morning, appeared before the enemy's camp, 
where Asuf Khan Hirvy and Mujnoon Khau joined 
him with the garrison of Kurra. 

The enemy, little supposiug the King would 
attempt to cross the river without his army, passed 
the night in festi,·ity, and could hardly believe 
their senses when they heard the royal nukara. * 
They lost no time, however, informing their line and 
a battle ensued, vvhid1 commenced at nine o'clock, 

* The royal kc! tie-drum. 
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on Monday the 1st of Zeehuj, A.H. 974. 
Baba Khan Ka jar, who commanded the 
King's advanced party, penetrated into 
the camp of the insurgents, but was re­

pulsed by Bahadur Khan Seestany; and falling 
back in confusion on the King's line, created some 
disorder. Bahadur Khan Seestany, following up his 
advantage, penetrated to the spot where the King 
commanded in person. Akbur found it necessary to 
dismount Irom his elephant, and take to his horse: 
but an arrow lmYing killed Bahadur Khan's charger 
at this very moment, he ,vas obliged to retreat on 
foot, and bis party dispersed. The Kiug now com­
manded his elephants to adyance rapidly, and the 
enemv were driyen off the field. Khan Zuman 
received an arrow wound, which he \\"as iu the 
act of extrar.ting, "·lien his horse also fell ; and 
before he could mount another, the elephant called 
Hursook, pushing forward, trod him to death. 
Dahaclur 1-(han was taken prisoner during the 
action ; and when brought before the King, he was 
asked what injury he had sustained to prm·oke him 
to dra,v his sword against him? He made no 
defence, but exclaimed, "Praise be to God thal l1t· 
" has reserved me once more lo see your :\la -
" jesty"s countenance." The King ordered him tu 
be taken care of; but the fate of Khan .%uman 
being still uuknuwn, sume of the oflicers put him 
to death without orders. The heads of the two 
brothers were sent tu Punjab and Kabul. Jan 
.\lly Ileg Oozbuk, Yar Ally Beg, Mirza Beg, 
Khooshal Beg, Mirza Shah Beg, and :\.lly Shah 
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Budukhshy, were all made prisoners; and having 
accompanied the King as far as Joonpoor, they 
were trodden to death by elephants. After this 
victory, the goyernment of Joonpoor ,vas confer­
red on Moonyim Khan, Khan Khanan. Sikundur 
Khan Oozbuk, who was now besieged in the fort 
of Oude, was compelled to Hy to Gorukpoor. 
The rebellion of the Oozbuks was thus considered 
i\fohurrum, at an eud, so that in the month of 

A, H. 975. Mohurrum, 9i5, the army returned to 
July, ,:\gra. After these events, the King 

A. u. i5b7. marched against Rana Oody Sing, 
who had not yet submitted to the :.\Iogul arms. 
Having reached Shewpoor, tl1e gm·ernor, evacuat­
ing the place, took refuge with Soorjun Ray, the 
Raja of Runtunbhore; and .\kbur, having left a 

garrison in Shewpoor, proceeded to the fort of 
Gungrar, on the frontier of i\falwa. The sons of 
Mahomecl Sooltau l\Iirza, now in :\Iaudo, hearing 
of his approach, were not \Yithout apprehension 
for themselves; and .--\lugh Mirza dying about 
this time, the other Mirzas llcd to Guzerat. 

The King left Malwa under charge of Shahab­
ootl-Deen .\hrnud Khan ~ysliapoory, and march• 
eel from Gungrar to Chitt,,or. Here the Rana 
leaving eight thousand H.ajpuots with an ample 
supply of lJro\·isiom, in tl1e foi·t, retired with his 
family to a country he deemed more iuacTessible . 
. \kbur, having im·ested Chittoor, employed five 
thousand workmen of different descriptions to con-

• duct the siege. The appruache~ were made by sabat, 
a description of defence for the besiegers peculiar to 
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lndia. * The sauat:; are constructed in the follow­
ing manner. The zig-zags, commencing at gun­
shot distance from the fort, consist of a double 
wall, and by means of blinds or stuffed gabions 
con>.red ,vith leather the besiegers continue their 
appruad1es till they arri\"e ne;:ir to the walls of 
the place to be attacked. The miners then pro­
ceed to ~ink their shafts, and carry on their galle­
ries under ground, for the construction of the 
mines, in which haYing placed the powder and 
blown up the works, the storming party rushes 
frum the sabat, or superior galleries, and assaults 
tl1e place. t On the present occasion, two sabats, 
or superior galleries, having been constructed, tvvo 
mines were carric<l under bastions at different 
spob, anc.l th<>y \\'ere both fired at the same time. 
It happem~d that oue of them exploded 

* The arts o[ mining and the construction of military 
liehl-works seem to hnve been familiar to the nf'ltions of India 
for many ages. The skill they <lisplayecl at the siege of 
Ahmuclnuggur in 159.5, again~t the :Moguls, and in those of 
Kero\\'ly :n :Ro7, an<l of Bhurtpoor in 1826, against British 
troop~, from whom they could not have learner. the science 
of mining-, bespeak~ the fact ; while our armies in ~epal in 
18 q, an<l in the late Burmese ,Yar, experienced the facility 
and rapidity with which nations unacquainted either with 
l\fahomedans or Europeans are accustomed to construct mili­
tary 11eld-works, and the judgmt:nt they display in the selec­
tion of advantageou~ positions for them. 

I It is curious to percei\·e how completely this mode of 
atti;.ck corre,;pouds with the practice of Vauban and the best 
engineC'rs of mf1clern times, and sr.rves to show how scientiftc 
and methodical the l\Ioguls were in the conduct of sieges two 
centuries and a half ago. The double walls alluded to arc the 
contents of tl1C' trenches thrown up on each side of the approa­
ches. The stuffed gabions were rolled on in front of the 
workmen, as is customary at the present day in Europe. 
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before the other, and a practicable breach was 
formed. Two thousand men, prepared to storm, 
advanced immediately, under the supposition 
that both mines had been sprung, and the parties 
divided, in order to enter both breaches at once. 
One of the minrs, howen•r, exploded, only just as 

one of the parties got close O\'N it, when five lnm­
dred men were killed, besides a number of the 
enemy who were crowded on the bastion. Of the 
l\foguls, fifteen officers suiTered on this occasion, 
among whom were Syud .lumal-ood-Deen Khan 
Bar ha Murdan Koollv Shah and others. The con­
sequence was, that both attacks failed. Other 
mines were directed to be cnnstructecl, and as the 
works were in progress, the King, while in the 
batteries, observed Jugmul, the governor of the 
place, superintending the repairing of the brea­
ches, and giving his orders by torchlight. :\kbur, 
seizing a matchlock from one of his attend.ant's, 
fired at him, and was so fortunate as to lodge the 
ball in Jugmul's forehead. The spirit of the besie­
ged fell with their gm·ernor: and in their despair, 
they performed thP cerPmony of the jowhur, and 
putting their wiYes and children to death, burned 
them with the corpse of their chief on a funeral 
pile. The King, percei,·ing what was in progress 
within the fort, advanced under the cover of 
night to the breaches, and founcl them abandoned

1 
so that he entered the fort without opposition. 
Daylight appeared, and still not a soul was to 
be seen of the garrison; all had retired to their 
temples, and, as usual, refused quarter. The 
King, mounting his elephant, ordered the temples 
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to be stormed, when ten thousand Rajpoots fell in 
the assault, while, with the exception of one 
Noosrut Ally, not a Mahomedan lost his life. The 
command of Chittoor bP.ing conferred on Asuf 
Khan Hirvv, the King returned to his capital. 

On t.he ro·ad to Agra: a tiger being roused, Akbur 
directed no one to approach it; hut riding forward 
himself, he discharged seyeral arrO\vs at him. The 
animal remained q~1iet below some rising ground, 
on which the King had t.aken post. .Akbur now 
fired a musket-shot, which having struck the brute 
he rushed directly upon him. :\dil Khan, one of 
the attendants, gallantly interposing, wounded the 
tiger severely with his sword, and other men having 
run in, cut the tiger in pieces with their swords. 

At Agra Akbur rereived adyices that Ibrahim 
Mirza nncl :\Iahomecl Hoossein i\firza, hm·ing se­
parated from Chungiz Khan,* the ruler of Guzerat, 
had returned to I\falwa, and commenced hostilities 
by laying siege t.o Oojein. Kullich Khan Indijany 
and Khwaja Gheias-ood-Deen Kuzveeny Bukhshy 
were accordingly deputed to expel them; and on 
their approach, the i.\Iirz:as retreating precipitately, 
crossed the Nurbudda, and again sought refuge in 
Gnzerat. 

Rujub, In the month of Rujub, in the year 
A, H. 976. 976, the King marched from Agra to 

December, reduce Runtunbhore, then in posses­
A. 

0
• 

1568· sion of Raja Soorjun Ray, who having 
purchased the fort from Hijaz Khan, an officer of 

* After the expulsion of Hoomayoon's generals from Gu­
zcrat, Bahaclur Shah recovered his kingdom, which retained 
its independence up to the time at which the present history 
has arrived. 
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Sulim Shah's time, resolved to defend it. On 
Ifomzan 2:i. the 22d of Rumzan, 976, the King 

A. 1-1. 976. invested the place, and caused a battery 
March r7. to be constructed on an adjoining hill, 

.\. n. 1 .559· called ~Iudun; where he posted a few 
guns, a measure no one had e,·er before attempt­
ed. At every discharge a number of the houses 
were laid in ruins, till at length Raja Soorjun Ray 
capitulating, he was permitted to mmd1 out t:n­
molested with all his family. 

;\klmr, after this conquest, made a pilgri­
mage to the shrine of Khwaja Moyin-ood-Deen 
Chishty, at .:\jmere, and returned to :\gra; from 
whence he proceeded to visit the venerable Sheikh 
Sulim Chishty, in the village of Seekry. As all 
the King's children had hitherto died, he solicited 
the Sheikh's prayers, who consoled him, by assur­
ing him h0 would soon have a son, who would 
live to a good old age. Shortly after, the fa­
vourite Sooltana, being then pregnant, on ~'ed­
Rubbee-ool nesday the r7th of Rubbee-ool-Awul, 
-Awul 17. in the year 977, was delivered of a 
A. 11. 977- son, who was called Sulim. On this 
Sept. 2 · occasion the King published an act of 

.\. n. 1 569· grace to all prisoners; and having 
performed a pilgrimage on foot to the shrine of 
Khwaja l\Ioyin-ood-Deen, at Ajmere, returned 
by the route of Dehly, enjoying the diversion of 
the chase on his road back. 

Preparations we:re now made for the siege of 
Kalunjur. Raja Ram Chundur, who had obtained 
possession of this fort from the officers of Sulim 
Shah, had heard of the fate of the garrison of Chit -
toor, and accordingly made terms for delivering 

VOL. II.-39. 
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l\fohurrum 3. Kalunjur to the Kir~g. On the 3d of Mo­
A. 11. 978. hurrum, 978, the Kmg had another son 
June 7. born to him in the house of the vener-

A, n. 157°· able Sheikh Sulim, whom he called 
l\Ioorad. On this occasion, also, he made another 
pilgrimage to Ajmere, and ordered the town to be 
fortified with a stone wall. From thence he pro­
ceeded to Nagore, where Chunder Sein, the son 
of Raja 1Ialdew, and Kullian Mu11, the Raja of 
Bhikanere, came out to meet him with valuable 
presents. The King having receiYed the daughter 
of Raja K.ullian i\lull in marriage, marched from 
Nagore to Ajoodhun, when having Yisited the 
shrine of Sheikh Fureecl-ood-Deen Gunj Shukur, 
he proceeded to Depalpoor, ,vhere Mirza Azeez 
Kolm, the goyemor, made handsome presents. 
Su!Tur 1 . On the 1st of Suffur, 979, the Em-
A. 11. 97,3. peror marched towards Hissar Feroz,1, 
June 2+. and proceeded by the route of Ajmerc 
A. n. 1577• to Agra. Sikundur Khan Oozbuk, 
who had been long wandering among the woods 
of Bengal, was no,v introduced by Moonyim 
Khan, governor of Joonpoor, to the King, and 
on due contrition recei,·ed the royal pardon. 

The King considering the village of Seekry a 
particularly propitious spot, two of his sons 
having been born there, he ordered the foundation 
of a city to be laid, which, after the conquest of 
Guzerat, he called Futtehpoor. The govern­
ment of Guzerat being torn by intestine factions, 
Akbur thought proper to proceed thither in 
person; and having marched to Ajmere, and 
paid his devotions at the sainted shrines, and 
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solicited the prayers of Khwaja Syud Hoossein 
Khing-Sowar, he detached his general, Khwaja_ 

Kullan, in advance, _following himself Jumad-ool-
Awul 2. with the main body of the army. In 

A. 11. 980. the mean time he appointed Ray Sing 
Sept. Y· to the government of Jodpoor, the for-

A. n. 157 2
• mer residence of Raja l\faldew. \Vhen 

arrived within two marches of Nagore, the King 
received advice of the birth of another son, on the 
second of Jumad-ool-:\wul, in the house of Sheikh 
Daniel, whom he called Daniel Mirza. 

The King's army appearing before Puttun, in 
Guzerat, Sheer Khan Folady, an officer of rank in 
the Guzerat kingdom, abandoned his post and 
fled. The gm·ernment was conferred on Syud 
!\hmud Khan 13arha, and the army marched in 
the course of a week in the direction of :\hmuda­
bad. Before it had proceeded two stages, i\Ioozu­
ffur Shah, King of Guzerat, came to meet .:\kbur, 
and was introduced by i\Ieer _\boo Toorab 
Shirazy, who, though a native of Guzerat, was 
of true Syud descent, and born of Persian parents. 

On the following clay, Etirnad Khan, Syud 
Chand Khan Bokhary, Yekhtyar-ool-Moolk, Mul­
lik Ashruf, \Vujee-ool-l\Ioolk, :\.luf Khan Hubshy, 
Joojhar Khan Hubshy, and other Ci:uzerat chiefs, 
came to pay their respects; but as the Hubshies1

'} 

were strongly suspected of disaffection to the Mo­
guls, they were for the present kept under restraint. 
The city of Ahrnudabad fell in this manner with­
out a blow into the hands of Akbur Paclshah, as 
will appear in detail in the history of the kings of 

* Abyssinians. 
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Guzerat. Ibrahim Hoossein Mirza, however, was 
still a,t the head of an independent army at Ba­
roath, and his brother, J\Iahomed Hoossein Mirza, 
at the head of another considerable force near Su-

rat. Yekhtvar-ool-1\Ioolk, also, one of 
· A. 

11
• 980

• ti1e Guzerat o!Iicers who had joined the 
A. n. 

1572
· King, fled at this time, in order to create 

an insurrection. It·was thought proper, therefore, 
that the other Guzerat chiefs should be placed 
under restraint. On the arrival of the army at 
Cambay, the King appointing Mirza Azeez Koka 
gover:rior"of ~\hmuclabad, proceeded towards Ba­
roach: but Ibrahim Hoossein l\Iirza, hearing of 
Akbur's approal'h, .and suspecting the fidelity of 
Roosfoom Khan Roomy, one of his' oflicers, put him 
to death ; and having resolved to avoid the Mo­
gul army by about. fort.y coss (sixty miles), deter­
mined to march into Punjab. and create an insur­
rection in that quarter. The King receiving in­
telligence of Ibrahim Hoossein i\11irza's intentions 
at nine o'clock at night, took a small body of horse 
with him, lea,·ing in camp his son, the Prince Su­
lim, under charge of Khwaja .Tehan and Kullidt · 
Khan Iudijany, and marched with expedition to 
cut off Ibrahim Hoo::;sein i\Iirza's ret.reat. Next dm_.· 
011 t'eaching the riYer Mhendry, which rui1s by tl;e 
tom1 of Surtal, the King found his party reduced 
to forty troopers, and ·he. could perceiYe Ibrahim 
Hoo::;sein ~Iiiza encamped \\-ith one thousand men 
·on. the opposite bank of the ri,·er. At this 
cns1s Syud .Mahmood Khan Barba, Raja 
Bugwandas, Raja Man-Sing, Shah -Koolly Khan, 
Soorjun · Ray, Raja of Ru~tunbho.re, and other 
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·chiefs,* who had been detached to Surat, and had 
been recalled, joined the King with seventy horse."· 
men. ,vith this small reinforcement, with~ut 
waiting for more troops, which would shortly have 
arrived, Akbur resoh-ed to attack the enemv. His 

J 

whole party did not exceed one hundred and fifty-
six men. Raja Man-Sing led the ad,·ance, and 
having crossed the river first, instantly charged 
Ibrahim Hoossein Mirza; but he \Yasso galled by 
the enemy's archers, that he was compelled to fall 
back; and the King, ,Yho was with this band of 
Rajpoots, found it necessary to halt in a lane, 
formed by hedges of the prickly pear,t \\·hich did 
not admit of more than three horsemen riding 
abreast. In this situation, three of the enemy's 
horsemen galloped up the lane, and attacked Ak­
bur as he stood in advance of his men. Raja 
13hugwandas gallantly threw himself forward, 
and recei,·ed one of the horsemen on his spear, 
dismounted him, and ha,·ing instantly charged 
another, the remaining horsemen ·Hee.I, and was 
pursued by Raja Bhugwandas and his brother. 
The latter displayed, on this day, the heroism of 
Hoostoom and Isfundyar, and penetrating beyond 

· the lane, he repeatedly charged through a body 
of one liundrecl men, and e,·entually lost his life. 
The King, meanwhile, following him gailed 
the enemy with arrows, till perceiYing Ibi-ahini 

* The employment of these Hindoo chiefs is a remarkable 
· feature in the policy of Akbur·; and to it chiefly must he ascrib­
ed the rapid progress of his power, 

·t A species of coarse Euphoruia, admirably calculated for 
hedges, 
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Hoossein Mirza, he charged full at him, but the lat­
ter having a more speedy horse effected his escape. 
\Ve hardly know any instance of a King having 
displayed so much indiYidual courage and intre­
pidity as A.kbur did throughout this transaction, 
though it must be admitted he exposed his own 
person very unnecessarily. The King, contenting 
himself with this achievement, desisted from 
pursuit, and waiting till his army arrived, march­
ed and laid siege to Surat. In this place. was 
Goolrokh Begum, the daughter of Kamran Mirza, 
and wife of Ibrahim Hoossein Mirza/'; On the 
appearance of the Dehly troops, the Princess fled 
to the Deccan, lem-ing the officers of her husband 
to defend the place, but carrying with her an in­
fant son, Moozuffur Mirza. l\leanwhile the other 
i\'l-irzas haYing collected troops in the vicinity or 
Puttun, held a council of war, in which it was 
resolved ihat Ibrahim Hoossein Mirza, and his 
younger brother i\Iusaood Hoossein i\'lirza, should 
prosecute a predatory warfare in Punjab, and 
that Mahomed Hoossein Mirza and Shah Mirza, 
in conjunction \Yith Sheer Khan Folady, should 
attack Puttun, in order to make a diversion there­
by in favour of Surat. 

Ibrahim Hoossein 1\Iirza having reached Nagore, 
Ray Sing, gm-ernor of Jodpoor, ·went in pursuit, 
and coming up with him.one evening, at a place 
where there was no water but what Ibrahim 
Hoossein Mirza had secured, was induced to attack 
him ,;yithout a moment's delay; on which occa­
sion many persons on both sides lost their 

* She was, consequently, Akbur's first cousin, 
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lives. Ibrahim Hoossein Mirza's horse 
A,"· 9S1. being killed, his army gave way; but 
A, D, 1573. 

mounting another horse, he fled towards 
Dehly, and gi,·ing up his intentions on Lahore, 
proceeded to his paternal estate of Sumbhul. Ma­
homed Hoossein l\Iirza, Shah Mirza, and Sheer 
Khan Folady, still conducted the siege of Puttun, 
defended by Syud Ahmud Khan Barba, till Mirza 
Azeez Koka, coming to its relief with the army 
from Ahmudabad, the 1\Iirzas gave him battle. 
Mirza Azeez Kolm had at first the disadYantage by 
both his wings being throvvn into disorder, when 
Roostoom Khan, and l\Iootullub Khan rallying 
the troops, made another and successful charge, 
when they broke the armv of i\Iahomed Hoossein 

- J 

Mirza, who fled towards the Deccan. 

As soon as the batteries were constructed at Surat 
for besieging the place, the inhabitants of the town, 
unable to resist, surrendered, and the King having 
gained his object, marched to Alnnudabad. Shurf­
ood-Deen Hoossein Mirza, who having Hetl ten 
years before had found protection with the Raja 
of Buglana, a prince of the Deccan, attempted 
at this time to penetrate through the hills, and 
unite with the other Mirzas now in reYolt; but 
being seized by the Raja with whom be had 
sought an asylum, he was defo·ered up into the 
King's hands, when after being degraded he was 
sent to the fort of Gualiar, where he eventually 
died. The mother of Chungiz Khan, the late 
regent of Guzerat, at this time preferred a com­
plaint to Akbur, that Joojhar Khan Hubshy had 
put her son to death. The King, who only wanted 
an excuse to get rid of Joojhar Khan, caused him to 
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be trod to death by an elephant; and having dis­
Suffur 2 • tributecl the several districts of Guzerat 
A. H. 981. among the relatives of Mirza Azeez 
June+ Koka, he returned to Agra, which he 

.-\. n. 1573• reached on the 2d of Suffur, A. H. 981. 
i\Ieanwhile Ibrahim Hoossein Mirza arrived at 

Sunibhul, and hearing that the chiefs of Punjab, 
under Hoossein Koolly Khan, were engaged in be­
sieging the fort of Nagrakote, he resolved to march 
to that quarter, which he expeded to find unpro­
tected; and after plundering it, he intended to 
join his friends in Guzerat, by the route of Sind. 
Hoossein Kool ly Khan, learning his intentions, 
raised the siege of Nagrakote, and pursued Ibrahim 
Mirza throughout Punjab, till he reached Tutta on 
the Indus, where, ha\·ing heard that he had gone to 
some distance on a hunting excursion, he attacked 
his camp. '..\fosaood Hoossein :;\Iirza, Ibrahim 
Hoossein Mirza·s brother, who commanded in his 
absence, sent off an express to his brother; but 
before Ibrahim Hoossein i\.Iirza arrived, l\Iusaood 
Hoossein was defeated and taken prisoner, having 
lost many men in the action. Ibrahim Hoossein 
l\Iirza having returned from hunting, and perceiving 
the situation in which he was placed, made up his 
mind to death, and rallying a part of his men re­
newed the action, but being defeated, he fled to 
Mooltan. Here he was intercepted by the Bul­
lochies, by whom he was severely wounded, and 
taken prisoner, and shortly after beheaded by 
l\Iukhsoos Khan, the governor of Mooltan. This 
chief, in company with Hoossein Koollv Khan, 
carried the Mirza's head, and all his ;ffects, to 
Agra. Akbur ordered the head to be placed 
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:1 bm·e one of the gates of Agra ; and caused his 
brother Musaood Hoossein Mirza to be confined 
in thC' fort of Gualiar till his death. In the month 
Rubbee-ool- of Rubbee-ool-Awul of the same year, 

Awul, advices arrived from '..\'Iirza .\zeez 
.-1.. u. 981. Kolm, that Yekhtyar-ool-:.\foolk, one 

July, of the former chif!fs of Guzerat, and 
.\. 

0
· 

1 573· :.\fahorned Hoossein :Mirza, ha~ing 
united their arms, occupied several districts in that 
provim:e, and were then besieging Ahmudabad. 
Under these circumstances, the presence of the 
King seemed absolutely necessary to retrieve the 
affairs in that quarter. The rainy season had 
commenced, and it being impracticable to march 
a large army, he selected two thousand of his most 
efficient cavalry, and sent them on before him ; 
while .'\kbur, attended by three hundred persons, 
ehief-lynobles, mounted on camels, and accompanied 
by led horses, followed at the rate of fnur stages 
every day, and overtook his troops at the city of 
Puttun, ,vhen he mustered altogether three thou­
sand men and horses. Having organised this little 
force, he directed Mirza Abdool Ruheern, the son 
of Beiram Khan Toorkoman, to take command 
nf the ad,·ance, and the remainder was formed 
into three divisions; a centre and two wings, 
reserving a hundred men as his personal guard. 
\Vith this forcP. the King marched to Ahmudabad. 
On his approach, he sent forward an oflicer to give 

notice to the besiP.ged; and on arriving 
within four miles of the city, he ordered 

.\. D. :573, 
the nobut to beat. The enemy were 

,\, H. 981. 

astonished, but instantly prepared for action. 
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Mahomed Hoossein l\Iirza, having drawn up his 
troops, went with a few horse to the banks of the 
river to reconnoitre; and perceiYing Soobhan 
Koolly Khan, who had been sent on by the King 
to examine the ford, asked him whose army it 
vrns? Soobhan Koolly Khan replied, that it was 
an anm· commanded by the King in person. The 
other ;aid, "It is impossible; for it is only 
"fourteen days since one of my spies s,rw him in 
"Agra; and I perceive none of the royal ele­
" phants." Soobhan Koolly Khan replied, "It is 
"only nine days since he marched, and it is clear 
"no elephants could hm·e accompanied him." 

Mahomed Hoossein Mirza returning immediately 
to hiscamp, directed Yekhtyar-ool-1\I~olk, withfiye 
thousand horse, to watch the gates of Ahmudabad, 
and prevent a sally, while he marched with seven 
thousand horse to oppose Akbur. The King had 
by this time reached the banks of the river, ex­
pecting eYery moment to be joined by part of the 
garrison; but the gat0s being commanded by the 
enemy, that aid became impracticable. Akbur 
accordingly crossed the riYer, and drew up on the 
plain. Mahomed Hoossein i\firza, at the head of 
fifteen hundred Moguls, attacked the centre of the 
royalists, Shah Mirza charged the right, and the 
Afglrnns and Rajpoots, under Sheer Khan Folady, 
the left. The battle raged with fury on both sides, 
when the King, ·with his personal guard of n 
hundred men, charged Mahomed Hoossein Mirza in 
flank. That Prince, now losing all presence of mind, 
fled, which being observed by his troops, on the 
right and left, they broke in confusion. l\fahomed 
Hoossein Mirza received a wound in his· face: 
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his horse was also wounded, notwithstanding 
which he endeavoured to leap him over a hedge of 
the Euµhorbia plant; but, owing to the weakness 
of the animal. they both fell, and he was made 
prisoner. Se,·eral persons contending for the ho­
nour of taking him, the King asked him who took 
him? Mahomed .Hoossein Mirza, holding dmvn his 
head, replied," ~obody : the curse of ingratitude 
overtook me;" and indeed he spoke truth. After the 
action, the King sat down belnw a rising ground, 
with about twn hundred horse, waiting for J.\firza 
Azeez Koka to join him, when a body of troops 
appearing, and most of his own men being at a 
distance, his small party began to be alarmed. The 
person he sent to enquire who they were, brought 
word that theyconsistrd of the division of Yekhtyar­
ool-Moolk, Guzeratty: \\·ho, hm·ing learned the 
fate of the other detachment, was nmy coming to 
retrie,·e the day. .\kbur caused his two hundred 
men to gall them with arrows as they advanced; 
and as the drummers negleded to beat the signal 
for rallying, he went himself, and made them strike 
the nukara.* Yekhtyar-ool-Moulk, on hearing this· 
instrument, and percei,·ing the King was in person 
with the party, retreated with precipitation. Mean­
while Raja Ray Sing, in \\·hose charge Mahomed 
Hoossein ~Iirza had been left, perceiving· the state 
of affairs, put him to death without waiting for 
orders; and Yekht_yar-ook\foolk, falling from his 
horse in his retreat, was killed by one of the King's 
guards. The besieged governor of Guzera t, being 

* The 11ukara is a large sonorouh drum, ancl is attached to 
the head-quarters of the army. 



AKBUR PAD SHAii. 

now enabled to quit the city, came to pay his 
respects, and Akbur entered Ahmudabad on the 
<:,ame dav: where lrnxing re-established Mirza 
.\.zeez Koka in his go,·er~ment., lle proceeded by 
the _route of Ajmere to .\.gra. 

In t.he course of the same year, Dawood. Kha11, 
the son of Sooliman Kirany, rnler nf Bengal, 
took up anus. :\Ioonyim Khan, Khan Khamrn. 
was sent against him. and after se,·cral actinu.;; 
compelled him to sign a treaty; but the King, 
dissatisfied with the instrument, committed tlw 
management of 11engal to Raja Todur i..\ful, aml 
sent him with orders «~itl1er fo expel Dawood 
Khan or r·ompel him tu pay tribute. Dawood 
Khan, being threatP.uecl at the time with a <·ivil 
war by Lody Khan Afghan, who discovert'd ,1.11 
inclination i.o usurp his authority, consented to 
pay tribute. Having shortly after seized Lady 
Khan, he put him to deatli : and being relieved 
from that domestic clanger. hP- broke the treaty 
with lioonyim Khan, and attacked him at tll<' 
confluence of the Soanr~ and the Ganges, when' 
Dawood Khan was defeated, and ha,-ing lost hi~ 
fleet of boats, he lled. \Ioonvim Khan instanth-
crossed the Soane, anti laid si~gP to Patna. -

The King, informed of thes-e r~nmts, left Agra 
in the dt~pth or the rain~. with as mauy troops a~ 
could be embarked in a thousand boats. remai11-
i11g for a [e\V clays only at Denares, in order to 
admit of the union of the forces marching by land. 
After the junction of all his forces, he sent back 
the young princes and the ladies of the harnm, 
and Pmbarking the whole of his armv, sailP-d 
down the river to Patna. At this time he· received 
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the news of the reduction of Bhukkur on the 
Indus, by Kubeer Khan, who had been sent 
into that quarter. Having arri\·ed within a fcv,' 
miles of Patna, the King heard that Eesa Khan 
::-,;Jeeazy, one of the enemy's principal generals, had 
marched out of the fort and fouE:ht Moonvim '-' ., 
Khan, but that he had been defeated and lost his 
life, so that Patna was on thP point of being 
evacuated. The King, thPrf'fore, detached Alum 
Khan, with three thousand horse, to on:upy Ha­

jypoor,n which [ell without opposition . 
Dawood Khan, intimidated by these 

.\ - 11• 1575- misfortunes, deputed a person to make 

. \. II, yii3. 

terms. The King insisted 1m his unconditional 
submission; obsen-ing to his messenger, "Tell 
"Dawood Khan I han~ a thousand men in mY 
'' army as good as he, and if disposed to put the 
"point to issue in single combat, I will myself 
"meet him." Dawood Khan, co11Jouucled al this 
message, embarked in a boat al the water-gate 
after it was dark, and n'lreated towards Bengal. 
Patna was e\·an,atec:l in the night, and on the 
morning the King pursued the enemy chiefly for 
the sake nf obtaining their elephants. Vour 
hundred of these animals fell into his hands during 
the retreat; and hm·ing placed Patna and the go­
,·ernment of the surrounding districts in charge of 
.\foonyim Khan, he retunwd to Agra. 

This year ::\Iirza .\zeez Koka, governor of 
Guzerat, and Khan Jehan, of Lahore, having 
come to court to offer congratulations, returned 

* Hajypoor and Patna lie immediately opposite each other, 
on both banks of the Ganges. 
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to their respective gO\·emmcnts. .\kbur, at this 
time, hm·ing conferred the title of Moozuffur 
Khan on Khwaja :\Ioozuffur Ally Toormoozy, ap­
pointed him to command a force against the fort 
of Rohtas, and himself made a tour to the shrine 
of the saints at .~jmere: when. having bestowed 
upwards of two lacks of rupees* in charitable 
donations, he returned to Agra. 

~Ieanwhile :\Ioonvim Khan, who had been 
lately directed to subdue Bengal, arrived at the 
fort of Gurlw. which mav be rnnsic1ered the keY • .J • 

of that prO\·ince. Dawood Khan fled into Orissa, 
whither he was pursued by Raja Todur :\Iul, ,yith 
part of the King\ army: but Jooneid Khan, the 
son of Daw·oud Khan, hm·ing defeated Raja 
Toclur ~Iul in two ac-tions, :Vloonyim Khan march­
Pd to his aid. The united Mogul troops 110\Y 

engaged IJa\Yood Khan: when Goojur Khani an 
.-\fghan chie[ nf distinguished c.ourage, \Yho com­
manded Dawood Khan\ adY,mced guard, attack­
ed the adYance uf \Ioonyim Khan. commanded 
by Khan Alum, when the lattP.r was defeated and 

,slain. This e,·enl ..:aU!>Pd the adnmce to fall back 
on the main bodY, to which confusion was com­
municated. :\Io01;yim Khan," obseffing the disorder, 
hastened to the spot with a small body to restore 
order. Goojur Khan, however, attacked him in 
person, and wounded him in several places, so 
that for a while he was obliged to quit the field; 
but haYing rallied his troopi> he led them back to 
the charge, when Goojur Khan was killed, and 
Dawood.Khan's army was defeated, with the loss 
of all their elephants. Raja Todur Mul went in 

• :m,oool. 
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pursuit, and came up with Dawood Khan on the 
shore of the China Sea,* who, finding no means 
of escape, resoh-ed to make a stand. Raja Todur 
l\fol sent intrlligence of his situation to l\foonyim 
Khan, who in spite of his wounds hastened to the 
spot. Dawood Khan shortly after submitted. He 
was nllowecl to retain Orissa and Cuttack, but 
relinquished all pretensions to Bengal and }1ehar; 
after which l\Ioonyirn Khan returned to his 
government. In ancient times, from the period 
of l\'Iahomed Bhukhtyar Khiljy to that of Sheer 
Shah, the city of Gom had been the capital of 
Bengal; after, which, owing to its insalubrity, it 
had been abandonrci for Khowaspoor Tancla, and 
was now greatly decayed. l\foonyim Khan, how­
e,·er, admiring the spot, gaw ordP-rs for its repair, 
and made it his residence; but he fell a victim to 
its unhealthy di mate, and died on the gth of Ru-
Rujub g. jub, 983. Hoossein Koolly Khan, Toor-
A, 11. q83. koman, who bore the title of Khan Je-
Oct. 1 :i. 

A. D. 1575. 
lrnn, was nominated governor in his 
stead. 

At this period Sooliman Mirza of lludukhshan, 
being expelled by his grandson, Shahrckh, was 
obliged to seek protection at the court of Agra ; 
from whence having taken leave, he proceeded 
on a pilgrimage to l\Iecca. Some time after, 
hP- returned to Budukhshan, and recovered his do­
minions. At this time some of the nobles, envious 
of the elevation of Mirza Azeez Koka, governor of 

* Ferishta, copying from Abool Fuzl, calls the Bay of Ben• 
gal the China Sea. · 
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Guzerat, accusec1 him of treasonable designs. He 
was accordingly recalled from his government, and 
appeared at court without delay: notwithstand­
ing \Yhich he was for some time imprisoned, and 
Shahab-ood-Dern Ahmud Kh::i.n, nf Nyshapnor. 
appointed to succeed him. 

Hoossein K.oolh· Khan had not time to takr 
possession of his government in Bengal, before 
Dawood Khan Kirany, ha\"ing been joined by 
several Afghan chiefs both of Bengal and Behar, 
seized Khowaspoor Tanda \Yithout opposition: 
and finding himself at the head of fifty thousand 
horse, retook great part of Bengal. Hoossrin 
Koolly Khan assembled all the imperial officers in 
that quarter, and ach'anced against Gurhy, whic-h 
f e11 into his hands; on this occasion, also, IH~ 
defeated the enenw with the loss of fifteen hun­
dred men; aftr.r which, he proceeded to the spot 
wherr. Dawood Khan was encamped. \IoozufTur 
Khan now joined thP King·s army ,\·ith a body of 
troops raised in Behar, Tirhoot, and Hajypoor, and 
Hoossein KoollY Khan attacked Da·n·ood Khan·s 

.J 

Rubbee-ooc;- camp on the r5th of Rubbee-oos-Sany, 
Sany 15. 983. Da\vood Khan drew up his army 

A, u. 983. to receive him. Kala P'har, one of tlw 
July 2 3· Bengal officers, charging the left wing 

A, n. 1575• of the imperialists, threw it into tem­
pornry disorder: while l\foozuffur Khan, who 
commanded the right of the 1\Iogul army, gained 
some advantage over the enemy's left. Hoossein 
!(oolly Khan charged the centre in person, and 
was received with great steadiness; but at length 
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victory declared in favour of the King's troops, 
and the Afghans were defeated. Dawood Khan 
was taken prisoner ; and on being brought before 
Hoossein Koolly Khan, Toorkoman, was put to 
death, while his son, Jooneid Khan, who had 
been wounded in the action, died a few days after. 
Hoossein Koolly Khan now took possession of all 
Bengal, and sent the elephants and other spoils 
to the King. 

.\., II. 98+ 
A. D. Ij7G. 

In the year 984, l\foozuffur Khan 
marched against Rohtas, and sent Maa­
soom Khan to attack Hoossein Khan 

Afghan, who was hovering about with a body of 
marauders in that quarter. l\Iaasoom Khan en­
gaged and defeated him, and took possession of 
his districts ; but Kala Fhar, with eight thou­
sand horse, surrounding l\Iaasoom Khan, thought 
to oblige him to surrender. l\faasoom Khan, 
breaking down the wall of the town in which he 
had taken post, rushed unexpectedly on the enemy. 
In the action which ensued, l\faasoom Khan's 
horse ,vas killed by a stroke of the trunk of Kala 
P'har's war elephant, c.alled .-\yaz, and he himself 
was in imminent danger of being crushed to death, 
had the elephant not been se,·erely galled by arrows 
at the moment, which rendered him so unruly, 
that he turned back on the Afglian troops, car­
rying off Kala P'har, so that his army, supposing 
that he 1led, quickly followed him. On this oc-­
casion, Kala P'har was overtaken by the Moguls, 
and killed. In the same year, also Shahbaz Khan 
Kumho, having taken the fort of Sewana, which · 
had belonged to Raja Clmnder _Sein, the son of 

VOL. II.-32. 
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Mal Dew, proceeded with an army against the 
Raja of Gunjowty, ,vho was compelled to seek 
refuge in the woods, while Shahbaz Khan besieg­
ed and took Sheergur, then in possession of the 
Raja's son. Having been subsequently directed 
to besiege Rohtas, he proceeded in that direction; 
while Khwaja l\'Ioozuffur Ally took the field 
against the Afghans. The Afghans in Rohtas, 
distressed for supplies, surrendered, and Shahbaz 
Khan Kumho, leaving that fort in charge of his 
brothers, proceeded to court. 

The King, in this year, went to Ajmere, and 
employed Shahbaz Khan Kumbo against Koom­
bulmere, a strong fortress in the possession of the 
Rana of Oodipoor, which was taken in a master­
ly manner. In the mean time, the King marched 
by the route of Tianswala and Mando, to the 
Deccan frontier, and having learned that Moor­
tuza Nizam Shah, King of Ahmudnuggur, was 
afflicted with insanity, thought the present a 
favourable opportunity to occupy that country. 
He was, howeYer, diYerted from his project at 
present by domestic affairs, and returned towards 
.-\.gra by the way of Ajmere, where he appointed 
l\foozuITur Khan to the high office of Minister. 
From Ajmere the King marched to Dehly, and 
from thence towards Kabul. On this journey, a 
comet appeared eYery night ( A D. r57G ). At 
Ajoodhun, Akbur visited the tomb of the famous 
Sheikh Fureed-ood-Deen; and giving up his in­
tention of going to Kabul, returned to Futtehpoor 
Seekry. 

The great mosque in Futtehpoor was finished 
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86 during this )'ear. In the following A. IJ. g . 
A. o. 1576. year, Meeran Moobaruk Khan, ruler of 

Kandeish, hm·ing imprisoned l\foozu­
ff ur Mirza,* who, with his mother, had sought an 
asylum at Boorhanpoor, was compelled to deliver 
them into the King's hands. In the course of the 
same year, Hoossein Koolly Khan, Toorkoman, 
governor of Bengal, died. 

Jn 987, a great Lire happened in the 
Furash Khana at Futtehpoor, which 

,\, D. 1577· 
consumed many tents lined with velvet 

A. II. 987. 

and brocade of great value. 
After the death of Hoossein Koolly Khan, the 

.\fghans began to raise insurrections in Bengal 
and Behar. 1\lirza .\zee.z Kolrn, late go,·ernor of 
Guzerat, was released from his confinement, and 
sent with a considerable army to suppress them. 
l\fahomed Hukeem Mirza, the King's brother, 
taking adnmtage of the moment, made an attempt 
on Lahore, and sent Shadman Kolm with a thou­
sand horse, in advance. This officer, on crossing 
the Indus, was attacked by Koowur Man-Sing, in 
the Punjab, and routed; but on l\lahomed Hu­
keem l\lirza's reaching Rohtas,t Koowur Man­
Sing retreated to Lahore. The Prince, finding 
:\Iohurrum I r. Rohtas was likely to be defended ob-

A. 11. g89. stinately by Syud Yoosoof Khan 
February 15, Mushedy, marched to Lahore, and in-
.\. u. 1579- vested it on the uth of l'vlohurrum, 

* It will be recollected, that i\foozuITur Mirza was the son of 
Ibrahim Hoossein Mirza by Goolrokh Begum. Vide, p. 238. 

t There is a town of this name in Punjab, as well as in lielmr1 
built by Sheer Shah Soor. 
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A. H. 989 ; in which place Raja Man-Sing, Syud 
Khan, and Raja Bhugwandas, had taken post. 

Notvvithstanding the war in Bengal and Behar, 
the King marched from Agra to the relief of the 
north-western provinces ; but on hearing of his 
approach, l\fahomed Hukeem Mirza retreated to 
Kabul. On the King's arri,·al at Surhind, having 
learned that Shah Munsoor Shirazy had been car­
rying on a treasonable correspondence with his 
brother, he was executed. On reaching Rohtas, 
in Punjab, Syud Yoosoof Khan, the governor, 
came to pay his respects, and the army marched 
on to the Nilab; but finding it impracticable to 
throw a bridge across, owing to the rapidity of 
the stream, it crossed in Loats. In consequence 
of this, Mahomed Hukeem :\Iirza·s officers in Pis­
ha\\·ur l1ed. On the army reaching J ulalabad, 
the Princ2 Sulim was left there, and the Priuce 
l\Ioorad proceeded with the advanced guard of 
the army. _-\.t the pass of Shooturgurduna, with­
in thirty miles of Kabul, this di,·ision ,vas attack­
ed by Furedoon Khan, a general of l\Iahomcd 
suffur .:i. Hukeem Mirza, and lost almost all ib 
A. 11. 9s9. baggage. On the 2d of Su1Tur, 9~'J• 
l\Iarch 6. l\Iahomed Hukeem Mirza opposed 1.lie 
A. )). 157~· Prince Moorad in person. Koowur 
Man-Sing and Toozuk Khan .\1.lrn h~wing ach·an­
ced, the elephant-swivels opened a fire. By mere 
accident an officer of l\fahomed Hukeern Mirza, 
and three other persons, standing near him, were 
killed; on which he took to night, losing many 
persons of distinction in the retreat. The Kin~ 
heard of this victory at Soorkhab, and entered 
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SulTur 7• Kabul without opposition on the 7th 
8 of Suffur. Mahomed Hukeem Mirza A. II. g g, 

March 1r. fled to Ghoorbund, and sent a deputa-
.\. "· 1 579• tion to the King bee-o-ino- foro-iveness 

' t....,,,b o M ' 

which being as readily granted. Kabul was restor-

SulTur q. 
l\Iarch 18. 

ed to him, and on the 14th of Suff ur 
the army returned towards Agra. 
Having reached the Nilab ( Ind us) the 

King ordered a fort to be built on its bank, which 
he called Attack,* signifying, in the r ndian lan­
guage, the barrier ; for, according to the supers­
titioliS notions of the Hindoos, it was held unlaw­
ful for them to cross that river. The King hav­
ing arrived at Lahore on the rgth of Rumzan, 

co11ferred the government of that pro-
Rumzan IC), • R · Bl d vmce on the "-aJa 1ugwan as, and 
October 13. 

in a fe\\· days marched to Futtehpoor 
Seekry, which now became the capital. 

The disturbances in Bengal still continuing, 
Shahbaz Khan Kumbo, who had been placed under 
restraint, was released, and sent to reinforce the 
army in that quarter. ;\t this time the King was 
taken dangerously ill of a bowel-complaint; and 
as his l\fajesty had adopted the habit of eating 
opium, as Hoomayoon, his father, had done before 
him, people became apprehensiye on his account. 
He recovered shortly after, and gave away large 
i\Jnlturrum, sums in charity. In the month of Mo-
.\. 11• 99 1. hurrum, A. H. ggr, Mirza Azeez Kolrn 
January, came from Bengal to pay his respects, 
.\. "· 1583. and returned to his government. In 

* Ferishta must be in error. The town of Attack existed, 
I believe, long before the time of Akbur. He, perhaps, built 
.the present fort. 
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Shuval. the month of Shuval, the King went to 
September. Priag, where he caused the fort of Alla-

habad to be built, at the confluence of 
the J umna and Ganges. Moozuffur Shah of Guze­
rat, who had been at large since the occupation 
of that country by Akbur, had gained so consider­
ably on the King's favour, as to procure for him a 
handsome estate; on which having resided many 
years, he suddenly lled to Guzerat, and in concert 
with Sheer Khan Folady created an insurrection. 
Itimad Khan Guzeratty, was now appointed go­
Yernor, and Shahab-oocl-Deen ;\hmud Khan Nyslt­
apoory recalled to court. .:\fter the arrival of the 
new governor, Shahab-ood-Deen .t\.hmucl Khan, 
quitting Ahmudabacl, came to Puttun, and halted 
some days: but most of his followers who had 
formed connections in Guzerat, unwilling to un­
dertake thl~ journey to court, deserted to Moo­
zuff ur ::;hah, who collected a considerable force. 

Itimad Khan, leaving an oJlicer in charge ol' 
i\hmudabad, ,vent to Pu1.1.un, where Shahab­
ood-Deen still remained encamped; and Moozu­
ffur Shah, marching to Ahmudabad, got possession 
of it without difficulty. Itimad Khan having now 
prevailed on Shahab-ood-Deen Ahmud Khan to 
return with him, they both marched back to re­
cover the capital; but i\foozu1Tur Shah, coming 
out to oppose them, defeated and eompelled 
them to fall back on Puttun; from whence 
ltimad Khan sent an express to acquaint Akbur 
of the state of affairs. 

A. II, 989, 
.\. D, 1581. 

Informed of these events, the King 
sent Mirza Abdool Ruheem, commonly 
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called i\llirza Khan, the son of the late Beiram 
Khan, Toorkoman, together with the officers sta­
tioned in Ajmere, to reinforce ltimad Khan; but 
before the arrival of J:viirza Khan, Moozu!Tur Shah 
took Baroach, held by Mirza Kootb-ood-Deen 
Atka, in jageer, and hm·ing put him to death, ob­
tained possession of fourteen Jacks or rupees belong­
ing to 1.he King, beside all the private property of 
Kootb-ood-Deen Khan, estimated at more than ten 
crores.* :Moozuffur Shah, now repairing to Ahmu­
dabad, was enabled to raise a large army. Mirza 
Khan, in the mean while, arrived at Puttun, and 
forming a junction ,vith Shahab-ood-Deen Ahmud 
Khan, and other officers, mustered an army of eight 
thousand good horse, and marched to Ahmudnbad. 
On reaching the viJlage of Surkerh, within six 
i\fohurrurn 15_ miles of the city, Moozuffur Shah, on 

"· 11. 992. the I 5 th o[ l\'lohurrum, 992, opposed 
January 29. him with an army of thirty thousand 
.\. n. 158+ horse; when a sanguinary battle 

took place, in which Mirza Khan was completely 
victorious. He forced the enemy to Hy before him 
into the town of Ahmudabad, through which the 
Guzeratties were driven, and expelled with great 
slaughter, by the opposite gate. Being soon after 
joined by Kullich Khan, and some officers from 
Mal wa, Mirza Khan pursued Moozuff ur Shah to­
wards Cambay, and drove him among the moun­
tains of Nadote, where he made another feeble at­
tempt to oppose the Moguls, but was expelled 
from his position by Mirza Khan's artillerv, and 

* Ten millions. 
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eventually sought refuge in the vicinity of Joon­
agur with the Jam. 

Mirza Khan, returning to Ahmudabad, detached 
Kullich Khan to besiege the fort of Baroach, which 

· he recovered out of the hands of N useer Khan, ihe 
brother-in-law o[ l\foozu1Tur Shah. After a siege 
of seven months, :N"usecr Khan evacuated the fort, 
and escaped to the Deccan. Moozuffur Shah, 
soon after, assisted by Jam Ameen, the Prince of 
Joonagur, advanced to a spot within sixty coss 
(ninety miles) of Ahmudabad; but no sooner had 
Mirza Khan marched to oppose him, than he fled 
to the jungle, withouh,·aitinghis approach. After 
some time, howevrr, having collectrd a number of 
Dhcels, Colies, and Girassias,* he made a third 
attempt to recover his dominions: but was de­
feated at Siranty, and compelled to seek refuge 
with Ray Sing IGttty, Raja of Julwara. After a 
period o[ five months :Mirza Khan was recalled 
to court; but l\Ioozuffur Shah again appearing in 
arms, the Mirza received the title of Khan Khanan, 
and returned as go\·ernor to Guzerat. Jn this year, 
Boorhan Nizam, the son of the late Hoossein Nizam 
Shah, and brother of ~foortuza ~izam Shah Bheiry, 
King of Ahmudnuggur, left his brother and came 
to the ,ourt of Agra, where he was graciously re­
ceived. Not long after, Shah Futteh Oolla Shirazy, 
one of the most learned men of that age, came also 
from the Deccan, and had an honourable office as-

signed to him near the King's person. Jn 
A. H, 99~· the year 993, Syud Mooztuza Subzwarry 
A. n. 

15 5· and Khooclawund Khan Hubshy, hm·ing 

* The hill-tribes of Guzerat. 
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been defeated by Sulabut Khan,* took refuge at 
the Mogul court. The King, who had long. 
entertained thoughts of invading the Deccan, sent 
all the refugees from Ahmudnuggur to reside 
with Mirza Azeez Kolrn, who wa" now aµpointed 
governor of ~falwa, with orders to take advantage 
of circumstances, and march into the Deccan. 
At the s,tme time, Sl1ah Futteh O.)lla S!1irazy 
having received the title of Azd-oocl-Dowla,t 
was alsa sent thither, to aid in arrangements for 
the same purpose. 

l\tlirza Aze~z Kolm shortly after marched to 
the southern frontin, an::l fine.ling Raja Ally 
Khan, the ruler of KandC'ish, well inclined to­
wards Moortuza Nizam Shah, lie deputed Shah 
Futteh-oolla-Shirazy to wait on him, and endea­
vour to brin~ him over to thP. interest of Akbur; 
but his mission entirely failed. arnl Mirza i\Iaho­
med T'uky Nuzeery, and Bchzacl-ool-:.\Ioolk, offi-

r.ers of Moortuza Nizmn Shah, ma rchPd 
A. 

11
• 993· to attack i\li rza Azeez Kolrn, thPn en-

A. n. 1585. 
camped at I-Iunclia. The latter, declin-

ing an action, suddenly decamp~d, and marching 
by an unfrequented route, entered the Deccan 
at Elichpoor, which he plundered for the space 
of three days; but as soon as thP. Decrnny ge­
neraJs, joined by Raja Ally Khan, reached 
Elichpoor, Mirza AzP-ez Kolm. without halting 

* These persons were chiefs of the kingdom of Ahmudnug­
gur; the distractions of which are related in their proper 
place, in the history of the kings of the Deccan. 

t This is the first instance of the title of Dowla being givrn, 
which became so common in the subsequent reigns. 

VOi., II.-33. 
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to oppose them, retreated by the rout~ of Nun~ 
doorbar.* 

Vvhile these events transpired, orders were sent 
to recall Mirza Khan, Khan Khanan, from Gu­
zerat, to court, while i\foozuffur Shah, taking ad­
vantage of his absence, raised from eight to ten 
thousand men, and contrived to lay waste the 
country. In this year, Shahrokh Mirza, grandson 
of Sooliman Mirza, ruler of Budukhshan, having 
been expelled from his dominions by Abdoolla 
Khan Oozbuk, came to court, and was enrolled 
among the nobles. In the same year, also, th<> 
marriage of the daughter of Raja Bhugwandaswi th 
the Prince Mahomed Sulim Mirza,t the Emperor's 
eldi:st son, took place; and in the following year 
eccurrr.d the death or i\lahomed Hukeem :Mirza, 

the King·l-i brother. Akbur having again 
::: 

1
~·. ;~;6_ appointed ~,Iirza Khan governor of Gu-

. zerat, nonunated Shah Futteh Oolla 
Shirazy Sudr to act under him. The King now 
proceeded to Punjab, and during the journey Sa­
dik lVIahomed Khan was raised to thP. gm·ernment 
of Bhukkur; and Koowur Man-Sing, tlw son of 
Raja Bhugwandas, was sent to Kabul, to escort the 
infant children of Mahomecl Hukfem Mirza 'to 
Lahore; and the son of Koowur i\Ian-Sina w~1s 

~ 

invested with the chief authority at Kabul 
•' . 

* If there be no mistake in the manuscript, iWirza Azeez 
Koka must ha\'e marched two hundred miles to thr westward, 
and passed through Kandeish, then an enemy's country, instead 
of returning direct to Hundia, which he might have done in four 
or five days. 

t He a:fterwar<ls ascende<l the throne under thf' titlP. of 
Jehangeer, 
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The King having arrived at Attock on the 
Ni lab, detached Sharokh Mirza, Raja Bhugwandas, 
Shah Koolly Khan Mahrum, and other officers of 
distinct.ion, with fiye thousand horse, to subdue the 
territory of Kashmeer; \,Vhile Zein Khan Kolm 
was despatched, with another army, against the 
Afghans of Swad and Bijmvr. A force vvas also 
organised under the command of Koowur Man­
Sing, to attack the Roslmye Afghans, who are 
known by the appellation of Zundaka Kafur. It is 
related, that a person from Hindoostan, assuming 
the title of Peer Roshnye, converted these peop]e 
to his tenets. .\fter the death of Peer Roshnye, 
his son, .T ulala, then only fourteen years of age, 
came to Akbur, but. after staying a short time at 
rourt, he fled to the Afghans ; in conjunction 
with whom he rnis('d insurrections, and interrupted 
the communi•·at.ion bet\.veen Kabul and I-Iindoos­
tan. The King, hm·ing ascertained the real state 
of the affairs of the Afghans of Swad and Bijowr, 
~ent a detachment consisting of the troops of Syud 
Khan Gukkur, Sheikh Feizy, Moolla Sheery, and 
Saleh ~\akil, as reinforcements to Zein Khan Kolm: 
in. addition to which troops he also sent Hukeem 
Abool Futteh Geelany, "·ith several other officers 
of distinction. In spite of these forces, Mirza Zein 
Koka's army was completely defeated by the 
Afghans, and Raja ileerbul and i\foolla Sheery, 
together with other officers of note, besides eight 
thousand men, were killed; while Zein Khan Kolm 
and Hukeem Abool Futteh, with great difficulty, 
reached the King's camp at Attack, in the yea1.· 
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995. Koowur Man-Sing, who·had been 
,\. "· 995· detached against the Roshnye Afghans 
A. D. 1586-;. b 1 . d met with elter success, iavmg e-
r ea ted them at the Khyburpass with great 
slaughter. The King now returned from Attack 
to Lahore, fmm whence he direded Komvur 
Man-Sing to proceed to Kabul, and assume the go· 
vernment for the purpose of keeping the Arghans in 
check. In this year the daughter of Ray Sing wcis 
married to the Princf' Roval. i\lahomed Sulim l\lirzct. 

Tlw army which had been detached to Kash­
mecr, uncle~ Shahrokh i\Iirza and Raja Blrng· 
wancl:.:is, bein~ recluced to great distre~s by the snow 
and rain, as al5o Ly scarcity nf provisions, was 
under thr, necessity of making peace with the 
Kasl1111cerians; haYing sen1recl the monopoly of 
saffron, and the privileges of coining money for 
the King. The King, 110\vever, ref using to ratify 
the term~, sent t lw AmeC'r-al-Behr,* Mahomed 
Kasim Khan of Kabul, \Vith another army, to re­
duce it, which ,vas alTectecl in the mode related in 
the hi~tory of Kashrneer; owing chieOy to tl1e 
dissensions whicli pre,·:-:1iled among the inhabitant~ 
themselves. In this yem, Sooliman Mirza, the 
granclfather of Shahrukh l\Iirza, rame from Kabul, 
and ha<l an interview with the King at Lahore. 
About tile.same time, also, an ambrn,sador who had 

* Arneer-al-Behr, or curnmander at &ea, is an ancient ,\rabian 
title, and answers so entirely to that of admiral, that one might 
almost imagine that the ~Ioors introduced it through Spain into 
Europe, where the word Behr, signifying ocean, being dropped 
amir-al or admiral ha'i been adopted, to signify a nan1l com· 
rnander only. Thus we recognise in the word Mirnmolin, 
Amir-uoH\lumiueen, comumnder of the faithful, 
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arrived from Abdoolla Khan Oozbuk joined the 
King at Attock, and received his audience of leave 
on his return ; on which occasion he was accom­
panied by Hukeem Humam, the brother of Hu­
ke~m Futteh Oolla Geelany, and Meer Su<lr-Jehan, 
one of the Sad.n t/ Hoosseiny oI Kunowj. This 
ambassador conveyed presents to his court valued 

at about 150,000 rupees.t In the year 
A. 

11
• gg

5
, 996, Julala, hm·ing made head against 

A. D. 1.588. 
the royal troops, slew Syud Hamid 

Khan Bokhary, and ,ompelled Koowur ::\Jan-Sing 
to Hy to Bungush. The King, therefore, deputed 
Abdool i\footullub Khan. \Iahomed Koolly 13eg, 
and Humza Beg Toorkoman, against him ; and 
these chiefs l1cl\'ing given Julala a signal over­
thow, cut off great numbers of his follo\-vers. In 
this year, the birlh of the Prince Sooltan Khoos­
row,+ son of the Prince Royal, by the daughter 
of R11ja mrngwandas, took place; on which occa­
sion, the King made a great festirnl. At the same 
periou., Mahomed Sadik Klwn, according to orders, 
invested the fort of Sehwan, on the Indus; ~111d 
Jany Beg, ruler of Sind, was compelled to ac­
knowledge the King's authority: after which Ma­
homed Sadik Khan proceeded to Bhukkur. In 
Hubbee-oos- the beginning of the rnonlh of Rub-

Sany, bee-oos-Sany, Zein Khan Kolm was 
-"· 11. 996. appointed to the government of 
February, Kabul, and Koowur Man-Sing was 

A, D. i5Sq. recalled to Lahore. In the latter end 

* Syuds lineally de5cended from Hoosseiu. 
t 15,0001 • 

. t He reigned after his father, under the title of Shah Jehan 
and was the father of Aurungzeeb. 
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of the same month, Mirza Khan, Khan Khanan, 
and Shah Futteh Oolla. Shirazy, were recalled 
from Guzerat ; and Mahomed Sadik Khan was 
also recalled from Bhuklmr. In this year, Koowur 
i\fan-Sing was appointed to the government of 
Behar, Hajypoor, and Patna; while the manage­
ment of Kashmeer was intrusted to Syud Yoosoor 
Khan l\fushuddy, in the room of Mahomed 
Kasim, who had lately suffered a defeat from the 
assaults of the zeminclars. Mahomed Sadik Khan 
was employed, during this year, against the 
Yoosoofzye .-\ighans of S\vad and Bijo\H, Ismael 
Knolly Khan being recalled, and deputed gover­
nor to Guzerat, i11 tl1e room or Kullich Khau, 
who had succeeded Mirza Khan in that office. 
Jumau-ou~- Ou the '.!Jd of .I umacl-oos-Sany, in the 
Sany ::3. year 997, the King proceeded on a 
A. 11. 9l/7- tour to Ka:-;hmeer, having heard much 
.\pril :!.j. in praise of its beautiful situation . 
. \. u. 1589• On reaching Bhimbur, at the entrance 

of tl1e mountairn,, he quitted his army, and 
leaving his family behind with the Prince Moorad 
:\tiirza, Akbur proceeded with a small retinue to 
Sreenuggur, the capital of Kashmeer; at which 
place the learned Azd-ood-Dowla Shirazy, who 
had lately come from Guzerat, died. The king 
was much grieved at his loss; and Sheikh Feizy 
wrote an appropriate epitaph on the occasion. 

Having gratified his curiosity at Kash111eer, 
Akbur resolved to proceed to Kabul. On the road 
Hukeem Futteh-Oolla Geelany, a man famous for 
his learning, and one of the King's companions, 
died at Dhuntoor, and was buried at Baba Hussun 
Abdall. On the arriYal of the court at Attack, 
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Shahbaz Khan Kumho was directed to reduce the 
Yoosoofzye Afghans, who infested the roads, while 
the King proceeded to Kabul: ,v:here he was met, 
on their return, by Hukeem Humam and Meer 
Sudr Jehan, who had been sent to the court of 
.-\bdoolla Khan Oozbuk. 

The King remained for two months, enjoying 
himself amid the pleasure-gardens of Kabul, dis­
tributing presents and charity among its inhabit­
ants. Hearing-, at this time, of the deaths both 
of Raja Bhugwandas and Raja Todur l\'Iul, he 
conferred the go\'ernment of Kabul on the Ad­
miral Mahomed Kasim; and left that city on 
Mohurrum 20• the 20th of l\Iohurrum, 998, on his 

8 return to Lahore. The charge of .\. H. 99 • 
Nov.19. Guzerat was in this year made over 

.\. n. 1589. to ~Iirza Azeez Kolm, ruler of 
l\:Ialwa, and Shahab-ood-Deen Ahmud Khan, 
Nyshapoory, succeeded him as go,·ernor of Malwa. 

Mirza Azeez Koka, having arri,·ed at Guzerat, 
led an armv against the Jam, a zemindar of that 
country,* v~ho: in alliance with Dowlut Khan, 
the son of Jam Ameen, ruler of J oonagur, opposed 
him with hventy thousand horse. _'\ sharp conflict 
ensued, in which l\fahomed RutTeea Bukshy, 
Mahomed Hoossein Khan, and Meer Shurf-ood­
Deen (nephew of Meer ,\boo Toorab), all officers 
of rank, were killed on the part of the Moguls, 
besides a vast number of men ; while, on the 
other side, the eldest son of the Jam, and his 
vizier, together with four thousand Rajpoots, lost 

*This Hindoo chief was, probably, the ruler of Nowanug­
gur, with whose descendants the English have within the last 
few years been engaged in war. 
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their lives on the field of battle. The victory 
was, hov-1ever, claimed by the Moguls, under 
:Mirza Azeez Koka. ;;; 

Abdoolla Khan Oozbuk, having about this 
time taken possession of Budukhshan, threatened 
to attack Kabul. Akbur, in consequence, held 
his court for some years in Lahore. At this time, 
Mirza Jany Beg, ruler of Sind, notwithstanding 
the proximitv of the court, having ref used to 
repairtothe.presence, the King directed l\Iirza 
Khan, Khan Kirn.nan, with several officers, and 
army accompanied by one hundred elephant:-;, and 
a respectable park of artillery, to attack the Bul­
lochies of Sind. 

In the year 9q9, Shalrn.b-ood-Deen 
A. 

11
• 999· Ahmud Khan, the go,·ernor of l\Jalwa, 

,\. D. 15go. 
dying-, he was succeeded by the King's 

second son, the Prince ~Ioorad Mirza, undn tl1c 
tutelage of Ismael Koolly Khan. The Prince, 
having arriH'CT in the neighbourhood of Gnufoir, 
heard that i\Judkurn, a zemindar in that district, 
was in arms, and disturbed the public- peace. 
He accordingly marched ag~1inst him, and dro,·e 
him into the woods, ,vhere he shortly after died 
of hi~ wounds. His son Ramchu~der, having 
paid his respects, ,:vas placed in his father's situa­
tion, an<l confirmed in his paternal estates. The 
Prince, marching on from thence, soon after 
arrived in Malwa. 

* As no specific object is stated by the historian to haYe 
been obtained by the :\foguls, we may fairly doubt how far 
they gained a victory. 'Ne should rather think, from the 
manner in which the circumstance is mentioned, this action 
was a complete defeat on their part, and that, therefore, no 
farther operations were then prosecuted a_gajnst the Jams, 
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The King, in the mean time, sent ambassadors 
to the fonr kings of the Deccan ; Fei.zy, the 
brother of the learned Sheikh .t\bool Fuzl, to .\seer 
and Boorhanpoor: * Khwaja .'\meen-ood-Deen to 
Ahmudnuggur; l\Icer Mahomed Ameen l\Iush­
udy to Beejapoor; and Mirza l\fosaood to Bhag­
nagur. i" l\Iirza .\z('ez Koka, governor of Gu­
zerat, hearing that Jam Dowlut, ruler of Joona­
gur, was dead of his wounds, marched his army 
in that direction, and after a siege of seven months 
made himsel r master nf that strong place. 

In the course of the same year, Mirza Khan, 
Khan Khanan, laid siege to the fort of SPhwan, on 
the banks of the Ind us. l'vlirzn. Jany Beg, ruler- of 
Sind, with a numerous army and a train of artil­
lery in boats, advanced against him, and arri,·ing 
within fourteen miles of his camp, sent forward a 
hundred boats full of artillery-mP-n and arcl1('rs, to 
attack the l\foguls. :.\Iirza Khan, Khan Khanan, 
though he had but twenty-five boats, boldly 
engaged the Sinclian fleet in the night, and hm·ing 
killed about two hundred of the enemy, and take11 
seven of their boats, put the remainder to flight. 
l\.1irza .]any beg, after this defeat, having brought 

clown his whole fleet, landed in the i\Iohurrum, 
A, 11• rooo. month of l\Iohurrum, in the year 10001 

(ktober, -on a spot of ground surrounded by a 
A. I), r5<Jr. swa.mp which was llooded ;:it high 
wa.ter. Here he maintained hi.s position against 

* The hill fort o[ .\!'-eer, situated at the distance of tweh-r 
miles from Boorhnnpoor, was the summer residen<'e of the 
kings of Kandeish, whose capital "·as Boorhnnpoor, 

t The modern Hydrnhnrl. 

VOL. II.-34. 
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all the attempts of Mirza Khan, and keeping his 
communication open by water, his· army was 
well supplied ; while he adopted such effectual 
measures to prevent provisions from reaching 
the Moguls, that a severe dearth ensued in their 
camp. 

Mirza Khan, reduced to this perilous situation, 
found himself obliged to leave a part of his army 
before Sehwan, and to march towards Tutta with 
the remainder. Soon after his departure, Mirza 
Jany Beg attacked the detachment left to conduct 
the siege, but was repulsed. Mirza Khan, Khan 
Khanan, on learning their situation, detached 
Dowlut Khan Lady with a reinforcement from the 
main army, which marched a distance of eighty 
coss * in two days. Mirza Jany Beg, conceiving 
the reinforcement would be unable to oppose him 
from fatigue, attacked it on the following day; 
but Dowlut Khan Lady, although he could only 
muster two thousand effective men, completely de­
feated the Sindians, and forced them to fall back 
on the village of Abhore, on the banks of the 
Indus, where Jany Deg was obliged to entrench 
himself for security. Mirza Khan, in the mean 
time, returned, and hemmed him in on the land­
side, while Dowlut Khan blockaded him on the river. 
The Sindians, reduced to the last extremity, were 
compelled to kill their horses and camels for sub­
sistence. Thus situated, Mirza Jany beg sued for 
peace; and having given his daughter in marriage 
to Mirza Eerich, Mirza Khan's eldest son, he 

* The ltngth o! a coss differs so much, it is impossible to say 
what was the precise distance gone over in two days' march ; 
perhaps, eighty or one hundred miles, 
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promised to proceed to court, and make his submis­
sion to the King in person, as soon as the rains 
subsided. At this period Syud Y oosoof Khan 
Mushudy, having by the King's orders left his 
younger brother Mirza Y adgar in Kashmeer, came 
to court. In his absence, Mirza Yadgar, who had 
espoused the daughter of one of the zemindars 
of Kashmeer, went into rebellion, and caused the 
Khootba to be read in his name. Kazy Ally, the 
principal collector of the revenues, together with 
Hoossein Beg, and Sheikh Oomr Budukhshy, levied 
troops, and opposed Mirza Yadgar in the King's 
name; but Kazy Ally was slain, and the rest of 
the Mogul officers were expelled from Kashmeer. 
On receiving ad,·ices of this event, Sheikh Fureed 
Bukhshy was appointed to recover that province; 
and while Mirza Yadgar was encamped within sight 
of the King's troops, he was treacherously seized by 
Saduk Beg and Ibrahim Khan Kolrn, hvo of his 
own officers, and murdered, after which, his head 
vvas sent to Sheikh Fureed Bukhshy, Kashmeer 
thus fell a second time into the hands of Akbur. The 
King, soon after, proceeded in person to that valley, 
where he spent forty days; and having reinstated 
Syud Yoosoof Khan Mushudy in the government, 
proceeded to Roh tas, '"7 here he was met, in the 

year 1001, by Mirza Jany Beg and 
A, 

11
• 

100
1. Mirza Khan, Khan Khanan, from Tutta. 

A. D, 159:i. 
MirzaJany Beg/' was instantly enrolled 

* It seems to have been the object of Akbur's policy to raise 
to distinction, and to employ, all the native chiefs as soon as 
he had i-educed them to do him homage. 
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among the Se/zuzavies/ and the country of Sind 
henceforth became a province of the empire. 

l\Iirta Azeez Koka was this year ob­
.\. 

11
' 

100
..:, lige<l to take the field against the ze-

~ u. 1593. I d . mindars on the Kuggur, who ia · gl\'eu 
protection to l\'Ioozuffur Shah. Having obtained 
possession of the person of that Prince by negoti­
ation, he was on his way to .-\.l1111uclabad ; ,vllen 
on the journey, one morning, he left the road­
side, and retired to a distance, and put hl1 end to 
ltis life with a razor. It was afterwards said that 
he had long carried this instrument about him, 
apparently for the purpose Tlte head of l\Ioo­
zuffur Shah was sent to the presence. In this 
year, also, Raja \Ian-Sing, t the son of the late 

\ Haja Dl1ugwanclas, attacked and ddeatetl Koot-
1 luogh Khan ,\fghau, and ucrnpied the pruYince of 
\ Urissa, a dependency of Benljal ; on which occa­
\sion he sent to the King une hundred and twenty 
elephants that he had taken. The King not hav­
ing seen lVIirza Azeez Kolm for ten years, sent 
for him to court ; but the l\Iirza, who had long 
had it in contemplation to go on a pilgrimage to 
Mecca, and having already made his arrangements 
for doing so, embarked wilh all hi:; family, and 
sailed without going to pay his respects. The 
news of Mirza Azeez's departure nu sooner reached 
rnurt than tlH' l'ri11ce Moora<l l\Iirza was ordcrcc.l 

* Sehuzary, au ullicer cummamliug three thuw,aml 111c11: a 
rank equivalent tu that of l>rigadier-general. 

·j-Thc eh.lest suns of raja::, i.lssume the title of Kuuwur. a11tl 
only take thal 1Jf Haja after l>ecoming head of the family. !-le 
is the same person denominated Koowur Man-Siug. 
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from l\lalwa 1.o Guz:erat, under the tutelage of 
Sadik Mahomed Khan, while Shahrokh Mirza was 
nominated to the government of Malwa, ha.Ying 
for his \·izier Shahba1.: Khan Kumbo, who had 
been in confinement during three years. Some 
1.ime pre\·iously, J ulala, 1.he chief of the Roshney 
Afghans, having been expelled from Pishawur, 
Heel to Abdoolla Khan Oozbuk/ but returning 
about this time, he began to create disturbances 
in the vicinity of Kltyl.mr. It became necessary, 
therefore, to direct Jafur Khan Kuz.w½eny, who 
l1ad during the last year recei\·ecl the title of .:-\suf 
Khan, to attack ltim. J ulala was defeated, and 
both he and his brothers being made prisoners, 
were sent to court. 

The ambassadors,\\ hum the l~ing had clespat­
d1ed to the Deccan, returned about thi~ time, com­
municating that all the kings had refused to ac­
knowledge the supremacy of .\kbur, who accord­
ingly determined io reduce them to subjectio11. 
For this purpose the Prince Daniel was ordered to 
proceed with an army to the south. He had scarce­
ly left Lahore and reached Sooltanpoor, when the 
King changed his mind; and cancelling his ap­
pointment, gaYe the command of the army of 1.he 
Deccan to Mirza Khan, Khan Khanan, and 
ordered him to continue his march. In this year, 
Roostoom i.\Iirza, the son of Soolt.an Hoossein 
Mirza, the son of Beiram ;\Jirza, the son of Shah 
Ismaeel Sufvy, who had long since occupied the 
fort of Kandahar, being dri Yen to extreme distress 

• King of Tnmsuxania. 
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by his brothers and the Oozbuks, came to court, and 
formally ceded to the King the fort of Kandahar, in 
lieu of which he received the government of Mool­
tan, and was enrolled among the Punjhuzaries.* 

Mirza Khan, in the mean time, proceeded to 
Mando. Boorhan Nizam Shah II. of Ahmud­
nuggur now sent Inayut Khan with professions 
of entire E.ubmission; but shortly after falling sick, 

that monarch died in the year roo3. 
A. H, 1003· H' lb } . N' SI l } 1s son, ra um 1zam 1a 1, w 10 
,\. IJ. I 59+· d . l . 1 d . b 1 succeede him, was nl e m att e, 
against the troops of Ibrahim Adil Shah; and 
Meean Munjoo, his vizier, raised to the throne 
one ~'\.hmud, a boy, said to be of the Nizam Shahy 
family.. The 1\.hmudnuggur nobles, refusing to ac­
knowledge the new kin~, rebelled, and besieged 
Meean Munjoo in Ahmudnuggur. In this dilemma 
finding himself unable to cope with his enemies, 
the minister sent persons to Ahmuclabad, the ca­
pital of Guzerat, to ·wait on the Prince l.\foorad 
Mirza, entreating him to come to his assistance, 
and promising to put him in possession of the fort. 
Moorad Mirza having previously received orders 
from his father to march into the Deccan, gladly 
embraced the proposal, and moved with great ex­
pedition to the south; while Mirza Khan, who had 
now reached Mando, hearing of the Prince's inten­
tion, put his own army in motion, attended by the 
divisions of l\.firza Shahrokh, governor of Malwa, 
Shahbaz Khan Kumho, Raja Jugnat, the maternal 
uncle of Raja Man-Sing, Raja Doorga Das, Raja 

* Punjhuzary oflicers were those who commanded a legion 
of at least five thousand :;oldiers, 
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Ramchundur, and others, and marched towards 
the Deccan. He induced Raja Ally Khan, ruler of 
Kandeish, also to join him with six thousand horse. 
The Mogul forces formed a junction i,~ at Galna, in 
Kandeish, and from thence proceeding by regular 
marches continued its route to Ahmudabad. 

l\foean Munjoo having, by this time, suppressed 
the rebellion, repented of his having called in the 
Moguls, and had already laid in'astore of provisions 
in Ahmudnuggur to defend it. He left Chand 
Beeby,t the daughter of Hoossein Nizam Shah, 
to assume the command of the fort, and himself 
marched with the remainder of his army, and a 
large train of artillery, towards the Beejapoor 
frontier. The Prince Moorad Mirza and Mirza 
Khan, instead of coming as allies, now proceeded 
to lay siege to Ahmudnuggur, as will be found in 
the history of the Nizam Shahies. In the month 
Rubbee-oos- of Rubbee-oos-Sany, 100.h the besie-

Sany. gers opened their trenches, and carried 
A. 11. 1004. on approaches by raising mounds, 
November, erecting batteries, and sinking mines; 
A. n. 1595• while Chand Bee by, defended the place 
with masculine resolution, and wrote letters to 
Ibraheem t Adil Shah of Beejapoor, and Kootub 
Shah of Bhagnuggur, for aid. At the end of three 

• * That is, the Prince Moorad from Guzerat, and Mirza 
Khan from Dehly, together with the troops previously assem­
bled at Mando in l\falwa. 

t The Princess Chand Beeby had been queen and dowager­
regent of the neighbouring kingdom of Beejapoor, and was 
one of the most able politicians of her day. 

t lbraheem was her nephew, and she had been queen­
regent during his minority. 
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months the besiegers carried five mines under the 
wall and bastions, two of which thP. garrison des­
troyed by countermines, and continued to search 
for the others. The Prince !\foorad Mirza and 
Sadik l\Ialtomed Khan were jealous of Mirza 
Khan, they accordingly put on their armour, ancl 
proceeded towards tlu~ batteries in the afternoon 
Rujub 1. 

of the 1st of Rujub, without 
communicatine: ·with !\Iirza Khan• A. II. 1004, u , 

Feh. 17. and drsirous of gaining all the credit of 
A. 11 • 1 569. taking the place, set fire to the trains 
of tlw mines, upon which three exploded, and 
blew up fifty guz (eighty feet) of the wall. The 
Moguls now waited for the explosion of the other 
two mines, which had been destroyed by the 
bPsieged, who, recovering from the surprise 
occasioned by the explosion, defended the breach 

· with great hraYery. Chand Ileeby appeared with a 
veil on her head. She caused guns to be brought 
to bear on the assailants, and stones to be hurled 
on them, so that they \\·ere repulsed in seyeral 
repeated attacks. During the night, she stood by 
the workmen, and caused the breach to be filled 
up nine feet beforr daylight with wood, stones, 
and earth, and dead carcasses. ~'leanwhile a 
report prevailed, that Soheil Khan, the general 
of Ibraheem Adil Shah, was on his march, in 
cojunction with some Kootb Shahy* troops, 
at the head of an army of seventy thousand 
horse, to raise the siege. At the same time, a 
scarcity of provisions prevailing in the Mogul 
camp, the Prince and Mirza Khan .thought it 

*.The appellations gi,·en to the several kingdoms of the 
Deccan are explained m the beginning of the next chapter. 
Vide . 282, • 
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advisable to enter into negotiations with the 
besieged. It was stipulated by Chand Beeby, 
that Akbur should retain Berar, while Ahmud­
nuggur and its original dependencies should 
remain entire in the hands of Bahadur Shah, the 
grandson of Boorhan :Nizam Shah II. These terms 
being ratified, the Prince Moorad and Mirza Khan 
marched tO\vards Berar ; where they built the 
town of Shapoor, near Balapoor, and formed 
cantonments in ·that place. On this spot, the 
Prince espoused the daughter of Bahadur Khan 
Farooky, the son of Raja Ally Khan, ruler of 
Kandeish, and subdivided the province of Berar 
among his chiefs. Shahbaz Khan Kumbo, about 
this time, becoming disgusted with some indigni­
ties offered him by the Prince, quitted the army, 
and proceeded without leave to Malwa. 

After the departure of the Mogul forces, Chand 
Beeby resigned her authority to Bahadur Nizam 
Shah, who transferred the reins of government into 
the hands of Nehung Khan and other chiefs. 
These, contrary to her advice, and in Yiolation 
of the late treaty, marched with fifty thousand 
horse to the north, in order to expel the Moguls 
from Berar; while Khan Khanan, leaving the 
Prince and Sadik Mahomed Khan in Shapoor, 
moved with twenty thousand horse, accompanied 
by Raja Ally Khan Farooky, to oppose them on the 
banks of the Goda very. On reaching the village of 
Soopa, Khan Khanan. halted for some days to in­
form himself of the situation and strength of the 
enemy, and having forded the river, then only knee-

.• 
VOL. II.-35 
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deep, drew up his army on the s;:mth 
Jumad-ool-. bank. On the 17th of Jumad-ool-Awul, 

Awul 1 7· 10::>5, Soheil Khan, ·who commanded 
A. H. 1005. 

Dec. 27. 
A. D. 1596. 

·a body of auxiliary troops sent by 
Ibrahim Adil Shah, assuming the com­
mand of all the Deccan troops, mar­

shalled them in front of the l\foguls. The Nizam 
Shahy troops were on the right, the Kootb Shahy 
on the left, and the Adil Shahies in the centre. 

On the side of the l\Ioguls, Khan Khanan took 
post in the centre. Raja Ally Khan of Kandeish, 
and Raja Ram Chundur, at the head of a body 
of volunteers, began tl1e attack. The onset of the 
MogL1ls was conducted with much intrepidity; 
they broke the advanced troops of the Deccanies, 
and fell on those of Soheil Khan, where he com­
manded in person. Here, however, they met \vith 
a check from a heavy discharge of artillery, small 
arms, and rockets, which did such execution 
among the Rajpoots and the Kandeish troops 
that Raja Ally Khan and Raja Ram Chundur 
were both killed, and above three thousand of 
their men fell; the :\fogul centre and left also 
gave way at the same time, and left Soheil Khan 
master of the field in that quarter. Meanwhile 
Khan Khanan, who had taken the command in 
person of the right wing during the action, made 
an impression on the Deccanies, and went in 
pursuit without being aware of what had hap­
pened on his left. Night, shortly after, came 
on, and each party, equally ignorant of the true 
state of affairs, thought he had gained a victory. 
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Soheil Khan contented himself with keeping pos­
session of the field, without pursuing the enemy, 
while half of his army deserted during the night 
with the booty it had obtained. 

Khan Khanan, returning from the pursuit, un­
expectedly came upon the Deccany artillery during 
the night, within a small distance of their head­
quarters. Thinking the enemy had been entirely 
routed, he was much surprised at this discoyery, 
but determined to remain where he was till morn­
ing, with the few men that continued with him. 
He now learned, for the first time, that by far the 

-greater part of his army had been defeated, and 
had fled to Berar. Soheil Khan's troops uncon­
sciously lit fires and flambeaux, which gave to 
Khan Khanan an opportunity of perceiYing their 
position. He accordingly ordered a few shot from 
his artillery to be fired among them, which threw 
them into temporary confusion; but Soheil Khan 
causing the fires to be extinguished, and changing 
his ground, avoided the danger, and sent skir­
mishers to collect such of his troops as might be 
found over the plain and in the adjacent villages. 

Khan Khanan also took similar steps to collect 
his men, by blowing his trumpets and beating to 
arms ; which being heard by such of his troops as 
were in the vicinity, they hastened to join him; 
Several of the Moguls meeting with bands of the 
Deccanies in the dark, they fought, and formed 
a scene of confusion not easily described, while 
"Alla! Alla!" Oh God! Oh God! resounded 
from all sides; and every eye was fixed with 
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anxiety upon the east, in expectation of the dawn. 
When day appeared, Soheil Khan was seen march­
ing towards the ~foguls with twelve thousand 
horse ; and though the troops of Khan Khanan 
did not exceed three or four thousand in number, 
he determined to dispute the field, and formed his 
line. The second battle raged with redoubled 
fury on both sides. Soheil Khan, after performing 
prodigies of valour, worn out by fatigue, and loss 
of blood from wounds he received in the action, 
fell from his horse. Some of his dependents, how­
ever, bore him off the ground; and his army, ac­
cording to custom, followed, lem·ing Khan Kha-· 
nan master of the lield; but being in no condition 
to pursue the f ugiti,·es, the Moguls returned to 
Shapoor. 

The Emperor .--\.kbur, lun·ing receiYed advice of 
the death of Abdoolla Khan Oozbuk, who had 
long threatened an invasion from the north, now 
returned from Lahore to Agra, where hearing of 
Khan Klrnnan·s success, he sent him an honorary 
dress and a line horse, as mark!:. of his favour. 
The pri\'ate animosity that had long subsisted be­
tween the Prince i\Ioorad and Khan Khanan, and 
which was much inflamed by Sadik i\Iabomed 
Khan, at this time rose to a dangerous height. 
The King, therefore, conceiving it imprudent tu 
'leave them any longer together, despatched Syud 
Yoosoof KI~an Mushedy and Sheikh .Abool Fuzl, 

in the year rno6, to remain with the 
.\. H. 

1006
• Prince. Khan Khanan- was recalled 

A, D. I 597• 
to the presence ; and though the whole 
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misunderstanding originated in the Prince's for­
ward and jealous' disposition, yet the King's 
resentment fell upon Khan Khanan, and that great 
man remained for some time in disgrace. 

Syud Yoosoof i\ilushedy and Abool Fuzl shortly 
after reduced the forts of Narnala, Gavul/'1 Kehrla, 
and other forts in the province of Berar. .:-\.t this 
time the Prince l\Ioorad Mirza, falling dangerously 

Shuval, ill, died in the month of Shuval, 1007, 
.\. H. 1007. and ,vas buried at Shapoor. The corpse 

May, vvas afterwards removed to Agra, and 
A. 1>. 

1599· laid by the side of Hoomayoon, the 
Prince·s grandfather. The King's grief for the 
death of his son increased his desire of conquering 
the Deccan, as a mec111s of diverting his mind. In 
the mean time, the nobles of the Nizam Shahy 
dominions gained some slight advantages over 
the Moguls. They defeated Sheer Khwaja, who 
occupied Beer, and besieged him in the fort ; while 
Syud Yoosoof Khan and Sheikh Abool Fuzl consi­
dered their force so inferior in numbers, that th~y 
·durst not venture to attack the Deccanies. 

Akbur relenting in his severity towards Khan 
Khanan, restored him to favour, and asked his 
daughter, Jany Begum, in marriage for his son, 
-Daniel Mirza. Khan Khanan was now despatched 
to the Deccan with that Prince, accompanied by 
a well-appointed army, with orders to occupy all 

the Nizam Shahyterritory. Akbur also, 
A. H. 1008. • tl 8 h d . t m 1e year 100 , mare e m person o 
.\. D. 1 599• 

the south, leaving his dominions in the 

* Gyalgur. This fortress was taken by storm by the British 
troops under the Duke of Wellington, in December, 180., .. 
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north under charge of the Prince Royal, Mahomed 
Sulim Mirza. Meanwhile, Daniel l\.Jirza and Khan 
Khanan entered the Deccan. l\'Ieeran Bahadur 
Khan, the son of Raja Ally Khan, ruler of Kan­
deish, unlike his father, assumed a hostile position 
in A.seer, after the Mogul army had gone to the 
south. The Prince Daniel deemed it prudent, 
therefore, to halt on the banks of the Godavery, 
near Pei tun, in order to conciliate him. But Akbur 
having reached l\Iando directed Daniel Mirza to 
proceed to Ahmudnuggur, as he himself intended 
to besiege A.seer. 

Daniel Mirza and Khan Khanan accordingly 
marched with about thirty thousr1.nd horse towards 
Ahmudnuggur. :-Jehung Khan Hubshy and other 
officers of the Deccan flying before them, left 
the J\foguls at liberty to advance without mo­
lestation. Akbur failed in inducing Meeran Ba~ 
hadur Khan to sulJmit to his authority. He ac­
cordingly proceeded to Boorhanpoor, and directed 
qne of his generals to besiege Aseer, which lay 
only six coss from that place. After the siege 
had continued a considerable time, the air, on 
account of the number of troops cooped up in the 
fort, became very unhealthy. This occasioned a 
pestilence, which swept off several of the garrison ; 
and although Meeran Bahadur Khan had still 
sufficient men for· the defence of A.sseer, as well 
as a large magazine of warlike stores and pro• 
visions, be began to despair. At this time, also, 
Ahmudnuggur fell, through the exertions of 
Khwaja Abool Hussun Toormoozy, as we shall 
soon have occasion to relate. In the beginning of 
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the year 10091 Meeran Bahadur Khan, 
losing all courage, resigned the strong 
fortress of Aseer into the hands of Ak-

bur, and yielded up treasures and stores which 
had been accumulating therein for many ages. 
The wealth of Ahmudnuggur was also brought to 
Boorhanpoor. Ibrahim Adil Shah of Beejapoor 
sent an ambassador to conciliate Akbur, and con­
sented to give his daughter in marriag~ to his son, 
the Prince Daniel Mirza. A Mogul noble, named 
Meer Jumal-ood-Deen Hoossein Anjoo, was ac­
cordingly despatched with suitable offerings, to 
escort the bride from Beejapoor. A.seer, Boorhan­
poor, Ahmudnuggur, and Berar, were now con­
solidated into one province, the government of 
which was conferred on Daniel Mirza, under the 
management of Khan Khanan. The King, after 
these transactions, having returned in triumph to 

the city of Agra, in the year IOII, 

A. H. 
1011

• assumed by proclamation the title of 
A. D. 1602. 

Emperor of the Deccan, in addition to 
his other royal titles. In the course of the same 
year, Sheikh Abool Fuzl was recalled from the 
Deccan ; and that learned man was unfortunately 
attacked and cut off in the district of Nurwur, bv 
ban di tti near Orcha. 

In the month of Suffur, ror 3 of the 
Suffur, 

A. H. 1013. Hijra, Meer Jumal-ood-Deen Hoossein 
June, who had been deputed to Beejapoor, 

A. 
0

• 
1604• returned with the royal bride and the 

stipulated dowry. He delivered the young Sool­
tana to Daniel upon the banks of the Godavery;· 
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near Peitun,* where the nupti.als were celebrated 
with great magnificence; after whirh, Meer Jumal­
ood-Deen Hoossein proceeded to join the King at 
Agra. 

Zchuj 1, 

.\. H. 1013. 
April 8, 

A. D. 1605. 

On the 1st of Zehuj, of the year 
1013, the Prince Daniel died, in the 
city of Boorhanpoor, owing to excess 
of drinking. His death, and the cir­

cuinstances connected with it, so much affected 
the King, who was in a declining state of health, 

that he every day became worse, tilJ, 
Jumad-oos- on the 13th of Jumad-oos-Sany, in the Sany 13, 
.-\. H. 1014. 

Oct. 13, 
..\. D. 1605. 

year 1014, he died, after a reign of 
fifty-one years and some months. Eter­
nity belongeth only to that King to 

whom our worship is due. The words 

,,::, .r-5'' ~_,.; 
'' The death of King Akbur, ., 

contain the numeral letters which comprise the 
date of his death. 

Although Akbur was by no means an accom­
plished scholar, he sometimes wrote poetry, and 
was well read in history. He also delighted in 
Indian fables. He caused the fables of Meer 
H umza, consisting of three hundred and sixty 
stories, to be written in a beautiful hand, and 
appropriate pictures were affixed to each storv. 
He established posts throughout his dominion's, 

* Ferishta, the author of this work, attended the Princess to 
Peitun, and wa.c; afterwards invited by the Prince Daniel to 
accompany them to Boorhanpoor, where he spent some time. 
with the royal pair. 
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having two horses and a set of footmen stationed 
at every five coss. The Indians call this establish­
ment "Dall Chowlly." They are employed to· 
convey letters on ordinary business, or expresses to 
and from court. The footmen will traYel fifty 
coss within the twenty-four hours ; so that a letter 
comes from Agra to Ahmudabad in five days ;i:i 
and when especial messengers are required to go 
quickly, they avail themselves of the post-horses· 
to proceed in the same way. Four thousand run• · 
ners were in permanent pay, some of whom, o'n . 
extraordinary occasions ( where there were no 
posts), have performed a journey of seven hundred 
coss in ten days.t ~\.kbur had never more than 
six thousand elephants at one time, nor had he 
ever less than five thousand during his whole 
reign. It seems_ likely that no King of Dehly 
c,·er had so many elephants. His other propPrty 
has been thus estimated : --·-

Of allayees (a golden coin), a sum equal to ten 
crore of rupees, besides one crore's worth of 
allayees, which he set aside for his pri,·ate treasury. 

Ten maunds, full weight, (Soo lb.) of uncoined 
gold. 

Seventy maunds (5(J00 lb.) of uncoined silver. 
Sixty maunds (4800 lb.) of uncoine<l copper; 

besides one crore coined into tunkas. 
Twr.lve thousand stable horses. 
One thousand camels 

* Tne distance cannot he less than five hundred miles, and 
the rate exceeds that of our best reg11latecl posts in India. 

; I?ourtP<"n hunrlrec\ miles, in ten day'-, with post horsrs. 

VOL. IT .-36. 
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He had, also, nearly one thousand yooz 
(hunting leopards). It is stated, that although 
he wished to complete this establishment to one 
thousand he was never able. to do so, in conse­
quence of some disease which affected these 
animals when they exceeded nine hundred. 

The author procured this list of property 
from one furnished to him; but it remains with 
others to decide on its authenticity. 







CHAPTER III. 

OP THE KINGS OF THE DECCAN. 

This Chapter is divided into six Sections; viz. 

SECTION I. Of the Kings of Koolburga, denominated Bahmuny. 
SEcrroN II. Of the Kings of Beejapoor, entitled Adil Shahy. 
SEcrroN III. Of the Kings of Ahmudnuggur, entitled Nizam 

Shahy. 
SECTION IV. Of the Kings of Tulingana (Hydrabad), entitled 

Kootb Shahy. 
SECTION v. or the Kings of Berar, entitled Imad Shahy. 
S1scnoN VI. Of the Kings of Bidur, entitled l3ereed Shahy. 

------ ---

SECTION I. 

THE DYNASTY OF THE KINGS OF KOOLBURGA, IJENOMI­

NATED BAHMUNV. 

ALLA-OOD-DEEN HUSSUN SHAH GUNGOO 
BAHMUNY: 

His or~1;iu.-Statc of tlte llfalt0111edan power in the 
Dccca11.--1lfahomed Togltlzek, King of Dehly, suspects the 
foreign officers stationed in the Dcccall of an intention to 
revolt-takes steps to procure their being sent to his camp. 
-Tlze officers concert measures with tl1e Hi11doo princes of 
the Deccan to revolt-they obtain possession of Dowltttabad. 
-Tlte King of Dcltly arrives, aml attacks the confederates, 
bzet is induced to tpeit tlzc Deccan to suppress an insurrection 
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in Guzerat.-The Deccan chiefs establish llzeir independ­
e11ce-t/zc1• raise Ismael to the tl1ro11c.-Xuffur Khan, tlzc 
principa/ Dcccan_v partisan, takes Kand'l,ar and Bidur 
from the Deh~)' o_ffeecrs in charge, and reaches Dowlutahad. 
-Ismael abdicates the throne in favour of Xuff111· A"ha11, 
who ass1w1cs the title and app;llntion of .-1tia-ood-Dec11 
llussun G1t11iroo Bnlu11u111,.-He crcafrs Seif-ood-/Jre11 -~ -
Ghoory minister, anti makes Koolb111:!fa hi.1· capital.--Thc 
ex-King Ismael attempts to recover his po11•cr-l,c is 
sci:;;ed, tried, and executed, but lzis estates and titles arc 
co1{fcrrcd 011 l1is so11.-lf11ss1m Gungoo di·vides f/,c Damn 
into four departments:-
1st department, Dabul, Koollmrga, Raclzore, and .ivloodu/. 
2d department, Cl1tml, foonerc, /Jowlutahad, and Prit1111. 
3d department. J/11ltoor, Ramgir. and Ilic valley of Bcrar. 
4th department Hidur, Kow/as, and lndore. 

Tire Kinr:'s /zea/t!, d.:di11cs-l1is deaf/, . 

. \unIURS differ regarding the birth and the early 
life of Alla-nod-Deen Hus~Llll Bahmunv. It would 
be tedious and useless to relate all that has been 
~aid on this subject, su that I shall merely state that 
which is most generally belieYed in the Deccan. 

Hussun, a nati\·e of Dehly, was the serva11t o[ 
Gungoo, a braminical astrologer, enjoying higli 
favour with the Prince I.\Iahome<l Togliluk, and 
who, in consideration of the good conduct of 
1-f ussun, g,l\'e him a pair of oxen, and permitted 
him to till a small piece of land for his own ust', 
\Vhile at work one day, the plough attached itself 
to some substance, which on examination Hussu11 
found to be a chain fastened to a copper Yc,sel, 
containing a number of antique gold coirn,. Ou 
making the disco,·ery, he carried the treasure 
to his master, who, commending him for his 
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honesty, acquainted the Prince Mahomed Toghluk 
with the circumstance, who communicated it to 
his father, the King. The monarch ordered Hussun 
to the presence, and conferred on him 1.he com­
mand of one hundred horse. 

It is further relate<l, that tlie bramin assured 
Hussun he perceived from l1is horoscope that he 
would rise to great distinction, and be eminently 
favoured of the Almighty; and made him promise 
if he e,·er should attain regal power, that he would 
assume the name of Gungoo, and employ him as 
his minister of finance ; a request "·ith which 
Hussun readily complied. 11. is said, also, that his 
future destiny was foretold by the celebrated 
Sheikh Nizam-ood-Deen Oulia. From these prog­
nostications, Hussun's ambition prompted him to 
proceed to the Deccan, which became the seat of 
his future good fortune. 

The Prince l\Iahomed Tughluk, ha\'ing suc­
ceeded his father on the throne of Dehly, ap­
pointed his tutor, Kootloogh Khan, entitled Alum­
ool-Moolk, Gm·ernor of Dowlutabad; and granted 
permission, at the same time, to such officers as 
cl~ose to proceed with him. ;\mong these was 
Hussun, on whom was bestov,·ed, in jageer, the 
town of Koonchy 1'1 within the district of Ray 
Bagh. Some years after, Mahomed Toghluk led his 
army against the refractory nobles of Guzerat, 
whom he defeated. Many of these took refuge in 
the Deccan; where Kootloogh Khan and his 
officers, contmry to the duty they owed their 

* Chenchy of Arrowsmith. 
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sovereign, afforded them an asylum. This proceed­
ing induced the.King to determine on removing 
the whole of the Deccan officers to other provinces. 
"'ith this \·iew, _\hmucl Lacbeen was deputed tu 
wait on Alum-ool-~Ioolk, requiring him to send 
the Dect·an officers to Guzerat. Th½ governor 
accordingly summoned them to repair to Dowlut­
abad. Some months elapsed before they arrived ; 
when, at length, they departed with Ah mud I .a­
cheen for Guzerat. _\hmud entertained hopes of 
extorting presents from these oflicers to engage 
bis interest in their favour \Vith the King, but 
being disappointed, he resented their conduct, and 
treated them "·ith <·ontempt; remarking to his 
attendants, that they deserved death for having 
gi\·cn protection to the rebel chiefs of Guzerat, 
and for so long neglecting the royal summons to 
appear at court. Tile Deccan officers, on hearing 
these sentiments, became alarmed ; and on reach­
ing the frontier, they formed a plan to revolt. I l 
was notorious that the King fre[Jnently punished 
with death the slightest offences, and often without 
examining the accused: so that they considered 
it better for them to maintain thcmselYes in Uw 
Deccan by force, than to deliver themselves up 
tamely like sheep to the slaughter. 

This resolution being taken, they quitted Alimucl 
Lacheen, who in attempting to oppose them was 
defeated and slain. The chiefs were immediately 
joined by numbers of disaffected persons, and be­
fore they reached Dowlutabad had collected a 
large force. The rajas of the Deccan, also, suffering 
under the tyranny of the King of Dehly, rejoiced 
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at this revolt; in which some joined, while others, 
more circumspect, only privately encouraged it, 
and assisted the rebels ,vith money and supplies. 
How just is the obsen-ation of the poet, who re­
marks,--

'' \Vhrn man is oppressrd he revolts l'rom his prince in the 
hou\- or danger ; 

"For how can a kingdom Jlourish when the ruler is tyrannical?" 

Imad-ool-Moolk, the King's son-in-law, gover­
nor of Derar and Kandeish, residing at Elichpoor, 
finding himself daily df'serted by his troops, and 
fearing least his officers should fmally cleli\·er him 
ewer to the Deccanies, quitted t,hat city with his 
family, under pretence of hunting, and retired to 
N undoorbar : while tlw Derm· ollicers plundering 
the treasury, proceeded to join the insur~ents' 
camp near Dowlutabad. The garrison of this for­
tress, also, perceiving the accumulafrd force of the 
rebels, delivered o,·er the place into their hands. 
Thus, in a few months, the territory of the Dcc­
can, which had been conquered in a long series of 
campaigns, and at a vast expense of blood and 
treasure, seemed about to be snatchf'd from the 
hands of thP- King of Dehly. 

On securing possession of Dm,vlutabacl, the 
insurgents, in order to give weight to their 
measures, resoh-ed lo elect a leader ; and they 
raised one Ismael Khan Afghan, an officer of 01{e 
thousand horse, whose brother, Mullik l\Ioogh, 
commanded the royal army in the province of 
Malwa, to be their King, with the titlr 
of Nasir-ood-Deen. This selection arose princi­
pally out of the hope that the Deccanies 
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would be suppprted by the new king'.s relative. 
in Malwa. Honours were bestowed by the new 
sovereign on a II his officers, and to each was as­
signed a landed estate. At this time, Hussun, who 
has been before mentioned, had the title of Zuffur 
Khan conferred on him, and he received some dis­
tricts for his own support and that of a body of sol­
diers. l\'Ieanwhile Mahomed Toghluk approached 
from Guzerat, having been joined on the road by 
Imad-ool-i.\Ioolk Tubreezy, and Mullik Moogh, go­
,·ernor of l\fahYa. On his arri\·al, near Dowlutahacl, 
he found the insurgents ready to receive him at the 
head of thirty thousand cavalry, drawn up on tlw 
same plain where Alla-ood-DPen had first defeated 
the son of Ram Dew, Raja of Dewgur. In tlH' 
action which ensued, both wings of the royal army 
were routed, and l\Iahumed Toghluk was e\·en pre­
paring to fiy, when suddenly the curse of disloyalty 
fell upon the rebels. Khan .Tehan, one of their 
principal chiefs, recei,·ing an arrow wound, was 
dismounted, and his division, consisting of six 
thousand men, dispersed and !led from the field. 
;\t the same instant, also, th<-> standard-hearer of 
Nasir-ood-Deen Ismael, the newly-created King, 
panic-struck, allowed the colours to fall from his 
hands; and tlu~ insurgent troops, supposing their 
chief had forsaken them, gradually fell · hack. 
Night coming on, bnth parties retired without 
molestation to their ramp. Nasir-ood-Deen 
Ismael having sent for Zuffur Khan and his prin­
cipal chiefs, resolved that it would be inadvisable 
for the present to hazard another battle, ancl 
it was agreed that Nasir-ood-Deen Ismael 
should retire within the walls of Dowlutabad with 
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a sufficient garrison; while the officers should 
kei:!p the field, provide for the protection of their 
own •districts, and harass and cut off the enemy's 
convoys and supplies. The rebels, accordingly, 
silently withdrew during the night, so that at 
daylight tlie King of Dehly saw not a Yestige of 
tli.eir army. On the following day, I mad-ool­
Moolk Tubreezy was detached in pursuit of .Zu1Iur 
Khan, and the King laid siege to Dowlutabacl. 
After some time, the garrison, reduced to despair, 
was about to surrender, when intelligence arriYed 
of an insurrection at Dehly, under a slave named 
Tuky, who, with a body of disaffected rabble, had 
committed great enormities in the capital, threa­
tened the provinces, and was on march to Guze­
ra t. The King, lea,·ing the camp at Dowlutabacl 
in charge of one of his generals, marched to quell 
this new rebellion. The Deccan officers, encour­
aged by this circumstance, collected from all parts, 
and advancing in force, compelled the royalists to 
raise the siege, and to follo,~heir so,·ereign. On 
the retreat, they were hotly pressed by the Dec­
canies as far as the banks of the Nerbudda. On 
which o~:casion, the royalists lost much baggage, 
and several elephants laden with treasure. 

Zuffur Khan also marched with twenty thou­
sand horse to Bidur, then occupied by Imad-ool­
Moolk Tubreezy ; but owing to the superiority of 
the royalists, he dared not engage them. At last, 
~eing joined by fifteen thousand infantry, sent 
by the Raja of Tulingana, and five thousand 
horse, detached by Nasir-ood-Deen Ismael from 
Dowlutabad to his assistance, Zufiur Khan made 

. . 
_ VOL. II.-37. 
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the attack. The action, which was hardly con­
tested, continued from daylight till sunset, when, 
as it was decreed by God,* that Zuffur Khan 
should be raised to the sovereignty of the Deccan, 
Imacl-ool-Moolk was slain, and his army routed. 
Many of the fugitives took shelter in Ilidur, others 
in Kand'har,t while some few retired with 
difficulty to Malwa. 

Zuffur Khan having left Mullik Seif-ood-Deen 
Ghoory to reduce the forts of Bidur and Kand'har 
proceeded to Dowlutabad; at which place he was 
met by N'asir-oocl-Deen Ismael, who, on observing 
that greater attention was paid by the officers and 
the army to the general than to him, and 
perceiving, also, that they wished to have him for 
their king, prudently resoked to retire to a more 
humble station. Calling a meeting, therefore, of 
the principal officers present, Nasir-ood-Deen 
Ismael declared, that on account of his age he 
was unfit to rule in such times, and requested they 
would elect a new J.ing, observing, that for his 
part he should recommend- Zuffur Khan as most 
worthy of the throne. The assembly unanimously 
consented to the proposal; and the astrologers 
being directed to select a fortunate moment for his 
Hubbee-ool- inauguration, on Friday, the 24th of 
Akhur 24. Rubbee-ool-Akhur, 748, the crown 
A. 

11
• 7+8· was placed on the head of Zuff ur August 1:2. 

A. u. 1347. Khan, and a black canopy, the colour 
* One cannot help observing, in this and several other pas­

sages throughout the work, the influence which predestination 
possessed over the author's mind. 

"j" Kand'har, in the Deccan, must not be confounded with 
Kandahar, in Persia, 
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assumed by the Abasside caliphs, was elevated over 
his throne. The Khootba was read, and coins 
struck, in his name, impressed with his title of Alla­
oocl-Deen Hussun. From that period, also, Kool­
burga, which now became the royal residence, was 
named Ahsunabad,* and became the capital of the 
first Mahomedan king of the Deccan. 

Alla-ood-Deen H ussun, having assumed charge 
of his government, neglected none of its duties, 
and his dominions daily extended; so that in a 
short time the territory from the river Beema to 
the vicinity of the fortress of Adony,t and from 
the port of Chou! to the city of Bidur, was brought 
under his authority. It is related, that on his ac­
cession the King distributed four hundred pounds 
weight of gold, and one thousand pounds of silver, 
in charity, in the name of Nizam-ood-Deen Oulia, 
who had predicted his good fortune. ~follik Seif­
ood-Deen Ghoory, remarkable alike for his inte­
grity and good sense, ,n1s appointed minister; 
and the ex-king, Nasir-ood-Deen, re assuming his 
original name of Ismael, was honoured with the 
title of Ameer-ool-Omra. Not unmindful of his 
promise to his former master, the King entrusted 
his treasury to the brarnin Gungoo, who quitted 
the service of Mahomed Toghluk Padshah, and 

* The MSS. ail contain this inconsistency. l[ the King's 
name be I-lussun, the city should have been called I-Iussun­
abad; but I imagine that some error, either in the name of the 
King or of the city, has taken place, through the neglet:t of 
transcribers. 

t The correct name is Adwany, by which it is sometime~ 
mentioned in the public archives of the i\Iadra:. government, 
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repaired to the Deccan ; :an<l the affix of Gun goo 
Bahmunv was superadde<lj to the King's title in 
all publfc documents, and remained en-graven on 
the royal seal of that dynasty till its extinction. 

1 t is generally believed that Gun goo was the first 
bramin who accepted office in)he service of a 1\la­
homedan prince; before whose time, the bramins 
never engaged in public affairs, but passed their 
lives in the duties of religion, and in the study of 
the Vedas; indifferent to fortune, conceiving the 
service of prince(to be destructive of virtue. · If, as 
physicians, astronomers, meta physicians, od his­
torians, they sometimes associated with the rich 
or powerful, they never constnted to wear the 
chain of servi tucle, )hough cou rtecl by gifts, and 
promised the highest distinctions. Since (iungoo's 
acceptance of employment, however, the manage­
ment of the re,·enue has been committed generally 
to bramins, by all the:=princes of_:the DeccanY · 

Alla-ood-lJeen H ussun, as well' by wise policy 
as by force of ar111s,)owards the--end of the reigu 
of Mahomed Toghluk, subdued, eYery part of 

· the Decca11 previously subject to the ·throne of 
Dehly, and gaine(over by conciliatory~ measures 
the Afghan, Mogul, and Rajpoot oHicers of the 
Dehly government, holding ,possession of Didur 
and Kand'lrnr, wllich were delivered into his hands. 

-» Ferishta,'.in this as weII:as in many other:instances,' evince~ 
a remarkable degree of ignorance of the state of Hindoo·society, 
or he woul~ have known, that bramins, not onlr in his time hut 
Jong an tenor to the i\fahomedan conquest of the Dec-can, were 
the only persons who kepL;the public accounts, or who culti­
vated the art of letters. 
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He wrested Kowlas, also, with its dependencies, 
from the Raja of vVurungole, with whom he form­
eel a treaty of alliance. The death of Mahomed 

Toghluk, in 752, removing all appre­
A. 

11
• 75 2

• hensions of attack from Dehly, the 
A. D. 1351. 

King engaged assiduously in tl~e in-
ternal economy of his gO\·ernment, and witnessed 
the marriage of his eldest son Mahomed with the 
daughter of Mullik Seif-ood-Deen Ghoory. On 
this occasion, he distributed ten thousand robes of 
doth of gold, velvet, and satin, among the nobles 
of his court, besides one thousand Arabian and 
Persian horses, and two hundred silbres set with 
jewels. The populace were entertained with 
various amusements, and booths were:~erected in 
the streets of Koolburga, from which showers of 
confectionary were thrown among the crowd. 
The rejoicings lasted a whole year; on the last day 
of which, the nobility and officers, in their turn, 
made offerings of jewels, money, and the rarest 
productions of all countries. 

Mullik Seif-ood-Deen Ghoory, in consequence 
of this alliance, assumed a place in public assem­
blies above those of all the nobility. This cir­
cumstance gave offence to the .\meer-ool-Omrn, 
who complained of it, but he· wa(told, that in 
every settled government the civil officers took 
precedence of the military. Although apparently 
satisfied with this explanation, he secre1.1y con­
spired ,vith some disaffected persons to depose the 
King,and to re-ascend the throne he had abdicated. 
His designs not being frwoured by Providence, the 
King obtained timely information of his intentions 
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from persons who had joined in the pl~t, bu·t had 
since repented. Having convened all the pri:ncipal 
officers of the court, the King openly accused Is­
mael, who denied the charge by' the most solemn 
oaths. Being confronted, however, witli tl1e in­
formers, and many of the conspirators having fully 
proved the charges against him, the An1eer-ool­
Ornra suffered death: his relations and adherents, 
howe\·er, were unmolested; no confiscation of 
his property took place; and his son, Bahaclur· 
Khan, was raised to the rank of Ameer-ool-Omra. 
This act, connected with other instances of justice 
tempered with mercy, raised the King's fame, and 
strengthened his po"·er. The Raja of Tulingana, 
who had thrown off all fealty, was treated \\'i1.li 
generous forbearance, on account of the assistance 
he had rendered to the King; and he now volun- · 
iarily agreed to pay the tribute he had beretofor~: 
remitted to the King of Dehly. 

i-\.lla-ood-Deen, at the instance of Mullik Seif­
ood-Oeen Ghoory, sent a considerable force into 
the Carnatic,:l' from whence his general returned 
successful, with valuable contributions from several 
rajas in money and jewels, besides two hundred 
elephants, and one thousand female singers. Ha,·­
iug received an invitation from Preme·Ray, the 
representative of the ancient rajas of Guzerat, to 
i11\'acle that country, (which, owing to the weak~ 
ness· of the kings of f?ehly, had become a prey 

* 13y the Carnatic is meant ~he country in which the 
Canara or Canarese language prevails, i-outh of a line drawn 
between Kolapoor and Bidur, 
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Shaban, to contending chiefs,) Alla-ood-Deen 
A. n. 7_58. Hussun, ·in the month of Shaban, 758, 
August, took the field, and having detached 

A. n. 1357• his eldest son, the Prince Mahomed, in 
aclvance with twenty thousand horse, himself 
followed by easy marches. On arriving at Nqw­
sary/ the Prince found the country abound­
ing in game, of which he sent accounts to his 
father, who being fond of field sports, proceeded 
with expedition, and spent nearly a month in that 
,·icinity ;.at the end of which period, having con­
tracted an intermittent fever, and not using proper 
precaution in refraining from violent exercise and 
high living, his disorder increased to so alarming 
a deg.ree, that he was induced to return to Kool­
burg-a. On reaching his capital, he convened all 
the le9-rned and holy men in whose presence he 
vowed ·to abstain in future from all thi.ngs for-. 
bidden by the law of the Koran. At this time 
he divided his Kingdom into four principal govern-

. nients. The district, including the capital, ex­
tended from Koolburga as far west as Dabul, 
an.d south as far as Rachore and l\Ioodkul, 
_was placed under Mullik Seif-ood-Deen Ghoory: 
-t_he tract comprehending Choul (~n the sea-coast), 
and- lying between Joonere, Dowlutabad, lleer, 
and Peitun (being the territory of Mahrut), the 
King committe~l tQ.Jpe charge of Mahomed Khan, 
the son of his brother Ameer Ally. On the north­
east, Mahoor, Rarngir,. an9- a portion of Berar, 
,vere in trusted to Sufdur. Khan Seestany; and 

* On the Tapty, near Surat. 
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Bidur, Indour, Kowlas, and the districts in Tu­
lingana, were assigned to the charge of Azim 
Hoomayoon, son of Mullik Seif-ood-Deen Ghoory. 

The King continued six months in a declining 
state of health; in spite of which, he gave public 
audience twice a day, transacting business, and 
administering justice to the poor and friendless. 
He issued orders to release all prisoners throughout 
his dominions, except those accused of capital 
offences, whom he commanded to Koolburga; and 
having himself examined them, gave liberty to all 
but seven, whom he delivered over to his son Ma­
homed, that after his death he might act towards 
them as he judged proper. At length, finding no 
benefit from medicine, and feeling nature exhaust­
ed, he discharged his physicians, and waited pa-· 
tiently the final cure of human ills. In this state, 
enquiring one clay of his youngest son, Mahmood, 
who had been reading ·with his tutor, what Look 
he had been studying, the youth replied, the 
Bostan of Sady, repeating the following passage 
as his lesson of that day:--

" I have heard that Jumsheed, that compound 
"of excellence, caused these words to be engra,·ecl 
"on a marble fountain: 'Many like me have 
"viewed this fountain, but they are gone, ancl 
"their eyes closed for ever. I conquered the world 
"by valour and prudence, but ,vas unable to 
"subdue the power of the grave.' " · 

The King sighed at the recital, and calling his 
sons Dawood and Mahomed to him, said," This 
"is my last breath, and with it I conjure you, as 
"ye value the permanence of the Kingdom, to 
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"agree with each other. Mahomed is my sue­
" cessor : submission and loyalty to him is your 
"first duty in this world, and will ensure you 
"happiness in the next." He then sent for his 
treasurer, and committed to each of his sons a sum 
of money to be distributed instantly among the 
poor. Having done which, they returned to inform 
him his wishes had been fulfilled; when he ex­
claimed, "Praise be to God," and instantly 
resigned his life to the Creator of all things. The 

Rubbee-ool­
Awul 1. 

A. I-I, 759, 
Feb. 10. 

A, D, 1358. 

death of Alla-ood-Deen Hussun 
happened ele,·en years, two months, 
and seven days, after his accession to 
the throne, on the rst of Rubbee-ool­
Awul, 7 59, in the sixtyseYenth year 
of his age. 

Alla-ood-Deen Hussun being once asked how 
he contrived without great treasures or armies to 
attain royalty, he replied, by kindnesses to my 
friends, generosity to my enemies, and by courte­
sy and liberality to all mankind. It has been 
asserted that he was descended from Bahmun, one 
of the ancient kings of Persia, and I, the author, 
have even seen a pedigree of him so deriYed, in the 
royal library of Ahmudnuggur ; but it was 
probably only framed, af tcr his accession to the 
throne, by .flatterers and poets, for I believe his 
origin was too obscure to admit of being traced. 
The appellation of Bahmuny he certainly took out 
of compliment to his master, Gungoo, the bramin, 
a word often pronounced bahmun. The King 
himself was by birth an Afghan. 

YuL. II.-38. 
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The splendour of the court dcsc1·ibed-The King coins 
money of a squa1'e form.-Tlze Hiudoos refztse to circiilafr 
it, and they melt it down.-Several Hi11doos suffer deatlt. 
-Tlze Rajas of Beeja1111l[g11r and Wurungole pro,Joke 11 
1Mr it•itlz llfalio11wl Sl1a/1.-T/1e Hindoos are dejeatetl.­
Tlze King proceeds to Velumputtun-lzis cruel treatment 
of the Raja.-The King's army nearly cut ~ff in ltis 
retreat, and he is himself wounded.-T/1e Raja of 
TVur1111gole cedes Golconda, and peace is co11c/1uled; on 
wlticlt occasion the Raja prc.w:ids tlie King 1c1itlt the cele­
brated TukM Feroza, or asure throne.-The King, in a.fit 
of debauchery, gh•cs to a band of musicians an order for a 
large sum of money 011 tlte treasury of the Raja of 
Beejaiw,egur.-War ensues.-J1foodkul fa/(en ~JI tl,e Raja 
and the wlzo!e of the garrison is put to the sword.-­
.Afahomed makes a i•ow to slay one lwndred tlto11sa11rl 
Hindoos.-The Hi11doos defeated, and seventy tltousnnd 
slain in tlze first action.-T/ze Raja is besiel[ed in his 
capitnl.-Tlte musicians arc paid by tlze Raja.-Pcace 
concluded.-Revolt by Beimm Khan at Dowl11t11b11d.-ls 
defeated at Pcitmz, and er1cntu11lly retreats to Guserat. 
-Description of t!1e ci,•if go .. •ern111e11t of ilfafzo111e1{ Shaft 
/.-His de,ztk. 

,VHEN Mahomed ascended the throne he added 
considerably to the splendour of the court. On the 
canopy over his seat he caused a golden ball, inlaid 
with jewels, to be placed, on which was a bird of 
paradise composed of precious stones, on whose 
head ·was a ruby of inestimable price, presented to 
the late king by the Raja of Beejanuggur. He in­
creased the train of his attendants, and divided the 
nobility and officers into four orders, appointing 
to each specific duties and times for attendance at 
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court. He formed a corps which he styled bardars, 
whose duties consisted in mustering the troops, and 
in conducting persons to the audience. He had, 
also, a band of silehdars,* composed of two hun­
dred youths, selected from among the sons of the 
nobility, to carry the royal armour and weapons; 
and he formed a body-guard of four thousand men, 
under the command of a nobleman of high rank, 
styled Meer Nobut. Fifty silehdars, and a 
thousand of the body-guard, attended at the palace 
daily. EYery day, excepting on Fridays, he gaye 
public audience early in the morning, and 
continued to transact business till the crier 
proclaimed noontide prayer, when the court broke 
up. Previously to ascending the throne, he used to 
prostrate himself before it out of respect, as he said, 
to the memory of his father. The throne was of 
silver, placed under a magnificent canopy, on a rich 
carpet, and the court before the hall of audience 
was shaded either by an awning of veket brocade, 
or some other costly manufacture. To each of the 
goyernors of prO\·inces he gave the name of 
Tmrufdar. In the beginning of his reign, l\Iullik 
Seif-ood-Deen Ghoory enjoyed the distinction of 
sitting in the presence, but requesting to resign 
this privilege, he afterwards stood like the other 
nobles. The nobut,i" or band of music, played 

* It was with this Prince, probably, the word silehdar, so 
common now in the Deccan, originated, and which seems to 
answer to the cm·alicr of Europe :-a sort of knight who fol­
lowed the court mounted on his own horse, and in whose train 
rode one or more attendants. 

t The word b11t signifies a musicial instrument; thus ,ve have 
barbut, sackbut, &c. The nobut was originally a band corn-
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five times daily, at stated hours; and all persons, 
when introduced to the King, knelt and touched 
the ground with their foreheads.* After the 
dissolution of the Bahmuny dynasty, the several 
kings of the Deccan assumed the chutr, or canopy, 
and the Khootba; but none struck coins of gold 
in their own name, or sounded the nobut fixe 
times daily, excepting the King of Golconda, 
styled Kootb Shah. 

The coins of the Balununy dynasty were of a 
square form, and of different value; having on 
one side the creed of the faithful, and the names of 
the as'hab (the first four caliphs), while on the 
other si<le was the King's title, and the year of 
his reign in which the coin was struck. The 
Hindoo bankers, at the instigation of the Rajas 
of Beejanuggur and Tulingana, melted all the 
coins which fell into their hands, in order that 
those of the infidels might alone be current in the 
Deccan. Mahomed Shah, incensed against them 
on their persisting in the offence, put to death 
many persons guilty of such conduct, and limited 
the business of the mint and of the bank to a few 
Kuh tries, the descendants of inhabitants of Dehly 
who had formerly emigrated into the Deccan. 
After which, the Bahmuny coins alone were used 

posed of nine different instruments : the number of each de­
scription of which might be extended according to pleasure. 

* This mode of salutation has long ceased in many parts of 
India. It was, probably, brought into the country by the 
Tartars, and is the koo/o() of the Tartar court of Pekin, to which 
the English ambassadors have hitherto refused to submit. 
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10 the Mahomedan dominions. Since the sub­
version of that dynasty, however, the coins oI the 
Hindoo princes haYe been permitted to pass 
current. 

Early in the reign of Mahomed Shah, the Rajas 
of Beejanuggur and Tulingana demanded restitu­
tion of the territories wrested from them by his 
father ; threatening, in case of refusal, not only to 
invade his country themseh-es, but to draw upon 
him the army of the King of Dehly. Insecure of 
the attachment of some of his o!Ecers, and his 
treasury being low, owing to the large sums 
required by his mother, i\Iullika .Tehan, to perform 
the pilgrimage to Mecca, Medina, and Kurbulla, 
the King, during eighteen months, kept the am­
bassadors of the Rajas at his court, and sent his 

. own to Beejanuggur, in order to gain time. 
During this period he displaced such oflicers as he 
suspected ; and his mother hm·ing returned, he 
resolved on war, and demanded from the Rajas 
some of their best elephants, laden ,vitli jewels, 
gold, and the most precious manufactures of the 
Deccan. The Raja of Tulingana upon this deputed 
his son, Yinaik Dew, ·with an army, to rec°''er 
Kowlas, while the Raja of Beejanuggur sent a 
considerable force to co-operate. The I-I indoos were 
defeated by the Mahomedan troops, under Dahadar 
Khan; and that general, hc:t,·ing plundered the 
country to the vicinity of ,vurungole, obliged the 
Raja to pay him a large sum of money ; to give 
twenty-five elephants, and many Yaluable jewels, 
which were presented to the King at Koolburga. 
A, u. 773. In the encl of the year 773, some 
A. n. 1371. merchants arriving from distants parts, 
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brought horses for sale, but the King not ap­
proving of them, observed they "·ere unfit for his 
use; on which the merchants stated they had 
lately possessed much finer horses, but which hacl 
been forcibly taken from them, at reduced prices, 
by Yinaik Dew at Yelumput1.un,* though they 
told him that they were designed for the King or 
Koolburga. Mahomed Shah, already offended 
,Yith Yinaik Dew, resolved to take revenge for this 
fresh instance of disrespect; and committing the 
charge of his government to l\Iullik Seif-ood-Dcen 
Ghoory assembled an army at Sooltanpoor, where 
he continued ten days, organising his troops. He 
there recei,·ed during that time the prayers of the 
w:nerable i\Iahomecl Siraj-ood-Deen Jooneicly for 
his success; and on the ele,·enth day began his 
campaign by slow marches towards Tulingana. 
On his arrival at Kullian, asking an attendant, 
to whom he allowed great freedom of speech, in 
what time he might reach Yelumputtun, the wit 
replied, that if he continued his present speed, he 
might perhaps see it in twelve months. The 
King, nettled at this observation, immediately 
formed a light detachment of four thousand 

* I have not ventured to alter the wor<l in the original, 
though I know of no place of this name. Yelumconcln, or 
Jlellumconcla (the Sugar-hill), was the srat of govr.rnment of a 
powerful raja nearly two centuries afterwnrds; and, perhaps, 
Ilcliumconda ought to be the true reading. The termination 
of puttun (town), and conda (a hill), being frequently used syno­
nymously, if the town lie under a hill, as it does in this case. 
One principal objection to this surmise, however, arises from 
the towns of Kowlas and Kullian, which are here mentioned, 
not lying in the nearest road between Koolburga and 13ellum­
conda. 
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cavalry, and proceeded with such rapidity, that 
in the space of a week he arrived near Velum­
puttun. He then ordered a band of veteran 
soldiers to disguise themsefres in tattered habits, 
and repair to the to,Yn as horse-dealers, who had 
been plundered by robbers, in order to amuse the 
attention of the guards at the gates. The sol­
diers, on being questioned, replied, that they were 
merchants who had been plundered by a numerous 
banditti not far from the place, and were come to 
implore protection and justice from the gm·ernor. 
During this time Mahomed Shah ad,·anced with a 
thousand horse, and the guards in attempting to 
shut the gates were pre,·ented by the King's 
troops. The King now entering the town, com­
menced to slay the inhabitants without mercy, 
while Vinaik Dew, who little expected such an 
enemy, was engaged at an entertainment. On 
recei,·ing the alarm, he lled with precipitation to 
the citadel, which the King assaulted without 
delay; when, after a faint opposition, Yinaik 
Dew tried to make his escape by a pastern, but 
was taken prisoner in the city. In the morning 
he was questioned by the King, why he had dared 
to seize horses from merchants on their way to 
Koolburga? and making an insolent reply, 
Mahomed Shah, who had before this resolved to 
spare his life, commanded a pile of wood, which 
happened to be close to the citadel, to be lighted. 
He then ordered the tongue of Vinaik Dew to be 
cut out, and having placed him on a munjncek 
(catapulta), caused him to be cast from the walls 
into the flames, in which he was consumed. The 
King remained fifteen clays in the town ; and as 
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·his army came up, it encamped without the gates, 
while he reposed from his fatigues, and. gave 
hin{self up to pleasure. Having secured the 
'treasures of Vinaik Dew, and levied a heavy con­
tribution from the inhabitants, l\fahomed Shah 
left Yelumputtun, and returned towards his 
capital; but the Tulingies, who had now collected 
in great force, surrounding him from all quarters, 
so harassed his march, that he commanded his 
tents and baggage to be burnt, together with all 
his plunder, except jewels and gold. Being 
relieved from these encumbrances, he moved in 
close order from dawn till nightfall every day, 
relying. for provisions on the villages on the 
·route, and passing the night in strict vigilance, 
for fear of surprise. ,vith all these precautions, 
the enemy destroyed such numbers of his soldiers, 
that of four thousand men only fifteen hundred 
returned. The King himself received a wound in 
his arm, and at Kowlas vvas obliged to halt from 
indisposition. Here he was fortunately joined by 
Mullik Seif-ood-Deen Ghoory with the main body 
of his army, when the Tulingies were driven back 
to their own country with great slaughter, and 
several places taken from them before the King 
re~u_med to Koolburga. 

The Raja of Tulingana, enraged at the death of 
his son, sent a letter to the Emperor Feroze Tog­
luk of Dehly, acknowledging himself-hi! vassal. 
He promised, that if he would send a force to the 
south he would act in conjunction with it, for the 
recovery of the.Dehly possessions in the Deccan, 
and also consented to pay a considerable tribute. 
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Jn this offer he was joinecl by his ally, the Raja ·of• 
Beejanqggur; b'ut Feroze Toghluk was too mtich 
occupied with domestic commotions to:assist them, 
and did not attend to their represen1.aions. 

i\fahomed Shah, hearing of the overtures made 
by the Rajas, nn_d awnre of the weakrH;ss of the 
-co'urt of Dehly, res-olvecl on the ent-ire conquest of· 
Tulingana. Having again committed the charge of 
his internal government to Mullik Seif-ood-Deen 
Ghoory, he marched to Kowlas, from whence he 
detached Azim Hoom0,yoon, with the troops of 
Bidur, towards Golconcla, and Sufdur ·Khan, with 
those of Berar, against ,,rurungole, tmvards wpich 
latter place he followed in person by regular 
marches. The Raja of Tulingana, disappointed of 
aid from Dehly, declined engaging the royal army; 
and ·retiring to the woods, sent some of his chiefs 
with valuable presents to Hahadu~ Khan,* entreat­
ing his intercrssion for peace, which the King at 
first refused. The Raja then despatched one of 
his sons to tl1e camp, with declarations of sub­
mission; when i\'Iahomed Shah, nt' the earnest 
persuasion of his nobility, ngreed to such trrms as 
Bahadur Khan shou lcl judge consistent with the 
King's dignity. It wcts required, accordingly, 
that the Raja should prrsent thrPe hundred eler 
phnnts, two hundrrd Yaluable horses, and thirty­
three lacks of rupees ; and that he should cede in 
perpetuity the hill-fort of Golconda, with its 
clPpendrncies. '(he i\fahomedan army having heen 

* Bahadur Khan had been previously employed as ambas­
sador to the Raja of ,vurungole. 

VOL. II.-39. 
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nearly two years subsisting on the country of 
Tulingana, the Raja was much distressed, and saw 
no relief but in fulfilling the conditions. It was 
ao-reed that l\fahomed Shah should retreat, and b . 
that Bahadur Khan should remam at Kowlas, to 
see the conditions of the treaty fulfilled. Mahomed 
Shah, having committed the charge of Golconda 
to Azim Hoomayoon, returned towards his 
capital, and disbanding his army at Bidur, 
halted there three months. 

\Vhen the agents of the Raja came to Kowlas 
Bahadur Khan conducted them to the King, to 
whom they presented the offerings agreeably to 
treaty; and in return received rich dresses, besides 
valuable jewels, and seyeral fine horses for the 
Raja. Some days after this, the ambassadors 
represented to Bahadur Khan, that if his J\fajesty, 
after fixing the territorial limits of the state of 
Tulingana, would sign a treaty, binding his 
successors to protect the rajas from further 
encroachment, their master would present him 
with a curiosity worthy of a great king. 

Bahadur Khan having communicated this offer, 
the King was impatient to know of what the gift 
consisted; and the ambassadors being introduced, 
repeated their promise. Mahomed Shah, finding 
them sincere, drew up a paper in his own hand, 
fixing Golconda as the boundary between his 
kingdom and the Raja's possessions; conjuring 
his successors, as long as the rajas of Tulingana 
refrained from breaking their faith, not to molest 
them. The treaty being signed with the 
King's seal, and witnessed by the judges and 
the principal nobility, the Hindoo ambassadors 
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presented to the King a throne, set with valuable 
jewels, originally prepared by the Raja of Tulin­
gana as a present to Mahomed Toghluk, King of 
Dehly. Mahomed Shah, highly gratified, dismissed 
the ambassadors with marks of honour and dis­
tinction. On his return to Koolburga he held a 
festival, and ascending the throne in great state, 
caused it to be called the Tukht-i-Feroza, or 
cerulean throne; after which he gave audience, 
and conferred costly presents and titles on those 
officers who had merited them by their conduct 
during the war. The silver throne of his father 
was ordered, however, to be placed in the treasury, 
and kept as a \',tluable relic. 

I have heard old persons, \vho saw the Tukht-i­
Feroza in the reign of Sooltan Mahmood Shah 
Bahmuny, describe it as being six cubits long, and 
two broad: the frame was of ebony covered with 
plates of pure gold, inlaid with precious stones 
of great value, in such a way as to be taken off 
and put on with ease. Every sovereign of the 
Bahmuny dynasty added some rich jewels, so that 
in the reign of Mahmood Shah, when it was taken 
to pieces, in order to remove part of the stones to 
be set in vases and goblets, the jewellers valued 
the whole at one crore* of hoons. I learned, also, 
that it was called Feroza from being enamelled of 
a sky-blue colour, which was in time totally con­
cealed by the number of precious ornaments. 

The festival abO\·e alluded to lasted forty days; 
during which little attention was paid to the law 

* Four millions sterling. 
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of abstinence enjoined by our religion.;,, The 
nobility and common people, following the 
example of the sm·ereign, abandoned themselves 
to festivity and pleasure. On tliis occasion ,t 
number of musicians, · who had learned lh<' 
compositions of .\meer Khoosrow, and Khwaj~t 
Hussun, of Dehly, and some who had even heard 
those great masters, rnme, attended by tl1rec 
hundred singers, from Dehly to Koolburga. 
Mahomed Shah, hailing their arrival at such a 
moment as auspicious, received them with 111ud1 
attention ; and was in such good humour, that 011 

one occasion he permitted ~Iullik Seif-oocl-Deen 
Ghoory and the Suddur-ool-Shereef to sit at the 
foot of his throne in public, as also Bahaclur 
Khan, on whom he rnnferred the title of Ameer­
ool-Omra, and prucun~cl his daughter in marriage 
for his son, the Prince Mujahid Shah. 

i\Ioolla Dawood Biclur,·, theauthorol' tl1e Tuhfut­
oos-Sulateen, states, he was then t,velve years of 
age, and held the office of page a11cl seal-b2arer to 
the King. He writes, that ''one evening, when the 
"fragrance of the garden of pleasure had suITusecl 
"the cheek of Mahomecl Shah with the rosy tinge 
"of delight, a band or musicians sang two verses 
"of :-\meer Khoosrow, descriptive of royal fes­
" tivity; ,vhen the King, delighted beyond mea­
" sure, cornmanclecl Mullik Seif-oocl-Deen Ghoon· 
"to give the three hundred performers a clrnf t 
"for a gratuity on the treasury of the Raja of 

~ The abstinence particularly alluded to is the refrainin« 
from the use of fermented liquors, which appear to have bee~ 
very commonly drank i.>y the Mahomedan kings in Intlia. 
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"lleejauuggur." The minister, though he con­
sidered the order arose out of the effects of the 
wine the King had drank, yet, in compliance with 
his humour, he wrote, but did not despatch it. 
i\Iahomed Shal1, suspediug the truth from the 
minister\; manner, enquired, on the next day, if 
the demand lfod been sent to the Raja, and being 
answered in the negative, he exclaimed, "Think 
'' you a word without meaning ever escapes my 
"lips? the order I gave you arose not from in­
" toxication but from serious design.'' Mullik 
Seif-oo<l-Deen, having accordingly aflixed the royal 
seal tu tlic document, despatched it by express 
messengers to the Raja of Ueejanuggur. The 
Raja, naturally haughty, and proud of his inde­
pendence, sc~ated the person presenting t.lic order 
for the money on a11 ass, and having exhibited 
him through all 111<-~ quarters uf Beejanuggur, sent 
him back, aft.er lie had been subjected to e,·ery mark 
of contempt and derision. He also gan~ immediate 
orders for assembling his army, and prepared to 
attack the dominions n( the house of Bahmuny. 
\Vith this intent, he mardiccl with thirty thousand 
horse, three thousand elephants, and one hundn:'ll 
thousand foot, to the Yicini1.y of tile fortress of 
.\clony, from whence he sent detachments to lay 
waste tile territory of tile i\Iahomcdans. 

The troops in Bidur and Hernr not ha'.·ing yet 
rested froni the fatigues of a two-years' campaign, 
the King contented himself with calling, for the 
present, on Khan l\fahomed, with the cliYisioH 
from Dowlutabad; at the same time he sent his 
Sl'n, the Prince l\lujahid Shah, with a fifth part 
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of the plunder of Vellumputtun, to Sheikh l\fa­
homed Siraj-ood-Deen, to be distributed among 
Syuds* and holy men, asking their prayers for his 

. success against the unbelievers. He also collected 
all the religious men of Koolburga ; and, accom­
panied by them, he proceeded to the grand 
mosque on a Friday, where he pronounced, with 
much devoutness, a form of invocation for the 
success of the army of Islam; and ha\·ing fixed 
on a lucky instant for his march, he ordered his 
camp to be formed without the city. 

The Raja of Beejanuggur, meanwhile, in spite 
of the rainy season, and the inundation of the 
Krishna, arrived before the fortress of Moodkul, 
to which he laid siege. The garrison, consisting 
of six. hundred men of approved valour, left 
nothing undone for the defence of the place; but 
the governor, a relation of Mullik Seif-ood-Deen 
Ghoory, having formerly disgusted the troops by 
his severity, disaffection arose amongst them, and 
the officers became careless of their duty; the 
fort, in consequence, fell into the hands of 1.he 
enemy; who, with a rancorous cruelty, put men, 
women, and children to the sword, with the ex­
ception of one man only, who escaping, brought. 
intelligence of the e\·ent to the King. 

Mal1omed Shah, on hearing of this disaster, 
was seized with rage and indignation, and com­
manded the unfortunate messrnger to be instantly 
put to death, declaring he would never look on a 
wretch who could survive the sight of theslaughler 
of so many brave companions. On the same day, 

* Immediate descendants of the Prophet Mahomed through 
his daughter Fatima. 



MAHOivIED SHAH BAI-iMUNY I, 3II 

without waiting for the assemblage of his whole 

Jumad-ool­
Awul,. 

A, II, 767, 

army, in the month of Jumad-ool­
Awul, 767, he began his march, and 
took a solemn oath, that he would 

January, not sheath the sword till he had put 
A. n. 1368• to death one hundred thousand 

infidels, in revenge for the massacre of the faithful. 
vVhen he reached the banks of the Krishna, he 

swore by the Power who had created him, and had 
exalted him to dominion, that food or sleep should 
be unlawful for him, till he had crossed that river, 
in face of the enemy, and by the blessing of Heaven, 
having routed their army, had gladdened the souls 
of the martyrs of Moodkul. Having proclaimed 
his son, the Prince Mujahi.d Shah, his successor, 
he resigned all his elephants, except twenty, to the 
Prince, and giving him his advice, sent him back 
to Koolburga. He then crossed the river, with 
nine thousand chosen horse. 

The Raja of Beejanuggur, notwithstanding his 
vast army, consisting of thirty thousand cavalry 
besides infantry, was so alarmed, that he sent off 
his treasure and elephants towards his capital the 
next morning, preparatory to engaging or retreat­
ing, as he might deem most advisable. The night 
being stormy and heavy rain falling, the elephants 
and other beasts of burden stuck frequently in the 
mud, and were unable to advance above four 
miles from the camp. Mahomed Shah, hearing of 
the movement of the Hindoos, immediately 
marched against them, leaving his tents standing. 
Towards the dawn he arrived at the Raja's 
camp ; and the alarm being given, so great was the 
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consternation, that the infidels fled, with the utmost 
precipitation, to Adony, leavin~ every thing behind 
them. Mahomed Shah fell in with that part of 
the camp composing their market and baggage, and 
put to death, without distinction, men, women, and 
children, free and slave, to the number of seventy 
thousand souls. !\crorcling to the Tohfut-oos­
Sulateen, two thousand elephants, three hundred 
O"Un-carriag-es* and batterinb('J' rams, seven hundred 
~ '-' 

* If any reliance is to be placed on :\foolla Dawood Bidury 
the author of the Tohfut-oos-Sulateen, guns were used at thi!> 
time by the Hindoos; and in a subsequent passage, it is re­
marked that the ~Iahomeclans used them for the first time 
during tlw nrxt campaign. But I am disposed to doubt the 
Yaliclity of both thrse statrmPnts. From the latter pm.sage 
it seem,;; possihl<', incl<'('(l, that the i\fahomcdans might luwe 
procured guns from the \\"Pst in 1368, because they are said 
tn hare been u~erl cightr·1~n years pre\'iously by Edward III. 
at the liattk n[ Cn•ssy, though it i-; \·ery improbable; and 
Frrishta, in stating it to he the first tirne the i\Iahomeclans 
rmployed them, alsn ohse1TPs, that Toorks an<l Europeans, 
skilled in gunnery, worked the artillery. That guns werr. in 
common use before the arriYal of the Portuguese in India, in 
qgS, seems certain, from the mention made of them by Faria­
e-Souza, who reprc,wnts tlw :\foorish vesselc; in Inclin, in 150::i, 
hearing- d1Jwn '' upnn the ,·cssrl of Pf'tPr cle Ataide, cal!Nl the, 
"St. Peter, into whom she pournrl hrr shot, and then made 
·• away, and was pursued and taken of( thr bay nf Cananor,"' 
\"ol. i. chap. \', p. 5q, Stevens's translation, Land. ed. 1G9-1, 
Fmia-e-Souza, whn accnrnpaniecl the early Portuguese to India, 
,nitP.s, in chap. ix. p. 91J. ibid. "Thr! l\Inor~ of Sumatrn, 1\Ta­
" lacca, and the Moluccoes, (by which last appellation he means 
,; those princes bearing the title of !\Ioolk, that is, the ~m·entl 
"kings of the Deccan,) were well disciplined, and much better 
"stored with artillery than we that attacked them, A.D. 1506." 
All these circumstances, however, do not lead to the conclusion 
that the Hincloos had guns before they were introduced from the 
West by the :\fahomedans, who adopted their use from Europr. 
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Arabian horses, and a sing"hasun set with jewels, 
were included in the booty of the King,-all other 
articles were left to the officers and soldiers. l\1a­
homed Shah, regarding this victory as the omen 
of nthers, afkr passing the rainy season near 
:.\foodkul, and br.ing rein_f orcrd by Khan i\fa­
honwd from Dowlutabad, marched against the 
infidels in .'\clony; on the plains of which plac:\ · 
near the Toongbudra, the Raja of Deejanuggur 
had taken up his station, haying gin•n the com­
mand of _\.dony to his sister·s son. Here he had 
collected a great army of soldiers, together with 
many elephants, and all tlw munitions of war 
which he possessed. 

:.\fahomed Shah, by the aclvicE' of Khan :\Iaho­
med, did not lay siege to .\.dony, but collecting a 
train of artillery which had never till then been 
employed by the faithful in the Deccan, he gave 
the command to :\fookurrih Khan, son of Sufdur 
Khan Seestany, attad1ing to him a number of 
Toorks and Europeans acquaintell ,,·ith the art of 
gunnery. .\sit was common for hands ol' thiev<·'s to 
steal into the camp at night, and murder and maim 
men and horses, he commanded the c->lephnnts taken 
from the Raja to he sent to Koolburga, desiring 
the 011-icers to wturn all their baggage to that 
place, except what was absolutely nPcPssary. The~ 
artillery was placed round the camp, connected 
by strong ropes and chains: and n~gular patroles 
went the rounds during the night. 

In a short time, the King, crossing the Toong­
budra, entered the territory of Beejanuggur, now, 
for the first time, invaded by a Mahomedan 

VOL. II,-49. 
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sovereign in person. The Raja, Krishn Ray, on 
receiving the intelligence, summoned the nobles 
of his court, and consulted on the best mode of 
opposing the l\Iahomedans. It was agreed, that 
Bhoj-:\'lul, a maternal relati\"<~ of the Raja, and 
commander of his army, should conduct the war. 
Bhoj-Mul, vain to excess on receiving this com­
mission, asked the Ray if he should bring thr. 
Moslem king alive a prisoner into his presence, 
or present him only his head upon a spear. 
Krishn Ray replied, that a li\·ing enemy, under 
any circumstance, was not desirable ; he there­
fore desired that he might be put to death as 
soon as he should take him. Bhoj-Mul, kl\·ing 
received his dismissal, marched to oppose ~faho­
med Shah with forty thousand horse, and fiye 
hundred thousand foot. He commanded the bra· 
mins to deliYer every day to the troops discourses 
on the merit of slaughtering the 1.\Iaho1m~dans, in 
order to excite the 1.eal of his soldiers. He en­
couraged the bramins, also, to arouse their indig­
nation, and confirm their hatred of the enemv, by 
representing them as the destroyers or ten;ple;, 
and of the images of their gods, and also as tlw 
slaughterers of cows.* 

J.\fahomed Shah, when he arrived within fifteen 
coss of the Hindoo camp, commanded his general, 
Khan l\fahomed, to muster the troops, who were 
found to consist of fifteen thousand c~walry and fif tv 

' -thousand infantry, of which ten thousand horse, and 

• To those persons acquaintr.d with the religious ieelings 
of the Hindoos it is unnecessary to state, that they r.onsider 
the slaying of a cow the most heinous of all sarrileges. 
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thirty thousand foot, besides artillery, advanced 
Zeckatl q. under Khan Mahomed. On the 14th 

A. 11. 767. of Zeekad the armies met, and an en-
August 22. gagement ensued, which lasted from 
A. 1>. 

1366• dawn of day till the sun declined, and 

great numbers were slain on both sides. Moosa 
Khan and Eesy Khan, who commanded the right 
and left wings nf Khan i\Iahomed's line, both 
sipped of the cup of martyrdom, and their troops 
broke, a misfortune which had nearly given a 
fatal blow to the army of Islam. .\t this instant, 
:\fa.homed Shah appearing with three thousand 
fresh horse restored the spirits of Khan :VIahomed, 
as also of the disordered soldiers, ,vho rallied 
and joined him. 

l\lookurrib Khan. li,wing thrown the enemy's 
line into some confusion with the artillery, asked 
permission to chargf' and complete the rout 
with the cavalry. Khan :\fahomed detached 
several chiefs to his support, when the whole 
advancing with rapidity, the infideb were re­
duced to short weapons, su<'h as swords and dag­
gers. At this timP, an elephant, named Sheer Shi­
kar,* belonging to Khan l\Iahomed, becoming 
unruly, rns!Jed into the centre of the enemy's line, 
where he was stopped by the elephant of Bhoj-Mul, 
whose dri,·er was killed. Khan l\Iahomed, with 
five hundred horse, followed, and the enemv's 
elephants turning on their own line, threw tli~ir 
ranks into confusion. Dhoj-Mul, after receiving 
a mortal wound, was carried off the field, and 

*The Tiger-hunter, renowned for its courage and prowes:. 
in that sport. 
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his followers no longer made r~sistance. The 
infidels, seeing their centre broken, I-led on all 
sides. The scimitars o[ the faithr ul had scarcely 
been sheathed, ·when the King appearing, thr 
massacre of the unbelievers ,vas renewed in so 
relentless a manner, that pregnant women, and 
children at thr breast e,·en, did uot escape the 
sword. l\Iahomecl Shah, halting a week on thP 
field of battle, circulated accounts of his ,·ictor~· 
throughout his own dominions. ln prosP,ution 
of his YOW, he marched tmntrcls thr. r·nmp of 
Krishn Ray, who thinking himseH unec1ual tn 
the contest, retreated for shelter to the woods and 
mountains. The King followed him from place 
to place for three months, putting to death all 
whom he met, ·without distinction. :\t length 
Krislm Ray threw himself into Beejanuggur, 
his ,apital. The King ~oon arrin·d with his 
army near that ri ty. There he was molested by the 
infidels, who hoYerecl round the camp c,·ery nigl,t, 
not daring to attack him during the clay: and at 
the end ol' a month, fmding it impral'ticable t() takP. 
the plan.-, or draw the enemy out of their works, 
the King. pretending Yiolent iJlrwss, gan~ ()rdrr:-­
for rdreating. The army haYing moY1~d. Krislm 
Ray, with his troops, sallied from tlH~ cih·, 
shouting from all side-:;, "Your Ki11g i:-- deaci: 
'' the prayers or nur bramins lwn· been lwarcl. 
'' and we will not suffer a singl,e man of you tu 
"escape us." In this ma1mc>r the armv 1·rossed 
the TooHgbudra, followed closelv bv tl;e rnemv 

'"' J .. ' 

till at k:ngtli the Kin~, e1wamping on a spacious 
plain, <~ummanded the army to halt, and Krislm 
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Ray also took up a position at no great di!:itance. 
Mahomcd Shah, now conceiving it a fit opportu­
nity to avow his intentions, gave a public audience 
to satisfy his officers of his welfare, who were be­
fore somewhat dispirited, being unacquainted with 
the stratagem. After this, retiring early, under 
pretence of weakness, and calling his principal 
generals into his pri,·ate apartments, he com­
manded them to arm tl1eir troops, and wait his 
orders at a certain place, to which about midnight 
he repaired, and after forming them into various 
parties, he proceeded to surprise> the euemy's camp. 

Krislm Ray and his officers had passed the 
night in drinking, and in the company of dancing 
girls and singers, and "·err fatigued and overcome 
with sleep; from which they \\·en~ suddenly roused 
at the dawn of morning, by the groans of the dying, 
and the shouts of tht! heroes of the faith, which 
reached tc, the heayeus. Krislrn Ray, Jinding it niin 
to keep order among his panie-struck soldit'rs, /led, 
and did not clra\\" rein till he re~whed his capital. 
( )n tltis offasion, :\bhu111edSliah acquired immense 
booty !'rum the plunder or tlw c·c.1mp. .'\bout teu 
thousand of tlte enemy \\"ere slain i11 tliP. pursuit: 
but the King's thirst ror w·ngcan\'e being still un­
satisfied, he ,·ommanded the inhabitants or eYery 
place around Beejanuggur to be massncrcd. The 
bramins and prinC"ipal Hindoo orticers. sePing sud1 
dentstation, rose against Krishn Ray; complain­
ing that ltis reign was inauspicious; that tlieir 
houour was lost; that teu thousand brnmins had 
been already slain, and that not a remnant of 
population would be left. Krishn Ray replied, 



318 MAI-!UlllllD SHAH BAl-lMUNY I. 

that he had done nothing without their a<lvire, 
but that he had no power to control fate, and was 
readv to accede to whatever they wished; upon 
whic;h they desired him to make peace, as hi:-. 
father had done, and endeavour to apper1sr. tlu~ 
enemy. Krishu Ray acrnrclingly despatl'hed 
ambassadors to the King, confessing his errors, 
and entreating pardon; but Mahomcd Shah r<.'­

fusecl to listen to any O\·ertures . 
. \t this time, a frt,·ourite remarked to the King, 

that he had only sworn to slc1 ughter one hundred 
thousand Hindoos. and not to destroy their l'clC'<' 

altogether. The King replied, that though twice 
the numbe:·r rrquired by his Yo\\· might lian-· been 
slain, yet till the Hay satisfied the musicians, lie 
would neithPr make peace nor spare the li,·es of hi:-. 
subjects. To this the ambassadors, who had full 
power:-., immediately agreed, anc.l the money wa'.'i 
paid on the inst.ant. :.\Jahomed Shah then said. 
"Praise be to God, that what J ordered has bce11 
"perf ormect. r would not let a light wortl be 
"recorded of me in the pages ol' history." 

The amba~sadors, seeing ll1P. King pleasl'cl, 
bowecl their forel1eads to the ground, ancl besouglit 
him to hear from them a l'ew words. l\eing per­
mitted to speak, they obsen-ecl, that no religion 
required the innocent to be punished for the crinw:-. 
of the guilty, more espe<·ially helpless women a11d 

. c-hildren: if Krislm Ray had been in fault, the poor 
·.and feeble inhabitants had not been accessarv to Iii~ 
errors. l\fahomed Shah repl1ed, that the decrees 
of Pnwidence had ordered what Jiad been dont>, 
and that he llad no power to alter them. The 
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ambassadors observed, that as the bestower of 
kingdoms had conferrPd on him thf. government 
of the Deccan, it was probable that his successors 
and the princes of the Carnatic might long remain 
neighbours, which made it ad,·isable to m·oi<l 
cruelty in war; and they proposed, therefore, that 
a treaty should be made not to slaugh"ter the help­
less and unarmed inhabitants in future battles. 
:\Iahomed Shah, struck with the good sense of 
this proposal, took an oath, that he would not, 
hereaftf-r, put to death a single enemy after a 
dctory, and \\·ould bind his successors to observe 
the same line of conduct. From that time to this, 
it has been the general custom in the Deccan to 
spare the lives of prisoners in war, and not to shed 
the blood of an enemy's unarmed subjects. 
Mahomed Shah, after he had thus receiyed 
satisfaction, returned to Koolburga, ,·isiting on 
his \Yc1y Sheikh Siraj-ood-Deen, to ";hose prayers, 
as well as to the charities sent to :\'Iecca "·ith his 
mother, he ascribed his successes o,·er the Hincloos. 

l\Iahomecl Shah had not been above fixC' days 
at his capital ,dwn he ,Yas obliged to march to 
Dmvlutabad, to quell a rebellion in that quarter. 
The King's lately assumed illness on his retreat 
from Beejanuggur, at a time when he was hemmed 
in by the f'nt'my, had ~i,·en rise to a report of his 
death, \\'hich circulated throughout e,·ery part 
of his clominions, and induced seYeral ad,·entures 
to excite disturbances. Among this number 
was Beiram Khan Mazinderany, whom the- late 
King had honoured with the appellation of Son .. 
Finding the country of Dowlutabad empty of 
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troops, he combined with Govincl Dew l\faratta/ 
a chief of thr Nai.ks, to raise the standard of 
revolt; and some or the chiefs of Berar secretly 
sent troops to assist him, as also did the Raj~t ill' 

Huglana. Elated by his success, he appro­
priated to his own use sorr:.e years' rrvf'nues of 
:\Inhrutt an'd Berm, that i\Inhomecl Shah had de­
posited in the fortress of Dowlutabad, with whil'!i 
he le,·ied troops. 1Iost of the tovvns and districts 
or l\fahrut fell into his hands; which having cliYi­
ded among his adherents, lw, in a sort time, col­
lected nearly ten thousand horse nn<l font. 

:\fa,homrd Shah wrotr to Deirnm Khan, that a" 
he supposed the report of his death, with the 
trmptai.ions held out to him by evil-disposed per­
sons, had alone lrcl him to rebel, he prornisf'd, if 
he returned to his allegiance, to par<lon him and 
his aclhen~nts. This letter was c·onveverl. bv Sn1cl - ., -
.lulal-ood-Deen and Shah Mullik, two officers of 
the cnurt, who were esprcially cleput0.cl tn induce 
him to submit. Beirnm Khan, on receipt of the 
King's letter, held a consultation with Go,·incl 
De,Y, who ohsrrvecl, that i\fahomecl Shah was hy 
nature haughty, and jf'alous of authority, and 
thnt nft£1 r ha\'ing ·oITendrn. him by such ad" o[ 

* Dew flr Diva, a tnm eommonly applied to thP. divinity. 
was sorni~limes usecl to si~nify royalty also. Thus wr find tilf' 
Raja of Dewgirry or Dirngirry (the Royal Hill) wa-; cnllrcl 
Ham Dew, and his son, Shunkul Dew: vicle vol. i. p. 30+, &c. 
The Rajah of Tulingana was called Vinaik Dew, vol, ii. p. 301. 

At the present clay, the rajas of Rajamundry, and many of 
those residing along the eastern coast of the peninsula of Inrlin. 
a,;sumc the same title. 

J Ferishta always writes Mahrut for Mahrashtra. 
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disobedience, it was by no means prudent to rely 
on his mercy; therefore, as they possessed such a 
fortress as Dowlutabad, and the Raja of Buglana 
and the chiefs of Berar had made common cause 
with them, it was imprudent to hesitate, and 
better to take every measure to e[ect their designs, 
and render themselves independent. Beiram Khan, 
adopting the specious arguments of Govind Dew, 
heeded not the King's admonitions, but increased 
his preparations for war, so that Syud Julal-ood­
Deen and Shah Mullik returned to the King, and 
submitted to him an account of the failure of the 
objects of their mission. 

Mahomed Shah, enraged at this contumacious 
behaviour, despatched Musnud Ally and Khan 
Mahomed, with the bulk of his army, to the north, 
intending to follow himself shortly after. Beiram 
Khan, accompanied by Govind De,v and many of 
the chiefs of Berar and Buglana, moved to Pei tun; 
where, by liberal promises, they collected a great 
host of needy adventurers. Meanwhile, Musnud 
Ally, who W8$ a veteran of much experience, not 
thinking it advisable to engage hastily, halted at 
Sewgam, where Beiram Khan made an attempt to 
surprise his camp, but finding the royalists prepared, 
he retreated without eliecting his object. Musnud 
Ally, in his turn, resolved to attack the enemy, and 
communicated his intention toMahomed Shah, then 
engaged on a hunting excursion in the hills on his 
frontiers. On receipt of his general's letter, the 
King prepared to advance with his attendants, in 
all about three hundred; his ministers, however, 
alarmed for his safety, represented, that as from 
Musnud Ally's despatches the rebels appeared to be 

VOL. II,-4J, 
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in force it would be prudent to proceed slowly, and 
admit of time for the army to join, in order to make 
the attack with effect. The King observed, that 
though there was some justice in their observations, 
his determination was fixed, saying, that as he had 
penetrated into the very centre of Tulingana, with 
onk one thousand horse and punished his enemies, 
and that with only nine thousand men he had 
dri\·en the hosts of Beejanuggur to the hills and 
woods and returned successful, surely three hun­
dred men were sufficient to cope with a few rebels. 
Accordingly he mounted his favourite steed Shub­
deez, and moved with such expedition, that he 
reached Peitun at the instant when l\Iusnud Ally 
was in the act of engaging the insurgents. The news 
of the King's approach soon became known ; and 
the Raja of Iluglana, clapping spurs to his horse, 
deserted the cause, followed by all his dependants ; 
while Beirnm Khan and Govind Dew, confounded 
at this defection of their ally, fled from the field 
without drawing a single bowstring on the royal­
ists, and hastened to seek shelter in the fortress of 
Dowlutabad. ·while the \·ictorious troops were 
in the act of plundering the enemy's camp, the King 
arrived with seventy followers and some elephants, 
and encamped till the next day. He evinced his 
approbation by marks of honour which he conferr­
ed on the victors; and in the morning moYed with 
such rapidity, that before evening he arrived be­
fore Dowlutabad, and took measures to besiege it. 

Deiram Khan and Govind Dew, aroused from 
their dream of ambition, were at a loss how to 
act. During the night they quitted the fort, and 
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going to the house of Sheikh Ein-ood-Deen, be­
sought his advice. The Sheikh replied, that retiring 
to the fortress, and shutting themselves up, was far 
from prudent; that they had better take their wi,·es 
and children by the hand, and disregarding their 
effects, make their escape to Guzerat while they 
yet had it in their power. In compliance with this 
advice, they sent messages to their families, recom­
mending them to repair to the Sheikh's house with­
out delay. The women, who had previously re­
ceived some intimation on the subject, brought 
with them horses and other necessaries for their 
journey. The Sheikh, spreading his hands over 
the heads of Beiram Khan and GO\·iucl Dew, desired 
them to depart, saying, that by the blessing of God 
they would be safe; and they accordingly pro­
ceeded on their way towards Guzerat. 

In the morning l\fahomed Sl1ah, hearing of 
their flight, pursued them with four hundred horse, 
but not overtaking them, he returned full of 
wrath to Dowlutabad, where he ycntcd his anger 
against Sheikh Ein-ood-Deeu, with whom he was 
before dissatislicd on the following account :--On 
his accession to the throne, Mahomed Shah had 
demanded a dedara tion of allegiance from all 
the holy men of his kingdom, who had tendered it, 
with the exception only of this sheikh. He re­
fused to do so because the King drank wine, and 
was guilty of excesses forbidden by the divine 
law. On the present occasion, he sent a mes­
senger to order the holy man to his presence, and 
required him either to take the oath of allegiance, 
or give an assurance, under his own hand, of his 
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:fidelity. The Sheikh, without replying to the mes­
sage, related the following anecdote to the King's 
messenger, to be conveyed to the King :-Once 
a scholar, a syud, and a prostitute, were taken 
prisoners by infidels, who promised to give them 
quarter if they would worship their idols ; if not, 
thev threatened them with instant death. The 
sch~lar, agreeably to the casuistry of the schools 
of logic, reconciled himself to per[ orm the cere• 
many, and the syud thought it must be right to 
follow so worthy an example. The prostitute, 
however, said, "I have been all my life sinning, 
"and am neither a scholar nor a syud, to be able 
"to hope for mercy for this additional crime." 
"She ref used, therefore, and suffered death. The 
Sheikh olJserved, "l\Iy case is like hers, and I am 
"resigned to the King's resentment, but will 
"neither come into his presence, nor acknowledge 
"allegiance to him.'' i\Ialtomecl Shah, being more 
incensed, commandeu. him to quit the city. The 
Sheikh obeyed, and repairing to the tomb of 
Sheikh Boorhan-ood-Deen, seated himself thereon, 
and exclaimed, "\Vhere is the man who dares to 
"drive me hence?'"* The Kinrr, aclmirina his 

b b 
resolution, repented of his conduct, and sent the 
following verse to him by the Sudr-oos-Shureef :-

"I nm submissive to ther, be thou submissive to me." 

The Sheikh replied, that if Mahomed Shah 

:" The shrines of holy men have in all ages been used as sanc­
tuaries, though, as in the case of Thomas-a-Becket, they have 
not always been respected, 
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Ghazy* whould, like his father, promote the ob­
servance of the holy ordinances, by discouraging 
vice, and abstaining from wine in public, and by 
permitting the judges to execute the laws against 
those persons who o[encled in these instances, no 
one would be dearer to him. He also sent the 
following verse, written in his own hand: 

"While I live I would do nought but good. 
"I can have no views but loyalty and attachment. 
"Even to those who have injured me, 
"If in my power, I would for evil return good." 

Mahomed Shah was so much pleased with the 
appellation of Ghazy, given him by the Sheikh, 
that he commanded it to be hereafter added to his 
titles. 

Having entrusted the government of Mahrut to 
Khan Mahomed, the King returned to Koolburga, 
when he commanded all the distilleries in his do­
minions to be destroyed, and engaged earnestly in 
requiring a strict observance of the laws. He 
determined to root out entirely the banditti of 
the Deccan, so famous in all formrr ages for their 
daring robberies on caravans. For which pur­
pose, orders were issued to the governors of pro­
vinces to use their utmost endeavours to clear 
the country of thieves and highwaymen, by putting 
them to death without distinction, and to send 
their heads to the capital, as examples. The 
consequence was, that in six or seven months there 
remained not a vestige of these offenders within the 
King's dominions. Nearly eight thousand heads 

* The term Ghazy has been before explained. Vide note, 
p. 189. 
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were brought to Koolburga from different parts, 
and were piled up near the city gates. 

Mahomed Shah, ha\·ing attended to the 
admonitions of Sheikh Ein-ood-Deen, maintained 
a friendly correspondence with that venerable 
personage throughout his reign, observing towards 
him great deference and respect. The Sheikh, on 
his part, frequently sent exhortations to the 
King, in which he did not hesitate to deliver his 
sentiments with honest freedom. 

The Rajas of Beejanuggur and Tulingana, as 
well as all the zemindars of the Deccan, being 
now confirmed in their submission, and remitting 
their stipulated tributes, the kingdom was free 
from war; and l\fahomed Shah, laying aside all 
views of further conquests, employed himself in 
promoting the happiness of his subjects ; to effect 
which, he made a tour annually through one 
quarter of his dominions, attended by the governor, 
who escorted him back to the capital. In these 
excursions he was employed in investigating 
the state of the resources, in redressing complaints, 
and in executing plans of public utility. During 
his reign all ranks of people reposed in security ancl 
peace. Sensible of the \'alue of a just king, they 
were grateful and obedient to his authority, and 
praye<l earnestly for his long reign. But as the 
wolf of death, greedy of prey, constantly seizes a 
fresh Joseph, and a Jacol> becomes plunged in 

grief, so the claws of the savage darted 
Zeekad 1 CJ, h • • • on 1s v1ctun, and on the 19th of 

A. II. 776. 
l\farch 21. 

A, D. 13 75• 
Zeekad, A. H. 776, snatched the King 
from the abode of this vain world, and 
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overwhelmed mortals, like Jacob for his son, with. 
lamentations and tears for his loss. Mahomed Shah 
was buried by the side of his father,-and the words 

"All is vanity" 

were engraved by his orders on his tomb. Happy 
the King who passes a reign like his, and of 
whom such memorials remain. He was respected 
in his life, and after his death remembered on 
account of his virtues. 

According to the Siraj-oot-Towareekh, so 
much treasure and such mumbers of elephants, as 
were collected in the household of Mahomed Shah 
Bahmuny, were ne,·er possessed by any other 
prince of that dynasty. He had three thousand 
male and female elephants; and in the reign of 
any other king we only rrnd of two thousand. 
The sums of gold accumulated by him, according 
to the same author, exceeded those acquired by 
other princes a full half. No prince before him 
ever so far reduced the rajas and zemindars of 
the Carnatic, from whom he wrested much of 
the accumulated riches of se,·en hundred years; 
and it is computed that in his reign nearly firn 
hundred thousand unbelievers fell by the swords 
of the warriors of Islam, by which the population 
0[ the Carnatic was so reduced, that it did not 
recoYer for several ages.;'1--1\fahomed Shah 
reigned se,·entcen years. 

*The exultation of Ferishta over the slaughte1· of five 
hundred thousand of the human race, because they were infi­
dels, tends to show how deluded the minds of the greatest men 
may become by the force of precept and education. 
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His personal prowess-anecdotes of his youth-military 
ne,rotiations with the Raja of Beejanuggur-takes tliefield 
-kills a tigerwith a single arrow-arrives at Beejanuggur. 
-The Hindoos fly before the Moslem troops.-The Kin,r 
pt1rsues them through woods to thesea-coast.-The Hindoo 
Raja returns to Beejanuggur-is closely punued by tlie 
Malumzedans.-The King enters the streets of tlie town, 
but is warmly opposed by the Hindoos.-Single combat of 
the Kin<' with a Hindoo, whom lie slays.--A general ,', 

action after which the Moslems withdraw.-Peacc 
concluded.-The Kin,1; returns towa1·ds Koolburga-is ettt 
off by his uncle Dawood Khan. 

Mujahid, the son of Mahomed Shah, by the 
daughter of Mullik Seif-ood-Deen Ghoory, suc­
ceeded his father on the throne of the Deccan. 
This prince possessed great boq.ily strength, was tall 
of stature, and in dignity and majesty of aspect sur­
passed all the princes of his race. He was unrivalled 
in valour, in fortitude, and strength of constitution. 
He spoke the Toorky language fluently, which he 
acquired from his favourite companions, who were 
for the most part either Toorks or Persians. He 
was fond of archery from his infancy; and of con­
versing on military subjects. While a youth, he 
broke open the door of his father's treasury, and 
taking from it some bags of gold, divided it among 
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his play-fellows. The treasurer. discovering the 
theft, informed Mahomed Shah Bahmuny, who, 
enraged at so ,·icious a propensity in his son, sent 
Moobarik, his spice-bearer, to call the Prine<-" be­
fore him. Upon his arrival, he saw his father was 
angry, and guessf'd the cause; but unable to ex­
ruse himself, he remained silent, though he re­
ceived from the King several severe stripes with 
a ·whip, that drew blood. \Vhen he was dismissed, 
he went and complained against Moobarik to his 
mother; observing, that if he had informed him 
of the discm·ery, he could hm·e made hf'r his in­
tercessor, or have contrived an excuse to evade 
going to his father's presence till his passion was 
abated. The Queen observed that the servant 
was not in fault. The Prince made no rep]y; and 
stifling his resentment, hf'haved to Moobarik with 
his usHal r.ourtesy. At the end of a week, he took 
an opportunity of observing to him, that he had 
heard he possessed great boclily strength, and had 
overcome 1.he most celebrated ,uestlers by the 
force of his grasp, on which account the Prince 
said he wished to wrestle ,vith him. l\foobarik 
consented, and a struggle ensued, in which Muja­
hicl Shah threw him to thr ground with such 
violence, that in the fal] he broke his nr.ck, and 
died. This happened when the Prine<-" was only 
fourteen years old. 

_\t the age of nineteen, l\fojahid Shah succeeded 
to the throne; immediatelv after which he made a 
pilgrimage to Dowlutabad, in order to pay his de­
votions at the tomb of Sheikh Boorhan-ood-Deen ; 
and having chosen Sheikh Zein~ood-Deen for his 

VOL. II,-42. 
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spiritual guide, returned to his capitnl. On this 
occasion, becoming suspicious of Khan Mahomed, 
he appointed Azim Hoomayoon, governor of Dow­
lutabad, in his stead, and recalled the former chief 
to the presence. He also wrote to Krislm Ray, 
Raja of Beejc1nuggur, that as some forts and 
districts, between the Krishna and Toongbudra 
rivers were held by them in participation, which 
occasioned ronstc1nt disagreements, it was expec­
ted the Raja Wl>uld, for the future, forego his 
claims to all territory east of the Toungbudra, 
tr)~ether ,vith the f-Jrt of l3L111k1poor, and some 
other places. Krisl111 Ray, in reply to this demand, 
$aid, that the forts of R~tchorP, Mr:iodkul, and 
others, between th~ rivers, had for a!{es belonged 
to his family; that the King would do wisely, 
therefore, to surrend(~r them, confme his boundary 
to the north b;mk of the Krishna, and restore the 
elephants which \fa.homed S!rnh had acquired in 
war, owing to the ill cordu~t of his servants; 
by which cm:::es.:;i n:;, their pre;;ent feelin~s to­
wards eilch other mi ~ht be clrn.ng~cl into friendship. 

Mujahid Shah, on re-:.-ei pt of this answer, opened 
the treasures of his father, and made great addi­
tions to his army. He e:itrnsted the management 
of the civil affairs of his government to Mullik 
Seif-ood-Deen Glioory, and resolved to march to 
Beejanuggur. \i\Then the troops of Dowlutabad, 
Bidur, and Berar, were collected, he moved to the 
S')uth, carrying with him agrPat treasure, and five 
hundrf'd elephants. Crossing the Krishna and 
T, ion gbudra rivers, he arrived before the fortress of 
Adony, the strongest fortification in the Deccan, 
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which he ordered Sur dur Khan Seestany to besiege 
with the army of Berar. and sent the Ameer-ool­
Omra, Balrndur Khan, and Azim Hoomayoon, 
with their troops, onwards in the direction of 
Beejanuggur. Upon hearing that Krishn Ray was 
encamped on the banks of the Toongbudra, the 
1< ing adv,rnced towards him, by slow marches, and 
with great caution, while the Hindoo Prince made 
preparations for an engagement. 

At this time 1\fojahid Sbah was informed that 
an enormous tiger daily committed great ravages, 
and that many travellers bad been killed by him 
on the road near his den, so that passengers had 
now left off proceeding by that road. The King, 
naturally fond of hunting, required to be conduc­
ted to the sput of the tiger's retreat. He forebade 
E:ny person accompanying him without perrnist­
sion; and he went with seven attendants only, on 
foot, to the monster's lair: the tiger, perceiving 
these strangers, roared horribly, and stalked 
towards them. The King commanded hisfollo\verc; 
to halt and reserve their missiles, while he ad­
vanced some paces alone, and discharging an 
arrow, it entered the side of the animal, which fell 
dead. Mujahid Shah declared, that had he missed 
his aim it was his intention to have attacked the 
tiger with sword and dagger. As it appeared 
extraordinary that a single arrow should kill a 
tiger, the King commanded his attendants to open 
the body, that he might ascertain what vital part 
had been pierced; which being done, the arrm.v 
was found to have entered the heart. 

The idolaters of Beejanuggur, hearing of this 
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exploit, were struck with dread; and 1.hough they 
had advanced to give battle, they now altered their 
intentions, and determined on keeping close in 
the woods, from the cover of \.vhich they might 
annoy the faithful, and be themselves secure. 
,vith this view Krishn Ray, abandoning Beejanug­
crur to the charge of his ministers, withdrew with 
0 • 

his army to the forests on the sou ih of the c1 ty. 
j\fojahi<l Shah, hm·ing heard much of 1.he beauty 

of the city, advanced to Ueejanuggur; but con­
ceiving it imprudent to besiege it ~t present, he 
moved in pursuit of the enemy. Knslm Ray fled 
through the woods and hills tO\rnrcls Seeta Bund 
Rameswur* followed by the King, who rnt 
passages for his c-walry through forests before 
inaccessible. In this manner, the Ray !led from 
place ln place for six months, but never dared to 
appear i11 the open plain. In vain did the favou­
rites or the King represent. 1.he pursuit as fruitless, 
and destructive to the troops. At last. his good 
fortune prevailed; the health of Krislm Ray and 
his family became affedecl by the pestilential air 
of the woods, and they were warned by the 
physicians to quit them. I-le had entertained 
hopes that the King would hm·e been taken ill, 

* It is probable both 1.hc author from whom Feri shta derives 
his authority as well as himself, have mistaken the Hameswur 
near Sudashcwgur, on the western coast, south of Goa, for the 
real Seeta Bund Rameswur, or Hamiserum, situated opposite 
Ceylon, on the extreme southern part of the eastern coast of 
the peninsula. The spot alluded to is called Cape Ramas in 
our maps, and is within the limits of the ancient kino-dom of 
Beejanuggur. Th~ same mistake occurs in vol. i. p. 31:>74. 
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from the unwholesome climate, and would haYe 
been obliged to retreat, but the evil fell on himself. 
Driven by necessity, therefore, Krislm Ray retired 
by secret paths to his capital of Beejanuggur; 
whither he was pursued by an army despatched 
after him; while the King, accompanied by the 
Ameer-ool-Omra, Bahadur Khan, and lirn thou­
sand men, went to Yiew Seeta Buncl Rameswur. 

i\fojahitl Shah, on this occasion, repaired a 
mosque* which had been l.milt by the oHicers of 
Alla-oocl-Deen Khiljy. He broke down many 
temples uf the idolaters, and laid ,vastethecountry; 
after which he hastened to Beejanuggur. To that 
city there were two roads, one flt for the passage of 
armies, the other narrow ancl difficult. As the 
former was lined ·with am bushes, he chose the 
latter; through which he marched, with a select 
body of troops, an<l appeared suddenly in the 
suburbs of the city. Krislm Ray, astonished at 
his boldness, sent myriads of his people to defend 
the streets. The King dro,·e them before him, and 
gained the bank of a piece of "·ater, which ;:tlone 

*Never having ~een the sea, it was quite natural the King 
should avail himself of this opportunity of visiting lfameswur. 
I was informed by a native, on ,Yhom I think I can rely, that 
a \"cry ancient 1Iahomedan mosque still exists, and is the only 
monument of that race in the neighbourhood. As the place is 
within our jurisdiction, it would be an object of curious 
research to verify the cin.:umstance, for in an historical point 
of view the question is not without importance. The eret:tion 
of the mosque in the reign of Alla-ood-Deen Khiljy is alluded 
to in his reign, vol. i. p; 374.-Ferishta states it \Vas standing 
in his days ; and it seems probable to be the same to which 
my informant alluded. 
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divided him from the citadel, wherein Krislm Ray 
resided. Near this spot was an eminence, on 
which stood a temple, covered with plates of gold 
and silver, set with jewels: it was much venerated 
by the Hindoos, and called, in the language of 
the country, Puttuk. The King, considering its 
destruction a religious obligation, ascended the 
hill, and having rased the edifice, became possessed 
of the precious metals and jewels therein. The 
idolaters, on seeing this object of their veneration 
destroyed, raised shrieks and lamentations to the 
sky ; and obliging Krislm Ray to head them, 
adYanced resolutely in great numbers. Upon which 
the King, laying aside his umbrella of state, and 
with one of his armour-bearers only, an Afglwn 
named i\lahmood, crossed a small rivulet to observe 
the motions of the infidels. At this moment, a 
Hindoo, recognising the King from the horse he 
rode, resolved, by revenging the destruction of 
his country's gods, to gain immortal renown ; he 
accordingly approached, unperceived, through 
the hollows and broken ground, along the banks 
of the piece of water before described, and was 
in the act of charging the King at full speed ; 
when Mujahid Shah, percei,·ing him, made a 
sign to Mahmood Afghan, who, without delny, 
interposed himself. l\fohmood's horse rearing, 
fell to the ground, and gave to his antagonist a 
momentary advantage. On this Mujahid Shah 
advanced with the quickness of lightning. 
The Hindoo changed his object, and aimed 
a heavy stroke at the King, raising at the 
same instant a shout of triumph, which caused 
the spectators to believe his blow was effective. 
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Luckily, a helmet of iron saved the King's head, 
wl10 inflicted such a wound on his enemy, that he 
was divided from the shoulder to the navel, and 
fell dead from his horse. On which the King, hav­
ing replaced Mahmood on his charger, joined the 
army, amid the acclamations of his friends, and the 
admiration of the enemy, who could not withhold 
their applause for such an instance of gallantry. 

Krislm Ray, advancing with his troops, the 
King committed his right wing to the Ameer-ool­
Omra, Bahadur Khan, and his left to Azim 
Hoonrnyoou. Sufdur Kllan began the attack with 
the firework:;, and after desperate efforts, and 
much slaughter on both sides, the enemy was put 
to flight. The conquerors had scarcely reposed 
from their fatigues, when the brother of Krishn Ray 
arrived at the city from his government, with a 
reinforcement of twenty thousand cavalry, and a 
b:>dy of infantry. Krislm Ray, collecting his broken 
troops, mard1ed once more against the King. 
Many instances of valour were displayed, and 
numberless soldiers fell in each army. Among the 
faithful, Mookurrib Khan,* with many officers of 
rank, tasted the sherbet of martyrdom. Mujahid 

Shah was seen in person in all parts of the field, 
animating his troops by his example. \Vherever 
he guided his sable steed, there the idolaters lay 
prostrate beneath his quivering lance. The King's 
uncle, Dawood Khan, had been left with six 

*HP.appears to have been commandant of the fire-works, 
whether guas or otherwise, and was a native of Asia Minor. 
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thousand horse, and some infantry, to occupy a 
post called Dhuna Sodra. On learning that the 
engagement had br.gun at dawn, and that the 
enemy were not yet defeated, perceiving also that 
reinforcements were joining them every instant, he 
became alarmr.d for the safety of the King, and 
quitting his station joined in the battle, in which 
he behaved with surprising gallantry. He had 
three horses killed under him, and was frequently 
obliged to fight on foot. The King, on seeing the 
standard of Dnwood Khan, was fnr from pleased, 
hut stifled his resrntment till victorv declared for 

. . 
the faithrul: hr then called Dawood Khan before 
him, and gave him a har:;h reprimand for quitting 
his station ; obsen·ing, that had the army bern 
defeated, and the enemy in possession of Dhuna 
Soclra, not a i.\fossulman could have escaped. 'fhe 
King instantl~r sent a bocly of troops to secure this 
important position; but the Hindoos, taking ad­
vantage of Dctwoocl Khan's absence, had already 
taken possession of it; and the officer, conceiving 
them too stron;.r to be att.acked, sent advice to the 
King. Though forty thousand of the enemy were 
said to have fallen, yet so heavy had been the loss of 
thcMahomedans, that the Kingdidnotthinkitpru­
clcnt to remain longer where he was, and moved his 
whole armitowards Dhuna Sodra, which was eva­
cuated on his approach; when Mujahid Shah, with a 
choice body of troops, remained in person at the en­
trance of the pass, until thearmyhadpassedinsafetv, 
conceiving it likely that Krishn Ray would hara;s 
him in thereb·eat: All those persons who have beheld 
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this country acknowledge that Mujahid Shah, in 
this expedition, performed an action almost im­
possible but with the aid of Pro,·idence. 

The country of Canara (Carnatic) is in length, 
from north to south, from the Krishna to Seeta 
Buml Rameswur,* six hundred coss, and its 
breadth, from west to east, one hundred and fifty, 
from the shores of the Indian ocean to the borders 
of Tulingana. The people speak in some parts 
the Canarese, and in some the Tulingy language, 
and are so brave that they advance to battle with 
songs and dances ; but their ardour does not last. 
The country is full of fastnesses and woods, almost 
impenetrable to troops. The princes of the house 
of Bahmuny maintained their superiority by valour 
only; for in power,wealth,and extent of country, the 
rajas of Beejanuggur greatly exceeded them, espe­
cially in the time of Mujahid Shah, when as yet the 
whole of the country of Tulingana had not fallen 
under the Bahmuny yoke. The se::i-port of Goa, the 
fortress of Belgam, and other places, not included in 

* The conviction on the mind of Ferishta is clear that the 
Rameswur mentioned by Moolla Dawood Bidury, and the 
authors from whom he compiled his history, was that opposite 
Ceylon. It is, however, certain, that Krishn Ray never pos­
sessed any territory beyond i\Iysore, and that at the period to 
·which Ferishta alludes, a very powerful kingdom of the Tamool 
dynasty existed at Madura ; but of which Ferishta does not 
appear to have been aware ; nor that the people spoke neither 
Canarese nor Tulingy, but Tamool distinct from both. This 
is not surprising: he was a native of Persia, a stranger in 
India ; and his information of the Hindoos in general, and of 
the geography of those parts not visited by Mahomedans, is 
extremely imperfect, and sometimes erroneous. 
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Carnn.tic Pr()p~r, b~lnn;~rl to th,. Rm of Berjnnu~­
gur; anJ ma,1y districts uf Tul-Gliat * were in hi'! 
possession. His country was well peopled, and the 
subjects submissive to his authority. The rays 
of Malabar, Ceylon, and otl1er countries, kept am­
bassadors at his court, ~md sent annually rich pre­
sents. The ancestors of Krishn Ray had pos­
sessed this kingdom for seven hundred years ; 
during which period, being undisturbed by revolu­
tions, and sparing in expense, their treasures so 
accumulated as to equal those of all the kings of 
the earth. In the time of Alla-ood Deen Khiljy, 
the grandfather of Krishn Ray buried his treasures 
fr1>m religious motives, and a part of them fell into 
the hands of the chiefs of :\lla-ood-Deen, at Seeta 
Buncl Rameswur, when• they were concealed. 

i\fojaliicl Shah, finding it impcissibleat presrnt to 
reduce Beejanuggur, 1111,n~d from its \'icinitY with 
his rnptivcs, amounting to between sixty and 
seventy thousm1d p~rsons, mustly women; as, in 
conformity with the engagements of his father, he 
had refrained from slaughter after the heat of battle 
had subsided. As his troops were lying before 
Adony, the King marcl1~d to that fortress, which 
he besieged for nine monihs. A scarcity of water 
had nearly reduced the garrison to submit, when 
a heavy rain falling, their distress was relieved, 
and they continued to hold out. At this time a 
want of grain prevailed in the royal ramp, and 
great numbers ·were carried off by fluxes, and other 

* Tut-Ghat-the country below thr. mountains, on the sea­
coast, called Concan. 
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complaints of the bowds, so that the army in 
grnernl \\ rre d<:>~poncle11t, and b1'ga11 to demand 
loudly to bt led back ltl tl1eir own country. 

:\lullik Seif oocl- Ueen Gliuury. l1eming at Kool­
burga of the unpn,111isi11g state of aIIairs, peti­
tioned tl1e King for le;r\'e to join him with his 
division, expressing a great de~ire to see the fort­
ress or Adony, of whicl1 lie had heard so much. 
The King consented to his request. After recoil· 
noitring tl1e fortress, he obsen-ed to the King in 
private, that tlie conquest of such a place, ha\'ing 
fiJteen forts communicating with each other,* was 
not to be hoped for in a short time; and that tile 
forts between the rivers from Goa to Belgam and 
Bunkapoor should first be taken. l\fojahid Shah 
accordingly consented to retreat; and Mullik Seif­
oocl-Deen Ghoory having eliected a peace behveen 
him and the Ray of Beejanuggur, the King moved 
towards his own dominions, sen,ling the minister 
un before him to Koolburga. 

\i\/hen the royal army had crossed the Toongbu­
dra, and arrived near the fortress of l\foodkul, the 
King, with some favourites, the companions of his 
pleasures, went to take the diversion of hunting, 
attended only by four hundred cavalry. Among 
the number were Dawood Khan, Sufdur Khan 
Seestany, and Azim Hoomayoon. It was the 
King's habit, after hunting all day, to pass the 
night whereever he was overtaken by darkness. 

* It is many years since the translator visited Adony; and 
although he did not exan~ine it minutely, it appeared one of 
the most formidable and extensive of the several hill-forts in 
India. 



34° MUJAHID SHAH BAHMUNY, 

Dawood Khan, who could not brook the repri­
mand given him at Beejanuggur for quitting his 
post, and having also a design on the throne, 
secretly plotted the King's assassination. In this 
plot Khan i\fahomed and i\fosaood Khan were 
also engaged ; the former of whom had not for­
gotten the circumstance of bis remO\·al from the 
government of Dowlutabad, and the preference 
shown to his rival Azim Hoomayoon, and Musaoo<l 
sought re,·enge for the death of his father 1\fooba­
rik, spice-bearer to the late King. These conspira­
tors watched impatiently for an opportunity to 
execute their design; although such was the 
vigilance of Sufdur Khan and .\zim I-Ioomayoon, 
that as yet none had offered. But as the pen of 
Providence had signed the decree, Mujahicl Shah 
one day dismissed his two faithful officers, 
ag::iinst their own wisl1es, to thrir gm·ernments, 
and moved with his remaining attendants to­
wards his capital. ArriYing on 1.hA banks of a 
river, he halted 1.o mnuse himself with :fishing; 
but being sw.ldenly seized with a pain in his eyes, 
which prO\·ed to be ophtlialmy, he retired to repose 
in a tent guarded by the conspirators. 

About midnight Dawood Khan, leaving Khan 
Mahomed and his followers to watch without, 
entered the tent with l\Iusaood Khan and two 
other persons. The King was fast asleep, and an 
Abyssinian slave only was present, employed in 
rubbing his feet. The slave, startled, shouted aloud 
on seeing Dawood Khan with a naked dagger in 
his hand. The King arose, but could not open his 
eyes, it being the nature of the disorder to close 
them together. Dawood Khan rushed upon him, 
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and plunged the dagger into his body. The King, 
in agony, seized the hand in which the assassin 
held the fatal instrument, and struggled with him. 
The slave, though unarmed, seized Musaood Khan, 
who struck him dead with one blow of his sabre; 
and inflicted another on the King with such effect, 
that he expired immediately. 

Fortune erects palaces [or the body, 
And then hurls it from the throne to the grave. 
The world has beheld numerous scene:; like this: 
Il was not the first instance of treachery which time 

has witnessed : 
Fate places a crown of gold on the hear.l of one, 
And another she consigns to the silent tomb. 

Dawood Khan, having left the body of his mur­
dered nephew and sovereign, went out of the tent, 
and on the same day required the nobility and 
officers present to acknowledge him as sovereign. 
He was, in fact, heir presumptive to the crown, 
l\lujahid Shah having no children. The nobles 
assented reluctantly, and were rewarded with ho­
nours nnd gratuities, according to custom. In the 
morning Dawood Khan despatched his nephew's 
body to Koolburga; and, after halting two or 
three days, proceeded to that capital himself, in 
great state, attended by the army. 

The death of Mujahid Shah happened after a 
Zeehuj 17. reign of not quite three years, on the 
A. H, 779. night of the 17th of Zeehuj, 779. Hajy 
April 14. Mahomed Kandahary states, that he 
A. D, z37B. received his death-wound from the son 
of Moobarik the spice-bearer :-but God only 
knows the truth. 
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Disaffection prevriils am 111g the military chi,:f1·-some 
withdraw with their divisions to their governments.­
Mullik Seif-ood-Deen endea11J1ers t,, reconcile the p.•ople 
to receive Dawood Sluilz.-Seif-ood-Deen is permilt, d 
to withdraw from public life.-- The late Ki11g's sister 
refuses to be reconciled to lzer uncle Dawood Shah, a11d 

. d . t 1 eventually procures /iim to be as.rnssmate m ,le mosque 
at prayers. 

T11E historians of the Deccan relate, that when 
the news of Mujahid Shah's assas5ination was 
spread abroad dissension arose in every quarter. 
Sufdur Khan and Azim Hoonrnyoon, who had 
reached Beejapoor, uniting, repaired to Koolburga; 
and ha Ying seen the murdered King's body, retired 
towards Elichpoor ;rntl Dowlutabad, cmrying with 
them the royal elephants and horses which were 
in Beejapoor. At the same time, they wrote to 
Dawood Shah that they were only retiring to 
their districts to refresh their troops, and should 
wait his gracious orders ·with impatience; stating, 
that whenever he might require them to repair to 
his presence, they would hasten to court without 
delay. The army of the Ray of Beejanuggur, upon 
intelligence of this event, made great rejoicings; 
and overrunning the country as far as the Krishna, 
sat down before the fortress of Rachore. The 
inhabitants of Koolburga were divided into 
two parties; the one espo11sing the cause of 
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D,twood Shah, and the other that of Mahmood, the 
youngest son of Alla-ood-Deen Hussun Gungoo, 
wl10 had been kept in confinement, in the r.itadel, 
since the accession of Mujahid Shah. 

The minister, Mullik Seif-ood-Deen Ghoory,ob­
served, that factions would only occasion the ruin 
of the state, and recommended that since Dawood 
Shah, the King's nearest relative hadalready placed 
the crown on his head, it was prudent to aclmow­
ledge him and avoid a civil war. The influence of 
Mullik Seif-oocl-Deen, the first minister, and the 
prop of the hour;;e of I3ahmuny, had great weight 
with the o[n~ers and people of the capital, who 
agreed to follow his advice, as did also all the ladies 
of the haram, excepting only the sister of the late 
king, grand-daughter, by the mother's side, of the 
minister himself. This lady rebuked her father, 
and called on him to reve.nge his grandson's death. 

l\lullik Scif-o:1d-Deen, having read the Khoot­
ba in the name of Dawood Shah, went to meet him, 
at~encled by all the nobles, the divines, and respect­
able persons, on his approach to Koolburga, by 
whom he was conducted in great state to the city, 
where he ascended the Tukht-i-Feroza. At the 
request of the minister, the King permitted that 
venerable chief to retire from office, and, assuming 
the direction of affairs, was obeyed by all the no­
bility, so that his authority seemed fully establish­
ed. The sister of Mujahid Shah, Roohpurwur Agha 
however, still refused to acknowledge him ; and 
though Dawood Shah used every means to con­
ciliate her, she remained obdurate to all his over­
tures, As she had great influence in the haram, 
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of which she was regarded as the head since 
the death of Mahomed Shah, the King did not 
venture to treat her otherwise than with deference 
and respect. At length, this Princess prevailed on 
a young man who had stood high in the esteem 
and favour of l\fojahid Shah to revenge the blood 
of his patron at the risk of his own life. 
l\fohurrum 21 • On the 2u,t of Mohurrum, 780, 

A. 11. iBo. Dawood Shah, when going to offer 
May 19. his de,·otions at the great mosque 

A, n. 1378. of Koolburga, attended by Khan 
Mahomed, was followed by the assassin; who, 
placing himself immediately behind him, took 
advantage of the moment of the King's being 
prostrate in prayer to draw his sabre; and before 
the attendants were aware of his des.ign, he 
wounded him so severely that he died almost 
instantaneously. Khan Mahomed, seeing the 
transaction, did not permit the murderer to 
escape, but with one stroke of his sabre separated 
his head from his body.--Dawood Shah reigned 
only one month and five days. 
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Spirited conduct of the Princess Roohpurwur A~ha­
causes Malzomed Sunjur, tlze son of the late Dawood 
Shalz, to be blinded, and raises Mahmood, the youngest son 
of Hussun Gu11xoo, to the t/,rone.-Mullik Seif-ood-Deen 
resumes his office of minister.-The King is con:gratulated 
liy the Raja of Beejanuggur-encourages literature­
invites the celebrated poet Hafiz, from Persia, to his 
court-tlze cause of his not comin,![.-1-foji:;'s ode on the 
occasioll.-lmprovements in the civil depa1·tment of tlte 
King's governme11t.-Insurrection in Sa![ur--is put down 
by Yoosoof Toork.-The King's denth. 

On the death of Dawood Shah, Khan Mahomed 
resolved to place on the throne Mahomed Sunjur, 
the late King's son, then in his ninth year. For 
this purpose, having collected his dependents, he 
repaired to the palar.e. Roohpurwur Agha, being 
informed of his design, shut the gates, vowing 
that the son of a t.raitor who had assassinated his 
sovereign and her brother should not. be King 
while she had life. At the same time she 
proclaimed Mahmood, the youngest son of Alla­
ood-Deen Shah, heir to the throne. As Mahomecl 
Sunjur was in the palace, and in the power of the 
Princess, Khan Mahomed was at a loss how t.o 
act ; and going to the house of Mullik Seif-ood­
Deen Ghoory, he endeavoured to prevail on him 
to join his party, but received for answer, that 
as Mahomed Sunjur and the Prince Mahmood 
were both in the hands of Roohpurwur Agha, he 
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thoucrht it advisable, in order to avoid contentions 
~ 

to leave the choice of a king in her hands. Khan 
Mahomed, aware that the nobles and 1.he people, 
both Mahomedans and Hincloos, would be guided 
by the advice of Mullik Seif-ood-Deen, submitted 
to his wishes, and accompanied him to the palace. 
Tbe Princess, having caused Mahomed Sunjur to 
be blinded, to prevent all future attempts in his 
favour, she, with the concurrence of the ministers 
and principal officers, placed Mahmood on the 
throne. 

Mahmood Shah was naturally of a disposition 
humane, virtuous, and just, and his judgment in all 
affairs of state was usually correct. In the 
beginning of his reign he caused Khan Mahomed 
to be confined in the fort of Sagur, regarding 
him as a promoter of the late seditions; and that 
chief die<l not long after in prison. He also 
cormmmded Musaood, one of those persons 
accessary to the murder of Mujahicl Shah, to be 
executed. Mullik Seif-ood-Deen Ghoory was 
prevailed on, after much entreaty, to accept the 
office of prime minister, and governor of the 
capital; and the King engaged in no affairs 
without his advice. This measure proved 
fortunate; for during his reign no disturbances 
occurred in the kingdom, nor did any relaxation 
take place in the energy of the government. 

After the coronation, Bahadur Khan, Sufdur 
Khan, and Azim Hoomayoon/; hastened to the 

• The three governors of the northern provinces, Dowlutabad, 
Mahoor, and Kowlas. 
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capital, where they pledged their allegiance, and 
made suitable offerings of congratulation; while 
the Ray of Beejanuggur, having raised the siege of 
Rachore, agreed to pay to Mahmood the tribute 
stipulated in the reign of Mahomed Shah Ghazy. 

Mahmood Shah had a taste for poetry, and 
wrote some elegant verses. He also spoke the 
Persian and Arabic languages fluently. He was 
neither too much elated with prosperity, nor did 
he allow grief to overwhelm him in the hour of 
misfortune or disappointment. He never cohabited 
but with one wife, and paid great regard to the 
opinions of divines, in whose company he delighted. 
During his reign the poets of Arabia and Persia 
resorted to the Deccan, and partook of his liberality. 
Meer Feiz Oolla Anjoo, who presided on the seat 
of justice, once presenting the King with an ode, 
rer.ei ved a thousand pieces of gold, and was 
permitted to retire to his own country loaded with 
wealth and distinction. The fame of the King's 
taste, his affability, and munificence, spread so 
widely, that the celebrated poet of Shiraz, Kbwaja 
Hafiz, determined to visit the Deccan, but was 
prevented, by a train of accidents, which are 
thus related. 

Meer Feiz Oolla Anjoo sent to this famous 
poet. a present from the King, and a letter from 
himself, promising, if he would come to Koolburga 
he should be handsomely rewarded, and have safe 
conduct back to Shiraz. Hafiz, from these 
kind assurances, consented; and having disposed 
of the articles sent him among his relations and 
creditors, quitted Shiraz and arrived safely at. 
Lar, where he assisted a friend who had been 
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robbed with part of his ready money. From Lar 
he was accompanied to Omms by Khwaja Zein­
ool-Abid-Deen Hamdany and Khwaja Mahomecl 
Kaziroony, whowerealsogoingtovisit Hindoostan. 
With these persons he took shipping in one of the 
royal vessels, ,vhich had arrived at Ormus from 
the Deccan; but it had scarcely weig·hed anchor 
when a gale of wind arose, and the ship was in 
danger, and returned to port. Hafiz su.lTered so 
much during the storm, that he insisted on 
being put ashore, and abandoned his voyage. 
Having written the following verses, he delivered 
them to his companions to be given to Feiz Oolla 
Anjoo, after which he returned to Shiraz:--

1. 

Can all lhc gold the world beslows. 
Though poured by Fortune's bounteous hanJ, 

Repay me for the joys I lose, 
The breezes of my native land? 

2. 

My friends exclaimed, "Oh, stay at home, 
'' Nor quit this once-beloved spot : 

"What folly tempts thee thus to roam -
'' To quit Suiraz-desert thy cot? 

3. 
" Yon royal court will ill repay, 

"Though all its gorgeous wealth be given, 
" The blessings which you cast away, 

'· Health and content, the gifts of heaven.'' 

4-
The glare of gems confused my sight­

The ocean's roar I ne'er had heard; 
But now that I can feel aright, 

I freely own how I ha:ve erred. 
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S· 
Though splendid promises were made, 

How could I such a dotard prove, 
How could I leave my natal glade, 

Its ,vines, and all the friends I love ? 

6. 
Hafiz abjures the royal court-

Let him but have content and health ; 
For what to him can gold import, 

Who scorns the paths of worldly wealth? 

\Vhen Feiz Oolla received this poem, he read 
it to the King, who was much pleased; and ob­
served, that as Hafiz had set out with the in­
tention of visiting him, lie felt it incumbent not to 
leave him without proofs of his liberality. He 
therefore entrusted a thousand pieces of gold to 
Mahomed Kasim Meshidy, one of the learned 
men at Koolburga, to purchase whatsoever, among 
the productions of India, was likely to prove most 
acceptable, in order to send them to the poet at 
Shiraz. 

Mahmood Shah, while a yoL1th, was fond of 
gaudy apparel ; but upon his accession to the 
throne he always wore plain white robes. He fre­
quently observed, that Kings were only trustees of 
the state, and that it was a breach of trust to 
expend more on themselves than necessity required. 
A famine occurring during his reign, he employed 
ten thousand bullocks at his private expense con­
stantly going to and from Malwa and Guzerat for 
grain, which was distributed to the people at a 
cheap rate. He established orphan schools at the 
cities of Koolburga, Bidur, Kand'har Elichpur, 
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Dowlutabad, Choul, Dabul, and in some other 
great towns, with ample foundations for their sup­
port. He appointed stipends for the expounders 
of the scriptures, and gave monthly charity to the 
blind throughout his dominions. He paid great 
attention to Sheikh Siraj-ood-Deen, visited him in 
his last illness, and after his death, going of ten to 
his tomb, offered up prayers, and gave alms to the 
poor pilgrims who resorted to it. 

The King, preferring the blessings of peace to 
engaging in war, allowed his reign to pass iu 
tranquillity; and from his great wisdom the Dec­
canies gave him the title of Aristole. During a 
period of nineteen years, nine months and twenty­
four days, only one disturbance occurred, which 
was quelled in a few months. The circumstance 
was as follows:-

One Baha-ood-Deen, a native of Dowlutabad, 
of low origin, was appointed to the command 
of the fortress of Sagur; and his two sons, Ma­
homed and Khwaja, were honoured with the 
King's confidence, and eventually raised to the 
rank of nobles, and attained so much power, that 
they excited the envy of rivals, who traduced 
them to the King, who was accordingly deceived; 
and the brothers, alarmed for their safety, went 
into rebellion, and fled to Sagur with a thousand 
followers. The father, nusguided by his sons, 
identified himself with them; and levying troops, 
defeated the royal army sent against him on two 
occasions, and acquired much booty, which added 
to his power. 

On the third Mahmood Shah despatched 
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Yoosoof Ajdur, a To0rky officer,* with a power­
ful army, who lay before Sagur for two months; 
during which time the rebels made several des­
perate sallies One day, in particular, the elder 
brother Mahomed, with four hundred brave com­
panions, charged the rear of the royal camp with 
great success, till he was wounded in the hand by 
an officer, surnamed Kalapahr, whom he in turn 
disabled ; and although his troops flr.d, he refused 
to quit his horse. Baha-ood-Deen coming to the 
assistance of his son, renewed the action till 
night, when darkness favoured their retreat The 
two brothers, contrary to their custom, however, 
passed this night imprudently on the edge of 
the ditch without the fort. A part of the gar­
rison which was in league with the royalists took 
this opportunity of informing Yoosoof Ajdur of 
the circumstance, and offered to admit his men 
by a wicket, and put to death the chief insurgent, 
Baha-ood-Deen. Yoosoof Toork, ha,·ing procured 
a number of volunteers for the service, sent them 
to the fort; telling them, that if the head of Baha­
ood-Deen should be <lelivered to them by the gar­
rison, they might venture to enter and occupy it; 
otherwise, to desist and return to camp. At the 
hour and place appointed, the party within threw 
over their chief's head, and the King's troops 
entering the fort made themselves masters of it. 
At the same time, by a prernncerted signal, the 

* The word in the original is Gholam-i-Toork, a purchased 
Toork; but these slaves have always, among the Mahomedans 
been raised to the highest offices, and, in many instances, ha\'!~ 
established themselves in new kingdoms. 
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brothers were attacked by the royalists without, 
and they died fighting desperately. This was the 
first arid last time in which the sword of punish­
ment was drawn from the scabbard during the 
reign of i\fahmood Shah. 

The King, not long after this victory, on the 
:nst of Rujub, 799, died of a putrid Rujub 21. 

fever,· and on the followine- dc1y, Mullik A. H. 799· u 

April 20. Seif-ood-Deen Ghoory, the faithful ad-
A. n. 1 397•. herent of the house of Bahmuny, after 
a life of one hundred and seven years, most of 
which was devoted to the service of this family, 
died also. He was buried agreeably to his will in 
the court of the tomb of Sooltan Alla-ood-Deen 
Hussun Gungoo Bahmuny, and over his grave 
was laid a terrace of stone. 

It is recorded, that Mahmood Shah was a strict 
promoter of the law of the Koran, permitting no 

. neglect on the smallest point, which occasioned 
the judges to take cognisance of all deviations in 
points of morality. One day a woman convicted 
of adultery was brought to the court of justice to 
receive srntence; when the judge, asking her how 
she came to be guilty of so heinous a crime, she 
replied, " How could I think, 0 judge ! that the 
"act was unlawful? sPeing that one man may have 
"four wives, why might not I, also, indulge with 
"equal propriety in four husbands? If I am in 
"error, I repent, and will not offend by a repeti­
" tion of the crime." The judge was perplexed, 
and suffered her to escape only with a reproof.­
Mahmood Shah Bahmuny reigned nineteen years, 
nine months, and twenty-four days. 
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Glzeias-ood-Deen ascends his fatlze1·'s tl,ronc-giv•cs 
offence to Lallclieen, one of the slaves of his household­
becomes enamoured of his dau1;htcr-is im1itcrl to an 
entertainment at Lallclteen's house-has /1is eyes pierced 
out-is detltro11ed, and is co,~fincd in the /01·t of Sagur. 

,VHEN the Deccan was deprived of the virtuous 
and just Mahmood Shah, his eldest son, Gheias­
ood-Deen, ascended the throne in his se,·enteenth 
year. In conformity with the practice of his 
father, he behaved graciously to all the members o[ 
his court, and remembering the old servants and· 
supporters of his family, treated them with favour 
and kindness. Intelligence of the death of Sufdur 
Khan Seestany arriving at this time, the King 
conferred upon his son, Sulabut Khan, the title of 
Mujlis Ally, together with his offices and estates, 
and despatched him to Berar. Ahmud Beg 
Kuzveeny, Peshwa* to Mahomed Khan, son of 
Azim Hoomayoon, was exalted to the office of 
Meer Nobut (commander of the guards), and th0. 
I~ing displayed great attention towards him. This 
conduct excited the jealousy of Lallcheen, one of· 

*This Persian title for prime minister originated in 'this· 
reign ; it was subsequently conferred on the_ ministers of t]1c 
kings of Ahmudnuggur, and from them the rajas of Sattara 
adopted it. 

VOL, II,-45. 
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the principal Toorky slaves of the household, who 
had not only aspired to the dignity of prime 
minister himself, but desired to obtain the office 
of Meer Nobut for his son Hussun Khan. 
Disappointed in these views, he evinced his 
discontent, and was reprornd by the King, ·who 
often observed in his presence, that it was highly 
injudicious to prefer slaves to offices over 
the heads of men of family, many of whom were 
descendants of the Prophet, and for his mvn part 
he regretted that he had ever departed in this 
respect from the rule of his ancestors. 

Lallcheen treasured up these remarks in his 
mind, and secretly meditated revenge, though he 
did not show his mortification openly. This chief 
had a daughter of exquisite beauty, as celebrated 
for her wit, as for her skill in music, whom the 
King was desirous of possessing, and made private 
overtures to obtain her. Her father, disco\·ering 
his partiality, invited the young King to an 
entertainment, and the latter hoped that on this 
occasion Lallcheen would present his daughter to 
him. After having entertained his royal guest 
with much splendour, and while exhilarated with 
wine, Lallcheen requested the King to command 
his followers to withdraw, making signs from 
which the former augured favourably. Eager to 
possess the slave's beautiful daughter, and 
immersed in the ocean of excess, the King impru­
dently commanded his attendants to quit the 
room. Lallcheen, leaving only one eunuch with 
wine in the apartment, went in the direction 
of his haram, and shortly after returned with a 
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naked dagger in his hand. The King, though 
much intoxicated, attempted to resist, but, unable 
to walk steadily, he fell, and rolled down a flight 
of steps, when Lallcheen, seizing him by the hair, 
with the aid of the eunuch, threw the King on 
his back, and pierced out his eyes with the 
point of his dagger. After which, sending for 
the royal attendants one by one, as if by the 
Kiug·s order, he put them to death as they en­
tered, to the number of twenty-four persons, most 
of whom were men of rank; so that no one re­
mainedof sufficient power to oppose the murderer's 
future designs. Lallcheen placed Shums-ood­
Deen, the late King's brother, on the throne, and 
sent the latter in confinement to the fortress of 

Rumzan 17. Sagur. This event happened on the 
A. u. 799. 17th of Rumzan, in the year 799, 

June 9· after Gheias-ood-Deen had reigned 
"-· u. 1 396· only one month and twenty days. 
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Is elevated to tile tlzronc of lu"s brotlwr by Lallchcen.­
Plot of his cousins, .Fcrozc Klzan and A/111mtl Khan, 
against lzis government--they fly to Sa,f{ur, and collect 
troops-marcle to the capital, and are repulsed-retire to 
Sa.1:ur-make overtures, and are pardoned-are rccch,cd 
at court.-Thc brothers obtain partisans at the capital­
they seize tlte King, and deprive him of sight.-Lallch('Cll 
is taken, amf given 01.1er to Ghcias-ood-Deen, who, though 
blind, puts ltim to death with l1is own hands. 

SHm.rs-oon-Dn.N ascended the throne in his fif­
teenth year, and, intimidated by the fate of his 
predecessor, was content with the mere name of 
king. Lallcheen received the title of Mullik Naib ;* 
and the nobility, who had escaped the sword, 
seeing no safety but in submission, bo,ved to bis 
authority. The Queen-mother, herself originally 
a slave, paid the utmost deference to I ,allcheen, 
chie1ly from her anxiety for her son's safety. She 
advised him to adopt every measure recommended 
uy the minister, to whom, she observed, the King 
owed his crown ; and she entreated him not to 
listen to any malicious suggestions which might 
be made against his benefactor. Lallcheen, on 
his part, behaved to the Queen-mother with 

* This title, conferring the fullest power, is equivalent to 
regent, or protector. 



SHUMS·OOD·DEEN SHAH BAHMUNY. j57 

much respect, frequently sending her valuable pre­
sents, and using every means to secure her con­
fidence and favour. 

Dawood Shah Dahmuny left behind him three 
sons, Mahomed Sunjur, (blinded by order of the 
Princess Roohpurwur Agha, as has been before re­
lated,) Ferozc Khan, and Ahmud Khan. The two 
last (by the same mother) were at the time of 
their father's death between six and seYen years 
of age. Their uncle, l\fahmood Shah, had treated 
them with parental tenderness, and educated 
them in a manner becoming their rank, taking 
care to have them accomplished in all military 
exercises, under the preceptorship of Meer Feiz 
Oolla Anjoo Shirazy. Mahmood Shah, having 
no son at that time, ga,·e to each of the princes 
one of his daughters in marriage, and would 
sometimes say, that Fcroze should be his suc­
cessor. He frequently seated him by his side on 
the throne, and declared that none of his house 
was more deserving, or likely to add greater lustre 
to it. ·w1ien the Almighty blessed Mahmood ,vith 
sons, he appointed the eldest, Gheias-ood-Deen, 
his successor, and conjured Feroze Khan and 
Ahmud Khan, on bis death-bed, to be loyal and 
obedient to him. They accordingly sen-ecl him 
with submission and fidelity. 

Gheias-ood-Deen Shah being deposed and 
blinded by Lallcheen, his sisters instigated their 
husbands to revenge his death ; but Lallcheen 
discovering their intentions, complained to the 
King, and accused them of treason, hoping, by 
this means, to excite his fears, and obtain an 
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order for their death. Shums-ood-lJeen Shah 
being deaf to his insinuations, Lallcheen repre­
sented the circumstances to the Queen-mother ; 
and obsen·ed, that if she did not get rid of tlw 
brothers, her son would be dethroned, m1<l she, 
who was suspected of an attachment to his perso11, 
would be exposed to the utmost danger. The~e 
arguments had more effect on the Queen than her 
son, who was at length induced to consent to the 
seizure of his cousins. They, however, obtained 
intelligence of the design, and escaped from Kool­
burga to the fortress of Sagur. 

Suddoo, a slaYe of the royal family, com­
manded in Sagur. He ,vas rich and powerful, and 
received the Princes ,vith open arms, omitting 
nothing to evince his attachment to them. 011 
tlte next day, Ahmucl Khan and Feroze Khan ad­
dressed a letter to Shums-ood-Deen Shah, as also 
other letters to the principal nobility, stating, that 
their design was only to expel Lallcheen, whose 
treachery to the late king, and whose other nu­
merous crimes, which had cast dishonour on the 
royal family, were known to all. They demanded, 
therefore, that he should be punished, after which, 
the Princes promised to pay due submission to 
the authority of Shums-ood-1Jeen Shah: declaring, 
till this object were obtained, they would use every 
means in their power to eITcct his destruction. 

Shums-ood-Deen Shah, consulting his mothel' 
and Lallcheen, sent back an answer which served 
only to inflame the Princes, who, with the as­
sistance of the commander of Sagur, having col• 
lectecl three thousand horse and foot, and with the 
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full confidence that other troops would join them 
from the en.pita], marched towards Koolburga. 
Disappointed in this expectation, they halted for 
some time on the banks of the Beema, without 
being aided by nny r.hief of consequence. It was, 
howeyer, agreed, that the Princes should adYancr 
with the regal canopy carried over the head of 
Feroze Khan. On this occasion his brother Ahmucl 
Khan was raised to the rank of Ameer-ool-Omra, 
Suddoo to that of Meer Nobut, and i\Ieer Feiz 
Oolla Anjoo to the office of Yakeel, or minister. 

On the arrival of the Princes within four c-oss* 
of the city, Lallcheen distributed great sums of 
money to the officers and troops, and marched 
out with Shums-ood-Deen Shah to oppose them. 
A severe engagement took place in the vicinity of 
the town of ;\1erkole, and the brothers, being de­
feated, ned with their adherents to Sagur. The 
power and presumption of the Queen-mother and 
Lallcheen at length grew to such a height, that 
many of the officers of the court pri,·ately offered 
their services to the brothers, whom they advised 
to procure pardon from Shums-oocl-Deen Shah, 
and repair to Koolburga, in order to concert plans, 
at leisure, for forwarding their views. 

Feroze Khan, relying on these assurances, sent 
Meer Feir. Oolla Anjoo and Syud Kumal-oocl­
Deen, with other respectable persons, to the Queen 
and Lallcheen, representing that fear only had 
occasioned their rebellion, of which they now sin­
cerely repented; and promising, if the King would 

* Eight miles, 
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send them letters of pardon, to repair to court. 
The Oueen-mother and Lallcheen, well pleased 
at th~e overtures, sent the letter required, replete 
with flattering assurances of forgiveness. 

Soon after the arrival of these communication, 
the two brothers were sitting on a terrace, and con­
sulting whether or not they might ,·enture to go 
to Koolburga, when a Kashmeerian madman 
passed by and exclaimed, " I am come, 0 Ferczc 
" of happy auspices, to conduct thee to Koolburga, 
"and to make thee King." Regarding this as a 
happy omen, they proceeded immediately to Kool­
burga ; where they received dresses and gift from 
the King. But Lallcheen ancl Feroze Khan were, 
from the first moment, suspicious of each other, 
and continued on their guard. 

About a fortnight after their arrival, on Thursday 
SuITur 2 3. the 23d of Suffur, in the year Soo Fcroze 
A, 11. 800, Khan came into the durbar, attended 

Kov. 15- by twelve silehdars* devoted to his 
A. u. 1397· interest, and about three hundred of 
his other followers at the same time obtained 
admittance into the fort, one or two at a time. 
He then sent for his brother Ahmud Khan, upon 
whose arrival he told Lallcheen, that some of their 
relatives were come from their estate, in order to 
pay their respects to the King, and he requested 
that orders might be given to the porters to admit 
whomsoever he should send for. 

Feroze Khan taking care to occupy Lallcheen's 
attention in conversation, his brother went out on 

* This term is explained in a note, p. 299, 
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pretence of introducing his relatives ; but in at­

tempting to pass with twelve persons at once he 

was stopped by the guards, and fancying that 

the plot was discovered, he resolved to run all ha­

zards, and to attack those on duty. The sentries 

being overpowered, Ahmud Khan rushed into 

the durbar, where no opposition was made but by 
Lallcheen's sons; the rest of the assembly instantly 

Jlecl. Shums-ood~Deen Shah and his minister hid 

themselves in a subterraneous apartment; and the 

three hundred adherents of Foroze Khan, as had 

been preconcerted, attacked and put to Hight the 

dependents of Lallcheen in the courts of the palace; 

so that the plan succeeded according to design. 
Feroze Khan having put chains on the King 

and Lallcheen, confined tl1em in the apartment to 

which they had J1ed for shelter, while himself, 

accompanied by the nobility, repaired to the hall 
of audience, and ascended the Tukht-i-Feroza, 

thus fulfilling the prediction of the Kashmee­

rain; and having assumed the title of Feroze 

Shah Roze Af.zoon, begirt himself with the sword 

of ~\lla-ood-Deen Hussun Gungoo. Having now 

established his authority, he deprived the late king 

of his eyes, and confined him in the fortress of 

Bidur. At the same time sending for Gheias-ood­

Deen from his prison at Sagur, he gave over 

Lallcheen to his resentment. That Prince, though 

quite blind, ha Ying ordered Lallcheen to be placed 

before him, slew him with on~ stroke of his sabre. 

He then entreated Feroze Shah to allow him to 

perform the pilgrimage to Mecca; which request 

being acceded to, he sailed from Choul, and arrived 

VOL, II.-46. 
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in safety at the holy city; where he resided till his 
death, which occurred many years after. During 
his lifetime, Feroze made him a liberal allowance 
of five thousand golden ashruflies,* and sent him 
annually rich clothes. 

The reign of Shums-ood-Deen 011ly lasted lire 
months and seven days. 

* .-\11 a!>hruliy, like the gold 1110hr of modern times, varied 
from thirty to forty shillings in value. 



FEROZE SHAH BAHMUNY,* 

The character of Fcrozc.-Fei::: Oolla Anjoo created 

minister.-T/l(; southern p1·0-;1inccs im,aded by Dew Ra)', 

Raja of Bcejanuggui·.-Berar im.,adcd hy Nursing RaJ• 

of Ke/1rla.-Thc f,{i,zg 11urrches to the south, and compels 

the Raja of BceJanuggur to pay liiin 440,oool. for the 

expense of the war.-Thc Kin,f marches north to Berar. 

-The Raja of Kel1rla defcated.-The King deputes an 

embassy to Teimoor (Tamerlrr11c), -.vlto co11ferso11 .Feroze 

the sovcreig11ty or•cr 111alwa and Gucerat.-Secret 

negotiations by the kings of ;1lalwa and Gu::erat at the 

court of Bccja1111gg11r.- IYar rhwwctl with Beejam~t;.fllr. 

-Beejanug~ur i!lvested.-The country ramgcd by t/1e 

Malzomedans.-Bunkapoor rcduced.-T/11: l?.aja gh1cs liis 

daughter to Ferose, and makes pcncc.-Fl'rose takes 

Pangttl.-Tf',tr re11c111ed.-T/1e s11b11ersio1t ~l the 

.illahomcdan kin,1;dom is tlircatcncd.-Tlze Hindoos are 

eventually defeated by the KinJ(s brother Alzmud.­

Fe1·ose's h1tellect becomes impaired-lii"s i"mbeci!e co11d11ct. 

-The Ki"Ng's brother Altmud nhns at possessing tlu 

tlt1·one-lzis endcm,ours to ejfcct that object, a11rl his 

_t•1•enfltnl success.-Deatl, of Fe1-o::;e Sltrrli Ba/11111111_1'. 

FROM yarious historians we learn, that Feroze 

Shah excelled his predecessors in power and magni­

ficence, and that in his reign the house of Bahmuny 

attained its greatest splendour. He compelled the 

Ray of Beejanuggur to give him his daughter in 

marriage, though contrary to the custom of the 

Hindoos, who marry only in their own cast. 

* He is entitlecl Sooltan Abool l\foozulTur, Ghazy, Feroze 

Shah, Raze Afzoon. (The Sovereign Lord of Victory, the 

holy Warrior, King Fero1.e, whose prosperity increases daily.) 
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Neither did he fail to promote the true faith, having 
made four-and-twenty glorious campaigns, by the 
success of which he greatly enlarged his dominions. 
He took the fort of Bunkapoor, and subjected the 
greater part of Tulingana to the yoke of Islam. 
He was the first of the Deccan kings who wore a 
crown set with jewels in the form of a turban. 
He prided himself much on his liberality (one of 
the chief virtues of kings), and acquired thereby 
great reputation. He was guilty of no offences 
against the doctrines of religion but that of 
drinking wine and list~ning to music. He fasted 
often, and regularly observed the prescribed 
ceremonies of the holy law. He would often 
express contrition for his two bad propensities, but 
said, that as music elevated -his soul to the 
contemplation of the Deity, and ashe did not drink 
wine so as to affect his reason, he hoped he should 
obtain pardon hereafter from a merciful God. 

He was much addicted to women, and he con­
sulted, therefore, the holy men in what way he 
might gratify his passions without infringing the 
law, which allowed only of four wives. Some 
said that he might divorce one and marry an9ther, 
as often as he pleased, but this opinion being 
unsatisfactory, the point was referred to Meer Feiz 
Oolla Anjoo his minister. Feiz Oolla obseryed, 
that in the time of the Prophet and the first Caliph, 
the Moottea* was allowed; and though abroo-ated 
in the ~eign of the second Caliph, it was still legal, 
accordmg to the tenets of the Sheeas. The Soonees 
denied the orthodoxy of this doctrine ; and 

* A temporary marriage. 



FEROZE SHAH BAHMUNY . .,, 

much debate took place among the learned in con­
sequence. All the yarious commentaries were now 
r.onsultf,d in fa your of the opinions of each party, 
till at length 1.he King, being com·inced by the 
reasoning of the Sheeas, received into his harnm 
three hundred females in one day. According to 
Hajy l\fahomed Kandahary, Feroze Shah made a 
point of copying sixteen pages of the Koran eYery 
fourth day, after which he engaged in public 
business. He generally spent his time till mid­
night in the company of di\·ines, poets, reciters of 
history, readers o[ th0 Shah Nama, and the most 
learned and witty among his courtiers. In this 
assembly he laid aside all restraint ; obsen-ing, 
that when he sat on thP throne to transact 
business he was a sovereign, and necessarily obli­
ged to assume state, in order to make a clue 
impression on the minds of the people, so that the 
authority of government' might be supported; 
but that in their company he regarded himself as 
a pri,·ate individual, and wished to be treated 
without form or ceremony. He desired that all 
the members of these parties might come in or go 
out at will; that each person might call for whnt 
be chose to eat and drink, and speak freel~- on all 
subjects but two, which he forhacle being intro­
duced ; the first regarded affairs of state, nnd thr 
second slander of an absent person. 

i\foolla Isaac Surhindy, a man oF great learning 
and wit, observed one day to the King, that his 
desiring his attendants to wave ceremony towards 
him on these occasions was contrary to the practice 
of all other kings; the truth of which he illustra­
ted by relating an anecdote of a circumstance which 
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happened between Ameer Subooktugeen Ghiznevy 
and the philosopher c1nd astrologer Amvury. The 
King, having heard the story, smiled, and observed, 
that such conduct could only proceed from princes 
yoid of justice, and that he hoped such weaknes'.-. 
was not in his disposition. Those who frequented 
the King·s assemblies had ample experience how 
far he excelled most princes in the uniformity of 
his beha\'iour and the consistency of his conduct. 

Many curious anecdotes are related of Feroze 
Shah by l\Ioolla Dawood Didury, the introduction 
of ,vhich here would only occasion prolixity, and 
perhaps cause my being accused of cleparting from 
truth; so that I shall not giye them to my 
readers. But as that of Subooktugeen an<l the phi­
losopher Anwury has been mentioned, it may be 
proper to give the story in tl1f' words of Mollah 
Dawood. 

"It is related that the philosopher Anwury, one 
" of the wonders of his age, performed many sur­
" prising deeds. On account of his great learning, 
"and the condescension used towards him by the 
"King, he \Yas permitted to indulge in a degree of 
"freedom which in the end grew displeasing. Orn' 
"daywhileSubooktugeen was sitting on the terra<·e 
"of n. lofty building in the palace of: Ghizny, An-

.'' wury entered the gate. Tlu~ King commanded 
"him to foretell by which route he would next 
"quit the palace. Anwury, immediately fixing 
"his astrolabe, took an observation of the heavenly 
"bodies, and having finished it, wrote the result 
'' on a piece of paper, and placed it under a pil­
" low. Subooktugeen gave orders for part of the 
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"eastern wall of the palace to be thrown down, 
"and ,vent out. On examining the paper, it ap­
" peared .\nwury had anticipated what the King 
"had done. Subooktugeen, enraged at. the philo­
" sopher's success, ordered him in his passion to be 
'' cast headlong from the turret of the palace. 
'' Luckily a net recei,·ed ~-\mn1ry, who escaped 
"without injury. The King then asked him if 
'' he had foreseen this? to \Vhich the philosopher 
"replie<l he had; and calling for hi5 book, pointed 
'' 0L1t a prediction that he should, upon such a day, 
"fall from a high place, and escape unhurt. This 
iC displeased the King still more, and he ordered 
" him to be confined. Six months afterwards, while 
'' the philosopher was still in prison, one of his 
"slaves going to the market was told by a di­
" viner, that from certain omens he perceived in 
"his aspect much good fortune, which he woultl 
"foretell him for a certain sum. The slave gave 
"what was demanded; on which the diviner told 
'' him that he had a master in distress, who in a rew 
" days would be lleli\·ercd from his troubles, anc.l 
"receiYe a dress of honour. The slaYe ran and cou­
'' gratulatecl his master, who reproved him for his 
"credulity, and for goiug into such bad company. 
'' Three days after, it happened that Hussun My­
" mundy look an opportunity, upon tile King·sconM 
'' versing with him ou astrology, to mention the 
"unfortunate Anwury, lamenting, that instead 
'' of rewards and honours for his two surprising 
'' predictions he has been doomed to a gloomy 
"dungeon. The King replied, that certainly 
'' An~ury wa::; unrivalled in science, but men 
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"of learni~g should know mankind bett~r; for, }1e 
"observed, kings are like chi,ldren, and must be 
" flattered to be pleased. After these remarks, h~ 
"commanded Anwury to be_ released. On l1is 
"way from prison to the court, Anwury met the di­
'' viner, and was constrained to confess, that other 
"persons besides philosophers could sometime:-; 
"foretell events. The King honoured Anwury 
'· with a dress, a thousand pieces of silver, a horse, 
"and a male and female slave; at t.he same time 
" expressing his concern for what had happened.'' 

Feroze Shah, every year, despatched Yessels from 
the ports of Goa and Choul to procure the manu­
factures and curious productions of all quarters of 
the world, but particularly to im·ite to his court 
personscelebrat.edfortheirtalents; whom, hewoukl 
frequently obsen·e, should be regarded as t.he 
choicest produdions of all countries. He used t.o 
say that· kings should draw around them the 
most learned and meritorious persons of all na­
tions, so that from their society they might obtai11 
information, and thus reap some of the a(h-au­
tages acquired by trc:welling into distant rigions 
of the globe. The King had so excellent a 
memory that he could com-erse in many laugu~!­
ges; a practice he exercised, as far as practicablr, 
towards foreigners. It was suilicient to hear a 
circumstance once related tu enable him to retain 
it. in mind ever aft.er .. He was a good poet, and of­
ten made extempore Yerses. He was well acquain­
ted with several sciences, and particular! y fond of 
natural philm,ophy. On Saturdays, Mondays, and 
Thursdays, he heard lectures on botany, geometry, 
and logic, generally i11 the day, but if business 
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interfered, at night. It is said, that he even ex• 
celled Mahomed Toghluk in literary attainments. 

He was the first king of the Deccan who inter­
married with the Syuds of Anjoo; having taken 
a daughter·of that family for his son Hussun Khan, 
and giyen one of his own daughters in marriage 

-to Meer Shums-ood-Deen MahomedAnjoo, whom 
he appointed governor of Dowlutabad. 

Feroze Shah built a town on the banks of the 
Beema, which he called Ferozabad. The streets 
were laid out with regularity, and were very broad. 
Near the riYer was erected a citadel of stone, 
divided into a number of splendid courts, detached 
from each other, all plentifully supplied with 
water conducted by an ample canal from the river. 
Each of these courts he committed to one of his 
favourite ladies; and to avoid confusion and irre­
gularity among his vrnmen, he framed rules for his 
haram, which were strictly observed during bis life. 

In the female apartments, he allowed no more 
than three attendants to one lady, who were 
always of the same nation, and spoke the same 
language as their mistress. Merchants were con­
:stantly employed to purchase females of all nations, 
·from amongst whom he made selections to supply 
the vacancies occasioned by death or other causes 
among his mistresses or their sen·ants. In his 
haram were Arabians, Circassians. Georgians, 
Toorks, Russians,* Europeans, Chinese, Afghans, 
Rajpoots, Bengalees, Guzeraties, Tulinganies, 

· Maharattins, and others ; and he could converse 

* Ferishta, in the sixteenth century, considers the Russians 
as distinct from Europeans. 

VOL. II,-4 7 • 
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. \vith each in her own language. He divifded his 
attention so ·equally among them, that each lady 
.fancied herself most beloved by the King. He read 
the Taurat and .Anjeel,* and respected the tenets 
of all religions ; but he admired that part of the 
faith of :.\Iahomed above all others, which com­
manded the concealment of women from the eyes 
of strnngers, and which forbade the use of wine. 
Feroze Shah, on ascending the throne, appointed 
his brother Ahmud Khan _'\meer-ool-Omra, ·with 
the title of Khan Khanan, and he raised Meer 
Feiz O Jlla Anjoo, his preceptor, to the office of 
'\,' akeel-oos-Sultunut, with the title of Mullik Naib; 
honours were also conferred on many of the family 
of Bahmuny. Historians unitedly agree, that he 
made twenty-four campaigns against the Hindoos; 
but the particulars of a few only are related by 
Moolla Dawood Biclur,,, in the Tohfut-oos-
Sulateen. · · 

In the year 8or, De\\· Ray of Bee-
A. H. So1. januggur, wit.h thirty thousand horse, 
A, D. 1398. 

and a ,·ast army of foot, im·aded the 
territories of the Dooab, i• with a design to reduce 
the forts of :.\,foodkul and Rachore. Feroze Shah, 
having intelligence of his motions, moved from 
Koolburga to Sagur, where he revievved his army. 
After this, he put to death a zemindar, with seven 
or eight thousand Hindoos, who had long been 
very refractory. The Dowlutabad and Berar 
divisions of the army joined him at Sagur; and 
he was preparing to move against Dew Ray, 

* The Old and New Testaments • 
. t The r.ountry lying between the Krishna and Toongbudra 

rivers. 



FERO.ZE SHAH BAHMUNY: 37J. 

wheri suddenly advice was brought that Nurs.ing 
Ray, Raja of Kehrla, at the instig.ation of Hie 
kings of Mando and A.seer,* as also by the advice 
of the Raja of Beejanuggur, had invaded the 
province of Berar, and committed every excess on 
the Mussulman territory as far as the walls of 
Mahoor. On receipt of this intelligence, the King 
sent back the Dowlntabad division to oppose 
~ursing Ray, and marched with the remainder of 
his troops against Dew Ra~, of Beejanuggur. 

It being the rainy season, and the river Krishna 
full, De,Y Ray had pitched his camp on the south 
bank, and stationed large bodies of infantry alm1g 
the shore, to oppose tlte passage of the Maho• 
medans. Ferozej on his arrival nem the river, held 
a council of war, but received no ad,;,-ice that 
appeared satisfactory to him. \Yhile thus perplexed 
how to act, one Kazy Siraj offered, if the King 
would permit him, to ·cross the riYer with a few 
volunteers selected for the purpose, and assassinate 
Dew Ray or his son, ashe found it most convenient; 
proposing, that when the alarm consequent on 
such an exploit should throw the enemy's camp 
i~ito confusion, a party should be sent across the 
ri,·er, and secure a passage for the whole army. 

_ Feroze appro,,ing of the project, some hun• 
·c1reds of baskets, t coyered with leather, were 

* The Mahomcdan kings of l\fal wa and Kandeish. 
t The same sort of basket-boats used in the Tigris in the 

_time of Herodotus are still employed there, and are almost the 
only description of passage-boats known in the Indian penin• 
sula at this clay to the natives of the country. 

A detachment of the British army crossed its heavy guns, 
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expeditiously prepared for the troops to cross. Kazy 
Siraj, with seven of his friends disguised as men­
dicants, proceeded to the Ray's camp, and repaired 
to the quarter where the dancing girls resided. 
Here the Kazy pretended to be enraptured with a 
courtesan, and was guilty of a thousand 
extravagancies in order to support his character. 
In the evening, the girl, having dressed herself in 
her richest ornaments, prepared to go out; on 
which the Kazy, like a jealous and distracted 
lm·er, falling at her feet, entreated her to stay, or 
let him attend her, and not break his heart by her 
absence. The woman informed him, that she was 
ordered to attend an entertainment on that evening, 
given by the Ray's son, and durst not disobey, 
nor could she take him with her, as only musicians 
and dancers would be admitted. The Kazy replied, 
that he played on the same instrument as herself, 
and had, beside, some curious accomplishments 
that would amuse the Ray's son. The dancing girl, 
thinking him in jest, gave him her mundul,* by 
way of joke, and desired him to play; which he 
did in so masterly a manner, that she was much 
pleased, and permitted him and his companions 
to attend her party to the tents of the young Ray, 
in the evening. 

As is the custom of the Deccan, many sets of 
dancing girls were ordered to perform at the 

-------- ---- ----------------

without even dismounting them, over the Toollgbudra, in 
181:.1, in these basket-boats. 

* A. mu5ical instrument. 
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same time, when having finished, the Ray's son 
called for the male jugglers and buffoons. The 
dancing girl now obtained leave for the Kazy 
and one of his companions to show their feats. 
Having assumed the dress of females, they 
entered ogling and smiling, at the same time 
dancing and playing on the mundul. They acted 
theiF part so well, that the Ray's son was highly 
gratified. At length they each drew a dagger, 
and, as is usual among the dancers of the Deccan,* 
continued to flourish them for some time in 
several different attitudes, advancing, retreating, 
and turning round. At last, suddenly rushing 
on the Ray's son, they plunged both the daggers 
into his breast, and afterwards attacked his 
attendants and companions. The Kazy's friends, 
in the meanwhile, who were watching outside, 
on hearing the alarm, ripped open the tent, and 
entered to assist him. Many of the company, 
being much intoxicated, were put to death without 
resistance, while the Kazy with his associates 
having extinguished the lights, made their escape 
and mingled with the crowd. The outcry 
soon became general: great confusion prevailed 
throughout the camp, and reports and alarms 
were various. Some saying that the Mahomedan 
King had crossed the river and surprised the 
camp, others, that one of his chiefs, with twelve 
thousand men, had cut off both the Raja and 
his son. The night was uncommonly dark, and 

% The dexterity with which the Tulingy females use the 
double-edged claymore, one in each hand, while waltzing 
rapidly to the sound of music, is a subject of admim tion to 
all Europeans who have ever witnessed it. 
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the cc:i.mp extended nearly ten miles, so that the 
different chiefs, ignorant oI the real state of affairs, 
contented themselves with remaining at their 
se\-eral posts, under arms, waiting for the daylight. 
Meanwhile,.about four thousand of Ferozc Shah's 
troops crossed the ri,·er in boats and rafts, which 
had been preYiously prepared for the purpose, and 
the enemy's infantry, stationed to oppose- the 
passage, panic-struck, by the alarm in the camp, 
and at the approach of the King·s forces at the 
same time, fled in confusion without making op­
position. Before morning Feroze Shah had crossed 
the riYer, and at dmv11 entered the enemy"s ramp. 
Dew Ray, twer\\'helmecl with grief at the death 
of his son, made no efforts at resistance; but 
haYing taken up the t:,)rpse fled from the field. 
Feroze Shah obtained immense booty in the 
<'amp, and pursued the Hindoos to the Yirinity 
of Beejanuggur ; on the road to which place 
se,·eral act.ions ocuu-rccl, in all of which the 
Moslems were successful, so that the highways 
became strewed with 1.he bodies of the enemy. 

De"· Ray kn·ing shut himself up in the fort of 
Beejanuggm-: and no enemy remaining in the 
field, Fcroze Sliah detached Khan Klrnnan and 
:\1Ieer Fuzl Oolla to lay ,Yaste the districts south 
of the city, ,vhich were populous and Hourishing. 
Kazy Siraj, in re\vard for his heroic exploit, was 
raised to the rank of a noble, and was sent with 
lhe army in ach-ance. This division having ful­
filled the King's intentions, and having taken many 
capt.in~~- returne<l to camp. As great numbers of 
bramin~ had fallen into the hands of the Moslems1 
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their friends at Beejanuggur came forward fo assist 
the Ray with large sums of money to obtain· a 
peace, and to ransom the capti,·es. Dew Ray ac­
cepted their offers; and after much negotiation, 
Meer Fuzl Oolla agreed to accept ten lacks of 
hoons* for the royal treasury as a ransom for the 
prisoners, and one lackt for himself as negotiator.t 
. ..\.ccordingly the bramins sent six lacks, and Dew 
Ray five, all of which Meer Fuzl Oolla laid before 
the King, who greatly commended his ya]uable 
services. A treaty was then concluded, by which 
it was agreed that the boundaries of both king­
doms should remain the same as before the war, 
and that one party should not molest the subjects 
of the other. Feroze Shah released his prisoners, 
and began his march to his mvn dominions. 
\Vhen he passed the Toongbuclra, he directed 
Folad Khan to assume charge of the Doab; and 
lem·ing the army to follow, hastened with a fe"· 
attendants to Koollmrga. 

A few months after the conclusion of thi:,; 
campaign, in the beginning of the year 
802, the King marched to punish Nur­

A, D. I39lJ, 
sing- Ray, the Raja of Kchrla. Upon 

A, II, 80:!, 

* The hoon varies from three and a half to four rupees. 
Eight shillings sterling may be taken as a fair average, which 
would make the gum amount to 400,0001. 

t 4010001. 

:j: The practice of negotiators receiving n tithe of the sum 
paid to the state seems to have generally prevailed in the con­
clusion of most of the treaties on record in India. The sum was 
openly mentioned in the body of the· instrument, and seemed 
to be deemed a fair re,vard to the successful diplomatist. 
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his arrival at Mahoor, Feroze found the native 
chiefs of that district, out of apprehension of 
Nursing Ray, had consented to acknowledge that 
Raja's authority. On the present occasion, there­
£ ore, they obtained pardon at the intercession of 
some of the nobility, made large offerings, and 
joined the army. The King halted one month 
and five days at Mahoor, and then proceeded 
towards Kehrla. Nursing Ray, who had great 
wealth and power, being possessed of all the hills 
of Gondwana, and other countries, sent rich 
presents to the kings of Malwa and Kandeish, 
entreating their assistance ; but though they had 
on former occasion furnished him with aid, yet, 
as they in reality wished his destrnction, they on 
the present occasion declined joining his cause. 
Notwithstanding this circumstance, Nursing Ray 
resolved to engage the King, and marching two 
coss from Kehrla, assembled his troops and 
waited for his approach. 

Feroze Shah was anxious to lead the army in 
person ; but Khan Khanan and Meer Fuzl Golla 
Anjoo having requested to be allowed to conduct 
the enterprise, he gave his consent. They opened 
the war by addressing a letter to Nursing Ray, re­
minding him of his late conduct, and advising him 
tocompromisemattersbyconsentingtopaytribute: 
but his reply was couched in threats of defiance, 
and he made greater preparations for war. Khan 
Khanan and Meer Fuzl Golla, now advancing at­
tacked his lines, which brought on a severe con­
flict, in which Shoojat Khan, Dilawur Khan, 
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and Bahadur Khan, Mahomedan officers 0£ rank, 
suffered martyrdom, and the infidels charging 
furiously, the troops of Islam were· broken. At 
this instant it was reported to l\ileer Fuzl Oolla 
that Khan Khanan was slain. He directed his 
informant to keep the news secret: and himself 
advancing with two hundred horse, caused the 
drum of victory to be beaten, giving out, that the 
King was coming to their assistance. The troops, 
on this information, rallied and repulsed the 
enemy. l\.'.Ieer Fuzl. Oolla was soon after joined 
by Khan Khanan, supposed to be slain; and nm-.., 
in their turn, attacking the I-Iindoos, the 
Mahomedans put them to flight, and took prisoner 
Gopal Ray, the son of Nursing Ray. The fugitives 
were closely pursued to Kehrla, leaving upwards 
of ten thousand slain on the field, while Nursing 
Ray, having with much diHiculty gained the 
fortress, was besieged by the Yictorious army. 

At the end of two months, the garrison, being 
reduced to great distress, offered terms; but re­
ceived for answer from the generals that they had 
no power to accede to any proposal, but that of 
unconditional surrender. :-,.Jursing Ray, seeing no 
other ;:;,lternative, went with his family to the 
King's camp at Elichpoor, ,vhcre expressing contri­
tion for his conduct, and acknowledging himself 
the King's vassal, offered even to give up Kehrla 
itself; but he hoped his Majesty, after receiving 
his submission, would admit him among the 
number 0£ his tributaries, and overlook past 
events; in consideration of which he promised to 

VOL. II,-48. 
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pay every year the tribute fix.ed by Alla-ood-Deen 
Hussun Gungoo. 

Feroze Shah, becoming reconciled to Nursing 
Ray, ga,'e him a dress of honour, richly 
embroidered with gold; and receiving one of his 
daughters into his haram, together with a present 
of forty-five elephants, a considerable sum of 
money, and other valuables, he directed the siege 
of Kehrla to be discontinued. On the junction of 
Khan Khanan and Meer Fuzl Oolla's divisions, 
Nursing Ray was permitted to proceed home, 
and the King returned in triumph to Koolburga. 
As this victory was chie!ly owing to the exertions 
of Meer Fuzl Oolla, that nobleman was promoted 
to the command of the Berar army. 

In the year 804, repeated accounts 
A. 

11
• 

80+· coming from the court of Ameer Tei­
A. D qor. 

moor of that conqueror having confer reel 
the throne of Dehly on one of his sons, with orders 
to subdue all the kingdoms of Hindoostan, and 
that he had resolYed to march in person, to support 
his designs, if necessary, Feroze Shah sent 
ambassadors to the Tartar chief with rich presents, 
and a letter expressive of his respects. Teimoor 
received the ambassadors graciously, and accepted 
the presents. The ambassadors also represented, 
that Feroze Shah Bahmuny was desirous to be 
numbered among his dependents, and would, 
whenever Teimoor should either march in person, 
or send one of the princes to conquer Hindoostan, 
hasten from the Deccan to co-operate with his 
troops. Teimoor, pleased at these gratuitous offers 
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of aid, was prevailed on, through the agency of 
some of his courtiers, to confer the sovereignty of 
Malwa and Guzerat on Feroze Shah, with permis­
sion to use the canopy, and all other insignia of 
royalty; and at the end of six months, Teimoor 
delivered to the ambassadors a firman, containing 
the formal cession of the countries in question, 
together with a sword set with jewels, from his 
own side, a royal robe, a Toorky slaYe, and four 
Syrian horses, superior in beauty to any before seen 
in the Deccan. The kings of Guzerat, Malwa, and 
Kandeish,* whose power was yet weak, alarmed 
at the encroachments of Feroze Shah, sent am­
bassadors to court his friendship; observing, that, 
as l\Iahomedans, they ought to live together like 
brothers, and unite in alliance against the power 
of the Emperor of Dehly. At the same time, they 
priyately wrote to the Ray of Beejanuggur, that 
whenever he should need their assistance against 
Feroze Shah to inform them, that they might lend 
him all the support in their power. In consequence 
of these o,·ertures, the Ray of Beejanuggur 
changed his conduct towards the King, and 
neglected to pay his tribute for four years ; and 
Feroze Shah, knowing the secret enmity of his 
neighbours, the kings of Guzerat and Malwa, did 

* The embassy to Teimoor, with its result, which became 
known to thfl kings or l\falwa and Kandeish, at once explained 
to them Feroze Shah's views ; and the attack on a place so 
remote from Koolburga as Kehrla tended to confirm the 
opinion then entertained of his ambitious designs. It appeared 
quite natural, therefore, that the kings of the north should 
open negotiations for a defensive alliance with the Raja of 
13eejanuggur, who had it always in his power to create a 
diversion in their favour. 
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not press him, but passing over his neglect for the 
pre_sent, resolved to punish it at some future 
convenient time. 

It happened that in the town of i\foodkul 1i ved 
a goldsmith, who had a daughter named Nehal, 
of such exquisite beauty, that nature seemed to 
have exerted all her art to render her perfect. 
Agreeably to the custom of Hindoostan, her parents 
wished to betroth her in childhood to a youth of 
her own caste; lrnt she requested that the ceremony 
might be delayed, with such earnestness, that it was 
put olT. Some time after, an old bramin, who had 
been on a pilgrimage to Benares, stopping on his 
return at her father's house, was struck with 1 he 
beauty of his daughter, adopted her as his chi"ld, 
and resoln:d to ren<.lcr her skilful in music and 
dancing, of which he was a perfect master. The 
bramin continued nearly eighteen months with her 
family : at the encl of which period, finding her 
fully accomplished, he took his leave, with a pro­
mise shortly to return, with proposals calculated 
for the honour of his pupil, and the ach-antage of 
her family. The bramin, wlto had from the first 
designed to exalt hi~ adopte<l daughter to the 
station of a princess, proceeded to Beejanuggur; 
and being introduced to the Ray, spoke in sucl1 
praise of the maid, that he resoked to possess hCJ.·, 
and entreated the bramin to solicit her in marriage. 
Tlic request had been anticipated by the bramin, 
and he accordingly agreed to assist him in the 
attainment of his wishes; on which, the Ray des­
patched him with rich gifts to the parents, and 
offered to bestow the title of Rany, or Princess, 
on their beautiful daughter. The bramin lost no 
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time in his journey; and on his arrival at the 
goldsmith's house delivered to him and his wife 
the Ray's orders that they should repair \Yith their 
child to Beejanuggur. They were oycrjoyed at 
such unexpected good fortune; and calling the 
maid, laid before her the rich gifts of the Ray, 
congratulated her on being so soon to be united 
to a great prince, and attempted to throw upon 
her neck a golden neck Ince set with je,vels as the 
token of betrothal, and wbich, if clone, i.he engage­
n~ent could nut l1a,·e been broken off. The 
daughter, to the as ton ishrncnt of her parents, re­
f used to receive the necklace: obser\"ing, that 
·whoever entered the l1aram of Deejanug-gur \\'as 
neyer afterwards permittc:d i.o see e,·en her nearest 
relatives; and though thr,y might be willing to 
sacrifice her for tlie ,vcalth of the court, yet she 
was too fond of her parents to submit to an 
eternal separation from them, e,·en for the splen­
dour of the palace of Beejanuggur. This affec­
tionate declaration, arcompc1nied with tears, 
reconciled her parents to their disappointed hopes, 
who, rather than use force, dismissed the brnmin 
with all his ~ifts,-and he returned to Beejanuggur 
without success. The maiden, subsequently, re­
vealed to her parents, that she had long had an 
inward com·iction that she should one day become 
the wife of a prince of the faith of Islam, and re­
commended them to await patiently the vvill of 
Providence. 

vVhen 1.he bramin arrived at lleejanuggur, and 
related to the Ray the fai 1 ure of his mission, the 
Prince became outrageous; and he resolved to 
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gratify his passion e,·en by force1 lhough the object 
resided in the midst of Feroze Shah's dominions. 
For this purpose, quitting Beejanuggur with his 
army, on pretence of making the tour of his terri­
tories, he halted on the banks of the river Toong­
budra; where having selected five thousand of his 
best horse, he commanded them, in spite of the 
remonstrances of his officers, to march night and 
day with all expedition to l\Ioodku1, and sur­
rounding the village where the goldsmith lived, 
to bring his daughter prisoner, with her whole 
family, but without doing them any injury. 

As the Ray had, in the excess of his ardour, 
lost his judgment, he neglected to send the bramin 
to prevent the parents of the female from being 
alarmed at the approach of his troops, and to 
induce them to remain in the place, should there 
be time sufficient to allow the other inhabitants to 
escape. It so happened, that the country around 
i\Ioodkul being apprised of the approach of the 
Beejanuggur troops, the inhabitants, among 
whom was :'.'Jehal"s family, fled to distant parts. 
The troops of Dew Ray accordingly failed in 
obtaining their expected prize, and returned with 
expedition, laying waste on their route several 
towns and villages, before the local troops could be 
collected to oppose them. At length Folad Khan, 
governor of the prO\·ince, marched against them, 
and the plunderers1 seeing themselves greatly su­
perior to him in numbers, stopped to engage, and 
obliged him to retire. Being, however, quickly re­
inforced, he pursued them a second time ; and the 
invaders, not dreaming of being followed by a 
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beaten enemy, had become so careless in their 
retreat, that they ,vere surprised and completely 
defeated, with the loss of two thousand men, 
before they wue able to recross the Toongbudra. 
Feroze Shah, on hearing of this unprovoked im·a­
sion, immediately issued orders for assembling his 
army near Ferozabad. In the beginning of the 

year 809, he moved in great force, and 
A. 

11
• Bog. arrived near Ileejanuggur without 

A o. 
1406

· opposition; in which place Dew Ray 
had shut himself up. :\n assault was made upon 
the city, and the King got possession of some of 
the streets, but was opposed with great resolution, 
and eventually repulsed by the Camatic infantry. 
Dew Ray, encouraged by this success, Yentured 
to encamp his army outside the town, under 
protection of the walls, and to attack the besiegers' 
camp with light troops. As the l\Ioslems could 
not make use of their ca,·alry, owing to the un­
evenness of the ground around Beejan uggur, they 
suffered severely from the garrison, and became 
dispirited. On one occasion Feroze Shah was 
wounded by an arrow in the hand; but refusing 
to dismount from his charger, he drew out the 
weapon, and bound up the wound with a doth. 
The enemy was at last driven off, owing to the 
good conduct of the King's brother, Alunud Kl1an, 
Khan Khanan; and the King moved his camp 
farther from the city to a com·enient plain where 
he halted till his wounded men were recow~red. 
Here, laying aside the design of taking the city, 
he detached a body of ten thousand horse under 
his brother, Khan Khanan, and Meean Suddoh 
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(Meer-Nobut), to lay waste the country on the 
south of Beejanuggur, and detached Meer Fuzl 
Oolla Anjoo, with the Berar division, to besiege 
Bunkapoor, the most important fortress in the 
Carnatic. The King, with the remainder of his 
army, continued in the environs of Beejanuggur, in 
order to amuse Dew Ray, and fortified his camp 
with a circle of gun carriages. Dew Ray more than 
once attacked him, but was always repulsed with 
great slaughter. The Ray now desisted from his 
attacks, but despatched ambassadors to solicit aid 
from the kings of Malwa, Kandeish, and Guzerat. 

The King continued to engage Dew Ray for 
four months ; during which time, Khan Khanan 
laid waste the most nourishing towns and districts 
of the Carnatic; and Meer Fuzl Oolla succeeded 
in taking the fortress of Bunkapoor, with its 
valuable dependencies; the government of which 
he committed, by the King's orders, to l\ieean 
Suddoh, who was co-operating with that direc­
tion, while he himself returned to the royal 
camp. Khan Khanan also joined the army of the 
King with about sixty thousand Hindoo captiyes, 
male and female, besicl~s a rich booty in gold. 
Feroze Shah received these officers with the favour 
due to their services, and made a splendid festival 
in honour of thei.r successes, on which occasion he 
concerted a plan for further opera_tions. After some 
,debate it was resolved, that Khan -I{hanan should 
remain oppos.e1 to Dew Ray ··~t Beejanuggur, 
while the King, accompanied by Meer Fuzl Oolla, 
should march to besiege Adony, the __ strongest 
fortress then in possession of the enemy. 

' . 
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Dew .Ray, not obtaining assistance from the 
kings of Malwa, Kandeish, and Guzerat, was 
plunged into despair, when he heard of the King's 
intentions, and he accordingly sent some of his 
chiefs to treat for peace at the royal camp. Feroze 
Shah at first refused to listen to any terms ; but 
at length, _being moved by the advice and 
entreaties of Meer Fuzl. Oolla, he consented to 
the following conditions; Yiz. That the Ray 
should give him his daughter in marriage; that 
he should pay ten lacks of hoons, and present fiye 
nmns of pearls, fifty choice elephants, and two 
thousand male and female slaves, singers, dancers, 
and musicians; also, that the fort of Bunkapoor, 
already in his possession, should, in order to 
obviate all futLire disputes, be ceded to him for 
ever, as the marriage-portion of the Beejanuggur 
Princess. 

Though the Rays of the Carnatic had never 
before given their daughters in marriage to any 
persons but those of their own caste, and deemed it 
degrading to intermarry with strangers, yet Dew 
Ray, out of necessity, complied; and preparations 
for celebrating the nuptials were made by both 
parties.* For forty days communication was open 

* The Hindoo princes must have been reduced to the lowest 
state oE humiliation to give their daughters to l\Iahomeclans. 
State policy, however;.on the part of the Hindoos, compeHed 
them to submit; while the effect of the practice, though only 
adopted for tl~e gratification of the basest passions on the part 
of the Moslems, was calculated to reconcile them to the 
Hindoos, and tended, in a great measure, to soften down that 
acrimonious hatred which belonged to both parties previously 
to forming these connections. 

VOL. II,-.d.Q, 
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between the city and the King's camp, a distance 
of fourteen miles. Either side of the road was 
lined with booths both of Mahomedans and 
Hindoos; while the jugglers, dancers, and buffoons 
of the Carnatic, displayed their skill to amuse 
passengers. Khan Khanan and Meer Fuzl Oolla 
were deputed, in great state, to Ileejanuggur, with 
the customary presents of a bridegroom ; from 
whence, at the expiration of seven days, they 
brought the bride, with a rich portion and 
offerings from the Ray, to the King's camp. De"· 
Ray having expressed a desire to meet his son-in­
law, Feroze Shah, in the excess of his politeness, 
consented to pay his father-in-law a Yisit, 
attended by his bride. 

A clay being fixed, the King proceeded with the 
bride to IleP.januggur, leaving the camp in charge 
of Khan Khanan. He was met on the road by 
Dew Ray in great state. From the gate of the 
city to the palace, being a distance of nearly six 
miles, the road was spread with cloths of gold, 
velvet, satin, and other rich stulis. The two 
monarchs rode on horseback together, between 
ranks of beautiful. boys and girls, who 
waved over their heads plates of gold full of 
incense and silver flowers, which they scatterPd 
abroad, to be gathered by the populace. This 
ceremony being o\·er, the inhabitants of the 
city, both men and women, made offerings 
according to their rank. After passing through a 
square in the centre of the city, the relatives 
of D~w Ray, who had lined the streets, 
made their obeisance, and joined the cavalcadr, 
marching on foot before the two Kings. On 
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their arrival at the palace gate, Feroze Shah 
and the Raja dismounted from their horses, and 
ascending a splendid litter, set with valuable 
jewels, were carried together to the apartments 
prepared for the reception of the bride and bride­
groom. Dew Ray then took his lea Ye, and retired 
to his own apartments. The King, after being 
feasted magnificently for three days, took leave of 
the Ray, who pressed upon him richer presents 
than he had before given, and attended him four 
miles on his way to his camp, before he returned 
to the city. Feroze Shah was offended, however, 
at his not going with him to his camp, and said 
to Meer Fuzl Oolla that he would one day have 
revenge for the affront olrerecl him by such neglect. 
This remark being com·eyed to Dew Ray, he made 
use of some offensive observations, so that, not­
withstanding the union of the two families, their 
enmity ·was not allayed. Feroze Shah, having 
returned to the capital of his dominions, des• 
patched persons to bring the beautiful daughter 
of the goldsmith and his family to court, on whose 
account the war bad originated. Her beauty was 
found to surpass all that had been reported of it;· 
and the King, conceiving that he was too old to 
e::;pouse her himself, conferred her in marriage on 
his sou Hussun Khan, and gratified her parents 
with rich gifts and grants of la11d in their native 
country. The lady, meanwhile, was committed to. 
the care of the King's aunt till the nuptial prepa­
rations were ready, when the knot was tied amid 
great rejoicings and princely festivals. 
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FerozeShah, being a great encourager 
,\, H. 810. of astronomy, caused an observatory to 
A. 

0
• 

1407 be built in the year 810, on the sum­
mit of the pass near Dowlutabad; but this work 
being interrupted by the death of Hakeem Hussun 
Geelany, the astronomer, it was left unfinished.* 

A, II. 815. 
In the year 8r5, the King went, on 

pretence of hunting, into the country 
A,D. 1+12. 1 'd d of GonuwaraJ which he ai waste, an 
brought away near three hundred elephants. Soon 
afterwards, hearing that the celebrated saint Syud 
Mahomecl Geesoo-duraz had arrived near Kool­
burga, from Dehly, he went from Feruzabad to 
visit him, and sent all the nobility of the court to 
meet him. He wa-s at first treated with much 
attention; but on the King finding him deficient 
in learning and science, he withdrew his favour. 
Khan Khanan, the King's brother, entertained 
the highest veneration for the Syud, and not only 
built a superb palace for him, but spent great part 
of his time in attending his lectures. Khan Kha­
nan was never absent from his" wujd,'' or ecstasies, 
at which times he distributed large sums to the 
·attendants of the clurgah, t and to dervishes. 

A. II. 818. 
,\, D. I.J-15• 

In the year 818, the King having 
fixed on his son H ussun, a weak and 
dissipated Prince, to succeed him, con-

ferred on him a royal cap and waistband, with a 

* The ruins of this worl~ are still to be seen ; but the pre­
sent inhabitants have no notion of the object for which it was 
intended. 

t Durgah is a convent, or dwelling-place of holy men, ! 
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chutr or canopy, several royal pavilions, and some 
elephants, the emblems of sovereignty. At this 
time, also, he invited the nobles to acknowledge 
him as his successor, and requested the holy Syud 
to give him his blessing; but the saint answered, 
that to one chosen by the King the prayers of a 
poor beggar could be of no avail. Feroze Shah, 
dissatisfied with his reply, sent to him again; on 
which the Syud observed, that as the crown was 
decreed to descend to his brother Khan Khanan, 
by the will of Providence, it ·was in vain for him to 
bestow it on another. The King was much alar• 
med, and ordered the Syud to quit the city; pre­
tending that his durgah was too near the palace, 
and that the crowds of his disciples and students 
were dangerous to the peace of the capital. The 
holy man immediately obeyed, and retired out of 
the town to the spot where his torn b now stands ; 
and his followers soon erected for him a magnifi­
cent dwelling.* 

In the year 820, the King despatched 
A, 

11
• 

820
• ambassadors to the Ray of Tulingana, 

A. V. 1.p7, 
demanding some years' arrears of tri-

bute, \vho sent the sums clue, with se\·eral valu­
able presents in addition. In the middle of this 
year, Feroze Shah formed the design of reduc­
ing the fortress of Pangul, now called Dilcondah, 
situated about eighty fursungs (two hundred and 

~' The tomb of this holy personage, now stan<ling, \\'as either 
rebuilt or constructed in the year l'I. D. 16-fo, by Mahomed 
Ameen Hoosseiny, a descendant of the celebrated Syud Ma­
homed Geesoo-duraz (or Long Locks), in the reign of l\fahomed 
Adil Shah, King of Beejapoor. 
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forty miles) from Adony.* ,vithout regarding 
his relationship to the Ray of Beejanuggur, he 
marched and commenced the siege, which ex­
tended to two whole years; at the end of which 
time, it not being the will of Hem·en that it 
should then fall, a pestilence broke out in the roya1 
army, in which, men and horses died every day 
in great numbers. Discontent and fear filled 
the minds of the smTi,·ors; and many.officers of 
the first rank, quitting the camp with their 
followers, retired to their estates. At this crisis, 
Dew Ray, having collected his army, and hm·ing 
obtained assistance from all the surrounding 
princes, including the Raja of Tulingana, marched 
against the King1 with a vast host of horse and 
foot. 

Fcroze Shah, though he j uclged his army un­
equal to oppo~e t.hc Hincloos, yet, impelled by a 
sense of pride, gm·c battle in spite of the remons­
t.rauces of his officers. l\Ieer Fuzl Oolla, who com­
manded the troops of Islam, charged the infidels 
with great Yalour, and routing their centre, fell 
upon their right wing, and was on the point of 
obtaining the Yictory, when one of his own atten­
dants, said to be bribed for the purpose by Dew 
Ray, inflicted a severe wound on his head, of which 
he instantly died. This fatal event changed the 
fortune of the day : the King was defeated ; and 
with the utmost difliculty, and not without very 
great efforts on his part, effected his escape 
from the field. The Hindoos made a general 

* Pangul, at pres<"nt, has no other name, and is not more 
limn seventy miles from Aclony. 
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massacre of the Mussulmans, credcd a platform 
with their heads on the field of battle, and pursuing 
the King into his own country, laid it waste with 
fire and sword. They subsequently took many 
towns, broke clown mosques and other holy places; 
slaughtered the people without mercy; and by their 
s:1xage conduct seemed desirous to discharge the 
vengeance and resentment of many ages. Fero?.c 
Shah, in the exigence of his distress, requested aid 
of the King of Guzerat, who having- but just as­
cended the throne could afford none. At last 
fortune took a turn more fm·ourable 1.o his affairs; 
and the enemy, after repeated battles, were ex­
pelled from his dominions hy the King's brother, 
Khan Khanan. But these misfortunes dwelt on 
the mind of Feroze Shah, now old, and he fell 
into a lingering disorder, which afl:ected his spirits 
and his intellect. 

During his illness, he gm·e the reins of go­
vernment into the hands of two of his slm·es,­
one named Hooshyar, and the other Bedar/' 
strengthening their inlluence with the whole 
weight of his authority. These ministers, jealous 
of the popularity and ambition of Khan Khanan, 
remarked to the King, that the government of the 
Deccan could only be secured to his son Hussun 
Khan when the kingdom should be cleared of the 
power and influence of Khan Khanan. Feroze 
Shah, recollecting the prediction of Syud Mahomed 
Geesoo-duraz, determined, by causing his brother 
to be blinded, to prevent the possibility of his 

* Jloth names imply Yigilance. 
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ascending the throne. Khan Khanan, informed 
of this design, prepared for Hight. During the 
night, he went with his son, Alla-ood-Deen, to 
the dwelling of the holy Syud, to request his ad­
\'ice and blessing; \Yl10 taking the turban from his 
son Alla-ood-Deen's head, divided it into two 
parts, and tied one round the head of the father, 
and the other round his son, and then extending 
his hands over them, predicted sovereignty to both. 
Khan Khanan, after this ceremony, returned to his 
house; and having spent the remainder of the night 
in preparation for his departure, issued from the 
gates at dawn of day, with four hundred faithful 
companions. At the gate he was saluted with the 
title of King, by one or his earliest acquaintanc-e, 
a celebrated merchant named Khulf Hussuo, of 
J3ussora, who had heard of his intentions. 

Khan Khanan desired him to hasten to his own 
dwelling, lest he should be seen by the officers of 
the court, and suffer on his account. To this 
Hussun remarked, that to be a companion in the 
days of prosperity, and to cast the dust of incon­
stancy in the eyes of a friend in adversity, was 
unbecoming a virtuous man ; that while he had a 
spark of life he should be loath to quit his patron; 
and he hoped he would receive him among the 
number of his servants, and permit him to perform 
some service of importance. Khan Khanan, pleas­
ed with these professions of attachment, consented 
to Khulf Hussun accompanying him ; saying, that 
if he should ever attain the throne, Khulf Hussun 
should be his guide and minister. He then left 
the city, and in the evening arri,·ed at Khan-
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Khananpoor, the revenue of which town he vowed 
to assign to the use of the Syuds of Mecca and Me­
dina, ::--.Jujuf and Kurbul.a, should he become king. 

Hooshyar and nr.clar, on learning the flight of 
Khan Khanan, went with anxious impatience to 

. the King, and having obtained permission to go 
in pursuit, marched with expedition, attended by 
four thousand horse, and some war elephants. 
Khan Khanan proposed concealing himself till he 
could prevail on some of the nobility to support 
his cause: but his companion Khulf Hussun dis­
suading him, sent to Koolburga, Bidur, and Kul­
liany, from whence he procured a number of 
malecontents to join his standard. Some days 
passed in mo,·ing from place to place to avoid 
fighting, when, at last, the King"s ministers being 
reinforced, all hope of escape seemed cut oIT, the~ 
royalists being eight thousand strong, and the 
whole force of Khan Khanan not exceeding one 
thousand cavalry. In this crisis, a band of grain 
merchants, called in Hindoostan Bunjaras/' who 
were on their way from Berar with two thousand 
head of oxt=>n, encamped in the neighbourhood of 
Kulliany, as also three hundred horses, which 
some dealers had brought from Lahore for sale. 
Khulf Hussun, taking advantage of this incident, 
purchased them all, and making reel and green 
banners, after the custom of the Deccan, mounted 
a man with a flag on each ox. He placed a few 
cavalry in front of this mock force, with orders 

* For an account of this extraordinary but useful race of 
mercantile carriers, see Tranc;actions of the Literary Society of 
Bombay, vol. i. 

VOL. II.-5O. 
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to appear at a distance, when the engagement 
should commence, and to gi,·e out, that some chiefs 
had arrived from their estates to assist Khan 
Khanan. Khan Khanan at first regarded the 
scheme as childish, but at last consented to adopt 
it. In the morning, he moved slowly towards the 
King's troops, encouraging his own men, by de­
claring that certain noblemen were hastening tn 
join him, and were then only a few miles distant. 
Hooshyar and Bedar, also, dreading the event of 
his being reinforced, eagerly accepted the offer of 
battle, hoping by this means to prevent the jurn·­
tion of re.inf orcements. "\Vhen the action had 
begun, Khulf Hussun ad,·ancing his horse in front 
of the oxen, nnd wm·ing his banners, appPared 
marching from behind a wood at some distance, 
which mrl.de the enemy conclude that the expected 
chief:,; were arri\·ed to Khan Khanan ·s assistance: 
and a vigorous charge being made at the same 
instant, the right wing of the royalists broke in 
confusion. I-Iooshyar and Bedar, who were in the 
centre, seeing; thr.ir mr.n fly, and terrified at thr 
approach of the supposed succours, were routed 
and driven from the field, after ofTering a slight 
opposition. Khan Khanan, thus unexpededly 
\·ictorious, pursued the fug-i th,es, and after taking 
many elephants and horses, vvas shortly after joined 
by numbers of the royal troops from all quarters. 

Notwithstanding the King's indisposition and 
weakness, be cau<;ed the royal canopy to be raised 
over the head of his son, the Prince Hussun Khan; 
and having intrustecl the citadel to some faithful 
servants, put himself in a palankecn (being too 
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infirm to travel otherwise) at the head of many 
of the nobility, accompanied by four thousand 
horse, a vast number of foot, some artillery, and 
many elephants, to oppose his brother Khan I~ha­
nan. An engagement took place a few miles from 
the city. The part of the army in which was 
Feroze Shah being hardly pressed, a report pre­
vailed that he was killed; on which the officers 
and soldiers came over in great numbers to the 
standard of Khan Khanan. Hooshyar and Bedar, 
alarmed at the great desertion, Heel with the King 
towards the citadel, at the gates of which Feroze 
Shah recovered from a fainting fit into which he 
had been thrown from the alarm and fatigue. 

Khan Khanan, out of respect, ,~.rould not suffer 
the King to be pursued ; but when he heard of his 
being in the fort, marched to the capital, and en­
camped under the walls of the citadel. Hooshyar 
and Bedar, together with tl1e Prince I-fossun Khan, 
manned the works, and began to repel the besiegers 
with shot and arrows. A ball entering the tent of 
Khan Khanan wounded some persons sittiug near 
him, upon which he retreated to a greater distance. 
Feroze Shah, at length, calling his s011 Hussun 
Khan before him, observed, that empire depeudec.l 
on the attachment of the nobility and army; and 
as they had mostly declared for his uncle, he re­
commen<led him to refrain from farther opposition, 
which could only occasion public calamities. After 
which the King ordered the gates of the palace to 
be thrown open, and admitted Khan Khanan, with 
a number of his attendants. Khan Kha.nan ap· 
proaching the King's bed, bowed his head on 
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his feet, when Feroze Shah expressed pleasure 
at seeing him, saying, that he praised God for 
permitting him to behold his brother as sovereign, 
of which high dignity he was truly desen·ing; 
that paternal affection had uaturally made him 
wish his son for his successor, but as he was 
disappointed, he left his kingdom Lu God, and 
his son to his brother's care. Feroze theu 
begged of Khan Khanan to ascend the throne, 
and take care of his person for the little 
time he might remain his guest. Khan Khaua11, 
Shuval 5. 011 the same day, being the 5th of 
.\. 11. 825. Shll\·al, A. H. H25, put on the royal 
Sept. 15. tiara, first assumed by his brotl1er, and 

"· 0 • 1+2
:!- ascending the throne Feroza, caused 

himself to be styled Alunud Shah Bahmuny, com­
manding coins to be struck, and the Khootba tu 
be read, in his name. Ten days after this event, nu 

the 15th Shll\·al, Feroze Shah resigned 
Shu\•al 15· his soul to the guardiaus of Paradise, Sept. 25. 

and his budv was de1JOsited with ,rreat • b 
pomp and ceremony near the tombs of his ances-
1.ors. He reigned twenty-fo·e years, seven mouths, 
and f1f teen days. 

According.to tradition it is stated, aud I hm·c 
seen it in writing, that Ahmud Shah Bahmum·, at 
the instigation of his sister's son, Sheer Klm11, 
caused his brother Feroze Shah to be strangled, 
--but God only can kn~w the real truth. 
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Ahm1ttl Shaft retaiw; his predecessor's ministers­
assigns to tlte late King's so11 a palace for ltis reside11cc­
collects a,t • army of observation on ltis northern frontier, 
a11tl marclu:s south a.(ainst Dew Ray, Raja of Becja-
11uggur. The Raja of IVurungole makes common cause 
with Deil' Nay, but subsequently witlulraws his army.­
Dew Ray attacked by surprise-is taken prisoner, Im/ 
l:lfccts !,is escape.-Ah11wd S/wh lays waste tlte territory 
of Beljanug~·ur.--.1 band of llindoos ,'O,tJ to assassinate 
him-lie is surrounded, trnd 1w1T01t1/_11 escapes ,t•it/1 !,is 
liji:.-Grie1•011s famine in tlzc Deccan.-Tltt: King takes 
Wunwgolc, and slays the Raja.-A diamond mine dis­
covered at A"ullum.-Tlte King of :llalu•a attar'!.·.1· tlte Raja 
cif A-el,rla, who applies for aid to Al111uu( Shaft Balzmu11y.­
l·Var witlz the King of Jlfahva, in 1dzidz tltt: latter is tfr­

feated.-Pcace coucluded.-Tl1t: A"ing of .~fatwa renews 
tlzc attac/.: on Kcltrla-tl1c Raja is !.·illcd i11 action.-1,f,'ar 
renewed by .--llwwd Slwlt.-Peace mediated by the Ruler 
of Kandeislt.-T/1e Kwg dies. 

:\m.1t..:D Stt.\.11 un<ler:,luo<l well the adminis­
tration of ci\'il and militarv affairs. Followin•' 

0 

tlie policy of his brother, he paid great deference 
to Syuds, and to all learned and holy men, neg­
lecting nothing for their benefit an<l advantage. 
In the early part of his reign, on account oJ the 
predictions made by Syucl i\Iahomed Geesoo­
duraz, he showered fm·ours on that ,·enerabJe 
personage; and as the people generally follow 
the example of their King, the inhabitants of the 
Decca11 chose him for their guide in religious 

* He is, I believe, the only iustunce of a kiug of India 
bearing the title of Wully, or Saint. 
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affairs, so that his residence became a place ol' 
pilgrimage to all sects. The King withdrew his 
favour from the family of Sheikh Siraj-ood-Deen, 
and conferred it on tliat of the holy. Syud, to 
whom he granted in perpetuity se,·eral towns, 
villages, and extensive lands near Koolburga, an<l 
built for him a magnificent college not far from 
the city; and in the present day, though the 
country has passed from the family of Dahmuny 
to that of the kings of Beejapoor, yet most of the 
estates giYen by the former princes are still in 
possession of the Syud's descendants. The peo­
ple of the Deccan h,we such a respect for the saint, 
that a Deccauy, on being once asked whom he 
considered the greatest personage, the Prophet 
:.\Iahomed or the Syud, replied, with some surprise 
at the question, that although the Prophet was 
undoubtedly a great man, yet Syud l\Iahomec.1 
Geesoo-duraz was a far superior order of being. 

From the moment .\hmud Shah ascended the 
throne, he turned all his attention to improve his 
army, in order to be revenged of the Hay of Bec­
januggur for the i1l\'asions during the last reign. 
He appointed Khulf Hussun \iakeel-oos-Sultuuut, 
with the rank of an oHicer of twelve hundred horse, 
and as he was a mercliant, he also conferred on him 
the title of l\Iullik-oot-Toojar.* This title still pre­
,·ails in the J)eccau, where it. is esteemed one of the 
must honourable that can be bestowed. Khulf 
I-Iussun,admiring the fidelity of the ministers of the 
late King, thought them worthy of his confidence, 

* l\Iullik-oot-Toojar, literally, King, or Lord of the i\Ier­
chants .. 
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nnd interceded in their behalf; and the King, at 
his recommendation, honoured Hooshyar Ein-ool­
i\foolk with the title of Ameer-ool-Omra, confer­
ring on him the rank of an officer of fifteen hun­
dred horse/' and the gm·ernment of Dowlutabacl 
was given to Bedar Nizam-ool-Moolk, who was at 
the same time raised to the rank of two thousand. 
The highest order of nobility under the Bahmuny 
kings was confined to the dignity of commander 
of b,,vo thOL1sand, into which were admitted only 
the turufclars, or governors of the four principal 
divisions of the kingdom. From this rank thr. 
grades were continued clown as lo\\· as two hun­
dred, but none of less rank were esteemed noble . 
. \n ameer of a thousand had the privilege of carry­
ing tbe togha,t the alum (a bannPr), and drums, 

as insignia of his order. 
The late King's son, Hussun Khan, though legal 

heir to the sovereignty of the Decrnn, was (con­

trary to the opinions of the King's ministers, who 

~' This custom o[ giving military titles descripti,·e o[ the 
number o[ men commanded by each olfic.:er is of ,·cry old datr. 
in the East. In the Scriptures we read of captains of tens and 
o[ hundreds. The R01nans even had their centurions. The 
Tartars had and have their yooz-bashies and meen-bashies, 
heads of a hundred, and heads of a thousand men. Thi- Indian 
i\fahomedans brought the rnstom with them, and extended it 
to leaders of five thousand men, which was the highest spccilic 
rank; beyond that, they were termed surlushkur, or rnmmancler. 

1' The togh, or togha, is a pennon made of the tail of tl11:: 
cow of Thibct. The custom came into India with the Tartars, 
who also carried it into the \Vest, and it has become familiar 
to Europeans sincP. the establishment of the Turkish go,·ern­
ment at Constantinople, in the shape of bashaws of one, two, 
or three tails, or toghs. The European togha is_ of horse-hair. 
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advised his being strictly confined or put to death,) 
appointed an ameer of fixe hundred; and the 
palace of Ferozabad was assigned to him for his· 
residence, with an ample estate; permission was 
~lso granted for him to hunt or take his p]easurr 
within eight miles round his palace, without being­
restricted as to time or ceremony. As this Princ·r - ., 
was entirely devoted to his pleasures, he was morr 
satisfied with the liberty of indulging in them than 
with the charge of the gm·ernment. \Vhile his 
uncle lived, he enjoyed his ease, and no differencr. 
ever occurred between them; but he was after­
wards blinded and kept confined to the palace of 
Ferozabacl. 

\Vhen Ahmucl Shah Im.cl by his virtues impressrd 
on the minds of his people an attachment to his 
government, he stationed a strong force on the 
northern frontier of his dominio~, in the direc­
tion of Guzerat, to prevent i.1wasions from that 
quarter, and then marched towards the Carnatic 
with forty thousand horse. Dew Ray, ·without 
delay, collected his troops; and inviting the Ray of 
\Vurungole to come to his assistance, marched with 
a numerous army to the banks of the Toonghuclrn, 
i 11 the hope of extirpating the Mahomeclans. 

Ahmud Shah, arrivingon the opposite bank,sur~ 
rounded his camp with carriages, according to thr~ 
Turkish practice, to prevent the enemy's infantry 
from making night-attacks, and halted there for 
forty days ; during which time his light troops 
laid waste all the country of Dew Ray on the 
north hank of the river. By these man~uvres the 
King hoped to tempt the Hindoos to cross thP­
stream and gi,·e him battle on the grournl 
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whrre he had taken post, which he regard­
ed as advantageous, but all his efforts to this 

.end failed. At length, weary of delay, the I~ing 
called a council of war, and finding his officers 
unanimous for crossing the river, and attacking 
the enemy on their own ground, he resolved on 
doing so the next morni~g. It is proper to men­
tion that 1.he Ray of \Vurungole had previously 
deserted his ally, and withdrawn his troops. Lody 
Khan, .Adam Khan, and Dilawur Khan, marched 
during the night, and fording the ri,·er at a dis­
tance, reached the em·irons of the enemy's camp 
at day-light. The Ray was then sleeping, atti>nded 
only by a few persons, in a garden, close to which 
was a thick plantation of sugar-cane. A body of 
the Mahomedans entered the garden for plunder, 
and Dew Ray, being alarmed, fled, almost naked 
as he was, into the sugar-cane plantation. Here 
he was found by the soldiers, who taking him for 
a ,·illagi>r, loaded him with a bundle of canes, 
and obliged him to nm with it before them. Dew 
Ray, perceiving he was undiscovered, took up 
the burden readily, hoping that he should be re­
leased when he reached the enemy's camp, or be 
able to effect his escapP. 

They had not gone far, when an alarm spread 
through the camp of the Hindoos, that Ahmud 
Shah had crossed the river, and that the Ray was 
m1ssmg. The King entered the lines without 
opposition; and the soldiers who had taken Dew 
Ray, hoping to obtain more valuable plunder 
than sugar-cane, hastened to join their comrades, 

VOL. II.-51. 
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leaving him to shift for himself. Dew Ray fled, un­
noticed, and about noon came up with some of his 
officers, by whom he was recognised, and received 
with great joy. His army now began to re-assume 
some kind of order; but as he regarded the late 
accident as an ill omen, he laid aside all idea of 
engaging in the field, and fled to Beejanuggur. 

Ahmud Shah, without waiting to besiege the 
Hindoo capital, overran the open country; and 
wherever he went put to death men, women, and 
children, without mercy, contrary to the compact 
made between his uncle and predecessor, Mahomed 
Shah, and the rays of Beejanuggur. Whenever 
the number of slain amounted to twenty thousand, 
he halted three days, and made a festival in 
celebration of the bloody event. He broke down, 
also, the idolatrous temples, and destroyed the 
colleges of the bramins. During these operations, 
a body of five thousand Hindoos, urged by 
desperation at the destruction of their religious 
buildings, and at the insults offered to their <lei ties, 
united in taking an oath to sacrifice their lives in 
an attempt to kill the King, as the author of all 
their sufferings. For this purpose, they employed 
spies to observe his motions, that they might seize 
the first opportunity of accomplishing their end. 
It happened that Ahmud Shah while one day 
hunting, in the eagerness of the chase separated 
from his attendants, and advanced nearly twelve 
miles from his camp. The devoted infidels, 
informed of the circumstance, immediately hastened 
to intercept him, and arrived in sight of him when 
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even his personal attendants, about two hundred 
Moguls, were at some distance. The King, 
perceiving his enemies, galloped on in hopes of 
gaining a small mud inclosure, used as a fold for 
cattle, which stood on the plain; but he was so 
hotly pursued, that some broken ground in­
tervening, he was unable to cross it before his 
pursuers came up. Luckily for the King, some of 
his archers arriving at this instant, the enemy 
were checked, and the King had time to reach the 
enclosure. The infidels attempted to enter, and a 
sharp conflict ensued : the faithful repeated the 
creed of Islam, and swore to die rather than submit. 
On this occasion, Syud Hussun Budukhshy, Meer 
Ally Seestany, Meer Ally .Kabully, and Abdoolla 
Koord, distinguished themselves greatly, and be­
came entitled to the King's lasting gratitude. The 
little baud being mostly killed, or wounded, the 
assailants advanced close to the wall, which they 
began to break down with pickaxes and crowbars, 
so that the King was reduced to the last extremity 
of distress. At this critical juncture Abdool Kadur, 
the King's armour-bearer, made his appearance, 
with a body of troops, with whom he had left the 
camp in search of his master. The infidels by this 
time had effected a wide breach, and ,vere fighting 
hand to hand, when they found their rear suddenly 
attacked. The King now sallied from his position 
with his retainers, and after a severe conflict de­
feated the enemy, with the loss of a thousand men. 
Of the Mahomedans about five hundred were slain. 
Thus Ahmud Shah, by the providential aid 
afforded by Abdool Kadur, was raised, as it were, 
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anew from the abyss of annihilation to the enjoy­
ment of soyereignty. It is a remarkable coinci­
dence, and worthy of observation, that both the 
Hindoo and Mahomedan sovereigns, at the head 
of armies opposed to each other, should fall into 
such danger during the same campaign, and that 
both should escape uninjured. Ahnmd Shah, on 
his return to camp, raised Abdool Kadur to the 
rank of an officer of two thousand, and made him 
governor of Berar,-he also conferred on him the 
title of Khan Jehan; to which he added the 
appellations of life-bestowing brother, and faithful 
friend. Abdool Luteef, his brother, was also 
raised to the same rank, with the title of Azim 
Khan. All those persons who had any share in 
the King's deli\·erance were amply rewarded with 
titles and gifts. ~\.s the Mogul archers had been 
of great use on this occasion, he gave order:, to 
:.\Iullik-oot-Toojar to form a body of three thou­
sand, composed of the natives of Irak, Khorassan, 
l\fawur-ool-Nehr, Toorkistan, and Arabia, and 
commanded all his officers to exercise themseh-es, 
their children, and dependenb, in arrhery.i,, 

After this event, Ahmud Shah, having laid 
waste the whole country, marched to Beejanuggur, 
which he so closely blockaded, that the inhabitant:-, 
were reduced to the utmost distress; when Dew 
Ray, in order to spare his people, sent ambassa­
dors soliciting peace, which was· acceded to. They 
required that the Raja should send to the King's 
camp the arrears of tribute due for many years, 

* This passage strengthens my opinion, that neither guns 
nur musketry were used at this period. 
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laden on his best elephants, and conducted by 
liis son, with his drums, trumpets, and all other 
insignia of state. Dew Ray, deeming it unsafe to 
refuse compliance, deputed his son with thirty 
elephants laden with the treasure. The King 
caused some chiefs to go forth 1.o meet him : and 
after being led in ceremony through the market, 
and the principal streets of the camp, he was 
conducted to the presence. The King, after em­
bracing, permitted him to sit at the foot of his 
throne, and throwing over his shoulders a magni­
ficent mantle, and presenting him with a sabre set 
with jewels, gave him twenty beautiful horses of 
various countries, a male elephant, dogs for the 
chase, and a leash of hawks; to which last, the 
people of the Carnatic had been till then strangers. 
The army now marched from the vicinity of Bee­
januggur; and on its arri\·al on the banks of the 
Krishna the Ray's son was dismissed, and the 
troops returned to Koolburga. 

This year, no rain falling, a grievous famine 
was experienced throughout the Deccan; and mul­
titudes of cattle died on the parched plains for 
want of water. The King, in consequence, in­
creased the pay of his troops, and opened the 
public stores of grain for the use of the poor. 
The next' year, also, there being no rain, the peo­
ple became seditious, complaining that the present 
reign was unlucky, and the conduct of the Prince 
displeasing to God. The King was much alllic­
ted, and repaired to the mosque in state to crarn 
the mercy of heaven towards his subjects. His 
prayers were heard, and plentiful showers fell 
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shortly after·: those who had abused him now 
became loud in his praise, calling him Wully 
(Saint), and worker of miracles. The King re­
turned with joy and thanksgiving to his palace, 
amid the acclamations of his people, who con­
demned themselves for their rashness. 

In the year 828, the King, in order 
to punish the Ray of Wurungole for A,D. I421. 
joining the Ray of Beejanuggur, march-

A.II. 828, 

ed into his country, with the intention of conquer­
ing Tulingana. On his arrival at Golconda, he 
sent an army before him under Khan Azim, and 
halted with the main body for twenty-seven days. 
During this time, he received accounts that Khan 
Azim, notwithstanding his small force, had defeat­
ed the enemy, killed seven thousand Hindoos, and 
obtained possession of \Vurungole, the Ray having 
been slain in the action. The king moved to 
\V urungole, and took possession of those treasures, 
the accumulation of ages, which had till then 
been preserved from plunder. The King confer­
red on Khan Azim ten large and ten small 
elephants, a waist belt set with jewels, four strings 
of fine pearls, and a large sum of money ; after 
which he detached him to reduce the remainder of 
Tulingana, which he effected in the space of four 
months, and returned to join the King at \Vurun­
gole. Khan Azim was now left to reduce some 
strong posts in possession of the deceased Ray's 
heirs, while the King proceeded to Koolburga. 

In the year 829, Ahmud Shah 
marched to reduce a rebellious ze­A. D. 1425. 

A. H. 829. 

mindar of Mahoor, who still retained 
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several strong places which held out against his 
troops. The rebel soon submitted; but Ahmud 
Shah, though he had assured him of pardon, put 
him to death in violation of his promise, as soon as 
he fell into his hands, together with five or six 
thousand of his followers, compelling, at the same 
time, all the captive women and children to em­
brace the true faith. During this campaign, the 
King obtained possession of a diamond mine at 
Kullum, a place dependent on Gondwara, in 
which territory he rased many idolatrous temples, 
and, erecting mosques on their sites, appropriated 
to each some tracts of land to maintain holy men, 
and to supply lamps and oil for religious purposes. 
At this time he remained nearly a year at Elich~ 
poor, during which he constructed the fort of 
Gavul,* repaired the fortress of Narnala, and 
subsequently returned to Koo]burga. 

Sooltan Hooshung of 1\falwa, apprehensive of 
the approach of Alnnud Shah at this period, made 
proposals to Nursing Ray of Kehrla to enter into 
a confederacy against the Bahmuny monarch. 
The Ray not acceding to his proposal, Sooltan 
Hooshung twice invaded his country, but was 
repulsed with severe loss. In a third attack, how­
ever, he came so unexpectedly on Nurs;ng Ray, 

*The word construct should, perhaps, be rebuilt, or repaired. 
Had it been originally constructed by a Mahomedan prince, it 
would have received some other name; where11s that by which 
it is alone known sufficiently indicates not only its Hindoo 
origin but its antiquity, as belonging to the period of the ga­
vully or pastoral kings ; an account of whose dominion has 
been handed to us by tradition, but of whom no written 
accounts are to be found. 
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that, unable to collect his troops, he was obliged 
to remain within his fortress. On which occasion, 

A, II. 830. 
in the year 830, ~ ursing Ray petition­
ed Ah mud Shah for assistance ; obsery-

A. D. 142~ f 
ing, that from the_ day o his having 

submitted to become tributary to Feroze ~hah 
Ilahmunv he had not deviated from the path of 
obedienc~: that he was consiqered by all the 
neighbouring states as tributmy to his house; on 
which account, he trusted thr. King would not 
refuse his aid on the present occasion. Ahmucl 
Shah, acrorclingly, directed Khan Jehan, governor 
of Berar, to march to the succour of Kursin6 
Ray, and himself moved with seven thousan<l 
horse to Elichpoor, to be ready, if necessary, to 
support him. Sooltan Hooshung of Malwa, 
supposing that the King's absence from his army 
arose out of fear, aclYanced to Kelirla, and 
plundering thP surrounding country, was pleased 
to throw out taunting allusions on the subject of 
Ahmud Shah's inactivity; in consequence of which, 
the lattN marched rapidly to relieve Kehrla. 

At this time, sonw holy men represented to 
Ahmud Shah, that none of his ancestors had ever 
assisted infidels against true believers; that it was 
contrnry to the doctrines of the faith to do so, and 
should be m·oiclPd. The King, though within fortv 
miles of the enemy's camp, was forcibly struck with 
these remonstrances, and immediately halted1 writ­
ing, at the same time, to Sooltan Hooshung, that 
~ursing Ray being one of his dependents, it would 
be the means of promoting mutual friendship, if 
Sooltan Hooshung should desist from attacking 
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him and return to his own country. He also 
observed, that in consequence of the remonstrances 
of the holy men about his person, he was about to 
proceed to his own capital; and he began his 
retreat before the messenger had even arri,·ed in the 
enemy"s ramp. Sooltan Hooshung treated with 
contempt the communication of Ahmud Shah: 
and aware of his own superiority in numerical 
strength followed him so closely that he encamped 
daily on the ground the Deccanies had left in the 
morning. Ahmud Shah, roused by this conduct, 
told the holy men, that he thought he had already 
sufficiently shown his desire to regard the doctrines 
of the faith. ~\.ccordingly, ha,·ing orderrd his 
baggage to precPde thr army, he halted, and made 
disposition for battle. The command of his right 
wing was entrusted to I~han Jehan, and that of 
the left to Abcloolla Khan, grandson of Ismael 
Futteh Khan; and the Prince Alla-nod-Deen was 
placed in the centre. The King in person, with t"·o 
thousand chosen horse and twelve war-elephants, 
took post in ambush, to wait for the en<:>my. 

Sooltan Hooshung, unaware of these prepar­
ations, and being as yet unopposed, concluded the 
Deccanies were still flying before him : he therefore 
acl,·anced without any regard to order, and came 
up suddenly with the enemy. Hm·ing no time to 
form his troops, he charged in a confused manner 
with seventeen thousand men. \\Then the two 
armies were engaged, Ahmud Shah attadrnd him 
from the position wherein he was concealed, and 
with his elephants and two thousand men fell on 
the rear of the Malwa army, which, ronfounded 

YOL .. II,-_52. 
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between two attack, was panic-struck, and fled 
with precipitation. The Deccanies pursued, and 
slew about two thousand of the enemy, and took 
all their baggage. Two hundred elephants, to• 
gether with the women composing the haram* of 
Sooltan Hooshung, also fell into the King's hands. 
Nursing Ray, hearing of the defeat of the l\falwites, 
quitted his fortress, and intercepted them 
on their return through his country, and killed 
great numbers. Alunud Shah, though victorious, 
lamented the necessity of his attacking the 
Mahomedans; but haYing conferred handsome 
presents on the females and children of Sooltan 
Hooshung's family, sent them to Malwa, without 
demanding a ransom, escorted by some persons of 
rank, and confidential eunuchs. Nursing Ray 
came to pay his respects and congratulate thr 
King, accompanied by his sons ; and having pre­
vailed on him to visit Kehrla, entertained him 
sumptuously, and made rich offerings, among­
which were many ,·alua ble diamonds, rubies, and 
pearls. On his return, he attended the King as 
far as :.\fahoor, from whence he took leave, after 
hm·ing received honorary dresses and other marks 
of the royal favour. 

It is written in the history of l\falwa, that 
another battle happened between these two mon­
archs, on account of Nursing Ray's calling 
Sooltan Hooshung to his assistance, when Ahmud 
Shah besieged Kehr1a ; but as the writers of the 

* The word haram needs no further explanation : it signifies, 
literally, l101io111•, :\ Mussulman's wife and females are his 
honour, 
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Deccan do not record it, Goel only knows the 
truth. Ahmud Shah Bahmuny, on his return 
from this campaign, having arrived at Bidur, took 
the amusement of hunting; and coming to a 
beautiful spot, finely watered, resolved to found a 
city to be called Ahmudabad. A citadel of great 
extent and strength was erected on the ~ite of 
Bidur, * the c1ncient capital of the princes of the 
country, who, according to the Hindoo books, 
written fiye U1ousand-years c1go, possessed tl1e whole 
extent of Murhut, Carnatil-, and Tulingana. t 
Raja Bheem-Sein was one of the most celebrated of 
this house ; and the history of the loves of his 
daughter and Raja Nul, King of .i\Ialwa, are 
famous through all Hindoostan. The story of 
~ul and Dumun has been translated from the 
Hindoo language by Sheikh Feizy, into Persian 
verse, at the command of the Emperor Akbur . 

.Ahmud Shah, desirous of strengthening his 
family by alliances with foreign princes, asked in 
marriage the daughter of ~useer Khan Farooky, 
ruler of Kaudeish, who prided himself on his 
descent from Oomr Farook, for his son the Prince 

* The fortress of Bidur is of great ~trength, and its, ditches, 
excavated from the rock on which it stand:;, are among the 
most remarkable works in the Dcccan. I do not believe it was 
e\'er carried by storm. Some of the ruins in the town, and 
se\·eral of the mausolca in the suburbs, bespeak it to have been 
once a splendid city. Like every thing appertaining to the 
Mahomedan kingdoms of India, it is much dilapidated, and 
is falling rapidly into further decay. 

t It seems rather improbable that these three kingdoms were 
ever united under one 1:--Iindoo prince, though Didur might 
once have been .~ Hindoo capital. 
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Alla-ood-Deeu. Nuseer Khan. apprehensive of 
the power of his neighbour, the King of Guzerat, 
receiYed this offer favourably, and sent his 
daughter, in greal state, with the ambassadors b.l 
~\hmudabad Bidur, where .\.Immel Shah caused a 
palm.:e lo be prepared fur her, till she could be 
properly recei,·ed within the city. The nuptials 
were celebrated with nrnd1 magnificence, tlte 
ceremonials of which lasted for two months. 

At this period, the King· thought proper lt 1 

make adiYision of his territories among his children. 
Ramgir, i'vlahoor, and Kullum, with parl of Berar, 
were assigned to ~Iahmood Khan. To Dawood 
Khan he gave regal insignia, and sent him ,Yith a 
munber of the nobility lo establish himself in 
Tuliugana. The eh.lest prince, Alla-ood-Deen, 
being dedared heir-apparent, was entrusted with 
the general ::.uperinteutleuce of the affairs of the 
gm·ernmen t, with \\·horn was associated his younger 
brother ~fa.homed. On this occasion, the King 
required his ollicers to take oaths to ubsen-e thi-.; 
arrangement: \'ainly thinking to ensure by thi:-:. 
means that which it was impossible could ever 
last. On the :-,ame on.-asio11, l\Iullik-oot-Toojar, 
being raised to the rank of an officer of two thou­
sand, was appointed governor of Dowlutabad. 

f n the latter end of the year 833, tlw 
King ordered l\Jullik-oot-Toojar to A. ll. I p9. 
march into the country of Cancan, 

A. ll, 833, 

extending along the coast of the Indian ocean, in 
order to clear it of rebels and disturbers of the peace; 
where, in a short lime, he executed his instructions 
so fully, that he brought that country Ltmler 
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subjection, and sent ~everal elephants and camels 
loaded with gold and silver, the fruits of his 
<'Onquests, to court.* Ahmud Shah, in reward of 
his services, conferred on him a suit of his own 
robes, a sword set with jewels, and other gifts, 
surh as no sernmt of the house of Ilal1111unv had 

J 

before ever been honoured with. 
l\Iullik-oot-Toojar, from his excess of zeal for 

the King\• service, also oceupie<l the island of 
i\Iahim,t belongiug to the King of Guzerat; 
upon which Alnnucl Shah Guzeratty sent his sou, 
Zuffur Khan, with an army to retake it. The 
Kinrr of the Deccan c·onceh·itiu- it necessarv to D ' ..,. i::"" ,., 

cle[end tltc new conquest, also despatched his 
sou, .\lla-ood-Dee11, tu reinforce :\Iullik-oot-Too­
jar. Both armies remained some time eucampecl 
in sight of each other, 011 opposite banks of an 
inlet of the sea, without either having the bold­
ness to attack. At lengtl1 the health of the Prince, 
Alla-ood-Deen, being affected by the unwholesome 
air and \\"ater of the L'Ountry, he remo\"e<l some 
days' journey for a change of air. Zuffur Khan, 
the Guzerat prinee, during his absence, attacked 

* Il seems very uuublful if the whole of the Coucan hatl 
ever been attacked before this perio<l, and this exploit seems 
tu have been rather a marauding expedition than a conqum,t. 
The ports o[ Dabul auu Choul are spoken of at a very early 
period as in the hands of the ~Iahumcdans; but whether they 
occupied much of the interior of the country appears very 
questionable. 

1" Bombay. This attack seems to have been very unjus­
tifiable, and its result led to nothing but a series of disgraceful 
ddeats, on the part of the Deccanies, both there and in other 
quarters. 
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·1\follik-oot-Toojar, and after a desperate battle, 
the brother of the Deccan general was taken 
prisoner, two oHicers of high rank were killed, 
and the army received a total defeat; while the 
whule of the camp equipments, including tents, 
elephants, and horses, fell into the hands of the 
(iuzeratties. Jn the Towareekh Mahmood Shahy 
it is state<l, that the Prince Alla-ood-Deen was 
present in this action, and displayed proofs of 
great bn:tYery; but as \·ictory depends not solely 
on human exertions, both he and Mullik-oot­
Toojar were obliged to 1ly with precipitaion. 

l\Ieanwhile A.hmud Shah Ilahmuny, in a short 
lime after this defeat, hc:wing recruited his forces, 
marched towards Guzerat /' and _\.hmud Shah 
c;uzeratty did not fail to meet him. The Dec­
canies, iu the first instance, laid siege to a hill­
fort t in Duglaua: but the King, on hearing or 
ll1c enemy's approach, raised the siege, and moved 
to oppose him. The two armies lay near each other 
for some time inactiYe, till at length the learned 
men on both sides effected a reconciliation ; and 
it was agreed that each should rest satisfied with 
the districts and forts in his possession, nor m 
future molest the territories of the other. 

The author of the Towareekh Alfy relates, 
that in the year 835 Ahmud Shah 
Balnuuny, hearing that the Prince 

.\. j), l-J-3 I. 
Mahomed Khan, son of the King of 

A, II. 835. 

Guzerat, was employed on a distant expedition to 
* The Deccan army proceeded through Gungturry into 

Kandeish. 
·t Tumbolu. 
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Nundoorbar, mar<'hed ngainst him; upon which 
Ahmud Shah Guzeratty hastened to assist his son ; 
but the Deccanies, on his approach, retreating 
four marches, the King of Guzerat returned 
towards his capital, and encamped on the banks 
of the Tapty. Here he learned that the Deccanies 
had laid siege to Tumhola, upon which he mm·ecl 
against them; and an engagement ensued, which 
lasted from morning till sunset ,vithout being 
decided in fa,·our of either army: hut both the 
Kings, during the night, retreated to their own 
country, without having previously made pear.e. 
Other historians have also related the particulars 
of the siege of Tum bola: but as transcribing them 
all would occasion usele~s prolixity, I pass them 
over. 

In the year 836, the fort or citadel 
of :\.hmudabad Bidur, built with stone, 

.\, D, 1432. 
was finished; on which occasion the 

A. II, 836. 

King ordered public rejoicings. In the same year, 
also, he put to death his sister's son, Sheer Khan,* 
whom he regarded as a dangerous riYal to the 

interests of his own children. In the 
,\, II, 837. year 837, Sooltan Hooshung of Mahva, 
,\, D. LU3• 

taking advantage of the war between 
the kings of Guzerat and the Decran, again 
invaded the country of Nursing Ray, whom he 
slew in battle. He also reduced the fort of 
Kehrla and its dependent territory. On receiving 

* This is the person who is accused of having instigated the 
King to cause his elder brother Feroze to be strangled; and 
aware of his sanguinary disposition, he naturally concluded 
him to be a dangerous rh•al to the thronP, 
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intimation of these events, ~\.hmud Shah Bahmuny 
marched towards the l\falwa arnw, hut Nuseer 
Khan Farooky, ruler of Kandeisli, interfering, 
induced the two kings to forego hostilities; ancl 
after some negotiation, it was resolved that the 
fort of Kehrla should belong to Sooltan Hooshung; 
of Mahya, and the province or Bernr to Ahmud 
Shah Bahmuny. A treaty was accordingly 
concluded to this effect; and being sworn to in a 
solemn manner, the two kings returned to their 
several rapitals. Not long arter this period, the 
King marched into Tulingana, to quell an 
insurrection of some powerful Hindoo chiefs, 
whom, in a short time, he reduced to obedience. 

On returning towards his capital, and when 
"·ithin one march or .'\hmudabad Bidur, the 
Kingconferreclon Syud Nasir-cod-Deen Kurbulay* 
fh·e thousand tunlrns of silve.r for himself, and 

. thirty thousand to be distributed in alms among 
the holy men at Kurbula. This is the same person 
whom Ahmud Shah is said to have shortly before 
seen in a dream personating the last of the 
prophets (:\fahomcd), and of whom Sheikh .::\zury 
speaks so highly in his works. At this period, 
the King sending for ~asir-ood-Deen gave him 
his audience of learn to proceed to Kurbuln. 
After this ceremony, the holy man was passing 
on his way home on horseback, and came to a 
spot where one Sheer Mullik, an officer of rank, 
was sitting with several others. The Syud, 

* A native of Kurbula, in Mesopotamia, the spot on which 
Hoossein, the grandson of the prophrt Mahomecl, was killrcl, 
and where he lies interred. 
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without noticing them, attempted to pass; but 
Sheer Mullik, offended at his not dismounting, 
directed· his attendants to drag him to the 
ground.* Syud Nasir-ood-Deen, incensed at this 
insult, went instantly and complained t.o the 
King, who pacified him at t.he time, by saying. 
that God and the Prophet would, on a fit occasion, 
avenge his cause. Some time after, on the King's 
arrival at Ahmudabad Bidur, on the occasion of 
breaking up his army, when it is usual to distribute 
honorary robes to the officers previous\y to their 
return home, the King's eyes fell on Sheer i\Iullik; 
and recollecting, at the instant, the insult he had 
inflicted on Syud Nasir-ood-Deen, the King caused 
an elephant, named Kussab (t.he Butcber), to be 
brought, and reminding Sheer Mullik or his conduct 
to Syud Nasir-oocl-Deen, ordered that he should be 
thrown undertheanimal'sfeet, which in one minute., 
crushed him to death, where he lay c1s lifeless as if 
he had been dead a hundred years. · 

Rujub 28. 
,\, II, 838. 
Feb. 19. 

A. n. 1+35. 

Ahmud Shah \Vully Dahmuny reign­
ed twelve years and two months, and 
died on the 2Kth dm· of Rujub, A. H. . . 

838. i" 

*The overhearing insolence of the military nobles in Oriental 
governments is strongly pourtmyed throughout this trnnsac­
tion, while the respect shown by Ahmud Shah Wully to holy 
personages is powerfully exhibited, also, in the sequel. 

1" The date on his tomb at 13idur is simply 839 : the period 
at which the mausoleum was, probably, completed. On the 
door is the following inscription:-

" Should my heart ache, my remedy-is this­
" A cup of wine, and then I sip of bliss.'' 

VOL. II.-53. 
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It is related that he paiu. great deference to holy 
and learned personages. As an instance of which, 
he deputed two holy men from his court to proceed 
to Kinnan in Persia, in order to solicit Shah 
Neamut Oolla to return with them to India. 
These persons were Sheikh Hubeed-oolla-Jooneidy 
and Meer Shums-ood-Deen of Koom. Shah 
Neamut Oolla received the deputation with great 
honour ; and though he declined proceeding in 
person to India, he directed one of his favourite 
disciples, Moolla Kootb-ood-Deen of Kinnan, to 
accompany the deputies on their return, intrusting 
to his charge a box, containing a green crown with 
twelve points, for Ahmutl Shah. On the return 
of the embassy, the King went forth to meet it; 
and on seeing l\Ioolla Kootb-ood-Deen, he 
exclaimed, "Behold, this is the self-same dervish 
"I saw in a dream before I ascended the throne, 
"and who presented me with a green crown, 
"having twelve points! If the box he bears should 
"contain the green crown I saw in my sleep, then, 
"indeed, will my dream be miraculously fulfilled."' 
On the holy man approaching and presenting the 
crown, the King was overcome with astonishment. 
The ,·enerable Moolla told the King to be under 
no surprise nor apprehension, for that the crown 
he had seen was the identical crown he now pre­
sented to him, and that he, indeed, was the very 
bearer of it.* Shah Neamut Oolla, in addressing 

0 The coincidence between this storv and that tol<l of Alex­
ander the Great, recognising the hig!/priest of the Jews at 
Jerusalem ns the person he had bPfofe seen in a <lr<'am is rP.-
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the King, styled him, in his letter, Shahab-ood· 
Deen Ah mud Shah ,vully, which so flattered him, 
that he adopted the:;e title; on his signet ever after. 
In return for tl1e visit of Moolla Kootb-ood-Deen, 
the King depute<l Khwaja Imad-ood-Deen 
Sunmany and Seif-oolla Ahsunabady to proceed 
a second time to Kinnan, and to entreat Shah 
Neamut O.Jlla to send one of his sons to the 
Balununy court. The saint, however, ha\·ing but 
one son, Shah Klrnleel Oolla, he only permitted 
his grandson, Meer Noor O.Jlla, to proceed to 
the Deccan. 

On the young man's arrival at the port of 
Choul, the King sent his own palankeen, escorted 
by Meer Abool Kasirn Joorjany and Syud 
l\IahomcJ Sudr 1.o attend him to the capital. On 
his reaching its Yicinity, Ahmud Shah, attended 
by his sons, went fortl1 to meet him ; and having 
caused a mosque anj a village to be erected on the 
spot, caused it to be called Nefonutabftd. Some 
time after, the King conferred the title of l\lullik­
ool-Mushayik (the Chief of holy ~Ien) on the 
grandson of Shah ;\leamut Oolla. He caused 
him, also, to sit above all other chiefs at the 
durbar, not e\'en excepting the descendants of 
Syud Mahomed Geesoo-Duraz. In 1.he course of 
1.irne, too, the King gave his daughter in marriage 
1.o Meer Noor Oolla. 

On tl~e demise of Shah Neamut Oolla, in the 
year 83+ (A. D. 1+31), his son, Shah Khuleel 
Oolla, together wi1.h all his family, came to India. 
markable. . Ahmutl Shah llahnumy was as desirous of being 
considered a wully, or saint, as Alexander to be thought the 
son of Jupiter. 
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His second son, Shah Mohib Oolla (brother of 
Meer Noor Oolla), rose to great distinction in the 
Deccan as a military commander; and for his 
setTices he not only recei\·ed the district of Beer 
as a maintenance, but also obtained in marriage 
the hand of the King's grand-daughter, the 
<laughter of the Prince ~\lla-ood-Deeu. The 
district has e\·er since continued in the family of 
these distinguished holy personages ; aud the 
mam,oleum built on the outside of the town of 
Beer, which is now standing, was intended to 
receiYe the ashes ofthose \Tenerable saints. 

By his military enterprises, Shah Mohib Oolla 
acquired the appellation of Ghazy, "The holy 
",varrior." 
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The King's brother, t/11.: Pri,w: illeihomucl, is sent rvith 

flll army to dem.rntl tlte Be~j1wug.1;111· tribufr.-T/111 Prine,: 

proposes to t/1e King's ministers in his camp to assist him 

i11. declaring /,is indi:pende11ce-thcy remonstrate, 1rnd arc 

ass,issinated.-T/1e Raj,i of Bee_jamegguraids the Prince, 

111ho takes Jfoodku!, Rachorc. Bee_japoor, Nu/drool{, a1Ul 

Sho!apoor.-Thc Pri11Ct: is tlefcatetl, and is compelled to 

11ccept of Raclwrc as a11 eq11ivalc11t.for tin· territory he lws 

1tsurpetl.-The Cu11ctt11 iwvad::d. ,rnd p,irti11!(1• rcduced.­

Nevolt in Bcri!r, 711/iiclt is suppresst!d by i11u!lik-oot-To~jar 

wit/1 an tU'llt)' cJmposi•d chiefly of forr11:1;11 fro{)ps -Tht1 

fore1:[;llt:rs aru directed to take precedence of t/1e Dcccanies 

at court.-T!te Raja of Bce_janug:e;ur enlists ilfa/1omtldan 

soldiers in his tlrlll_l'-makes war 11•itlt t/11: King of 1111.! 

JJecc,w.-Tlzrec se,·erc actions foug·ht.-Peiice e_fcctcd.­

J/ullik-oot-Toojar proceeds to conquer the Conca11---his 

army i-s destroyed, and !tc liimsclf dics.--·lni111rJsit_11 of the 

Deccany ~fficers atainst tlie foreigners.-T!te King's i11-

d~fere11cc to public lmsim:ss-is tf:tJ!ided ,,·ith a painful 

disease-rumours of !u's death .-l11surredious in Bcrar 

and Tu!i11ga11a.-lnmsiou b)' t/1e King· of !1/ahm.­

Jli!itary arr1111gemc11fs for t/1e defence~/' the kin,!;dom.­

T!,e Kin,[{ dies-l1is clltfrader. 

ALLA-oov-DEEN SHAU ascended the throne at 
Ahmudabacl Bidur, agreeably to the will of his 
father. He di<l uot ueglect his brother Mahomecl 
I{han,' but allowed him elephants, horses, ancl con­
siderable estates. He appointed Dilmvur Khan, 
one .of the first oIIicers of the court, to be his 

·minister, with the title of Vakeel-oos-Sultunut, 
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and Khwaja Jehan Astrabady to be vizier. Imad­
ool-Moolk Ghoory, an ancient chief, who, after 
performing great seLTices to the royal family, had 
retired from business, was prevailed on to accept 
the office of Ameer-ool-Omra, and he was 
despatched, together witl! his brother Mahomed 
Khan and Khwaja Jehan, with a powerful army, 
against the infidels of Beejanuggur ; the Raja of 
which had withholden the tribute for five years, 
and now re[used to pay the arrears. This army 
laid waste th~ country, a11d committed great 
devastation; and the Raja only obtained peace by 
givin { u;_1 tw ~:1ty clcp1.1T1t-;, a 1.· ).1 '.iid~L".1.ble s um of 
money, and two hundred females, skilled in music 
and dan(·ing, for the King, b=~ides ntluable pre­
sents which he made to the Prince 1\fahomed Khan. 

Ou the return of the army near Moodkul, 
s1J111e discontented offic1;rs represented lo Mahometl 
Khan, that as his father had nm.de him a partner 
in llie kingdom during his life, it was but just 
that ~\lla-ood- Deen Shah should either admit 
him to sit with him on the throne, and have the 
joint management of stale a[airs, or that ltc 
should make a division of the territories between 
thr.m: but as the King showed no disposition to tlo 
either, his advisers obse1Yed, that the Prince had 
a right by force of arms to possess himself of half 
the kingdom. Mahomecl I{han, entering into these 
Yiews, endea\·ourecl to persuade Khwaja Jehau, 
as also Imad-ool-Moolk Ghoory, to counteu­
ance his designs ; both these officers, howc,·er, 
strenuou:;ly refusi11g to lend themselves to hi::-. 



.\LLA·OOD·DEEN SHAH TIAII'.\IU~Y II. 423 

project, and setting before him the criminality of 
his intentions, the Prince caused them to be 
assassinated. After which, having procured a 
considerable army from the Ray of Beejanuggur to 
aid him, he seized upon l\foodkul and Rachore, ns 
well as on Sholapoor, Beejapoor, and Nuldroog. 

Alla-ood-Deen Shah was more affected at the 
death of Imad-ool-l\Ioolk Ghoorv than at am· 

J ., 

other part of these proceedings; observing, that 
he had performed invaluable services for the state, 
that he was dear to him as his father, and that he 
was certain no good ,votdd come to the murderct: 
of so worthy 8nd distinguished a personage. Mea­
sures were now taken for collecting the King's 
troops, and large sums of money expended in equip­
ments; after which, the Ki_ng marched from the 
capital to engage the rebels. A severe conflict 
shortly after ensued between the brothers, when 
dctory declared in favour of Alla-oocl-Deen Shah. 
?\lost of the officers who had exci tecl the insurrection 
were taken prisoners, while the Prince Mahomed 
Khan fled, with a few attendants, to the hi]Js and 
,voods for shelter. The King, mean time, returned 
to the city of Ahmudabad· Biclur, and after par­
doning the crimes of sernral of the guilty officers, 
he released them from confinement. Dy assurances 
of forgiveness and safety, also, the King prevailed 
on his brother to deliver himself up. On his 
arrival, he was received with affection, and not 
long after obtained the fortress and re,·enue of 
the territory of Rachore, vacant by the death of 
his brother) Prince Dawood, governor of Tulin-
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gana. Here the Prince i\Iahomecl Khan lived 
many years ~n the undisturbed possession of his 
estate, spending his time in a series of pleasures. 
Mohurrum 1• On the 1st d.iy of the year 840, 

8 :\lla-ood-Deen Shah conferred robes ,\. JI, .~o. 
July 15. of honour on Dilawur Khan, and 

.\. n. q3G. intruste<l him with an army to reduce 
the tract of country along the sea-shore called 
Concan, inhabited by a hardy race o[ men. The 
rajas of Rairee and Sonkehr/'! being soon humbled, 
agreed to pay regular tribute; and Dilawur Khan, 
haviug ser.ured the beautiful daughter of the latter 
ra~a for the King, returned to the capital accom­
panied by her, and with some years' arrears of 
tribute. The King at first was pleased at hisser­
,·iees, and charmed with the Raja':-, daughter, \\'hn 

wa-s with9ut equal in hrauty, disposition, rrnd 
knowledge of music. He gave her the title of 
Perichelira, t and the fame of their loves becamr. 
notorious. At length, learning that Dilawur Khan 
had recei,·ecl bribes from the rnjas of Cancan, and 
had not done his utmost to reduce their fortresses, 
he ·became cool. towards that minister, who of 
his own accord resigned the seals ol' office, and by 
so doing s8xed himsf"lf from clanger. This 
important situation was now filled by the eunuch 
Dustoor-ool-Moolk; but all ranks of people soon 
b~came disgusted with his insolent beh~viour, 

* Sonkehr. The situation of this place ha.s not been asccr­
··ta i1nd, _-and may, probably, be ;m error in the !\TSS. I hn,·r 
consulted. · 
· t Fairy Face. 
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whi<'h, thoug!1 daily r.cprescntccl to the King, 
'nifl,cle no impression on his 1nii1d. AlJa-ood-Deen 
Shah regarded these complaints as proceeding from 
envy, and the -result of a faction, on which account 
he sho.wec.l him c~n~ry clay grenter fm·our. At 
leagth Hoonw.yonn, the King's son, desiring the 
r.unuch to accede to some petition which he liacl 
hroi_1ght l'orward, he-' rc-~plied he could not attend to 
it i 1111nediateh-, but in a dav or two would take it . .. 
into his consideration. .'\t the expiration of two 
or thn-'e clays, the Prince again sent him word 
that the business was still unfrnishec.l, and desiring 
that hr. would <'.onclude it without delay. The. 
minister returned for answer, that the case did not 
mme within the Prince's department, nnd that it 
was unbecon'l.ing- in him to interfere. 

· The PrincP, m1turally violent, lost his temper, 
at this affront, and calling one o[ his attendants, 
ordered him io assassinate the eunuch; at the samr. 
time, he promised to protect him from tlw con­
sc>quences. The soldier, who had himsrlf sufferf'<l 
som~ injury fro:n the minister, accepted thr 
<"·ornmission; and .accordingly, on i!ie same dny, 
while Dustoor-ool.-1\-Ioolk was coming from· the 
<·ourt, the assassin approached him as if about to 
present a petition, when suddenly drawing a 
dagger from his girdlP, he stabbed him to the 
hrmt. Thr Prince·s guards, who were prepared 
l'nr thP. P-,·ent, favoured the murderer's escape, 
and a scume arose in consequence between them 
and the minister's attendants. The noise reached 
the King's apartments, and the Prince Hoomayoon 

VOL. II,-54. 
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went out ns ir to cnquirr. the cause of the disturb­
ance. On his return, he informed thf' King tha1. 
n soldier of long sen-ice, and who had c1aims on 
the royal favour, having been contemptuously 
treated bv Dnstoor-ool-Moolk, and having, now 
especially, suffered abusive language from him, hc1d 
stabbed him, and was seized by the troops, who 
waited orders concerning bis disposal. Tlu~ King, 
who throughout his reign was averse to pass sen­
tence of drath on any one, and suspecting the real 
truth from the Prince's manner, merely dirf'cted 
the murderer to be confined, and conferred th<' 
vacant office of minister on Meamun Oolla Dct·­
cany, one of the lem-ned men of tlH' time ol' 
Feroze Shah. 

In the year S+r, l\follika Jehan, 1 br 
Ki.ng's wife, (the daughter of Nusrer 

.\. D. 1 ·137· 
Khan, ruler of Kandeish,) jealous of her 

husband's preference to Perichehra, :md offenclrd 
with his coldness towards herself, wrote 1Pt1ers of 
complaint to her father. .\'useer Khan, making 
this a plea to wage war with Alla-ood-Deen Sbr.1h, 
and being supported by Ahmud Shah of Guzera t, 
projected the conquest of Berar. He accordingh­
macfo priYate overtures to the officers of that 
province, promising them great rewards if they 
would join his standard. His off P.rs met with snch 
success, that the Deccan chiPfs unanimoush­
resolvecl to join him; observing, that as hewn·~ 
descended from the g-reat Oomr, if they fell in 
battle fighting against his enemies, they should 
<lir martyrs. ~useer Khan accordingly cnterPrl 
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Berar wilh all lhe troops of l~andeish, a c.;onsi­
derable (orce having been also sent to his aid by 
the Raja of Gondwara. The treacherous officers 
attempted to seize their governor, Khan Jehan, 
who wns too firmly attached to the house of Bah­
muny to join the invaders; and he, obtaining'_in­
rormation or their designs, fled to the fortress of 
Narnala, where he shut himself up, and ,vrute 
accounts of the state of affairs to his court. The 
traitors, meanwhile, joined Nuseer Khan, and 
not. only read the Khootba in his name, as King 
of Berar, but marched with him to besiege 
Narnala. 

Alla-oo<l-Deen Shah, on receiviug this intelli­
gence, ea] led a couuci I of his ministers and mili­
tary chiefs, lo concert measures for acting at 
such a nilical moment. It was recommended that 
the King should proceed in person against the 
enemy, it being probable that both the kings of 
Guzerat and l\falwa, as also the rays of Gond­
wara, were prepared to aid in a~sisting Nuseer 
Khan. The King, hO\ve,·er, suspecting the 
fidelity of his chiefs, appoiutccl l\Iullik-oot-Toojar, 
then governor of Dowlutabad, to rnnduct the 
campaign. 

Mullik-oot-Toojar haYiug accepted the com­
mission, observed,. that servants had no option 
but submission, and it was their duty to resign 
even life itself at the command of their masters; 
but he observed, that it was notorious ihe defeat 
al i\Iahim (Bombay) was occasioned solely by 
the enmity of the Dercany and Abyssinian offieerti 
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towards him, since they could not bear to see a 
foreicrner * disting-uish himself. He humblv 

0 ~ -

requested, therefore, that tl1e Kiug- would, on the 
presenl occasion, ~i,·e him tlte command of the 
houselwltl troops, and all the foreigners, without 
anv Deccanies or .\byssinians, when he trusted, 
by the blessiug of the Almighty, and the royal 
auspice~, he should be able lo bri11g affairs in Bcrar 
to a prosperous issue. .-\lla-ootl-Deen Shah rnu­
senting, directed three thousand Mogul bowm1.:11 
from the body-guard tu attend him, as also mauy 
Mogul officers, who had been brought up in the 
service of Feroze Sliah and Ahmucl Shah. Amoug 
these guards were two princes, :\fojnoon Sooltan 
and Shah Koolly Sooltau, both lineal descendants 
from the great conqueror Chungiz Khan. l\Iullik­
oot-Toojar proceeded, in the lirst pla<'e, to Dow­
lutabad, from whence he despatched an army ol' 
observation to the frontiers of Guzerat and l\Ialwa, 
and t.:ntered Ilerar witli a well equipped army of 
sc,·e11 thousand rnteran l.\lo?{uls ; t Khan Jehan, 
abn, having found an opportunity of quitting :'.'far­
uala, joined the King's army at :\Iehkur. i\Jullik­
oot-Toojar now detached Khan .Tehan with his 

,,. Khulf Hussun. ~lullik-out-Toujar, it hus been bcforl' 
stated, was a foreign merchant. The hostility of the l lcccanie~ 
and Abyssinians to the Pcn,ians and Toorks seems to haH' 
prerniled throughout the long period of the reign of the Deccan 
kings. 

t Mogul is the appdlati1m gh·en by the I )ecrnny historian:, 
to all tlu: foreign Mahomcdans, whether Arabs, Persians, or 
Tartars, whereas, the name ought strictly to be confined to one 
particular race. 
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troops to Elichpoor, in order to prevent the Ray 
uf Gondwara from entering: Derar hv that route ,.., .,J , 

while himself moved with the main body towards 
tile Rohunkehra Ghat, where the enemy was en­
l'amped. At the foot of the pass, he was opposed 
by a detachment of Kandeish troops, whom he 
routed ,vith great slaughter; and Nuseer Kl1a11 1 

thiuking this defeat an ill omen, retreated with 
precipitatio:1 to Boorhanpoor, to which city he was 
pursued by i\follik-oot-Toojar; and not thinking 
himself safe even at that capital, he llecl to the 
fortress of Lulling.1

'
1 

l\Iullik-oot-Tooja,, lwxing levied heavy contri­
butions from the citizens of Doorhanpoor iu jewels, 
money, and effects, proceeded to lay waste the 
prm·inre of Kandeish; which having clone to the 
extent of his wisl,es, lie returned to Boorlianpoor, 
burned dmvn the royal palaces, and dug up their 
foundations, and then marched as if towards the 
Del'l'an; but during the night, having changed his 
route, he made one [arced march, and appeared 
suddenly before Lulling with four thousand horse. 
Nuseer Khan, who had with him tweh·c thousand 
!Ueu, thinking- he must ha,-c the advantage over an 
enemy inferior not only in numbers, but exhausted 
with fatigue, gave battle. The Kandeish troops, 

* This little, and now insignifii-anl, fortress seems to han: 
been the most formidable of the retreats of Nuscer Khan. 
Buglana, with its hundred hills, was yet unsubclued by the 
!\lahomedans; hut it seems strange he should not have taken 
refuge in i\scer, where, had he been prepared, he might have 
bidden defiance to the Deccan army. 
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hmvevcr, were totally defeateJ, and many of Nuseer 
Khan's principal ol1icers, together with the rebel 
chief~ of Berar, were slain: while Mullik-oot­
Toojar having secured a large booty, part of which 
consisted of seventy elephants and some artillery, 
returned in triumph towards Alunudabad Bidur. 

On his approach, Alla-ood-Dcen Sltal1, tu 
mark his sense of the meritorious services of Iii~ 
general, sent the Prince Hoomayoun, attended 

. by all the court, to meet him at a rnnsiderablc 
distance from the city; where, on his arri,·al, ll1l' 

King gave him a suit of the royal robes, an eleph­
ant, and a sabre set with jewels, with permission it i 
retire to his goyernmen1. of Dowlutabad. :\t the 
same time, all the chiefs who had accompauiecl 
him were gratified with titles, promotion, and 
grants of lands. Tu Shah Kuolly Suoltau, \rhu 
had particularly distingui~hed himself, the Kiu~ 
gan· his daughter in marriage: and ordered that 
the !\Iogub should, in future, take pret·ede1we ul' 
the Deccanies and ;\byssinians. From tl1e clav uf . ., 
thi~ distinction till the present time the most rooted 
im-etcracy has existed between the Decra11ies and 
:.\fo~uls, which the former haYc evinred 011 all 
occasions, when opportunities offered . 

. \bout this time, Dew Ray of Beejauuggur 
:.,ummoned a council of his nobility and principal 
lmunins; observing 1.o them, that as his countrv 
(the Carnatic), in extent, population, and revenu~, 
far exceeded that of the house of Bahmuny, an<l 
also as his army was more numerous, he request ell 
them to point out the cause of the successes of tlie 
:\·lnhomedans, and of liis being reduced to pay 
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them tribute. Some said, that the Almighty had 
dP.creed to them a superiority over the Hincloos for 
thirty thousand years, a circumstance which was 
foretold in their own writings; that it was on 
this account, therefore, the Hindoos were generally 
subdued by them. Others said, that the superiority 
of the i\foslems arose out of two circumstances : 
first, that their horses were stronger, and able to 
endure more fatigue than the weak animals of tll<' 
Carnatic; secondly, that a great body of excellent 
archers was always maintained in pay by the kings 
of the house of Bahmun_v, of whom th<' Ray had 
hut [ew in his nrmy. 

Devv Ray, upon this, gaye or<lers to enlist l\Ius­
sulmans in his sen·i<'e, allotting to them estates, 
and erecting a mosque for their use in the city of 
Beejanuggur.* He also commanded that no one 
should molest them in the exercise of their religion, 
and, moreover, he orderr.cl a Koran to be placed 
before his throne on a rich desk, so that the faith­
ful might perform the ceremony of obeisance in 
his presence without sinning against their laws.t 
He ;:i,lso made all the Hindoo solrliers learn the 

" This is a curious and instructin:! fact, and shows that strong 
inducements of interest will, at all times, overcome the repug­
nance the Hindoos ha,·e to associate with strangers. It is difficult 
to conceive a stronger instance than this of a Hindoo raja enlisting 
~'.[ussulmans to oppose their brethren in arms. 

t The Mussulmans, too, Imel compunctions in bowing to an 
infidel, who, to humour thcm, allowed a Koran to be put before 
him, and they saluted it, while the Raja chose to t,tke the com­
pliment to himself: so that the feelings of both parties werl' 
spared, 
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art of archery; to which both he and his officers 
so applied themseh-es, that he could soon muster 
two thousand i\Iahomedans and sixty thousand 
Hindoos well skilled in archery, besides eighty 
thousand cm·alry, and two hundred thousand 
infantrv, armed in the usual manner with pike's 
and lances. 

·with this host, he resol-<:ed on conquering the 
Ilahmuny kingdom; and, accordingly, in the yrar 

847, having crossed the Toongbmlra 
suddenly, he took the fortress of Moocl­

A. D. 1443, 
kul, sent his sons to besiege Rachoreancl 

.\, H. 847. 

·Bunkapoor, and encamped with his army along the 
bank of the Krishna. From hence he sent detach­
ments which plundered the country as far as Sagm 
and Beejapoor, laying it waste with fire and sword. 
:\lln.-ood-Deen Shah, on receiving intelligern·c 
of these events, prepared to repel the in\'asion, 
n.nd commanded all his troops from Tulingana, 
Dowlutabad, and Berar, to repair to the capital of 
Ahmudabacl Bidur withont clehw. On rP-vicw­
ing them, he found his army. to consist of fifty 
thousand horse, sixty thousand foot, and a 
considerable train of artillery. \Vith this fon'.e he 
marched against the enemy; and Dew Ray, on 
his npproach, encamped under the walls of the 
fortr0ss of i\foodkul, and detached a large body of 
light troops to harass the King on his advance. 
Tl!e King's army halted at the distance of 
twelve miles from Moodkul, and Mullik-oot­
Toojar was detached with the Dowlutabad diYi­
sion against the sons of Dew Ray ; while Khan 
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Zuman, governor of Ileejapoor, and Khan Azim, 
commander of the forces of Berar and Tulingana, 
were opposed to the main body of the enemy. 
l\Iullik-oot-Toojar, going first to Rachore, gave 
battle to the eldest son of Dew Ray, who was 
wounded in the action, and fled towards Bun­
kapoor, from whence he was joined by his younger 
brother, who quitted the siege of that fortress. 

In the space of two months, three actions took 
place between the two grand armies; in the first 
of which, multitudes were slain on both sides, and 
the Hindoos hm·ing the advantage, the Mus­
sulmans experienced heaYy losses. The King was 
successful in the second; and in the last, the eldest 
son of Dew Ray was killed by a spear thrown at 
him by Khan Zuman ; which event struck the 
Hindoos with a panic, who Hed with precipitation 
into the fortress of l\Ioodkul. l\iusheer-ool-1\'Ioolk 
and his brother (oflicers of note), following the 
fugitives, entered the fort with them; and the 
infidels, admiring their valour, took them both 
prisoners without injury, and carried them before 
Dew Ray, who caused them to be kept in con­
finement. Alla-ood-Deen Shah, upon this, wrote 
to him, that he valued the lives of the two chiefs 
equal to that of two hundred thousand common 
men, therefore1 as it was a rule with the princes of 
his family to slay a hundred thousand Hindoos in 
revenge for the death of a single Mussulman, he 
swore, should Dew Ray take a way the Ii ves of the 
two captive officers, he would revenge the death 
of each by the slaughter of a hundred thousand 
Hindoos. 

VOL. II, 55. 
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The Raja, who knew by experince the deter­
mination with which the Bahmuny princes fulfilled 
their ,·ows, despatched confidential persons to the 
King, proposing, on condition of his promising not 
to molest his territories in future, to pay annually 
the sitpulated tribute, and to release the two 
prisoners. The King acceding to these terms, 
a treaty was concluded, and De-..y Ray imme­
diately sent back l\lusheer-ool-i\foolk and hi~ 
brother. He also made an offering of forty \\"ar 
elephants, and ,·aluable effects to a great amount, 
paying at the same time the tribute clue for some 
years past. The King then honoured the Ray 
with a handsome dress, and presented him with 
several horses covered with rich furniture set with 
jewels; after which he began his march home­
ward · and durin rr the rest of his rei o·n Dew H.av 

' 0 ;:,, , J 

regularly remitted his tribLtle, the King strictly 
observing, on his part also, the treaty forme<l 011 

this occasion. 
In the early part o[ his reign, Alla-ood-Decn 

Shah erected, at .\hmudabad Ilidur, an infirmary 
for the poor; to support the expenses of which he 
granted considern ble tracts of land, and established 
in it both l\Iussulman and Hindoo physicians. To 
every part of his dominions he sent censors o[ 
morals and just judges; and though he drank wine 
himself he for bade the use of it to others, as 
also the practice of gaming. He put chains on 
the necks of kullendurs,* and idle, dissipated 
yagabonds, whom he punished by employing them 
in remoYing filth from the streets, in dragging 

* Calendars. 
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heavy stones, and in the performance of all manner 
of laborious work, in order that they might reform, 
and either earn their liYelihood by industry, or 
quit the country altogether. If any person, after 
admonition and moderate correction, was con­
,·icted of drinking wine, it was enacted, that melted 
lead should be poured down his throat, whatever 
might be the rank of the offender. 

One of the grandsons of Syucl Mahomed Gee­
soo-Duraz, captivated by n courtesan, ,vas induced 
by her to drink wine, and becoming quarrelsome 
from its effects, he beat the ·woman, and cut off 
her side locks. The affair was brought before the 
kotwal,* who confined both parties; but out of 
consideration for the rank of the Syud, he thought 
proper to refer the case to the royal presence. The 
King was much enraged, and ordered the offender 
to be carried to the most public square of the city, 
there to receive two hundred blows on the soles of 
his feet, and he was required to take a solemn oath 
against drinking wine; while the courtesan was 
led through the streets dressed in an ass's skin, 
and afterwards banished from the city. 

The King regulated his ci,·il and military 
departments so wisely, that. the acts of Fureecloon 
and Nowshirwan lost their lustre when compared 
with his. On Fridays. and on all holidays, he 
attended the mosque and heard srrmons. He was 
averse from shedding human blood, though he 
destroyed many idolatrous temples, and erected 
mosques m their stead. He held conversation 

* Civil magistrate. 
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neither with Nazarenes nor with bramins; nor 
would he permit them to hold civil offices under 
his government.* 

After the war of Beejanuggur the King 
changed his conduct, and gave himself wholly up 
to luxurious enjoyments. Transferring the 
management of his government to ministers, 
he· collected a thousand of the most beautiful 
women he could procure; to accommodate whom 
he erected a magnificent palace, and laid out 
elegant gardens around it, on the banks of a piece 
of water. This palace he called the abode of bliss; 
and therein he spent most of his time in drinking 
ruby-coloured wines, and in pressing the lips of 
smooth-faced damsels, or listening to the melody 
of sweet-voiced musicians. During this intoxi­
cation of pleasure,. he only appeared in 1.he public 
audience hall once every four or fi,·e months; and 
the Deccany olficers exercised the power of 
government with uncontrolled sway. 

At this time M~ainun-Oolla Deccany formed a 
plan for reducing to subjection all the fortresses 
along the sea-coast. To affect this, the King de­
puted l\follik-oot-Toojar, with seven thousand 
Deccany infantry, and three thousand Arabian 
cavalry, besides his own division, to the westward. 
Mullik-oot-Toojar, fixing upon Chakun as his seat 
of government, secured the fort near the city of 
Joonere, from whence he sent detachments, at 
different times, into Concan, and reduced several 
rajas to subjection. At length he moved to that 

* The passage alludes, probabl)', to offices at court onlr, 
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country in person, and laid siege to a fort the 
Raja of. which was named Sirka,* whom he 
speedily obliged to surrender, and to deliver 
himself and family into his hands. 

Mullik-oot-Toojar insisted tliat Sirka should 
embrace the faith of Islam, or be put to death; 
upon which the subtle infidel, with much assumed 
humility, represented that there existed between 
him and Shunkur Ray, who owned the country 
around the fortress of Kehlna, i- a family jealousy, 
and that should he enter into the pale of Islam, 
and his riYal remain secure in the full possession or 
power, he would, on the general's retreat, taunt 
him with ignominy on account of his change of 
religion, and excite his own family and subjects 
to revolt; so that he should lose the countries his 
ancestors had held for ages. Raja Sirka added, 
howe,·er, that if 1\Iullik-oot-Toojar would reduce 
his rival, Shunkur Ray of Kelilna, and give his 
countrr either to himself or to one of his officers, 
which might be effected with little difficulty, he 
would then pronounce the creed of the true faith, 
become enrolled among the servants of the King, 
and remit annually a tribute to his treasury, as 
well as assist in reducing those rajas who might 
hereafter fail in their duty and allegiance. 

l\Iullik-oot-Toojar replied, that he heard the 
road to the Ray's country was woody, and full of 

* Sirka, or mnre properly Sirky (the Sirkay of the author of 
the excellent i\Iarratta history), is the name of one of the most 
ancient families of the Concnn. The mother of the present 
Raja of Satam was of that house, 

t Vishalghur. 
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difficult passes. To which Sirka answered, that 
while there was a guide with the army so faithful 
and capable as himself, not a single soul should 
receive mJury. Accordingly, l\Iullik-oot-Toojar, 
relying on the promises of the Raja, in the year 

858 began his expedition against Kehl­
A. 11

• 858· na, but was deserted in the outset by 
A. u. I.J-53· most of the Deccany and Abyssinian 
officers and troops, who declined entering the 
woods. Raja Sirlrn, agreeably to his promise, 
during the first two days conducted the army along 
a broad road, so that the general praised his zeal 
and fidelity; but nn the third day he led them by 
paths so intricate, that the male tiger, from 
apprehension, might change his sex, and through 
passes more fortuitous than the curly locks of the 
fair, and more difficult to escape from than the 
mazes of love. Demons e,·en might start at the• 
precipices and cayerns in those wilds, and ghosts 
might be panic-struck at the awful view of the 
mountains. Here tht sun neYer enlivened with 
its splendour the vallies ; nor had Providence 
designed that it should penetrate their depths. 
The ,·ery grass was tough and sharp as the fangs 
of serpents, and the air fetid as the breath of 
dragons. Death dwelt in the waters, and poison 
impregnated the breeze. After winding, weary 
and alarmed, through these dreadful labyrinths, 
the army entered a darker forest, a passage through 
which was difficult even to the winds of heaven. 
It was bounded on three sides by mountains, whose 
heads towered a hove the clouds, and on the other 
side was an inlet of the ocean, so that there was 
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no path by which to advance, nor road for retreat, 
but that by which they had entered.* 

i\Iullik-oot-Toojar at this crisis fell ill of a 
bloody Hux, so that he could not attend to the 
regularity of the line of march, or girn orders for 
the disposition of his troops, who being excessively 
fatigued, about night-fall Hung themselves down 
to rest wheren~r they could find room, for there 
was no spot which admitted of two tents being 
pitched near each other. ,vhile the troops were 
thus scattered in disorder, Sirka, their treacherous 
guide, left them, and communicated to Shunkur 
Ray that he had lured the game into his toils. 
The Ray, with a great force conducted by Si~lm, 
about midnight attacked the l\Iussulmans from 
a 11 q uartcrs, who, unsuspirious of surprise, were 
buried in the sleep produced by excessi,·e exertions. 
In this helpless state, nearly se,·en thousanJ 
soldiers of the faithful were put to death, like 
sheep, with kn ires and daggers; the wind blowing 
violently, the rustling of the trees prenmtecl the 
troops from hearing the cries of their fcllow­
sufferers. Among these was l\Iullik-oot-Toojar, 
who fell with fffe hundred noble Syuds of l\Iedina, 
KurbuJJa, c111c.l Nujuf; as a 1.-;o some few Deccany 
and Abyssini;111 oflicers, together with about two 
thousand of their adlwrents, who bad rrmained 

'•' The above passage has been gircn literally, in order to 
afford a sample of the author's style. The description is very 
characteristic of the gcnei_-al features of the Conran country ; 
though it is not easy to fix the exact spot into which the Maho­
medan army was led to its destruction. 
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with their general. Before daylight the ij.ay, 
having completed his bloody work, retired with 
his people from the forest. 

Those who survi\·ed this dreadful massacre re­
traced, with much dilliculty, the path by which 
they had advanced, and joined the Deccany and 
Abyssinian officers, who had remained encamped 
on the plains above the Ghats. The latter ad,·isecl 
the foreigners to retire t6 their estate:=., that they 
might recover from their fatigues, and supply 
themselves with necessarie::; for future sen-ice. To 
this proposal the :\Ioguls would not accede, as the 
town of Cliakun wc1s near, where they might, in 
a short time, recruit their strength, and be able to 
rejc.;in the army. Some of the ;\loguls, also, 
imprudently obsen·ed, that the defection and 
cowardice of the Deccany officers, who had ref used 
to descend the Gha 1.s, was the occasion of the 
disaster which had befallen \follik-oot-Toojar and 
the Syuds. After their arrival at Chakun, the 
Moguls threatened to write full accounts to court 
of the desertion or the Deccauies. 

The latter, apprehensive of this, resolYed to 
be the first accusers, and therefore sent advices 
to the King, stating, that \follik-oot-Toojar, at the 
instigation of a zerninclar named Sirka, and by the 
ackice of the Syuds ancl Moguls, had entered on 
a wild project in defiance of their most earnest 
remonstrances; that the general had by his own 
death suffered the punishment of his rashness, and 
that most of his followers had also fallen; that the 
sun-iving foreign troops, instead of agreeing to 
remain with them till another general should be 
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appointed, had behaved with insolence, spoken 
disrespectfully of the King, and were gone in 
a body to the fortress of Chakun, offering their 
se.n-ices to the rajas of the Cancan, and inviting 
them to revolt. 

These letters were forwarded through Sheer­
ool-Moolk Deccany and Nizam-ool-l\foolk, son 
of Imad-ool-1\foolk Ghoory, officers hostile to the 
Moguls, whom they regarded as rivals. They 
accordingly presented the letters to Alla-ood-Deen 
Shah, when heated with wine, and related the 
defeat of l\fullik-oot-Toojar, and the bel1cwiour of 
the survi,·ing l\Ioguls. The story was told with a 
thousand exagg·erations, and with aggravating 
and malicious insinuations. The King, incensed 
against the foreigners, without a moment's 
reflection, directed the two officers who brought 
the communication to repair forthwith to Chakun, 
and put all the foreigners to the sword. 

Like Abdoolla Zeead, or Shums-001-Joslmn,l'~ 
putting on armour against the descendants of the 
Prophet, these officers mo,·ed towards Chakun 
with a great force. The Syuds and i\foguls, hearing 
of their approach, shut themsekes up in the fort, 
and despatched petitions to court, relating the 
truth, and pleading their innocence; but their 
messengers were intercepted by Sheer-ool-Moolk, 
who destroyed the letters. They despatched other 
letters, but finding that none of their own 

* Ferishta compares the attack on the Syuds in Chakun to 
that made on Hoossein and his seventy followers, near Kurbulla, 
by Abdoolla Bin Zeead and Shums-ool-Joshun, who marched to 
attack, and who destroyed, the grandson of the Prophet, and his 
small party, in the desert. 

VOL. II. 56. 
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companions were allowed to pass, they entrusted 
their petition to two natives of Hindoostan, who 
had been for years maintained by their countrymen. 
These wretches, whuse black complexions were 
but an index of their hearts, giving way to their 
naturally treacherous dispositions, carried the 
letters to Sheer-ool-;\foolk, who destroyed them, 
as he had done the former, and rewarded the 
betrayers with gifts. The approaches to Chakun 
were now so closely blocked up, that no persons, 
could pass without search; and the unfortunate 
Syuds, like their great ancestor Hoossein, were 
reduced to the extremity of despair. But they 
resolutely determined to defend themselves till the 
last. Sheer-ool-Moolk, finding them obstinately 
bent on resistance, summoned the Deccany officers 
from the Concan to assist him; and thus a great 
army was assembled before Chakun. The siege 
continued for two months without effect; during 
which time Sheer-ool-Moolk wrote frequently to 
court, that the Syucls and Moguls, continuing in 
obstinate rebellion, had asked assistance of the 
King of Guzerat, o!Iering to deliver up Chakun 
into his hands. The Deccany ministers supported 
these representations with all their influence, and 
procured repeated orders from the King to punish 
the rebels in such a manner as to operate as an 
example to others. If now and then a letter from 
the accused found its way to the capital, the 
ministers took care to prevent its being seen by the 
King, who, they pretended, was so enraged, thal 
he would not even hear or read a word from them. 

\Vhen provisions in the fort grew scarce, the 



ALLA-OOD-DEEN SHAH BAHMUNY II. 443 

besieged resolved to leave a sufficient number to 
defend their families, and to make a sally on their 
enemies; hoping, that by fighting their road 
through them, they might reach the capital, and 
lay the true state of affairs before the King. The 
Deccanies learning their design dreaded the event, 
as they knew they would all fight desperately, and 
some would, most probably, make good their way 
to court, which would · immediately lead to a 
discovery of the treachery of the Deccanies ; they 
therefore had recourse to strn tagem to get the 
besieged into their power. 'fo this end they sent a 
message to them, saying, that being followers of 
the Prophet, and pitying their misfortunes and the 
children and women of the Syuds, they had 
interceded with the King for pardon, who at last, 
complying with their petition, had given orders 
that they should be permitted to retire unmolested 
out of his dominions, with their families and effects. 
A forged order, to this purpose, was produced as a 
proof of the sincerity of their declaration, and both 
chiefs, like Yezeed,* swore by the Almighty, by 
the Koran, and by the Prophet of God, that they 
would not injure them in person or property. 

Relying on these solemn oaths, the unfortunate 
foreigners, in number about two thousand five 
hundred, of whom twelve hundred were Syuds of 
pure descent, evacuated the fort, with their wives 
and children, and encamped at a short distance, in 
order to provide the means [ or moving them. The 
Deccany chiefs for three days abided by their 

* The Caliph Ye1.eecl, who caused the attack on Hoossein, 
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promises, using every endeayour to gain their 
confidence, and lull suspicion, by kind offices and 
offers of assistance. On the fourth day, how­
eyer thev prevailed on the chiefs to come to an 

' -
entectainment in the fort, at which all the prin-
cipal foreigners, in number about three hundred, 
attended, with the exception of Kasirn Deg (Surf 
Shikun)/; Kurra Khan Koord, and Ahmud Der, 
of Mecca. ·while in the act of eating, a number 
of armed men, on a signal gi,,en by Sheer-ool-
1\foolk, rushed upon them, and put every soul to 
the sword. At the same instant, four thousand 
Deccanies outside the fort attacked the camp of 
the foreigners and put e,·ery male to death, eYen 

the yery infants at the breast. After this tragedy, 
they plundered the tents, and treated the women 
with all the, insult that lust or brutality could pro• 
voke. Since the time of Hoossein, the Syuds were 
never so maltreated; but is it not astonishing, that 
men, who called themseh-es servants of the 
Prophet, should so basely misuse his descendants? 

Kasim Beg and the l\foguls, who had encamped 
about two miles from the rest of their unrortunatc 
companions, on hearing the alarm, armed them­
selves, and putting even the womrn in soldier< 
habits, fled towards the capita1. Sheer-ool-Moolk 
instantly despatched two tho_usancl horse to pursue 
them under Dawood Khan, and wrote to all the 
jageerdars and farmers to intercept them as rebels, 
or cut them off, under pain of the King's 
displeasure. Kasim Beg, howe,·er, with three 

* So called from his having distinguished himself in breaking 
the enemy's line. 



ALLA·OOD-DEEN SHAH BA.Hl\IUXY H. 445 

hundred followers only, posted on without halting 
except when the Deccanies approached so near as 
to oblige him to disperse them, which he did fre­
quently with desperate Yalour. He passed the 
nights in the open fields, and in this manner pro­
ceeded for some days; till at length, near the 
town of Beer, he \Vas closely pressed by Dawood 
Khan, who liad summoned Hussun Khan, the ja­
geerdar of Deer, to his aid. This nobleman had 
once been s.:1xecl from great danger in one of the 
Beejanuggur campaigns by Kasim Deg, whom he 
now resolved to assist in turn ; and he accordinly 
told Dawood Khan, that it was impossible the 
Moguls could be rebels, as they were hastening of 
their own accord to tile capital. Dawood Khan 
was now joined by Sheer-ool-1\Ioolk in person, 
who ornrtook Iii 111 with fifteen hundred addition­
al troops, with which they attacked the l\Joguls. 
Kasim Beg, with his followers, resi~ted like men 
.fighting for life. Dawood Khan was luckily 
killed by an arrow in the r,rst onset; but this cir­
cumstance only excited the Deccanies to ren'nge, 
and they had almost o\'erpowcrecl the l\Ioguls, 
when Hussun Khan coming to their assistm1ce, 
the Deccanies retreated with the body of their 
leader towards Chalrnn. Hussun Khan conduct­
ed the brave sufferers to his residencr, where they 
were suppli('d witl1 prm·isions hy his kindness; 
and he wrote also representations tn the King, 
who, in answer, commanded Kasim Beg and his 
companions to repair to court. 

Upon their arrival, .\lla-uod-Deen Shal1 com­
manded them into his presence, and haying 
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examined into the whole affair, he was enraged at 
the conduct of his treacherous ministers, and 
blamed himself for his own fatal confidence. He 
then directed Moostufa Khan, who had withheld 
the letters of the Syuds from his perusal, to be be­
headed on the spot, and his body to be exposed 
in the public streets. He appointed Kasim Beg 
to the government of Dowlutabad and Joonere, 
and conferred on him the honours enjoyed by the 
late Mullik-oot-Toojar. He raised all his follow­
ers to rank, and ordered fresh levies of Moguls to 
be raised and placed under their command. He 
appropriated the houses and effects of Nizam-oo1-
l\1oolk and Sheer-ool-'.\Ioolk to his own use, and 
commanded them, with all the other aggressors, 
to be led into the capital, walking on foot, load­
ed with hem·y chains. Those persons who had 
been instrumental in forging the first accusations 
he put to death in various ways and depri,·ed 
their children of their estates, so that they wanted 
even a meal. According to the Tubkat Mah­
mood Shahy, Sheer-ool-Moolk and :Nizam-ool­
Moolk were affiicted with leprosy in the same 
year, and their children walked the streets for 
shameful purposes, among the outcasts of so­
ciety.* 

* The reader will observe with w_hat acrimony the whole of 
this transaction is related by Ferishta; but it is not easy for a 
Christian of the nineteenth century to enter into the feelings of a 
Sheea i\[ahomedan when reviewing such a subject. If he can 
imagine what would be the feelings of a Protestant writer of the 
time n:cording the massacre of St. Bartholomew's day, he would 
hm·c eyen but a slight notion of the horror of the Mahomedan . 
hi~torian on the present o~casion. 
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1n this year (A. D. 1453) Sheikh Azry, the 
King's preceptor, for whom when a youth he had 
great respect, wrote him a long letter of advice 
from Khorassan. The King was much effected 
with the persual. He in consequence forswore 
the use of ·wine, and answered the letter with his 
own hand, and sent also valuable presents in return. 
The King- now rigidly enforced the institutes of 
Ahmud Shah, attended regularly to the adminis­
tration of his affairs, and removed all the 
Deccanies from offices of trust. 

In the year 859, a dangerous eruption 
A. H. 

8
59· breaking out in the King's foot, which 

A. D. I 454. ffl 
ba eel the art of the surgeons, he was 

necessarily confined to his private apartments, and 
reports were often spread through the provinces of 
his death. Among other persons, one Julal Khan, 
the King's brother-in-lmv, being assured of his 
decease, seized on many districts around his go­
vernment of Nowulgoond, which he gave in charge 
to his son Sikundur Khan, grandson (by his mother) 
to the late Ahmud Shah.''' Khan Azim, governor 
of Tulingana, also dying at this time, and no 
officer of sufficient influence being on the spot to 
assume the charge, the officers of the province 
submitted to the authority of Sikundur Khan. 

Alla-ood-Deen Shah, in spite of his indisposi­
tion, prepared to march in order to reduce the 
rebels, on which J ulal Khan and Sikundur Khan 
agreed, that. the former should remain in 
Tulingana, and the latter proceed to Mahoor, 

* Consequently, the King's nephew. 
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the better to distract the motions of the royal 
army. The King sent offers of pardon, if the rebels 
would lay down their arms; but Sikundur Khan 
having on a former occasion joined the Prince 
;\lahomed Khan in his insurrection, and having 
been guilty of many other oITcnces, ref used to rely 
011· the King's promises. He therefore represented 
to the King of l\falwa, Sooltan 1''lahmoocl Khiljy, 
that Alla-ood-Deen Shah had been long dead, but 
that the ministers, pretending he was still al.i,·e, 
had resolved to destroy the prinr.ipal nobles, and 
to divide the kingdom among themselves; that 
under thes0. circumstances, if the King of i.\fal.wa 
chose to undertake the project, the provinces of 
Berar and Tulingana would foll without a blow 
into his hands. - Sooltan l\fahmood, crediting 
these assurances so Haltering to his ambition, 

marched, in r.onjunction \vith the rule!" 
A, 

11
• 
860

· of Kandeish, in the year 860, to the 
A. D, 1455. 

Deccan. They were joined by Sikundur 
Khan, who advanced with a body of one thousand 
horse to meet them. 

Alla-ood-Deen Shah, on receiving this intelli­
gence, changed his design of going in person to Tu­
Jingaua, whither he deputed Khwaja Mahmood 
Geelany (commonly called Gawan), with a con­
sid~rable army, to attack Julal Khan. At the 
same time Khan Jehan, governor of Berar, was 
directed to watch the motions of the ruler of 
Kandeish, while Kasim Beg,* governor of Dow-

* The same person who escaped from the massacre of the 
foreigners at Chakun. 
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lutabad, advanced with a corps of observation 
towards the division led by the King of Malwa,· 
the King of the Deccan being with the main army, 
consisting · chiefly of the Beejapoor division, 
.following at the distance of ten miles. 

Sooltan Mahmood of l\falwa, now satisfied 
that the Deccan king was still living-, and actually 
marching against him, retreated with the greatest 
part of his army, leaving an officer, under pre­
tence of assisting Sikundur Khan, but with secret 
instructions, in case of his attempting to join the 
Deccanies, to seize his person, and bring him 
prisoner to Mando with all his treasure. Sikun­
dur Khan, gaining timely -information of this 
design, escaped from the Malwa army with two 
thousand Afghans and Rajpoots to Nowlgoond, 
to which place Khwaja Mahmood Gawan was 
then about to lay siege. Shortly after this, 
Sikundur Khan delivered up the fortress, on 
condition of a free pardon. On going to court 
with Khwaja Mahomed Gawan, he was again 
received into favour, and Nowlgoond was_restored 
to him. The King having left Fukhr-ool-Moolk 
Toork in the government of the_ Mahoor districts, 
and Furhut-ool-Moolk in command of the garrison 

of Mahoor, returned to his capital, 
A. H. 862· where in the year 862, the disorder in 
A. n. 1457· his foot increasing to a mortification, 
he left this world of vanity for that of eternity, 
after a reign of twenty three years, nine months, 
and twenty days. 

Alla-ood-Deen Shah is said to have been elo­
quent, possessing great yv-it, and fond of learning. 

VOL. II, 57• 
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He would sometimes ascend the pulpit in the g-rand 
mosque on Fridays and holidays, and read the 
Khootba, in which he mentioned himself by the 
following titles:-" The monarch just, merciful, 
"patient, and liberal to the servants of God, chief 
" in worldly and religious affairs, son of the most 
" distinguished among princes, Ahm ud Shah 
"Wully Bahmuny." One day, an Arabian 
merchant, who had sold horses for the King's use, 
the payment for which was delayed by the officers 
of the household, being present when he read the 
above titles, roused by the ill usage he had 
experienced, and indignant at the cruel massacre 
of the innocent syuds, which had just taken place, 
exclaimed with a loud voice, "Thou art neither 
11 the just, the merciful, the patient, nor the libercd 
"king, but the cruel and the false, who hast 
11 massacred the Prophet's descendants, yet darcst 
"to assume such vaunting titles in the pulpit of 
"the true believers."* The King, struck with 
remorse, commanded the merchant to be paid on 
the spot, saying that those would not escape the 
wrath of God who had thus injured his reputation. 
He then retired to his palace, and never entered 
the mosque again, till he was brought there a 
corpse to be interred. The King, finding himself 
dying, appointed his son, Hoomayoon his 

* This is an instance of the bold language to which despotic 
monarchs are sometimes exposed in public, when individuals, 
driven to despair, take this course as a means either of shortening 
their lives, or of putting an end to oppression to which they are 
no longer willing to submit. 
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successor contrary to the wishes of all his court, 
who dreaded his cruel and sanguinary temper; and 
several of the nobles made their escape to Guze­
rnt before the King's death, to avoid the tyranny 
of his successor. 
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The Prince Hussun, the King's youngest son, is raised 
to the tlirone by tlie ministers, and an attempt made to 
seize Hoomayoon.-Tlze plot is frustrated.-Tlze young 
Prince is deposed, and Hootna)'oon assumes tlze crow11.­
The contrivers of the plot are punislzed.-Tlie Prince is 
deprived of his eyesight.-Khwaja Mahmood Gawan 
is created minister.-Clzanges in the government.­
Sikzmdur Khan of Nowlgoond goes into rebellion-is killed 
in action,-Attack 011 the fort of Dewurcondti.-Tlze 
Hindoos prowre reinforcements.-The King's troops 
defeated.-The King orders his general to suffer deatl,, 
and tlte second in command to be disgraced.-Fresli efforts 
to reduce Dewurcomla interrupted by news of the escape 
of the King's f,rotlzer-ltis rebellion-is taken at Beejapoor. 
-The King's cruelty to lzim, and all persons connected 
1oith lzim.-Exerciscs the greatest brutality towards lzis 
subjects-falls ill, and dies. 

AT the time .\lla-oocl-DeenShah was breathing 
his last, the Prince Hoomayoon was in his own 
palace, and Seif Khan and Mulloo Khan, two 
nobles of distinction, concealing the circumstance 
of the King's death, privately raised his youngest 
son, Hussun Khan, to the throne. In this plot 
they were joined by Hubeeb Oolla, t and some 
other chiefs, who regarded the measure as an 

* The Cruel. 
_t This is on~ of the holy personages who were deputed to 

wait on Shah Neamut Oolla, in Khorassan. These learned 
~ivi~es seem frequently to have entered deeply into court 
intrigues, 
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unexpected blessing. A party of the insurgents no,v 
proceeded to plunder the palace of Hoomayoon 
Shah, and secure his person. Hoomayoon opposed 
this attack with resolution, obliging the insurgents 
to retire, and pursuing them towards the royal 
apartments. On the way, the elephantdrivers, 
perdehdars,* silehdars, and body guards, with 
other persons of the household, who were ignorant 
of any preconcerted plan for the King's destruction, 
joined Hoomayoon, so that he entered the grand 
hall of audience without opposition, and seized 
his brother, who sat panic-struck and trembling 
upon the throne. Hoomayoon instantly ascending 
it in his stead, was acknowledged King without 
further opposition. After these prompt measures, 
he caused Seif Khan, the whole contriver of 
the plot, to be dragged through the city chained 
to the foot of an elephant, and directed his 
associate, Hubeeb Oolla to be confined as well as 
the Prince Hussun Khan, whose eyes he caused 
to be put out. t 

Agreeably to the will of his father, he conferred 
the office of Vakeel-oos-Sultunut on Khwaja 
Mahmood Gawan, with the title of l\Iullik-oot­
Toojar, and the gm·ernment of Beejapoor. 
Mullik Shah, an officer who claimed descent from 
Chungiz Khan, was appointed governor of 
Tulingana, with the title of Khwaja Jehan, he 
had also an estate in that province, with the rank 

* Officers of the bed-chamber, and private apartments. 
t Seif Khan suffered death. The Prince was deprived of 

eye-sight; and Hubeeb-Oolla, on account of the sanctity of 
his profe~sion, was merely placed in confinement. 
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of commander of one thousand; and the" title of 
:Nizam-ool-Moolk was conferred on the nephew of 
Imad-ool-~foolk Ghoory, a young nobleman of 
distinction. Sikundur Khan, son of J ulal Khan, 
a favourite companiou of the King before his ac­
cession, disappointed at not having the govern­
ment of Tulingana, left court without taking 
leave,* and joining his father at :Kowlgoond, 
began to raise troops. · 

Hoomayoon Shal1 lost no time in sending 
Khan Jehan, governor of Berar, who had come to 
court to congratulate the King on his accession, 
against Sikundur Khan, but Khan Jehan being 
defeated, Hoomayoon Shah thought it necessary 
to march against the rebels in person, not with­
out hopes, that upon his arriYal in the vicinity of 
~owlgooncl, Julal Khan· and Sikundur Khan 
would see their error and submit. In these ex­
pectations, h1Hvm·er, he was disappointed; for 
Sikundur Khan made a sudden attack on the 
King·s camp by night, with some success, which 
induced him on the next day to lay siege to the 
fort. Sikundur Khan, having great dependence 
on the attachment and bravery of his troops, 
marched out to offer battle with eight thousand 
Deccanies and Rajpoots ; but the King, in consi­
deration of tlwir former intimacy and relationship, 
sent him word that though appearing in arms 
against his sovereign was a heinous offence, yet 

*.The _etiquette of all Oriental courts requires that public 
officers should obtain an audience of leaYe previously to quit­
ting ,il,-if even)'or a day ; and when pemission was not obtained, 
it was_untler5tuotl the intli\'idual was offendC'd, and prepared 
tn 1·pvnlt, 
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as he wished not to destroy him, he would grant 
him free pardon, and eonfer on him an estate in 
the province of Dowlutabad. Sikunclur Khan 
returned for answer, that though Hoomayoon was 
the grandson of Ahmud Shah he was also his 
grandson by his daughter, consequently 11 is part­
ner in the kingdom of their grandfather, so that 
he must resign the sovereignty of Tulingana to 
him, or prepare for battle_;;, 

Hoomayoon Shah, enraged at this insolent 
language, instantly ordered out the lirn\ to attack. 
Sikundur Khan did not decline the contest, and re­
peatedly repulsed the most vigorous charges of the 
roya] army. The action continued long indecisive, 
till Mullik-oot-Toojar l\Iahmood Ga.wan, with 
the Beejapoor division, and Khwaja .Tehan Toork, 
with the army of Tulingana, charged the right 
and left wings at the same instant, and the rebels 
began to give way to the shock. The King, observ­
ing their confusion, supported the attack from the 
centre with five hundred bowmen, and .five hundred 
spearmen, at the head of whom, mounted on an 
elephant, he rushed on the enemy. This assault 
was opposed so resolutely, that the King found 
himself nearly deserted by his followers, who re­
treated in confusion, while Sikundur Khan, avail­
ing himself of the moment, with his spear in the 
rest, attacked the King personally; when the 
elephant on which Hoomayoon was mounted 

* The inconvenience attending the intermarriage of the 
royal family with subjects is here fully exhibited, although 
the pretensions of Sikundur Khan were certainly extravagant 
and audacioLtS, 
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seized Sikundur Khan in his trunk, drew nim from 
his horse, and dashed him forcibly on the ground. 
His followers, who were on full speed to support 
his charge, unable to stop, rode over him, by 
which he was crushed to death. On the loss of 
their chief, the rebel army fled ; and the King, 
rallying his troops, pursued the fugitives, with 
great slaughter, a considerable distance from the 
field of battle. 

The next day the King commenced the siege 
of Nowlgoond ; and at the end of a week, J ulal 
Khan, seeing no resource but submission, offered 
to surrender. Through the mediation.. of l\follik­
oot-Toojar and Khwaja Jehan, Julal Kban was 
pardoned, and threw himself at the King's feet, 
with an offering of his wealth, accumulated dur­
ing forty years of high and profitable employment. 
His life being spared, he was confined in a castle, 
where he ended his days. 

Hoomayoon Shah, on the fall of Nowlgoond, 
meditated the reduction of the fortress of Dewur­
conda, belonging to a zemindar of Tulingana, 
who had lent his support to Sikundur Khan, To 
accomplish this service, he detached Khwaja Jehan 
and Nizam-ool-Moolk, while he marched himself 
to vVurungole. The Tulingas uniting fought 
several battles in the field, but were on all occa­
sions defeated by Khwaja Jehan; and at length 
retired within the fortress, which was closely 
besieged on every side, though situated among 
high mountains and difficult woods. The Tulin­
gas, on this occasion, applied for assistance to the 
Ray of Orissa, who being tempted by offers of 
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great sums of money sent a considerable body of 
troops, with several war-elephants, to the support 
of the Tulingas, promising to advance quickl? him­
self with his whole force. The Tulingas, inspired 
bv these hopes, held out obstinately ; and the two 
g~nerals, hearing of the approadi of the f'Xpected 
reinforcements, becc1me doubtful how to act. 
Nizam-ool-Moolk proposed raising the siege and 
marching out of the hills and passes, in order to 
engage the auxiliaries lo ach-antage on the plain, 
and pre,·enl their junction. To this measure 
Khwaja .Tehan objected; saying, that the Tulingas 
would attribute a retreat lo fear, and issuing from 
the fortress ,,·ould attack them on their march: so 
that it was better to continue the siege, and make 
preparations to oppose the junction of the 
reinforcement on the spot. On the next day the 
troops of Orissa arrived ; and the Tu lingas 
sallying from the fort, both attacked the King's 
Jorces at the same instant, \\·hose cavalry being 
unable to act, from the nature of the ground, a 
total defeat was sustained by the l\fahomedans. 
The two generals effected their escape with the 
greatest difficulty from the field : nor did they halt 
till they reached \Vurungole, being pursued for 
eighty miles by the enemy. Hoomayoon Shah, on 
enquiring into the cause of the disaster, was falsely 
informed by Khwaja Jehan, in order to save his 
own life, that he acted by the advice of ~izam­
ool-Moolk, although that general entirely disap­
proved of the measure ; and the King, in his rage, 
without further examination, caused that gallant 
nobleman to be put to death ; while his relatives 

YOL. II. 58. 
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and followers flying, enlisted into the service of 
Sooltan Mahmood of Malwa. Khwaja Jehan was 
also disgraced, and sent close prisoner to a fortress. 

Hoomayoon Shah, determined on wiping away 
the disgrace sustaiued by his troops, was busily 
preparing a fresh army to go against Dewurconda, 
when advices were brought him from the capital, 
that one Yoosoof Toork having set at liberty the 
blind Prince Hussun Khan and Shah Hubecb 
Oolla, had Heel with them into the country of 
Kandeish. The King, losing all patience, left his 
minister, Mahmood Ga wan, to protect Tulingana, 

A, H. 864, 
and returned in the year 8G4 by forced 
marrhes to his capital, where his wrath 

A, D. 1459. B . knew no Lounds. ut 1t is necessary, 
before his cruelties are recorded, to mention thrir 
original cause. 

Shah Hubeeb Oollc1, an eminent di,·ine, had been 
imprisoned for his attachment to the Prince Hussun 
Khan. On tlie occasion of the King's marching 
against Sikund ur Khan, towards Now lgoond, sew11 
of the Shah's disciples formed the resolution of re­
leasing him at all hazards. For this purpose, they 
addressed one Yoosoof, a Toorky slave* of the late 

* The King's body-guarcl 11•;is composed usunlly of purchased 
slaves, who were treated with great distinction, and frequently 
rose to eminence. From this guard the King selected his aide­
de-camps and confidential personal attendants; and they were 
taught to look up to the monarch alone for their future success 
in life, The practice has al ways prevailed in the eastern courts ; 
and in the instances of the Pra>torian bands under thr. Roman 
emperors, the Swiss guards of France, and the Janissaries of Con­
stantinople, we have abundant proofs of the fondness of abso­
lute monarchs for such instruments of power and protection, 
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Alla.-ood-Deen Shah. Yoosoof was a man general­
ly esteemed, and celebrated for his virtue, integrity, 
piety, and extensive charities; he was besides, a 
firm disciple and friend of Shah Hubeeb Oolla. 
This officer promised his aid, and corrupted some 
of ihe guards and door-keepers of the palace. The 
number of the confederacy was limited to. twelve 
horsemen and fifty foot, all bent upon sacrificing 
their liYes io the service of Shah I-lubeeb Oolla. 
Conceiving their project ripe for execution, Yoo­
soof went one eYening with his friends to the gate 
of the seraglio in whiC"h the prisoners were con­
fined. ~Iost of the guards were absent, but he 
was questioned by the few on duty. Yoosoof re­
plied, that he had the King·s commands to enter 
the prison and bliml such and such criminals, pro­
ducing a forged order in support of his assertion; 
on seei11g which, the guard suffered him to pass. 
On his reaching the second gate, another guard re­
f used to admit him; for though he showed the royal 
commission, the kot wal's order was also necessary 
before entrance could be obtained; upon which, 
Yoosoof and his band dreading discovery rushed 
upon the guard, and putting them to death, passed 
on. Yoosoof first proceeded to the apartments of 
the state-prisoners, and took olI the chains from 
Shah Hubeeb Oolla; and the Princes Hussun Khan 
anc.l Yehya Khan, sons of the late King, as also 
J ulal Khan Bokhary,* entreated him to break their 
chains, and take them with him, to which he 

* The King's relative, and father to the Prince Sikundur 
Khan, who had disputed the crown in the early part of the 
reign. 
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consented. After this, having gone into every apart­
ment, he im·ited all those who chose to be freed 
from captivity to repair to the gate of the palace 
and juin him. ..:-\bout seven thousand unfortunate 
captives of all conditions rose upon their keepers, 
and arming themselves with clubs or whateYcr 
came to.hand, ranged themselves at the gate as di­
rected. By this time, the kotwal of the city, having 
heard the alnn, advanced to the palace with the 
city guards; but the captives, rendered desperate, 
received them so warmly with shO\vers of stones 
and dubs, that they were driYen back. The 
prisoners, during the 11ight, dispersed to different 
quarters among their friends; but J ulal Khan, who 
was nearly eighty years old, and the Prince Yehya 
Khan, fell iuto the kotwars hands in a few 
hours, and suffered death. The Prince I-Iussun 
Khan, and Shah I-Iubeeb Oolla, took shelter iu the 
house of a barbar, where they shaYed their beards, 
and assumed the garb of beggars. Shah Hubeeb 
Oolla recommended that they should quit the 
country; but the Prince flattered himself, that the 
people in general, disgusted with his brother's 
cruelty, were attached to him, and that it was 
likely he could soon raise an army and recover thl~ 
throne. Slrnh Hubeeb Oolla haying consented to 
assist his designs, il1ey both left Bidur, and got 
some c.listanr.e from the city. The Prince Hussun 
Khan now made himself known, and was joined 
by adventurers and disaffected persons from all 
quarters. Among others, was his delirnrer Yoosoof 
Toork. In a few days, the Prince raised an army 
of three thousand horse and five thousand foot, 
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with which he advanced to the fortified palace and 
garden of Kumtam1,only six miles from the capital, 
in hopes of being able to take it. Finding this 
measure more difficult than he at first imagined, 
he retreated to the town of Deer,* of which 
he took possession, togeU1er with the country 
around, and continued to le,·y fre~h troops. Such 
was the state of alfairs wheu the King arrived at 
Ahmudabad Bidur witlt his army. 

The King's ltrst ad was to punish the neglect 
of the city guarcl, all of whnm, to the number of 
two thousand, he put to death with cruel torture. 
He also caused the kot wal to be confined in an 
iron cage, e,·cry day cutting oil some member of 
his body, which he obliged him to eat, so that he 
very shortly died. Meanwhile he detached an 
army of eight thousand horse and foot against the 
Prince, who at first was ~uccessful. On bearing 
this, the King's fury knew no bounds. He rein­
forced his army with more troops; but seizing on 
the women and children of the oHicers, threatened 
to put these hostages to tl.eath if the army should 
be defeated, or the onil'ers desert to the Prince, 
Hussun Khan. 

lu the next battle the Prince suffered a total 
defeat; and Hussun Khan, after a desperate resis­
tance, quitted the lield with his adherents, hoving 
to fmd an asylum at Deejauuggur. Cpun his 
arrival near the fort of Beejapur, with about 
eight hundred horse, the goyemor, Sirnj Khan 

* Beer was at this time in the hands of the descendants of 
::,hah Neamut Oolla, who were naturally well di5posecl to 
Shah llubeel.i Oolla, 
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Jooneidy, sent out a message to invite him 111, 

declaring that he would give up the fort and all 
its dependencies into his hands. Hussun Khan, 
by the advice of Shah Hubeeb Oolla and Yoosoof 
Toork, c~ntered the fort of Beejapoor. This fort 
was then onlv built of mud. Siraj Khan received 
the party with apparent respect and attention . 
. \t night-fall, howeYer, coming with his attendants 
to the Prince's apartment, under pretence of pay­
ing his respects, he surronnded it, and on the next 
day attempted to secure the persons of his guests. 
Shah Hubeeb Oolla suffered martyrdom in mak­
ing resistance. .\t length the Prince Hussu11 
Khan, Yoosoof Toork, and his other followers, 
even to his lent pitcher~. watermen, and sweepers, 
were sei.ltcl and sent prisoners by Siraj Khau 
under a strong escort, to Ahmudabad Bidur. 

IIoomayoon Slialt, uow abandoning himself tu 
the full indulgence of his cruel propensities, and 
mad ,vitli rage, directed stakes to be set up on 
both sides of il1e King·s chowk, or market-place, 
and caused ,·icious <~lephants and wild beasts to 
be placed in different parts of the square, in other 
places cauldrons of scalding oil and boiling water 
were also prepared as instruments of torture. 
The King, asceudiug a balcony in order to glut 
his eyes on the spectacle, First cast his brother, 
I-Iussun Kha11, before a ferocious tiger, who s001~ 

tore the wretched Prince to pieces, and devoured 
him on the spot. Yoosoof Toork, and his seven 
associates, were then beheaded iu the King's 
presence, and the females of their innocent and 
helL 1lesl) families, beiug draggetl. from their houses, 



HOOMAYOON SHAH ZALIM IlAI-IMUNY. . ·463 . 

were violated and ill treated in the palace-square, 
by ruffians, in a manner too indecent to relate. 
Tortures were now invented by the King, who in­
flicted on both young and old of both sexes tor­
ments more cruel than eyer entered the imaginatimi 
of Zohak* and the tyrant Hijaj.t About seven 
thousand persons, including females and servants, 
none of \Vhom had the most distant concern in 
this rebellion, hesidPs the menir1 ls, such as cooks, 
scullions, and others, were put to death ; some 
being stabbed with daggers, others hewn in pieces 

SI b with hatchets, and the rest Jla)'ed by • ia an, 
A. n. 86-t. scalding oil or boiling water. This tra-
August, gedy happened in the month of Shaban, 

A, u. 1460
• in the same year as the rebellion. 

The author of the Towarr.ekh ?\falunood Shahy 
states, he learned from the royal attendants, that 
upon the King's first hearing of the escape of ihe 
Prince Hussun Khan rage and passion so overcame 
him, he tore liis robes, bit his pillows, and often 
his own lips, in sud1 a manner that they dropped 
with blood. Alarmed at the example or Hussun 
Khan, he put to death several innocent persons of 
the royal family who were confme<l in clilTerent 
fortresses. Nor did his suspicions rest here; many 
other persons of his own court fell the innocent 
victims of his indiscriminate cruelty. From this 
moment Hoomayoon threw off all restraint, and 

* An ancient kino- of Persia, who is said to have sold himself 
to the devil, and ,~ho, in consequence, was afllicted by two 
serpents, who, rising out of his shoulders, demanded to be fed 
on human brains daily. 

1· A barbarous tyrant of Arabia. 
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seized at will the children of his subjects, tearing 
them from· their parents to gratify his passions. 
He would frequently stop nuptial processions in the 
street, and seizing the bride, after enjoying her, send 
her to the bridegroom's house. He was in the hnbit 
of putting the females of his own house to death 
for the most trivial offences; and when any of the 
nobili,ty were obliged to attend him, so great was 
their dread, that they took lemrp of their frtmiliPs, 
as if preparing for death. 

At length the Almighty took pity on 1.he 
sufferings of his people, and listened to the mm­
plaints of the wretched. The tyrant was taken ill, 
and judging he should die, appointed his eldest 
son, Nizam Shah, then only eight years of age, 
his successor; and having summoned Khwaja 
Jehan Toork from Berar, and Khwaja Mahmood 
Gawan from Tulingana, madehiswill, constituting 
them a council of regency,and guardians to his son 
during his minority, commanding them stridly, 
at the same time, to transact no business without 
the cognisance of the Queen-mother. He <lied on 

Zeckad 28_ the 28th of Zeekad, 865, according to 
A. 11. 865. some, but others relate that he re-
Sept~ 3• covered from this illness, and was as-

A. I>. 1461. , 
sassmated during a fit o.f intoxication 

by his own servants, who were wearied out with 
his inhuman cruelties. His reign lasted thrP-e 
years, six months, and six days. 



NIZAM SHAH BAHMUNY. 

The Queen-mother, Khwaja /ehan, and Mahmood 
Gawan,form a regency during the King's minority.-The 
kingdom attacked by the rajas of Tulingana and Orissa, 
who are compelled to retreat.-Sooltan 1/.tlahmood of Malwa 
invades the Deccan.-The Deccan army difeated.-The Kz'ng 
retires to Bidur.-Tlze Malwa army advances.-TheKing 
retires to Ferozabad.-T/ze city of Bidur occupied by the 
King of Mal1M.--The King of Guzerat marches to assist 
the Deccanies.-The King of Malwa retreats-his army 
suffers severely-lie is compelled to abtZndon his heavy bag­
gage-retires tlzro11gh the lzills of Gondwana-his troops 
endure tlze gre,itest distress.-Tl1e Guzerat army retires.­
Second in·vasz"on by tlze Kz"ng of Malwa.-Advance of tlze 
army of Guzerat.-The King of Malwa retires.-Sudden 
deatlz of the young King of the Deccan. 

WHEN, out of pity to mankind, the Almighty 
had removed Hoomayoon the Cruel from the 
world, and his son Nizam Shah succeeded to the 
throne of the Deccan, the Queen-mother acted as 
regent. She was a woman of great abilities 
herself ; but she did nothing without consulting 
Khwaja Jehan and Khwaja Mahmood Gawan, 
admitting no other nobles to share in the adminis­
tration. Mahmood Gawan, who held the govern­
ment of Berar, was appointed vizier, and Khwaja 
Jehan assumed the office of Vakeel-oos-Sultunut, 
and was made governor of Tulingana. These 
two ministers attended every morning at the 

VoL. II.-59. 
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palace, and communicated, through a female, 
with the Queen-mother, who, after giving her ap­
probation, sent the young King to the hall of 
audience, where he sat on the throne. On his 
right hand stood Khwaja .Tehan, and upon the 
left, Mahmood Gawan. These officers gave orders 
and transacted business in his presence. By the 
happy co-operation and unanimity of these three 
personages, the injuries occasioned by the tyranny 
of the late king were soon repaired; but the sur­
rounding potentates, both Mussulmans- and 
Hindoos, hearing that the throne of the Deccan was 
filled by a child, and that the nobles and officers 
were disaffected, owing to the cruelties of their late 
so,·ereign, conceived the design of encroaching 
on his dominions. In the first instance, the ray~ 
of Orissa, in conjunction with the zemin<lars 
of Tulingana, invaded the kingdom by the route 
of Rajmundry, plundering and laying waste the 
country as far as Kowlas. The Queen-mother 
and the ministers, in no wise dismayed, collected 
an army of forty thousand men, and marched with 
the young monarch to oppose the enemy. The 
Ray of Orissa ad,,anced to within six miles of the 
royal army, and within ten of the rapital of 
Ahmudabad Bidur, it being his design to demand 
restitution of the country of Tulingana, and to 
exact tribute from the infant King. The two 
ministers, in reply to a communication of this 
nature, said, that their master had designed to 
invade and conquer Orissa and Jajnuggur ;* but 

* .fajnuggur, on the Mahanudda, the ancient capital of 
Orissa. · 
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since the Raja had himself come so "far with his 
army, the King would be able to ~ffect the object 
of defeating him, vvithout the trouble of mard1ing 
to those distant countries ; moreo\'er, that the 
King had resolved not to allow a man of the 
enemy to escape, unless the amount of the in­
juries done to his dominions should be repaired, 
and the Raja agree to pay tribute. \Vith this 
message, Shah Mohib Oolla * was despatched ; 
but his escort of one hundred and sixty horsemen 
being stopped by the infidels, he charg-ed the Ray's 
advanced picquets so boldly, that supposing the 
whole army was in motion, the Hindoos fell back 
on their main body, and the rays of Orissa and 
Tulingana lem·ing their heavy baggage on the 
ground, retreated during the night. Khwaja 
Jeh.an went in pursuit next day, while the King 
and Mahmood Gawan made easy marches after 
him. t The rays, finding that they lost two or 
three thousand men in every day's march, owing 
to the activity of Khwaja .Tehan, took protection 
in a fort ;t from whence they sent to the minister, 
Mahmood Gawan, entreating pardon ; and after 
much debate, and on paying a large sum or money, 
they were permitted to retreat without further 

* Shah 1Iohib Oolla was the grandson of the celebrated 
Shah Xeamut Oolla of Kirman. 

t Ferishta, in so hastily adopting the language of i\Ioolla 
Dawood of Hidur, and the other chroniclers of the Bahnumy 
dynasty, has exercised, neither discretion nor even much re• 
search, in not endeavouring to account for the sudden retreat 
of the Hindoos; for it is absurd to suppose, that the mere ap• 
pearance of one hundred and sixty men wo'uld alone have 
broken up a confederacy which seems _to have been so seriously 
formed for the recovery _of Tulingana. + Ferishta doC's not mention the name of the fort. · 
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molestation into their own territories. Nizam 
Shah Bahmuny returned in triumph to his capital; 
and having conferred honours and rewards on the 
officers and soldiers, permitted them to retire to 
their several stations. 

Soon after this campaign, Sooltan Mahmood 
of Malwa invaded the Bahmuny trrritories, by the 
route of Kandeish, with twenty-eight thousand 
horse; and the rays of Orissa and Tulingana, 
having again taken the field, renewed their 
depredations on the countries of Islam. The 
ministers, accordingly, ordered the Tulingana 
division to protect that province against the 
Hindoos; and taking Nizam Shah with them, 
they marched with the forces of Beejapoor, Dow­
lutabad, and Berar, against Sooltan Mahmood. 

Nizam Shah, in spite of his extreme youth, 
appeared at the head of his army. Khwaja Mah­
mood Gawan, with ten thousand horse, formed 
the right wing, and Nizam-ool-Moolk Toork, with 
other chieftains, composed the left wing, while 
the King remained with Khwaja Jehan, and 
Sikundur Khan, his foster-brother, in the centre, 
which consisted of eleven thousand cavalry and 
one hundred war-elephants. Sooltan Mahmood 
of Malwa committed the charge of his right wing 
to his son the Prince Gheias-ood-Deen, and the 
left to Mahabut Khan, governor of Chundery, 
supported by Zuheer-ool-Moolk, himself taking 
command in person of his best troops, which com­
posed the centre. 

K.hwaja Mahmood Gawan began the battle 
by an attack on the enemy's left, which, after 
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some resistance, broke and fled, Mahabut Khan 
and Zuheer-ool-Moolk of Malwa being both killed. 
Nizam-ool-Moolk Toork, with the left ,ving, 
charged the right of the Malwa army under the 
Prince Gheias-ood-Deen, who had gained the 
character of a brave soldier throughout Hin­
doostan. While the troops of both armies were in­
termingled, the two generals came in con tact hand 
to hand with each other; when Nizam-ool-Moolk's 
sword being shivered to pieces, he threw the hilf=1 

into the face of his antagonist with such ,·iolence 
as to wound him severely in the eye, which bleeding 
exceedingly, he fell from his horse in agony. The 
troops of Malwa, seeing their leader fall, became 
disheartened, as is usual on such occasions, and 
fled. They were pursued four miles by the Dec­
canies, who having committed much slau'5hter, 
took a vast booty, together with fifty elephants. 
Sooltan mahmood of Malwa, on witnessing the 
retreat of both wings of his army, prepared to 
follow their example; but another of his sons, and 
some of his nobles, dissuading him, he awaited 
the assault of Khwaja Jehan, who charged with 
ten thousand horse. On this occasion, Sooltan 
Mahmood having struck the elephant of Sikundur 
Khan Toork in the head with an arrow, the 
huge animal, mad with pain, turning round, trod 
down many of the troops of the army to which he 
belonged, and had nearly seized Nizam Shah 

*The hilts of the swords were made of solid steel, and were 
heavy, in order to counterbalance the weight of the thick 
sword blades. 
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himself.ii, Sikundur Khan, either from fear, or out 
of enmity to Khwaja Jehan, drew off his troops and 
carried the King with him to a 1i ttle distance from 
the field of battle; on which, the Deccanies per­
ceiYing the royal standard t withdrawn, lleq, and 
did not stop till they reached the capital. Klrn·aja 
Jehan, finding that the right and left \\'ings had 
gone in pursuit, and that the King with the Dec­
canies had fled, thought it prudent also to retire, 
which he effected with such order, that lte brought 
back his division and the royal horses and elephants 
to Ahmudabad Bidur. Khwaja Mahmood Ga,Yan 
and his troops, on viewing this strange reyerse of 
fortune, retreated also. Sikundur K ban Toork on 
his arrival at the capital was at first rewarded by 
the Queen-mother for bringing her son off the 
field in safety ; but on her learning the truth from 
Khwaja .Tehan, Sikundur Khan was rnnfinec.l for 
his cowardice, and for disgracing the King by 
taking him from the field at a moment when he 
was on the point of gaining a victory. The 
friends of Sikundur Khan defended him bY 
affirming, that he had in fact saved the King from 
destruction, as the two wings had dispersed to 

* Elephants, when enraged, become iurious, and not unfre­
quently attack each other. The translator om:e witnessed an 
instance of this nature, in which it was not without the utmost 
exertion of the drivers of both elephants that the persons riding 
on that which was attacked escaped from being tom to pieces, 

t The royal standard, borne on an elephant, always attends 
the King when in the field; and it is too well known how the 
absence of this emblem usually decides the fate or Indian armies. 
:\'o,'v where each regiment or brigade has a standard, and even 
each gun, the courage of an army is not so rendi.ly a!Tccted, 
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plunder, and no troops remained about ·the royal 
person~ declaring that they (the Decranies) would 
no longr.r submit to be ill used by the Moguls, who 
had usurpPd the guidance of the state. The nature 
of the times not allowing of his punishment, 
l<hwaja Jehan was induced to consent to Sikundur 
Khan's enlargement from arrest. 

Sooltan Mahmood of Malwa, hearing of these 
dissensions and the aversion of the Deccanies to 
the ministers, marched on to besiege Alunudabad 
Bidur. The Queen entertained suspicions of 
Khwaja Jehan, to whose remissness she chiefly at­
tributed the late defeat. She was supported in 
this opinion by Khwaja i\fahmood Gawan; and 
by his advice she committed the charge of the 
citadel of Bidur to Mulloo Khan Decrnny, and­
retired with the King to Ferozabad. Sooltan 
Mahmood obtained possession or the city* in 
se,·enteen days after the King's departure ; a 
great part of the country c1lso submitted to hisau­
thori ty ; and it was the general opinion, that the 
dominion of the house of Ba,hmuny would pass 
into the hands of the Khiljies, when accounts, 
were received of the advance of Mahmood Shah 
of Guzerat. Nizam Shah hnd, previously to his· 
retreat, _by the advice of Mahmood Gawan, de-: 
puted ambassadors to request the aid oft.he King 
of. Guzerat; and in the mean time, collecting his 
scattered forces in order to defend himself, sent 
out detachments to harass the enemy. The King 
of Guzernt had.now reached the frontier with an 

* The citadel or fort still held out, 
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army of eighty thousand horse; and the Queen­
mother having despatched Khwaja Mahmood 
Gawan to welcome him, Mahmood Shah of Gu­
zerat placed a division of twenty thousand cavalry 
and some of his principal officers at his disposal; 
and the allied armies, in a short time, moved 
simultaneously towards the capital.* 

Sooltan Mahmood,t who had been unable to 
take the citadel of Bidur, on hearing of the ap­
proach of the allies, raised the siege, and re­
treated with precipitation towardsMalwa. Khwaja 
Mahmood Gawan detached ten thousand Dec­
cany cavalry to harass the enemy's retreat, if he 
took the route of Berar, while he himself marched 
with ten thousand men to a position lying between 
Kand'har and Beer; so that the Malwa troops 
were exposed to be intercepted in all quarters, 
while the light Deccany skirmishers engaging their 
foraging parties cut off their supplies. . Sooltan 
Mahmood, who, according to the best accounts, 
had nearly thirty thousand horse, frequently tried 

*The jealousy of proximate states of each other's aggran­
disement seems, at all times, to check the extension of their 
power. The balance so repeatedly restored, and so narrowly 
watched, by the states of Europe, seems to have been equally 
regarded by the Mahomedans; and it was only when their im­
becility became general, that they fell to the dominion of the 
Moguls. 

t. It will be observed that care bas been taken to distinguish 
the several Mahmoods now mentioned : the title of Sooltan 
is .always prefixed to the name of the King of Malwa, while 
that of Shah ili affixed to the King_ of Guzerat; whereas the 
Deccany minister has his peculiar appellations of Khwaja and 
Gawan, 
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to bring on an action ; but the minister was not 
to be diverted from his original plan of warfare 
till at length the Malwa troops were reduced to' 
the utmost distress for food, and the King of Malwa 
was obliged to listen with patience to the clam­
ours of his mutinous army. 

In this exigency, hm,ing killed numbers of his 
elephants and set fire to his heavy baggage, he 
moved unencumbered towards Gondwana; to the 
confines of which country he was ·pursued, and so 
harassed by Mahmood Gawan, that he lost vast 
numbers of his men and great part of his remaining 
baggage. On reaching Gondwana, Sooltan 
Mahmood pervailed on one of the zemindars of that 
country to conduct him by a route which should 
prevent the pursuit of the Deccany troops, and 
admit of his fatigued army marching without 
molestation. In vain was it represented, that the 
direct road could supply but little water for so~ne 
stages. The King, not sufficiently calculating 
this difliculty in contemplating ~scape from a 
pursuing enemy, took that route. On the very 
first march, owing to the scorching winds and 
want of water,* about six thousand men perished 
miserably ; and on the next, the natives of the 
mountains, taking advantage of the distresses of 

* It is impossible to convey to the mind of one who has 
never suffered from thirst and heat in a tropical climate the 
horrid sensations which may be brought on even in a few 
-hours. The numerous victims to long marches without water, 
which sometimes occur even in British armies in the East, 
point out the importance of previously ascertaining that an 
ample supply exists at each stage. 

VOL. II.-69. 
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.the army, plundered the followers; for the soldiers, 
.dispirited by their sufferings, afforded them little 
protection. On that day, a single cup of water 
sold for two rupees, anil frequently was not to be 
had for money. \V'hen Sooltan Mahmood, after 
enduring inexpressible hardships, had at length 
wound out his way from this dreadful labyrinth, 
suspecting that the distress had originated from 
the treachery of his guide, he commanded him to 
be put to death. The Gond chief, disregarding 
life, abused the King, boasting that, at all e,·cnts, 
he had anticipated revenge, by destroying tweh·e 
thousand men by thirst, and that his death was of 
no consequence, as he had three sons, and should 
:himself be soon transmigrated into one of their 
offspring. From this speech, we learn tlwt the 
Gonds,* like the Hindoos, belie\·e in the trans­
migration of souls, which makes them less anxious 
about life, since they imagine that good actions 
will ensure their speedy re-animation in a future 
state. 

Sooltan Mahmood, before the fall of the citv 
of Ahmudabad Bidur, permittei his soldiers t~ 
indulge in every exress incident to warfare ; but 
when he had resolved on establishing himself in 
the Deccaµ he changed his conduct, and treated 
the inhabitants as if they were his own subjects. 
He was at all times particular in regulating his 

* Ferishta appears to he aware that the Gonds were not 
Hindoos, a fact which is but little known to Indians in general, 
and to Europeans in particular. It is to be hoped that l\Ir. 
Richard Jenkins, who has devoted much time and labour to this 
interesting subject, will farnur the world with the result of his 
researcpes. 
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dress and diet, agreeably to the holy laws 
concerning things pure and impure. On this 
account he procured his rice, wheat, oil, and other 
necessaries, for his table, when in the field even, 
from certain farms in his own dominions, and 
carried vegetables planted in wooden frames, filled 
with soil, along with him wherever he marched. 
During his stay at Ahmudabad Bidur, he sent for 
Mowlana Shums-ood-Deen, a holy man who 
attended the torn b of Shah Khuleel Oolla, to 
whom he complained of being distressed for 
vegetables, desiring that he would recommend him 
to some gardener, whose lan<l was his own, in 
order that, agreeably to the orthodox laws, he 
might purchase tl1e111 from him at any price. The 
Mowlana replied, "Your Majesty must surely be in 
"jest: it is the height of hypocrisy to invade the 
"territories of true believers, to lay waste their 
"country and houses, and to rob them of their 
"property, and then to pretend punctilio on the 
"trifling points of the law, as regard dress and 
"diet." Sooltan Mahmood, it is said, acknowledged 
the justice of the rebuke, and shed tears, but ob­
served, that kingdoms could not exist without re­
course to many actions apparently inconsistent. 

After the retreat of the King of fi'fal wa, >l'izam 
Shah despatched ambas:-;adors to Mahmood Shah 
of Guzerat, with valuable presents, returning 
many thanks for the friendly part he had acted. 
Mahmood Shah returned to Guzerat, and Nizam 
Shah to the capital of Alunudabad Bidur. The 
King of l\falwa invaded the Deccan in the follow­
ing year, and a<lvanced as far as Dowlutabad; 
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but was ~gain obliged to retreat, owing 
A, H. 

866· · to the •timeLy assistance afforded by 
A. D. 1462. f d . the King o Guzerat a secon tune. 

It being the custom of the house of Bahmuny 
for children to marry in their early years, the 
Queen- mother procured a wife for her son among 
~er own relatives, and prepared the nuptial feast 
with due 111;:1.gnificence and pomp. On that very 
night, when the assembly of mirth was full, and 
the court rang \vith feasting and joy, screams 
issued suddenly from the royal apartments; and 
the voice of lamentation proclaimed with loud 
cries that Nizam Shah had departed this life. This 
unblown blossom of the plant of royalty was 
suddenly nipped by a destructive blast; the down 
of beauty had not yet diffused itself over the 
fiower, when death struck it with the blight of 
Zeekad 13. annihilation. This event happened on 
A. 11. 867. the night of the 13th of Zeekad, 867, 

July 29. just two years and one month after 
A. 11 1+63· the Prince's accession to the throne. 
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Accession of ,vlalzomed Slzah, tlie son of Hoomayoon the 
Cruel.-Tlie Decca1z army takes Kehr/a from tlte King of 
J1la/wa.-Kelzrla restored, and peace concluded.-Kltwaja 
Mahmood Ga111,w invades tlze Concan-t,ikes Keh/ua mul 
Ramgur-ascends ilze table land, and passes tlte monsoon 
at Ko!tipoor-rl'furns to tlte Co11c,m-takes Goa-lea,•e1 

Ki~l1111ur K!urn in cl11ll;J!,e of tlze 11t:z,, conquests, and pro­
ceeds to tlze capital.-Honourabli: reception of Xlzzt'aja 
ilfalimood G1m11n.-Tlti: Kin,i: takes tltt!Jield-rt!duces Raj­
mu11dry and Condapill;· ill Tu!i11ffa1Za.-Ni:::am-ool-.lloolk 
Bhyry appointt!d xm•er1tor of T1tli1~1;ana.-J'oo.10of ,ldil 
Khall ,1~ovi:r1Zor of Dowlutabad- Duria lmad-ovl-JJ/oolk 
l[Overnor of Baar. - Tlze Ki,~![ marclte\' to tltc ,w:st,t'ard, 
and reducn Be~1;am.-Si:z•ere famine and drought in tlte 
Deccan -Revolt i11 Tuli11,!{1111a -Tlze Kin!; marcltes to 
supprt!SS it-lte proceeds to Ori1rn-rcturns to tltc south, 
and plunders Co11je,1eram.-Plot llf:;llinst tltc minister 
Kh-waia .1/alwzood G1rnHzn.-T/1i: /{111.( is imposed 011 by a 

forgery.-K!zwtij1i 11lalmzood rxcmted-c/1aracf£ r of tlze 
mi11ister.-Tlze Ki11x disc01•crs hi~ error, and repents­
his nobles desert tlte camp.-Tlte King falh sick ~f a fe,•er 
-becomcs com1alesccnt-i11d11lgt!s in 11•ine, 11•fticlt brings 
on a re!tipsc, and lie dic.1. 

MAHOI\IED SHAH,. ascended the thro11e of the 
Deccan in his ninth year; and the a.liairs of go­
\·ernment were concluded m, in the reign of his late 
brother, by Khwaja Jehan and Khwaja l\falunooc.l 
Gawan, under the direction of the Queen-mother. 
Ahmud, the King's younger brother, had an ample 

* Hoonmyoon the Cruel lrft three sons, Nizam, 1\Iahomed, 

;;:ind Ahmucl. 
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separate establishment for his support. Khwaja 
Jehan took the especial charge of the King's edu­
cation, who made great progress in his studies 
under Sudr-.Jehan Shoostery, a celebrated scholar 
of that age, s•) that, next to Feroze Shah, he be­
came the most learned prince that ever filled the 
Bahmuny throne. Khwaja Jehan, acquiring great 
power a1~d inl1uence in e\·ery department of the es­
tate, usurped the sole direction of affairs. He de­
prived many old nobles of their estates, giving them 
to creatures of his own elevation; and he also pect1-
lated largely out of the royal treasury, contriving 
to keep his colleague, Khwaja Mahmood Gawan, 
employed on the frontiers, so that he could inter­
fere but little in the administration. The Queen­
mother, a woman of great penetration, jealous of 
the unlimited pO\,ver of this minister, urge<l the 
King to destroy him. For which purpose she 
made her son promise, on Khwaja Jehan's coming 
to court next day, to order him to be put to death. 
Khwaja Jehan attended according to custom, but 
his suspicion was roused by the appearance of 
Nizam-ool-:\Ioolk Toork with some guards. He 
found, howeYer, it was too late to retire, ancl as 
usual took his place near the King. Shortly 
after, two female servants appearing, said'to the 
King in a loud voice, "The Queen expects your 
"Majesty to perform your promise to her. •· Ii pon 
which the King, turning to Nizam-ool-Moolk, 
exclaimed, "That wretch is a traitor; put him to 
death." Nizam-ool-Moolk, who was inimical to 
Khwaja Jehan, and who had been prepared for 
the duty, dragged him from his place, and cut 
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him down with his sabre in the King's presence.;* 
After some days, Mahomed Shah having sent 

for i\fahmood Gawan, conferred on him the title 
of Khwaja Jehan, adding the duties of \'akeel­
oos-Sultunut to his other functions. On the King 
attaining his fourteenth year, his nrnrriage with 
a prince:;s of his own family was celebrated with 
great splendour, and the Queen-mother, having 
withdrawn from public affairs, betook herself to 
a life of devotion. She was, however, still con­
sulted on. matters of importance, and the King 
waited on her e\·ery clay to pay his respects. 
After his emancipation from the tutelage of his 
mother and the minister, one or the King's first 
acts was to make war on his neighbours. To 
which end, hm·ing appointed )Jizam-ool-Moolk 
gm·ernor of Berar, he commanded him to proceed 

with a powerful army, in the year 
A. "· s7:2. 872, against the fortress of Kehrla, 
A, J), 1467. 

then in possession of the King of 
Malwa. Nizam-ool-Moolk laid siege to Kehrla, 
and several times defeated the reinforcements sent 
to relieve it On the last occasion a very obsti­
nate engagement occurred, in which twelve thou­
sand Rajpoots and Afghans fought desperately 
in the Malwa army, and great numbers were slain 

• Ferishta does not mention the date when this tragical 
scene tiappened. The King was only eight years of age when 
he ascended the throne, and his marriage, at the age of four­
teen, did not take place till after the death of Khwaja Jehan. 
The circumstance, therefore, must have occurred while the 
King was yet a mere boy; but it only shows at how early 
an age Asiatic despots are taught to become fa!11iliar with 
such sanguinary executions. 
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on both sides ; victory, however in the end, declar. 
ed in favour of the Deccanies, who pursui:qg a part 
of the garrison into the fort whence they had 
sallied, entered the gates with the fugitives,* and 
obtained possession of the plaee. According to 
the custom of the common soldiers of the Deccan, 
the victors gave abusi,·e language to the con­
quered garrison, which so exasperated two Haj­
poot brothers, that they resolved to prove to their 
enemies they were not deficient, at all events, in 
courage. 'When the confusion was over, and the 
Malwites had evacuated the fort, the two Rajpoots 
addressed Nizam-ool-Moolk's attendants, saying, 
that though they had passed their whole lives in 
the army, and seen many brave men, they had be­
held none equal to him, and they solicited permis­
sion to kiss his feet before they departed. Nizam­
ool-1\foolk, observing they were unarmed, ordered 
them to approach, upon which they came up in 
a submissive manner; but turning suddenly, and 
snatching the sabres from the hands of the nearest 
guards, one of them inflicted a mortal wound on 
Nizam-ool-Moolk, after which they defended them­
selves desperately, till they were both hewn in 
pieces. Nizam-ool-i\foolk had two adopted 
brothers, Yoosoof Adil Khan Sa,·aee, and Duria 
Khan Toork, who after establishing a strong gar­
rison in the fort, took the general's body, and 
marched with a valuable booty to court. The 
King, approving their services, raised each of them 

* This mode of terminating a siege has been often prnctisecl 
with success, and is one of the greatest risks attendant on 
sallies by the besieged. 
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to the rank of commanders of a thousand, with the 
fortress of Kehrla and its dependencies in jageer.* 

The King of Malwa, perceiving the spirit of 
the Deccanies to be unshaken, and fearful of their 
resentment for the injuries sustained in the late 
reign, sent an ambassador, named Shureef-ool­
Moolk, with valuable presents to Mahomed Shah's 
court. This nobleman represented that Sooltan 
Hooshung had entered into a solemn compact 
with Ahmud Shah Bahmuny; by which it had 
been stipulated that the province of Berar should 
belong to the King of the Deccan, while the fortress 
of Kehrla should remain in the hands of the King 
of Malwa, and that a lasting peace should subsist 
between them and their heirs for ever. The ambas­
sador represented, that the Deccan troops had now 
seized the fortress of Kehrla, and it was, therefore, 
required that Mahomed Shah should abide by the 
treaty alluded to, and spare the subjects of both 
states from the calamities of war. 

Mahomed Shah despatched Sheikh Ahmud Sudr, 
to return with Shureef-ool-Moolk, to Manda with 
a. letter, stating, that he was well disposed to 
adhere to the former alliance; observing, that 
while the Carnatic abounded on all sides with 
strong holds possessed by infidels, he had no 
occasion to employ his arms against the fortress 

* The revenues and management of frontier provinces were 
frequently consigned to military nobles, in other to ensure 
their defence against external attack ; but the policy too fre­
quently led to the rebellion of the officers appointed to govern 

them. 

VOL. II.-6J. 
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of Kehrla. He praised God, he added, that the 
breach o( the treaty had not commenced on the 
part of the house of Bahmuny ; it being clear, 
that in the late reign of his brother, an infant, the 
King of Malwa, taking advantage o[ the weakness 
of his administration,hadcommitted such outrages 
on the possessions of the faithful as had not been 
perpetrated even by the ferocious Chungiz Khan 
in his conquests. In conclusion he said, that as 
what was passed could not be recalled, he had 
deputed Sheikh Ahmud, a zealous promoter of 
peace among the faithful, to the court of \Ialwa, 
and that he was prepared to fulfil whate,·c'r 
engagements that holy personage should enter 
into. Sheikh Ahmud was met near Manda by a 
deputation of the principal nobles, and conducted 
with much respect and ceremony into the city; 
where, being introduced to Sooltan Mahmood 
Khiljy, he deliYered his credentials, ancl the King's 
letter. The l\falwites were readv to acknowledgP­
that the breach of the treaty· originated with 
themselves; but they hoped that the Almighty, 
out of his abundant mercy and goodnfss, would 
not call them to account for it. Sooltan Mahmood 
declared publicly that he had been to blame, but 
hoped it would be forgotten; and he trusted that 
such a treaty might now be formed, that his 
successors and those of Bahmuny would, in future, 
never act hostilely towards each other. Sheikh 
Ahmud, on the part of Mahomed Shah, and the 
Sheikh-ool-l~h1m, ;1 lf'11rnf'd divine, on the part 
of Sooltan i.\Iahmood Khiljy, drew up a treaty, to 
which were affixed their seals, as also those of 
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several other holy men of both states. Both prin­
ces wrote on the margin in their own hands," Let 
"whosoever deviates from the contents of the 
" treaty be cursed by God, and rejected by the 
Prophet. " The substance of this treaty was, I. 
"That both parties should refrain from molesting 
'' each other's dominions. " 2. "That the fortress 
" of Kehrla, as in the reign of Sooltan Ahmud 
"Shali the Just, should be deli,-ered up to the 
King of l\Iahva. ,. And, 3. '' That whatever 
"countries might be conquered from the Hindoos 
"by either state should not be cm·etecl by the 
other... The uegotiation being at an end, Sheikh 
.:\hmud wrote an orLler to the-governor of Kehrla 
to deliver up that fortress to the deputies of the 
King of :\falwa. After which he returned to the 
Deccan; and there never, subsequently, happened 
any contentions betweeu tliese two states. 

In the beginning of the year 874, 
.\. 

11
• 87.J-· Mahmood Gawan, the minister? 

A. D. 146(), 
marched with a powerful army 

against Shunk.ur Ray of Kehlna, and other refrac­
tory rajas in the Concan. The troops of Joonere, 
Chakun, Kolhar, Dabul, Choul, \Vaee, and Man, 
and other parts, were orcl<>red to join him on this 
s<>rvice. Shunkur Iby of Kehlna t constantly 

* He bore the titles of i\Iullik-oot-Toojar, the Chief of the 
Merchants, and Khwaja Jehan. It affords a pleasing example 
of the state of civilisation, when it was deemed the highest 
honour in the state to be entitled Chief of the i\Ierchants. 

1" It ,vill be recollected, that. it was the Raja of the fort 
of Kehlna, the modern Vishalgur, who effected the destruction 
of the ~laho111t"cla11 army un a former occasion. 
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maintained a fleet of three hundred vessels, and 
interrupted the traflic of the Mahomedans.- Upon 
the report of Khwaja Mahmood Gawan's approach, 
the infidels contracted defensive alliances with 
each other, and assembled in great numbers at the 
head of the passes, but Mahmood Gawan, by 
degrees, forced all their positions. Finding his 
cavalry useless in the mountainous country, he 
sent back the horse he had brought from the 
capital, and contented himself with the troops 
under Asud Khan Geelany, with the Joonere 
division, and his own dependents under Khoosh 
Kuddum, with the troops from Kolhar and Dabul. 
\Yith this army he made his way by means of fire 
and the axe through the \\'Oods. He lay five 
months before the fort of Kehlna without reduc­
ing it, and the rains setting in, compelled him to 
relinquish the siege; when, committing the passes 
to the protection of ten thousand infantry inured 
to the climate, and on whom he could depend, he 
ascended the mountains, and constructed thatched 
huts to pass the wet season in the district of 
Kolapoor, where he conquered the fort of Ramgur. 
After the rainy season he again descended the 
passes, and by stratagem and gifts of money, ob­
tained possession of the fortress of Kehlna, ,vhich 
had never, till then, been in the hands of the 
Mussulmans. On the approach of the monsoon 

of the following year, he took the same 
A. II, 875. h h d d . f measures as e a one in the armer 
A. D, 1470. 

season; and at the expiration of the 
four wet months, marched into the country of Ray 
Shunkur, which he reduced, taking ample revenge 
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for the slaughter of the former Mullik-oot-Toojar 
and his army. Khwaja Mahmood Gawan then 
moved against the port and island of Goa, 
belonging to the Ray of Beejanuggur, sending an 
hundred and twenty vessels to attack it by sea, 
while he marched with his army against it by land; 
and before the Ray of Beejanuggur could oppose 
his design, he made himself master of the place. 
Mahomed Shah, on receiving information of this 
important conquest, ordered the nobut to beat the 
march of triumph* for se,·en days, and made 
other rejoicings. 

Khwaja Mahmood Gawan having established 
a strong garrison in the fort of Goa, and supplied 
it plentifully with stores of every description, 
returned, after an absence of three years, to the 
capital of Ahmudabad Bidur. On this occasion, 
the King condescended to honour him with a visit 
of a whole week, conferring upon him the highest 
titles, with a suit of his own robes; and the Queen­
mother t gave him the appellation of brother. 
Khoosh Kuddum, the commander of his own 
dependents, who had behaved with distinguished 
gallantry in the different campaigns, was, at the 
general's recommendation, promoted to high rank, 
with the title of Kishwur Khan, and the forts of 
Goa, Poonda, Kundwal, and Kolapoor, were 

* This practice prevailed before the use of artillery for salutes 
and rejoicing. 

t The Queen-mother had long retired from public life, 
though in the present instance she appears to have departed from 
her resolution, in order to do honour to the successful general 
after his campaigns. 
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granted to him in addition to his other e_states.* 
.On Mahomed- Shah's_ leaving the house of the 
minister, Mahmood Ga wan, retiring to his.cl1ainber, 
clisrobed himself of his sple.ndid dress, threv~' himself 
ori the ground and wept plenteously; after which 
he came out, put on the habit of a dervish, anq 
calling together all the most deserving holy and 
learned men, and Syuds of Ahmudabad Bidur, 
distributed among them most of his money, jewels, 
and other \Vealth, reserving only his elephants, 
horses, aud library; sa)'ing, " Praise be to God, I 
"have escaped temptation, and am now free from 
"danger ... · · 

Moolla Shums-ood-Deen asked him why he had 
given away every thing but his library, his ele­
phants, and horses? He replied, "\Vhen the 
'' King honoured me with a .visit, and the Queen­
" mother called me brother, my evil passions began 
" to prevail against my reason ; and the struggle 
"bct\Yeen ,·il·e and Yirtue was so great in my mind, 
'' that I became distressed even in the presence of 
'' his Majesty, who kindly enquired the cause of my 
'' concern. I wa~ ob1iged to feign illness in excuse 
'' for my conduct; on which the King, advising me 
" to take some repose, returned to his palace. I 
"have, therefore,"' said the minister, "·parted with 
"wealth, the cause of this temptation to evil·." His 
library, he said, he had retained for the use of 
students, and his eleiJhants and horses h·e reo-arded 
as the King's, lent to him only for a season. 

0 
After 

this day, the minister always wore plain apparel; 

* Khoosh Kudrlu111, now entitlecl Kishwur Khat,, had formerly 
charge of Dabul and Kolhar, · 
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and when at leisure from state affairs, retired to his 
own mosque and college, where he .spent his time 
in the society of the learned, and persons eminent 
for pity and virtue: On Fridav nigi1t, he went 
disguised through the different ~varcls of tllf' city. 
and distrihuted alms to the poor, saying, as he 
gave them, "This is sent by the King." :Kot with­
standing this conduct, the people of the Deccan 
ever prone to wickedness and intrigue, accused 
this virtuotis ministP.r of corruption, and brought 
him to an untimely end, as will he herearter related_. 

In the year 876, Ambur Ray, cousin 
to the Ray of Oorea, * complained to 

,\. D, q7 I, 
Mahomed Shah, that the Ray being 

A. II. 876, 

dead, Mungul Ray, a bramin, his adopted son, had 
usurped the gornrnment in defiance of his prior 
claim to its inheritance: and Ambur Ray now 
promised, if the King would assist him with 
troops to regain his right, he would become his 
tributary. l\.lahomccl Shah, who had a great 
desire to possess the territory of OorP.a, including 
Rajmundry and Condapilly, thought this request 
favourable to his views ; and by the advice of 
Khwaja Mahmood Gawan having conferred the 
title of Nizam-ool-Moolk on Mullik Hussun 
Bheiry, directed him to proceed with a consider­
able army to that quarter. On the borders of 
Orissa, he was joined by Ambur Ray with his 
troops, wlio became the guide of the army against 
Mungul Ray. The usurper was ddeatecl, and 
Ambur Ray placed in possession of his hereditary 
dominions. Nizam-ool-Moolk, accompanied by 

* Ooreadese, or Orissa: 
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Ambur Ray, now proceeded against Condapilly 
and Rajmundry, both which places he reduced, 
and by the orders of Mahomed Shah, having estab­
lished proper military garrisons to ensure their 
security, he permited Ambur Ray to depart to his 
own country, himself returning with much booty 
to court. On this occasion, Nizam-ool-1\foolk, 
at the recommendation of the Queen-mother and ,...., 
Khwaja Mahmood Gawan, was confirmed in the 
government of all Tulingana. At the same time, 
also, Duria Khan, entitled Imad-ool-1\foolk, was 
appointed governor of Berar, and Y oosoof Adil 
Khan Savaee, one of the followers of Khwaja 
Mahmood Gawan, eminent for many great quali­
ties,and whom the minister had adopted as his son, 
was nominated to the government of Dowlutabad, 
the most important post in the state. Mahomed 
Shah, confiding in the abilities of Yoosoof Adil 
Khan, directed him to reduce the fortress of vVy­
ragur,* and to recover that of Antoor, which 
during the Malwa invasion had fallen into the 
possession of a Mahratta chief, who did not pay 
proper submission. Y oosoof Adil Khan, on reach­
ing Dowlutabad, despatched Kasim Beg Suf­
Shikun t to reduce Antoor, and Duria Khan 
against Wyragur. The chief of the former deli­
vered it up without opposition on promise of 

* Probably Woshagur, lying between Antoor and Ajunta. 
t This distinguis1l.ed chief had long held the command of 

Dowlutabad ; but the duties appear to have been much en. 
larged at this time ; and the fort and district seem to have 
formed only a small part of the province now placed under 
Yoosoof Adil Khan. 
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receiving quarter; but the raja of the latter place 
held out against the besiegers for six months ; at 
the end of which time, seeing no l10pes of relief, 
he sent a message to Yoosoof Adil Khan, 
promising, if his life sl1ould be spared, to make 
an offering· of al I his effects in the fort, and to 
evacuate it with hi:; family. YoosooI .\dil Khan, 
agreeing to these terms, ordered Duria Khan to 
permit the inhabitants to retire without molesta­
tion. ..:\ccordingly, the Ray l3eejy Sing, with his 
family ancl dP.penclents, quitted the ancient abode 
of his ancestors, leaving behind him his 11ublic 
treasures and hereditary wealth. Yoosoof Adil 
Khan, wl10 had come post to the camp, entered 
the fort the same day, aud took possession of the 
property; after which, he conciliated the principal 
inhabitants and farmers of the country by 
assurances of his· protection. He then rrm rched 
against the fort of Ranjny* the chief of which, 
whose father was lately dead, surrendered on 
condition of his life being spared. Yoosoof Adil 
Khan, having selected some elephanb, horses, and 
such articles as he deemed fit for the King's use, 
received the Raja. (.-\mur Sing) under his pro­
tection, and restored to him his fort and country. 
Yoosoof Adil Khan no\v relurned to Ahmudabad 
Bidur, where he laid before the King such sums 
of money and jewels, beside~ presenting several 
elephants and horses, that the rich booties of 
Rajmundry and Nowlgoond appeared insignifi­
cant when r.ompared with them. Mahomed Shah 
accordingly conferred on Yoosoof Adil Khan 

* Probably Ranjungam, the chief town of the district of 
the same name. • 

,·n L. ll.-62. 
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great honours ; observing, that whoever had 
Khwaja Mahmood Gawan as his father could not 
fail of performing ~mportant services. The King, 
on this occasion, directed Khwaja Mahmood Ga­
wan to entertain Yoosoof Adil Khan for a week 
at his own house, with every possible magni­
ficence. The minister observed, that without the 
King's presence the feast would be incompletP.. 
Mahmood Shah declined participating in an en­
tertainment prepared for another guest ; but pro­
mised that he would honour his house with a 
visit of a week, after the festival to Adil Khan 
was ended. 

Accord1ngly, on the eighth clay, i\'Iahomed 
Shah proceeded to the minister's palace, where he 
passed a week in continued festivity, admitting 
Yoosoof Adil Khan to the honour of drinking 
wine with him. Khwaja Mahmood Gawan, on 
this occasion, not only entertained the King with 
uncommon splendour, but presented him with 
fifty dishes of pure gold with covers set with 
jewels, each large enough to hold a roasted lamb; 
one hundred slaves of Circassia, Georgia, and 
Abyssinia, most of them accomplished singers 
and musicians ; one hundred horses of Arabia, 
Syria, and Asia Minor ; and one hundred dishes 
of superb china porcelain, to be seen no where ex­
cepting in the palaces of a few great princes. On 
the last day he made handsome offerings to the 
King's sons, and all the members of the court ; 
then presenting the King with a list of 
his property, which he said belonged solely 
to his 1\fajesty, he desired him to take pos-
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session. Mahomed Shah admired the compli­
ment, and having gone through the form of ac­
cepting his oIIer, conferred on him anew all he 
had seen.* The influence of Khwaja Mahmood 
Gawan and Yoosoof Adil Khan now became so 
great, that they were courted and envied by all 
the nobility; and the Deccanies, like wounded 
vipers, writhing in the torment of jealousy, unit­
edly resoh·ed on their destruction. 

fn the year 877 Birkana t Ray, 
A. H. 

877- Raja of the fortress of Belgam, at the 
.\. D. 147 2. 

instigation or the Ray of Beejanug-
gur, marched to retake the island of Goa, as did 
also the Hindoo chief of Bun1rnpoor. Mahomed 
Shah, on gaining intelligence of these hostile pre­
parations, collected his rorces, and moved against 
Belgam, + a fortress of great strength, surrounded 
by a deep wet ditch, and near it a pass, the only 
approach to which was fortified by redoubts. 
To this place the King laid siege; and Birkana, 

* It would have been ungracious for the King not to have 
accepted the proferred wealth of the minister. To refuse an 
offering, in the East, is equivalent to a sign of offence, and 
conveys a notion either that the gift is unlit to be received,· or 
that the donor is not worthy of presenting it. This feeling 
renders the exchange of presents by public functionaries a 
matter of state policy, which, although falling much into 
disuse where Europeans arc concerned, can hardly be abolish­
ed entirely so long as the Oriental princes retain their courts, 
and adhere to their national forms and habits, 

J The Oriental scholar will recognise in this penult the 
language of the southern part of the peninsula. 

t This fort is now occupied by British troops, and is deem­
ed one of the strongest on the plain in that part of the 
country. 
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out of regard to his future safety, sent persons 
secretlv to Khwaja Mahmood to obtain terms: 
but \\I~homed Shah, in order to show his power 
and to deter other fortresses from holding out, re­
fused to accede to anv conditions, and resoh·cd 
to takf'. it by storm·. He commanded the firr.­
workers, as they \'alued their nwn safety, to effect 
a practicable breach in fomteen days, and com­
mitted to Khwaja :\fahmnod Gawan the duty of 
filling up thf' ditd1, saying that he expected to 
have it passable l'or the troops when the guns had 
elTeded a breach. Though Khwaja Mahmood 
Gawan during the day threw great quantities of 
,,-oocl and earth into t1w ditch, the enemy in the 
night always removed them, upon ,vhich he 
changed his operations to another quarter, and 
began to form trenches and dig mines which till 
now had not been used in the Deccan. Birkana. 
conficling in his wet ditch, fancied himself secure, 
when suddenly three mines from the posts of 
K.hwaja :\fohmood Gawan, Yoosoof Adil Khan, 
and Futteh Oolla Irnad-ool-\Ioolk, having been 
conducted under tlw rort wall, sucl·eeded in form­
ing breaches. The tronps or Hirkana ad,·anced 
gallantly to defend llw place, and nearh· two 
thousand of the King\ troops fell in the attempt 
to storm. The be~ieged had nearly repaired the 
work with wood and stones, when l\Iahonlf'd 
Shah, advancing to the assault, drow the enemy 
before him, and gained the ramparts. "Thiie 
in the act of attacking the citadel, the Raja 
himself, having assumed a disguise, came to 
the royal attendants, and requested to be 
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introduced to the King as a messenger from 
the Ray. On being admitted to the pre­
sence, he threw his turban round his neck, and 
discoven·d himself, saying, that he had come with 
his family to kiss the root of the throne. Mahomed 
Shah, llattered with tl1is exhibition of confidence 
and magnanimity, admitted him into the order or 
the nobility of his court. \Vhen opposition had 
ceased the King entered the citadel, and gan! God 
thanks for the su!'Cc~ss of his arms. I-laving added 
Belgam and ib dependences to the estates of 
Khwaja ~Ial11nood (iawan he returned to the 
capital. :Soon after this expedition, in which she 
had accompanied her :-.on, the Queen-mother, by 
whose prudence tlte state had acq uirecl such 
eminence, died on the road, and the King sent 
her corpse to be interred with great pomp at 
.-\.hmudabacl Bidur. 

,v1ie11 tile royal ~tandard reached the city of 
Beejapoor, :.\fahomed Shah, at the request of 
Khwaja :.\Ialunood Gawan, halt.eel to repose from 
his fatigues: and tlte minister endeavoured to 
divert his grief from the death of his mother. 
Admiring tl1c situation of Beejapoor, the King 
would willingly have remained there during the 
rainy season : but so sen~re a drought prevailed 
throughout the Deccan, that the wells dried up, 
and the King, contrary. to his inclination, was 
obliged to mo,·e with his army to Ahmudabad 
Bidur. ~o rain fell during the next year either, 
and the towns in consequence became almost de­
populated. ~fany of tl~e inhabitants died of fa­
mine, and numbers emigrated, for food, tu i.\Ialwa, 
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Jaj11uggut, and Guzerat. In Tulingana, Marhutt,* 
and throughout the Balununy dominions, no grain 
was smvn for two years; and on the third, when 
the Almighty showered his mercy upon the earth, 
scarcely any farmers remained in the country to 
cultivate the lands.t 

Not long after this dreadful visitation, while 

the country was just. reYiving from depopulation, 

intelligence came that the garrison of Condapilly 

had, in a statf> of mutiny, murdered their governor, 
seized the property of his dependents, and gi\·en 
up the fort to Bhimraj Oorea, a persori originally 

patronised by :.\fahomed Shah. Bhimraj, on this 
acquistion, sent persons to wait on the Ray of 
Orissa, representing, that if he wished to recoyer 
his hereditary dominions in Tulingana, now was 
the time, as the resources of the Deccan were ex­

hausted bY two Years of famine, and the annie::-. ., ., 

were reduced to small numbers. Bhimraj also 

promised to join him, provided he were admitted 
to share in lhe conquests made from the Mussul­

mans ; and engaged for the present to allow him 
to retain the fort and district of Condapilly. The 
Ray of Orissa, m·ailiug himself of these offers, 

rollectcd ten thousand liorse, and eight thousand 
foot, and having summoned the Raja of Jajnuggur 

to his assistance, entered Tulingana without delay. 

;, :1raharashtm. 
t 1L is difficult for tho~c persons who have not witnessed the 

calamity ~o ima~ine th~ ~istres~ o~casion~tl h)'. long droughts, 
and thl' failure of the penocl1cal rams m tropical ehmates, 
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Nizam-ool-Moolk, governor of Rajmundry, unable 
to cope with so large a force, shut himself up in 
that fortrrss, and sent accounts to comt of his 
situation. 

Mahomecl Shah, by the advice of Khwaja ;\fah­
mood Gawan, resoked to march against the 
infidels in person. Having, thereforf', advanced 
one year·s pay to the troops, he began his journey 
with all practicable expedition. On his arri\·al 
near Rajmundry, the enrmy declined meeting him 
in the field, Bhimraj retired to the fortress of 
Condapilly, and the Ray of Orissa, crossing the 
river at Rajmundry, retreated towards his own 
dominions. Mahomed Shah, enraged at this un­
provoked aggression, left Khwaja !vJahmood 
Gawan, ,:vith the Prince Mahmood Khan, at Raj­
mundry, and marched with twenty thousand 
horse to punish the rebellious idolater. In the 
latter part of the year 882, the King penetrated 

to the capital of Orissa, and slew 
A. H. 882· . l I • h b' th wit 10ut mercy t 1e m a 1tants, at e 
.\, IJ. 1f77, 

same time devastating the enemy's 
country. T'he Ray having withdrawn his troops 
to the very extremity of his possessions, the l\faho­
medans ranged unmolested, and collected contri­
butions from the people. The King, at length, 
determined to send for his son and Khwaja Mah­
mood Ga.wan, and to establish them in the pro,. 
vince, which he determined to occupy as a perma­
nent conquest. 

The Ray of Orissa, hearing of the King's in­
tentions, sent repeated embassies, ,vith presents of 
elephants and other valuable articles, to open the 
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door of forgiveness, declaring, solemnly, that he 
would never,.on any future occasion, assist the 
zemiO:dars of Tulingana. To ·this the King re­
plied, that i[ he would give him up twenty-fh·e 
elephants, which he named, and which had be­
longed to the late Ray, his predecessor, lu'.>. woulcl 
make peace. Although the Ray prized these 
elephants next to his life, he durst not refuse; they 
were accordingly sent, clothed in rich trappings, 
bearing in their trunks chains of gold. and silver. 
After which, the King commenced his return from 
Orissa. 

On the road, while one day engaged at some 
distance from his route in hunting, he saw a fort 
on a high hill, and going to view it nearer witlt 
his attendants, asked some of the country people 
to whom it belonged. They replied, that it was 
the property of the Ray of Orissa, and that no 
power dared be so rash as to cast even a look of 
conquest upon it. The King, incensed at this 
remark, halted at the foot of the hill, and the 
next day began the siege, which continued a 
month and a half without success. At the expi­
ration of that period, the Ray sent an apology for 
the rudeness of his subjects, whom he called 
clowns unacquainted with politeness, and entreat­
ed his l\fajesty would consider the fort his own 
by conquest, but bestow it upon him as one of 
his vassals. This ingenious apology pleasing the 
King, he raised the siege, and continued his march. 

Mahomed Shah now sat down before Conda­
pilly, and Bhim Raj, after six months, being much 
rlistressed, sued for pardon ; which being granted, 
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at the intercession of some of the nobility, he sur­
rendered the fort and town to the royal troops. 
'l:I1e King having gone to view the fort, broke 
down an idolatrous temple, and killed some 
b'ramins, who officiated at it, with his own hands, 
as a point of religion. He then gave orders for a 
mosque to be erected on the foundation of the 
temple, and ascending a pulpit, repeated a few 
prayers, distributed alms, and commanded the 
Khootba to be read in his name. Khwaja Mahmood 
Gawan now represented, that as his Majesty had 
slain some infidels with his own hands, he might 
fairly assume the title of Ghazy, an appellation of 
which he was very proud. Mahmood Shah was 
the first of his race who had slain a bramin ;* and 
it is the belief of the Deccanies that this act was 
inauspicious, and led to the troubles which soon 
after perplexed the affairs of himself and his family, 
and ended in the dissolution of the dynasty. 

Mahomed Shah, according to the advice of 
Khwaja Mahmood, remained nearly three years at 
Rajmundry, settling the conquered country, and 
establishing proper military posts on that frontier. 
Having secured the whole of Tulingana, by 
expelling all the refractory zemindars, he resolved 
on the conquest of the territory of Nursing Ray, 
and consulted his minister on the subject of 
establishing a governor for ili:~ province of Tulin­
gana. The minister replied, that no one was more 

* The reader will r<>collect the circumstances which gave 
rise to this dynasty assuming the title of Bahmuny, 

VOL. ll.-63. 
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capable of such a charge than Nizam-ool-Moolk 
Bheiry ; and the King, approving of the choice, 
committed to his care Rajmundry, Condapilly, 
and several other places. Wurungole, and other 
districts, he conferred on Azim Khan, after which 
he began his march towards the territory of 
Nursing Ray. Nizam-ool-Moolk, disappointed 
that Azim Khan should have a distinct charge 
within his province, represented, that he wished to 
leave his government in charge of one of his sons, 
and attend the royal stirrup. To this application 
the King replied, that his object was to afford 
protection to the country, and he was, therefore, 
indifferent by whom that should be effected. It is 
said that Khwaja l\fahmood, perceiving Nizam­
ool-Moolk to be extremely ambitious, did not wish 
that his son, Mullik Ahmud, who had lately married 
a lady from the King's haram, and was more 
aspiring even than his father, should be stationed 
with him in the same province. At the time when 
Nizam-ool-Moolk was originally appointed 
gm·ernor of Rajmundry, he persuaded the King 
to station Mullik Ahmu<l under Khodawund Khan 
Hubshy, giving him au estate in the Mahoor dis­
trict, with the rank of an officer of three hundred. 
Mahomed Shah, however, now complying with 
the request of Nizam-ool-Moolk, recalled his son 
Mullik Ahmud to camp, promoted him to the 
rank of commander of a thousand men, and per­
mitted him to proceed as his father's deputy to 
Rajmundry. 

Nursing Ray wa.s a powerful raja possessing 
the country lying between the Carnatic and 
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Tulingana, * extending alone the sea-coast to 
Muchlyputtun t (fish-town), ancl had added much 
of the Beejanuggur territory to his own by conquest, 
together with several strong forts. He hacl fre­
quently excited the zemindars on the Dahmuny 
frontier to rebel;· and the officers on the borders, 
unable to control his power, had more than once 
represented his conduct to court, which had, at 
length, induced the King to attack him. 

Mahomed Shah, in the beginning of this ex­
pedition, marching by a ruined fort, :j: and being 
told that it had been erected by one of the Kings 
of Dehly to overawe the borderers, halted, and 
commanded it to be repaired without delay. 
Khwaja Mahmood Gawan made such exertions 
that the ordinary work of two years was accomp­
lished in the short space of six months, a garrison 
established, and ample stores of all kinds laid in 
for its defence. On !\fa.homed Shah finding the 
works completed in so short a time, he exclaimed, 
"The Almighty hath bountifully conferred upon 
"me two incalculable blessings; a great kingdom 
"and such a servant as Mahmood Ga wan!" Hav­
ing said this, he took off his upper robe, and put­
ting it on the shoulders of Khwaja Mahmood, 
took his in return, and put it on his own person. 
No history, I believe, records an instance of so 
great an honour being conferred by any king on a 

* It is the tract called by the early Europeans Nursinga,. 
probably after this prince. 

t l\fosulipatam. 
+ Name not mentioned. 
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subject. But as the attainment of supreme favour 
often leads to distrust, and sometimes even to a 
downfall, so it happened to Khwaja Mahmood 
Gawan, as will be hereafter related. 

Mahomed Shah, having stationed three thou­
sand horse near the fort to protect his rear, 
marched onward. \Vherever he came he laid 
waste the country, and slew such of the inhabi­
tants as made resistance. On his arrival at Con­
dapilly, he was informed by the country people, 
that at the distance of ten days' journey was the 
temple of Kunchy, * the walls and roof of which 
were covered with plates of gold, and ornament­
ed with precious stones;· but that no Mahomedan 
monarch had as yet seen it, or even heard of its 
name. Mahomed Shah, accordingly, selected six 
thousand of his best cavalry, and leaving the rest 
of his army at Condapilly, proceeded by forced 
marches to Kunchy. He moved so rapidly on the 
last day, according to the historians of the time, 
that only forty troopers kept up with him, among 
which number were Nizam-ool-Moolk Bheiry and 
Yoorish Khan Toork. On approaching the 
temple some Hindoos came forth, one of whom, a 
man of gigantic stature, mounted on horseback, 
and brandishing a drawn sabre by way of defi­
ance, rushed full speed towards the King, and 
aimed a blow which the latter parried ; and with 
one _stroke of his sword cleaved. him in twain. 
Another infidel then attacked the King, whose 

* Conjeveram. 
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little band was shortly engaged man to man with 
the enemy; but Mahomed Shah had again the 
good fortune to slay his opponent, upon which 
the rest of the Hindoos retired into the temple. 
Swarms of people, like bees, now issued from 
within, and ranged themselves under the walls to 
defend it. At length, the rest of the King's force 
coming up, the temple was attacked and carried 
by storm, with great slaughter. An immense 
booty fell to the share of the victors, who took 
away nothing but gold, jewels, and silver, which 
were abundant. The King then sacked the city 
of Kuncl1y, and after remaining therein for a 
week, he returned to his army. 

After this achie,·ement, Mahomed Shah having 
consulted Mullik Hussun Nizam-ool-Moolk,;,, 
Yoosoof Adil Khan, and Fukhr-ool-1\foolk, de­
tached them, together with many other of the 
foreign officers and troops, composed of the ,Dow­
lutabad and Joonere divisions, consisting of about 
fifteen thousand men, against Nursing Ray. The 
King himself marched towards Muchly-puttun, a 
place also belonging to Nursing Ray, which he 
reduced, with all the dependent country, and then 
returned to Condapilly. It was at this time that 
Nizam-ool-Moolk, Zureef-ool-1\Ioolk, and other 
officers, envious of the fayour shown towards the 
minister, bribed several of the King's confidential 
personal domestics to throw out occasional hints 

* Although from this sentence we should Jlaturally con­
clude that l\Iullik Hussun Nizam-ool-:.\foolk (a Deccany) also 
went, yet from the context, explaining that the troops con• 
sisted of foreigners, and were the divisions of Dowlutabad and 
Joonere, it appears certain he did not accompany this force, 
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prejudicial to Khwnja Mahmood Gawan. They 
lost no opportunity of poisoning the King's mind, 
by rendering him suspicious of the minister's am­
bition, and insinuated that great peculations took 
place in the royal revenue. At length they 
brought that great man to destruction, by con­
triving an infamous forgery. Before I enter into 
the particulars of this transaction, it will be pro­
per to state the causes of the hostility of those 
nobles who plotted his destruction. 

The Bahmuny territories having, in the reign 
of Mahomed Shah, become very extensive, Khwaja 
Mahmood Gawan thought it desirable to make 
several alterations in the ordinances established 
by Alla-ood-Deen Hussun Shah Gungoo, which 
were calculated for a small state. Having con­
vinced the King of this necessity, he was permit­
ten to carry his plan into execution. The whole 
kingdom, which had been originally divided into 
four turufs, or provinces, and placed under four 
governors, was now distributed into eight. Berar 
was subdivided into two governments; viz. Ga­
vul being placed under Futteh Oolla Imad-ool-
1\foolk, and Mahoor under Khodawund Khan 
Hubshy. Dowlutabad was conferred on Yoosoof 
Adil Khan ; while a tract from Joonere, includ­
ing several dependent districts on the south, such 
as Indapoor, vVaee, Man, as well as the forts of 
Goa and Belgam, were placed under Fukhr-ool­
Moolk. Beejapoor, with many districts along the 
Beema, together with Rachore and Moodkul, 

. were reserved by the minister for himself. Ahsu­
nabad Koolburga, Sagur,Nuldroog, andSholapore, 
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were entursted to the Abyssinian eunuch 
Dustoor Deenar .. The country of Tulingana, at 
one time entirely in the hands of Nizam-ool­
Moolk llheiry, was also divided. Rajmundry, 
·Muchly-puttun, Dilconda, Oorca, &c. still conti­
nued under his charge; while the government· of 
Wurungole was conferred on Azim Khan. Sever­
al places in each of the eight di,·isions ,vere re­
served especially to meet the King's private ex­
penses ; and distinct collectors were appointed 
from court to manage them. 

From the time of Alla-ood-Deen Shah to the 
present reign, it had been the custom to leave all 
the forts, in each province, in the hands of the 
governor, or turufdar, who appointed his own 
commandant and garrison. In consequence of 
this arrangement, the goYernors of proYinces had 
sometimes rebelled, and it had frequently been 
found diffir.ult to re<luce them to subjection. By 
the new regulation one fortress alone ,,·as left in 
the governor's hands, in which he might, if he 
chose, reside; but the remainder were entrusted 
to officers and tro,1ps distinctly appointed by the 
King, and paid frum head-quaters. 

The mode of priying the army w.as also alter­
ed; formerly the officers of five hundred men had 
one lack of hoons* per annum ; of a thofasand, 

* The 1100n may fairly be estimated at three and a half 
rupees. An estate, for the support of five hundred cavalry in 
the field then would yield 350,000 rupees, out of which ten 

_per cent. at least must be deducted for collectors and main-
taining a police establishment, leaving a net balance of 
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two facks, whether payable jn cash or in jageer 
assignment. Khwaja Mahmoo_d, after the entire 
conquest of Tulingana, in order to conciliate the 
arm.y, increased the pay of an officer of five hun­
dred to one lack and twenty-fiye thousand hoons, 
and an officer of a thousand to two lacks and 
fifty thousand. In the jageer assignments it was 
understood, if the revenues fell short of the esti­
mate even by one hoon, the balance was payable 
out of the royal treasury : 

:iµore than is necessary to support an equal number, of the 
same description of cavalry, in the British army, in India, at 
the present day. _ 

The comparison is useful and interesting ; and if the state­
ment of the historian, which bears truth 011 the face of it, is to 
be relied on, it proves how much more liberally the Indian 
army was paid in those times than now. The difference is 
greatly magnified, too, if we consider the relative value of the 
metals in those days and the present. 

Comparative A!Jstract of the pay of a body of five hundred 
cavalry, supplying their own horses and weapons, and feed­
_ing their cattle, under the Bahmuny kings of the Deccan in 
1470, and under the J3ritish government in the Deccan in 
1828 :-

Bahmnn)" Regiment British ReKhncnt 
in 1470. in 182!i. 

Dc:nominaUon. 
Each Hach· - . H.E.'.\JARKS . 

Rank, Total of Rank, Total of 
per each Rank. per each Rank. 

Month. Month. 

Commandant ... 2500 2500 1000 1000 In the British 
Risaldar ... ... Boo Boo 500 500 

service, the 

Five Jemadars commandant ... 200 1000 100 500 is an Enru~ 
Twenty Duffadars ... _.90 1800 60 1200 pean. 
Accountant, or Paymaster 150 150 50 so 
Five hundred Privates ... 40 20,000 JO 15,000 

26,250 
.Months.I 

18,250 
12 12 Montho. --315,000 I 219,000 
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at the sairie time, "if the officers kept one soldier less 
than the complement, a sum equal to his pay was 
deducted from the allowances. By these excellent 
rules order every where prevailed, the government 
acquired strength, and justice was done to all 
parties; but this rigid scrutiny gave offence to 
many ambitious chiefs, who, in consequence, en­
tertained hatred to the minister. 

Khwaja i\fahmnod percei,·ed their discontent; 
but as ·all his \'iews were directed to the public 
interest only, he disregarded it, feeling confidence 
in himself and his friends. Among the most 
sincere of these was Yoosoof Adil Khan, his 
adopted s01i. The enemies of the minister also 
felt that while these two chiefs remained together 
no attempt could be madE' against either. Yoo­
soof i\.dil Khan, having, as we have seen, gone 
on the expedition against )Jursing Ray, the two 
friends were separated, and a number of Dec­
canies* and Abyssinians, who had been raised to 
high offices entirely at the recommendation of 
Khwaja l\fahmood, entered into a conspiracy with 
Nizam-ool-moolk Bheiry against their patron, 
recommending that advantage should be taken of 
Yoosoof Adil Khan's absence to effect the des­
truction of the minister. 

Zureef-ool-Moolk Deccany, and one Mifta an 
Abyssinian, were the two persons sel~cted to exe­
cute the plot. Hm·ing laid themselves out for the 

* The I >cceanics and Abyssinians on this as well as all 
other occasions seemed to make common cause against the 

foreigners. 

• VOL,-II, 64. 
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purpose, they became intimate with the Abyssinian 
slave who kept the minister's seal, and were in the 
habit of drinking with him. On one occasion, 
when the slave was much inebriated, they asked 
him to affix the minister's seal to a paper, which 
they said was an account of one of their friends, to 
which the signet of several of the departments was 
already attached, and which only required the 
minister's. The slave, intoxicated with liquor, 
complied, and without even unfolding the paper 
stamped the seal on the part pointed out to him. 
The two wretches, overjoyed at their success, went 
the same night to Nizam-ool-Moolk, who wrote 
a letter on the paper, as if from Khwaja Mahmood 
to the Ray of Orissa, in these words: I am weary 
"of the debaucheries and cruelty of Mahomed 
"Shah: the Deccan may be conquered with little 
"trouble. On the Rajmundry frontier, there is 
"no officer of any character ; and that tract lies 
"open to invasion from your quarter. As most of 
"the officers and troops are devoted to my interests, 
"J will join you with a powerful army. \Vhen 
"we have, in conjunction, reduced the kingdom, 
"we can divide it equally between us." Zureef­
" ool-Moolk and Mifta Hubshy were instructed to 
deliver this letter to the King, in the presence of 
Nizam-ool-Moolk. Mahomed Shah, seeing the 
seal, was incensed beyond measure, and Nizam­
ool-Moolk availed himself of the moment to 
criminate the minister more deeply by false 
insinuations. The King, losing all command over 
his reason, and without weighing the probability 
of the circumstance, sent for Khwaja Mahmood, 
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without even asking to see the messenger, who, it 
was pretended, had been intercepted carrying the 
letter. The minister's friends warned him against 
going, and recommended him to frame some excuse 
for not obeying that day, but to wait till the King's 
frenzy should abate; by which time the authors 
of the forgery might be detected,1and brought 
to punishment. Khwaja Mahmood resolved to 
meet the danger, repeating, in reply, certain 
verses to the following effect :---" He who dies a 
martyr in 1.he fulness of devotion, has his reward 
"here and hereafter; happy, then, would it be for 
"me to meet with so enviable a destiny. 

" My beard has grown grey in the service of the 
"father, it will surely be honourable that it be 
" dyedi,; red in that of the son ... 

Many of the chiefs attached to the minister 
sent messengers to him, saying, that they had 
heard alarming reports, but they had each a thou­
sand horse ready, and that if he chose to Hy to 
Guzerat, they would attend him, and sacrifice 
their lives for him. He replied, he had for many 
years enjoyed an honourable station in his mas­
ter's service, during which he had been guilty of 
110 crime; that he relied with confidence on the 
justice of the King, who would certainly not 
punish a faithful servant on the bare accusations 
of his enemies; but if impelled by Providence to 
do so, it was befitting in him to submit to the 

* The pun here cannot be translated. In old age the 
white beard is dyed first of a red hue, and by the application 
of indigo is changed to black. 
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decree., He concluded by observing, ,that-' tbe 
measure they proposed, out of duty and friendship,· 
would on his part be ingratitude and rebellion. 

Having made up his mind to the worst, he 
went to court: Mahomed Shah sternly asked 
him, "\Vhen any one is disloyal to his sovereign, 
,., and his crime be pro,·ed, what should be his 
"punishment?" The Khwaja undauntedly replied, 
" Let the abandoned wretch who practises treason 
"against his lord meet \vith no menT:· The 
King then shO\ved him the letter ; upon ~.eeing 
which, the minister, after repeating the Yer~e . of 
the Koran, "0 God, verily this is a great forgery," 
~aid, " The seal is mine, but not the letter, of 
"which I haYe no knowledge." He concluded, by 
repeating the following vtrse: "By that God 
·" whose commands ha Ye been fulfilled by the just, 
"even at the expense of their blood, false as the 
"story of Yoosoof and the wolf* is that whicluny 
"enemies ha\·e forged against me." The, King­
being at the time intoxicated with wine, had 
resigned his reason to fury, and as the decline, of 
·the house of Bahmunv was also to be s0011 
·completed, he went into· no further examination,· 
·but rising from his seat, ordered his Abyssinian 
·slave Jowhm to put the minister to death on the 
:~pot Khwaja Mahmood, addressing the.. King, 
;~aid, '.' The death of an q.ljd;nan like me is, in.­
, :'-de~d, of little moment; bu:t- to -your Majes~y it 
," will be the lo_ss of an empire, .. and the ruin of 
n your character." The King without atfending 

·* .Alluding to the well-known i;tory of Joseph in sacred 
history 
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to· him, went abruptly into his haram. : .The 
slave then· drawing his sabre advanced-towards 
the Klnvaja, who, kneel1ng down facing the 
Kibla,* saiq. '' There is no God but. Goc.l and 
"l\fahomed is the prophet of God." As the sabre 
descended he exclaimed,." Praise be to God," and 
thus resigned his soul to the clevine mercy. Asud 
Khan Geelany, an officer of high rank, and a 
friend of the Khwaja, happening to be present, 
was put to cleath by the slave also, ·without 
orders. Thus died Kltwaja l\Iahmood Gawan, in 
the seventy-eight.Ii year of his age. .-\ little be­
fore his death he completed a poem in praise of 
his master, :\Iahomed Shah. 

· His death happened on the 5th of Suffur 5 . 
. \. H. 886. Suffur, 886 ; and l\Iool la Abdool Kur-
.\,iril 5. reeni Sindy, the author of the Tareeklt 
A. 11· 158r. l\fahmood Shahy, one of the· servants 
of the Khwaja, composed the following \·erses 
on his martyrdom :-

,: lf vou would know the dat.e, \\·hen the in­
•~ nocent martyr, truly worthy of \·eneration, 
" whose bounty made the world glad, suffered 
"death, you will find it recorded in 

~Au Jii 
.. ' Tft,, lfllJ!'·':t E.n·oditm. · ·· t 

In another clistich, thP same author obsen·es; 
" If you are· asked the dafr of his ~lecitii, ·say that 

'-1:h·..::: r.1..::: 1.)l ..iy~='" ~w- u! 

•''the g11iltless 11Eahmood (,',m,a11 s1~(lt'red 111ar(1•nl(llll.'" t 

* Mecca. 
t The Persian \\"ords, tra11slatcd in italics, afford the number 

886, the date of the minister's death. 
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· There are in the Deccan many remains- of the 
zp.unificence of this great man, particularly a col­
lege built by him at Ahmudabad Bidur two 
years before his death, containing also a mosque 
and a large square, which at the· date of this 
history were as entire as if. only just :finished.* 
Khwaja Mahmood possessed much learning; he 
evinced great taste in his compositions, both in 
prose and verse, and in arithmetic and mathe­
matics he had few equals. The Rozut-ool-Insha 
and some poems of his production are still extant 
in a few of the libraries in the Deccan. It was 
his practice to remit annually valuable presents 
to several learned .men in Khcirassan and Irak, 
and the princes of those parts bestowed honours 
upon him. Mowlana Jamy Abdool Rahman 

* After the capture of Bidur by Aurunzeeb, in the latter 
end of the seventeenth century, this splendid range of buildings 
was appropriated to the double purpose of a powder magazine 
and barrack for a body of cavalry, when, by accident, the 
powder exploding, destroyed the greater part of the edifice, 
causing dreadful havoc around. Sufficient of the work remains, 
however, even at the present day, to afford some notion of its 
magnificence and beauty. The outline of the square, and 
wme of the apartments, an: yet entire, and one of the minarets 
is still standing. It is mon: than one hundred foet in height, 
ornamented with tablets, on which sentences of the Koran, in 
white letters, three feet in length, standing forth on a ground of 
green and gold, still exhibits to the spectator a good sample 
of what this superb edifice once was. The college is one of 
the very many beautiful remains of the grandeur of the Bah­
muny and Hereed dynasties, which flourished at Bidur; and 
they render a visit to that city an object of lively interest to 
all travellers, but particularly to those who may peruse this 
history. 
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corresponded with him, and some of his letters 
are to be seen in his works. Among the Mow­
lana's poems is one written in praise of that 
minister. Moolla Abdool Kureem Sindy has 
written an excellent life of Khwaja Mahmood, 
part of which is here insert~d. 

Khwaja .Mahmood's ancestqrs had for many· 
generations in succession held the office of vizier 
to the princes of Geelan in Persia. One of these 
became ruler of Rushd, which territory, according 
to Hajy Mahomed Kahdahary, continued in the 

· family till the time of Shah Tahmasp Sufvy. 
Khwaja Mahm_oo·d, himself of royal extraction, 
alarmed at the jealousy .of Shah Tahasp, persuad­
ed his mother to. quit his birth-place; and though 
invited to fill the. high station of vizier by the 
princes of Irak and Khorassan, he refused that dan­
gerous office, choosing rather to become a mer­
chant. .In this capacity he travelled through many 
countries, and made-acquaintance with celebrated 
and learned men in each. In his forty-third year, 
with a view partly to traffic and party in order to 
visit the learned men of the Deccan, he came by 
sea to the port of Dabul, and from thence travelled 
to Ahmudabad Bidur, intending to proceed from 
that capital to Dehly. Alla-ood-Deen Shah the 
Second, appreciating his great qualities,. prevailed 
on him to become enrolled among his nobility. 
In the reign of Hoomayoon Shah Zalim he received 
the title of Mullik-oot-Toojar, and rose to the 
first office in the state. Mahomed Shah added to 
this several other titles, among which was· that of 
Khwaja Jehan. During this reign he had two 
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thousand· Moguls· in' his own ·service,: and the 
command ·of ten thousand horse from the King. 
The following reason is given for liis being called 
Gawan: Being one day in the King's company 
sitting on a terrace of the p~lace, a cow happened 
to low underneath, when one of the assembly 
jocosely remarked, "The learned minister will 
" perhaps tell your i\fajestj, what the cow says.,. 
On which Khw'aja Mahmood. observed, "She 
"says I am.one of her s·pecies, and should not keep 
"company with an ass:· \\'hen he received the 
ti_tle of Khwaja .Tehan, he prophetically observed 
that be feared it \Vas unlucky as all who had held 
it came to an untimely end. He was by persuasion 
a rigid Soony. His loyalty to Iviahomecl Shah 
was s_incere; and the fame of his liberality spread 
over Asia ; there being scarce a town or city the 
learned men of which had not <lerived advantage 
from his bounty. His behaviour was affable to all, 
and.his justice unimpeachable. 
• · Mahomed Shah haxing heard frequent reports 
of thP. vast wealth of his minister, sent for the 
t_reasurer, Nizam-ood-Deen Hussun Geelany, and 
demanded where the money, jewels, and plate of the 
Khwaja were deposited. The treasurer, in apparent 
alarm, told the King that if he would spare his life 
he would discover all; on which, expecting to realise 
a great booty, the Kiug took a solemn oath, pro­
mising if he · concealed nothing to reward him 
handsomely. The treasurer then said, "0 Sire, my 
"rriaster had two treasuries, -one of which he called 
"the King's, from which were issu·ed the expenses of 
~' his troops, stables, and·.household; in this there 
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"are now ten thousand larees* and three thousand 
" h<:>ons ; the other he called the treasury of the 
"poor, and in this there is a sealed bag contain­
" ing three hundred larees. •·t The King said, 
"How comes it that the Khwaja, whose re\'enues 
'' equalled that of many kings, should only have 
""so small a sum?" The treasurer said, '' "'hen­
" ever money came from his jageer, ha,·ing taken 
"for the King's treasurj1 the pay of his troops 
"and stables, he gaye the remainder, in your 
"Majesty's name, to the poor, not reservin.g a 
"cowrie:j: for his own use. A sum of forty thou­
" sand larees,§ ·which he brought with him from 
"Persia to the Deccan, he employed in trade, and 
"preseffing always that capital, he expended 
"two larees daily for his own kitchen and apparel 
"out of the profit, the remainder of which was 
"carried into the treasury for the poor, and 
"issued from thence in sums remitted to his 
"mother, his relati,·es, and worthy persons, wit~ 
" whom he had made acquainic!,nce in his travels;· 
"and who would not come to Hindoostan:· · 

The enemies of the minister were confounded 
at this account; but enviously remarked, that the 
Khwaja was a prudent man, and suspecting his 
expenses might betray his riches, had left them 
secreted at the capital. To which the treasurer 
replied, that if one laree belonging to him should 
be found there. or any where, besides the sums he 

* A silver coin worth t,vo shillings. t 60/. 
+ A small shell, of which thirty went to a penny. 
§4000I. 

VOL. II,-65. 
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had mentioned, he would submit to the severest 
punishment. The King then assembled all the 
late minister's sen-ants, end first questioned the 
chief furash,* who said, that aJl the tents and 
carpets his master had were no,v in the camp, ex­
cept some matting in the city on the floors of his 
mosque and college: he observed that the Khwaja 
ahvays slept himself upon a bare mat. The o,·er­
seer of the kitchen was then called, who declared, 
that all the utensils and vessels were with him; 
but that the victuals for his master's own eating 
were always prepared in earthen pots. The libra­
rian lastly stood forth, and acknowledged that 
there we;e in the library three thousand volumes, 
but all designed for the students of the college. 
The King now became melancholy ; and the trea­
surer took courage to say, "0 King! may many 
" thousands SLtch as Mahmood Ga wan be a sacrifice 
"for thy safety; but why didst thou not regard 
"the claims of that minister, and ascertain who 
"was the bearer of the letter to the Ray of Orissa, 
"that his treason might appear manifest to us, and 
"to all man-kind." Mahomed Shah, stuck with the 
observation, and awaking as if from a trance of 
stupefaction, called to the accusers of the unfortu­
nate minister to bring the bearer of the letter be­
fore him. None could be produced; and the real 
truth now flashed on the King's mind; he trem­
bled with horror·at the act that he had committed, 
and retired in to his haram full of remorse and 
sorrow at his rash credulity, and for the unjust 

* The controller of the camp-equipage. 



:\IAHOl\.fE:0 SHAH' BAHl\!UNY- u; j!j 

sentence passed against his faithful servant and 
friend. The body of the deceased was sent off in 
melancholy pomp from the camp to Ahmudabad 
Bidur for interment; three days after which cere­
mony, the Prince ~lahmood Khan and many of 
the nobility were directed to visit the grave. 

The King now gave orders to march; but on 
the very same night Imad-ool-l\foolk and Khoda~ 
wund Khan, with the Berar and l\fahoor divisions, 
separating from the camp, moved four miles dis­
tant. Mahomed Shah, surprised at their conduct, 
deferred hi.s journey, and sent to enquire the cause 
of their movement. They replied, that as the fa­
vourite servants of his Majesty had by their machi­
nations destroyed such a 1ninister as Khwaja Mah­
mood Gawan, they could not but be apprehensive 
of their own safety if they remained at court. The 
King, upon this, sent them a confidential message, 
desiring them to come to his presence, that by their 
assistance he might punish the traitors ,vho had 
thus abused his confidence. To this they replied, 
that whenever Yoosoof Adil Khan should arri\·e, 
they would come with him, and throw themselves 
at his Majesty's feet. The King, seeing that pati­
ence and conciliation alone would avail him, sent 
an order to Yoosoof Adil Khan, who came with 
all expedition to Condapill~·. and pitched his camp 
close to that of the t\Yo disaffected chieftains; 
shortly after which, they obtained whatsoever 
they required. Beejapoor, the jageer of the late 
Khwaja Mahmood Gawan, was conferred on Yoo­
soof Adil Khan, who was appointed turufdar; 
w bile Duria Khan Fukhr-ool-Moolk, Mulloo Khan, 
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and most of the Mognl officers attached to him, 
obtained estates in that division. Futteh Oolla 
Iinad-ool-Moolk and Khodawund Khan were con­
firmed in th_eir governments, and also obtained 
other demands which they made. Having attend­
ed the King to ~\hmudabad Bidur, these chiefs 
encamped without the city and refused to enter 
it; on which the King, finding his authority un­
supported, did not give way to useless passion, as 
might haYe been expected, but submitting peace­
ably to their conduct, permitted them to return 
with due honours to their several estates. He 
vainly hoped, that Nizam-ool-1foolk Bheiry, now 
appointed minister, would supply the place of 
Khwaja l\fahmood Gawan. In order to strengthen 
the hands of his new minister, he loaded him daily 
with public honours and private benefits; but 
these measures only tended to render him more ancl 
more the object of jealousy, hatred, and contempt. 

Some months afterwards, the King, in hopes 
that Yoosoof .\dil Khan, Imad-ool-Moolk, ancl 
Khodawund Khan, would join him with their 
armies, marched from the capital; but though they 
accompanied him, they encamped at a distance, 
and paid their respects only on the line of march, 
standing afar off, and being surrounded with their 
gaurdl-,. l\Iahomed Shah, a thousand times in an 
hour, regretted the loss of Khwaja Mahmood; 
but as there was now no remedy, he scorned to 
complain, though he inwardly suffered extreme 
anguish. \Vhen the army reached Belgam, and 
the King had seen the city and fortifications, he 
refused to visit Goa and the Cancan, though 
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repeatedly pressed by his officers to do so; but re­
turned to the capital. At this time, intelligence 
arrived that Shew Ray, Raja of Beejanuggur, had 
sent a large army against Goa: on ,vhich the 
King directed Y oosoof Adil Khan to proceed with 
the Beejapoor division to oppose him. He himself 
returned by regular marches to Ferozabad: when 
Futteh Oolla Imad-ool-Moolk and Khodawund 
Khan, quitting the army on the route without lea Ye, 
retired to their respecti,·e gO\·ernments in Berar. 

Mahomed Shah, aware that an attempt to en­
force his authority must be attended by a civil war, 
resolved to take no notice of this conduct. He 
halted for three months at Ferozabad, and endea­
voured to beguile the time in pleasure; but he was 
inwardly a prey to grief and mortification, which 
wasted his strength daily. He now proclaimed his 
son, the Prince Mahmood, his successor, and nomi­
nated Nizam-ool-Moolk regent in case of his death. 
A document to this effect was drawn out in writing, 
attested by the signatures and seals of the learned 
and pious men of the court. \Vhile this paper ,vas 
framing, the King frequently said, "If they do 
" not obey me, who reigned gloriously for many 
"years, and conquered nations with my sword, 
"how will they submit to a child?•· His weakness 
daily increased; but upon his return to Ahmud­
abad Bidur he grew better, and presuming upon 
it, indulged in excesses which produced a relapse. 
His fever had not entirely left him, when one day 
he drank a large cup of wine, and withdrew to his 
haram, which brought on a sen~re fit. The physi­
cians administered to him medicines immediately, 
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and seeing hiifl somewhat" recovered, retfred. In 
their absence, the· King, from the vulgar notion 
that nothing is so good to remoye the lassitude 
from intoxication as a fresh cordial, drank more 
wine, and instantly fell into strong convulsions, 
during which he cried out that Khwaja Mahmood 
Gawan was tearing him to pieces; till at length 

Suffur 1. he trod the path of death on the rst of 
• A. H. 887. Suffur, 887, after a reign of twenty 
March 24. years. The date of his death is com­
A.D, i48z. prised in the following verses :-

" Sooltan Mahomed Shah, ruler of kings, 
"When suddenly summoned to yield up his breath, 

"Abandoned the Deccan, and all wordly things, 
"And 'the ruin of Deccan '* recorded his death. ' 

* The words· ~e 1:/f..,. .._,i!;,--
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The minister strengthens t.lze Deccany par.ty in tlu 
go·vernment.-Yoosoof Adil Khan takes tlze lead of tlze 
fonigners.-A f1·ay tnkes place between hoth parties.-A 
compromise ensues, and tile foreigners quit the capital.­
The minister and Kasim Bereed usurp the powe,· of tile 
state.-The King authorises their being assassinated-the 
attempt is made in the palace, but fails.-The minister 
becomes tmpojll(lar, and a second attempt to kill him suc­
ceeds.-Tht• Ki11_R" nbando11s himse(f to wine and dissipation 
-converts tlze azure thrown i11to drinking gohlets and 
11ases.-Kasim Be1·eed assumes the reigns of go1·en1mcnt. 
An attempt is made to murder the King, which is defeated 
by a few fore1iners alo11e.-T/ie Kint proceeds to tlze1cesf. 
wa1·d with Kasim Bereed to reduce Bahadur Geelan)', who 
revolts in tire Concan.-Bahadur Gee/any killed.-The 
King 1·eturns to Bidur.-Plot to assassinate flu: minister 
fails.-The minister dies-is succeeded b)' his so,1 Amcer 
Bened, to whom the King becomes rl'conciled.-Dcath of 
Mahmood Shah. 

MAHMOOD SHAH ascended the throne of the 
Deccan in the twelfth year of his age ; and the 
officers then at court, such as Nizam-ool-1\foolk 
Bheiry, Kowam-ool•Moolk, Kasim Bereed Toork, 
and others, took the usual oaths of allegiance, 
and the coronation was conducted with much 
Geremony. The Tukht Feroza was placed in 
the grand _ hall or audience, and .on each side 
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0f it a chair of silver. Shah Mohib Oolla and 
Abdool Huneef, the two most celebrated holy 
men of the age, having offered prayers for the 
King's prosperity, placed the crown on his head; 
then each supporting one arm, they assisted hiin 
to ascend the throne, which at this time exceeded 
in splendour and intrinsic \'alue every other in 
the world. After which the holy men seated 
themselves on either side on the silver chairs pre­
pared for them. Nizam-ool-Moolk Bheiry and 
Kasim Bereed then advancing, made propitiatory 
offerings, an example which was followed by alJ 
the nobles and officers present. Previously to the 
coronation, one of the chiefs observed, that Yoo­
soof Adil Khan Toork, Fukhr-ool-Moolk, Duria 
:J{han, and Mulloo Khan, some of the principal 
foreign officers, not being present, the coronation 
would be incomplete. In answer to which, Nizam­
ool-Moolk Bheiry replied, that ill consequences 
might ensue by keeping the throne vacant; but 
that if it were thought necessary, when the chiefs 
alluded to return from the campaign in the Can­
can, in which they were at present engaged, the 
ceremony might be repeated, and the titles and 
honours of those chiefs be confirmed, or additional 
ones bestowed. Moolla Abdool Kureem Sindy, 
who was present, states, that the people regarded 
these contentions as portentous of those evils 
which ensued ; for although the reign of Mahmood 
Shah endured for a long period, yet it was occu­
pied in troubles and civil wars, which ended in 
the subversion of the Bahmuny dynasty. 
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vVhen the late 1\fahomed Shah .ascended the 
throne, being but a child, many of the nobility 
aspired to become independent, but owing to the 
able_ co!]duct of the Queen-mother and Khwaja 
Mahmood Gawan, their designs were frustrated. 
\Vhen the King came to years of discretion, he 
soon rendered himself capable of conducting his 
own affairs, and by degrees the power of the nobility 
was restrained within proper bounds. The King's 
policy was to enrol foreigners, such as Georgians, 
Circassians, Calmucs, and other Tartars, among 
his personal guards. He had, besides, a band of 
two thousand :\byssinians and Indians From 
these bands were srlected the officers of goyern­
ment, who by degrees rose to great pm\.·er. Nizam­
ool-Moolk Bheiry, a converted Hindoo, was con­
sidered hy the Deccanies and Abyssinians as their 
leader; while the foreigners attached themselves 
to Yoosoof Adil Khan, originally a Toorky slm·e.* 
The minister, Khwaja Mahmood Gawan, himself 
a foreigner, favouring them, Yoosoof Adil Khan 
was permitted to stand at court above Nizam-ool­
Moolk Bheiry, which offended the pride of that_ 
chieftain ; and, in the end, led to the destruction . 
of that great minister as has been before related. 
Yoosoof Adil Khan, by the line of conduct he 
adopted, escaped the snares laid for him; and 

* I am disposed to think Ferishta (himself a Persian) uses 
the word gholam, in this place, merely to signify a devoted ser­
vant or soldier. The life-guards in Persia are distinguished by 
the appellation of Gholam-i-shahy, and they are composed of the 
sons of the most respectable nobles of the country. 

YOL, 11.-66. 
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being appointed turufdar of Heejapoor, became 
daily more powerful. 

On the death of Mahomed Shah, an<l on the 
accession of Mahmood Shah II., Y oosoof Adil 
Khan, and the foreign officers with him, having 
entered into engagements to support ear.h other, 
came f-rom the Cancan, in great force, to the capital, 
in order to congratulate the young King on his 
accession, and encamped without the city walls. 
Yoosoof Adil Khan, Duria Khan, Fukhr-ool­
Moolk, Mulloo Khan, Aj<lar Khan, and Ghuzun­
fur Khan, entered the city, with a thousand 
foreign horse, to pay their respects to the King. 
\Vhen arrived at the palace, though contrary to 
the etiquette of the court to enter with attendants, 
yet, apprehensive of treachery from Nizam-ool• 
Moolk, they were followed by two hundred armed 
men. Nizam-ool-Moolk met them with five hun­
dred select attendants, and paying them the most 
ceremonious attention, introduced these officers to 
the King. Yoosoof Adil Khan paid his respects 
in form, and assumed his place, as usual, abm·e 
Nizam-ool-Moolk and all the nobility. Duria 
Khan sat below Nizam-ool-Moolk, but above his 
son Mullik Ahmud, so that in case of treacherv 
·the foreign chiefs might fall on these two mini;­
ters. * Mullik Ahmud Bheiry attempted to move 
next his father, who forbade him to do so; and in 
order to prevent a disturbance, which he saw from 

* This is well described, and conveys to the mind of one who 
has been present at Asiatic courts a true picture of the scene. 
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the precautions taken by his rivals would be 
hazardous to his person, hastened. the ceremony 
of bestowing the dresses of honour by the King, 
and the dismissal of the visitors. Yoosoof Adil 
Khan, on coming out, took Nizam-ool-Moolk's 
hand, under pretence of com:ersation, and led him 
to the outer gate of the citadel, where, having 
joined the whole of his guards, the chieftains parted 
with mutual assurances of esteem and friend­
ship.* After which Yoosoof Adil Khan took up 
his residence at his own house in the city, with a 
guard of a thousand chosen men for his· protection, 
giving orders to Duria Khan and his other friends 
to return to camp, and to be on the alert. 

Nizam-ool-i\Ioolk the next day visited Yoosoof 
Adil Khan, and after many professions of regard, 
proposed that he and all the foreign officers should 
reside in the city, in order that they might attend­
with him at court, and assist in the management 
of public affairs. Yoosoof Adil Khan replied, 
that his kind intentions were fully appreciated, 
and were consistent with his o"·n feelings towards 
him, but that as for his daily attendance at court, 
there could be no occasion for it, as he and his 
friends were mere soldiers, and did not profess to 
understand the machinary of goYernment, which 
they were willing, he said, to see Nizam-ool-Moolk 

* To walk hand in hand bespeaks extreme friendship and 
esteem. Here Yoosoof had two objects. By securing the 
mini:ster's ricrht hand in hi:s 1':ft, he nut only evinced cordiality, 
but preventid his employing his :side-arms, while he had his own 
right hand free. 
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conduct uncontrolled, agreeably to the will of 
their late so\·ereign, leaving in their hands the 
execution of the King's military orders. Yoosoof 
Adil Khan observed, that his friends had better 
remain encamped without the city, as they were 
boisterous, and quarrels might ensue in the tm,vn 
between them and the Abyssinians and Deccanies. 
It was at length agreed that Kizam-ool-Moolk 
should have the post of Vakeel-oos-Sultunut,* and 
relinquish all the other great offices which he had 
held under the late King. By this arrangement 
the office of vizier was conferred on Kowam-ool­
Moolk, senior; the government of \Yurungole on 
Kowam-ool-i.\loolk, junior. The government of 
Rajmundry was made OYer to Dilawur Khan, 
Abyssinian, the chief oflices being shared out 
equally by both parties.t They then repaired to­
gether to court, where the King's assent being 
obtained, and dresses of confirmation presented, 
Y oosoof Adil Khan returned to his own house, 
and never after concerned himself in the internal 
affairs of the government. 

For a short time, the foreigners lived amicably 
with the Deccanies and Abvssinians; but ~izam­
ool-Moolk and Kowam-o~l-1\foolk, senior, en­
croaching on the former engagement, proposed to 
remove Yoosoof Adil Khan from Beejapoor, and 

* An office before described as equivalent to protector during 
the King's minority. 

t Hy this it is meaned, that half of the power of the state was 
in the hands of the Abyssinians and I >eccanies, under the patron­
age of Nizam-ool-Moolk Hheirr, and half in the hands of the 
foreigners under the patronage of Y oosoof Adil Khan. 
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confer that province on one Adil Khan Deccany, 
then deputy-goyernor of \Vurungole. ·with 
this view they sent for Adil Khan Deccany to 
court, together with Futteh Oolla Imad-ool-Moolk, 
on pretence of congratulating the King on his ac­
cession. They came accordingly, with their troops, 
and encamping without the walls, entered the 
city, with a fe,._v attendants, to pay their respects 
and make their offerings to the King, who receirnd 
them graciously, and conferred on them dresses as 
usual. 

About three weeks after this eyent. :\'izam-ool­
Moolk having cliscoYered that Kowam-ooi-:\Ioolk 
Toork had quarrelled with his party, now courted 
him, and proposed, with the assistance of the 
Deccany nobility, to de;)tory Yoosoof .\dil Khan, 
and send off his partisans to their different sta­
tions. He observed that the Deccaiw ofiicers felt 

~ 

they could not 1110\"e out of their houses e,·en, for 
fear of the foreigners : on which account he recom­
mended, that when their plan was ripe for exe­
cution Kowam-ool-l\Ioolk should restrain tl1e 
foreign troops under his orders from quitting their 
quarters. Kowam-ool-Moolk entered into the 
design ; and on the following day, Nizam-ool~ 
Moolk having seated the King upon one of the 
towers of the citadel, sent orders to Adil Khan 
Deccany * and Futteh Oolla Imad-ool-1\Ioolk to 

* This person, <leputy-guvcrncr of Wurungole, must nut be 
confounded with Yoosuuf .:\di! Khan Tourk, the gcn-ernor of 
Beejapoor, the friend of Klnrnja l\iahmuod Ga.wan, and the 
leader of the foreign party. 
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pass in review with their troops before the King, 
previously to receiving their audience of dismissal 
to their governments. Furhad-ool-1\foolk, the 
kotwal, by some means discovered the plot, and 
informed Kowam-ool-Moolk that Nizam-ool­
Moolk's projects extended to all the foreigners 
without exception, and that the plan to assassi: · 
nate Yoosoof .\dil Khan would only be a prelude 
to the total destruction of the whole; so th_at it 
would be the height of insanity for the foreigners 
to remain passive in their houses on such an oc­
casion. Kowam-ool-1\Ioolk, who wished for the 
death of Y oosoof Adil Khan, and relying on the 
sincerity of Kizam-ool-Moolk's friendship to him­
self, paid no regard to this intimation: 

Adil Khan Deccany and Imad-ool-Moolk came 
into the city with their troops, being the di,·isions 
of Tulingana and l3erar, and drew up before the 
palace. \\fahmoocl Shah, a mere tool in the hands 
of the minister, at the instigation of Nizam-061-
Moolk, addressing the two chiefs, told them, that 
as the foreign troops were become mutinous, and 
committed great excesses in the city, he ti1ougi1t 
it nece!:>sary to employ their forces against the 
foreigners. Imad-ool.-Moolk, ,vho had a sincere 
regard for Yoosoof Adil Khan, having placed hii:n 
in security, permitted his troops to proceed undei; 
Adil Khan Deccany against the other foreigners.· 
Kowam-ool-Moolk himself was one of the first 
who fell, and the gates of the city being kept shut, 
the Deccanies committed great slaughter on the' 
foreign troops, who were unprepared for such an 
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attack:. Yoorish Khan,, ·Khoosli Kuddum Khan, 
· and other officers, the adherents of Yoosoof Adil 
Khan, fought their way to the gates, which ha,·ing 
forced, they_ admitted Duria Khan and a body of 
foreign troops from the camp outside t"he city. It 
is said the skirmishing in the streets of the capital 
continued for twenty days,· during which time no 
few~r than four thousand men on either side lost 
their lives. At Jength, the holy men interfering 
as mediators, and many foreign officers of rank 
having fallen, Yoosoof Adil Khan consented to 
quit the capital, with his dependents, peaceably, 
and retire to Beejapoor. 

Niz_q.111-001- Moolk, having now the sole power 
in his hands, <'~nferred Beer, ·nharoor, and many 
other districts on his son, Mullik Ahmud, and 
on Fukhr-ool-Moolk Deccany. The latter was the 
son of a slaYe of the late minister Khwaja 
Mrtbmood Gmvan, a good soldier and a learned 
,nan : he was raised to the rank of commander of 
a thousand horse, ai1d his son recei,·e<l the title of 
Khwaja Jehan. Imad-ool-Moolk was honoured 
with the office of Yizier, and his son, Sheikh Alla· 
ood-Deen, was appointed his father's deputy in 
Berar. Kasim Bereed, who had shown great 
activity against the foreigners, was made kotwal* 
of the.city and Meer Nobut.t Kowam-ool-Moolk, 
junior, was deputed to Tulingana, and Nizam-ool-
1\foolk and Imad-ool-Moolk, acting, during four 

* Chief magistrate of police. 
t Commander of the body guard. 
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years, in conjunctiou with the mother of Mahmood 
Shah, conducted ~11 the affairs of gm·ernment. 

At length Dilawur Khan, the Abyssinian, 
em·ying their power, represented to the King, that 
his ministers paid no regard to his authority; and 
that, in concert with the Queen-mother, they 
usurped all the power of the sta~e, treating him 
still as a child. This observation provoked 
Mahmood Shah, ·who authorised Dilawur Khan to 
assassinate the ministers. Accordingly, one 
night, when they were both gone to the Queen­
mother's apartments, Dilawur Khan placed himself 
in the passage with another person, and as the 
ministers came out, rushed upon them with their 
sabres. Nizam-ool-Moolk received a wound ; but 
as both he and lmad-ool-Moolk were ex.pert 
swordsmen, they defended themselves, keeping up 
a running fight till they escaped out of the palace. 
Having now sent word to Kasim Bereed, that the 
King intended to assassinate him also, they fled, 
with their followers, out of the city. Kasim 
Bereed, securing the gates of the palace, prevented 
all access, to the King, who was reduced to such 
distress, that he wrote to the ministers, apologising 
for his conduct, and im·iting them back. They 
insisted, howe\'er, that, prior to their return, 
Dilawur Khan should be put to death; which 
coming to his ears, he effected his escape, with 
his family, to Boorhanpoor.* Nizam-ool-Moolk, 
with his son, Mullik Ahmud, returned to the 
capital; but Imad-ool-Moolk withdrew to his 
go\'ernment of Berar. 

* In Kandeish. 
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Nizam-ool-Moolk, in order to strengthen· his 
party, raised Mullik vVujjee and Mullik Ashruff, 
two brothers, formerly dependents of Khwaja 
Mahmood Gawan, to high rank, appointing the 
elder governor of Dowlutabad, and the younger 
his deputy; at the same time exacting from them 
promises of attachment and fidelity to his son, 
Mullik Ahmud. He also intrusted the command 
of the fortresses of Purenda and Sholapoor to 
Mukdoom Khan/; entitled Khwaja Jehan Deccany, 
binding him by a similar oath ; and at the expir­
ation of three months, having obtained the King's 
permission, his son Mullik Ahmud was sent to 
Joonere as his father's deputy. 

In the year 891, Adil Khan Deccany 
A. H. S91. govemorof\Vurungole, died, when Ko-
A. D. 1486. 

wam-ool-Moolk, junior, came by forced 
marches from Rajmundry to that city, and estab­
lished himself in Tulingana. Nizam-ool-Moolk, 
accompanied by the King, marched towards Wu­
rungole; on whichKowam-ool-Moolk,falling back 
on Rajmundry, wrote secretly to the King, warnin~ 
him against the minister. That imbecile prince, 
as if resigned to his fate, returned no answer, but 
immediately gave the letter to Nizam-ool-Moolk. 
The King, on reaching Wurungole, received ad­
vices from Mullik Ahmud Bheiry, that the port of 
Goa, which in the late reign had been granted to 
Kishwur Khan, and by him transferred to the 
charge of Nujm-ood-Deen Geelany, had, on the 

* He had also the title of Fukhr-ool-Moolk. 

VOL. II.-67. 
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death of the latter, been seized by one of his of­
ficers named Bahadur Geelany, who also occupied 
Da bul, Kola poor, Kolhar, Punala, Sirala, and 
Belgam; and that, at the instigation of Yoosoof 
Adil Khan, he daily grew more turbulent, and 
committed insults on the port of Choul and 
other places on the sea-coast. The advices stated 
also, that Zein-ood-Deen, the jageerdar of 
Chakun, was in open revolt. 

Nizam-ool-Moolk commanded his son first to 
reduce Zein-ood-Deen, and sent orders to Khwaja 
Jehan Deccany, governor of Purenda, and Mullik 
\¥ujjee, governor of Dmdutabad, to march to 
the support of his son. In this state of affairs, 
Zein-ood-Deen applied for assistance to Yoosoof 
Adil Khan of Beejapoor, who sent six thousand 
horse to join him, commanding them to encamp 
near the fort of Indapoor,* and there to watch 
the movements of Mullik Ahmud, and in case of 
his moving towards the Concan to hasten thither 
and oppose him. 

When this news reached vVurungole, the in­
fluence of Nizam-ool-Moolk visibly declined. He 
was treated with slight by the King; and the 
attachment of Kasim Bereed, Dustoor Deenar, 
and the Abyssinian officers, to him, fell off. The 
King, who earnestly wished for his destruction, 

* The position of Indapoor was well situated for preventing 
the junction of Khwaja J ehan Deccany from Purenda and Sho­
lapoor, and enabled the troops to descend into the southern 
Cancan by the Par Ghat to the relief of Choul, almost as soon 
as Mullik Ahmud could reach it from Joonere. 
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encouraged the defection of the chiefs by com­
plaints of the minister's conduct, and authorised 
them to assassinate him on the first opportunity. 
Nizam-ool-Moolk, being informed of this circums­
tance, fled from the camp at midnight; but ins­
tead of joining his son at Joonere, proceeded to 
Ahmudabad Bidur, hoping to secure the King's 

. treasure. Pussund Khan Deccany, who had been 
raised from the abyss of poverty to the rank of a 
noble, and was now governor of the capital, 
received him into the city with assurances of at­
tachment. The minister, deeming himself secure, 
wrote to his son Mullik Ahmud to join him from 
Joonere without delay; and opening the royal 
treasures, distributed them with a lavish hand, 
in order to raise troops. 

Mahmood Shah, on receiving intelligence of 
these proceedings, appointed Kootb-ool-Moolk 
governor of Tulingana, and hastened with his 
army towards Bidur. Nizam-o.::il-Moolk, finding 
his influence in the city declining, resolved to 
secure as much of the royal treasure as possible, 
and join his son; but Pussund Khan, contriving 
to delay his departure by artful practices, wrote 
privately to the King, advising him to advance 
without delay, when he would deliver the rebel 
into his hands. Mahmood Shah sent for answer, 
that"if he was sincere, he would send the traitor's 
head to him as a proof of his loyalty, Pussund 
Khan, accordingly, attended by five hundred fol~ 
lowers, went to Nizam-ool-Moolk in the palace, 
and pretended that he wished to converse with 
him in private, on affairs of importance. The 
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unsuspicious minister, complying with his request, 
retired with him into a private apartment, when 
Pussund Khan being young and strong, seized 
the defenceless old man by the throat and 
strangled him. Having cut olI his head, he 
brought it out, and exposing it, caused a 
proclamation to be made, that such was the fate 
due to all traitors. After which, the head was sent 
by express messengers to the royal camp. 

Mahmood Shah having returned to the city, 
in trusted the direction of public affairs to his other 
ministers ; but, impelled by the indiscretion of 
youth, and being addicted to pleasure, he devoted 
his time to excesses of all sorts, without attend­
ing, in the least, to the cares of his kingdom. 
Among other instances of his folly, we may men­
tion that of his taking the jewels from the Tukht 
Feroza, to set in salvers, vases, and drinking 
goblets. 

In the year 896, the Deccanies and 
Abyssinians again conspired to subvert A. D. 14go. 
the influence w:hich the foreigners still 

A. H. 896. 

possessed with the King. Pussund Khan, at 
length, combining with the Deccanies, agreed to 
assassinate Mahmood Shah, and to place another 
prince of the royal family on the throne. The 
conspirators repaired to the palace armed, lest the 
foreign troops on guard should come to the King's 
assistance ; and at a late hour of the night, while 
he was engaged in festivity, they rushed towards 
the royal apartments. This occasioned some noise; 
but before Mahmood Shah could ascertain the 
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cause, a number of Deccanies, admitted by the 
porters, who were privy to the plot, entered the 
King's apartment. Azeez Khan Toork, with 
four other soldiers of the body-guard, besides 
Hussun Ally Subzwary and Syud Mirza Mushudy, 
though unarmed, threw themselves between the 
assassins and the King, nobly sacrificing their 
lives for his safety, which gave the latter time to 
g!.in the terrace of the royal tower, which, with 
the exception of the haram, was the only spot 
not in possession of the conspirators. They were, 

• however, gallantly opposed by a few foreigners (the 
companions of the King's revelry) with stones, 
darts, and clods of earth. The King, fortunately, 
was able to communicate his situation to the 
foreign troops. Kasim Bereed, a Toork, with 
some others, at the head of about five hundred 
men, instantly repaired to the palace, but found 
the doors shut. Eight persons with great difficulty 
scaled the walls, and sounded their trumpets. 
Many of the Deccanies and Abyssinians, thinking 
all the Moguls had entered, opened the gates to 
make their esr.ape, when eight-and-twenty Moguls 
of Subzwar received them with a shower of arrows, 
which drove them back, and they attempted to 
close the gates again: the foreigners rushing on 
prevented them; and Kishwur Khan, who had 
gon~ round to the foot of the King's tower, hearing 
the door was open, entered without delay. The 
conspirators now took shelter in the Agate palace, 
where they defended themselves. By this time the 
city was thrown into the utmost consternation, no 
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one- knowing the cause ; but the common people 
began to break open and plunder the houses of all 
foreigners. At length the moon rising, friends 
and enemies could be distinguished. The servants 
of the palace, who had in the first place admitted 
the conspirators, now turned against them, and 
setting fire to the straw roofs under which numbers 
were concealed, put them to the sword as they ran 
out, while about three hundred were collected in 
one apartment, waiting for an opportunity to force 
their way at dawn of day. Sooltan Jehangeer 
Khan Toork now took charge of the palace gates,. 
and despatched Khan Jehan to guard the city and 
market, while the horses from the royal stables 
were taken out and distributed among the King's 
friends. At sunrise, i\fahmood Shah ascended 
the throne, and commanded the foreigners to 
enter the houses of the treacherous Deccanies 
and Abyssinians, and put them to death without 
distinction ; he authorised them to seize their pro­
perty. For three days, successively, these orders 
were executed, and devastation raged through­
out the city, no one daring to intercede with the 
King for pardon ; till at length one of the sons 
of Shah Mohib Oolla requested that the massacre 
might cease, and he was successful in his appli­
cation. 

Mahmood Shah, in order to celebrate his escape 
from this danger, held a magnificent festival during 
forty days, and went in solemn procession through 
the city, the streets of which were handsomely 
ornamented for the occasion. Regarding the royal 



MAHMOOD SHAH BAHMUNY II. 53.5 

tower as auspicious, he caused a splendid build_. 
ing to be erected on it, wherein he afterwards 
spent most of his time in a continued rou~d of 
licentiousness. He totally neglected the affairs of 
his government leaving them entirely to the 
direction of his favourites. Musicians and dancers 
flocked to his court from Lahore, Dehly, Persia, 
and Khorassan ; as also story~tellers, reciters of 
the Shah Nama, and other agents of pleasure. The 
people, following the example of the Prince, at­
tended to nothing but dissipation: reverend sages 
pawned their very garments at the wine-cellars, 
and holy teachers, quitting their colleges, retired 
to taverns, and presided over the wine-flask. The 
governors of provinces seeing the court thus aban­
doned, acted independently, so that the royal 
officers only who entered into their views were 
permitted to retain their posts, and those who 
refused to connive at their encroachments were 
expelled. The consequence of this state of affairs 
became in a short time apparent; for excepting the 
province of Tulingana, and the districts adjacent 
to Ahmudabad Bidur, no parts of the kingdom in 
reality remained in the King's possession. The 
turufdars, however, with the exception of Mullik 
Ahmud Bheiry, professed obedience to the royal 
authority; but their submission was only nominal. 
If the King, at the desire of his minister, Kasim 
Bereed, took the field, and the provincial gover­
nors perceived any advantage to themselves in the 
expedition, they accompanied the royal standard~ 
but with a retinue before which the Ki~g's sunk 
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into insignificance ; and on his return to the capital 
they quitted him without going through the cere­
mony of asking leave. To evade the mortification 
of standing in the royal presence, or performing the 
customary obeisance to the King, these governors 
declined attending the court; and Mullik Ahmud 
Bheiry, who never forgave the King for the death 
of his father, refused to accompany the royal 
standard at all, but declared his independence Rt 
once, founded the city of Ahmudnuggur, and as­
suming the honours of majesty, sent ambassadors 
to Yoosoof Adil Khan and Futteh Oolla Imad­
ool-Moolk, in order to prevail on them to follow 
his example and read the Khootba in their own 
names. It was accordingly resolved by all three of 
those chiefs to declare their independence at an 
early period. 

Kasim Bereed, who had chosen for himself the 
turufdary of Ahmudabad Bidur and its vicinity, 
wished that the forts within his government should 
be occupied by his own dependents, but the royal 
garrisons refused to deliver them up.* Regard­
ing their refusal as proceeding from the King's 
private orders, he also threw off his allegiance, 
and endeavoured to reduce them by force. On 
two occasions he defeated the royal troops, and 
was near expelling the King from his capital, when 

* It will be recollected, that in the new regulations by 
Khwaja Mahmood Gawan, turufdars, or governors, had no 
control over forts within their provinces whose garrisons were 
furnished by troops sent from the court, 
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Dila wur Khan, Abyssinian, who had taken shelter 
at Boorhanpoor from the resentment of Nizam-ool­
Moolk, hastened with an army to his sovereign's 
relief. Kasim Bereed being defeated fled to Gol­
conda, pursued by Dilawur Khan, when Pro­
vidence decreed a .,hange of fortune. In the 
heat of pursuit, near Kowlas, a vicious elephant 
belong-ing to Dilawur Khan, refusing the guid­
ance of his driver, ran back upon the army, and 
trampled many persons to death. Dilawur Khan, 
seeing the circumstance, seized a spear, and with 
some of his attendants attempted to turn the 
animal, but in vain ; till the elephant rushing 
on, the soldiers gave way, and Dilawur Khan 

, was seized by the furious animal in his trunk, and 
crushed to death. Kasim BereecI, hearing of this 
event, turned back upon the late victorious army, 
which, dispirited by the loss of its chief, fled, leav­
ing all the baggage to fall into Kasim Bereed's 
hands. The King, unable to resist his power, 
now admitted him into the capital: a hollow re­
conciliation took place; and the minister, seated 
securely in his administration, left nothing but a 
nominal authority to Mahmood Shah. The histo­
rians of the Bereed Shah dynasty date its establish­
ment from this period. 

Kasim Bereed, envious of the increasing power 
of Yoosoof Adil Khan at B~ejapoor, wrote to the 
Ray of Beejanuggur, that Yoosoof A4il Khan, 
having rebelled against the King, had assumed 
royal titles. Kasim Bereed promised the Ray if 
he would invade Beejapoor he shoul~ be rewarded 

VOL. II. 68. • 
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by" the restoration of the forts of Moodkul and 
Rachore. The Ray, being a child, deputed his 
minister Timraj, with a pmverful army against 
Yoosoof Adil Khan, and having committed great 
devastation obtained possession of the two forts. 
Yoosoof Adil Khan, however, having effected a 
peace with Timraj, marched to take revenge on 
Kasim Bereed, who applied for assistance to 
Mullik Ahmud Bheiry, the son of the late Nizam­
ool-Moolk; offering, when his enemy should be 
expelled, to assist him with the royal influence in 
obtaining possession of Goa in the Cancan, and 
of Punala and Mohkeir out of the hands of Dahadur 
Geelany, to be placed entirely at his disposal. 
Mullik Ahmud, assenting, induced Fukhr-ool­
Moolk, entitled Khwaja Jehan, and his brother 
Zein Khan, from Purenda, to accompany him, and 
marched towards Ahmudabad Bidur, where he was 
shortly after joined by Kasim Bereecl Toork, who 
had brought the King with him (though he never 
consulted him), and the whole proceeded against. 
the enemy. Kasim Bereed placed the King in the 
centre of the army, and himself assumed an 
advanced position. Khwaja Jehan occupied the 
left, and Ahmud Nizam-ool-Moolk the right wing. 
Yoosoof Adil Khan drew up his troops as will be 
hereafter explained. The engagement which 
ensued was obstinately contested, till at length the 
centre, and the left under Khwaja Jehan, gave way, 
and the King's troops were defeated; while Ahmud 
Nizam-ool-Moolk and Yoosoof Adil Khan, after 
mutual explanations, each withdrew to his own 
c;ountry. 
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In the year 899, Mahmood · Shan 
A. H. 

899· Guzeraty sent an ambassador to the 
A. D, 1493. 

King, representing that Bahadur Gee-
lany, who commanded on the sea-coast, had seized 
many rich ships belonging to the Guzerat mer­
chants; and not content with committing such 
excesses, had sent his slave Yakoot, an Abyssi­
nian, with twenty ships of war to Mahim? which 
he had laid waste, without mercy, imprisoning 
the people, and burning mosques and other build­
ings, and even threatened to proceed against 
Surat. The ambassador represented that an army 
from Guzerat could not march into the country of 
Bahadur Geelany without passing through the 
Deccan, and it was impossible to convey a sufficient 
force by sea; therefore it was incumbent on the 
King to punish those excesses ; bL1t should he de­
clare himself unequal to the task, the necessary 
mPasures should be taken by sending troops from 
Guzerat. 

i\fahmood Shah, roused by this message, re­
solved to reduce Bahadur Geelany, and applied 
for support from his vassals ; who apprehensive of 
incurring the resentment of the King of Guzerat, 
and hoping to share in the plunder of the rebel, 
complied with his orders. Yoosoof Adil Khan 
sent his general, Kumal Khan, with five thou­
sand horse, to join the royal standard; Mullik 
Ahmud Bheiry supplied the same number under 
Moetibar Khan; and Imad-ool-Moolk also 

*Bombay. 
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furnished a body of troops under the command of 
one of his chief officers. 

Meanwhile Mahmood Shah despatched a man­
date to Bahadur Geelany, informing him of the 
complaints of his ally, the King of Guzerat, and 
demanding restitution of the places, ships, effects, 
and captives he had seized from that state. Baha­
dur Khan, hearing that a confidential servant had 
been despatched with this communication gave 
orders for his being detajned on the road, in the 
town of Mirch, and treated with contempt the 
royal authority, upon which Mahmood Shah 
began his march, and pushed on without delay. 
Upon his arrival before the fortress of Jumkindy, 
he ordered Kootb-ool-Moolk, turufdar of Tulin­
gana, to besiege it; but that general being killed 
by an arrow from the walls, as he was recon­
noitring, the King conferred his office and titles 
on Sooltan Koolly,•:i, with Bongeer, Doorgy,f and 
other districts of Tulingana, in jageer, to support 
his dignity. Jumkindy being taken, and deliver­
ed over to the troops of Yoosoof Adil Khan, they 
moved to Sunkeswur, where Bahadur Khan had 
taken up his residence; but before the royal army 
arrived, he abandoned the place, which was taken 
from his garrison in three days, the works not 
being completely finished. Mahmood Shah, by 
the advice of Kasim Bereed, next moved against 

* Sooltan Koolly, entitled Kootb-ool-Moolk, who established 
the dynasty of Kootb Shahy at Golconda. 

t The situation of this place has nut been ascertained. 
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Mirch ; and the troops of Bahadur Khan having 
met him in the field were defeated with great 
slaughter, the survivors retiring into the fortress. 
After a long siege, the governor, seeing no hopes 
of relief, begged for quarter, which (with the 
approbation of Kasim Bereed) was granted, and 
the latter received twenty-five horses belonging 
to Bahadur Khan. At the same time assurances 
were given to his followers that such as chose to 
enter into his survice should be enrolled, and the 
rest be allowed to depart, but without retaining 
either their horses or their arms. The troops re­
plied, that after surrendering the fort, as also 
their horses and arms, they could not approach 
their chief, and would rather suffer death. The 
King, admiring their fortitude and fidelity, ac­
quiesced in -their request, and gave them permis­
si<~m to rejoin Bahadur Khan. 

On the fall of Mirch, the King marched to­
wards ,v ahva ; and in the mean time Bahadur· 
Geelany, listening to the advice of his friends, 
sent Khwaja Neamut Oolla Geelany to make 
offers of submission. The King, with the consent 
of Kasim Bereed, agreed to pardon Bahadur Gee­
lany, to restore some of the conquered places, and 
to confirm him in his remaining possessions, if he 
would make atonement in person, pay a sum of 
money, and present two elephants. Neamut 
Oolla wrote to his master the result of his em­
bassy, and advised him to repair to the royal 
camp without delay. Bahadur Khan, however, 
conceiving that the King's generosity proceeded 
from weakness, rejected the terms. He shortly 
after made an attack on the King's baggage, and 



54~ MAHMOOD SHAH BAHMUNY II. 

declared his intention to have the l(hootba read 
in his own name at the capital of Ahmudabad 
Bidur during that year, and in the next in Guze­
rat. Mahmo:>d Shah, enraged at this insolence, 
marched from \Valwa to Kolhar, which he re­
duced; and following up his successes, Bahadur 
Khan's affairs declined daily, till at length ~e 
fled to the fortress of Punala, the strongest place 
in his possession. The Kin!; not wishing to sit 
down before it halted at Kolapore, intending to 
proceed from thence to Dabul, and amuse him­
self on the sea; upon which Bahadur Khan quit­
ted Punala, with a design to lie in wait for the 
King on his route. In the end, however, not dar­
ing to execute his plan, he Hed, and numbers of 
his people leaving him, some joined the King, 
and others went to Yoosoof Adil Khan. Mah­
mood Shah, with the advice of Kasim Dereed, 
now detached Khwaja Jehan, governor of the 
fort of Purenda, to prevent Bahadur Khan's re­
entering Punala; and on his arrival at Kolapore, 
as the rainy season had set in, resolved to halt 
there for some time. . 

Bahadur Khan now became humble, and 
again sent Khwaja Neamut Oolla and i\fojd-ood­
Deen to court with petitions, declaring, that if a 
promise of pardon should be sent under the royal 
hand, with the seals of Kasim Bereed and the 
principal chiefs affixed, he would come to the 
presence, and during the remainder of his life 
never depart from his duty and loyalty. The 
King complied with his request, and in order to 
allay his fears, despatched some respectable per­
sons to conduct him to court. On their arrival 
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at Bahadur Khan's camp, his evil stars would 
not allow him to submit, and he started 
new difficulties; upon which the King recalled 
Khwaja Jehan from the siege of Punala, and 
sent him with some other officers against the 
enemy. Bahadur Khan advanced to meet the 
royalists, with two thousand horse, and fifteen 
thousand foot. A severe action ensued, and Ba­
hadur Khan being killed by an arrow, his troops 
flecl. Khwaja .Tehan cut off the rebel's head, and 
brought it to the royal camp, where the King 
honoured him with a suit of his own robes, and 
presented him with the elephants and horses taken 
in the action. 

Two or three days after this victory, the King 
went to view the fortress of Punala, and despatched 
Mullik Ein-ool-Moolk Geelanv to Goa, to condole 
with his brother Mullik Syeed, and bring him to 
t_he presence. At the suggestion of Kasim Bereed, 
Bahadur Khan's estate was conferred on Mullik 
Ein~ool-Moolk Geelany; and the King, with a 
few of his principal nobles, went to Dabul, and 
sailed for his amusement along the coast, after 
which he returned towards his capital. On the 
route he spent some time at the Kalabagh, a garden 
near Beejapoor, planted by the late Khwajct Mah­
mood Gawan. On his arrival at AhmudaHad 
Bidur, the King despatched ambassadors with rich 
presents to Mahmood Shah of Guzerat. Among 
other articles, according to the historians of the 
time, he sent five muns (Dehly weight) of pearls, 
five elephants, and a handsome dagger, studded 
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with jewels ; he also released Kumal Khan, Sufdur 
Khan, and other prisoners of distinction, taken by 
Bahadur Khan Geelany, together with twenty 
ships and cargoes which he had seized. 

In the year gor, Sooltan Koolly 
A. n. 901

• Kootb-ool-Moolk Hamclany was ap-
A. D. 1495. 

pointed turufdar of Tulingana, and 
Golconda and Wurungole with their dependencies 
were added to his jageer ; and Dustoor Deenar was 
constituted governor of Sagur and Ahsunabad 
Koolburga. The King being persuaded that the 
munsubdars* stationed with the great officers con­
nived at measures which increased their power, 
withdrew all those who were with Dustoor Deenar, 
and ordered them to return to their duty at court. 
Dustoor Deenar, offended at this proceeding, in 
conjunction with Azeez-ool-Moolk Deccany, went 
into rebellion, and having collected between seven 
and eight thousand Abyssinians and Deccanies, he 
seized some of the King's districts near Koolburga. 
Mahmood Shah demanded the assistance of Yoo­
soof Adil Khan, who joined him with an army. 
An engagement took place near the town of Myn­
durgy,t in which the rebels were defeated, and 
Dustoor Deenn.r taken prisoner. The King would 
have put him to death, but was prevailed upon, at 
th~ intercession of Y oosoof Adil Khan, not only to 
pardon but to reinstate him in his government. As 
some of the rebels had taken shelter in the fort of 
Sagur, the King laid siege to it, and on its 

* Military officers commanding troops dependent on the court. 
t Situated near Akulkote. 
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reduction gave it to Yoosoof Adil Khan, after 
which he returned to his capital.* 

In the year 902, Y oosoof Deccany, 
.4.. "· 

902
· Yoorish Khan, Mirza Shums-oocl-Deen, 

A. 0. q96. 
and others, who had the King's con-

fidence, entered into a plot with some of the Turk­
ish officers to destroy Kasim Bereed ; but he, gain­
ing intelligence of their designs, put them to death 
with all their abettors. The King, enraged at 
this presumption, would not admit him into his 
presence for a whole month. At length, through 
the mediation of Shah Mohib Oolla, he was, 
with much difficulty, prevailed on to forgive and 
receive him into favour ; after which the King 
relapsed into his usual indolence and debaucheries. 

In the year 903, Mahomed Shah 
A. 

11
· 903· asked the infant daughter of Y oosoof 

A. D. I.f-97· 
Adil Khan in marriage for his son 

Ahmud, then fourteen years of age. After much 
negotiation, it was settled that the nuptial 
ceremonies should take place at Koolburga ; 
accordingly the King repaired to that city, where 
Yoos6of Adil Khan entertained him with great 
splendour. The knot of marriage was tied by 
Abd-oos-Summud, kazy of the royal camp; and 
it was agreed that the bride should he delivered 
to the Prince as soon as she should attain the age 
of ten years. The festival was still celebrating, 
when Dustoor Deenar and Y oosoof Adil Khan 

* The events of this campaign are more fully detailed in the 
history of the kings of Ileejapoor, 

VOL. II,-69. 
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contended for the government of Koolburga; 
insisting on having not only Koolburga but also 
Alund, Gunjowty, and Kulliany ; so that his 
government might be connected with that of 
Bidur, while Dustoor Deenar maintained that the 
Beema river ought to be the limits of the Beejapoor 
province, and required that Koolburga, Sagur, 
and Etgeer should belong to him. The King 
refusing to interfere in the dispute, Dustoor 
Deenar retired to Purenda; and contention grew 
high between Adil Khan and Kasim Bereed, who 
opposed his pretensions. Kootb-ool-Moolk taking 
part with Yoosoof Adil Khan, Kasim Bereed be­
came alarmed, and moved with his eldest son and 
his followers to Alund, upon which Yoosoof Adil 
Khan, leaving the festival unconcluded, took the 
King with him, and together with Kootb-ool­
Moolk, Mullik Elias, and Ein-001-Moolk, marched 
against Kasim Bereed, who was defeated, and :fled 
to Purenda. This event so strengthened the power 
of Adil Khan, that the King even declined ascend­
ing the throne in his presence. All the chiefs 
having through the influence of Yoosoof Adil Khan 
obtained their demands retired to their districts. 
On the dispersion of the army, Kasim Bereed 
ventured to return, to court, and obtained the 
office of Vakeel as before, but conducted himself 
so cruelly towards his unfortunate sovereign, that 
he would not allow him even to satisfy his thirst 
without permission. 

In the year 904, Y oosoof Adil Khan 
A. H. 

904· led an army against Dustoor Deenar, 
A. D. 1498. 

who fled from Koolburga. He was 
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persuaded, however, by Kasim Bereed to seek pro­
tection with Mullik Ahmud Nizam-ool-Moolk at 
Ahmudnuggur. That chief having espoused his 
cause warmly, Y oosoof Adil Khan was unable to 
oppose him, and went to Ahmudabad Bidur, where 
the King wrote to Mullik Ahmud to desist from 
interference. 

In the year gro, Kasim Bereed died, 
.\. H. 910· and his son Ameer Bereed succeeded 
A. l.l. 1504. 

him in office, and assuming greater 
authority even than his father, deprived Mahmood 
Shah of the little power left him. Immediately 
after this event, Yoosoof Adil Khan, availing 
himself of the circumstance of Kasim Bereed's 
death, made an attack on Dustoor Deenar, who 
opposed him in battle, but was slain, and all his 
districts fell into the possession of Yoosoof Adil 
Khan. Shortly after, assuming the title of Shah, 
Yoosoof caused the Khootba to be read in Beeja­
poor conformably to the tenets of the Sheea per­
suasion, which never having been done before in 
any part of Hindoostan, the minds of ·all the Dec­
canies revolted against him. Mahmood Shah was 
now induced by Ameer Bereed to address letters 
to Kootb-ool-Moolk, to Imad-ool-Moolk, and to 

· Khoclawund Khan, stating that Yoosoof Adil 
Khan having thrown off his allegiance, had not 
only exalted the ensigns of rebellion, but had 
introduced the tenets of heretics in the countries 
of Islam ; he required, therefore, the orthodox 
faithful to rally around the royal standard, in 
order to reduce Yoosoof Adil Khan. On the 
margin of each letter the King wrote the following 
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verse:-" He is grown so proud in the pleni­
" tude of his riches, that the sun in his eyes 
appears but in atom." 

Kootb-ool-Moolk, with the officers of Tulin­
gana, repaired to court without delay; but Imad­
o.ol-Moolk and Khodawund Khan made excuses; 
upon which Ameer Bereed applied for succours to 
Mullik Ahmud Bheiry, who with Khwaja Jehau 
Deccany marched to Alunudabad Bidur, and join­
ed the King. Yoosoof Adil Khan, finding it im­
prudent to oppose so powerful a league in the 
field, committed Koolburga and Alund to the 
charge of Duria Khan and Fukhr-ool-1\foolk Toork 
and leaving his son Ismael Khan, then an infant 
at the breast, with his mother and treasure, at 
Beejapoor, under the care of I( umal Khan Dec­
cany, went to Berar, attended by five thousand 
chosen horse. l\Iahmood Shah pursued him with 
great expedition; and Yoosoof Adil Khan, finding 
on his arrival in the camp of lmad-ool-Moolk 
that cheif not disposed to protect him, at the risk 
of drawing on him the whole of the King's army, 
retired to Boorhanpoor. 

Imad-ool-Moolk, however, communicated pri­
vately with Mullik Ahmud, in order to persuade 
him that Ameer Bereed only desired to ruin 
Y oosoof Adil Khan, in order to obtain possession 
of Beejapoor ; in which if he succeeded, and still 
kept the King in his hands, he would then effect 
the destruction of others; that, therefore, it were 
better for the confederates to retire to their own 
country, and leave him to deal with the minister. 
Mullik Ahmud and Kootb-ool-Moolk, both 
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entering into this view of the case, suddenly with­
drew homewards, without taking leave of the 
King; and the next morning Imad-ool-Moolk 
sent petitions to court in favour of Yoosoof Adil 
Khan, begging the King to pardon him, and to 
return to the capital. 

The King, at the instigation of Ameer Bereed, 
refused to comply ; and Yoosoof Adil Khan hear­
ing of the retreat of the two most powerful chiefs 
was encouraged to rejoin lmad-ool-Moolk, who 

'· in conjunction with him moved to attack the 
royal army. Ameer Bereed deeming himself un­
eq_ual to defend his camp left it standing, and fled 
with the King to Ahmudabad Bidur. Adil Khan 
and Imad-ool-Moolk having divided the booty 
abandoned by the royalists, returned to their 
several capitals. 

In the year gr 6, Y oosoof Adil Khan 
dying, Ameer Bereed marched to reduce 

A. lJ. 1510. 
Beejapoor; but all his attempts proved 

A, H. 916. 

vain, and the family on that throne increased daily 

A. H. 918. 
in power. In the year 918, Kootb-ool­
Moolk assuming independence, ejected 

A. n. 
1512

• the King's name from the Khootba, 
notwithstanding which he continued to send to 
Mahmood Shah privately, every year, a present in 

money. In 920, Ameer Bereed having 
A. H. 920

• levied a great army with the royal 
A. n. 1514

• treasures,marched with the King, and 
took Koolburga from the garrison of Ismael Adil 
Shah, conferring it on Jehangeer Khan, the son 
of the late Dustoor Deenar, for whom he procured 
the title of Dustoor-ool-Moolk. This chief having 
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collected troops recovered all the forts on the "'east­
of the Beema river, from Sagur to Nuldroog, 
which had been held by his father; and Ameer 
Bcreed receiving reinforcements from Mullik 
Ahmud Bheiry and Kootb-ool-Moolk crossed the 
river with twenty thousand men, and proceeded 
by regular marches to Beejapoor. Ismael Adil 
Khan gave, him battle near the city, and totally 
defeated him, so that he fled in the greatest con­
fusion; while lVIahmood Shah (who had fallen 
from his horse and received a severe bruise), to­
gether with his son Ahmud Khan, were left de­
fenceless on the field, and taken prisoners. Is­
mael Adil Shah, observing the respect due to 
crowned heads, treated the King with attention, 
and provided him with e\·ery convenience becom­
ing his high rank. 

Mahmood Shah, shortly after, went with Ismael 
Adil Khan to Koolburga, where the ceremony of 
the nuptials between the Prince Ahmud and Beeby 
Musseety, sister to Ismael Adil Shah, were cele­
brated with great magnificence. The King having 
obtained five thousand foreign horse as a escort, 
marched to Ahmudabad Bidur, which Ameer Be­
reed evacuated on his approach, and retired to 
the fort of Ousa. Mahmood Shah now took pos­
session of his capital; but soon after, the officers 
of Ismael Adil Shah, on hearing that Ameer Be­
reed had received aid from Boorhan Nizam-ool­
Moolk, the son of the late Mullik Ahmud, deserted 
the King, and the minister returning, put him 
under greater restraint than before. Weary of his 
situation, the unfortunate Mahmood Shah found 
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meal.s to effect his escape· to Gavul, m Berar, 
where he procured assistance from Imad-ool­
Moolk, who marched with him towards the capital. 
Ameer Bereed, shutting himself up in the citadel, 
applied for relief to Boorhan Nizam~ool-Moolk, 
who despatched Khwaja Jehan to join him with 
a considerable force. 

Ameer Bereed and his ally now sallied forth 
against the troops of Imad-ool-Moolk, who pre­
pared to receive them, and drew up his army for 
action. It happened that the King was bathing 
at the time; and the messenger sent by Imad­
ool-Moolk to inform him of the enemy's approach 
insolenty remarked, within his hearing, that it 
was no wonder a prince who could be so employed 
at such a critical moment should be the .derision 
of his nobles. The King, stung with the reproof, 
and enraged at what be thought proceeded from 
the insolence of Imad-ool-Moolk, joined the line 
as soon as possible; but suddenly spurring his 
horse, galloped over to Ameer Bereed's army. 
Imad-ool-Moolk immediately retreated with pre­
cipitation towards his own country, and the mi­
nister returned triumphantly into the city with 
the King. 

Ameer Bereed now put the King into such 
close confinement, that he could not possibly 
escape again. Mahmood Shah, wearied with 
disappointments, grown old, and become weak 
in intellect, gave up his authority without 
a struggle, and contented himself with the 
pleasures of wine, women, and the external 
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pageantry of royalty. In the •year 
923, Ameer Bereed found it neces­

.\. D. 1517. 
sary to march with him to Mahoor 

A. H. 923. 

against Basheer Khan, who with his son was 
slain in battle and Mahoor was conferred on 
Zilhuj 

4
_ Ghalib Khan; after which Mahmood 

A. H. 924. Shah II, returned to his capital, where 
October 21, he died on the 4th of Zilhuj, after a 
A.~- 1518. reign of thirty-seven years and twenty 
days of constan~ vicissitude and trouble. 
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AHMUD SHAH BAHMUNY II. 

Mahmood the Second is succeeded by his son Alzmud 

Sha/: the Second.-Ameer Bereed has the entire control 
of the government in his hands, and the King is reduced 

to be a mere pensioner-sells the crown jewels for his 
maintenance.-The minister Ameer Be1·ecd puts many 

people to deat/1 for being co11cen1ed in the fransaction.­

The p1~rc/wsers make tluh- escape to Beejanuggur.-The 
King dies. 

AMEER B1rnEED had but a small territory in 
his possession, and dreading, should he assume 
open independence, that the surrounding powers 
would attack him, placed the Prince Ahmud, son · 
of Mahmood Shah, upon the throne, leaving him 
the palace, with the use of the royal jewels and a 

daily allowance of money for his support ; which 
not being equal to his expenses, the King broke 
up the crown, valued at four hundred thousand 
hoons/; and privately sold the jewels. The 
minister having obtained information of this 
circumstance put many musicians and others to 
death for being concerned in the sale; but he never 
could recover the jewels, the purchasers liaving 
fled with them to BPejanuggur. Ahmud Shah 

* 160,000/. 

VOL, II,-70, 
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sent agents privately to Ismael Adil Shah, corn• 
plaining of the ill usage he experienced ; and the 
latter despatched ambassadors with presents to 

court ; but before their arrival, 
Ahmud Shah II. died, two years after 

A, D, 1520 
his accession to the throne, in the 

A. H. 927. 

year 927. 
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ALLA-00D-DEEN SHAH BAHMUNY II. 

Ameer Bereed determines on elevatz'ng Alta-ood-Deen 
Bahmuny to the throne.-The Kz'ng abstains from the 
licentious habits of his pndecessors, and attends to busi­
ness-contrives a plot to seize the minz'ster.-The project 
discovered-the abettors put to death.-Tlze King deposed, 
and murdered z'n .IJrison. 

AMEER BEREED kept the throne vacant nearly 
fourteen days after the death of Ahmud Shah, and 
then, instead of ascending it himself, he deemed 
it prudent to place the crown on the head of one 
of the Bahmuny family ; accordingly Alla-ood­
Deen the Second was selected for that purpose. 

This Prince, who was by nature a person of 
excellent understanding, having witnessed the 
fatal consequences of the debaucheries of his pre­
decessors, refrained from excesses, and turned his 
thoughts to reduce Ameer Bereed, whom he con­
ciliated so much as to throw him off his guard. 
He then privately placed near his apartments a 
band of armed men, resolving to take the minis­
ter prisoner, when he visited him at the following 
new moon. Ameer Bereed, agreeably to custom, 
came with his sons to congratulate the King; 
but just as he had reached the apartment, one of 
the concealed persons happening to sneeze,* he 

* Sneezing throughout the East, is considered portentous 
either of good or evil; but always indicates some change of 
,i:ircumstance. 
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was alarmed, and turning back, sent in guards to 
examine the avenues. The plot was discovered, 
and all who were concerned i11 it put to death. 
The King was deposed, after a short reign of two 
years and three months, and placed in confinement, 
in which situation he was shortly after murdered. 
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WULLY OOLLA SHAH BAHMUNY. 

Wully Oolla Shah, the son of Mahmood Sliah the 
Second, raised to tlze throne.-The minister conceives a 
passion for the Queen-poisons tlze King, and marries llis 
widow. 

AFTER deposing Alla-ood-Deen Shah, Ameer Be­
reed rai::.ed ,v ully Oolla, another son of 1\Iahmood 
Shah Bahmun) II., to the throne. This Prince, 
satisfied with the pension that was allotted to him, 
refrained from interfering in public business. At 
length, becoming impatient of restraint, he en­
deavoured to procure more liberty, on which he 
was confined altogether to his palace. Three 
years after his accession, Ameer Bereed conceiving 
a passion for the King's wife, he caused him to be 
poisoned, and espoused-the ·<j,fueen! · 
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Is raised to the nominal dignity of King, but is kept 
a state prisoner in the capital.-Deputes one of his com­
panions, in disguise, to Babur, who lzad then invaded 
lndia.-Ameer Bereed lzears of tliis mission-renders tlze 
King's confinement more rigitl.-Tlze King escapes, and 
seeks protection witli Ismael Adil Slzalz, leis motlier's 
brotlzer.-Dissatisfied. witlz his reception, lie retires to tlze 
court of Ahmudnuggur, wlzere lze remains till his deatlz. 
-Dissofotion of tlze Balzmzmy dynasty. 

AFTER the death of \Vully Oolla, Kulleem 
Oolla Shah, the son of Ahmud Shah by the 
daughter of Yoosoof Adil Shah, was styled King. 
Kulleem Oolla enjoyed nothing but the name of 
sovereign, and was never permitted to quit the 

palace. In the year 933, the Emperor 
A. H. 933· Babur conquered Dehly ; upon which, 
A, D. r526 

Ismael Adil Shah, Boorhan Nizam 
Shah, and Kootb Shah, sent ambassadors to his 
court. Kulleem Oolla Shah, also, deputed one of 
his companions, in disguise, with a petition to 
the Emperor; setting forth, that his kingdom had 
been usurped, and his person confined by rebel­
lious servants: offering, if the Emperor of Dehly 
would relieve him from his distressed situation, 
to cede to him Dowlutabad and the province of 
Berar. Babur, not being yet confirmed in his 
conquests, the kings of Malwa and Guzerat being 
still unsubdued,·paid no attention to this request; 
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.. 
but the circumsta:p.ce coming to the knowledge 
of Ameer Bereed, he treated the King with greater 

- rigour, who making his escape to his uncle Ismael 
Adil Shah of Beejapoor, was received by him 

. honourably, in hopes of using his name to his 
-own advantage; but the King, dissatisfied with 
his reception, retired to Boorhan Nizam Shah of 
Ahmudnuggur. That Prince, at first, conducted 
hims~lf so respectfully as to submit to stand in 
his presence; but being told, that such homage 
was acknowledging some defect in his own title 
to royalty, he discontinued the practice. Kulleem 
Oolla Shah, however, resided at Ahmudnuggur till 
his death, and with him ended the dynasty of 
Bahmuny. The Deccan had, in truth, before this 
event, been divided into .five kingdoms, viz. Adil 
Shahy, or kings of Beejapoor; Kootb Shahy, or 
kings of Golconda; Imad Shahy, or kings of 
Berar ; Nizam Shahy, or kings of Ahmudnuggur ; 
and Bereed Shahy, or kings of Ahmudabad Bidur ; 
-the histories of which will form the subject of· 
the next volume. 
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